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FORTY-ONE YEARS IN INDIA.

CHAPTER XXXV.

In the autumn of 1868, while wo wero preparing for

the usual winter tour, Sir Hugh Hose, who had accom-

panied Lord Elgin on a trip through the hills, telegraphed

to the Head-Quarters staff to join him at Mian Mir without

delay.

The news which greeted us on our arrival was indeed

disturbing. Lord Elgin was at Dharmsala in a dying

condition, and the Chief had been obliged to leavo him and

push on to Lahore, in consequence of unsatisfactory reports

from Brigadier-General Chamberlain, >\ho was just then

commanding an expedition which had been sent into the

mountains near Peshawar, and had met with unexpected

opposition. The civil authorities on the spot reported

that there existed a great deal of excitement all along

Hie border, that the tribes were collecting in large

numbers, that emissaries from Kabul had appeared

imongst them, and that, unless reinforcements could be

lent up at once, the Government would be involved in a

var which must inevitably lead to the most serious com-

dications, not only on the frontier, but with Afghanistan.

vol. ii. 88
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In so grave a light did the Lieutenant-Governor, Six*

Robert Montgomery, view the position, that he contem-

plated the force being withdrawn and the undertaking

abandoned.

Sir Hugh had had nothing to do with the despatch of this

expedition ; it had been decided on by the Government of

India in consultation with the Lieutenant-Governor of the

Punjab. When the Commandev-in-Chief was communi-

cated with, he expressed himself adverse to the proposal,

and placed his views at length before the Government,

pointing out the inexpediency of entering a difficult and

unknown country, unless the troops were properly

equipped with transport, supplies, and reserve ammu-

nition ; that time did not permit of their being so

equipped before the winter set in ; and that, to provide a

force of 5,000 men (the strength considered necessary by

the Government), the frontier would have to he dangerously

weakened. Moreover, he gave it as his opinion that it

would bo better to postpone operations until the spring,

when everything could he perfectly arranged. Subsequent

events proved how sound was this advice. But before

proceeding with my narrative it will be as well to

explain the circumstances which led the authorities to

undertake this expedition.

In 1857, when all our resoui'ces were required to quell

internal tumult, the Hindustani fanatics4 took the oppor-

* In 1825 a religious adventurer from Bareilly mode his appearance
on the Yusafzai frontier with about forty Hindustani followers, and
gave out that he was a uian of superior sanctity, and had a divine

command to wage a war of extermination, with the aid of all true

believers, against the infidel. After studying Arabic at Delhi, he

proceeded to Mecca by way of Calcutta, and during this journey hi*
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tunity to stir up disturbances all along the Yusufzai frontier

of the Peshawar district, and, aided by the rebel sepoys who

[had fled to them for protection, they made raidH upon our

border, and committed all kinds of atrocities. We were

obliged, therefore, to send an expedition against them in

11858, which resulted in their being driven from their

stronghold, Sitanu, and in the neighbouring trihoH lieing

bound down to prevent their re-occupying that place. Three

years later the fanatics returned to their former haunts nnd

built up a new settlement at Malka ; the old troubles re-

commenced, and for two years they had been allowed to

go on raiding, murdering, and attacking our outposts with

impunity. It was, therefore, quite time that measures

should be taken to effectually rid the frontier of these

disturbers of the peace, provided such measures could

have been decided upon early enough in the year to

ensure success.

The Punjab Government advocated the despatch off a very

Btrong force. Accordingly, two columns were employed,

tho base of one being in the Peshawar valley, and that of

jthe other in Hazara. The Peshawar column was to move

by the Umbeyla Pass, the Buner frontier, and the Chamla

Valley, thus operating on the enemy’s lino of retreat. This

toute would not have been chosen, had not Chamberlain

been assured by the civil authorities that no hostility need

octrinw had obtained so great an ascendency over the minds of the

dohomedans of Bengal tiiat they have ever since supplied the colony

rhich Syad Ahmed Shall founded in Yusafzai with money and recruits,

fh* Syad was eventually slain fighting against the Sikhs, but his

sllowers established themselves at Sitana, and in the neighbourhood

I that place they continue to flourish, notwithstanding that we have

estroyed their settlements more than once during the last forty years.
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be feared from the Bunerwals, even if their country had to

be entered, as they had given no trouble for fifteen years,

and their spiritual head, the Akhund of Swat,* had no

sympathy with the fanatics. It was not, therefore, con-

sidered necessary to warn the Buner people of our approach

until preparations were completed ; indeed, it was thought

unadvisable to do bo, as it was important to keep the

proposed line of advance secret. The strength of the force

was 6,000 men, with 19 guns, but to make up these

numbers the stations in Upper India had to be considerably

weakened, and there was no reserve nearer than Lahore.

The Peshawar column + being all ready for a start, a

Proclamation was forwarded to the Buner and other neigh-

bouring tribes, informing them of the object of the expedition,

and stating that there was no intention of interfering with

them or their possessions.

On the following morning, the 20th October, the Umbeyla

Pass was entered, and by noon the kotal t was reached

* The Akhund of Swat was a man of seventy years of age at the

time of the Umbeyla expedition ; he had led a holy life, and had gained

such an influence over the minds of Mahomedans in general, that

they believed he was supplied by supernatural means with the

necessaries of life, and that every morning, on rising from his prayers,

a sum of money sufficient for the day’s expenditure was found under
his praying carpet.

t The Peshawar column consisted of half of 19th Company Royal
Artillery, No. 8 Punjab Light Field Battery, the Peshawar and Hazara
Mountain Batteries, the 71st and 101st Foot, the Guides, one troop 11th

Bengal Lancers, one company Bengal Sappers and Miners, 14th Sikhs,

20th Punjab Infantry, 82nd Pioneers, 1st, 8rd, 6th and 6th Punjab
Infantry, and 6th Gurkhas. The Hazara column consisted of a wing

of the 61st Foot, 800 Native Cavalry, a regiment of Native Infantry

and eight guns, holding Darband, Torbela, and Topi on the Indus.

J The highest point of a pass crossing a mountain range.



1868] THE* AKHUND OF SWAT 5

without any resistance to speak of ; but, from information

brought in, it was evident that any further advance would

be stoutly opposed. The road turned out to be much more

difficult than had been anticipated, and the hurriedly

collected transport proved unequal to the strain. Not a

single baggage animal, except the ammunition mules, got

up that night; indeed, it was not until the morning of

tho 22nd—more than forty-eight hours after they started

—that the rear guard reached the kotal, a distance of only

six miles. As soon as it arrived Colonel Alex. Taylor, R.E.,

was sent off with a body of Cavalry, under Lieutenant-

Colonel Probyn, to reconnoitre the road in front. The

delay in reaching the top of the pass had given the tribes

time to collect, and when the reconnoitring party entered

the Chamla valley the Bunerwals could be seen about two

miles and a half off, occupying in force the range which

separates Buner from Chamla. Whatever may have been

their first intention, they apparently could not resist the

temptation to try and cut off this small body of Cavalry,

for our horsemen on their return journey found a large

number of the trusted Buner tribe attempting to block the

mouth of the pass. A charge was made, but mounted men

could not do much in such a hilly country ; the proceedings

of the Bunerwals, however, had been observed from the

kotal, and Major Brownlow,* with some of his own regiment

(the 20th Punjab Infantry), was sent to the assistance of

the party. A hand-to-hand fight ensued, and the enemy

pressed our troopB closely on their way back, coming right

in amongst them with the utmost daring.

* Now General Sir Charles Brownlow, G.C.B.
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There was now brought in to the Commissioner by a spy

the copy of a letter from the Hindustani fanatics, addressed

to the Bunerwals, telling them not to be taken in by our

assurances that our only object was to punish the fanatics,

for our real intentions were to annex Chamla, Buner, and

Swat. This letter no doubt aroused the suspicions of the

tribes, and, encouraged by the slowness of our movements,

they all joined against us from Buner, Mahaban, and the

Black Mountain.

On the 28rd large bodies of men with numerous standards

were to be seen approaching the mouth of the pass, and a

day or two later a report was received that our foes were to

have the support of the Akhund of Swat, which meant a

most formidable accession of moral as well as material

strength, and put a stop, for the time being, to any possi-

bility of a successful advance being made with the force

at Chamberlain’s disposal.

The position occupied by our troops was enclosed on

the left (west) by the Guru Mountain, which separates

Umbeyla from Buner, and on the right (east) by a range of

hills, not quite so high. The main piquet on the Guru

occupied a position above some precipitous cliffs known as

the Eagle’s Nest, while that on the right was designated

the ‘Crag piquet.’ The Eagle’s Nest was only large

enough to accommodate 110 men, so 120 more were placed

under the shelter of some rocks at its base, and the

remainder of the troops told off for the defence of the left

piquet were drawn up on and about a rocky knoll, 400 feet

Yjest of the Eagle's Nest.

Some 2,000 of the enemy occupied a breastwork on the

crest of a spur of the Guru Mountain ; and about noon ou
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the 26th they moved down, and with loud shouts attacked

the Eagle’s Nest. Their matchlock men posted themselves

to the greatest advantage in a wood, and opened a galling

fire upon our defences, while their swordsmen made a

determined advance. The nature of the ground prevented

our guns from being brought to bear upon the assailants,

and they were thus able to get across the open space

in front of the piquet, and plant their standards close

under its parapet. For some considerable time they re-

mained in this position, all our efforts to dislodge them

proving of no avail. Eventually, however, they were forced

to give way and were driven up the hill, leaving the ground

covered with their dqad, and a great many wounded, who

were taken into our hospitals and carefully treated, while a

still greater number were carried off by their friends. Our

losses were, 2 British officers, 1 Native officer, and 26 men

killed ; and 2 British officers, 7 Native officers, and 86 men

wounded.

The day following the fight the Bunerwals were told they

might carry away their dead, and we took advantage of

their acceptance of this permission to reason with them as

to the uselessness of an unnecessary sacrifice of their tribes-

men, which would be the certain result of further oppo-

sition to us. Their demeanour was courteous, and they

conversed freely with General Chamberlain and Colonel

Beynell Taylor, the Commissioner, but they made it

evident that they were determined not to give in.

Our position had now become rather awkward; there

was a combination against us of all the tribes between the

Indus and the Kabul rivers, and their numbers could not

be less than 15,000 armed men. Mutual animosities were
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for the time allowed to remain in abeyance, and the tribes

all flocked to fight under the Akhund's standard in the

interests of their common faith. Moreover, there was

trouble in the rear from the people along the Yusafzai

border, who assisted the enemy by worrying our lines of

communication. Under these changed conditions, and with

such an inadequate force, Chamberlain came to the con-

clusion that, for the moment, he could only remain on the

defensive, and trust to time, to the discouragement which

repeated unsuccessful attacks were sure to produce on the

enemy, and to the gradual decrease of their numbers, to

break up the combination against us ; for, as these tribes-

men only bring with them the quantity of food they are

able to carry, as soon as it is finished they are bound to

suspend operations till more can be procured.

For three weeks almost daily attacks were made on our

position; the enemy fought magnificently, some of them

being killed inside our batteries, and twice they gained

possession of the ‘ Crag piquet,’ the key of the position,

which it was essential should be retaken at all hazards.

On the second occasion General Chamberlain himself led

the attacking party, and was so severely wounded that he

was obliged to relinquish the command of the force.

The Lieutenant-Governor of the Punjab, being convinced

that reinforcements were necessary, in consultation with

Colonels Durand* and Norman (the Foreign and Military

Secretaries, who had come to Lahore to meet the Viceroy),

and without waiting for the sanction of the Commander-in-

Chief, ordered to the frontier the three regiments which had

* The late Sir Henry Marion Durand, E.G.S.I., C.B., afterwards

Lieutenant-Governor of the Punjab.
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been detailed for the Viceroy’s camp,* as well aB the 98rd

Highlanders, then at Sialkot ; and when Sir Hugh Bose

on his arrival at Lahore heard of the heavy losses the

expeditionary force had sustained, and of General Chamber-

lain being hora de combat from his wound, further rein-

forcements from every direction were hurried to the front.

Subsequently, however, it became a question whether the

troops should not be withdrawn altogether, and the punish-

ment of the fanatics given up, the Government of India

and the Punjab Government being completely in accord in

favouring this view, while the Commissioner of Peshawar,

Major James (who had succeeded Reynell Taylor), t and Sir

Hugh Bose were as strongly opposed to a retrograde

movement. The Commander-in-Chief pointed out to the

Government that the loss of prestige and power we must

sustain by retiring from the Umbeyla Pass would be more

disastrous, both from a military and political point of view,

than anything that could happen save the destruction of

the force itself, and that General Chamberlain, on whose

sound judgment he could rely, was quite sure that a re-

tirement was unnecessary.

Unfortunately at this time the Viceroy died at Dharmsala,

and the question remained in abeyance pending the arrival

of Sir William Denison, Governor of Madras, who was

coming round to take over the reins of Government until a

successor to Lord Elgin should be sent from England.

In the meantime Sir Hugh Bose was most anxious to

obtain exact information respecting our position at Umbeyla,

* 7th Boyal Fusiliers, 28rd Pioneers, and 24th Punjab Nativo
Infantry.

t Reynell Taylor remained with the force as political officer.



10 FORTY ONE YEARS IN I^DIA [1863

the means of operating from it, the nature of the ground

—in fact, all details which could only be satisfactorily

obtained by sending someone to report on the situation,

with whom he had had personal communication regarding

the points about which he required to be enlightened. He
therefore determined to despatch two officers on special

service, whose duty it would be to put the Commander-in-

Chief in possession of all the facts of the case; accord-

ingly, Colonel Adye* (Deputy-Adjutant-General of Royal

Artillery) and I were ordered to proceed to Umbeyla without

delay.

Adye proved a most charming travelling companion,

clever and entertaining, and I think we both enjoyed our

journey. We reached the pass on the 25th November.

There had been no fighting for some days, and most of

the wounded had been removed. Sir Neville Chamber-

lain was still in camp, and I was sorry to find him suffer-

ing greatly from his wound. We were much interested in

going over the piquets and listening to the story of the

different attacks made upon them, which had evidently

been conducted by the enemy with as much skill as

courage. + Thef loyalty of our Native soldiers struck me as

* General Sir John Adye, G.C.B.

t Th® expedition was an admirable school for training men in outpost

duty. The Pathans and Gurkhas were quite at home at such work,
and not only able to take care of themselves, but when stalked by the

enemy were equal to a counter-stalk, often most successful. The enemy
used to joke with Brownlow’s and Keyes's men on these occasions, and
say, ‘ We don’t want you. Where are the lal pagrvwalas f [as the

14th Sikhs were called from their lal pagris (red turbans)] or the gorct-

log [the Europeans]? They are better shikar [sport] 1* The tribes-

men soon discovered that the Sikhs and Europeans, though full of

fight, were very helpless on the hill-side, and could not keep their heads
under cover.
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having been most remarkable. Not a single desertion had

occurred, although all the Native regiments engaged, "with

the exception of the Gurkhas and Punjab Pioneers, had

amongst them members of the several tribes we were fight-

ing, and many of our soldiers were even closely related

to some of the hostile tribesmen ; on one occasion a young

Buner sepoy actually recognized his own father amongst

the enemy’s dead when the fight was over.*

We listened to many tales of the gallantry of the British

officers. The names of Brownlow, Keyes, t and Hughes!

were on everyone’s lips, and Brownlow’s defence of the

Eagle’s Nest on the 26th October, and of the ‘ Crag piquet
’

on the 12th November, spoke volumes for his coolness and

pluck, and for the implicit faith reposed in him by the

men of the 20th Punjab Infantry, the regiment he had

raised in 1857 when but a subaltern. In his official

report the General remarked that ‘ to Major Brownlow’s

determination and personal example he attributed the pre-

servation of the “ Crag piquet.” ’ And Keyes’s recapture

* Colonel Reynell Taylor, whilst bearing like testimony to the good

conduct of the Pathan soldiery, said the personal influence of officers

will always be found to be the only stand-by for the Government

interests when the religious cry is raised, and the fidelity of our troops

is being tampered with. Pay, pensions, and orders of merit may, and

would be, oast to the winds when the honour of the faith was in the

scale
; but to snap the associations of years, and to turn in his hour of

need against the man whom he has proved to be just and worthy,

whom he has noted in the hour of danger, and praised as a hero to his

family, is just what a Pathan will not do—to his honour be it said.

The fact was that the officers in camp had been so long and kindly

associated with their soldiers that the latter were willing to set them

Wore their great religious teacher, the Akhund of Swat (‘ Records of

Expeditions against the North-West Frontier Tribes ’).

t The late General Sir Charles Keyes, G.C.B.

t The late Major-General T. E. Hughes, C.B., Royal Artillery.
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of the same piquet was described by Sir Neville as ‘ a

most brilliant exploit, stamping Major Keyes as an officer

possessing some of the highest military qualifications.’

Brownlow and Keyes were both recommended for the

Victoria Cross.

We (Adye and I) had no difficulty in making up our

minds as to the course which ought to be taken. The

column was daily being strengthened by the arrival of rein-

forcements, and although the combination of the tribes-

men was still formidable, the enemy were showing signs of

being disheartened by their many losses, and of a wish to

come to terms.

Having consulted the civil and military authorities on

the spot, we informed the Commander-in-Chief that they

were of opinion a withdrawal would be most unwise, and

that it was hoped that on the arrival of General Garvock

(Chamberlain’s successor) an advance would be made into

the Chamla valley, for there would then be a sufficient

number of troops to undertake an onward move, as well as

to hold the present position, which, as we told the Chief,

was one of the strongest we had ever seen.

Sir William Denison reached Calcutta on the 2nd

December. A careful study of the correspondence in con-

nexion with the Umbeyla expedition satisfied him that the

Commander-in-Chief’s views were correct, and that a

retirement would be unwise.

Sir Hugh Bose had previously requested to be allowed to

personally conduct the operations, and in anticipation of

the Government acceding to his request, he had sent a

light camp to Hasan Abdal, from which place .he intended

to push on to Umbeyla ; and with the object of collecting
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troops near the frontier, where they would be available as

a reserve should the expedition not be soon and satis-

factorily settled, he desired me to select an encamping-

ground between Eawal Pindi and Attock suitable for

10,000 men.

Leaving Adye in the pass, I started for Attock, where I

spent three days riding about in search of a promising site

for the camp. I settled upon a place near Hasan Abdal,

which, however, was not in the end made use of. The

people of tl\e country were very helpful to me ; indeed,

when they heard I had been a friend of John Nicholson,

they seemed to think they could not do enough for me,

and delighted in talking of their old leader, whom they

declared to be the greatest man they had ever known.

On my return I marched up the pass with the Rev. W.

G. Cowie* and Probyn, who, with 400 Cavalry, had been

ordered to the front to be in readiness for a move into

the Chamla valley. James, the Commissioner, had been

working to detach the Bunerwals from the combination

against us, and on the afternoon of our arrival a depu-

tation of their headmen arrived in camp, and before their

departure the next morning they promised to accompany a

force proceeding to destroy Malka, and to expel the Hindu-

stani fanatics from the Buner country. Later, however, a

messenger came in to say they could not fulfil their

promise, being unable to resist the pressure brought to

bear upon them by their co-religionists. The man further

reported that large numbers of fresh tribesmen had

appeared on the scene, and that it was intended to attack

us on the 16th. He advised the Commissioner to take the

* Now Bishop of Auckland and Primate of New Zealand.
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initiative, and gave him to. understand that if we advanced

the Bunerwals would stand aloof.

Sir Hugh Bose had been accorded permission to take

command of the troops in the field, and had sent word to

General Garvock not ‘to attempt any operations until

further orders.’ James, however, thinking that the situa-

tion demanded immediate action, as disturbances had

broken out in other parts of the Peshawar valley, deprecated

delay, and pressed Garvock to advance, telling him that a

successful fight would put matters straight. Garvock con-

sented to follow the Commissioner’s advice, and arranged

to move on the following day.

The force was divided into three columns. The first and

second—consisting of about 4,800 men, and commanded

respectively by Colonel W. Turner, C.B.,* and Lieutenant-

Colonel Wilde, C.B.—were to form the attacking party,

while the third, about 3,000 strong, under the command of

Lieutenant-Colonel Vaughan,t was to be left for the pro-

tection of the camp.

At daybreak, on the 15th, the troops for the advance,

unencumbered by tents or baggage, and each man carrying

two days’ rations, assembled at the base of the ‘Crag

piquet.’ Turner, ail excellent officer, who during the short

time he had been at Umbeyla had inspired great confidence

by his soldierly qualities, had on the previous after-

noon reconnoitred to the right of the camp, and had dis-

covered that about 4,000 men were holding the village of

Lalu, from which it was necessary to dislodge them before

Umbeyla could be attacked. On being told to advance,

* The late Brigadier-General Sir W. W. Turner, K.G.B.

f General Sir T. L. Vaughan, K.G.B.
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therefore, Turner moved off in the direction of Lalu, and,

driving the enemy’s piquets before him, occupied the heights

overlooking the valley, out of which rose, immediately in

front about 200 yards off, a conical hill which hid Lalu

from view. This hill, which was crowded with Hindustani

fanatics and their Pathan allies, was a most formidable

position ; the sides were precipitous, and the summit was

strengthened by saiujars* No further move could be

made until the enemy were dislodged, so Turner lined

the heights all round with his Infantry, and opened fire

with his Mountain guns. Meanwhile, Wilde’s column had

cleared off the enemy from the front of the camp, and

formed up on Turner’s left. On the advance being sounded,

Turner’s Infantry rushed *down the slopes, and in ten

minuteB could be seen driving the enemy from the heights

on his right ; at the same time the 101st Fusiliers, the

leading regiment of Wilde’s column, made straight for the

top of the conical hill, and, under cover of the fire from

the Mountain guns of both columns, and supported by the

Guides and 28rd Pioneers, they climbed the almost perpen-

dicular sides. When near the top a short halt was made

to give the men time to get their breath ; the signal being

then given, amidst a shower of bullets and huge stones,

the position was stormed, and carried at the point

of the bayonet. It was a grand sight as Adye and

I watched it from Hughes’b battery ; but we were con-

siderably relieved when we perceived the enemy flying

down the sides of the hill, and heard the cheers of the

[.gallant Fusiliers as they stood victorious on the highest peak.

Stone breastworks.
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Now that the enemy were on the run it was the time to

press them, and this Turner did so effectually that the

leading men of his column entered Lalu simultaneously

with the last of the fugitives. The rapidity of this move-

ment was so unexpected that it threw the enemy inside the

walls into confusion ;
they made no stand, find were soon

in full retreat towards Umbeyla and the passes leading into

Buner.

While affairs were thus prospering on our right, the

enemy, apparently imagining we were too busy to think

of our left, came in large numbers from the village of

Umbeyla, threatening the camp and the communications

of the second column. Wilde, however, was prepared for

them, and held his ground rfntil reinforced by Turner,

when he made a forward movement. The Guides, and

detachments of the 5th Gurkhas and 3rd Sikhs, charged

down one spur, and the 101st down another ; the enemy

were driven off with great slaughter, leaving a standard in

the hands of the Gurkhas, and exposing themselves in their

flight to Turner’s guns. During the day they returned,

and, gathering on the heights, made several unsuccessful

attacks upon our camp. At last, about 2 p.m., Brownlow,

who was in command of the right defences, assumed the

offensive, and, aided by Keyes, moved out of the breast-

works and, by a succession of well-executed charges, com-

pletely cleared the whole front of the position, and drove

the tribesmen with great loss into the plain below.

All opposition having now ceased, and the foe being in

full retreat, the force bivouacked for the night. We had

16 killed and 67 wounded ; while our opponents admitted

to 400 killed and wounded.
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The next morning we were joined by Probyn with

200 sabres of the 11th Bengal Lancers and the same

number of the Guides ; and after a hasty breakfast the

order was given to march into the Chamla valley. My
duty was to accompany the Mountain batteries and show

them the way. As we debouched into comparatively open

country, the enemy appeared on a ridge which completely

covered our approach to Umbeyla, and we could descry

many standards dying on the most prominent points.

The road was so extremely difficult that it was half-

past two o’clock before the whole force was clear of the

hills.

General Garvock, having made a careful reconnaissance

of the enemy’s position, which was of great strength and

peculiarly capable of defence, had decided to turn their

right, a movement which was to be entrusted to the Becond

column, and I was told to inform Turner that he must

try and cut them off from the Buner Pass as they re-

treated. I found Turner close to Umbeyla and delivered

my message. He moved forward at once with the 23rd

Pioneers and a wing of the 3‘2nd Pioneers in line, sup-

ported by the second wing, having in reserve a wing of

the 7th Royal Fusiliers.

When we had passed the village of Umbeyla, which

was in flames, having been set fire to by our Cavalry, the

wing of the 32nd was brought up in prolongation of our

line to the right. The advance was continued to within

about 800 yards of the Buner Pass, when Turner, observing

a large body of the enemy threatening his left flank, imme-
diately sent two companies of the Royal Fusiliers in that

direction. Just at that moment a band of Oliazis furiously

vol. 11. 34
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attacked the left dank, which was at a disadvantage, having

got into broken ground covered with low jungle. In a few

seconds five of the Pioneer British officers were on the

ground, one killed and four wounded ; numbers of the men
were knocked over, and the rest, staggered by the sudden-

ness of the onslaught, fell back on their reserve, where

they found the needed support, for the Fusiliers stood as

firm as a rock. At the critical moment when the Gliazix

made their charge, Wright, the Assistant-Adjutant-General,

and I, being close by, rushed in amongst the Pioneers and

called on them to follow us ; as we were personally known

to the men of both regiments, they quickly pulled them-

selves together and responded to our efforts to rally them.

It was lucky they did so, for had there been any delay or

hesitation, the enemy, who thronged the slopes above us,

would certainly have come down in great numbers, and

we should have had a most difficult task. As it was, we

were entirely successful in repulsing the Ghazis, not a man
of whom escaped. We counted 200 of the enemy killed ; our

losses were comparatively slight—8 killed and 80 wounded.

We bivouacked for the night near the village of Umbeyla,

and the next morning the Bunerwals, who, true to their

word, had taken no part in the fighting on the 15th or 16th,

came in and made their submission.

The question which now had to be decided was, whether

a force fully equipped and strong enough to overcome all

opposition should be sent to destroy the fanatic settlement

of Malka, or whether the work of annihilation should be

entrusted to the Bunerwals, witnessed by British officers.

The latter course was eventually adopted, chiefly on account

of the delay which provisioning a brigade would entail—

a
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delay which the Commissioner was anxious to avoid—for

although for the present the combination had broken up,

and most of the tribesmen were dispersing to their homes,

the Akhund of Swat and his followers were still hovering

about in the neighbourhood, and inaction on, our part

would in all probability have led to a fresh gathering

and renewed hostilities.

The terms which were drawn up, and to which the

Bunerwals agreed, were

:

The breaking-up of the tribal gathering in the Buner

Pass.

The destruction of Malka ; those carrying out the work

to be accompanied by British officers and such escort as

might be considered necessary by us.

The expulsion of the Hindustanis from the Buner,

Chamla, and Amazai countries.

And, finally, it was stipulated that the headmen of their

tribe should be left as hostages until such time as these

requirements should have been fulfilled.

On the afternoon of Saturday, the 19th December, the

little 4>arty of British officers who were to witness the

destruction of Malka assembled at Umbeyla. Its members
were Reynell Taylor (who was in charge), Alex. Taylor

(Commanding Engineer), two Survey officers, Wright, Adye,

and myself. Twenty-five Cavalry and 4 companies of the

Guides Infantry, under four officers, formed our escort, and
it had been arranged that we were to be accompanied by

four leading Buner Khans, with 2,000 followers, who would

responsible for our safety, and destroy the fanatics'

stronghold in our presence. Bain was falling heavily, but

as all our arrangements had been made, and delay was
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considered undesirable, it was settled that we should make

a start. It was rough travelling, and it was almost dark

when we reached Kuria, only eight miles on our way, where

we halted for the night, and where we had to remain the

next day, as the Bunerwals declared they could not continue

the journey until they had come to an understanding with

the Amazais, in whose territory Malka was situated.

We had noticed on leaving l
Tmbeyla that, instead of

2,000 Bunerwals, there were only about sixty or seventy

at the most, and in reply to our repeated questions as to

what had become of the remainder, we were told they

would join us later on. It. soon became evident, however,

that no more were coming, and that the Khans thought it

wiser to trust to their own influence with the Amazais

rather than to intimidation.

We made a fresh start on the morning of the 21st.

Malka was only twelve miles off, but the way was so

difficult, and our guides stopped so often to consult with

the numerous bands of armed men we came across, that

it was sunset before we arrived at our destination.

Malka was perched on a spur of the Mahabun mountain,

some distance below its highest peak. It was a strong,

well-built place, with accommodation for about 1,500

people. The Amazuis did not attempt to disguise their

disgust at our presence in their country, and they gathered

in knots, scowling and pointing at us, evidently discussing

whether we should or should not be allowed to return.

The next morning Malka was set on fire, and the huge

column of smoke which ascended from the burning village,

and was visible for miles round, did not tend to allay

the ill-feeling so plainly displayed. The Native officers of
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the Guides warned us that delay was dangerous, as the

people were becoming momentarily more excited, and were

vowing we should never return. It was no use, however, to

attempt to make a move without the consent of the tribes-

men, for we were a mere handful compared to the thousands

who had assembled around Malka, and we were separated

from our camp by twenty miles of most difficult country.

Our position was no doubt extremely critical, and it was

well for us that we had at our head such a cool, determined

leader as Beynell Taylor. I greatly admired the calm,

quiet manner in which he went up and spoke to the head-

men, telling them that, the object of our visit having been

accomplished, we were ready to retrace our steps. At this

the Amazais became still further excited. They talked in

loud tones, and gesticulated in true Pathan fashion, throng-

ing round Taylor, who stood quite alone and perfectly self-

possessed in the midst of the angry and dangerous-looking

multitude. At this crisis the Bunerwals came to our rescue.

The most influential of the tribe, a grey-bearded warrior, who

had lost an eye and an arm in some tribal contest, forced

his way through the rapidly increasing crowd to Taylor’s

side, and, raising his one arm to enjoin silence, delivered

himself as follows :
‘ You are hesitating whether you

will allow these English to return unmolested. You can,

of course, murder them and their escort ; but if you do,

you must kill us Bunerwals first, for we have sworn to

protect them, and we will do so with our lives.’ This

plucky speech produced a quieting effect, and taking

advantage of the lull in the storm, we set out on our return

journey
; but evidently the tribesmen did not consider the

question finally or satisfactorily settled, for they followed us
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the whole way to Kuria. The slopes of the hills on both sides

were covered with men. Several times we were stopped

while stormy discussions took place, and once, as we were

passing through a narrow defile, an armed Amazai, waving

a standard above his head, rushed down towards us.

Fortunately for us, he was stopped by some of those less

inimically disposed; for if he had succeeded in inciting

anyone to fire a single shot, the desire for blood would

quickly have spread, and in all probability not one of our

party would have escaped.

On the 28rd December we reached our camp in the

Umbeyla Pass, when the force, which had only been kept

there till our return, retired to the plains and was broken

up.

During my absence at Umbeyla my wife remained with

friends at Mian Mir for some time, and then made her way

to Peshawar, where I joined her on Christmas Day. She

spent one night ni route in Sir Hugh Bose’s camp at

Hasan Abdal, and found the Chief in great excitement and

very angry at such a small party having been sent to

Malka, and placed at the mercy of the tribes. He did

not know that my wife had arrived, and in passing her

tent she heard him say :
‘ It was madness, and not one

of them will ever come back alive.’ She was of course

dreadfully frightened. As soon as Sir Hugh heard she

was in camp, he went to see her, and tried to soften down

what he knew she must have heard ; but he could not

conceal his apprehension ; and my poor wife’s anxiety was

terrible, for she did not hear another word till the morning

of the day I returned to her.
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CHAPTER XXXVI.

Early in the New Year (1864) Sir Hugh Rose, with the

Head-Quarters camp, marched into Peshawar, where we

remained until the middle of February. The time was

chiefly spent in inspections, parades, and field-days, varied

by an occasional run with the hounds. The hunting about

Peshawar was very fan*, and we all, the Chief included, got

a great deal of fun out of our small pack.

On the 25th January a full-dress parade was held to

announce to the garrison that Sir John Lawrence had

been appointed Viceroy of India, and soon afterwards we

left Peshawar and began our return march to Simla.

We changed our house this year and took one close to

the Stewarts, an arrangement for which I was very thank-

ful later, when my wife had a great sorrow in the death of

her sister, Mrs. Sladen, at Peshawar. It was everything

for her at such a time to have a kind and sympathizing

friend close at hand, when I was engaged with my work

and could be very little with her during the day. At this

time, as at all others, Sir Hugh Rose was a most considerate

friend to us ; he placed his house at Mashobra at my wife’s

disposal, thus providing her with a quiet resort which she

frequently made use of and which she learned to love so
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much that, when I returned to Simla as Commander-in-

Chief, her first thought was to secure this lovely ‘ Eetreat
’

as a refuge from the (sometimes) slightly trying gaiety of

Simla.

The Commander-in-Chief was good enough to send in

my name for a brevet for the Umbeyla expedition, but the

Viceroy refused to forward the recommendation, for the

reason that I was ‘too junior to be made a Lieutenant-

Colonel.’ I was then thirty-two

!

Throughout the whole of 1864 1 was more or less ill

;

the office work (which never suited me quite as well as

more active employment) was excessive, for, in addition to

the ordinary routine, I had undertaken to revise the

‘Bengal Route-Book,’ which had become quite obsolete,

having been compiled in 1837, when Kurnal was our

frontier station. A voyage round the Cape was still con-

sidered the panacea for all Indian ailments, and the doctors

strongly advised my taking leave to England, and travelling

by that route.

We left Simla towards the end of October, and, after

spending the next three months in Calcutta, where I was

chiefly employed in taking up transports and superintend-

ing the embarkation of troops returning to England, I was

given the command of a batch of 800 time-expired men on

board the Renown, one of Green’s frigate-built ships which

was chartered for their conveyance. Two hundred of the

men belonged to the 2nd and 3rd Battalions of the Rifle

Brigade, the remainder to the Artillery and various other

corps ; they had all been twelve years in the army, and

most of them were decorated for service in the Crimea and

Indian Mutiny.
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At the inspection parade before we embarked, a certain

number of men were brought up for punishment for various

offences committed on the way down country ; none of the

misdemeanours appeared to me very serious, so I deter-

mined to let the culprits oft'. I told the men that we had

now met for the first time and I was unwilling to com-

mence our acquaintance by awarding punishments; we

had to spend three or four months together, and I hoped

they would show, by their good behaviour while under my
command, that I had not made a mistake in condoning

their transgressions. The officers seemed somewhat sur-

prised at my action in this matter, but I think it was

proved by the men’s subsequent conduct that I had not

judged them incorrectly, for they all behaved in quite an

exemplary manner throughout the voyage.

We had 'been on board more than six weeks, when one of

the crew was attacked by small-pox—an untoward circum-

stance in a crowded ship. The sailor was placed in a

boat which was hung over the ship’s side, and a cabin-boy,

the marks on whose face plainly showed that he had

already suffered badly from the disease, was told off to look

after him. The man recovered, and there was no other

case. Shortly before we reached St. Helena, scurvy

appeared amongst the troops, necessitating lime-juice being

given in larger quantities, but what proved a more effectual

remedy was water-cress, many sacks of which were laid in

before we left the island.

On the 29th May, 1865, we sighted the ‘Lizard,’ and
took a pilot on board, who brought with him a few

newspapers, which confirmed the tidings signalled to us
by an American ship that the war between the Federals
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and Confederates was at an end. How eagerly we scanned

the journals, after having heard nothing from home for

four months, but the only piece of news we found of

personal interest to ourselves was that my father had

been made a K.C.B.

On the 80th May we reached Portsmouth, and landed

between two showers of snow ! I had a final parade

of the men before leaving the ship, and I was quite

sorry .to say good-bye to them ; some of the poor fellows

were already beginning to be anxious about then.’ future,

and to regret that their time with the colours was

over.

My father, mother, and sister came up to London to

meet us, very little changed since I had left them six years

before. I remained in England till March, 1866, when I

returned to India, leaving my wife behind to follow in the

autumn.

While I was at home, Sir Hugh Bose’s term of the chief

command in India came to an end, and his place had

been taken by Sir William Mansfield. On my arrival in

Calcutta, I received orders to join the Allahabad division,

and thither I proceeded. In October I went to Calcutta

to meet my wife and take her to Allahabad, where we

remained for nearly a year, her first experience of a hot

Beason in the plains, and a very bad one it was. Cholera

was rife ; the troops had to be sent away into camps, more

or less distant from the station, all of which had to l#

visited once, if not twice, daily
; this kept me pretty well

on the move from morning till night. It was a sad time

for everyone. People we had seen alive and well one day

were dead and buried the next ; and in the midst of
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this sorrow and tragedy, the most irksome—because such

an incongruous—part of our experience was that we had

constantly to get up entertainments, penny readings, and

the like, to amuse the men and keep their minds occupied,

for if once soldiers begin to think of the terrors of cholera,

they are seized with panic, and many get the disease from

pure fright.

My wife usually accompanied me to the cholera camps,

preferring to do this rather than be left alone at home. On

one occasion, I had just got into our carriage after going

round the hospital, when a young officer ran after us to

tell me a corporal in whom I had been much interested was

dead. The poor fellow’s face was blue ; the cholera panic

had evidently seized him, and I said to my wife, ‘ He will

be the next.’ I had no sooner reached home than I re-

ceived a report of his having been seized.

We were fortunate in having at Allahabad as Chaplain

the present Bishop of Lahore, who, with his wife, had only

lately come to India ; they never wearied in doing all that

was possible for the soldiers. Bishop Matthew is still one

of our closest friends
; his good, charming, and accom-

plished wife, alas ! died some years ago.

We remained at Allahabad until August, 1867, when we
heard that a brigade from Bengal was likely to be required

to take part in an expedition which would probably be sent

from Bombay to Abyssinia for the relief of some Europeans

whom the King, Theodore, had imprisoned, and that the

Mountain battery, on the strength of which my name was
8till borne, would in such case be employed. I therefore

thought I had better go to Simla, see the authorities, and
arrange for rejoining my battery, if the rumour turned out
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to be true. The cholera had now disappeared, so I was at

liberty to take leave, and we both looked forward to a

cooler climate and a change to brighter scenes after the

wretched experience we had been through. On my arrival

at Simla I called upon the Commander-in-Chief and told

him that, if my battery was sent on sendee, I wished

to join it and was quite ready to resign my staff appoint-

ment.

Sir William Mansfield was particularly kind in his

reception of me, from which I augured well
; but I could

learn nothing definite, and it was not until quite the end

of September that it was announced that Colonel Donald

Stewart was to have command of the Bengal Brigade with

the Abyssinian Force, and that I was to be his Assistant-

Quartermaster-General. We at once hastened back to

Allahabad, where we only remained long enough to pack

up what we wanted to take with us, and arrange for the

disposal of our property ; thence we proceeded to Calcutta,

where, for the next two months, I had a busy time taking

up transports and superintending the equipment of the

force.

I had often read and heard of the difficulties and delays

experienced by troops landing in a foreign country, in

consequence of their requirements not being all shipped

in the same vessels with themselves—men in one shipi

camp equipage in another, transport and field hospital

in a third, or perhaps the mules in one and their pack-

saddles in another
; and I determined to try and prevent

these mistakes upon this occasion. With Stewart’s

approval, I arranged that each detachment should embark

complete in every detail, which resulted in the troop9
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being landed and marched off without the least delay as

each vessel reached its destination.*

We were living with the Stewarts in the Commander-

in-Chiefs quarters in Fort William, which His Excellency

had placed at our disposal for the time being. On the

1st November Calcutta was visited by the second cyclone

within my experience. We had arranged to go to the

opera that evening, but when it was time to start the

wind was so high that there seemed every chance of the

carriage being blown over before we could get there, so

we decided not to attempt it. It was well we did, for the

few adventurous spirits who struggled through the storm

had the greatest difficulty in getting back to their homes.

The opera-house was unroofed before the performance was

half over, and very little of the building remained standing

the next day. At bedtime we still thought it was only a

bad storm, but towards midnight the wind increased to an

* The average strength of the regiments was as follows : 10th and
12th Bengal Cavalry, each 9 British officers, 18 Native officers, 450

non-commissioned officers and men, 8 Native doctors, 489 horses,

822 mules, 590 followers. 21st and 28rd Punjab Infantry, cacli

9 British officers, 16 Native officers, 786 non-commissioned officers

and men, 8 Native doctors, 10 horses, 850 mules, 400 followers. I

found that six ships were required for the conveyance of a Cavalry and
four for that of an Infantry regiment

;
for the Mountain battery three

ships were necessary, and for the coolie corps (1,550 strong) four ; in all

twenty-seven ships, besides nine tugs. In selecting ships, care was
taken to secure those intended for Artillery or Cavalry as high ’tween-
decks as possible; a sufficient number of these were procurable at

Calcutta, either iron clippers from Liverpool or large North American
built traders, with decks varying from 7 feet 6 inches to 8 feet 2 inches
high. I gave the preference to wooden ships, as being cooler and more
j^hy ventilated. The vessels taken up were each from 1,000 to 1,400
ns

» averaging in length from 150 to 200 feet, with a beam varying
om 80 to 85 feet, and usually they had a clear upper deck, where
rom forty to fifty animals were accommodated.
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alarming extent, and my wife awoke me, and begged me
to get up, as the windows were being burst open and

deluges of rain coming in. Stewart and I tried to re-

close the windows, but the thick iron bars had been bent

in two and forced out of their sockets ; a heavy oak plate-

chest and boxes, which we with much difficulty dragged

across the windows, were blown into the middle of the

dining-room, like so much cardboard, and the whole place

was gradually flooded. We were driven out of each room

in turn, till at length we all took refuge in a small

box room, about ten feet wide, right in the middle of the

house, where we remained the rest of the night and ‘ hoped

for the day.’

Towards morning the wind abated, but what a scene of

desolation was that upon which we emerged ! The rooms

looked as if they could never be made habitable again,

and much of our property was floating about in a foot

of water.

My first thought was for the shipping, and I hurried

down to the river to see how my transports had fared.

Things were much better than I expected to find them

—

only two had been damaged. Most fortunately the cyclone,

having come from a different direction, was not accom-

panied by a storm-wave such as that which worked so

much mischief amongst the shipping on a former occasion,

but the destruction on land was even greater: all the

finest trees were torn up by the roots, a great part of the

Native bazaar was levelled, and lay from two to three

feet deep in water, while many houses were wholly

or partly demolished. We came across most curious

sights when driving round Calcutta in the evening

;
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some of the houses were divided clean down the centre,

one half crumbled into a heap of ruins, the other half

still standing and displaying, as in a doll’s house, the

furniture in the different stories.

The work of filling up and loading the vessels was greatly

retarded, owing to a large number of cargo boats having

been sunk, consequently it was the 5th December before

the first transport got off ; from that date the others started

in quick succession, and on the 9th January, 1868, Stewart

and his staff left Calcutta in the P. and 0. steamer

Golconda. The officers and men of the Mountain battery

were also on board, Captain Bogle in command, my friend

Jemmy Hills in my place as second Captain, and Collen*

and Disney as subalterns. Mrs. Stewart and my wife

accompanied us as far as Aden, where they were left to the

kind care of Major-General Bussell,! commanding there

at the time, until the arrival of the mail-steamer in which

they were to proceed to England.

On the 3rd February we anchored in Annesley Bay and

landed at Zula.

* Now Major-General Sir Edwin Collen, K.C.I.E., Military Member
of the Governor-General’s Council.

t Now General Sir H. llussell, K.C.S.I.
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CHAPTER XXXVII.

It will, perhaps, be as well to recall to the reader’s mind

that the object of the expedition in which we were taking

part was to rescue some sixty Europeans, who, from one

cause or another, had found their way to Abyssinia, and

been made prisoners by the King of that country. Amongst

these were four English officials, Mr. Eassam, and Captain

Cameron, who had at different times been the bearers

of letters from Queen Victoria to King Theodore, and Lieu-

tenant Prideaux and Dr. Blanc of the Bombay Army ; the

rest were chiefly French and German missionaries, and

artisans, with their wives and children. The prisoners were

confined in a fort built on the Magdala plateau, 9,150 feet

ubove sea-level, and 879 miles inland from Annesley Bay.

The repeated demands of the British Government for

the restoration of the prisoners having been treated with

contemptuous silence by the King, Colonel Merewether,

the Political Agent at Aden, who in July, 1867, had been

directed to proceed to Massowa and endeavour to obtain

the release of the captives, and to make inquiries and

collect information in case of an expedition having to be

sent, reported to the Secretary of State that he had failed

to communicate with the King, and urged the advisability
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of immediate measures being taken to prepare a force in

India for the punishment of Theodore and the rescue of

the prisoners. Colonel Merewether added that in Abyssinia

the opinion had become very general that England knew

herself to be too weak to resent insult, and that amongst

the peoples of the neighbouring countries, even so far

as Aden, there was a feeling of contemptuous surprise

at the continued long-suffering endurance of the British

Government.

On receipt of this communication, Her Majesty’s

Government, having exhausted all their resources for

the preservation of peace, decided to send an expedition

from India under the command of Lieutenant-General Sir

Bobert Napier, the Commander-in-Chief of the Bombay
Army. After carefully considering the distance along

which operations would have to be prosecuted, and the

necessity for holding a number of detached posts, Napier

gave it as his opinion that the force should consist of not

less than 12,000 men.*

Profiting by the experience of the Crimean war, the

Government was determined that the mobility of the force

should not be hampered by want of food and clothing.

Stores of all descriptions were despatched in unstinted

quantities from England, and three of the steamers in

which they were conveyed were fitted up as hospital

ships. But food, clothing, and stores, however liberally

supplied, would not take the army to Magdala without

transport.

* The numbers actually despatched from India were 18,648, of whom -

>•86 were Europeans. In addition, a company of Boyal Engineers
w®8 ®«nt from England.

vOL. ii. 85
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The question as to the most suitable organization for the

Land Transport Corps occupied a good deal of Sir Robert

Napier’s attention -while the expedition was being fitted

out, and caused a considerable amount of correspondence

between him and the Bombay Government. The Com-

missary-General wished to keep the corps under his own

orders, and objected to its being given an entirely military

organization. Sir Robert Napier preferred to establish

the corps on an independent basis, but was at first over-

ruled by the Bombay Government. While acting in

accordance with their orders, the Commander-in-Chief

wrote : * I believe that the success of systems depends

more on the men who work them than on the systems

themselves ; but I cannot accept without protest a decision

to throw such a body of men as the drivers of our transport

animals will be (if we get them) on an expedition in a

foreign country without a very complete organization to

secure order and discipline.’ Eventually Sir Robert got

his own way, but much valuable time had been lost, and the

corps was organized on too small a scale ;* the officers and

non-commissioned officers were not sent to Zula in sufficient

time or in sufficient numbers to take charge of the transport

animals as they arrived.

A compact, properly-supervised train of 2,600 mules,

with serviceable, well-fitting pack-saddles, was sent from

the Punjab ; and from Bombay came 1,400 mules and ponies

and 5,600 bullocks, but these numbers proving altogether

inadequate to the needs of the expedition, they were

* At first it was thought that 10,000 mules, with a coolie corps

3.000 strong, would suffice, but before the expedition was over it wa*

found necessary to purchase 18,000 mules, 1,500 ponies, 1,800 donkeys,

12.000 camels, and 8,400 bullocks.
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supplemented by animals purchased in Persia, Egypt, and

on the shores of the Mediterranean. The men to look

after them were supplied from the same sources, but their

number, even if they had been efficient, was insufficient,

and they were a most unruly and unmanageable lot. They

demanded double the pay for which they had enlisted, and

struck work in a body because their demand was not at

once complied with. They refused to take charge of the

live mules each man was hired to look after, and when

that number was reduced to three, they insisted that one

should be used as a mount for the driver. But the worst

part of the whole organization, or, rather, want of organi-

zation, was that there had been no attempt to fit the

animals with pack-saddles, some of which were sent from

England, some from India, and had to be adjusted to the

mules after they had been landed in Abyssinia, where there

was not an establishment to make the necessary alterations.

The consequence was that the wretched animals became

cruelly galled, and in a few weeks a large percentage were

unfit for work, and had to be sent to the sick depot.

Other results of having no properly arranged transport

train, and no supervision or discipline, were that mules

were lost or stolen, starved for want of food, or famished

from want of water. The condition of the unfortunate

animals was such that, though they had been but a few

weeks in the country, when they were required to proceed

to Senafe, only sixty-Beven miles distant, a very small pro-

portion were able to accomplish the march ; hundreds died

°o the way, and their carcases, quickly decomposing in the

hot sun, became a fruitful source of dangerous disease to

the force.
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On arrival at Zula, we were told that Sir Bobert Napier

was at Senafe, the first station in the Hills, and the

advanced depot for supplies. We of the Bengal brigade

were somewhat disconcerted at the orders which awaited

us, from which we learned that our brigade was to be

broken up ; the troops were to proceed to the front

;

while Stewart was to take command at Senafe, and I

myself was to remain at Zula, as senior staff officer. The

disappointment was great, but, being the laBt-comer, I had

no unfairness to complain of, and I had plenty to do. I

Bpent the greater part of each day amongst the shipping,

superintending the embarkation and disembarkation of

men, animals, and stores.

Zula was not an attractive place of residence. Tho

beat was intense—117’ in the daytime in my tent. The

allowance of fresh water was extremely limited,* while

the number of scorpions was quite the reverse, and

the food, at the best, was not appetizing. Few who

remained there as long as I did escaped scurvy and horrible

boils or sores. I was fortunate, however, in finding in

charge of the transport arrangements afloat, my old friend

and Eton schoolfellow, George Tryon, t to whom I owed

many a good dinner, and, what I appreciated even more,

many a refreshing bath on board the Euphrates, a transport

belonging to the British India Steam Navigation Company
which had been fitted up for Captain Tryon and his staff.

Indeed, all the officers of the Koyal Navy were most helpful

and kind, and I have a very pleasant recollection of the

* Fresh water was obtained by condensing the sea-water j
then*

were few condensers, and no means of aerating the water.

t The late Admiral Sir George Tryon, K.O.B.
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hospitality I received from Commodore Heath * and those

serving under him.

During the four months 1 remained at Zula, Tryon

and I were constantly together, and I had plenty of

opportunity for observing the masterly manner in which

he could grasp a situation, his intimate knowledge of

detail, and the strong hold he had over all those working

with him, not only the officers of the Royal Navy, but also

the commanders of the merchant vessels taken up as

transports, and lying in Annesley Bay.

On the 17th April news reached us that four days

before Sir Robert Napier had successfully attacked Magdala

and released the prisoners, having experienced but very

slight opposition ; and that King Theodore, deserted by his

army, which had apparently become tired of his brutalities,

had committed suicide, t A few days later Major-General

Russell, who had come from Aden to take over the com-

mand at Zula, received orders to prepare for the embarka-

tion of the force. Arrangements were accordingly made

to enable regiments and batteries to be embarked on board

the transports told off for them directly they arrived from

the front—a matter of the utmost importance, both on

account of the fearful heat at Zula, and the absence of a

sufficient water-supply.

On the 2nd June the Oommander-in-Chief returned to

Zula and on the 10th he embarked on board the old Indian

Marine steamer Feroze for Suez. Sir Robert was good

enough to ask me to accompany him, as he wished to

* Now Admiral Sir Leopold Heath, K.C.B.

t He ie said to have killed in one month, or burnt alive, more than

8)000 people. He pillaged and burnt the churches at Gondur, and had
0uu>y priests and young girls cast alive into tho flames.
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. make me the bearer of his final despatches. My work was

ended, the troops had all left, and as I was pretty well

knocked up, I felt extremely grateful for the offer, and

very proud of the great honour the Chief proposed to

confer upon me.

We reached Alexandria on the 20th June, and the next

day I started in the mail-steamer for Brindisi, arriving in

London on the evening of Sunday, the 28th. I received a

note at my club from Edwin Johnson (who was at that

time Assistant Military Secretary to H.R.H. the Duke of

* Cambridge), directing me to take the despatches without

delay to the Secretary of State for India. I found Sir

Stafford and Lady Northcote at dinner
;
Sir Stafford looked

through the despatches, and when he had finished read-

ing them, he aBked me to take them without delay to the

Commander-in-Chief, as he knew the Duke was most

anxious to see them. There was a dinner-party, however,

that night at Gloucester House, and the servant told me
it was quite impossible to disturb His Royal Highness;

so, placing my card on the top of the despatches, I told

the man to deliver them at once, and went back to my
club. I had scarcely reached it, when the Duke’s Aide-de-

camp made his appearance and told me that he had been

ordered to find me and take me back with him . The

Commander-in-Chief received me very kindly, expressing

regret that I had been sent away in the first instance;

and Their Royal Highnesses the Prince and Princess of

Wales, who were present, were most gracious, and asked

many questions about the Abyssinian Expedition.

The next day I joined my wife, who was staying witb

my people at Clifton, and on the 14th August, when the
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rewards for the Abyssinian Expedition were published, my
name appeared for a brevet Lieutenant-Colonelcy.

I was now anxious to ascertain in what manner I was to

be employed. My five years as A.Q.M.G. were about to

expire, and I thought I should like to go back to my
regiment for a time. I therefore applied for the command

of a battery of Horse Artillery. I waB told, in answer to

my application, that it was not the custom to appoint an

officer who had been in staff employment for some time to

the mounted branch, but that, in consideration of my
services, the Duke of Cambridge was pleased to make an.

exception in my favour. I was posted to a battery at

Meerut, and warned to be ready to start in an early troop-

ship. Before the time for our departure arrived, however,

I received a letter from Lumsden, who had now become

Quartermaster - General, informing me that the Com-

mander-in-Chief had recommended, and the Government

had approved of, the formation of a fresh grade—that of

First A.Q.M.G.—and that he was directed by Sir William

Mansfield to offer the new appointment to me—an offer

which I gratefully accepted ; for though the command of a

Horse Artillery battery would have been most congenial,

this unexpected chance of five years’ further staff employ

was too good to be refused.

On the 4th January, 1869, having said good-bye to those

dear to us, two of whom I was never to see again, my wife

and I, with a baby girl who was born the previous July,

embarked at Portsmouth on board the s.s. Helvetia, which

had been taken up for the conveyance of troops to Bombay,
the vessel of the Koyal Navy in which we were to have

sailed having suddenly broken down. The Helvetia proved
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most unsuitable as a transport, and uncomfortable to the

last degree for passengers, besides which it blew a gale the

whole way to Alexandria. We were all horribly ill, and our

child caught a fatal cold. We thoroughly appreciated a

change at Suez to the Indian trooper, the Malabar
, where

everything possible was done for our comfort by our kind

captain (Rich, R.N.), and, indeed, by everyone on board

;

but, alas ! our beautiful little girl never recovered the

cruel experience of the Helvetia
, and we had the terrible

grief of losing her soon after we passed Aden. She was

buried at sea.

It was a very sad journey after that. There were several

nice, kind people amongst our fellow-passengers ; but life

on board ship at such a time, surrounded by absolute

strangers, was a terrible trial to us both, and, what with

the effects of the voyage and the anxiety and sorrow she

had gone through, my wife was thoroughly ill when we

arrived at Simla towards the end of February.
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CHAPTER XXXVIII.

In January, 1869, Sir John Lawrence, after a career which

was altogether unique, he having risen from the junior

grades of the Bengal Civil Service to the almost regal

position of Governor-General, left India for good. He was

succeeded as Viceroy by Lord Mayo, one of whose first

official acts was to hold a durbar at Umballa for the re-

ception of the Amir Sher Ali, who, after five years of civil

war, had succeeded in establishing himself on the throne

of Afghanistan, to which he had been nominated by his

father, Dost Mahomed Khan.*

Sher Ali had passed through a stormy time between the

>: Dost Mahomed had several sons. Mahomed Akbar and Ghulam
Haidar, the two heirs-designate in succession, died before their father.

Sixteen other sons were alive in 1863, of whom the following were the

eldest

:

1. Mahomed Afzal Khan, aged 62 years
\
By a wife not of

) Hoyal blood.2. Mahomed Azim Khan,
3. Sher Ali Khan
4. Mahomed Amir Khan
5. Mahomed Sharif Khan
6. Wali Mahomed Khan
7. Faiz Mahomed Khan

46

40

34

30

33

26

i

By a favourite

Popalzai wife.

|

By a third wife.

Afzal Khan had a son Abdur Rahman Khan, the present Amir of

Afghanistan, and Sher Ali had five sons—Ali Khan, Yakub Khan,
Ibrahim Khan, Ayub Khan, and Abdula Jan.
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(loath of the Dost, in June, 1863, and September, 1868.

He had been acknowledged as the rightful heir by the

Government of India, and for the first three years he

held the Amirship in a precarious sort of way. His two

older brothers, Afzal and Azim, and his nephew, Abdur

Rahman (the present ruler of Afghanistan), were in re-

bellion against him. The death of his favourite son and

heir-apparent, Ali Khan, in action near Khelat-i-Ghilzai,

in 1865, grieved him so sorely that for a time his reason

was affected. In May, 1866, he was defeated near Ghazni

(mainly owing to th’e treachery of his own troops) by

Abdur Rahman, who, releasing his father, Afzal, from the

prison into which he had been cast by Sher Ali, led him in

triumph to Kabul, and proclaimed him Amir of Afghanistan.

The new Amir, Afzal, at once wrote to the Government

of India detailing what had occurred, and expressing a

hope that the friendship of the British, which he so greatly

valued, would be extended to him. He was told, in reply,

that the Government recognized him as Ruler of Kabul,

but that, as Sher Ali still held Kandahar and Herat,

existing engagements with the latter could not be broken

off. The evident preference thus displayed for Sher Ali

caused the greatest vexation to the brothers Afzal and

Azim, who showed their resentment by directing an Envoy

who had come from Swat to pay his respects to the new

Amir to return to his own country and set on foot a holy

war against the English ; the Waziri malikg* in attend-

ance at the court were dismissed with presents and direc-

tions to harass the British frontier, while an emissary was

despatched on a secret mission to the Russians.

4 The headmen of villages in Afghanistan are styled mdUkt,
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After his defeat near Ghazni, Sher Ali fled to Kandahar,

and in the January of the following year (again owing to

treachery in his army) he met with a second defeat near

Khelat-i-Ghilzai, and lost Kandahar.

On this fact being communicated to the Government of

India, Afzal Khan was in his turn recognized as Amir

of Kabul and Kandahar. But he was at the same time

informed that the British Government intended to maintain

a strict neutrality between the contending parties in

Afghanistan. John Lawrence, in his letter of the 20th of

February, said that * neither men, nor arms, nor money,

nor assistance of any kind, have ever been supplied by my
Government to Amir Sher Ali. Your Highness and he,

both equally unaided by me, have fought out the battle,

each upon your own resources. I purpose to continue the

same policy for the future. If, unhappily, the struggle for

supremacy in Afghanistan .has not yet been brought to a

close, and hostilities are again renewed, I shall still side

with neither party.’

This reply altogether failed to satisfy Afzal and Azim.

They answered it civilly, but at the same time they sent a

copy of it to General Romanofski, the Russian Governor of

Tashkent, who was informed by the new Amir that he had

no confidence in the ‘ Lord sahib's fine professions of

friendship, and that he was disgusted with the British

Government for the ingratitude and ill-treatment shown

towards his brother Azim.* He looked upon the Russians

as his real and only friends, hoped soon to send a

* Azim Khun behaved well towards the Lumsden Mission, and it

was reported that he encouraged his father, Dost Mahomed Khan, not

to disturb the Peshawar frontier during the Mutiny.
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regular Ambassador to the Bussian camp, and would at

all timeB do his utmost to protect and encourage Bussian

trade.’

In October of this year (1867) Afzal Khan died, and his

brother Azim, hastening to Kabul, took upon himself the

Amirship. Abdur Bahman had hoped to have succeeded his

father, but his uncle having forestalled him, he thought it

politic to give in his allegiance to him, which he did by

presenting his dead father’s sword, in durbar, to the new

Amir, who, like his predecessor, was now acknowledged

by the Government of India as Buler of Kabul and Kan-

dahar.

The tide, however, was beginning to turn in favour of

Sher Ali. Azim and Abdur Bahman quarrelled, and the

former, by his extortions and cruelties, made himself

detested by the people generally.

In March, 1868, Sher Ali’s eldest son, Yakub Khan,

regained possession of Kandahar for his father. In' July

father and son found themselves strong enough to move
towards Ghazni, where Azim Khan’s army was assembled.

The latter, gradually deserted by his soldiers, took to

flight, upon which Sher Ali, after an absence of forty

months, entered Kabul on the 8th of September, and

re-possessed himself of all his dominions, with the excep-

tion of Balkh, where Azim and Abdur Bahman (now

reconciled to each other) still flew the flag of rebellion.

One of the newly-installed Amir’s first acts was to

inform the Viceroy of his return to Kabul, and of the

recovery of his kingdom. He announced his desire to

send some trusted representatives, or else proceed himaalf

in person, to Calcutta, i

for the purpose of showing his
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sincerity and firm attachment to the British Government,

and making known his real wants.’

Sir John Lawrence, in his congratulatory reply, showed

that a change had come over his policy of non-interference

in the internal affairs of Afghanistan, for he stated that he

was ‘ prepared, not only to maintain the bonds of amity

and goodwill which were established between Dost

Mahomed and the British Government, but, so far as may

be practicable, to strengthen those bonds ’
; and, as a

substantial proof of his goodwill, the Viceroy sent Sher

Ali £60,000, aid which arrived at a most opportune

moment, and gave the Amir that advantage over his

opponents which is of incalculable value in Afghan civil

war, namely, funds wherewith to pay the army and bribe

the opposite side.

The energetic and capable Abdur Bahman Khan had in

the meantime collected a sufficient number of troops in

Turkestan to enable him to move towards Kabul with his

uncle Azim. On nearing Ghazni, he found himself con-

fronted by Sher Ali ; the opposing forces were about equal

in strength, and on both sides there was the same scarcity

of ready money. Suddenly the report was received that

money was being sent from India to Sher Ali, and this

turned the scale in his favour. Abdur Bahman’s men

deserted in considerable numbers, and a battle fought on

the 3rd January, 1869, resulted in the total defeat of uncle

and nephew, and in the firmer consolidation of Sher Ali’s

supremacy.

The change in policy which induced the Government of

India to assist a struggling Amir with money, after its

repeated and emphatic declarations that interference was
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impossible, was undoubtedly brought about by an able and

elaborate memorandum written by the late Sir Henry

Bawlinson on the 28th July, 1868 . In this paper Baw-

linson pointed out that, notwithstanding promises to the

contrary, Bussia was steadily advancing towards Afghan-

istan. He referred to the increased facilities of communi-

cation which would be the result of the recent proposal

to bring Turkestan into direct communication, rid the

Caspian, with the Caucasus and St. Petersburg. He
dwelt at length upon the effect which the advanced position

of Bussia in Central Asia would have upon Afghanistan

and India. He explained that by the occupation of

Bokhara Bussia would gain a pretext for interfering in

Afghan politics, and ‘ that if Bussia once assumes a posi-

tion which, in virtue either of an imposing military force

on the Oxus, or of a dominant political influence in

Afghanistan, entitles her, in Native estimation, to

challenge our Asiatic supremacy, the disquieting effect will

be prodigious.’

‘ With this prospect before us,’ Sir Henry asked, ‘ are

we justified in maintaining what has been sarcastically,

though perhaps unfairly, called Sir John Lawrence’s

policy of “masterly inaction ”? Are we justified in allowing

Bussia to work her way to Kabul unopposed, and there

to establish herself as a friendly power prepared to protect

the Afghans against the English ?’ He argued that it was
contrary to our interests to permit anarchy to reign in

Afghanistan
; that Lord Auckland’s famous doctrine of

‘establishing a strong and friendly Power on our North-

West Frontier ’ was the right policy for India
; that Dost

Mahomed’s successful management of his country was
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in a great measure due to our aid, and that, if we had

helped the son as we had helped the father, Sher Ali

would have summarily suppressed the opposition of his

brothers and nephews.’ Rawlinson then added :
‘ Another

opportunity now presents itself. The fortunes of Sher Ali

are again in the ascendant
; he should be secured in our

interests without delay.’

Rawlinson’s suggestions were not at the time supposed

to commend themselves to the Government of India. In

the despatch in which it was answered,* the Viceroy and

his Councillors stated that they still objected to any active

interference in the affairs of Afghanistan
; they foresaw no

limits to the expenditure which such a move would entail,

and they believed that the objects that they had at heart

might be attained by an attitude of readiness and firmness

on the frontier. It is worthy of note, however, that, after

Sir Henry Rawlinson’s memorandum had been received by

the Indian Government, and notwithstanding these protests,

the sum of 4260,000 was sent to Sher Ali, that Sir John

Lawrence invited him ‘ to come to some place in British

territory for a personal meeting in order to discuss the best

manner in which a limited support might be accorded,’ and

that five days from the time of writing the above-mentioned

despatch, John Lawrence sent a farewell letter to Sher Ali,

expressing the earnest hope of the British Government

that His Highness’s authority would be established on a

solid and permanent basis, and informing him that a

further sum of £60,000 would be supplied to him during

the next few months, and that future Viceroys would

consider, from time to time, what amount of practical

* Dated 4th January, 1869.
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assistance in the shape of money or war materials should

periodically be made over to him as a testimony of their

friendly feeling, and to the furtherance of his legitimate

authority and influence.

Sher Ali expressed himself as most grateful, and came to

Umballa full of hope and apparently thoroughly well

disposed towards the British Government. He was

received with great state and ceremony, and Lord Mayo
was most careful to demonstrate that he was treating with

an independent, and not a feudatory, Prince.

At this conference Sher Ali began by unburdening

himself of his grievances, complaining to Lord Mayo of

the manner in which his two elder brothers had each

in his turn been recognized as Amir, and dwelling on

the one-sided nature of the treaty made with his father,

by which the British Government only bound itBelf to

abstain from interfering with Afghanistan, while the

Amir was to be ‘ the friend of the friends and the enemy
of the enemies of the Honourable East India Company.’

His Highness then proceeded to make known his wants,

which were that he and his lineal descendants on the

throne that he had won ‘ by his own good sword ’ should

be acknowledged as the de jure sovereigns of Afghanistan
;

that a treaty offensive and defensive should be made with

him ; and that he should be given a fixed subsidy in the
form of an annual payment.

It was in regard to the first of these three demands that

Sher Ali was most persistent. He explained repeatedly
and at some length that to acknowledge the Buler pro
tempore and de facto was to invite competition for a throne,
and excite the hopes of all sorts of candidates; but that
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if the British Government would recognize him and his

dynasty, there was nothing he would not do in order to

evince his gratitude.

These requests, the Amir was informed, were inadmis-

sible. There could be no treaty, no fixed subsidy, no

dynastic pledges. He was further told that we were pre-

pared to discourage his rivals, to give him warm counte-

nance and support, and such material assistance as we

considered absolutely necessary for his immediate wants,

if he, on his part, would undertake to do all he could to

maintain peace on our frontier and to comply with our

wishes in matters connected with trade.

As an earnest of our goodwill, the Amir was given the

second ,£60,000 promised him by Sir John Lawrence,

besides a considerable supply of arms and ammunition,* and

was made happy by a promise that European officers

should not be required to reside in any of his cities.

Before the conference took place, Lord Mayo had con-

templated British agents being sent to Kabul in order to

obtain accurate information regarding events in Central

Asia, but on discovering how vehemently opposed Sher Ali

was to such an arrangement, he gave him this promise.

Saiyad Nur Mahomed, the Minister who accompanied

the Amir, though equally averse to European agents,

admitted that * the day might come when the Russians

would arrive, and the Amir would be glad, not only of

* Besides the remainder of the aggregate sum of twelve lakhs,

6,500 moro rifles were forwarded to the frontier for transmission to the

Amir, and in addition four 18-pounder smooth-boro guns, two 8-inch

howitzers, and a Mountain battery of six 3-pounders complete, with

due proportion of ammunition and stores, together with draught

bullocks and nine elephants.

vox,, ii. 8ti
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British officers as agents, but of arms and troops to back

them.’

One request which the Amir made towards the close of

the meeting the Viceroy agreed to, which was that we

should call Persia to account for her alleged encroach-

ments on the debatable ground of Sistan. This, which

seemed but an unimportant matter at the time, was one

of the chief causes of Sher Ali’s subsequent estrangement

;

for the committee of arbitration which inquired into it

decided against the Amir, who never forgave what he

considered our unfriendly action in discountenancing his

claims.

The Umballa conference was, on the whole, successful,

in that Sher Ali returned to his own country much
gratified at the splendour of his reception, and a firm

personal friend of Lord Mayo, whose fine presence and

genial manner had quite won the Amir’s heart, although

he had not succeeded in getting from him everything he

had demanded.
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CHAPTER XXXIX.

We spent a very quiet year at Simla. My wife was far

from strong, and we had another great sorrow in the death

of a baby boy three weeks after his birth.

That winter I was left in charge of the Quartermaster-

General’s office, and we moved into
4

Kllerslie,’ a larger and

warmer house than that in which we had lived during the

summer.

Simla in the winter, after a fresh fall of snow, is par-

ticularly beautiful. Range after range of hills clothed in

their spotless garments stretch away as far as the eye can

reach, relieved in the foreground by masses of reddish-

brown perpendicular cliffs and dark-green ilex and deodar

trees, each bearing its pure white burden, and decked

with glistening fringes of icicles. Towards evening the

scene changes, and the snow takes the most gorgeous

colouring from the descending rays of the brilliant eastern

sun—brilliant even in mid-winter— turning opal, pink,

scarlet, and crimson
;
gradually, as the light wanes, fading

into delicate lilacs and grays, which slowly mount upwards,

till at last even the highest pinnacle loses the life-giving

tints, and the whole snowy range itself turns cold and

white and dead against a background of deepest sapphire
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blue. The spectator shivers, folds himself more closely in

hiB wraps, and retreats indoors, glad to be greeted by a

blazing log-fire and a hot cup of tea.

In the spring of the next year (1870) Sir William

Mansfield’s term of command came to an end, and he

was succeeded by Lord Napier of Magdala. The selection

of this distinguished officer for the highest military position

in India was greatly appreciated by the Indian army, as

no officer of that army had held it since the days of Lord

Clive.

In September a daughter was born, and that winter we

again remained at Simla. I amused myself by going

through a course of electric telegraphy, which may seem

rather like a work of supererogation ; but during the

Umbeyla campaign, when the telegraph office had to be

closed in consequence of all the clerks being laid up with

fever, and we could neither read nor send messages, I deter-

mined that I would on the first opportunity learn electric

signalling, in order that I might be able to decipher and

send telegrams should I ever again find myself in a similar

position.

In May my wife and I went for a march across the hills

to Chakrata, and thence to Mussoorie and back by way of

Dehra Dun and the plains. The object of this trip was to

settle the boundary of Chakrata, and my wife took the

opportunity of my being ordered on this duty to get away

from Simla, as we had now been there for more than two

years, and were consequently rather longing for a change.

Our route lay through most beautiful scenery, and not-

withstanding that the trip was a little hurried, and that

some of the marches were therefore rather long, we
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enjoyed it immensely. When passing along the ridge of

a very high hill one afternoon, we witnessed rather a

curious sight—a violent thunderstorm was going on in the

valley below us, while we ourselves remained in the mildest,

most serene atmosphere, enjoying bright sunshine and a

blue sky. Dense black clouds filled up the valley a

thousand feet beneath us, the thunder roared, the lightning

flashed, and soon we could hear the rush of waters in the

streams below from the torrents of rain which the clouds

were discharging, but it was not until we had crossed over

the mountain, and descended to a low level on the other

side, that we fully realized the effects of the heavy storm.

On our return to Simla we had the pleasure of a visit

from Major-Genoral Donald Stewart, who had come up

to receive Lord Mayo’s instructions before taking over his

appointment as Superintendent of the Andaman Islands.

In September he and I travelled together to Calcutta, to

which place I was directed to proceed in order to make

arrangements for a military expedition into the country of

the Lushais, having been appointed senior staff officer to

the force.

Lushai, situated between south-eastern Bengal and

Burma, was a terra incognita to me, and I had only heard

of it in connexion with the raids made by its inhabitants

upon the tea-gardens in its vicinity, which had now spread

too far away from Cachar for the garrison of that small

military station to afford them protection. From time

to time the Lushais had done the planters much damage,

and carried off several prisoners, and various attempts

had been made in the shape of small military expeditions

to punish the tribesmen and rescue the captives ;
but from
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want of proper organization, and from not choosing the

right time of the year, these attempts had hitherto been

unsuccessful, and our failures had the inevitable result

of making the Lushais bolder. Raids became more fre-

quent and more destructive; until at last a little European

girl, named Mary Winchester, was carried off, and kept by

them as a prisoner; on this the Lieutenant-Governor of

Bengal declared that a punitive expedition was ‘ absolutely

necessary for the future security of the British subjects

residing on the Cacliar and Chittagong frontiers.’

The despatch of a force was therefore decided upon ;

it was to consist of two small columns*— one having

its base at Cachar, the other at Chittagong—commanded
respectively by Brigadier-Generals Boureliier, C.B., and

C. Brownlow, C.B., supreme political power being also

vested in these two oflicers. Long experience had taught

Lord Napier the wisdom of having only one head in time

of war, and he impressed upon the Government his opinion

that the civil officers, while acting as advisers and as the

channels of communication with the tribes,* should be sub-

ordinate to the control of the two Commanders, who, after

having been put in possession of the views and wishes of

the Government, should be held responsible for carrying

them out loyally so far as circumstances and the safoty of

the force would permit.

As the existence of the tea industry was at stake,

* The Cachar column consisted of half of the Peshawar Mountain
battery, one company of Bengal Sappers and Miners, the 22nd Punjab
Infantry, 42nd and 44th Assam Light Infantry. The Chittagong
column consisted of the other hnlf of the Mountain battery, the 27th
Punjab Infantry, and the 2nd and 4th Gurkhas. Each regiment was
fiOO strong, and each column was accompanied by 100 armed police.
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the Lushais having established a perfect terror on all

the estates within their reach, it was essential that

they should be given a severe lesson, and this could

only be done by their principal villages, which lay at some

considerable distance from the base of operations, being

visited in force. The difficult counti’y and the paucity of

transport necessitated the columns being lightly equipped ;

no tents were to be allowed, and baggage and followers

were to be reduced to a minimum. My instructions were

to fit out and despatch the two columns, and then join

Brigadier-General Bourchier at Cachar.

I was kept in Calcutta all October—not a pleasant month,

the climate then being very muggy and unhealthy. Every-

one who could get away had gone to the Hills or out to sea

;

and the offices being closed for the Hindu holidays of the

lUmja Puja, it was extremely difficult to get work done.

Everything for the Chittagong column had to be sent by sea.

The shipping of the elephants was rather interesting : they

clung desperately to the ground, trying hard to prevent

themselves being lifted from it : and when at last, in spite

of all their struggles, they were hoisted into the air, the

helpless appearance of the huge animals and their despair-

ing little cries and whines were quite pathetic. I found it

trying work being on the river all day ; my eyes suffered

from the glare, and I became so reduced that before I

left Calcutta I weighed scarcely over eight stone—rather

too fine a condition in which to enter on a campaign in

a mountainous country, so thickly covered with jungle as

to make riding out of the question.

By the 3rd November the equipment and stores for both

columns had been despatched, and on the 16th I joined
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General Bourchier at the house of that most hospitable of

hosts, Mr. Edgar,* Deputy-Commissioner of Cachar, who
accompanied the left column as civil officer.

We left Cachar on the 28rd, and from the outset we had

to make our own roads, a labour which never ceased until

the end of January, by which date 110 miles had been com-

pleted. There was not the vestige of a track to direct us ;

but I got hold of some people of the country, with whom I

made friends, and induced them to act as guides. Many a

long and weary reconnaissance had to be executed, however,

before the line of advance could be decided upon. The troops

worked with a will, and, notwithstanding the vapour-bath-

like atmosphere of the valleys and the difficult nature of

the country, which was a succession of hill-ranges covered

with jungle forests, made almost impenetrable from the

huge creepers, and intersected by rivers and watercourses,

a good road, from six to eight feet wide, was constructed,

with a sufficiently easy gradient for laden elephants to

travel over. Cutting one’s way day after day through
these dense, gloomy forests, through which hardly a ray of

light penetrates, was most stifling and depressing. One
could hardly breathe, and was quite unable to enjoy the
beauty of the magnificent trees, the graceful bamboos and
canes, and the wonderful creepers, which abounded, and
under other circumstances would have been a source of

pleasure; the difficulties we encountered, and the conse-

quent delay in our progress, quite prevented me from
being in a frame of mind to appreciate my picturesque

surroundings.

It became evident from the first that our onward move-

* Now Sir John Edgar, K.C.S.I.
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ments would be greatly impeded by want of transport.

Notwithstanding the experience which ought to have been

gained in many small mountain wars, the Government had

not been taught that a properly organized transport corps

was an absolute necessity, and that it was a mere waste of

money to collect a number of men and animals without

providing trained supervision. Fourteen hundred of our

coolies were attached to the Commissariat Department with-

out anyone to look after them, consequently officers and

non-commissionod officers, who could ill be spared from

tlieir regimental duties, had to be told off to organize and

work them.

To add to our troubles, cholera broke out amongst some

Nepalese coolies on their way to join us; out of 840,

251 died in a few days, and a number deserted panic-stricken,

while the rest were so weakened and shaken that, notwith-

standing the care bestowed upon them by their able and

energetic Commandant, Major II. Moore, only 887 joined

the column. We were not much better off in the matter

of elephants, which had been so carelessly selected that

only 88 out of the 157 sent with our column were of any

use. All this resulted in our being obliged to still further

reduce our already small kits. Officers were allowed only

forty pounds of baggage, and soldiers twenty-four pounds,

limits within which it was rather difficult to keep. A couple

of blankets were essential, as we should have to operate

over mountains five and six thousand feet high ; so was a

waterproof sheet, for even if we should be lucky enough to

escape rain, the dew is so heavy in those parts that it wets

one just as thoroughly as a shower of rain. These three

items, with my cloak and cork mattress—which is also a
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very necessary adjunct in such a damp climate—amounted

to thirty-one pounds, leaving only nine pounds for a

change of clothes, plate, knife, fork, etc.—not too much

for a four months’ campaign. However, ‘ needs must,’ and

it is surprising how many things one considers absolute

necessities under ordinary circumstances turn out to have

been luxuries when wo are obliged to dispense with them.

The advance portion of the column did not arrive at

Tipai Mukh, only eighty-four miles from Cachar, until the

9th December, which will give an idea of tho enforced

slowness of our progress. Tipai Mukh proved a very

suitable place for our depot: it was situated at the junction

of two rivers, tho Tipai and the Barak; thickly-wooded

hills rose precipitously on all sides, but on the right bank

of the Barak there was sufficient level space for all our

requirements. With the help of local coolies, the little

Gurkhas were not long in running up hospitals and store-

sheds ; bamboo, the one material used in Lushailand for

every conceivable purpose, whether it be a house, a drinking

vessel, a bridge, a woman’s ear-ring, or a musical instru-

ment, grew in profusion on the hillside. A trestle bridge

was thrown across the Tipai in a few hours, and about that

bridge I have rather an amusing story to relate. On my
telling the young Engineer officer in charge of the Sapper

company that a bridge was required to be constructed with

the least possible delay, he replied that it should be done,

but that it was necessary to calculate the force of the

current, the weight to be borne, and the consequent

strength of the timber required. Off he went, urged by
me to be as quick as he could. Some hours elapsed, and
nothing was seen of the Engineer, so I sent for him and
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asked him when the bridge was to be begun. He

answered that his plans were nearly completed, and

that he would soon be able to commence work. In the

meantime, however, and while these scientific calculations

were being made, the headman 0 the local coolies had

come to me and said, if the order were given, he would

throw a good bridge over the river in no time. I agreed,'

knowing how clever Natives often are at this kind of work,

and thinking I might just as well have two strings to this

particular bow. Immediately, numbers of men were to be

seen felling the bamboos on the hillside a short distance

above the stream ; these were thrown into the river, and

as they came floating down they were caught by men

standing up to their necks in water, who cut them to the

required length, stuck the uprights into the river-bed, and

attached them to each other by pieces laid laterally and

longitudinally ; the flooring was then formed also of

bamboo, the whole structure was firmly bound together

by Btrips of cane, and the bridge was pronounced ready.

Having tested its strength by marching a large number of

men across it, I sent for my Engineer friend. His astonish-

ment on seeing a bridge finished ready for use was great,

and became still greater when he found how admirably

the practical woodmen had done their work; from that

time, being assured of their ability to assist him, he wisely

availed himself when difficulties arose of their useful, if

unscientific, method of engineering.

By the 14th December matters had so far progressed

as to warrant an advance. As our route now lay away

from the river, scarcity of water entailed greater care

being taken in the selection of encamping grounds, so
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on arriving at our halting -place each day I had to

reconnoitre ahead for a suitable site for our next rest-

ing-ground, a considerable addition to the day’s work.

Road-making for the passage of the elephants became

more difficult, and transport was so deficient that the

troops could only be brought up very gradually. Thus,

it was the 22nd of the month before we reached the

Tuibum river, only twenty miles from Tipai Mukh. On

our way we were met by some scouts from the villages

ahead of us, who implored of us to advance no further,

saying, if we would only halt, their headmen would

come in and submit to whatever terms we chose to

make. The villagers were informed in reply that our

quarrel was not with them, and so long as we remained

unmolested, not the slightest injury should be done to

them, their villages, or their crops; but that we were

determined to reach the country of Lalbura, the Chief

who had been the ringleader in the raids upon the

tea-gardens.

We pushed on as fast as the dense undergrowth would

permit until within about a mile of the river, where we

found the road blocked by a curious erection in the form of

a gallows, from which hung two grotesque figures, made

of bamboo. A little further on it was a felled tree

which stopped us; this tree was Btudded all over with

knife-like pieces of bamboo, and from the incisions into

which these were stuck exuded a red juice, exactly

the colour of blood. This was the Lushai mode of warn-

ing us what would be our fate if we ventured further.

We, however, proceeded on our way, bivouacked for the

night, and early the next morning started off in the
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direction of some villages which we understood lay in

the road to our destination.

For the first thousand feet the ascent was very steep,

and the path so narrow that we could only march in

single file. Suddenly we entered upon a piece of ground

cleared for cultivation, and as we emerged from the forest

we were received by a volley from a position about sixty

yards off. A young police orderly, who was acting as our

guide, was knocked over by my side, and a second volley

wounded one of the sepoys, on which we charged and

the enemy retired up the hill. We came across a large

number of these jooma (clearings), and at each there was a

like effort to oppose us, always with the same result. After

advancing in this way for the greater part of the day, alter-

nately through dense jungle and open spaces, and occa-

sionally passing by scattered cottages, we sighted a good-

sized village, where it was decided we should remain for the

night. The day’s march had been very severe, the village

being 4,000 feet above the river ; and the troops were so

worn out with their exertions that it was with difficulty

the piquets could be got to construct proper shelter for

themselves out of the plentiful supply of trees and under-

wood ready at hand. Throughout the night the enemy’s

sharpshooters kept up an annoying fire under cover of

the forest which surrounded the village, and so as soon as

day dawned a party moved out to clear the ground all

round.

It was most aggravating to find from the view we got

of the country from this elevated position that the previous

day’s harassing march had been an absolutely useless per-

formance and an unnecessary waste of time and strength.
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We could now distinctly see that this village did not lead to

Lalbura’s country, as we had been led to believe it would,

and that there was no alternative but to retrace our steps

as far as the river. The men and animals were too tired

to march that day, and the next being Christmas, we made

another halt, and commenced our retirement on the 26th.

This was an extremely nasty business, and had to be carried

out with very great caution. The ground, as I said before,

necessitated our proceeding in single file, and with only 250

fighting men (all that our deficient transport admitted of

being brought on to this point) it was difficult to guard

the long line of sick, wounded, and coolies. As soon as we

began to draw in our piquets, the Lushais, who had never

ceased their fire, perceiving we were about to retire, came

down in force, and entered one end of the village, yelling

and screaming like demons, before we had got out at the

other. The whole way down the hill they pressed us

hard, endeavouring to get amongst the baggage, but were

invariably baffled by the Gurkhas, who, extending rapidly

whenever the ground was favourable, retired through their

supports in admirable order, and did not once give the enemy

the chance of passing them. We had 3 men killed and

8 wounded during the march, but the Lushais confessed

afterwards to a loss of between 50 and 60.

As we were given to understand that our short retro-

grade movement had been interpreted into a defeat by

the Lushais, the General wisely determined to pay the

village of Kholel another visit. Our doing so had the best

possible effect. A slight resistance was offered at the first

clearance, but by the time the ridge was reached the Chief,

having become convinced of the uselessness of further
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opposition, submitted, and engaged to give hostages and

keep open communication with our depot at Tipai Mukh, a

promise which he most faithfully performed.

1872 opened auspiciously for me. On New Year’s Day I

was agreeably surprised by a communication from the

Quartermaster-General informing me that, a vacancy having

unexpectedly occurred, Lord Napier had appointed me
Deputy-Quartermaster-General. This was an important

step in my department, and I was proportionately elated.

A few days later I received the good news of the birth of

a son at ITmballa on the 8th.

Paucity of transport and difficulty about supplies kept

us stationary on the Tuibum for some time, after which we

moved on as before, the Lushais retiring in front of us until

the 25th, when they attacked us while we were moving

along a narrow ravine, with a stream at the bottom and

steep hills on either side. The first volley wounded the

General in the arm and hand, and killed his orderly. The

enemy’s intention was evidently to push past the weak

column along the hillside and get amongst the coolies

;

but this attempt was again foiled by the Gurkhas, who,

flinging off their great-coats, rushed into the stream and

engaged the Lushais before they could get at the baggage,

pressing them up the mountain, rising 2,500 feet above

us, as fast as the precipitous nature of the ascent would

allow. On the crest we found the enemy occupying a

good-sized village, out of which we cleared them and took

possession of it ourselves. On this occasion we had only

4 killed and 8 wounded, including the General, while

the enemy lost about 60. In one place we found a

heap of headless bodies. The Lushais, if unable to remove
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their dead, invariably decapitate them to prevent their

adversaries from carrying off the heads, their own mode of

dealing with a slain enemy, as they believe that whoever

is in possession of the head will have the man to whom

it belonged as a slave in the next world.

To complete the success we had gained, the General sent

me the next day with a small party to burn the village of

Taikum, belonging to the people who had attacked us. It

was past noon before we could make a start, owing to the

non-arrival of the elephants with the guns. When they

did come in, the poor huge creatures were so fatigued by

their climb that it was considered advisable to transfer

their loads to coolies, particularly as the route we had to

traverse was reported to be even move difficult than any-

thing we had yet encountered. When we had proceeded a

short distance, we perceived that our way was blocked a

mile ahead by a most formidable-looking stockade, on one

side of which rose perpendicular cliffs, while on the

other was a rocky ravine. As the nature of the ground

did not admit of my approaching near enough to discover

whether the Artillery could be placed so as to cover the

Infantry advance, and being anxious to avoid losing many
of my small party, I settled to turn the stockade by a

detour up the hillside. This manceuvre took some time,

owing to the uncompromising nature of the country; 'but it

was successful, for when we struck the track, we found our-

selves about a mile on the other side of the stockade. The

Lushais, on realizing what we were about, retired to

Taikum, which place came into view at 5 p.m. It was

situated on the summit of a hill 1,200 yards in front, and

was crowded with men. The guns were brought at once into
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action, and while Captain Blackwood* was preparing his

fuses, I advanced towards the village with the Infantry.

The first shell burst a little beyond the village, the second

was lodged in its very centre, for a time completely paralyz-

ing the Lushais. On recovering from the shock, they took

to their heels and scampered off in every direction, the last

man leaving the village just as we entered it. The houses,

as usual, were made of bamboo, and after it had been ascer-

tained that there was no living creature inside any of them,

the place was set on fire, and we began our return journey.

There was a bright moon, but even aided by its light we

did not reach our bivouac until midnight. This ended

the campaign so far as opposition was concerned, for not

another shot was fired either by us or against us during the

remaining six weeks we continued in the country.

Soon after this we heard that some of the captives we

had come to relieve had been given up to the Chittagong

column, and that Mary Winchester was safe in General

Brownlow’s hands—very satisfactory intelligence, showing

as it did that the Lushais were beginning to understand

the advisability of acceding to our demands. The work of

our column, however, was not over, for although, from

the information we received of his whereabouts, we had

given up hope of joining hands with Brownlow, Bouchier

determined that Lalbura’s country must be reached ; he

(Lalbura) being the chief offender, it would never have done

to let him think his stronghold lay beyond our power.

In order that we might be well out of Lushailand before

the rains, which usually begin in that part of the world

* Major Blackwood, who was killed at Maiwand, in command of

E Battery, ft.H.A.
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about the middle of March, and are extremely heavy, it was

decided not to wait until a road could he made for

elephants, but to trust to coolie-carriage alone, and to push

on rapidly as soon as supplies sufficient for twelve days

could be collected. Kits were still further reduced, officers

and soldiers alike being only allowed a couple of blankets

and one or two cooking utensils.

We resumed our march on the 12th February ; the route

in many places was strongly and skilfully stockaded, but the

tidings of our successes had preceded us, and our advance

was unopposed. In five days we reached the Chamfai

valley, at the end of which, on a high hill, Lalbura’s

village was situated.* Although Lalbura’s father, Vonolel,

had been dead some years, the people still called the place

Vonolel’s country. Yonolel had been a famous warrior, and

they were evidently very proud of his reputation. We were

shown his tomb, which, like that of all great Lushai braves,

was decorated with the heads of human beings (his slaves

in paradise) and those of animals, besides drinking-vessels

and various kinds of utensils for his use in another life.

Lalbura had taken himself off ; but his headmen sub-

mitted to us and accepted our terms. We remained at this

place till the 21st, in accordance with an agreement we

had made with Brownlow to send up signals on the night

of the 20th in case his column should be anywhere in

the neighbourhood. During the three days we stayed

amongst them we mixed freely with the Lushais, who were

greatly delighted and astonished with all we had to show

them. The telescope and the burning-glass amused them

* Latitude 28° 26' 82*, longitude (approximately) 98° 25'
; within a

abort distance of Fort White, lately built in the Chin Hills.
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greatly; our revolvers excited their envy ; and for the little

Mountain guns they displayed the highest veneration. But

what seemed to astonish them more than anything was

the whiteness of our skins, particularly when on closer

inspection they discovered that our arms and bodies were

even fairer than our faces and hands, which to our eyeB

had become from long exposure so bronzed as to make us

almost unrecognizable as Europeans.

We were all glad that the duty entrusted to ub had been

satisfactorily ended, and we were hoping that the Viceroy,

who had taken a keen personal interest in our proceedings,

would be satisfied with the result, when we were shocked

and startled beyond measure by hearing that Lord

Mayo had been murdered by a convict while visiting the

Andaman Islands. The disastrous news arrived as we were

in the midst of firing signal-rockets, burning blue-lights, and

lighting bonfires to attract the attention of the Chittagong

column. I could not help thinking of the heavy loss India

had sustained, for the manly, open-hearted Governor-

General had impressed the Native Chiefs in quite an ex-

ceptional manner, and he was liked as well as respected

by all classes of Europeans and Natives. I felt also much

for Donald Stewart, to whom, I knew, such a terrible

tragedy, happening while he was Superintendent at Port

Blair, would be a heavy blow.

On the 6th March we reached Tipai Mukh, where we

bade farewell to our Lushai friends, numbers of whom

accompanied us to get possession of the empty tins, bags,

and casks which were got rid of at every stage. The

hostages and those who had assisted us were liberally

rewarded, and we parted on the best of terms, with pro-
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mises on their part of future good behaviour—promises

which were kept for nearly twenty years.

No one was sorry that the marching was at an end, and

that the rest of the journey back was to be performed in

boats. Constant hard work and exposure in a peculiarly

malarious and relaxing climate had told upon the whole

force ; whilo our having to depend for so long on tinned

meats, which were not always good, and consisted chiefly

of pork, with an occasional ration of mutton and salt beef,

had been very trying to the officers. One and all were ' com-

pletely worn out,’ as the principal medical officer reported

;

two out of our small number died, and the General’s con-

dition gave cause for grave anxiety. For myself, having

a perfect horror of pork, I think I should have starved

outright but for the extraordinary culinary talent of Mr.

Edgar, who disguised the presence of the unclean animal

in such a wonderful way in soups, stews, etc., that I fre-

quently partook of it without knowing what I was eating.

My wife and some anonymous kind friend sent by post

small tins of Liebig’s extract, which were highly appreciated.

Cholera pursued us up to and beyond Cachar; the

wretched coolies suffered most, and it is a disease to

which Gurkhas are peculiarly susceptible, while a feast on

a village pig from time to time probably helped to mal™
matters worse for them. Many of these grand little

soldiers and some of the Sikhs also fell victims to the

scourge. My orderly, a very smart young Gurkha, to my
great regret, was seized with it the day after I reached

Cachar, and died next morning.

On my way to Simla, I spent a few days with Norman at

Calcutta. The whole place was in mourning on account of

the terrible catastrophe which had happened at Fort Blair.
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CHAPTER XL.

Lord Napier of Murchiston, the Governor of Madras, had

been summoned to Calcutta to act as Viceroy until Lord

Northbrook, Lord Mayo’s successor, should arrive. He

seemed interested in what I had to tell him about Lushai,

and Lord Napier of Magdala spoke in laudatory terms

of the manner in which the expedition had been carried

out.

I reached Simla on the 1st of April, the twentieth anni-

versary of my arrival in India. I found my wife, with the

two children, settled in Snowdon,* a house I had recently

purchased. She had had much trouble in my absence,

having been at death’s door herself, and having very nearly

lost our little son at Umballa three weeks after his birth

from a Native wet-nurse having tried to kill him. The

English nurse’s suspicions had been aroused by one day

finding a live coal in the cradle, but she did not mention

this discovery at the time for fear of frightening my wife

;

but she determined to watch. A few days later, while with

our little girl in the next room, she heard the baby boy

* We lived in this house whenever we were in Simla, till we left

it in 1892. It has since been bought by Government for the Com-

mander-in-Chief’s residence.
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choking, and rushed in to find, to her horror, blood on his

lips, and that he was struggling violently, as if to get rid

of something in his throat ! She pushed down her finger

and pulled out a sharp piece of cane about two inches long;

but other pieces had evidently gone down, for the poor

little fellow was in terrible agony for many days. It

turned out that the wretched woman hated the unwonted

confinement of her new life, and was determined to get

away, but was too much afraid of her husband to say so.

He wanted her to remain for the sake of the high pay

this class of servant receives, so it appeared to the woman
that her only chance of freedom was to get rid of the

.child, and to carry out her purpose she first attempted to

set fire to the cradle, and finding this did not succeed, she

pulled some pieces of cane off the chair upon which she

was sitting, and shoved them down the child’s throat.

She was, as my wife described her, a pretty, innocent,

timid-looking creature, to whom no one would ever

have dreamt of attributing such an atrocity. The boy

was made extremely delicate for several months by this

misadventure, as his digestion had been ruined for the

time being, but eventually he completely recovered from

its effects.

In September the C.B. was conferred upon me for the

Lushai Expedition. Lord Napier informed me of the fact

in a particularly kind little note. I was very proud of

being a member of the Bath, although at the time a brevet

would have been a more useful reward, as want of rank

was the reason Lord Napier had given for not allowing me
to act as Quartermaster-General, on Lumsden being tem-

porarily appointed Resident at Hyderabad.
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We began our usual winter tour in the middle of October.

At Mian Mir I made the acquaintance of the Adjutant of

the 37th Foot, the late Sir Herbert Stewart, who was then

a smart, good-looking subaltern, and I recollect his be-

moaning bitterly his bad luck in never having had a chance

of seeing service. How little at that time could it have

been anticipated that within twelve years he would see

hard fighting in Africa, and be killed as a Major-General

in command of a column !

We visited several of the stations in the Punjab, and

spent a few days at Jamu as guest of the Maharaja

of Kashmir, who treated us royally, and gave us some

excellent pig-sticking
;
and on the 21st December we joined

Head-Quarters at Lawrencepur for a large Camp of Exercise,

to be held on the identical ground which I had selected

for the camp which Sir Hugh Eose proposed to have eleven

years before.

Lord Napier of Magdala did much to improve the

efficiency of the army by means of Camps of Exercise. He

held one at Delhi in the winter of 1871-72, and the Camp

of which I am writing was most successful and instructive.

No Commander-in-Chief ever carried out inspections with

more thoroughness than did Lord Napier of Magdala. He

spared himself no trouble. On the hottest day he would

toil through barrack after barrack to satisfy himself that

the soldiers were properly cared for; Europeans and

Natives were equally attended to, and many measures

conducive to the men’s comfort date from the time he was

in command in India.

At the close of this camp Lumsden, who had returned to

his appointment from Hyderabad, gave up the Quarter-
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master-Generalship for good. We had been greatly thrown

together during the twenty-one years I had been in India,

and my wife and I were very sorry to bid farewell to him

and Mrs. Lumsden. He was succeeded by Edwin Johnson,

pending whose arrival I was now allowed to officiate.

Prom Lawrencepur I went with the Commander-in-Chief

to Calcutta. Soon after we arrived there I was asked by

Sir Douglas Forsyth to accompany him on his Mission to

Yarkand and Kashgar. I should have much liked to have

done so, for the idea of a trip to these, at that time unknown,

regions possessed great fascinations for me. I was there-

fore well pleased when Lord Napier told me he would not

stand in the way of my going, and proportionately dis-

appointed when, the next day, his Excellency said that

on consideration he did not think I could be spared just

then, for the Quartermaster-General would be new to

the work at first, and he thought he would need my
assistance.

The end of April saw us back in Simla, and in July

Edwin Johnson arrived.

During the Bummer of 1878 important events occurred

which had much to do with our subsequent relations with

Afghanistan. The inquiries which Sher Ali had begged

Lord Mayo to make about Persian encroachments in

Sistan, had resulted in General Goldsmid* and Colonel

Pollockf being deputed in 1871 to proceed to Sistan to

decide the question. The settlement arrived at by these

officers, which assigned to Afghanistan the country up
to the right bank of the Helmand, but nothing beyond,

* General Sir Frederick Goldsmid, K.C.M.G.
t Major-General Sir Frederick Pollock, K.C.S.1.
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satisfied neither the Shah nor the Amir, and the latter

sent his confidential minister, Saiyad Nor Mahomed, the

Afghan Commissioner in the Sistan arbitration, to meet

Lord Northbrook on his arrival in Bombay for the purpose

of appealing to him against the decision. It could not,

however, be reversed ; but in a subsequent interview which

the new Viceroy accorded the Envoy, the latter was told

that as soon as Persia and Afghanistan had signified their

acceptance of the settlement, the Government of India

would present the Amir with five lakhs of rupees as com-

pensation for the ceded territory which had for a time

belonged to Afghanistan.

The action of her Majesty’s Ministers in communica-

tion with Russia regarding the northern boundary of

Afghanistan was another matter about which the Amir was

greatly exercised ; and Lord Northbrook, thinking that all

such vexed questions could be more satisfactorily explained

by personal communication than by letter, proposed to

the Amir that His Highness should consent to receive

at Kabul a British officer ‘ of high rank and dignity, in

whom I have full confidence ’ (Mr. Macnabb),* * who will

also explain to Your Highness,’ wrote the Viceroy, * the

negotiations which have now been satisfactorily concluded

with the Government of His Majesty the Emperor of

Russia, whereby the Russian Government have agreed to

recognize and respect the integrity and independence of

the territories now in your Highness’s possession.’

To this request Sher Ali replied that he considered it

advisable that one of his agents should first wait on the

Viceroy to ascertain the real views of the British Govern-

* Sir Donald Macnabb, K.C.S.I., then Commissioner of Peshawar.
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ment on these important matters. This was agreed to, and

Saiyad Nur Mahomed was again selected to represent the

Amir. He reached Simla towards the end of June. On

being informed that Persia had unreservedly accepted the

decision as to the Sistan question, the Envoy declared that,

whatever opinion the Amir might hold as to his rights, His

Highness would also scrupulously respect that decision.

With regard to the northern frontier, the Envoy begged it

to be clearly understood that the Afghan Government wished

to be allowed to make their own laws and follow their own
customs within their territories

; that the internal affairs of

the country should be free from interference
; and that the

acknowledgment by ltussia of the Amir’s claim to land

south of the Oxus should be confirmed by Bokhara. He
further requested ‘ that the British Government would dis-

tinctly promise that, in the event of any aggression on the

Amir’s territories, they would consider the perpetrator of

such aggression as their own enemy.’ It was explained to

the Saiyad that the British Government did not share the

Amir s apprehension of Bussia
; that under such circum-

stances as he contemplated, it would be the duty of the

Amir to refer to the British Government, who would
decide whether it was an occasion for assistance to be

rendered by them, and what the nature and extent of

the assistance should be ; moreover, that their help must
be conditional upon the Amir himself abstaining from
sggreBBion, and on his unreserved acceptance of the

advice of the British Government in regard to his external

relations.

Two other questions were discussed :

(1) The location in certain towns in Afghanistan of
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British officers as representatives of the British Govern-

ment.

(2) The present assistance to be rendered to the Amir

for the purpose of strengthening his country against foreign

aggression.

On the first point the Envoy said he had no instructions,

but that, in his opinion, to ask Sher Ali to allow British

officers to be located in Afghanistan would give rise to

mistrust and apprehension. He recommended that a

letter should be addressed to the Amir, pointing out the

desirability of a British officer being sent to inspect the

western and northern boundaries of Afghanistan, pro-

ceeding vid Kandahar and returning rid Kabul, where he

might confer personally with His Highness. This sug-

gestion was carried out.

With regard to the second point under discussion, the

Envoy stated that 20,000 stand-of-arms were desired, laying

very particular stress on 5,000 Sniders being included in

this number, and that hopes were entertained by the Amir

that he would be largely assisted with money. In answer

to this, the Saiyad was told that there was not then a suf-

ficient reserve supply of Sniders for the English troops in

India, and that it was impossible to spare more than 5,000

Enfields; that this number should at once be placed at

the Amir’s disposal, and that the remainder should be

forwarded as soon as they were received from England.

He was further informed that five lakhs of rupees (ex-

clusive of the five lakhs promised the year before, as

indemnification for the loss of territory) would be given

to Sher Ali.

A final letter from the Viceroy was sent to the Amir through
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Saiyad Nur Mahomed, dated 6th September, 1873, summing
up the result of the conference. His Highness was told, with

reference to a fear expressed by the Envoy lest Russia should

press for the establishment of a Russian Mission and agents

in Afghanistan, that Prince Gortschakoff had officially in-

timated that, while he saw no objection to British officers

going to Kabul, he engaged that Russian agents should

abstain from doing so, and that, far from apprehending a

Russian invasion of Afghanistan, the British Government

believed that the effect of the recent arrangements had
been to render the occurrence of such a contingency more
remote than ever. At the same time, being desirous of

seeing the Amir strong and his rule firmly established, the

Government were prepared to give him any reasonable

assistance.

Sher Ali was greatly annoyed and disappointed at the

result of his Envoy’s visit to Simla. He was of a very

impulsive, passionate disposition ; his reply to the Viceroy’s

letter was discourteous and sarcastic ; he declined to receive

a British officer at Kabul, and although he condescended

to accept the arms presented to him, he left the ten lakhs

of rupees untouched in the Peshawar treasury. Colonel

Valentine Baker, who was at that time travelling through

Central Asia, was forbidden by the Amir to pass through

Afghanistan on his way to India ; and a few months later

he refused to allow Sir Douglas Forsyth’s Mission to return

to tndia by way of Afghanistan.
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CHAPTER XLI.

In the beginning of October my wife and I started for a

fortnight’s trip to the top of the Chor, a fine mountain sixty-

two miles from Simla, and close on 12,000 feet high. We
were accompanied by a very dear friend of ours—now
no more—Colonel Baigrie, who was soon afterwards made
Quartermaster-General in Bombay. He was a talented

artist and delightful companion, and notwithstanding the

old adage that two are company and three none, we three

enjoyed our holiday immensely.

After crossing a stream called the Ghiri, below Fagu,

the road passes through beautiful forest and cliff scenery,

and for the most part was fairly easy, until the foot of the

mountain was reached about six miles from the top, when

it became very precipitous and difiicult. We were the

whole day doing this march, breakfasting in one place and

lunching in another higher up. There was a good deal of

snow in the shady spots. A few days before we had noticed

that the top of the mountain was white, but the sun was

still too strong in the daytime for the snow to lie long in

exposed parts. The way being too steep for my wife to

ride or go in a dandy, we all three walked, or rather
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climbed, up to the shoulder where our tents were pitched,

about a mile from the summit.

The forest through which we passed was very beauti-

ful,, commencing with dark-green ilex, glistening holly,

and sombre brown oak, interspersed with groups of

the dainty, graceful, white-stemmed birch, and wreathed

with festoons of the scarlet Himalayan vine. As we

mounted higher, trees became fewer and the foliage less

luxuriant, till at length only oaks were to be seen, their

branches twisted into all sorts of weird, fantastic shapes

from the strength of the south-west monsoon. Huge

rocks became more frequent, covered with lichens and

mosses of every shade, from dark-green to brilliant crimson.

At length trees and shrubs were left behind, except the

red-berried juniper, which grows at a higher elevation

here than any other bush, and flourishes in the clefts of

the rocks, where nothing else will exist. We got up in

time to see the most glorious sunset; the colours were

more wonderful than anything I had ever seen before, even

in India. My wife urged Baigrie to make a rough sketch,

and note the tints, that he might paint a picture of it

later. He made the sketch, saying : ‘If I attempted to

represent truly what we see before us, the painting would

be rejected by the good people at home as absurdly unreal,

or as the work of a hopeless lunatic.’ There was such

a high wind that our small tents had a narrow escape

of being blown away. That night the water was frozen in

our jugs, and it was quite impossible to keep warm.

We were up betimes the next morning, and climbed to

the highest peak, where we found breakfast awaiting us

and a magnificent view of the Himalayan ranges, right
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down to the plains on one side and up to the perpetual

snows on the others. We descended to the foot of the

mountain in the afternoon, and then returned, march by

march, to Simla.

Towards the end of the month Lord Napier began his

winter tour, visiting the hill stations first. At Chakrata

I made the acquaintance of the 92nd Highlanders, that

distinguished corps which stood me in such good stead a

few years later in Afghanistan. At the end of November

we found ourselves at Lucknow, in time to take part in

Lord Northbrook’s state entry, and be present at a fete

given to the Viceroy in the Wingfield Park by Sir George

Cooper, the Chief Commissioner.

From Lucknow wo went for a brief visit to a small

Camp of Exercise near Kurki, where Lord Napier left the

Adjutant-General, Thesiger,* in command, while he himself

proceeded to visit some of the stations in the Madras

Presidency, and I returned for a short time to Simla.

While riding up the hill from Ivalka, I had a novel

experience. One of those tremendous thunder-storms

which are not uncommon in the Himalayas came on ; the

rain was blinding and incessant, and the peals of thunder

were simultaneous with the lightning. At last there was

a tremendous crash ; a flash, more vivid than the rest,

passed right in front of my horse’s head, accompanied by

a whizzing noise and a sulphurous 6mell, completely blind-

ing me for a second. Two Natives travelling a few yards

ahead of me fell flat on their faces, and I thought they

were killed, but it turned out they were only knocked over

and very much frightened.

* Now General Lord Chelmsford, G.C.B.
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Early in January, 1874, we received by telegram the

infinitely sad news of my father’s death. We ought, I

suppose, to have been prepared for such an event, seeing

that he was within a few months of his ninetieth birthday ;

but he. was so well and active, and took such a keen interest

in all that was going on, especially anything connected with

India, that we hardly realized his great age, and always

hoped we might see him once more. He had received

the G.C.B. from Her Majesty’s hands at Windsor on the

8th December, and two days afterwards he wrote me an

account of the ceremony, and expressed himself much

pleased and gratified at the Queen’s gracious manner to him.

He said nothing about his health, but we heard later that

he had taken cold in the train on nis way home, and never

recovered from the effects ; he died on the 30tli of December.

His love for India had not been weakened by his twenty years’

absence from the country, and he never wearied of being

told of the wonderful changes which had taken place since

his day—changes which, for the most part, dated from the

Mutiny, for up till 1857 life in India was much the same as

when my father first landed in the beginning of the century.

A continued drought in Behar was at this time causing

grave fears of a famine, such as from time to time had

desolated various parts of India. Nine years before such

a drought, and the absence of means of communication,

which prevented grain being thrown into the famine-

stricken districts in sufficient quantities, resulted in one-

fourth of the population of Orissa being carried off by

starvation, or disease consequent on starvation. So on

this occasion Lord Northbrook was determined, at all

costs, to ward off such a calamity. He sent Sir Bichard



1874J THE I;AMINE IN BEHAR 8l

Temple to Behar in the confident hope that his unbounded

resource and energy would enable him to cope with

the difficulties of the situation, a hope that was fully

realized. Belief works were at once commenced ; a trans-

port train was quickly improvised, worked chiefly by-

military and police officers
;
and one million tons of rice

were distributed amongst the people. Not a life was lost,

but the cost to the State was enormous—six millions and a

half sterling.

In the beginning of February I was ordered by Govern-

ment to proceed to the famine districts to help Temple. I

started at once ; but I had not been long in Behar before I

was required to join the Commander-in-Chief in Calcutta,

His Excellency having determined to nominate me Quarter-

master-General, in succession to Johnson, who was about

to become Adjutant-General. Being only a Lieutenant-

Colonel in the army, I could not, according to the rules,

be put at once permanently into the appointment, which

carried with it the rank of Major-General. The difficulty

was overcome, however, by my being allowed to officiate

till the following January, when, in the ordinary course of

promotion, I should become a Colonel.

Lord Northbrook spent the summer of 1874 in Calcutta,

in consequence of the famine necessities having to be met

;

and as the Commander-in-Chief determined to follow his

example, I took a house in Calcutta, and my wife joined

me in the middle of March— rather a bad time of year, to

come down to the plains after spending the winter amongst

the snows of Simla. But she did not fancy Simla in the

season as a grass-widow, and had had quite enough of

being alone.

VOL. II. 88
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We continued in Calcutta until August, when the

Head-Quarters returned to Simla, where we remained till

November.

We had a standing camp at Umballa during the winter

of 1874-75, doing our inspections from there, and returning

to the camp at intervals. There was the usual visit to

Calcutta in March, towards the end of which month

another daughter was born.

In October, 1875, I spent some time at Delhi, arranging

for the Camp of Exercise to be held there in January for

His Royal Highness the Prince of Wales. The camp was

formed in the beginning of December, and consisted of

17,000 men, in four divisions, commanded by Major-

Generals Sir Charles Reid, Macdonnell, the Hon. Arthur

Hardinge, and Donald Stewart.

The country round Delhi is particularly well suited for

extended manoeuvres, and full advantage was taken of the

facilities it afforded during the two months the Camp of

Exercise lasted. The Prince of Wales landed at Calcutta

on the 28rd December; and Lord Napier with his Btaff

went down to meet His Royal Highness, whose reception

was loyal and hearty to a degree. As the Serapis, with the

Prince on board, steamed slowly up the Hughli, salutes

were fired from Fort William and three ships of the Royal

Navy. All the vessels in the river were gay with flags,

their yards were manned, and good hearty English cheers

resounded from stem to stern of each ship as the Indian

troopship, carrying the heir to England’s throne, came in

sight. As soon as the Serapis was moored, the Viceroy

went on board to greet the Prince and conduct His Royal

Highness to the gaily-decorated landing-stage, where the
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principal officials, Native Princes, and chief inhabitants of

Calcutta were assembled. Troops lined the road from the

river to Government House, and the maidan (the great

open space in front) was thronged with a dense crowd of

Natives in their most brilliant gala attire, eager to catch a

glimpse of the son of the great Queen of England.

That evening Lord Northbrook gave a State banquet.

The next day there was a reception of the Princes and

Chiefs, followed by a levee, and after dark the whole place

was most beautifully illuminated. The week that followed

was taken up with entertainments of various kinds—balls,

races, and garden-parties, interspersed with official visits

—

which I am afraid the Prince could not have found

amusing—and on New Year’s Day, 1876, His Royal High-

ness held a Chapter of the Order of the Star of India, after

which the Commander-in-Chief returned to Delhi to arrange

to receive the Prince in that historical city on the 11th

•January.

His Royal Highness’s camp, and that of the Com-

mander-in-Chief, were pitched on the ground occupied by

the British army during the siege. The road, five miles

in length, from the station to the camp was lined with

troops, and on the Ridge itself were placed six Rifle corps,

three of which had taken part in the siege.* The 2nd

Gurkhas were very appropriately drawn up immediately

under Hindu Rao’s house, and when this point was

reached, the Prince stopped and warmly complimented

the men on the distinguished service the regiment had

performed.

The next day there was a parade of all the troops in

* 60th Rifles, 2nd Gurkhas, and 1st Punjab Infantry.
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review order for the inspection of the Prince, who was

pleased to express his complete satisfaction and approval

of ‘ the steadiness under arms, soldier-like bearing, and

precision of movement, which distinguish the corps of the

three armies assembled at the camp at Delhi.’

That evening the Prince was present at a ball in the

diwan-i-klias (private audience hall) in the palace, given

in His Royal Highness’s honour by the officers of the

army.

The next few days were taken up with manoeuvres,

which the Prince attended, accompanied by Lumsden* and

myself. The defence was commanded by Eeid, the attack

by Hardinge, the latter’s object being to gain possession of

the Ridge, with a view to future operations against the city

on the arrival of the main army from the Punjab. But

the attack did not meet with the success which attended

Barnard in 1857, while the Commander of the defence

proved himself as skilful in protecting the Ridge against

an enemy advancing from the north as he had been,

twenty years before, in repulsing one coming from the

opposite direction.

The Prince of Wales hold another investiture of the Star

of India on the 7th of March at Allahabad, which Lord

Napier and the staff attended. At its close we took our

leave of His Royal Highness, who started that night for

England.

In less than a fortnight our dear old Chief followed, and

I saw him off from Bombay on the 10th April. I was very

low at parting with him, for though in the earlier days of

* Lumsden returned to Head-Quarters as Adjutant-General on Edwin
•Tohnson being appointed a member of the Indian Council in London.
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our acquaintance I used to think he was not very favour-

ably disposed towards me, when I became more intimately

associated with him nothing could exceed his kindness. He

was universally regretted by Europeans and Natives alike.

The soldiers recognized that he had carefully guarded their

interests and worked for their welfare, and the Native

Princes and people felt that he was in sympathy with

them, and to this day they speak of Lat Napier Sahib with

the deepest respect and affection.

Lord Napier was succeeded in the command by Sir

Frederick Haines.
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CHAPTER XLII.

With a new Commander-in-Chief came a new Viceroy, and

it was while we were in Bombay seeing the last of Lord

Napier that the Orontes steamed into the harbour with

Lord Lytton on board. Little did I imagine when making

Lord Lytton’s acquaintance how much he would have to

say to my future career.

His Excellency received me very kindly, telling me he

felt that I was not altogether a stranger, as he had been

reading during the voyage a paper I had written for Lord

Napier, a year or two before, on our military position in

India, and the arrangements that would be necessary in

the event of Russia attempting to continue her advance

south of the Oxus. Lord Napier had sent a copy of this

memorandum to Lord Beaconsfield, by whom it had been

given to Lord Lytton.

During the summer of 1876 our frontier policy was

frequently under discussion. Sir Bartle Frere wrote two

very strong letters after the Conservative Government

lame into power in 1874, drawing attention to the danger

of our being satisfied with a policy of aloofness, and

pointing out the necessity for coming into closer relations

with the Amir of Afghanistan and the Khan of Khelat.
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Soon afterwards the Secretary of State communicated with

the Government of India as to the advisability of establish-

ing British agents in Afghanistan, and of persuading the

Amir to receive a temporary Embassy at Kabul, as had

originally been proposed by Lord Northbrook.

The members of Lord Northbrook’s Council were

unanimously opposed to both these proposals, but they

did not succeed in convincing Lord Salisbury that the

measures were undesirable; and on the resignation of

Lord Northbrook, the new Viceroj' was furnished with

special instructions as to the action which Her Majesty’s

Government considered necessary in consequence of the

activity of Russia in Central Asia, and the impossibility of

obtaining accurate information of what was going on in

and beyond Afghanistan.

The question of the Embassy was dealt with at once

;

Lord Lytton directed a letter to be sent to the Amir

announcing his assumption of the Yiceroyalty, and his

intention to depute Sir Lewis Pelly to proceed to Kabul

for the purpose of discussing certain matters with His

Highness.

To this communication a most unsatisfactory reply was

received, and a second letter was addressed to the Amir,

in which he was informed that, should he still decline to

receive the Viceroy’s Envoy after deliberately weighing all

the considerations commended to his serious attention, the

responsibility of the result would rest entirely on the

Government of Afghanistan, which would thus alienate

itself from the alliance of that Power which was most

disposed and best able to befriend it.

This letter was the cause of considerable excitement in
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Kabul, excitement which ran so high that the necessity for

proclaiming a religious war was mooted
;
and, to compli-

cate matters, the Amir at this time received overtures

from General KaufFmann, the Kussian Governor-General

in Turkestan.

A delay of six weeks occurred before Sher Ali replied to

Lord Lytton’s letter, and then he altogether ignored the

Viceroy’s proposal to send a Mission to Kabul, merely

suggesting that the British Government should receive

an Envoy from him, or that representatives from both

countries should meet and hold a conference on the border,

or, as another alternative, that the British Native Agent at

Kabul should return and discuss affairs with the Viceroy.

The last suggestion was accepted by the Government of

India, and the agent (Nawab Ata Mahomed Khan) arrived

in Simla early in October. The Nawab gave it aB his

opinion that the Amir’s attitude of estrangement was due

to an accumulation of grievances, the chief of which were

—the unfavourable arbitration in the Sistan dispute ;
the

want of success of Saiyad Nur Mahomed’s mission to India

in 1873, when it was the desire of the Amir’s heart to

enter into an offensive and defensive alliance with the

British Government ; the interposition of Lord North-

brook’s Government on behalf of Yakub Khan;* the

recent proceedings in Khelat,+ which the Amir thought

were bringing us objectionably near Kandahar ; the trans-

* The Amir’s eldest son, who had rebelled on his younger brother,

Abdulla Jan, being nominated heir to the throne.

•f Before Lord Northbrook left India he sent Major Sandemon on a

Mission to Khelat to re-open the Bolan Pass, and endeavour to settle the

differences between the Khan and the Baluchistan tribes, and between

the tribes themselves, who were all at loggerheads.
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mission of presents through Afghanistan, to his vassal,

the Mir of Wakhan, without the Amir’s permission ;* and,

above all, the conviction that our policy was exclusively

directed to the furtherance of British interests without any

thought for those of Afghanistan.

As regarded the proposed Mission to Kabul, the Envoy

said that His Highness objected to it for many reasons.

Owing to local fanaticism, he could not insure its safety,

and it seemed probable that, though of a temporary nature

to begin with, it might only be the thin end of the wedge,

ending in the establishment of a permanent Besident, as

at the courts of the Native Rulers in India. Furthermore,

the Amir conceived that, if he consented to this Mission,

the Russians would insist upon their right to send a similar

one, and finally, he feared a British Envoy might bring

his influence to bear in favour of the release of his son,

Yakub Khan, with whom his relations were as strained as

ever.

In answer, the Viceroy enumerated the concessions he

was prepared to make, and the conditions upon which alone

he would consent to them ;
and this answer the agent was

directed to communicate to the Amir

:

The concessions were as follows :

(1) That the friends and enemies of either State should

be those of the other.

(2) That, in the event of unprovoked aggression upon

Afghanistan from without, assistance should be afforded in

men, money, and arms; and also that to strengthen the

* Presents given by the British Government to the Mir of Wakhan in

recognition of his hospitable reception of the members of the Forsyth

Mission on their return from Yarkund.
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Amir against such aggression, the British Government was

willing to fortify Herat and other points on the frontier,

and, if desired, to lend officers to discipline the army.

(3) That Abdulla Jan should be recognized as the Amir’s

successor to the exclusion of any other aspirant ; and that

the question of material aid in support of such recognition

should be discussed by the Plenipotentiaries.

(4) That a yearly subsidy should be paid to the Amir on

the following conditions

:

That he should refrain from external aggression or provo-

cation of his neighbours, and from entering into external

relations without our knowledge.

That he should decline all communication with Russia,

and refer her agents to us.

That British agents should reside at Herat and else-

where on the frontier.

That a mixed commission of British and Afghan officers

should determine and demarcate the Amir’s frontier.

That arrangements Bhould be made, by allowances or

otherwise, for free circulation of trade on the principal

trade routes.

That similar arrangements should be made for a line of

telegraph, the direction of which was to be subsequently

determined.

That Afghanistan should be freely opened to Englishmen,

official and non-official, and arrangements made by the

Amir, as far as practicable, for their safety, though His

Highness would not be absolutely held responsible for

isolated accidents.

The Viceroy concluded by suggesting that, if the Amir

agreed to these proposals, a treaty might be arranged
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between the agents of the respective Governments, and rati-

fied either at Peshawar, by the Amir meeting Lord Lytton

there, or at Delhi if the Amir accepted His Excellency’s

invitation to be present at the Imperial Assemblage.

The Amir at the time vouchsafed no reply whatever to

these proposals or to the invitation to come to Delhi.

In the autumn of 1876 preparations were commenced

for the ‘Imperial Assemblage,’ which it was announced

by the Viceroy would be held at Delhi on the first day of

January, 1877, for the purpose of proclaiming to the

Queen’s subjects throughout India the assumption by

Her Majesty of the title of ‘ Empress of India.’ To this

Assemblage Lord Lytton further announced that he pro-

posed ‘ to invite the Governors, Lieutenant-Governors, and

Heads of Administration from all parts of the Queen’s Indian

dominions, as well as the Princes, Chiefs, and Nobles in

whose persons the antiquity of the past is associated with

the prosperity of the present, and who so worthily con-

tribute to the splendour and stability of this great

Empire.’

Delhi was selected as the place where the meeting

between the Queen’s representative and the great nobles

of India could most appropriately be held, and a com-

mittee was appointed to make the necessary arrangements.

As a member of the committee I was deputed to proceed

to Delhi, settle about the sites for the camps, and carry

out all details in communication with the local authorities.

The Viceroy impressed upon me that the Assemblage was

intended to emphasize the Proclamation Lord Canning

issued eighteen years before, by which the Queen assumed

the direct sovereignty of her eastern possessions, and that
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he wished no trouble or expense to be spared in making

the ceremony altogether worthy of such a great historical

event.

I returned to Simla in October, when my wife and I

accompanied the Commander-in-Chief on a very delightful

march over the Jalauri Pass through the Kulu valley,

then over the Bubbu Pass and through the Kangra valley

to Chamba and Dalhousie. Our party consisted of the

Chief, his Doctor (Bradshaw), Persian interpreter (Moore),

General and Mrs. Lumsden, and ourselves. The first

slight shower of snow had just fallen on the Jalauri

Pass, and as we crossed over wo disturbed a number

of beautiful snow-pheasants and minals busily engaged

in scratching it away to get at their food. The scenery

on this march is very fine and varied ;
for the most part

the timber and foliage are superb, and the valleys are very

fertile and pretty, lying close under the snow-capped

mountains.

Having inspected the ‘Hill stations,’ we proceeded to

Peshawar, where the Viceroy had arranged to hold a con-

ference with the Lieutenant-Governor of the Punjab and

the Commissioner of Peshawar about frontier affairs.

Early in December I was back again at Delhi, where I

found the arrangements for the several camps progress-

ing most satisfactorily, and canvas cities rising up in

every direction. I had previously chosen the site of the

old cantonment for the camps of the Viceroy, the Com-

mander-in-Chief, and the principal officials, while for

the Assemblage itself I had selected ground about three

miles off.

The Chiefs and Princes were all settled in their several



18701 93RECEPTION
,
OF THE RULING CHIEFS

camps ready to meet the Viceroy, who, on his arrival,

in a few graceful words welcomed them to Delhi, and

thanked them for responding to his invitation. He then

mounted, with Lady Lytton, on a Btate elephant, and

a procession was formed, which, I fancy, was about the

most gorgeous and picturesque which has ever been seen

even in the East. The magnificence of the Native

Princes’ retinues can hardly be described
; their elephant-

housings were of cloth of gold, or scarlet-and-blue cloths

embroidered in gold and silver. The howdalis were veri-

table thrones of the precious metals, shaded by the most

brilliant canopies, and the war-elephants belonging to some

of the Central India and Bajputana Chiefs formed a very

curious and interesting feature. Their tusks were tipped

with steel ; they wore shields on their foreheads, and breast-

plates of flashing steel ; chain-mail armour hung down over

their trunks and covered their backs and sides ; and they

were mounted by warriors clad in chain-mail, and armed

to the teeth. Delhi must have witnessed many splendid

pageants, when the Bajput, the Moghul, and the Mahratta

dynasties, each in its turn, was at the height of its glory ; but

never before had Princes and Chiefs of every race and creed

come from all parts of Hindustan, vying with each other

as to the magnificence of their entourage, and met together

witfi the same object—that of acknowledging and doing

homage to one supreme Buler.

The next few days were spent by Lord Lytton in re-

ceiving the sixty-three* Buling Princes of India according

* * Besides the sixty-three Ruling Chiefs, there were nearly three

hundred titular Chiefs and persons of distinction collected at the

Imperial Assemblage, besides those included in the suites of Ruling

Chiefs.’—J. Talboys Wheeler, ‘ History of the Delhi Assemblage.’
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to the strictest etiquette. Each Prince, with his suite, was

met at the entrance to the camp, and conducted up the

street to the durbar tent by mounted officers, the salute

to which he was entitled being fired while the procession

moved on. He was then presented by the Foreign

Secretary to the Viceroy, who placed him on a chair on

his right, immediately below a full-length portrait of Her

Majesty. A satin banner, richly embroidered with the

Chief’s armorial bearings, surmounted by the Imperial

crown, was next brought in by Highland soldiers and

planted in front of the throne, when the Viceroy, leading

the particular Chief towards it, thus addressed him :
‘ I

present Your Highness with this banner as a personal

gift from Her Majesty the Queen, in commemoration of

her assumption of the title of Empress of India. Her

Majesty trusts that it may never be unfurled without re-

minding you not only of the close union between the

throne of England and your loyal and princely house,

but also of the earnest desire of the paramount power to

see your dynasty strong, prosperous, and permanent.’

His Excellency then placed round the Chief’s neck a

crimson ribbon, to which was attached a very handsome

gold medal* with the Queen’s head engraved on it, adding

:

* I further decorate you, by command of Her Majesty. May
this medal be long worn by yourself, and long kept as* an

heirloom in your family in remembrance of the auspicious

date it bears.’

The 1st January, 1877, saw the Queen proclaimed

* These gold medals were also presented to the Governors,

Lieutenant-Governors, and other high officials, and to the members
of the Imperial Assemblage Committee.
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Empress of India. The ceremony was most imposing,

and in every way successful. Three tented pavilions

had been constructed on an open plain. The throne-

pavilion in the centre was a very graceful erection, brilliant

in hangings and banners of red, blue, and white satin

magnificently embroidered in gold, with appropriate

emblems. It was hexagonal in shape, and rather more

than 200 feet in circumference. In front of this was the

pavilion for the Ruling Chiefs and high European officials,

in the form of a semicircle 800 feet long. The canopy

was of Star of India blue-and-white satin embroidered in

gold, each pillar being surmounted by an Imperial crown.

Behind the throne was the stand for the spectators, also

in the form of a semicircle divided in the middle, and

likewise canopied in brilliant colours. Between these two

blocks was the entrance to the area.

Each Chief and high official sat beneath his own banner,

which was planted immediately behind his chair, and

they were all mixed up as much as possible to avoid

questions of precedence, the result being the most

wonderful mass of colour, produced from the inter-

mingling of British uniforms and plumes with gorgeous

eastern costumes, set off by a blaze of diamonds and

other precious stones.

All the British troops brought to Delhi for the occasion

were paraded to the north, and the troops and retainers

belonging to the Native Chiefs to the south, of the pavilion.

Guards of Honour were drawn up on either side of the

throne and at each opening by which the Buling Chiefs

were to enter the pavilion.

The guests being all seated, a flourish of trumpets by
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the heralds exactly at noon announced the arrival of the

Viceroy. The military bands played a march, and Lord

Lytton, accompanied by Lady Lytton, their daughters, and

his staff, proceeded to the pavilion. His Excellency took

his seat upon the throne, arrayed in his robes as Grand

Master of the Star of India, the National Anthem was

played, the Guards of Honour presented arms, while the

whole of the vast assemblage rose as one man. The Chief

Herald was then commanded to read the Proclamation.

A flourish of trumpets was again sounded, and Her

Majesty was proclaimed Empress of India.

When the Chief Herald had ceased reading, the Itoyal

Standard was hoisted, and a salute of 101 salvoes of

artillery was fired, with a feu de joic from the long line of

troops. This was too much for the elephants. As the feu

de joie approached nearer and nearer to them they became

more and more alarmed, and at last scampered off, dis-

persing the crowd in every direction. When it ceased they

were quieted and brought back by their mahouts, only to

start off again when the firing recommenced ; but, as it

was a perfectly bare plain, without anything for the great

creatures to come in contact with, there was no harm done

beyond a severe shaking to their riders. As the sound

of the last salvo died away the Viceroy addressed the

assemblage. When he had ceased speaking, the assembly

again rose cn masse and joined the troops in giving several

ringing cheers.

His Highness the Maharaja Sindhia then spoke as

follows: ‘ Shah in Shah Padishah. May God bless you.

The Princes of India bless you, and pray that your

sovereignty and power may remain steadfast for ever.’
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Sir Salar Jung rose on behalf of the boy Nizam, and

said :
‘ I am desired by His Highness the Nizam to request

your Excellency to convey to Her Majesty, on the part of

himself and the Chiefs of India, the expression of their

hearty congratulations on the assumption of the title of

Empress of India, and to assure the Queen that they pray

for her, and for the enduring prosperity of her Empire,

both in India and England.’

The Maharajas of Udaipur and Jaipur, in the name of

the united Chiefs of Rajputana, begged that a telegram

might be sent to the Queen, conveying their dutiful and

loyal congratulations
; and the Maharaja of Kashmir ex-

pressed his gratification at the tenor of the Viceroy’s

speech, and declared that he should henceforth consider

himself secure under the shadow of Her Majesty’s protect-

ing care.*

It is difficult to overrate the political importance of this

great gathering. It was looked upon by most of the Ruling

Chiefs as the result of the Prince of Wales’s visit, and

rejoiced in as an evidence of Her Majesty’s increased

interest in, and appreciation of, the vast Empire of India

with its many different races and peoples.

I visited all the camps, and conversed with every one of

the Princes and Nobles, and each in turn expressed the

same intense gratification at the Viceroy’s reception of

him, the same fervent loyalty to the Empress, and the

same satisfaction that the new title should have been

announced with such appropriate splendour and publicity.

* In endeavouring to describe this historical event, I have freely

refreshed my memory from Talboys Wheeler’s ‘ History of the

Imperial Assemblage,’ in which is given a detailed account of the

proceedings.

VOL. II. 39
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General rejoicings in hononr of the occasion took place

all over India, in Native States as well as British canton-

ments. School -houses, town halls, hospitals, and dis-

pensaries were founded, large numbers of prisoners were

released, substantial additions were made to the pay of all

ranks in the Native Army, as well as a considerable

increase in numbers to the Order of British India
; and

the amnesty granted in 1859 was extended to all but

murderers and leaders in the Mutiny.

When the Assemblage broke up, I started with Sir

Frederick Haines for a tour along the Derajat frontier.

We visited Kohat, Bannu, Dera Ismail Khan, and Multan

;

proceeded by steamer down the Indus to Sukkur, and

thence rode to Jacobabad. Then on to Kotri, from which

place we went to see the battle-field of Miani, where Sir

Charles Napier defeated the Amirs of Sind in 1848. From

Kotri we travelled to Simla rid Karachi and Bombay, where

we were most hospitably entertained by the Commander-

in-Chief of Bombay (Sir Charles Staveley) and his wife.

Afghan affairs were thiB year again giving the Viceroy

a great deal of anxiety. The Amir had eventually agreed

to a discussion of Lord Lytton’s proposals being held, and

for this purpose Saiyad Nur Mahomed and Sir Lewis Felly

had met at Peshawar in January, 1877. The meeting,

unfortunately, ended in a rupture, owing to Sher Ali’s

agent pronouncing the location of European officers in any

part of Afghanistan an impossibility; and what at this

crisis complicated matters to a most regrettable extent

was the death of Saiyad Nur Mahomed, who had been in

failing health for some time.

On learning the death of his most trusted Minister, and
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the failure of the negotiations, Sher Ali broke into a

violent fit of passion, giving vent to his fury in threatenings

and invectives against the British Government. He declared

it was not possible to come to terms, and that there was

nothing left for him but to fight ; that he had seven crores

of rupees, every one of which he would hurl at the heads of

the English, and he ended by giving orders for a jahad

(a religious war) to be proclaimed.

For the time being nothing more could be done with

Afghanistan, and the Viceroy was able to turn his attention

to the following important questions :—the transfer of Sind

from Bombay to the Punjab, a measure which had been

unanimously agreed to by Lord Northbrook’s Government

;

the removal from the Punjab government of the trans-

Indus tract of country, and the formation of the latter into

a separate district under the control of a Chief Commis-

sioner, who would be responsible to the Government of

India alone for frontier administration and trans-frontier

relations. This post Lord Lytton told me, as much to my
surprise as to my gratification, that he meant to offer to me,

if his views were accepted by the Secretary of State. It

was above all others the appointment I should have liked.

I delighted in frontier life and frontier men, who, with all

their faults, are men, and grand men, too. I had felt for

years what an important factor the trans-Indus tribes are

in the defence of India, and how desirable it was that we

should be on better terms with them than was possible so

long as our policy consisted in keeping them at arm’s length,

and our only intercourse with them was confined to punitive

expeditions or the visits of their head men to our hard-

worked officials, whose whole time was occupied in writing
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long reports, or in settling troublesome disputes to the

satisfaction of no one.

I now hoped to be able to put a stop to the futile block-

ades and inconclusive reprisals which had been carried on

for nearly thirty years with such unsatisfactory results,

and I looked forward to turning the wild tribesmen from

enemies into friends, a strength instead of a weakness, to

our Government, and to bringing them by degrees within

the pale of civilization. My wife quite shared my feelingB,

and we were both eager to begin our frontier life.

As a preliminary to my engaging in this congenial

employment, Lord Lytton proposed that I should take

up the command of the Punjab Frontier Force. I gladly

acquiesced ; for I had been a long time on the staff, and

had had three years of the Quartermaster - Generalship.

My friends expressed surprise at my accepting the position

of Brigadier-General, after having filled an appointment

carrying with it the rank of Major-General ; but this was

not my view. I longed for a command, and the Frontier

Force offered opportunities for active service afforded by no

other post.

We were in Calcutta when the question was decided,

and started very soon afterwards to make our arrangements

for the breaking up of our home at Simla. I took over

the command of the Force on the 15th March, 1878. My
wife accompanied me to Abbottabad— the pretty, quiet

little place in Hazara, about 4,000 feet above the sea,

which was to be henceforth our winter head-quarters.

For the summer months we were to be located in the

higher hills, and my wife was anxious to see the house

which I had purchased from my predecessor, General
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Keyes, at Natiagali. So off we set, nothing daunted by

being told that we were likely to find snow still deep in

places.

For the first part of the way we got on well enough,

my wife in a dandy, I riding, and thirteen miles were

accomplished without much difficulty. Suddenly the road

took a bend, and we found ourselves in deep snow. Biding

soon proved to be impossible, and the dandy-bearers could

not carry my wife further ; so there was nothing for it but

to walk. We were seven miles from our destination, and at

each step we sank into the snow, which became deeper and

deeper the higher we ascended. On we trudged, till my

wife declared she could go no further, and sat down to rest,

feeling so drowsy that she entreated me to let her stay

where she was. Fortunately I had a small flask with

me filled with brandy. I poured a little into the cup,

mixed it with snow, and administered it as a stimulant.

This restored her somewhat, and roused her from the state

of lethargy into which she had fallen. Again we struggled

on. Soon it became dark, except for such light as the stars,

aided by the snow, afforded. More than once I despaired

of reaching the end of our journey; but, just as I had

become quite hopeless, we saw lights on the hill above

us, and heard our servants, who had preceded us, shouting

to attract our attention. I answered, and presently they

came to our assistance. Half carrying, half dragging her,

we got my wife up the steep mountain-side ;
and at length,

about 9 p.m., we arrived at the little house buried in

snow, into which we crept through a hole dug in the snow

wall which encircled it. We were welcomed by a blazing

wood-fire and a most cheering odour of dinner, to which
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we did full justice, after having got rid of our saturated

garments. Next morning we started on our return journey

at daybreak, for it was necessary to get over the worst part

of the road before the sun had had time to soften the snow,

which the night’s frost had so thoroughly hardened that we

slipped over it without the least difficulty.

This was our only visit to our new possession, for very

soon afterwards I was informed that Lord Lytton wished

me to spend the summer at Simla, as the Lieutenant-

Governor of the Punjab would be there, and His Excel-

lency was anxious to discuss the details of the proposed

Chief Commissionership. My wife, therefore, returned to

Simla at once, and I joined her at the end of May, having

in the meanwhile inspected every regiment and visited

every post held by the Frontier Force between Sind and

Hazara—a most interesting experience, which I thoroughly

enjoyed



[ 103 ]

CHAPTEll XLIII.

Before continuing my story, it will, I think, be as well

to recall to the minds of my readers the train of events

which led to England and Russia becoming at the same

moment solicitous for the Amir’s friendship, for it was this

rivalry which was the immediate cause of the second

Afghan war.

Less than two hundred years ago the British Empire in

the East and Russia were separated from each other by a

distance of 4,000 miles. Russia’s most advanced posts

were at Orenburg and Petropaulovsk, while England had

obtained but an uncertain footing on the seaboard of

southern India. The French were our only European

rivals in India, and the advance of Russia towards the

Oxus was as little anticipated as was England’s advance

towards the Indus.

Thirty years later Russia began to absorb the hordes

of the Kirghiz steppes, which gave her occupation for

more than a hundred years, during which time England

was far from idle. Bengal was conquered, or ceded to us,

the Madras Presidency established, and Bombay had become

an important settlement, with the result that, in the early

part of this century, the distance between the Russian
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and English possessions had been diminished to less than

2.000 miles.

Our progress was now more rapid. While Russia was

laboriously crossing a barren desert, the North-West

Provinces, the Carnatic, the territories of the Peshwa, Sind,

and the Punjab, successively came under our rule, and by

1850 we had extended our dominions to the foot of the

mountains beyond the Indus.

Russia by this time, having overcome the difficulties of

the desert, had established herself at Aralslt, near the

junction of the Syr Daria with the waters of Lake Aral ; so

that in fifty years the distance between the outpoBts of the

two advancing Powers in Asia had been reduced to about

1.000 miles.

Repeated successful wars with Persia, and our desertion

of that Power owing to the conviction that we could no

longer defend her against the Russians, had practically

placed her at their mercy, and they had induced Persia, in

1887, to undertake the siege of Herat. At the same time,

the Russian Ambassador at Teheran had despatched

Captain Vitkievitch to Kabul with letters from himself and

from the Czar to the Amir, in the hope of getting Dost

Mahomed Khan to join the Russians and Persians in their

alliance against the English.

Vitkievitch’s arrival at Kabul towards the end of 1887

had been anticipated by Captain (afterwards Sir Alexander)

Burnes, who had been sent three months before by Lord

Auckland on a Mission to the Amir, ostensibly to im-

prove our commercial relations with the Afghans, but in

reality to prevent them from joining the Russo-Persian

alliance.
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Barnes had been most cordially received by Dost

Mahomed, who hoped, with the help of the Indian Govern-

ment, to recover the district of Peshawar, which had been

wrested from him by the Sikhs. Vitkievitch’s reception

was proportionately discouraging, and for some weeks he

could not obtain an interview with the Amir.

The Dost’s hopes, however, were not fulfilled. We
declined to give him any assistance towards regaining

possession of Peshawar or defending his dominions, should

his refusal to join with Persia and Russia draw down upon

him the enmity of those Powers.

Vitkievitch, who had been patiently biding his time, was

now taken into favour by the Amir, who accorded him a

reception which fully compensated for the neglect with

which he had previously been treated.

Burnes remained at Kabul until the spring of 1888, and

then returned to India to report that Dost Mahomed had

thrown himself heart and soul into the Russo-Persian

alliance.

Under pressure from the English Ministry the Governor-

General of India determined to take the extreme measure

of deposing an Amir who had shown himself so hostilely

inclined, and of placing on the throne of Kabul a Ruler who,

it was hoped, would feel that it was to his interest to keep

on good terms with us. It was for this object that the first

Afghan war* was undertaken, which ended in the murder

of our nominee, Shah Shuja, and the triumphant return of

Dost Mahomed. The disastrous failure of our action in this

matter taught the British Government that our frontier on

* It is instructive to note how remarkably similar were the circum-

stances which brought about the first and second Afghan wars, vis.,

the presence of Russian officers at Kabul.
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the Sutlej was too far removed for us to think of exercising

any real influence in Afghanistan, and that the time had

not arrived to warrant our interfering in Afghan affairs.

After this came our war with the Sikhs, resulting in our

conquest of the Punjab, and our frontier becoming con-

terminous with that of Afghanistan on the banks of the

Indus.

There was a lull in the movements of Russia in Central

Asia until after the Crimean War of 1854-56, which, while

temporarily checking the designs of Russia in Europe,

seems to have stimulated her progress in the East. After

the passage of the great deBert, Russia found herself in the

midst of fertile and settled countries, whose provinces

fell under her control as rapidly as those of India had

fallen under ours, until in 1864 Chimkent was occupied, the

point beyond which Prince Gortchakoff stated that there

was no intention on the part of Russia to make further

advances.

Notwithstanding these assurances, Tashkent was captured

on the 29th June of the following year. In 1866

Khojent was successfully assaulted. Tisakh fell on the

30th October ; and in the spring of 1867 the fort of Yani-

Kargan in the Nurata mountains was seized and occupied.

Bokhara alone remained unconquered, but the Ruler of

that State, after vainly endeavouring to gain assistance from

Afghanistan and to enlist the sympathies of the Indian

Government, was compelled to sue for peace.

Important as these acquisitions were, they attracted

but little attention in England, owing partly to the

policy of non-interference which had been adopted as

regards Central Asian affairs, and partly to the British
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public being absorbed in European politics ;
until 1868,

when the occupation of Samarkand by Russia caused con-

siderable excitement, not to say consternation, amongst the

authorities in England.

Conferences took place in the spring of 1870 between

Lord Clarendon, the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs,

and Baron Brunow, the Russian Ambassador, with the

object of determining a neutral zone, which should be the

limit of the possessions of England and Russia i~i Central

Asia. For nearly three years, Russia was persistent in her

endeavours to have Afghanistan placed outside the pale

of British influence ;
but the Indian Government were

equally persistent in pointing out the danger of agree-

ing to such an arrangement, and it was not until the

31st January, 1873, that the boundary, which neither

England nor Russia might cross, was finally agreed upon.

Six months later the conquest of Khiva by Russia was

effected. It was at first given out that the expedition was

to punish acts of brigandage, and to rescue fifty Russian

prisoners, but was on no account to lead to a prolonged

occupancy of the Khanate. Count Schouvaloff, the Russian

Statesman who was deputed to communicate the object of

the expedition to the British Government, declared that a

positive promise to this effect might be given to the British

public, as a proof of the friendly and pacific intentions of

his master the Czar ;
but, notwithstanding these assurances,

the Russians never left Khiva, and it has been a Russian

possession from that time.

Thus, in a little more than twenty years, Russia had

made a stride of 600 miles towards India, leaving but 400

miles between her outposts and those of Great Britain.
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Russia’s southern boundary was now, in fact, almost

conterminous with the northern boundary of Afghanistan,

near enough to cause the Ruler of that country considerable

anxiety, and make him feel that Russia had become a

dreaded neighbour, and that the integrity of his kingdom

could not be maintained save by the aid of one of the two

great Powers between whose fire he now found himself.

I have endeavoured to show how it was that Sher Ali,

notwithstanding his soreness and disappointment at the

many rebuffs he had received from us in the earlier part

of his career, gratefully remembered the timely aid afforded

him by Sir John Lawrence, and the princely reception

accorded to him by Lord Mayo, and was still quite pre-

pared in 1873 to enter into friendly relations with us, pro-

vided we would recognize his favourite son as his heir,

and give a direct promise of aid in the event of Russian

aggression. Our refusal to accede to these terms, added

to our adverse decision in regard to the Sistan boundary,

turned Sher Ali from a friend into an enemy, and he

decided, as his father had done forty years before, to throw

in his lot with Russia.
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CHAPTER XLIV.

In 1877 Russia declared war with Turkey
;

for more than a

year fighting had been going on between the two countries,

and as it seemed possible to the British Government that

England might in the end be drawn into the contest, it was

deemed expedient to obtain help from India, and a force of

about 5,000 Native soldiers was despatched from Bombay to

Malta in response to the demand from home.

Russia answered this move on our part by increased

activity in Central Asia ; and in June, 1878, it was reported

by Major Cavagnari, Deputy-Commissioner of Peshawar,

that a Russian Envoy of the same rank as the Governor-

General of Tashkent was about to visit Kabul, and that

General Kauffmann had written to the Amir that the

Envoy must be received as an Ambassador deputed by

the Czar himself. A few days later further reports were

received of Russian troops being mobilized, and of the

intention of Russia to establish cantonments on the ferries

of Kilif and Kerki on the Oxus.

The Amir, it was said, summoned a council of the leading

Chiefs, to discuss the question whether it would be most

advantageous for Afghanistan at this juncture to side with

Russia or with England ;
it was decided apparently in
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favour of the former, for from the moment General

StolietoiFs Mission set foot on Afghan territory it met

with an enthusiastic reception. Five miles from the

capital Stolietoff and his companions were welcomed by

the Foreign Secretary. They were then mounted on richly-

caparisoned elephants, and escorted by a large body of

troops to the Bala Hissar, where the following morning

they were received in state by Sher Ali, and the nobles of

highest degree in his kingdom.*

On the eve of the day that the Mission entered Kabul,

Stolietoff received a despatch from General Kauffmann

giving him the heads of the Berlin Treaty, with the follow-

ing commentary in the handwriting of the Governor-General

* On the 18th June, the day on which the Berlin Congress held its

first sitting, the news of the approach of General Stolietoffs Mission

reached Kabul. The Russians hoped that the Mission might influence

the decision of the Berlin Congress, and although its despatch was
repudiated by the Imperial Government at St. Petersburg, it was sub-

sequently ascertained on excellent authority that the project of sending a

Mission to Kabul was discussed three times at the Council of Ministers,

and, according to a statement in the Journal d*s St . Petersbourg, orders

were sent in April, 1878, to General Kauffmann regarding its despatch.

About the same time, the Russian Minister of War proposed that the

Army of the Caucasus should be transferred bodily across the Caspian

to Astrabad, whence the troops would march in two columns on Herat

;

while three columns, amounting in the aggregate to 14,000 men, were

to move direct upon the Oxus from Turkestan. The main part of this

scheme was never carried into effect, probably from its being found too

great an undertaking at a time when Russia had scarcely obtained a

footing beyond the Caspian, but the minor movement was partially

carried out. The largest of the three columns, under Kauffinann's

own command, moved from Tashkent, through Samarkand, to Jain,

the most southern point of the Russian possessions at that time, and
within ten marches of Kilif, the main ferry over the Oxub. There it

remained for some weeks, when it returned to Tashkent, the Afghan

expedition being abandoned in consequence of the Treaty of Berlin

having been signed.
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himself :
‘ If the news be true, it is indeed melancholy

adding, however, that the Congress had finished its

sittings, and that, therefore, the Envoy in his negotiations

with the Amir had better refrain from arranging any

distinct measures, or making any positive promises, and

* not go generally as far as would have been advisable if

war with England had been threatened.’ Evidently these

instructions greatly modified the basis of Stolietoff

s

negotiations with Sher Ali; for, although the Russians

deny that an offensive and defensive alliance with the

Afghan Ruler was contemplated, it seems probable, from the

tone of Kauffmann’s despatch, that the Envoy's instruc-

tions were elastic enough to admit of such an arrangement

had the circumstances of the case made it desirable

—

e.g.,

had the Berlin Congress failed to establish peace in Europe.

In telegraphing to the Secretary of State an account

of these proceedings at Kabul, the Viceroy requested

explicit instructions from Her Majesty’s Government as

to whether this conduct on the part of Russia and Afghan-

istan was to be left to the Government of India to deal with

as a matter between it and the Amir, or whether, having

regard to Russia’s formal promises, it would be treated as

an Imperial question. ‘ In the former case,’ he concluded,

‘ I shall propose, with your approval, to insist on an

immediate suitable reception of a British Mission.’

Lord Lytton’s proposition was approved of by Her

Majesty's Ministers, and a letter* was at once written by

* ‘ Simla,
1 14th August, 1878.

‘The authentic intelligence which I have lately received of the

course of recent events at Kabul and in the countries bordering on

Afghanistan has rendered it necessary that I should communicate
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the Viceroy to the Amir, announcing that a Mission would

shortly be despatched to Kabul with General Sir Neville

Chamberlain, at that time Commander-in-Chief in Madras,

as its responsible head.

Major Cavagnari was at the same time directed to inform

the authorities at Kabul that the object of the Mission was

altogether friendly, and that a refusal to grant it a free

passage and safe conduct, such as had been accorded to the

Russian Envoy, would be considered as an act of open

hostility.

Intimation of the Viceroy’s intentions reached Kabul on

the 17th August, the day on which the Amir’s favourite

fully and without reserve with your Highness upon matters of im-

portance which concern the interests of India and of Afghanistan. For

this reason, I have considered it expedient to depute a special and

confidential British Envoy of high rank, who is known to your

Highness—his Excellency General Sir Neville Bowles Chamberlain,

Knight Grand Cross of the Most Honourable Order of the Bath,

Knight Grand Commander of the Most Exalted Order of the Star of

India, Commander-in-Chief of the Madras Army—to visit your High-

ness immediately at Kabul, in order that he may converse personally

with your Highness regarding these urgent affairs. It appears certain

that they can best be arranged for the welfare and tranquillity of both

States, and for the preservation of friendship between the two Govern-

ments, by a full and frank statement of the present position. This

letter is therefore sent in advance to your Highness by the hand of

Nawab Gholam Hussein Khan, C.S.I., a faithful and honoured Sirdar

of my Government, who will explain all necessary details as to the

time and manner of the Envoy’s visit. It is asked that your Highness

may be pleased to issue commands to your Sirdars, and to all other

authorities in Afghanistan, upon the route between Peshawar and

Kabul, that they shall make, without any delay, whatever arrange-

ments are necessary and proper for effectively securing to my Envoy,

the representative of a friendly Power, due safe conduct and suitable

accommodation according to his dignity, while passing with his retinue

through the dominions of your Highness.

‘ I beg to express the high consideration I entertain for your High-

ness, and to subscribe myself.’
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son, Abdulla Jan, died. This untoward event was taken

advantage of to delay answering the Viceroy’s letter, but it

was not allowed in any way to interfere with the progress

of the negotiations with Kussia. When these were com-

pleted, Stolietoff inquired from Sher Ali whether he meant

to receive the English Mission, whereupon the Amir asked

for the General’s advice in the matter. Stolietoff, while

replying somewhat evasively, gave Sher Ali to understand

that the simultaneous presence of Embassies from two

countries in almost hostile relations with each other would

not be quite convenient, upon which His Highness decided

not to allow the British Mission to enter Afghanistan.

This decision, however, was not communicated to the

Viceroy, and on the 21st September the Mission* marched

out of Peshawar and encamped at Jamrud, three miles

short of the Khyber Pass.

In consequence of the extremely hostile attitude of the

Amir, and the very unsatisfactory reply received from

General Faiz Mahomed Khan, commanding the Afghan

trobps in the Khyber Pass, to a lettert he had written a

* The Mission was composed of General Sir Neville Chamberlain,

G.C.B., G.C.S.I. ; Major Cavagnari, C.S.l. ;
Surgeon-Major Bellew,

C.S.I.; Major O St. John, R.E. ; Captain St. V. Hammick, 48rd Foot

;

Captain F. Onslow, Madras Cavalry ;
Lieutenant Neville Chamberlain,

Central India Horse; Maharaj Pertap Sing of Jodhpur; and Sirdar

Obed UUa Khan, of Tonk. Lieutenant-Colonel F. Jenkins and Captain

W. Battye were with the escort.

t ‘ Peshawar,
1 15th September ,

1878.

(After compliments.) ‘ I write to inform you that, by command of

His Excellency the Viceroy and Governor-Goneral of India, a friendly

Mission of British officers, with a suitable escort, is about to proceed

to Kabul through the Khyber Pass, and intimation of the despatch of

this Mission has been duly communicated to His Highness the Amir

by the hand of the Nawab Ghulam Hussein Khan.

VOL. II. 40
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few days before, Sir Neville Chamberlain suspected that the

advance of the Mission would be opposed, and, in order ‘ to

reduce to a minimum any indignity that might be offered to

our Government,’ he deputed Major Cavagnari to ride on

with a few sowars to Ali Masj id, a fort ten miles beyond

4 1 hear that an official from Kabul has recently visited you at Ali

Masjid, and he has doubtless instructed you in accordance with His

Highness the Amir’s commands. As, however, information has now
been received that you have summoned from Peshawar the Khyber

headmen with whom we were making arrangements for the safe

conduct of the British Mission through the Khyber Pass, I therefore

write to inquire from you whether, in accordance with the instructions

you have received, you are prepared to guarantee the safety of the

British Mission to Daka or not ; and I request that a clear reply to

this inquiry may be speedily communicated by the hand of the bearer

of this letter, as I cannot delay my departure from Peshawar. It is

well known that the Khyber tribes are in receipt of allowances from

the Kabul Government, and also, like other independent tribes on this

frontier, have relations with the British Government. It may be well

to let you know that when the present negotiations were opened with

the Khyber tribes, it was solely with the object of arranging with

them for the safe conduct of the British Mission through the Khyber
Pass, in the same manner as was done in regard to the despatch of our

Agent, the Nawab Ghulam Hussein Khan ; and the tribes were given

clearly to understand that these negotiations were in no way intended

to prejudice their relations with His Highness the Amir, as it was well

known that the object of the British Mission was altogether of a friendly

character to His Highness the Amir and the people of Afghanistan.
4 1 trust that, in accordance with the instructions you have received

from His Highness the Amir, your reply to this letter will be satis-

factory, and that it will contain the required assurances that the

Mission will be safely conducted to Daka. I shall expect to receive

your reply to this letter not later than the 18th instant, so please under-

stand that the matter is most urgent.
4 But at the same time, it is my duty to inform you, in a frank and

friendly manner, that if your answer is not what I trust it will be, or

if you delay to send an early reply, I shall have no alternative but to

make whatever arrangements may seem to me best for carrying out

the instructions I have received from my own Government.'
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the mouth of the Pass, and demand leave for the Mission

to proceed.

When within a mile of the fort, Cavagnari was met by a

body of Afridis, who warned him that the road ahead was

blocked by Afghans, and that if he ventured further he

would be fired upon. On this Cavagnari halted, and while

in the act of writing a letter to Faiz Mahomed, complaining

of the treatment he had met with, and informing him that

he and his companions intended to proceed until fired

upon, an act the responsibility for which would rest with

the Amir’s representatives, a message was brought him

from Faiz Mahomed to the effect that he was coming to

meet him, and would hear anything he had to com-

municate.

The interview took place near a water-mill on the right

bank of the stream which Hows under Ali Masjid. I have

several times since ridden past the spot and pictured to

myself the meeting between the British political officer and

the Afghan General. It was a meeting of most portentous

moment, for its result would mean peace or war.

Faiz Mahomed’s bearing was perfectly courteous, but he

made it clear that he did not intend to permit the Mission

to pass, explaining that he was only acting as a sentry under

instructions from Kabul, and that he was bound to resist

the entrance of the Mission into Afghan territory with all

the force at his disposal. He spoke with considerable

warmth, and told Cavagnari that but for their personal

friendship he would, in obedience to the Amir’s orders,

have shot down him and his escort.

Faiz Mahomed’s followers were not so respectful in their

bearing as their Chief, and their manner warned Cavagnari
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that it was {inadvisable to prolong the conversation
; he,

therefore, took leave of the Afghan General, and returned

to Jamrud. The Mission was dissolved,* our Agent at

Kabul was ordered to return to India, and Cavagnari was in-

structed to remain at Peshawar and arrange for alienating

the Afridis in the Khyber from the Amir’s interests.

In reporting these circumstances to the Secretary of

State, the Government of India expressed their regret that

this final endeavour on their part to arrive at some definite

understanding with the Amir of Kabul should have been

thus met with repudiation and affront, and concluded their

despatch in the following words :
‘ The repulse of Sir Neville

Chamberlain by Sher Ali at his frontier while the Bussian

emissaries are still at his capital has proved the inutility

of diplomatic expedients, and has deprived the Amir of all

claim upon our further forbearance.’

It had been arranged that, if it were unfortunately found

to be necessary to support political efforts by military

measures, two columns should be mobilized, one at Sukkur

on the Indus, for an advance in the direction of Kandahar,

the other at Kohat for operations in the Kuram valley,

and that I was to have command of the latter. As soon,

* In a letter to Lord Lytton reporting the rebuff the Mission had
encountered, General Chamberlain wrote : * No man was ever more
anxious than I to preserve peace and secure friendly solution, and it

was only when I plainly saw the Amir’s fixed intention to drive us into

a comer that I told you we must either sink into a position of merely
obeying his behests on all points or stand on our rights and risk

rupture. Nothing could have been more distinct, nothing more
humiliating to the dignity of the British Crown and nation; and I

believe that but for the decision and tact of Cavagnari at one period of

the interview, the lives of the British officers and the Native following

were in considerable danger.’
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therefore, as the tidings of Sir Neville’s repulse was

received, I started from Simla to be on the spot in case

the proposal to employ force should be sanctioned by the

authorities in England.

Between the time of my leaving Simla and my arrival at

Kohat on the 9th October, it was decided to employ a third

column to make a demonstration in the direction of the

Khyber for the purpose of clearing the Amir’s troops out of

the pass.4

The formation of this column was no doubt a wise move,

as the Afghans were holding Ali Masjid, the spot on which

the insult had been offered to our Envoy, and the presence

of a force on this line would tend to relieve the pressure

against my column ;
but looked at from my point of view,

this third column was not quite so desirable, as it involved

the withdrawal of three of my most efficient regiments, and

the transfer of a large number of my transport animals to

the Khyber for itB use. There was some consolation, how-

ever, in the fact that my old friend Major-General Sir

Samuel Browne, who had been named for the command in

the Khyber, waB to be the gainer by my loss.

Major-General Donald Stewart, who was in England,

was telegraphed for to command the Kandahar column,

the advanced portion of which, it was intended, should push

on under Major-General Biddulph to strengthen Quetta.

* The approximate strength of the three columns was as follows

:

I. The Kandahar Field Force ...

II. The Kuram Field Force

III. The Peshawar Valley Field Force

Officers. Men. Gun 8.

265 12,699 78

116 6,549 18

. 825 16,854 48

706 85,002 144
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The long-expected reply* from the Amir to the Viceroy's

letter of the 14th August was received at Simla on the

19th October. Its tone was considered extremely dis-

courteous ; it contained no apology for the public affront

* ‘ Kabul,
‘ 6th October , 1878.

(After compliments.) ‘ Your Excellency’s despatch regarding the

sending of a friendly message has been received through Nawab
Gholam Hussein Khan ; I understand its purport, but the Nawab had

not yet an audience, nor had your Excellency’s letters been seen by

me when a communication was received to the address of my servant,

Mirza Habibulla Khan, from the Commissioner of Peshawar, and was

read. I am astonished and dismayed by this letter, written threaten-

ingly to a well-intentioned friend, replete with contentions, and yet

nominally regarding a friendly Mission. Coming thus by force, what

result, or profit, or fruit could come of it? Following this, three

other letters from above-mentioned source, in the very same strain,

addressed to my officials, have been perused by me. Thus, during a

period of a few days several letters from that quarter have all been

before me, and none of them have been free from harsh expressions

and hard words, repugnant to courtesy and politeness, and in tone

contrary to the ways of friendship and intercourse. Looking to the

fact that I am at this time assaulted by affliction and grief at the hand

of fate, and that great trouble haB possessed my soul, in the officials of

the British Government patience and silence would have been

specially becoming. Let your Excellency take into consideration this

harsh and breathless haste with which the desired object and place of

conference have been seized upon, and how the officials of the Govern-

ment have been led into discussion and subjection to reproach. There

is some difference between this and the pure road of friendship and

goodwill. In alluding to those writings of the officials of the opposite

Government which have emanated from them, and are at this time in

the possession of my own officials, the latter have in no respect desired

to show enmity or opposition towards the British Government, nor,

indeed, do they with any other Power desire enmity or strife ; but when

any other Power, without cause or reason, shows animosity towards

this Government, the matter is left in the hands of God and to His

will. The esteemed Nawab Gholam Hussein Khan, the bearer of this

despatch, has, in accordance with written instructions received from

the British Government, asked for permission to retire, and it has

been granted.'
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offered to the British Government, and indicated no desire

for improved relations.

The reply was at once communicated to the Secretary of

State, who was further informed that the Government of

India proposed the following measures :

—

The immediate issue of a manifesto which should define

the cause of offence, declare a friendly disposition towards

the Afghan people and reluctance to interfere in their in-

ternal affairs, and should fix the whole responsibility of

what might happen upon the Amir.

An advance into the Kuram valley as soon as the force

at Kohat was ready to move.

The expulsion of the Afghan troops holding the Khyber

Pass.

An advance from Quetta into Pishin, or, if necessary, to

Kandahar.

Lord Cranbrook (who had succeeded the Marquis of

Salisbury as Secretary of State for India) replied* that he

did not consider matters to be at present ripe for taking

the extreme measures recommended by the Government of

India, and that, before crossing the frontiers of Afghanistan,

a letter Bhould be addressed to the Amir demanding, in

temperate language, an apology, and the acceptance of a

permanent Mission within Afghan limits; that sufficient

time should be given for the receipt of a reply to this

letter (the text of which was to be telegraphed to Lord

Cranbrook for approval before despatch), and that mean-

while the massing of troops should be continued, and

adequate forces assembled at the various points where the

frontier would be crossed if war were declared. The

* 25th October.
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Secretary of State went on to say: 'There must be no

mistake as to our show of power to enforce what we

require ; this locus penitentia should be allowed before

hostile acts are committed against the Amir.’

These instructions were carried out, and on the 80th

October the ultimatum was despatched to Sher Ali, inform-

ing him that, unless his acceptance of the conditions were

received by the Viceroy not later than the 20th November,

he would be treated by the British Government as a

declared enemy.
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CHAPTEK XLY.

It was a proud, albeit a most anxious, moment for me
when I assumed command of the Kuram Field Force

;

though a local Major-General, I was only a Major in my
regiment, and save for a short experience on one occasion

in Lushai, I had never had an opportunity of commanding
troops in the field. Earnestly longing for success, I was

intensely interested in ascertaining the qualities of those

who were to aid me in achieving it. To this end I lost

no time in taking stock of the several officers and corps

who were to be associated with me, some of whom were

personally known to me, while others I had never met

before
; and in endeavouring to satisfy myself aB to their

qualifications and fitness for their several posts, I could not

help feeling that they must be equally anxious as to my
capability for command, and that the inspection must be of

nearly as great moment to them as to me.

The results of a very close investigation were tolerably

satisfactory, but there were weak points in my armour

which gave me grave cause for anxiety.

I came to the conclusion that the force was not

numerically strong enough for the very difficult task before

*t in the first instance, the occupation of the Kuram
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valley and the expulsion of all Afghan garrisons south of

the Shutargardan Pass, and in the second, as opportunity

might offer, the pushing my reconnaissances into the Khost

valley, and, if military considerations would admit, the

dislodging the Amir’s administration from that tract of

country, so as to prevent the Kabul Government drawing

supplies from it. Finally, I was directed to explore the

roads leading to the unknown region beyond Khost.

The Shutargardan was not less than 180 miles from

Kohat, the garrison of which station would, on my depar-

ture, be reduced to a minimum, and Rawal Pindi, the

nearest place from which aid could be procured, was

180 miles still further off, separated from Kohat by an

execrable road and the swiftly-flowing river Indus, crossed

by a precarious bridge of boats. It had to be taken into

account also that the various Afridi tribes were watching

their opportunity, and at the first favourable moment, in

common with the tribesmen nearer Kuram, they might be

expected to take advantage of our weakness and attack our

convoys and the small posts which had necessarily to be

established along our line of communication.
The attitude of the Mahomedan sepoys, of whom there

were large numbers in four out of my six Native Infantry

regiments, was also a cause of considerable anxiety ;
for I

was aware that they were not altogether happy at the

prospect of taking part in u war against their co-religionist,

the Ruler of Afghanistan, and that the mullas were already

urging them to desert our cause.

Furthermore, I discovered that my only British Infantry

Regiment, the 2nd Battalion of the 6th Foot, was sickly

to a degree, and therefore in an unserviceable condition-
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It was largely composed of quite young, unacclimatized

soldiers, peculiarly susceptible to fever—that terrible

scourge which fills the hospitals of our Punjab stations in

the autumn of each year. I rode out to meet the battalion

on its way into Kohat, and was horrified to see the long

line of doolies and ambulance-carts by which it was accom-

panied.

The inefficient state of the transport added to my
anxieties. Notwithstanding the difficulties experienced in

former campaigns from the same cause, the Government

had neglected to take any steps for the organization of a

proper transport service while we were at peace ; conse-

quently, when everything should have been ready for a

start, confusion reigned supreme in this all-important

department. Large numbers of camels, mules, and bullocks

arrived daily, picked up at exorbitant prices from anyone

who would supply them ; but most of these animals were

quite unfit to enter upon the hard work of a campaign, and

with a totally inexperienced and quite insufficient staff of

officers to supervise them, it was evident that the majority

must Buccumh at an early date.

Hardly had I realized these shortcomings in the con-

stitution and equipment of my column than I received

intelligence which led me to believe that the Afghans would

hold the Peiwar Kotal (the pass leading into Afghanistan

over the range of mountains bounding the Kuram valley)

in great strength, and were determined to oppose our

advance at this point. Under these circumstances I felt

*nyself justified in representing to the powers at Simla

that I considered the number of troops at my disposal

inadequate for the task they were expected to perform,
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which representation resulted in the 23rd Pioneers, whose

transfer to the Khyber column had been under con-

sideration, being left with me, and the 72nd Highlanders,

a battery of Field Artillery, and the 28th Punjab Infantry,

being sent to Kohat. Of these, however, I was allowed to

take on with me only one wing of the 72nd, half the

battery, and the 28th Punjab Infantry ; and the last named

regiment I could hardly consider as part of my force, for

when we should arrive at Thai, our furthest frontier post,

it would have to be dropped, with a wing of the 5th Punjab

Cavalry and No. 2 Mountain Battery, to garrison that

place.

This small reinforcement was not given to me without

considerable demur on the part of the military authorities,

who had made up their minds that the Kuram column
would meet with slight, if any, opposition, and that the

chief stand would be made in the Khyber. Lord Lytton,

however, supported my appeal, as did Sir Neville Chamber-
lain, who was then acting as Military Member of Council,

and who had personal knowledge of the great natural

strength of the Peiwar Kotal position.

I next turned my attention to the transport, and en-

deavoured by all the means I could think of to render it

more efficient. A certain portion of it I placed in regi-

mental charge
; I had the men instructed in loading and

unloading, and I took great care that the animals were not
overladen.

Happily, I had a very able staff. Major Galbraith,
the Assistant-Adjutant-General, though new to the work,
proved exceptionally good, and Captain Badcock, the chief
Commissariat officer, and Major Collett and Captain • Dick

’
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Kennedy, officers of the Quartermaster-General’s depart-

ment, whom I had myself selected, I could thoroughly

depend upon.

As regards my own personal staff I was equally

lucky, Captain Pretyman of the R.A. being my A.D.C., and

Lieutenant Neville Chamberlain, of the Central India Horse,

and Lieutenant-Colonel George Yilliers, of the Grenadier

Guards, my Orderly officers.

As political adviser I had with me an old friend and

schoolfellow, Colonel Garrow Waterfield, Commissioner of

Peshawar, who brought with him a large following of

Native gentlemen connected with the frontier, by whom

he thought our intercourse with the tribesmen would be

assisted. With scarcely an exception they proved loyal,

and throughout the campaign helped me materially.

Knowing how important it was to secure the interest of

the Chiefs and Khans of the border on our side, especially

those who had influence in the Kuram valley, we lost

no opportunity of becoming acquainted with them while

we were at Kohat. They were friendly and full of promises,

but it was clear that the amount of assistance to be given

by them depended on whether or not our occupation of

Kuram waB to be permanent, and on this important point

I solicited definite instructions. I reported to the Com-

mander-in-Chief that, from all I had learnt, the advent of

a British force would be welcomed by the people, provided

they understood that it was the forerunner of annexation

;

that in this case we should be regarded as deliverers,

And all the resources of the country would be placed at

our disposal ; but if the people were led to believe that the

force would be withdrawn when our work was finished,
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and that they would be again handed over to the tender

mercies of the Kabul Government, we must expect no aid

from them, as they would naturally dread the resentment

of their Afghan rulers.

In reply, I was informed that I could assure the people

of Kuram that our occupation would be permanent ; and

my being enabled to make this promise was undoubtedly

the explanation of the friendly reception we met with on

entering the valley, and the cause of my receiving at the

same time a letter from the Chief of the Tuns (the inhabi-

tants of the Kuram valley), inquiring when we might be

expected, as they were suffering greatly from the tyranny of

the Afghan Government, and were anxiously waiting the

arrival of the British.
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CHAPTER XLVI

By the 15th November my column* (consisting of 1,845

British and 8,1)90 Native soldiers, with 18 guns) was con-

centrated at Thai, and on the 20th—the limit of time given

to the Amir — no reply having been vouchsafed to the

Viceroy’s ultimatum, orders were issued to the three

columns to advance the next day.t

* The details of the column nre given in the Appendix.

t On the 30th November a subordinate officer of the Kabul Govern-

ment reached Sir Samuel Browne’s camp at Daka, and delivered the

following letter from the Amir to the address of the Viceroy :

4 From his Highness the Amir oy Kabul to the Viceroy of

India.

‘ Kabul, ItHk November, 1878.

‘ Be it known to your Excellency that I have received, and read

from beginning to end, the friendly letter which your Excellency has

sent, in reply to the letter I despatched by Nawab Ghulam Hussein

Khan. With regard to the expressions used by your Excellency in the

beginning of your letter, referring to the friendly character of the

Mission and the goodwill of the British Government, I leave it to your

Excellency, whose wisdom and justice are universally admitted, to

decide whether any reliance can be placed upon goodwill, if it be

evidenced by words only. But if, on the other hand, goodwill really

consists of deeds and actions, then it has not been manifested by the

various wishes that have been expressed, and the proposals that have

been made by British officials during the last few years to officials of

this God-granted Government—proposals which, from their nature, it

was impossible for them to comply with.
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The Kuram valley, from which my force received its

designation, iB about 80 miles long, and from 3 to 10 mileB

wide. On every side rise high and magnificently-wooded

‘One of these proposals referred to my dutiful son, the ill-starred

wretch, Mahomed Yakub Khan, and was contained in a letter addressed

by the officials of the British Government to the British Agent then

residing in Kabul. It was written in that letter that, “ if the Baid

Yakub Khan be released and set at liberty, our friendship with the

Afghan Government will be firmly cemented, but that otherwise it

will not.”

‘ There arc several other grounds of complaint of similar nature,

which contain no evidence of goodwill, but which, on the contrary,

were effective in increasing the axersion and apprehension already

entertained by the subjects of this God-granted Government.
‘With regard to my refusal to receive the British Mission, your

Excellency has stated that it would appear from my conduct that I

was actuated by feelings of direct hostility towards the British

Government.
‘ I assure your Excellency that, on the contrary, the officials of this

God-granted Government, in repulsing the Mission, were not influenced
by any hostile or inimical feelings towards the British Government,
nor did they intend that any insult or affront should be offered. But
they were afraid that the independence of this Government might be
affected by the arrival of the Mission, and that the friendship which
has now existed between the two Governments for several years might
be annihilated.

A paragraph in your Excellency's letter corroborates the statement
which they have made to this Government. The feelings of apprehen-
sion which were aroused in the minds of the people of Afghanistan by
the mere announcement of the intention of the British Government to
send a Mission to Kabul, before the Mission itself had actually started
or arrived at Peshawar, have subsequently been fully justified by the
statement in your Excellency’s letter, that I should bo held responsible
for any injury that might befall the tribes who acted as guides to the

ission, and that I should be called upon to pay compensation to
them for any loss they might have suffered

; and that if, at any time,
these tribes should meet with ill-treatment at my hands, the British
Government would at once take stops to protect them.

‘ Had these apprehensions proved groundless, and had the object of
e Mission been really friendly, and no force or threats of violence

use
, e ission xxould, as a matter of course, have been allowed a
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mountains, those on the north and east being the most

lofty and precipitous, while on the north-west projects the

spur which runs down from Sika Bam, the highest peak of

the Sufed Koh range, upwards of 14,000 feet high. This

spur forms the boundary between Kuram and Afghanistan,

and is crossed by the Peiwar Kotal. A river, which

varies from 100 to 500 yards in width, flows through the

valley, and the road, or, rather, track, which existed in

1878, ran for the most part along its rocky bed. In the

free passage, as such Missions are customary and of frequent occur-

rence between allied States I am now sincerely stating my own
feelings when I say that this Government has maintained, and always

will maintain, the former friendship which existed between the two

Governments, and cherishes no feelings of hostility and opposition

towards the British Government.
‘ It is also incumbent upon the othcials of the British Government

that, out of respect and consideration for the greatness and eminence

of their own'Government, they should not consent to inflict any injury

upon their well-disposed neighbours, and to impose the burden of

grievous troubles upon the shoulders of their sincere friends. But,

on the contrary, they should exert themselves to maintain the

friendly feelings which have hitherto existed towards this God-granted

Government, in order that the relations between the two Governments

may remain on the same footing as before ; and if, in accordance with

the custom of allied States, the British Government should desire to

send a purely friendly and temporary Mission to this country, with a

small escort, not exceeding twenty or thirty men, similar to that which

attended the Russian Mission, this servant of God will not oppose its

progress.*

It was ascertained that this messenger had come to Basawal on the

22nd November, when, hearing of the capture of Ali Masjid by

British troops, he immediately returned to Kabul. The Amir’s letter,

though dated the 19th November, was believed to have been re-written

at Kabul after the news of the fall of Ali Masjid. The text of this

letter was telegraphed to the Secretary of State on the 7th December ;

in reply Lord Cranbrook pointed out that the letter evaded all the

requirements specified in the Viceroy’s ultimatum, and could not have

been accepted even if it had reached him before the 20th November,

voii. xi. 41
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winter months the depth of the water nowhere exceeded

three feet, except after heavy rain, and although the stream

was rather swift, it could usually be forded with very little

risk. The valley itself had a bleak and deserted appear-

ance, save in the immediate vicinity of the few and widely-

scattered villages, around which were clustered fruit trees

and patches of cultivation.

For six weeks the thoughts of every one in the force

had been turned towards Kuram, consequently there was

considerable excitement when at 6 a.m. on the 21st

November the leading troops crossed the river into Afghan

territory and encamped eight miles from Thai. The next

morning we marched fifteen miles further up the valley to

Hazir Pir, where we halted for one day to improve the road

(in some places impracticable for guns and transport),

and to allow of the rear part of the column closing up.

As we proceeded on our way, the headmen from the

different villages came out to welcome us, and on arriving

at Hazir Pir we found a plentiful repast awaiting us

spread under the shade of some trees. Knives and forks

were evidently considered unnecessary adjuncts by our

entertainers, so I unhesitatingly took my first lesson

in eating roast kid and pillaued chicken without their

aid.

On the 24th we marched to the Darwazai defile, and the

next day proceeded through it to Kuram, forty-eight miles

from Thai. We found the fort evacuated by tho Afghans,

who had left behind one 6-pounder gun.

Notwithstanding the proffers of assistance 1 had received,

1 could get no reliable information aB to the whereabouts

of the enemy; from one account I was led to believe
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that they were in full retreat, from another that they

were being strongly reinforced. So, to find out the truth,

T reconnoitred as far as the cantonment of Habib Kila,

fifteen miles ahead, and there ascertained that the Afghan

army, consisting (it was said) of 18,000 men and eleven

guns, had left the place only a short time before, and was

then moving into position on the Peiwar Kotal.

Depot hospitals were formed at Kuranl, and all our surplus

stores and baggage were left there with the following

garrison : Two guns of F/A, Royal Horse Artillery, half of

G/8, R.A., the squadron 10th Hussars, one squadron 12th

Bengal Cavalry, and the company of Bengal Sappers

and Miners, besides all the sick and weakly men of the

column.

At 5 a.m. on the 28th the remainder of the force, with

the exception of the troops who had been dropped at the

several halting-places to keep open our line of communi-

cation, marched towards the Peiwar.

The stars were still shining when we started, but it was

very dark, and we were chilled to the bone by a breeze

blowing straight off the snows of the Sufed Koli
; towards

sunrise it died away, and was followed by oppressive heat

and clouds of dust. Our Iprogress was slow, for the banks

of the numerous nullas which intersect the valley had

to be ramped before the guns and baggage could pass

over them.

On reaching Habib Kila, intelligence was again brought

that the Amir’s troops were in disorderly retreat, and had

abandoned their guns at the foot of the pass. I at once

pushed a reconnaissance in force up the south-eastern

slopes of the mountain under the command of Colonel
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Gordon,* of the 29th Punjab Infantry, who discovered

that, so far from the enemy having abandoned their guns,

they had taken up an extremely strong position on the

pass, from which they fired on the reconnaissance party

as it advanced, wounding one British, one Native officer t

and nine men.

As the Afghans seemed inclined to press Gordon, two

guns were brought into action, and, to cover his retirement,

I sent out the 5th Gurkhas, under Lieutenant-Colonel

Fitz-Hugh, who skilfully effected this object with the loss

of only one Gurkha wounded.

Gordon brought me back the valuable piece of informa-

tion that no further advance in that direction was possible,

save in single file—valuable because, had I attempted a

front attack, the sacrifice of life must have been enormous,

even if the attack had proved successful, the possibility of

which I still greatly doubt.

Our tents not having arrived, the force prepared to

bivouac ; but our position proving untenable, from being

* Now General J. Gordon, C.H., Assistant Military Secretary, Horse
Guards.

f The Native officor was Subadar-Mnjor Aziz Khan, a fine old
soldier who had seen hard work with his regiment during the Mutiny,
and in many a frontier expedition. He twice obtained the Order of
Merit for bravery in the field, and for his marked gallantry on one
occasion he had received a sword of honour and a khilat (a dress of
honour or other present bestowed as a mark of distinction). Aziz
Khan was shot through the knee, and after a few days the wound
became so bad the Doctors told him that, unless he’ submitted to
amputation, or consented to take some stimulants in the shape of
wrne, he would die of mortification. Aziz Khan, who was a strictM

,

0 ox Mahomedan, replied that, as both remedies were
contrary to the precepts of the religion by which he hod guided
his hfe, he would accept death rather than disobey them. He died
accordingly.
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within range of the Afghan shells, we moved a mile to the

rear. Strong piquets were posted on the neighbouring

heights, and the night passed without further interruption.

We halted the two following days. Men and cattle were

exhausted from their fatiguing marches, and supplies had

to be brought up before we could advance further ; besides,

1 required time to look about me before making up my
mind how the Peiwar Kotal could most advantageously be

attacked.

It was, indeed, a formidable position—a great deal more

formidable than I had expected—on the summit of a

mountain rising abruptly 2,000 feet above us, and only

approachable by a narrow, steep, and rugged path, flanked

on either side by precipitous spurs jutting out like huge

bastions, from which an overwhelming fire could be

brought to bear on the assailants. The mountain on

the enemy’s right did not look much more promising

for moving troops, and I could only hope that a way

might be found on their left by which their flank could

be turned. The country, however, in that direction was

screened from view by spurs covered with dense forests

of deodar.

1 confess to a feeling very nearly akin to despair when

I gazed at the apparently impregnable position tower-

ing above us, occupied, as I could discern through my
telescope, by crowds of soldiers and a large number of

guns.

My Chief Engineer, Colonel Perkins, made a recon-

naissance, which only too surely confirmed Gordon’s

opinion ; and he further ascertained that a deep ravine lay

between the ground occupied by our piquets on the
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north and the kotal, so that an attack on the enemy’s

immediate left seemed as hopeless as on his i*ight, or

to his front.

On the afternoon of the 29tli I sent my QuartermaBter-

General, Major Collett, with his assistant, Captain Carr,

and a small escort, to the top of a hill, which lay to the

right rear of our camp, from which they were able to get

a fairly good view of the surrounding country. Collett

reported that, so far as he could judge, it seemed likely

that, as I had hoped, the enemy’s left might be turned by

a route over what was known as the Spingawi Kotal,

where it had been ascertained that some Afghan troops

were posted. This was encouraging, but before I could

finally decide on adopting this line of attack, it was ex-

pedient to find out whether it was practicable for troops,

and whether the kotal itself was held in great strength.

Accordingly, early next morning, Collett was again de-

spatched to make a closer reconnaissance of the Spingawi
approaches.

While all this was going on, I did everything I could
think of to prevent what was in my mind being Buspected
by the enemy or indeed by my own troops. Each day
more than once, accompanied by an imposing number of

officers and a considerable escort, I climbed the lofty spur
by which a direct attack would have to be covered,
and everyone in camp was made to believe that an attack
in this direction was being prepared for. I was particularly
careful to h&ve this idea impressed on the Turis and the
Afghan camel-drivers, by whom the enemy were pretty' sure
to be informed of what was going on ; and ako on the
Mahomedan sepoys, whom I Buspected of being half-hearted.
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I confided my real plan to only three people, my two

senior staff-officers, Galbraith and Collett, and my A.D.G.*

Pretyman, for I knew, from the nature of the country, that*

under the most favourable circumstances, the way must

be difficult and circuitous, and its passage must occupy

several hours
; and that if the Afghans got wind of the

contemplated movement, and should attack my small force

while on the march and divided, defeat if not annihilation

would be inevitable, for the surrounding tribes would be

certain to join against us if once they believed us to be in

difficulties.

I had heard that the smallness of the column was

being freely commented on and discussed ; indeed, people

in Kurain did not care to disguise their belief that we

were hastening to our destruction. Even the women

taunted us. When they saw the little Gurkhas for the first

time, they exclaimed :
‘ Is it possible that these beardless

boys think they can fight Afghan warriors ?’ They little

suspected that the brave spirits which animated those

small forms made them more than a match for the most

stalwart Afghan. There was no hiding from ourselves,

however, that the force was terribly inadequate for the

work to be done. But done it must be. A retirement

was not to be thought of, and delay would only add to

our difficulties, as the Afghans were daily being reinforced

from Kabul, and we heard of still further additions of

both Artillery and Infantry being on their way.

Collett returned soon after noon on the 80th ; he had

done admirably, and brought me most useful information,

the result of which was that I determined to adopt the

Spingawi route. The nights were long, and I calculated
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that by starting at 10 p.m., and allowing for unforeseen

delays, we should reach the foot of the pass while it was

etill dark.

Fresh efforts were now made to distract the enemy’s

attention from the real point of attack. In addition to the

reconnoitring parties which were ostentatiously moved

towards the Peiwar, batteries were marked out at points

commanding the kotal, and a great display was made of the

arrival of the two Horse and three Field Artillery guns,

which I had left at Ivuram till the last moment on account

of scarcity of forage at the front, and of the two squadrons

of Bengal Cavalry, which for the same reason I had

sent back to Habib Kila. Even with these additions the

total strength of the force in camp, including British

officers, amounted to only HR') Europeans and 2,415

Natives, with 1)1 guns.

These attempts to mislead the enemy were entirely

successful, for the Afghans shelled the working parties

in the batteries, and placed additional guns in position

on the south side of the pass, showing distinctly that

they were preparing for a front attack, while in our camp
also it was generally believed that this was the movement
which would be carried out the next morning.
"When it became sufficiently dark to conceal our pro-

ceedings, all the commanding and staff officers assembled
in my tent, and I disclosed to them my scheme for the
attack, impressing upon them that success depended upon
our being able to surprise the enemy, and begging of them
not even to whisper the word ‘ Spingawi ’ to each other.

I had had sufficient time since I took over the command
to test the capabilities of the officers and regiments upon
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whom I had to depend, so that I had now no difficulty in

disposing the troops in the manner moBt likely to ensure

success.

For the turning movement I selected :

4 guns F/A, R.H.A.,

The wing 72nd Highlanders,

No. 1 Mountain Battery (4 guns),

2nd and 29th Punjab Infantry,

5th Gurkhas,

28rd Pioneers

—

Total strength 2,208 men with 8 guns

;

and 1 determined to command the attack myself, with

Brigadier-General Thelwall as second in command.

For the feint and for the defence of our camp I left

under the command of Brigadier-General Cobbe

:

2 guns F/A, R.H.A.,

8 guns G/8, lt.A.,

2nd Battalion 8th Foot,*

12th Bengal Cavalry,

5th Punjab Infantry.

In all, a little more than 1,000 men with 5 guns.

At 10 p.m. on Sunday, the 1st December, the little

column fell in, in absolute silence, and began its hazardous

march. Tents were left standing and camp-fires burning;

and so noiselessly were orders carried out that our de-

parture remained unsuspected even by those of our own

people who were left in camp.

The track (for there was no road) led for two miles

due'e&st, and then, turning sharp to the north, entered a

* The strength of this battalion had now dwindled down to 848

men.
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wide gorge and ran along the bed of a mountain stream.

The moonlight lit up the cliffs on the eastern side of the

ravine, but made the darkness only the more dense in the

shadow of the steep hills on the west, underneath which

our path lay, over piles of stones and heaps of glacier

debris. A bitterly cold wind rushed down the gorge,

extremely trying to all, lightly clad as we were in antici-

pation of the climb before us. Onward and upwards we

slowly toiled, stumbling over great boulders of rock,

dropping into old water-channels, splashing through icy

streams, and halting frequently to allow the troops in the

rear to close up.

In spite of the danger incurred, I was obliged every

now and then to strike u match and look at my watch to

see how the time was going. I had calculated, that, by

starting as early as ten o’clock, there would be an hour or

two to spare for rest. The distance, however, proved rather

greater than was expected and the road much rougher,

but these facts were, to my mind, not sufficient to account

for the slowness of our progress, and I proceeded to the head

of the column, anxious to discover the true cause of the delay.

I had chosen the ‘29th Punjab Infantry to lead the

way, on account of the high reputation of Colonel John
Gordon, who commanded it, and because of the excellent

character the regiment had always borne ; but on over-

taking it my suspicions were excited by the unnecessarily

straggling manner in which the men were marching, and
to which I called Gordon’s attention. No sooner had I

done so than a shot was fired from one of the Pathan com-
panies, followed in a few seconds by another. The Sikh
companies of the regiment immediately closed up, and
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Gordon’s Sikh orderly whispered in his ear that there was

treachery amongst the Pathans.

It was a moment of intense anxiety, for it was impossible

to tell how far we were from the Spingawi Kotal, or whether

the shots could be heard by the enemy ; it was equally im-

possible to discover by whom the shots had been fired

without delaying the advance, and this J was loath to

risk. So, grieved though I was to take any steps likely

to discredit a regiment with such admirable traditions, I

decided to change the order of the inarch by bringing one

company of the 7‘2nd Highlanders and the 5th Gurkhas to

the front, and 1 warned Lieutenant-Colonel Brownlow, in

command of the 72nd, to keep a watch over the Pathans

with his three remaining companies, for I felt that our

enterprise had already been sufficiently imperilled by the

Pathans, and that hesitation would be culpable ; for, unless

we could reach the kotal while our approach was still con-

cealed by the darkness, the turning movement would in

all probability end in disaster.

On the Gurkhas coming up, I told Major Fitz-Hugh,

who commanded them, that the moment he reached the

foot of the kotal, he must front form company, fix bayonets

and charge up the slope without waiting for further orders.

Soon afterwards, and just as the first streak of dawn

proclaimed the approach of day, the enemy became aware

of our presence, and fired into us, when instantly I heard

Fitz-Hugh give the word to charge. Brownlow, at the

head of his Highlanders, dashed forwurd in support, and

two guns of the Mountain battery coming up at the

moment, I ordered its Commandant, Captain Kelso, to

come into action as soon as he could find a position.
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I was struck by the smile of satisfied pride and pleasure

with which he received the order. He was delighted, no

doubt, that the opportunity had arrived to prove what

the battery—to perfect which he had spared neither time

nor labour—could do ; but it was the last time that gallant

soldier smiled, for a few seconds later he was shot dead.

The Gurkhas, forgetting their fatigue, rapidly climbed

the steep side of the mountain, and, swarming into the

first entrenchment, quickly cleared it of the enemy ; then,

guided by the flashes of the Afghan rifles, they pressed on,

and, being joined by the leading company of the 7‘2nd,

took possession of a second and larger entrenchment

200 yards higher up. Without a perceptible pause, the

Highlanders and Gurkhas together rushed a third position,

the most important of all, as it commanded the head of

the pass.

The Spingawi Kotal was won
;
but we were surrounded

by woods, which were crowded with Afghans, some 400

of whom made a dashing but ineffectual attempt to carry

off their guns, left behind in the first scare of our sudden

attack. These men were dressed so exactly like some of

our own Native soldiers that they were not recognized until

they got within 100 yards of the entrenchment, and they

would doubtless have succeeded in accomplishing their

purpose as the Highlanders and Gurkhas were busy pur-

suing the fugitives—had not Galbraith, whom I had sent

with an order to the front, hurriedly collected a certain

number of stragglers and met the Afghans with such a
muiderouB fire that they broke and fled, leaving seventy
dead in a space of about fifty yards square.

As the rising sun lighted up the scene of the conflict, the
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advantages of a night attack became more apparent. The

pass lay across the shoulder of a mountain (9,400 feet

above the sea), and through a magnificent pine forest. Its

approaches were commanded by precipitous heights, de-

fended by breastworks of felled trees, which completely

screened the defenders, who were quite comfortably placed

in wide ditches, from which they could fire deadly volleys

without being in the least exposed themselves. Had we

not been able to surprise the enemy before the day dawned,

I doubt whether any of us could have reached the first

entrenchment. As it was, the regiment holding it fled

in such a hurry that a sheepskin coat and from sixty to a

hundred rounds of ammunition were left behind on the

spot where each man had lain.

We had gained our object so far, but we were still a

considerable distance from the body of the Afghan army

on the Peiwar Ivotal.

Immediately in rear of the last of the three positions

on the Spingawi Ivotal was a mimjv/, or open grass}' plateau,

upon which I re-formed the troops who had carried the

assault. The 2nd Punjab Infantry, the 28rd Pioneers,

und the battery of lioyal Ilorse Artillery were still behind

;

but as the guns were being transported on elephants, I

knew the progress of this part of the force must be slow,

and thinking it unwise to allow the Afghans time to re-

cover from their defeat, I determined to push on with the

troops at hand.

A field hospital was formed on the mitry, and placed

under a guard, ammunition-pouches were re-filled, and off

we started again, choosing as our route the left of two hog-

backed, thickly-wooded heights running almost longitudin-



142 FORTY-ONE YEARS, IN INDIA [1H78

ally in the direction of the Peiwar Kotal, in the hope that

from this route communication might be established with

our camp below. I was not disappointed, for very soon

Captain Wynne, in charge of the signalling, was able to

inform Brigadier -General Cobbe of our progress, and

convey to him the order to co-operate with me so far as

his very limited numbers would permit.

Our advance was at first unopposed, but very slow, owing

to the density of the forest, which prevented our seeing

any distance, and made it difficult to keep the troops

together.

At the end of two hours we arrived at the edge of a deep

hollow, on the further side of which, 1.30 yards off, the

enemy were strongly posted, and they at once opened fire

upon us.

Fancy my dismay at this critical moment on discover-

ing that the Highlanders, Gurkhas, and the Mountain
battery, had not come up ! They had evidently taken a

wrong turn in the almost impenetrable forest, and I found
myself alone with the 29th Punjab Infantry. Knowing that

the missing troops could not be far off, I hoped that they
would hear the firing, which was each moment becoming
heavier

; but some time passed, and there were no signs
of their approach. I sent staff officer after staff officer to

search for them, until one only remained, the liev. J. W.
Adams, who had begged to be allowed to accompany me
as Aide-de-camp for this occasion, and him I also despatched
in quest of the missing troops. After some time, which
seemed to me an age, he returned to report that no trace
could he find of them

; so again I started him off in

anothei diiection. Feeling the situation was becoming
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serious, and expecting that the Afghans, encouraged by

our inaction, would certainly attack us, I thought it

advisable to make a forward movement ; but the attitude

of the 29th was not encouraging. I addressed them, and

expressed a hope that they would now by their behaviour

wipe out the slur of disloyalty which the firing of the signal

shots had cast upon the regiment, upon which Captain

Channel',* who was just then in command, stepped forward,

and said he would answer for the Sikhs ; but amongst the

Pathans there was an ominous silence, and Channer agreed

with me that they did not intend to fight. I therefore

ordered Channer and his subaltern, Picot, to advance

cautiously down the slope with the Sikhs of the regiment,

following myself near enough to keep the party in sight.

1 had not gone far, however, before I found that the

enemy were much too strongly placed to be attacked suc-

cessfully by so few men ; accordingly I recalled Channer,

and we returned to the position at the top of the hill.

My orderlies 1 during this little episode displayed such

touching devotion that it is with feelings of the most pro-

found admiration and gratitude I call to mind their self-

* Now Major-General Charmer, V.C., C.l).

+ T had six orderlies attached to 111c—two Sikhs, two Gurkhas, and

two Pnthans. The Sikhs and Gurkhas never left me for a day during

the two years I was in Afghanistan. The Pathans behaved equally

well, but they fell sick, and had to be changed more than once. ’When-

ever 1 emerged from my tent, two or more of the orderlies appeared

and kept close by me. They had always good information as to what

was going on, and I could generally tell whether there was likely to be

trouble or not by the number in attendance ; they put themselves

on duty, and decided how many were required. One of the Gurkhas

is since dead, but the other and the two Sikhs served with me after-

wards in Burma, and all three now hold the high position of Subodar

in their respective regiments.
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sacrificing courage. On this (as on many other occasions)

they kept close round me, determined that no shot should

reach me if they could prevent it ; and on my being hit

in the hand by a spent bullet, and turning to look round

in the direction it came from, I beheld one of the Sikhs

standing with his arms stretched out trying to screen me
from the enemy, which he could easily do, for he was a

grand specimen of a man, a head and shoulders taller than

myself.

To my great relief, on my return to the edge of the

hollow, Adams met me with the good tidings that he had

found not only the lost troops, but the Native Infantry

of the rear portion of the column, and had ascertained that

the elephants with the guns were close at hand.

Their arrival was most opportune, for the enemy had

been reinforced, and, having discovered our numerical

weakness, were becoming bolder
; they charged down the

hill, and were now trying to force their way up to our

position, but our Mountain guns were quickly brought

into action, and under their cover another attempt was
made to drive the Afghans from their position. The 28rd

Pioneers, under the command of Colonel Currie, the two

front companies led by Captain Anderson, moved down
the slope, and were soon lost to view in the thick wood at

she bottom of the dell ; when they reappeared it was,

to my great disappointment, on the wrong side of the

hollow : they had failed in the attack, and Anderson and
some men had been killed. The enemy’s position, it was
found, could only be reached by a narrow causeway, which
was swept by direct and cross fires, and obstructed by
trunks of trees and a series of barricades.
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It was evident to me that under these circumstances the

enemy could not be cleared out of their entrenchment

by direct attack without entailing heavy loss, which I could

ill afford and was most anxious to avoid. I therefore re-

connoitred both flanks to find, if possible, a way round the

hill. On our left front was a sheer precipice ; on the right,

however, I discovered, to my infinite satisfaction, that we

could not only avoid the hill which had defeated us, but

could get almost in rear of the Peiwar Eotal itself, and

threaten the enemy’s retreat from that position.

At this juncture I was further cheered by the arrival of

Lieutenant-Colonel Perkins and Major McQueen, who, with

the 5th Punjab Infantry, had worked their way up the

steep mountain-side, in the hope of getting near to the

Peiwar Kotal and co-operating with me. They were, how-

ever, checked by the deep ravine I have before described,

and guided by the sound of firing, pushed higher up the hill.

They brought me word that the Artillery left in camp had

opened fire on the kotal soon after daybreak, and had suc-

ceeded in silencing two of the enemy’s guns ; that our

Infantry had crept up within 1,400 yards of the kotal, but

were met by such a destructive fire that they could not

advance further: that Brigadier-General Cobbe had been

severely wounded, and that Colonel Barry Drew had

assumed the command. Perkins also gave me the useful

information that he had observed on his way up a spur from

which the kotal position could be fired upon at a distance

of 1,100 yards. To this spot I ordered Lieutenant Sherries,

who had succeeded poor Kelso in command of the Mountain

battery, to take his guns, and I asked Perkins to return and

tell Drew to press on to the kotal, in the hope that Sherries’s

vol. n. 42
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fire and the turning movement I was about to make would

cause the enemy to retreat.

I sent the 29th Punjab Infantry back to the Spingawi

to protect the wounded. I left the 2nd Punjab Infantry in

the position we had up till now been occupying, and I took

McQueen’s regiment with me.

A few rounds from the Mountain battery, and the fact

that their rear was threatened and their retreat about

to be cut off, soon produced signs of wavering amongst

the Afghans. Their Artillery fire slackened, their Infantry

broke, and about 2 p.m. Drew and Hugh Gough found it

possible to make a move towards the Peiwar Kotal. Gough

was the first to reach the crest, closely followed by Lieu-

tenant Brabazon, his orderly officer, and a fine plucky Dogra

named Birbul. They were soon joined by some hundreds

of Turi levies collected by Waterfield and by the 8th Foot.

Another body of levies under Major Palmer,* who had

done good service by making a feint on the right of the

Afghan position, arrived about the same time. Plunder

was of course the sole object of the Tuns, but their

co-operation at the moment was useful, and helped to swell

our small numbers. The enemy having evacuated their

stronghold and retreated by the Alikhel road, abandoning

in their headlong flight guns, waggons, and baggage, were

pursued by Hugh Gough, whose Cavalry had by this time

come up.

The Peiwar Kotal was not visible from the route we had

taken, but just before daylight had quite gone I could make
out with the aid of my telescope a large body of Afghans

moving towards the Shutargardan, which made me feel

* Now Major-General Sir Arthur Palmer, K.C.B.
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quite satisfied that the enemy’s position was in our

possession.

Night overtook us before we could reach the kotal, and

as everyone was thoroughly tired out, having been hard at

work since 10 p.m. the night before, with but little food, I

thought it better to bivouac where we were, on the southern

slope of the Sika Ram mountain. It was hardly a pleasant

experience lying on the ground without even cloaks at an

elevation of 9,000 feet, and with the thermometer marking

twenty degrees of frost ; but spite of cold and hunger,

thoroughly content with the day’s work, and with my mind

at rest, I slept as soundly as I had ever done in the most

luxurious quarters, and I think others did the same. At

any rate, no one that I could hear of suffered from that

night’s exposure.

We continued our march at daybreak, and reached the

kotal in an hour.

The examination of the enemy’s position was very

interesting. It was of enormous natural strength, the

dispositions made for its defence were most complete and

judicious, and the impossibility of taking it by other than

a turning movement was proved beyond a doubt; it

extended from the Spingawi to some commanding heights

nearly a mile south of the Peiwar Kotal ; thus having

a front of about four miles facing due east. From right

to left the position ran along a lofty and rugged range

of mountains, clothed with dense pine-forests. Towards

the eastern side the range was precipitous, but descended

on the west by a succession of upland meadows to the

valley of the Hariab ; it was crossed by only two roads,

viz., the Peiwar and Spingawi Kotals, at a few other points
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there were paths, but too narrow and precipitous for the

passage of troops.

The Peiwar Kotal is a narrow depression in the ridge,

commanded on each side by high pine-clad mountains.

The approach to it from the Kuram valley was up a steep,

narrow, zigzag path, commanded throughout its entire

length from the adjacent heights, and difficult to ascend on

account of the extreme roughness of the road, which was

covered with large fragments of rocks and boulders. Every

point of the ascent was exposed to tire from both guns and

rifles, securely placed behind breastworks constructed of

pine-logs and stones. At the top of tho pass was a narrow

plateau, which was again commanded from the thickly-

wooded heights on each side, rising to an elevation of 500

feet.

The Afghan Commander had been quite confident of

success, and was only waiting for reinforcements to attack

our camp; but these reinforcements did not arrive until

the afternoon of the 1st December, just too late for him

to carry out his intention. He had under his command
eight Regular regiments of the Afghan army, and eighteen

guns
; while these numbers were augmented by hordes of

neighbouring tribesmen, who were only too glad to respond

to the cry of a jahacl against the infidel, firmly believing

that as true believers their cause would be victorious.

Our loss at the Peiwar was not great—2 officers and

18 men killed, and 8 officers and 75 men wounded. The
Afghans suffered much more severely, besides leaving in

our possession all their guns, with quantities of ammu-
nition and other warlike stores.
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CHAPTER XLVII.

Perceiving that further pursuit of the enemy would be

useless, I decided to halt a few days to admit of our over-

taxed transport bringing up supplies and tents, and to

arrange for the occupation of the Peiwar position during

the winter months. But I considered that my work

would be incomplete if we stopped short of the Shutar-

gardan Pass. Moreover, it was very desirable that we

should investigate this route, and, if possible, get into

friendly communication with some of the sections of the

Ghilzai tribe. The Jajis, through whose territory the first

part of the road ran, now showed themselves to be as

well disposed as the Turis ; they readily brought in

supplies, and volunteered to labour for us, and from the

information obtained by the political officers, the inhabitants

of the Hariab valley seemed equally anxious to be friendly.

The dislodgment of the Afghan army by a much smaller

force, from a position they had themselves chosen, had

evidently had a salutary effect.

As soon as I had leisure, I inquired from Colonel Gordon

whether he had been able to discover the men who had

fired the Bignal shots on the night of the 2nd, and whether

he did not think that the Pathan Native officers ought to be
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able to point out the offenders. Gordon replied that he

suspected the Jemadar of the Pathan company knew who

the culprits were, and that one soldier had confessed to

firing the second shot ; moreover, he told me that eighteen

Pathans had left the regiment during the fight. On
receiving this unpleasant information, I assembled a

Court of Inquiry, with orders to have the proceedings ready

for my consideration by the time I returned from the

Shutargardan.

Having despatched the sick and wounded to Kuram
and made all necessary arrangements, I marched on the

6th December to Alikhel, twelve miles on the road to

the Shutargardan. Before starting, I issued an order

thanking the troops for the efforts they had made to ensure

success, and I had the honour of communicating to them at

the same time a congratulatory message from the Queen.*

We reached the foot of the Shutargardan on the 8th,

and reconnoitred to the top of the pass the next morning.

This point was 11,000 feet above the sea, commanded a
fine view of the Logar valley, and I discovered from it

that there was nothing between us and the immediate
vicinity of Kabul to prevent a force moving rapidly on that

place.

* ‘From thk Vickroy, Lahork, to Gknkral Robkrts.

' 6th December
, 1878.

I have much pleasure in communicating to you and the force under
your command the following telegram just received from Her Majesty,
an desire at the same time to add my warm congratulations on the
success achieved. Message begins : “ I have received the news of the
decisive victory of General Roberts, and the splendid behaviour of my
rave so ers, with pride and satisfaction, though I must ever deplore

the unavoidable loss of life. Pray inquire after the wounded in my
name. May we continue to receive good news." •
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We returned to Alikhel on the 10th. Captain Renwick

was placed in political charge, and Colonel Waterfield, as a

temporary arrangement, remained there also with a battery

of Artillery and two regiments of Punjab Infantry, for the

purpose of establishing friendly relations with the neigh-

bouring tribesmen.

From Alikhel there were said to be two roads leading to

Kuram, besides the difficult path over the Peiwar Kotal

;

and as it was of great importance to gain a knowledge of

an alternative line of communication, in view of further

trouble, I determined to explore one of them, choosing that

which appeared to be the shortest, and which I heard had

been used some time before by an Afghan Mountain battery.

This route was described as practicable for camels, and ran

through lands belonging to tribes whose headmen were

with me, a fact which should, I thought, ensure our being

free from attack.

I left Alikhel on the 12th December, taking with me
No. 1 Mountain Battery, a wing 72nd Highlanders, the 5th

Gurkhas, and the 23rd Pioneers. The route lay for four

miles along the banks of the Hariah stream, a tributary of

the Kuram river, through a valley which gradually narrowed

into a thickly-wooded ravine, three miles long; at the end

of this ravine the road, turning sharply to the left, ascended

till it reached an open grassy plateau, on which stood the

hamlet of Sapari. The inhabitants turned out to welcome us,

bringing supplies, and appearing so friendly that I settled

to halt there for the night. I had been warned, however,

by the maliks of some of the villages we had passed through

in the morning, that we should probably be attacked on the

march the next day, and that a defile which lay at the other
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Bide of a mountain over which we had to cross would be

particularly dangerous to us. I determined, therefore, to

Bend on troops that evening to occupy the pass over this

mountain, and to start the baggage off long before day-

break, so that it should be out of the way of the main

body, which would also have to march at an early hour in

order to reach the kotal before the tribesmen had time to

collect.

This could have been accomplished without difficulty, but

for the machinations of our false friends in the village, who

directed on to the precipitous path we had to ascend a

stream of water which soon turned into a sheet of ice, and

when I arrived on the spot I found the road blocked by

fallen animals vainly struggling to regain their footing.

This caused so much delay that it was nearly noon before

the last camel had got over the pass.

The descent on the other side was scarcely less difficult,

though free from • ice. We dropped 8,000 feet in the first

two miles, down a way which can only be described as a

ruined staircase, with the steps missing at intervals, ending

in the defile against the dangers of which we had been

warned. This defile was certainly a nasty place to be

caught in, being five miles long, and so narrow that the

camels’ loads struck against the rocks on either side ;
and

it was impossible to move flanking parties along the cliffs

above, as they were intersected by wide chasms running

back for long distances.

It was important to secure the exit from this gorge with-

out delay, and for this purpose I pushed on four companies

of the 28rd Pioneers, and in support, when the ravine

began to widen out a little, I hurried on the Highlanders
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and the Mountain battery, leaving the Gurkhas to protect

the baggage and bring up the rear.

We only got possession of the exit just in time. The

Pioneers, by occupying commanding positions on either

side of the opening, effectually checkmated several large

bodies of armed men who were approaching from different

directions, and whose leaders now declared they had only

come to help us ! Later on we discovered still more formid-

able gatherings, which doubtless would have all combined

to attack us, had they been in time to catch us in the

ravine.

The tail of the column was followed and much harassed

by the enemy ; but they were kept at bay by the steadiness

of the gallant Gurkhas, and so successful were they in safe-

guarding the baggage, that, although many of the drivers

ran away at the first shot, leaving the soldiers to lead the

animals as well as defend them, not a single article fell into

the hands of the tribesmen. The regiment lost three

men killed, and Captain Powell and eleven men wounded.

Captain Goad, of the Transport Department, was also

badly hurt.*

On Goad being knocked over, Sergeant Greer, of the

72nd Highlanders, assisted by three privates, picked him
up, and having placed him under cover of a rock, they

turned their attention to the enemy. They were only four

against large numbers, but by their cool and Bteady use of

the Martini-Henry rifle, which had shortly before been

issued to the British soldiers in India, they were enabled to

hold their ground until help arrived, when they succeeded

in carrying the wounded officer away.

* Both officers died of their wounds soon afterwards.
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I had observed in the advance on the Peiwar Kotal the

skill and gallantry displayed by Sergeant Greer, and noted

him as a man fitted for promotion. His distinguished con-

duct in rescuing and defending Goad confirmed me in my
opinion, and I accordingly recommended him for a com-

mission, which, to my great gratification, Her Majesty was

graciously pleased to bestow upon him.

That night we halted at the village of Keria ; thence the

route was easy enough, so, leaving the troops to rest and

recover from the last hard march, I rode on to Kuram,

where there was much to be done.

The ejectment of the Afghan ruler of Khost ond the

exploration of that valley formed, it will be remembered,

part of the programme given to me to carry through, and

it was very desirable that this service should be completed

before the winter rains set in. Peace and order now reigned

in Upper Kuram and in the neighbourhood of the Peiwar

;

but there was a good deal of excitement in the lower part of

the valley and in Khost, our line of communication was

constantly harassed by raiders, convoys were continually

threatened, outposts fired into, and telegraph-wires cut.

The smallness of my force made it difficult for me to deal

with these troubles, so I applied to the Commander-in-Chief
for the wing of the 72nd Highlanders left at Kohat, and
the 5th Punjab Cavalry at Thai to be ordered to join me
at Kuram. At the same time I moved up No. 2 Moun-
tain Battery and the 28th Punjab Infantry, sending tho

29th Punjab Infantry to take the place of the 28th at

Thai.

I was greatly hampered by want of transport. Arrange-
ments had to be made for sending the sick and wounded,
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as well as the captured guns, to Kohat (the sight of the

latter, I fancied, would have a good effect on the tribes

in our rear) ; but hard work, scarcity of forage, and

absence of supervision, had told, as was to be expected,

on animals in bad condition at the outset. Mules and

camels died daily, reducing our all too small numbers to

such an extent that it was with considerable difficulty the

convoy was at last despatched.

From the first I foresaw that want of transport would be

our greatest difficulty, and so it proved ; very few supplies

tould be obtained in the vicinity of Kuram ; the troops at

Kohat had been drawing on the adjacent districts ever since

October, so that the purchasing agents had every day to go

further away to procure necessaries, and consequently an

increased number of animals were required for their con-

veyance. My Commissary-General reported to me that only

a few days’ provisions for the troops remained in hand, and

that it was impossible to lay in any reserve unless more

transport could be provided. About this reserve I was very

anxious, for the roads might soon become temporarily im-

passable from the rising of the rivers after the heavy rain

to be expected about Christmas. Contractors were des-

patched to all parts of the country to procure camels, and

I suggested to Government that pack-bullocks should be

bought at Mirzapur, and railed up country, which sugges-

tion being acted upon, the danger of the troops having to go

hungry was warded off.

The treacherous soldiers of the ‘29th Punjab Infantry had

now to be dealt with—a necessary, but most unpleasant,

dnty. A perusal of the proceedings of the Court of Inquiry

satisfied me that the two men who discharged their rifles
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during the night-march, the Jemadar of their company who

failed to report their criminal action, and the eighteen who

deserted their colours during the engagement, should all be

tried by Court-Martial.

The prisoners were found guilty. The sepoy who fired

the first shot was sentenced to death, and the one who dis-

charged the second to two years’ imprisonment with hard

labour ; the court, recognizing a possibility that the latter,

being a young soldier, might have loaded and fired without

intending treachery, gave him the benefit of the doubt.

The Jemadar was awarded seven years’ transportation, and

the eighteen deserters terms varying from ten years to one

year.

It was with deep regret that I confirmed these several

sentences, but it was necessary that a deterrent example

should be made. Treachery was altogether too grave a

crime to be lightly dealt with, and desertions amongst the

Pathans were becoming of much too frequent occurrence,

particularly as the deserters invariably carried away with

them their rifles and ammunition.

The effect of these sentences was most salutary; there

was not a single desertion subsequent to the Court-Martial

for more than a year, although during that time the

Mahomedan portion of my force were severely tried by

appeals from their co-religionists.

On Christmas Eve authentic intelligence was brought to

me that, on hearing of the defeat of the Afghan army, Sher

Ali, with the members of the Russian Mission then at

Kabul, had fled to Turkestan, and that his son, Yakub

Khan, had been released from prison, and had assumed the

reins of Government.
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About this time, also, Sir Samuel Browne, who was at

Jalalabad, received a letter* from the Amir, in which he

announced his intention of proceeding to St. Petersburg to

lay his case before the Czar and obtain the aid of Bussia.

Sher Ali’s disappearance and Yakub Khan’s assumption

of authority suggested new possibilities to the Viceroy, who

at once instructed Major Cavagnari, the political officer

with the Khyber column, to communicate, if possible, with

Yakub Kkan, and explain to him that our quarrel was with

Sher Ali alone, that he might rest assured of the friendly

disposition of the British Government towards him per-

* ‘ From Amir Sher Ali Khan to the Officers of the

British Government.

‘Be it known to the officers of the British Government that this

suppliant before God never supposed, nor wished, that the matters [in

dispute] between you and myself should come to this issue [literally,

“ should come out from the curtain ”], or that the veil of friendship

and amity, which has for many years been upheld between two neigh-

bours and adjoining States, should, without any cause, be thus drawn
aside.

‘And since you have begun the quarrel and hostilities, and have

advanced on Afghan territory, this suppliant before God, with the

unanimous consent and advice of all the nobles, grandees, and of the

army in Afghanistan, having abandoned his troops, his realm, and all

the possessions of his crown, has departed with expedition, accompanied
by a few attendants, to St. Petersburg, the capital of the Czar of

Bussia, where, before a congress, the whole history of the transactions

between myself and yourselves will be submitted to all the Powers [of

Europe]. If you have anything in dispute with me regarding State

affairs in Afghanistan, you should institute and establish your case at

St. Petersburg, and state and explain what you desire, so that the

questions in dispute between us may be made known and clear to all

the Powers. And surely the side of right will not be overlooked. If

your intentions are otherwise, and you entertain hostile and vindictive

feelings towards the people of Afghanistan, God alone is their Protector

and real Preserver. Upon the course of action here above stated this

suppliant before God has resolved and decided.’
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sonally, and that, unless he took the initiative, hostilities

would not be resumed.

Before proceeding to Kuram, I invited all the Turis

and Jajis who had afforded us assistance to meet me in

durbar that they might be suitably rewarded. A goodly

number responded to the invitation, and were told, in

accordance with the instructions I had received from the

Government of India, that they would henceforth be under

British protection; that no Amir of Afghanistan should

ever again be permitted to tyrannize over them ; that

while they would be expected to live peaceably, neither

their religion nor their customs would be interfered with ;

that roads would be made and markets established, and
that whatever supplies they could provide for the use of

the troops would be liberally paid for.

After this I started for Khost, accompanied by Colonel

Waterfield, the political officer.

The column I took with me consisted of the squadron of

the 10th Hussars, 200 of the 72nd Highlanders, a wing of

the 5th Punjab Cavalry, the 21st and 28th Punjab Infantry,

and Nos. 1 and 2 Mountain Batteries. The corps were so

weak that their total strength only amounted to 2,000
men.

We reached Matun, the name given to some three villages

grouped lound a small fort in the centre of the valley, on
the 6th January, 1879. The Afghan Governor, with whom
I had been in communication, met me and arranged to

surrendei the fort, on condition that his personal safety
should be guaranteed, and that he should be allowed to go
either to Kabul or India, as he might desire.
About half a mile from the fort I halted the column, and
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taking a small escort of the 10th Hussars, I rode on with

the Governor, who invited me with my staff into his house.

While tea was being handed round, the Governor (Al$ram

Khan by name) warned me that we should be attacked, and

that he could do nothing to prevent it, having only some

200 local militia and no regular troops. He further Baid

that the inhabitants of the valley were not directly opposed

to the British Government, and, if left to themselves, would

give no trouble ; but he doubted their being able to resist

the pressure put upon them by a large number of tribesmen

who had collected from the adjacent districts, attracted by

the smallness of the force, which they believed ‘ had been

delivered into their hands.’

This intelligence showed me I must be prepared for a

scrimmage, so I ordered the camp to be pitched in the

form of a square as compactly as possible, with the trans-

port animals and impedimenta in the centre, and strong

piquets at the four angles. Cavalry patrols were sent out

as far as the broken and hilly nature of the ground would

permit, and every endeavour was made to ascertain the

strength and whereabouts of the enemy, but to no pur-

pose: the enemy were invisible, and the patrols reported

that they had come across numbers of peaceable-looking

husbandmen, but no one else.

The night passed off quietly, but when advancing day

made them visible, multitudes of tribesmen were descried

collecting on the slopes of the neighbouring hills. Some

friendly Natives were sent to ascertain their intentions,

followed by a Cavalry reconnoitring party, when suddenly

a number of camel-drivers and mule-men, who had gone to

tbe nearest villages to procure fodder for their animals,
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came rushing back to camp in the wildest terror and excite-

ment, declaring that the enemy seemed to rise as if by

magic out of the ground, and that several thousands were

already in the village. No doubt some of these were ‘ the

peaceable-looking husbandmen’ the patrols had encountered

the previous day. I now became somewhat anxious, not only

for the safety of the reconnoitring party, which appeared

to be in danger of being cut off, but for that of the whole

force ; such a mere handful as we were compared to the

numbers arrayed against us.

Vigorous action was evidently necessary. Accordingly,

I ordered all the available Cavalry (only 70 men of the

10th Hussars, and 155 of the 5th Punjab Cavalry), under

Colonel Hugh Gough, to follow the reconnoitring party in

case of their being so hard pressed as to have to retire,

and Captain Swinley’s Mountain battery, with six com-

panies of the 28th Punjab Infantry, under Colonel Hudson,*

to move out in support. Colonel Drew I left in charge of

the camp, with 200 Highlanders, the 21st Punjab Infantry,

and a Mountain battery. I myself joined 'Gough, who, by

dismounted fire and several bold charges, notwithstanding

the difficult nature of the ground, succeeded in driving

the enemy to the highest ridges, over which Swinley’s

well-directed fire eventually forced them to retreat.

Heavy firing was now heard in the direction of our camp,

and I hurried back, taking with me a troop of the 5th Punjab.

Cavalry. . I found that during my absence Drew had been

attacked on two sides; he had been able to prevent

the enemy from coming to close quarters, but they were

* The late Lieutenant-General Sir John Hudson, K.C.B., who died

as Commander-in-Chief of the Bombay Army.
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still hovering about at no great distance, and I thought it

advisable to clear them away by moving out against them

with all the troops at my disposal. As we approached,

they disappeared with their usual rapidity ; the 5th Punjab

Cavalry, however, got in amongst some of them, and we

returned to camp with 100 prisoners, 500 head of cattle,

some sheep, and a large quantity of grain.

The tribesmen, however, had not been sufficiently punished

to prevent a repetition of the attack, probably with largely

increased numbers
; so I ordered the destruction of the

hamlets nearest us, in which they had been sheltered

and some of our camp followers had been murdered.

The next night a most unfortunate occurrence took place,

resulting in the death of six of our prisoners ; but it was just

one of those things which could hardly have been foreseen

or guarded against, and for which, however lamentable, no

one was to blame. The headmen of the particular Waziri

tribe to which the captives belonged had been summoned

during the day, and told that the men would be released

on payment of a sum of fifty rupees each. The money

was paid down at once for a certain number, who were

immediately set free ; but there was not quite enough

for all, and the headmen went off to procure what was

required for the ransom of the remainder. Soon after

dark, however, some of the enemy* were discovered creep-

ing up the banks of a nulla at the back of the camp, where

the unransomed men were detained under a guard ;
the

nearest sentry instantly fired, and the piquets all round

took up the firing, thinking that another attack on the

* No doubt friends of the prisoners, who had come to help them to

escape.

VOL. ii. 48
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camp had commenced. At the sound of the first shot the

prisoners all jumped to their feet, and, calling to each

other to escape, attempted to seize the rifles belonging

to the guard, upon which the Native officer in command

(a Pathan like themselves) told them that if they per-

sisted in trying to escape, they would be shot. His words

had no effect, and to prevent his men being overpowered,

he gave the order to fire. Six of the prisoners were killed

and thirteen wounded. It was a most regrettable affair,

but a Court of Inquiry decided that the Native officer had

no option, and completely exonerated the guard from acting

with undue severity. The wounded were, of course,

taken to our hospital, and well cared for by our

Doctors.*

The remainder of our sojourn in Khost was not marked

by any incident of particular interest. We marched to the

end of the valley, and made a careful survey of it and of

the surrounding hills.

The instructions I received with regard to Khost were, to

occupy the valley and dislodge the Afghan administration

therefrom. To my great chagrin, the smallness of my force

made it impossible for me to give effect to these instructions

as I could have wished. To have remained in Khost under

the circumstances would have been to court disaster ; the

numbers of the enemy were daily increasing, and it would

* This occurrence was made great capital of by the anti-war party
at home. A member of the House of Commons, in commenting upon
it, said that ‘ some ninety prisoners, who had been taken, hod been
tied together with ropes that ‘ on their making some attempt to

escape, they were set upon, and many of them slaughtered in their

onds , and that ‘ the dead, the living, the dying, and the wounded
were eft tied together, and lying in one confused mass of bodies.’
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have been impossible to hold our own. It was, however,

of great importance, if practicable, to retain some control

over the valley, a peculiarly productive district, which, if

left alone by us, I feared would become a centre of

dangerous intrigue against any settled government in

Kuram. Accordingly I determined to try how placing

Kliost in charge of one of our own Native officials would

answer, and I selected for the position Shahzada Sultan

Jan, a Saddozai gentleman of good birth, and a Sunni

Mahomedan in religion, who, I thought, would be a

persona grata to the Khostwals, and, if supported by some

Native levies, and associated in his administrative duties

with the chief malihs of Khost, would be more likely to

hold his own than anyone else I could place there This

was, however, a mere experiment, and I did not disguise

from myself that its success was very doubtful; but it

was the only way in which I could attempt to carry out

the orders of Government, my hands being so completely

tied by paucity of troops. I had no fear for the Shahzada’s

personal safety, and I felt that, if in the end I should be

obliged to abandon Khost altogether for the present, it

could later, if necessary, be easily re-occupied with a some-

what larger force.

Having decided on the course to be adopted, I held a

durbar, which was numerously attended, and addressed the

people of Khost in much the same way I had spoken to the

Turis in Kuram, expressing a hope that they would support

the Shahzada’s authority until a more permanent form of

government could be established.

On the 27th January we left Khost and made one

®arch; the next day I halted, so as to be near the
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Shahzada in case of need. The intelligence brought to

me that evening satisfied me that my experiment would

not answer, and that without troops (which I could not

spare) to support the newly- established authority at first

starting off, we could not hope to maintain any hold over

the country; for though the Khostwals themselves were

perfectly content with the arrangements I had made, they

could not resist the tribesmen, who directly our backs were

turned began to show their teeth. Accordingly, I decided

to bring the Shahzada away while I could do so without

trouble. I marched back to Matun the next morning

with 1,000 men (Cavalry and Infantry) and four Mountain

guns. We found Sultan Jan in anything but a happy

frame of mind, and quite ready to come away. So having

formally made the place over to the maliks, we started

on our return journey. Ab we departed, a collection of

our tribal enemies (about 3,000) who had been watching

the proceedings took the opportunity to attack us; but

two weak squadrons of Cavalry, skilfully handled by Hugh
Gough, kept them in check, and we reached camp without

further molestation.

The next day, the last of January, we returned to Hazir

Pir in Kuram. There I received a visit from Sirdar Wali

Mahomed Khan, brother of Sher Ali, who was accompanied
by several leading men of the Logar valley, some of whom
were of great assistance to me a few months later. Wali

Mahomed was a man of about fifty years of age ; he had
a pleasing countenance, of the same Jewish type as the

majority of the Afghan nation, but he had a weak face and
was evidently wanting in character. He told me that he
itiau fled from Kabul to escape the vengeance of his nephew,
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Yakub Khan, who attributed his long imprisonment by his

father to the Sirdar’s influence. Sir Samuel Browne and

Major Cavagnari, on the Khyber line, were conducting all

political negotiations with the Afghans, so I passed Wali

Mahomed Khan on to them.

During the month ofc February my time was chiefly em-

ployed in inspecting the roads and the defensive posts

which my talented and indefatigable Chief Engineer was

constructing, examining the arrangements for housing the

troops, and looking after the transport animals and Com-

missariat depots. No more military demonstrations were

necessary, for the people were quietly settling down under

British rule. Convoys were no longer molested nor tele-

graph wires cut ; but I had one rather unpleasant incident

with regard to a war Correspondent, which, until the

true facts of the case were understood, brought me into

disrepute with one of the leading London newspapers, the

representative of which I felt myself compelled to dismiss

from the Kuram Field Force.

Judging from his telegrams, which he brought to me to

sign, the nerves of the Correspondent in question must have

been somewhat shaken by the few and very distant shots

fired at us on the 28th November. These telegrams being

in many instances absolutely incorrect and of the most

alarming nature, were of course not allowed to be despatched

nntil they had been revised in accordance with truth ;

but one, evidently altered and added to after I had

countersigned it, was brought to me by the telegraph

master. I sent for the Correspondent, who confessed to

having made the alterations, not apparently realizing that

bo had done anything at all reprehensible, but ho promised
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that he would never do such a thing again. This promise

was not kept ;
telegrams appeared in his paper which I

had not seen before despatch, and which were most mis-

leading to the British public. Moreover, his letters, over

which I could have no control, and which I heard of for the

first time when the copies of his p§,per arrived in Kuram,

were most subversive of the truth. It was on the receipt

of these letters that I felt it to be my duty to send the too

imaginative author to the rear.

No one could be more anxious than I was to have

all details of the campaign made public. I considered it

due to the people of Great Britain that the press Corre-

spondents should have every opportunity for giving the

fullest and most faithful accounts of what might happen

while the army was in the field, and I took special pains

from the first to treat the Correspondents with confidence,

and give them such information as it was in my power to

afford. All I required from them in return waB that the

operations should be truthfully reported, and that any

Correspondent who did not confine himself to the recording

of facts, and felt himself competent to criticize the conduct

of the campaign, should be careful to acquaint himself

with the many and varied reasonq which a Commander

must always have to consider before deciding on any line

of action.

What to my mind was so reprehensible in this Corre-

spondent’s conduct was the publication, in time of war,

and consequent excitement and anxiety at home, of in-

correct and sensational statements, founded on information

derived from irresponsible and uninformed sources, and

the alteration of telegrams after they had been counter-
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signed by the recognized authority, the result of which

could only be to keep the public in a state of apprehension

regarding the force in the field, and, what is even more to

be deprecated, to weaken the confidence of the troops in

their Commander. It was satisfactory to me that my

action in the matter met with the fullest approval of

the Viceroy.

About this time my column was strengthened by the

arrival of the Contingent provided by the Punjab Chiefs,

under the command of Brigadier General John Watson,

my comrade of the Mutiny days. The Contingent consisted

of 868 Cavalry, and 2,685 Infantry with 13 guns, which

were placed in position along the line of communication,

and proved of great use in relieving the Regular army of

escort duty. The senior Native officer with the Punjabis

was Bakshi Ganda Sing, Commander-in-Chief of the

Patiala army, a particularly handsome, gentlemanly Sikh,

with whom I have ever since been on terms of friendly

intercourse.

Towards the end of February I paid a visit to Kohat,

where my wife met me ; we spent a week together, and I

had the pleasure of welcoming to the frontier that grand

regiment, the 92nd Highlanders, which had been sent up to
%

be in readiness to join my column in the event of an

advance on Kabul becoming necessary.
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CHAPTER XLVIII.

I was informed by the Viceroy’s Private Secretary in the

beginning of March that, unless satisfactory arrangements

could soon be come to with Yakub Khan, an onward move

would have to be made. Accordingly I now set about pre-

paring for such a contingency.

Sher Ali had died in Afghan Turkestan on the 21st

February, and, in communicating the event to the Viceroy,

Yakub Khan wrote that he was anxious matters might

be so arranged that ‘ the friendship of this God-granted

State with the illustrious British Government may remain

constant and firm.’

The new Amir was told in reply that Lord Lytton was

prepared to enter into negotiations for the conclusion of

peace, and for the restoration of a friendly alliance between

the two Governments, provided that his Highness re-

nounced all claim to authority over the Khyber and Michni

Passes, and the independent tribes inhabiting the territory

directly connected with the main routes leading to India ;

that the district of Kuram from Thai to the crest of

the Shutargardan Pass, and the districts of Pishin and

Sibi, should remain under the control of the British

Government
; that the foreign relations of Afghanistan



1879] SHER A LI’S DEATH 169

should be conducted in accordance with the advice and

wishes of the British Government ; and that British officers

should be accredited to the Kabul Government, and per-

mitted to reside at such places as might hereafter be

decided upon.

Yakub Khan’s reply was not altogether satisfactory. He
agreed to British officers being deputed to Afghanistan on

the understanding that they should reside in Kabul, and

abstain from interference in State affairs ; but he declined

to renounce his authority over the Khyber and Michni

Passes and the tribes in their vicinity, and refused to

consent to Kuram, Pishin, and Sibi being placed under

British protection.

The Viceroy now determined to try what a personal

conference between the Amir and Cavagnari could effect

towards a settlement of these vexed questions, so in answer-

ing the Amir Cavagnari was directed to convey a hint that

an invitation to him to visit Kabul might be productive of

good results, and to point out that the places we desired

to occupy were looked upon as essential to the permanent

security of the Indian frontier. The Amir replied, ex-

pressing his readiness to receive Cavagnari in his capital,

and laying stress on his determination to regulate his

future conduct in strict conformity with his professions of

loyalty, but begged that he might not be called upon to

cede any portion of his territory.

Hardly had this letter, dated the 29th March, been

received, than a proclamation addressed by Yakub to the

Khagianis, a tribe which had been giving much trouble,

was intercepted and brought to Cavagnari ; in it the

Amir praised and complimented the Khagianis for their
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religious zeal and fidelity to himself. He exhorted them

to have no fear of the infidels, against whom he was

about to launch an irresistible force of troops and Ghazis,

and wound up as follows :
‘ By the favour of God, and in

accordance with the verse “ Verily God has destroyed

the powerful ones,” the whole of them will go to the

fire of hell for evermore. Therefore kill them to the

extent of your ability.’ A curious commentary this on the

Amir’s protestation of loyalty.

Notwithstanding this piece of treachery, it was decided

not to break off negotiations, and Yakub Khan was in-

formed by Cavagnari that a Mission would proceed to

Kabul so soon as the necessary arrangements could be

made for its reception. At the same time Lord Lytton

himself wrote to the Amir, telling him that, aB he was

willing to receive an Envoy, Cavagnari would be deputed to

visit Kabul, and communicate unreservedly with him upon

the questions at issue between the two States.

I, personally, was not at all satisfied that the time had

come for negotiation, for I felt that the Afghans had not

had the sense of defeat sufficiently driven into them to

convince them of our strength and ability to punish

breach of treaty, and, therefore, that a peace made now,

before they had been thoroughly beaten, would not be a

lasting one, and would only end in worse trouble in the

near future. The Afghans are an essentially arrogant and

conceited people
; they had not forgotten our disastrous

retreat from Kabul, nor the annihilation of our army in the

Khurd Kabul and Jagdalak Passes in 1841
, and believed

themselves to be quite capable of resisting our advance on

Kabul. No great battle had as yet been fought
;
though Ali
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Masjid and the Peiwar Kotal had been taken, a small force

of the enemy had been beaten by Charles Gough’s brigade,

near Jalalabad, and a successful Cavalry skirmish had

occurred near Kandahar, the Afghans had nowhere suffered

serious loss, and it was not to be wondered at if the

fighting men in distant villages, and in and around Kabul,

Ghazni, Herat, Balkh, and other places, still considered

themselves undefeated and capable of defying us. They

and their leaders had to depend for information as to recent

events upon the garbled accounts of those who had fought

against us, and it was unlikely they would be shaken in

their belief in their superiority by such one-sided versions of

what had occurred. On many occasions I had been amused,

in listening to Afghan conversation, to find that, while they

appeared thoroughly conversant with and frequently alluded

to their triumphs over us, they seemed to know nothing, or

had no recollection, of Sale’s successful defence of Jalalabad,

or of Pollock’B victorious march through the Khyber Pass

and the destruction by him of the chief bazaar in Kabul.

My ideas about the negotiations being premature were

freely expressed to Colonel Colley,* Lord Lytton’s Private

Secretary, who paid me a visit in Kuram at this time, and

had been a constant correspondent of mine from the

commencement of the war. Colley, however, explained to

me that, right or wrong, the Viceroy had no option in the

matter; that there was the strongest feeling in England

against the continuance of the war ; and that, unless the

new Amir proved actively hostile, peace must be signed.

He expressed himself sanguine that the terms of the

treaty which Cavagnari hoped to conclude with Yakub

* The late Major-General Sir George Colley, K.C.B.
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Khan would give us an improved frontier, and a permanent

paramount influence at Kabul, the two points about which

he said the Viceroy was most anxious, and to which he

assigned the first place in his political programme. Lord

Lytton foresaw that, whatever might be the future policy

of the two European Powers concerned, the contact of the

frontiers of Great Britain and Bussia in Asia was only a

matter of time, and his aim was to make sure that the

conterminous line, whenever it might be reached, should

be of our choosing, and not one depending on the exigen-

cies of the moment, or on the demands of Russia.

The Native agent (Bukhtiar Khan), who was the bearer of

the Viceroy’s and Cavagnari’s letters to the Amir, reached

Kabul at the moment when the Afghan officials who had

accompanied Slier Ali in his flight returned to that place

from Turkestan. Counsel was held with these men as to

the manner of receiving the British Mission
;
but there was

an influential military party averse to peace, and the Amir

was strongly advised to abandon the English alliance and

trust to Russia. Upon hearing this, our agent became

alarmed for the safety of the Mission, and being appre-

hensive that Yakub Khan would not have the power to

protect its members from insult, he suggested to the Amir

that.he should visit our camp instead of the British Mission

coming to Kabul, a suggestion which was ultimately adopted,

the\ iceroy considering that it was infinitely the best arrange-

ment that could be made.

On the 8th May the Amir arrived in Sir Samuel

Browne’s camp at Gandamak, thirty miles on the Kabul

side of Jalalabad, and on the 20th, owing to the tact

and diplomatic skill of Louis Cavagnari the Treaty of
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Gandamak was signed, and so ended the first phase of

the second Afghan war.

Under the terms of the treaty, Yakub Khan agreed to

the cession of territory considered necessary by us, and

bound himself to conduct his foreign policy in accordance

with the advice of the British Government ; while, on

our side, we promised to support him against external

aggression. It was further arranged that a British repre-

sentative, with a suitable escort, should reside at Kabul ;*

that the Amir should in like manner (if he desired it)

depute an agent to the Viceregal Court ; that British

agents with sufficient escorts should be at liberty to visit

the Afghan frontiers whenever, in the interests of both

countries, it was considered necessary by the British

Government ; that there should be no hindrance to British

subjects trading peaceably within the Amir’s dominions;

that traders should be protected, the transit of merchandise

facilitated, and roads kept in good order ; that a line of

telegraph should be constructed from India to Kabul, at the

expense of the British, but under the protection of the

Afghan Government ; and that an annual subsidy of six

lakhB of rupees should be paid to the Amir and his

successors.

The Khyber column was now withdrawn, with the

exception of two brigades, and orders were sent to the

Kandahar column to prepare to withdraw on the 1st

September, the earliest date at which the troops could

safely march through the Bolan Pass. I was told to stay

where I was, as Kuram, by the treaty conditions, was to

* Kabul was expressly selected by Yakub Khan as the place where

wished the Embassy to reside.



174 FORTY-ONE YEARS, IN INDIA L1879

remain under our control and be administered by the British

Government.

On the 24th May I held a parade in honour of the Queen's

birthday, at which 6,450 officers and men were present.*

They were thoroughly fit and workmanlike, and being

anxious that the tribesmen should see what grand soldiers

I had at hand should an advance be necessary, I invited

all the neighbouring clans to witness the display. The

Afghans were seated in picturesque groups round the flag-

staff, when suddenly, as the first round of the fett-de-joie was

fired, they started to their feet, thinking that treachery was

intended, and that they were caught in a trap : they took

to their heels, and we had considerable difficulty in bring-

ing them back, and in making them understand that the

firing which had so upset their equanimity was only a sign

of rejoicing on that auspicious anniversary. By degrees

they became assured that there was no thought of taking

an unfair advantage of them, and at the conclusion of

the ceremony they were made happy by a present of sheep.

In the afternoon an impromptu rifle meeting was got up.

The matchlock men could not hold their own against our

good shots armed with Martini-Henry rifles, a fact which

evidently greatly impressed the tribesmen, some of whom

then and there came forward and promised that if I should

* At this parade I had the great pleasure of decorating Captain

Cook with the Victoria Cross, and Subadar Ragobir Nagarkoti, Jemadar
Pursoo Khatri, Native Doctor Sankor Doss, and five riflemen of the

6th Gurkhas, with the Order of Merit, for their gallant conduct on

the attack on the Spingawi Kotal, and during the passage of the

Mangior defile. It was a happy circumstance that Major Galbraith,

who owed his life to Captain Cook’s intrepidity, and Major Fitz-Hugh,

whose life was saved by Jemadar (then Havildar) Pursoo Khatri, should

both have been present on the parade.
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be required to advance on Kabul they would not oppose

me.

I took advantage of our improved relations with the

Afghans, consequent on the ratification of the treaty, to

enlarge our geographical knowledge of the passes which

lead from Kuram towards Kabul, and the independent

territories in the neighbourhood. The presence of the

troops, no doubt, had something to say to the cheerful

acquiescence of the tribesmen in these explorations, which

they appeared to look upon as the result of a wish to

make ourselves acquainted with the country assigned to

us by the treaty, and having, to use their own expres-

sion, lifted for us the purdah (curtain) of their country,

they became most friendly, and took a curious pleasure

in pointing out to us the points of defence at which

they would have opposed us, had we been advancing

as enemies.

Towards the end of June I heard from Lord Lytton

that he wished me to be one of the military members

of a Commission of Inquiry into army expenditure and

organization which was about to be convened at Simla,

if I thought I could be spared from my post at Kuram.

The people of the valley had by this time settled down

bo contentedly, and the tribesmen showed themselves so

peacefully disposed, that I thought I could safely leave

my post for a time, before returning to take up my
abode in the neighbourhood for some years, as I hoped

to do, when my appointment as Frontier Commissioner

should have received the sanction of the authorities in

England.

Meanwhile, however, some temporary arrangement waB'
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necessary for the administration of Kuram, and I wrote to

the Foreign Secretary (Alfred Lyall), pointing out my views

upon the subject.

Seeing how much could be done with these wild people by

personal influence, and how ready they were to submit to

my decisions when disputes arose amongst them—decisions

at times literally given from the saddle—I was very adverse

to their being handed over to some official who, from his

training, would not be able to understand dealing out

the rough-and-ready justice which alone was suited to these

lawless beings, and who could not imagine any question

being properly settled without its having undergone the

tedious process of passing through the law courts. Such a

rule would, I knew, disgust a people accustomed to decide

their quarrels at the point of the sword—a people to whom
law and order had been hitherto unknown, and must be dis-

tasteful, until they had had time to realize their beneficial

effects. Profitable employment and judicious management
would in time, no doubt, turn them into peaceful subjects.

Friendly intercourse had already done much towards this

end, and tribes who for generations had been at feud

with each other now met, when visiting our camp, on

common ground, without (much I think to their own

astonishment) wanting to cut each other’s throats. What
was further required, I conceived, was the opening up of

the country by means of roads, which would facilitate

intercommunication and give remunerative employment to

thousands who had hitherto lived by plunder and blood-

shed.

In answering my letter, the Foreign Secretary informed

me that the future of Kuram would be settled when I



1879] GLOOMY FOREBODINGS 177
'

reached Simla, whither I was to proceed so soon as I had

seen the British Mission across the frontier.

On the 15th July Major Cavagnari, who had been

selected as ‘the Envoy and Plenipotentiary to His Highness

the Amir of Kabul/ arrived in Kuram, accompanied by Mr.

William Jenkins, C.I.E., of the Civil Service, and Lieutenant

Hamilton, V.C., Surgeon-Major Kelly, 25 Cavalry and 50

Infantry of the Guides Corps. I, with some fifty officers

who were anxious to do honour to the Envoy and see the

country beyond Kuram, marched with Cavagnari to within

five miles of the crest of the Shutargardan Pass, where

we encamped, and my staff and I dined that evening with

the Mission. After dinner I was asked to propose the

health of Cavagnari and those with him, but somehow I

did not feel equal to the task ; I was so thoroughly

depressed, and my mind was filled with such gloomy

forebodings as to the fate of these fine fellows, that I

could not utter a word. Like many others, I thought

that peace had been signed too quickly, before, in fact, we

had instilled that awe of us into the Afghan nation which

would have been the only reliable guarantee for the safety

of the Mission. Had we shown our strength by marching

to Kabul in the first instance, whether opposed or not, and

there dictated the terms of the treaty, there would have

been some assurance for its being adhered to ; as it was, I

could not help feeling there was none, and that the chances

were against the Mission ever coming back.

Cavagnari, however, showed no sign of sharing my fore-

bodings
; he and his companions were in the best of spirits

;

he spoke most hopefully of the future, and talked of a tour

he hoped to make with me in the cold weather along the

on. ii. 44
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northern and western frontiers of Afghanistan. Other

matters of intense interest to us both were discussed, and

before separating for the night it was arranged that Mrs.

Gavagnari should either join him in Kabul the following

spring, or come and stay with my wife and me in Kuram,

where I had already laid the foundations of a house

near the beautifully situated village of Shalufzan.

Early next morning the Sirdar, who had been deputed

by the Amir to receive the Mission, came into camp, and

soon we all started for the top of the pass. We had gone

about a mile, when we were joined by an escort of Afghan

Cavalry, dressed something like British Dragoons, with the

exception of their head-gear, which consisted of the dis-

carded helmets of the old Bengal Horse Artillery. They

were mounted on Binall, useful-looking horses, and were

armed with smooth-bore carbines and tulwars (Native

swords).

As we ascended, curiously enough, we came across a

solitary magpie, which I should not have noticed had not

Cavagnari pointed it out and begged me not to mention

the fact of his having seen it to his wife, as she would

be sure to consider it an unlucky omen.

On reaching the Afghan camp, we were received in a

large, tastefully decorated tent, where tea was served, and

we were afterwards conducted to the top of the mountain,

where carpets were spread and more tea passed round,

while we gazed on the fine view of the Logar valley which

stretched out beneath us.

On descending to the camp, we were invited to partake of

dinner, served in Oriental fashion on a carpet spread on the

ground. Everything was done most lavishly and grace-
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fatly, and nothing was omitted that was calculated to do

us honour. Nevertheless, I could not feel happy as to the

prospects of the Mission, and my heart sank as I wished

Cavagnari good-bye. When we had proceeded a few

yards in our different directions, we both turned round,

retraced our steps, shook hands once more, and parted for

ever.

I did not delay at Kuram ; there was nothing to keep me

there, and the prospect of getting back to my belongings

and to civilization, now that all active work was at an end,

was too alluring to be withstood. My wife met me at the

foot of the Hills, and we drove up to Simla together. I

was greeted by Lord Lytton and many kind friends most

warmly, and had the gratification of hearing that I had

been made a K.C.B., and that I had been accorded the

thanks of both Houses of Parliament.

I was soon deep in the work of the Army Commission,

which met for the first time under the presidency of the

Hon. Sir Ashley Eden,* K.C.S.I., on the 1st August. The

heavy loss to the revenues of India, consequent on the

unfavourable rate of exchange, rendered extensive reduc-

tions in public expenditure imperative, and the object of

this Commission was to find out how the cost of the army

could be reduced without impairing its efficiency.

Very little was done at the first meeting, and at its close

Eden confessed to me that he did not at all see his way,

and that he was somewhat aghast at the difficulties of the

task before the Commission. To me it seemed clear that

the maintenance of a separate army for each presidency,

Bengal, Bombay, and Madras, was at the root of the evils

* Lieutenant-Governor of Bengal.
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it was our duty to consider and try to reform; and I

promised the President that, before the Commission again

assembled, I would prepare a scheme which might form a

basis for them to work upon.

I considered it an anachronism, since railways and
telegraphs had annihilated distance, to keep up three

Commanders - in - Chief , and separate departments, each
having an independent head, in the three different presi-

dencies. I put my ideas on paper, and Eden announced
himself in favour of my scheme, which substituted for the

three presidential armies four army corps, all subordinate

to the Commander-in-Chief in India. Portions of my
recommendation began to be carried into effect directly

they had received the sanction of the authorities in

England such as the amalgamation of the Commissariat,

Ordnance, and Stud departments— but it was not
until April, 1895, sixteen years after the proposal had been
recommended by the Government of India, and although,
during that period, four successive Viceroys, each backed up
by a unanimous Council, had declared themselves strongly
in favour of the change, that the finishing touch was
given to the new organization, by the abolition of the
offices of Commanders-in-Chief of Madras and Bombay, and
the creation of four Army Corps, namely, the Punjab, the
Bengal, the Madras, and the Bombay, each commanded
by a Lieutenant-General.
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CHAPTER XLIX.

My wife and I thought and talked much over our new

life on the frontier, to which we both looked forward with

great interest and pleasure, but, before entering upon

it, we settled to go home for a time to place our boy at

school and see our friends, and we were arranging our

plans accordingly, when suddenly our ‘ castles in the air
’

were dashed to the ground by a ruthless blow from the hand

of Fate, and the whole of India, the whole of the civilized

world, was struck with grief, horror, and indignation at

the awful news of the massacre at Kabul of Cavagnari and

his gallant companions.

Throughout the month of August telegrams and letters

constantly came from Cavagnari (now a Lieutenant-Colonel

and a K.C.B.) to the Viceroy, the Foreign Secretary, and

myself, in which he always expressed himself in such a

manner as to lead to the belief that he was perfectly

content with his position, and felt himself quite secure

;

and in his very last letter, dated the 80th August, re-

ceived after his death, he wrote :
* I personally believe

that Yakub Khan will turn out to be a very good ally,

and that we Bhall be able to keep him to his en-

gagements.’ His last telegram to the Viceroy, dated
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the 2nd September, concluded with the words, ‘ All well.’

Cavagnari mentioned in one of his letters that the

Afghan soldiers were inclined to be mutinous, and in

another that a dispute hnd arisen in the bazaar between

them and the men of the British escort, but at the same

time he expressed his confidence in the Amir’s ability and

determination to maintain order
; I could not, however,

help being anxious about Cavagnari, or divest myself of

the feeling that he might be over-estimating Yakub

Khan’s power, even if His Highness had the will, to

protect the Mission.

Between one and two o’clock on the morning of the 5th

September, I was awakened by my wife telling me that

a telegraph man had been wandering round the house and

calling for some time, but that no one had answered him.*

I got up, went downstairs, and, taking the telegram from

the man, brought it up to my dressing-room, and opened

it ; it proved to be from Captain Conolly, Political Officer at

Alikhel, dated the 4th September. The contents told me

that my worst fears—fears I had hardly acknowledged to

myself—had been only too fully realized. The telegram

ran:

‘ One Jcloladin Ghilzai, who says ho is in Sir Louis Cavagnari’s

secret service, has arrived in hot haste from Kabul, and solemnly

states that yesterday morning the Residency was attacked by three

regiments who had mutinied for their pay, they having gunH, and

being joined by a portion of six other regiments. The Embassy and

escort were defending themselves when he left about noon yesterday.

I hope to receive further news.’

I was paralyzed for the moment, but was roused by my
wife calling out, * What is it ? Is it bad news from Kabul ?

* There are no such things as bells or knockers in India.
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She had divined my fears about Cavagnari, and had been

as anxious about him as I had been myself. I replied,

‘Yes, very bad, if true. I hope it is not.’ But I felt it

was. I woke my A.D.C., and sent him off at once to

the Viceroy with the telegram. The evil tidings spread

rapidly. I was no sooner dressed than Mr. Alfred Lyall

arrived. We talked matters over, I despatched a tele-

gram* to Captain Conolly, and we then went off to Lord

Lytton.

Early as it was, I found the Council assembled. The

gravity of the situation was thoroughly appreciated, and

it was unanimously decided that, should the disastrous

report prove to be true, troopfl must proceed to Kabul with

the least possible delay to avenge or, if happily incorrect

or exaggerated, to support the Mission.

Sir Samuel Browne’s force had been broken up, Sir

Donald Stewart was in far-off Kandahar, and his troops

had, all but a small number, left on their return march to

India
; the Kuram force was, therefore, the only one in a

position to reach Kabul quickly, and I was ordered to

proceed at once to Kuram and resume my command.

As a preliminary measure, Brigadier-General Massy,

who had been placed in temporary command during my
absence, was directed to move troops to the Shutargardan,

where they were to entrench themselves and await orders,

* ‘ Lose no time and spare no money to obtain reliable information

of what is going on in Kabul, and keep me constantly informed by

urgent telegrams. I am in hopes that Jelaladin's report will turn out

to be greatly exaggerated, if not untrue. As, however, his intelligence

is sore to spread and cause a certain amount of excitement, warn

General Massy and Mr. Christie (the Political Officer in Kuram) to be

on the alert.’
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while Stewart was directed to stop all regiments on their

way back to India, and himself hold fast at Kandahar.

During the day further telegrams were received confirm-

ing the truth of the first report, and telling of the Mission

having been overwhelmed and every member of it cruelly

massacred ; and later Captain Conolly telegraphed that

messengers had arrived from the Amir bringing two letters

addressed to me giving his version of what had occurred.

During the few hours I remained at Simla I was busily

engaged in discussing with Sir Frederick Haines the

formation of the Kabul Field Force,* as my new command

was designated, and the many important matters which

* The Kabul Field Force was composed as follows :

Artillery.

Lieutenant-Colonel B. L. Gordon, commanding.
Captain J. \V. Inge, Adjutant.

F/A, Royal Horse Artillery, Major J. C. Smyth-Windham.
G/3, Royal Artillery, Major Sydney Parry.

No. 1 (Koliat) Mountain Battery (four guns), Captain Morgan.
No. 2 (Derajat) Mountain Battery (four guns), Captain Swinlcy.

Two Gatling guns, Captain Broadfoot.

Engineers.

Lieutenant-Colonel A*1. Perkins, C.B., commanding.
Lieutenant F. Spratt, Adjutant.

Captain Woodthorpe, R.E., in charge of surveying.

Captain Stratton, 22nd Regiment, in charge of signalling.

Lieutenant F. Burn-Murdoch, R.E., Royal Engineer Park.

Cavalry.

Brigadier-General W. D. Massy, commanding.
Lieutenant J. P. Brabazon, 10th Hussars, Brigade-Major.
9th Lancers, Lieutenant-Colonel R. S. Cleland.
5th Punjab Cavalry, Major B. Williams.
12th Bengal Cavalry, Major Green.
14th Bengal Lancers, Lieutenant-Colonel Ross.
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had to be considered. More troops had to be hurried up,

for it would be necessary to hold Kuram in strength while

I moved on to Kabul, and, as communication by the

Shutargardan could not be depended upon after December,

on account of snow, the Khyber route would have to be

opened out.

At the commencement of the last year’s campaign my
anxiety had been so largely increased by having been

given officers totally inexperienced in war to fill the higher

posts in the Kuram column, that I did not hesitate to press

upon the Commander-in-Chief, now that I had a far more

difficult operation to carry through, the importance of my
senior officers being tried men on whom I could implicitly

rely
; and I succeeded in getting for the command of my

two Infantry brigades Herbert Macpherson* and T. D.

Baker,t the Viceroy’s Military Secretary, both of whom had

1st Infantry Brigade.

Brigadier-General H. Macpherson, C.B., V.C., commanding.

Captain G. de C. Morton, 6th Foot, Brigade-Major.

67th Foot, Lieutenant-Colonel C. B. Knowles.

92nd Highlanders, Lieutenant-Colonel G. H. Parker.

28th Punjab Infant^, Lieutenant-Colonel J. Hudson.

2nd Infantry Brigade.

Brigadier-General T. I). Baker, C.B., 18th Foot, commanding.

Captain W. C. Farwell, 20th Punjab Infantry, Brigade- Major.

72nd Highlanders, Lieutenant-Colonel Brownlow.

5th Gurkhas, Lieutenant-Colonel Fitz-Hugh.

5th Punjab Infantry, Lieutenant-Colonel J. Macqueen.

3rd Sikhs, Lieutenant-Colonel G. N. Money.

28rd Pioneers, Lieutenant-Colonel Currie.

.* The late Lieutenant-General Sir Herbert Macpherson, V.C., K.C.B.,

who died as Commander-in-Chief of Madras.

t The late Sir Thomas Baker, K.C.B., who died as Quartermaster-

General at the Horse Guards.
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seen a good deal of service, while the former had already

commanded a brigade in the field.

To the command of the Artillery and Cavalry, Lieutenant-

Colonel B. Gordon and Brigadier-General Massy were ap-

pointed, neither of whom had much experience of war.

Gordon had served in Central India during the Mutiny,

and Massy by his pluck as a subaltern of Infantry in the

Crimea had gained for himself the sobriquet of * Redan
’

Massy. But he had not served with Cavalry in the field,

and from my slight acquaintance with him I could not say

whether he possessed the very exceptional qualities required

in a Cavalry Commander.

My staff had proved themselves so capable and reliable

that I had no wish to make any change ; it was, however,

materially strengthened by the addition of Colonel

Macgregor,* as ‘Chief of the Staff,’ with Captain Combe,

t

10th Hussars, and Lieutenant Manners Smithy as Deputy-

Assistant Quartermaster-Generals.

Mr. H. M. Durand § was attached to me as Political

Secretary, and Major Hastings as Political Officer, in place

of Colonel Waterfield, who was hors de combat from a broken

leg. Hugh Gough, with the rank of Brigadier-General,

and Major Mark Heathcote as his assistant, were placed in

charge of the lineB of communication.

Before leaving Simla I paid a farewell visit to Lord

Lytton. I found him in a state of deep distress and

* The late Sir Charles MacGregor, K.C.B.

t Now Major-General Combe, C.B.

t This promising young officer greatly distinguished himself at

Kabul, and died a few years afterwards of cholera.

§ Now Sir Mortimer Durand, K.C.S.I., K.C.I.E., British Minister

at Teheran.
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depression. To a man of his affectionate disposition, the

fate of Cavagnari, for whom he had a great personal regard,

was a real grief. But on public grounds he felt still more

strongly the collapse of the Mission and the consequent

heavy blow to the policy he had so much at heart, viz.,

the rectification of our defective frontier, and the render-

ing India secure against foreign aggression— a policy

which, though scouted at the time by a party which later

became all-powerful, has since been justified by the action

of successive Governments, Liberal and Conservative alike,

until at the present moment our frontier is gradually

becoming what Lord Lytton, with his clear foresightedness

and intelligent appreciation of our responsibilities and

India’s requirements, would then have made it.

In answer to my request for instructions as to the line I

should take about our future relations with the Afghans,

Lord Lytton said :
‘ You can tell them we shall never again

altogether withdraw from Afghanistan, and that those who

help you will be befriended and protected by the British

Government.’

While I was with Lord Lytton, a telegram* was brought

* Telegram dated 6th September, 1879.

From To
Captain Conolly, Foreign Secretary,

Alikhel. Simla.

‘Clear the Line.—Sirkai Khan, bearer of the Amir’s first letter,

confirms previous reports of disaster, and describes how Badshah

Khan visited the Bpot, and saw the dead bodies of the Envoy, staff,

and escort. Of the latter, some nine sowars are said to have been out

getting grass that day, and were not killed with the rest ; defence was

very stubborn, and loss of the Kabulis heavy, put down at one hundred,

or more. Finding they could not storm the place, the mutineers set

fire to the doorway below, and, when that gave way, swarmed in



188 FORTY-ONE YEARS. IN INDIA [1879

in from Captain Conolly, reporting the details of the attack

upon the Embassy, as given to him by the messenger who

had been entrusted by the Amir to deliver the two letters

addressed to me. In this telegram Conolly solicited in-

structions as to what he was to communicate to the Amir

in reply to His Highness’s request for aid, and inquired

whether he was at liberty to make terms with one

Badshah Khan, an influential Ghilzai Chief, who had come

to Alikhel to offer his services.

The following telegram was sent in reply by the Foreign

Secretary :

‘ Your telegram 6th. Reply to the Amir at once from the Viceroy that

a strong British force under General Roberts will march speedily on

Kabul to his relief, from the Shutargardan, and that he should use all

his resources to co-operate with, and facilitate, the advance of the

troops through his country. Your proposal to subsidize Badshah
Khan and accept his services is approved. Roberts will send detailed

instructions.'

Late in the afternoon of the same day (September 6th) I

left Simla, accompanied by my wife as far as Umballa, where

and up to the upper story, overwhelmed the defenders, and sacked the

place.

‘ The second letter was brought by another messenger, servant of the

Embassy Mekmandar
, whose story in all but a few unimportant details

is the same as that first received.

‘ If an advance on Kabul is decided on to revenge massacre of

Embassy, and also to quiet surrounding trib is, whom any (?) action

would tempt to break out, it appears to me all-important to secure safe

passage of the Shutargardan, and with this object to subsidize Badshah
Khan handsomely.

‘ I have detained the Kabul messengers pending receipt of instructions

as to the line of policy to follow, and what to communicate to the Amir
or Badshah Khan. The former invokes our aid ; the latter expresses

himself, through his messenger, anxious to serve us. Once in Logar

valley, where they have had a bumper harvest, we could live on the

country.’
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I found my staff waiting for me. She saw us off in the

train, bidding us a cheery good-bye and good luck, but Iam
afraid the return journey must have been a sad one for her.

Thought for the immediate future filled my mind as we

sped on our way to the front, and not a few difficulties

connected with the proposed advance on Kabul presented

themselves to me. My chief causes for anxiety were the

insufficiency of transport, and the great extent of the lines

of communication which would have to be guarded. It

would be necessary to hold the country in strength from

Thai to the Shutargardan, a distance of 115 miles, until

such time as the Khyber route could be opened, and I

felt that the force at my disposal (7,500 men and 22 guns)

was none too large for the work before it, considering that

I should have to provide a garrison for the Shutargardan,

if not for other posts between that place and Kabul.

My Commissariat arrangements, too, caused me many

misgivings, increased by the fact that Major Badcock, my
chief Commissariat Officer, and Major Collett, my Assistant

Quartermaster-General, who had afforded such valuable aid

in Kuram, thinking the war was at an end, had taken leave

to England. My doubts vanished, however, and my spirits

rose at the sight of my brave troops, and the enthusiastic

welcome they gave me as I rode through Kuram on the

12th September on my way to Alikhel. A splendid spirit

pervaded the whole force; the men’s hearts were on fire

with eager desire to press on to Kabul, and be led against

the miscreants who had foully massacred our countrymen,

and I felt assured that whatever it was possible for daunt-

less courage, unselfish devotion, and firm determination

to achieve, would be achieved by my gallant soldiers.
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On reaching Alikhel, Captain Conolly handed to me the

Amir’s letters,* to which I replied at once, and the next

day, under instructions from the Government of India,

I wrote to His Highness that, in conformity with his own

* Translation of a Letter from thk Amir of Kabul to General

Roberts, dated Kabul, 8 a.m., the Srd September, 1879.

(After compliments.) The troops who had assembled for pay at the

Bala Hissar suddenly broke out and stoned their officers, and then all

rushed to the Residency and stoned it, receiving in return a hail of

bullets. Confusion and disturbance reached such a height that it was

impossible to quiet it. People from Sherpur and country around the

Bala Hissar, and city people of all classes, poured into the Bala Hissar

and began destroying workshops, Artillery park, and magazine ; and

all the troops and people attacked the Residency. Meanwhile, I sent

Daud Shah 1 to help the Envoy. On reaching the Residency, he was

unhorsed by stones and spears, and is now dying. I then sent Sirdar

Tahia Khan and my own son, the heir-apparent, with the Koran to the

troops; but no use. 1 then sent well-known Syads and Mullahs of

each class, but of no avail ; up till now, evening, the disturbance con-

tinues. It will be seen how it ends. I am grieved with this confusing

state of things. It is almost beyond conception. (Here follow the

date and the Amir's seal.)

Second Letter from the Amir, dated Kabul, the 4th
September, 1879.

Yesterday, from 8 a.m. till evening, thousands assembled to destroy

the Embassy. There has been much loss of life on both sides. At

evening they set fire to the Residency. All yesterday and up till now,

I with five attendants have been besieged. I have no certain news of

the Envoy, whether he and his people have been killed in their

quarters, or been seized and brought out. Afghanistan is ruined ;
the

troops, city, and surrounding country have thrown off their yoke of

allegiance. Daud Shah is not expected to recover ; all his attendants

were killed. The workshops and magazine are totally gutted—in fact,

my kingdom is ruined. After God, I look to the Government for aid

and advice. My true friendship and honesty of purpose will be proved

as dear as daylight. By this misfortune I have lost my friend, the

Envoy, and also my kingdom. I am terribly grieved and perplexed.

(Here follow the date and the Amir’s seal.)

1 The Commander-in-Chief of the Afghan army.
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special request that an English officer should be deputed as

Envoy to his court, and on condition that he would himself

be responsible for the protection and honourable treatment

of such an Envoy, Major Cavagnari and three British officers

had been allowed to go to Kabul, all of whom within six

weeks had been ruthlessly murdered by his troops and

subjects ; that his inability to carry out the treaty engage-

ments, and his powerlessness to establish his authority,

even in his own capital, having thus become apparent,

an English army would now advance on Kabul with the

double object of consolidating his Government, should he

himself loyally do his best to fulfil the terms of the treaty,

and of exacting retribution from the murderers of the British

Mission. But that, although HiB Highness laid great stress

in his letter of the 4th September on the sincerity of his

friendship, my Government had been informed that emis-

saries had been despatched from Kabul to rouse the

country people and tribes against us, and as this action

appeared inconsistent with friendly intentions, I considered

it necessary for His Highness to send a confidential re-

presentative to confer with me and explain his object.

I had little doubt as to the truth of the report that the

Amir was using every effort to incite the Ghilzais and

other tribes to oppose us, and I was confirmed in my
conviction by a Native gentleman, Nawab Ghulam Hussein

Khan,* at one time our agent at Kabul, who told me that,

although he did not believe that Yakub Khan had actually

planned the massacre of the Embassy, he had certainly

taken no steps to prevent it, and that he, Ghulam Hussein

* The Nawab was on hie way from Kandahar to Kabul, but on

hearing of the massacre he came to Alikhel.
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Khan, was convinced that the Amir was now playing us

false. It was, therefore, a relief to find awaiting me at

Alikhel several of the leading men from the neighbouring

districts, to whom I had telegraphed, before leaving Simla,

asking them to meet me.

These men were profuse in their proffers of assistance,

and, although I did not place a great deal of faith in

their promises, I came to the conclusion that, notwith-

standing Yakub Khan’s treacherous efforts to stir up the

tribes, if I could only push on rapidly with a foirly

strong force, I need not anticipate any opposition that I

could not overcome. Everything depended on speed, but

rapidity of movement depended on the condition of the

transport service, and my inspection of the animals, as I

passed through Kuram, was not calculated to raise hopes

of being able to make a very quick advance ; for, owing to

continuous hard work and the want of a staff of trained

transport attendants, the numbers of animals had Bteadily

diminished, and those that remained were for the most part

*
sickly and out of condition.

On the 16th of September I issued a Proclamation,*

* Translation of a Proclamation issued by Major-General

Sir Frederick Roberts.

Alikhel, 16th September, 1879.

Be it known to all thg Chiefs and the people of the country of Kabul

and its dependencies that, in accordance with the Treaty concluded in

May, 1879, corresponding to Jamdi-ul-Akhir 1290 Hijri, between the

two great Governments, and to the terms of which His Highness the

Amir expressed his assent, and agreed to the location of an Envoy of

Jler Imperial Majesty the Empress, a British Envoy waB, at the special

request of His Highness the Amir, located at the Kabul Court, and the

Amir guaranteed that he should be treated honourably and protected.

Within six weeks after the said Envoy was received at and entered

Kabul the whole Embassy was besieged and massacred in the very



1879] PROCLAMATION TO THE PEOPLE OF KABUL 193

copies of which I caused to be sent to the people of Kabul,

Ghazni, and all the neighbouring tribes ; this, I hoped,

would facilitate our advance, and reassure those who had

taken no part in the attack on the Residency, I also

wrote a letter* to the maliks of the Logar valley, whose

territory we must enter directly we had crossed the

citadel of His Highness the Amir, who could not save or protect them
from the hands of the soldiers and the people. From this, the lack of

power of the Amir and the weakness of his authority in his capital

itself arc 'piite apparent and manifest. For this reason the British

troops are advancing for the purpose of taking a public vengeance
on behalf of the deceased as well as of obtaining satisfaction (Zi£., con-

solidation) of the terms entered into in the Treaty concluded. The
British troops are entering Afghanistan for the purpose of strengthen-

ing the royal authority of His Highness the Amir on condition that

His Highness loyally uses those powers for the maintenance of friend-

ship and of amicable relations with the British Government. This is

the only course by which the Amir’s kingdom can remain intact, and
(by which) also the friendly sentiments and sincerity expressed in his

letter of the 4th September, 1879, after the occurrence of the (said)

event can be proved.

For the purpose of removing any doubt about the concord of the two
Governments, the Amir has been addressed to depute a confidential

agent to my camp. The British force will not punish or injure anyone
^

excopt the persons who have taken part or joined in the massacre of

the Embassy unless they offer opposition. All the rest, the small and
great, who are unconcerned (therein) may rest assured of this» Carriage

and supplies of every description should bo brought into the British

camp. Full price and hire shall be paid for everything that may be

taken. Whereas mercy and humanity are the characteristics of this

great Government, this proclamation is issued beforehand for the in-

formation of the people at large.

* Translation of a Letter from Major-General Sir Frederick

Roberts to certain maliks of the Logar Valley.

From the Proclamation already issued by me, you will have learnt

the reasons for the march of the British troops to Kabul. Her Majesty’s

Government, by the movement of troops, intends to exact retribution

for the massacre of her Embassy and to aid His Highness the Amir in

^storing order.

VOL. II. 45
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Shutargardan, and whose co-operation I was most anxious

to obtain. On the 18th I again wrote* to the Amir,

enclosing copies of these two documents, and informing

him that 1 was still awaiting a reply to my first letter

and the arrival of His Highness’s confidential representa-

tive ; that I hoped he would soon issue the necessary orders

for the furtherance of our plans, and that he might rest

assured of the support of the British Government.

On the lyth September matters had so far progressed

that I was able to tell the Viceroy that Brigadier-General

Baker was entrenched with his brigade on the Shutar-

gardan, and engaged in improving the road to Kushi, the

first halting-place in the Logar valley ; that supplies were

being collected by means of local transport ; that I was

bringing up reserve ammunition and treasure from the

rear on Artillery waggons ; and that every possible effort

was being made to render the force mobile.

On the 20th I received the Amir’s reply. He expressed

regret that he was unable to come to Alikhel himself, but

intimated that he was sending two confidential agents, his

Mustaufi (Finance Minister), Habibulla Khan, and his

Let all those not concerned in the massacre rest assured, provided no

opposition is shown.

His Highness the Amir, in communications received by me, expresses

his friendship, and wishes to continue amicable relations. As the

British troops under my command will shortly enter the Logar valley,

I write to reassure you, and expect that you will inform all the residents

of the valley not concerned in the late hateful massacre the purport of

the Proclamation, and give every assistance in providing carriage and

supplies required for the troops, for which adequate hire and payment
will be made. I hope that after the above assurance all the headmen
will come to meet me in my camp, where I shall be glad to see them.
* This letter is given in full in the Appendix.
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Wazir (Prime Minister), Shah Mahomed Khan, who accord-

ingly arrived the next day.

At each interview I had with these gentlemen during

the three days they remained in my camp, they impressed

upon me that the Amir was inclined to be most friendly,

and that his only wish was to be guided by the advice

of the British Government. But, notwithstanding these

plausible assurances, I soon discovered that Yakub Khan’s

real object in sending these wo high officials was to

stop the advance of the force, and induce me to leave the

punishment of the troops who had committed the massacre

in the hands of the Afghan authorities, or else to delay us

long enough to give time for the whole country to rise

against us.

As the conversations which were carried on at the

meetings with the Afghan agents are interesting, and have

an important bearing on the subsequent proceedings, I

give in the Appendix the notes taken at the time by my
Political Secretary.

I was anxious to keep one of the Amir’s representatives

with me, but neither of them was willing to remain, so I

felt bound to let them both depart, taking with them the

following letter to the Amir

:

To His Highness the Amir of Kabul.

Camp
,
Alikhel

,
25th September, 1879.

(After compliments.) I have received Your Highness's two letters of

the 19th and 20th September (1st and 2nd Shawal), delivered to me
by the hands of Your Highness’s two confidential representatives,

Mustaufi Habibulla Khan and Wazir Shah Mahomed.
I am much obliged to Your Highness for sending me two such well-

known men, and of such character as the Mustaufi and the Wazir.

They have informed me of Your Highness’s wishes, and I quite under-

stand all they have told me. It is unfortunate that the season is so
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late, and that winter will soon be here ; but there is yet time for a

British army to reach Kabul before the great cold sets in.

The Viceroy of India is much concerned that there should have been

any delay in promptly acceding to your Highness’s request for advice

and assistance, as conveyed in Your Highness's letters of the 3rd and

4th instant. It was His Excellency’s earnest wish that troops should

march on Kabul at once, so as to ensure Your Highness's personal

safety and aid Your Highness in restoring peace and order at your

capital.

Unfortunately, the want of transport, and the necessity for collecting

a certain amount of supplies, have caused a few weeks* delay ; it is,

however, a source of gratification and happiness to the Viceroy to learn

that Your Highness’s safety is not at present endangered, and His

Excellency trusts Your Highness will be able to keep everything quiet

in your kingdom, until such time as British troops may reach Kabul.

I am glad to be able to inform Your Highness that news reached me
yesterday of the departure of a considerable force from Kandahar
under the command of u brave and distinguished officer, and that a

large body of troops, under command of General Bright, were ad-

vancing rapidly from Peshawar to Jalalabad and onwards via Ganda-
mak to Kabul. My own force will, I hope, be in a state to march
before long. As Your Highness is aware, the Shutargardan has been

occupied for some days. Meanwhile regiments of Cavalry and Infantry

and batteries of Artillery have reached Kuram to replace those I am
taking on with me, and to reinforce my own column should a necessity

for more troops arise—a contingency 1 do not in the least expect.

The Viceroy of India, in His Excellency’s anxiety for Your High-
ness’s welfare and safety, issued orders that each of the three armies,

now advancing from Kandahar, Kuram and the Khyber, should bo

strong enough to overcome any opposition Your Highness’s enemies

could possibly offer. That each is strong enough there can be no doubt.

I understand that there is no one at Kelat-i-Ghilzai or Ghazni to

stop the progress of the troops en route from Kandahar. There is no

reason, therefore, why they should not reach Kabul in a very short time.

The Khyber tribes, having understood and appreciated the Treaty of

peace made by Your Highness with the British Government in May
last, have unanimously agreed to assist the troops from Peshawar in

every way, and are now eager to keep the road through the Khyber
safe, and to place all their transport animals at the disposal of the

British Commander, who will thus be enabled to concentrate his force

rapidly at Kabul. Through the kindness of Your Highness I have ex-

perienced much less difficulty than I could have expected, and I may
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now reasonably hope to be with Your Highness at least as soon as

either the Kandahar or Khyber column.

I look forward with great pleasure to the meeting with Your High-

ness, and trust that you will continue your kind assistance to obtain

for me supplies and transport.

I have carefully considered Your Highness’s proposal that you your-

self should be permitted to administer just punishment to the mutinous

troops and others who shared in the treacherous and cruel attack on

the British Envoy and his small escort, and thus save Her Majesty’s

troops the trouble, hardship, and privation which must necessarily be

encountered by an advance on Kabul at this season of the year. I

thank Your Highness most cordially, on the part of the Viceroy and

Government of India, for this further proof of Your Highness’s friendly

feelings. Under ordinary circumstances such an offer would be grate-

fully and willingly accepted, but after what has recently occurred, I

feel sure that the great British nation would not rest satisfied unless a

British army marched to Kabul and there assisted Your Highness to

inflict such punishments as so terrible and dastardly an act deserves.

I have forwarded Your Highness’s letters in original to the Viceroy

;

a copy of this, my reply, will be submitted by to-day’s post for His

Excellency’s consideration. Meanwhile I have permitted Mustaufi

Habibulla Khan and Wazir Shah Mahomed to take their leave and

rejoin Your Highness.

I delayed my own departure from Alikhel until a

sufficiency of supplies had been collected at Kushi, and

everything was ready for as rapid an advance on Kabul as

my limited transport would admit of ;
for, so long as I

remained behind, the people of Afghanistan could not be

sure of my intentions, and no doubt hoped that the Amir's

remonstrances would have the desired effect, and prevent

our doing more than occupying the Shutargardan, or

making a demonstration toward Kushi. My crossing the

pass would, I knew, be the signal for all those determined

on opposition to assemble ;
it was politic, therefore, to

remain behind until the last moment.

When all arrangements were complete, so far as was
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possible with the means at my disposal, I issued the

following Field Force Order

:

• The Government of India having decided that a force shall proceed

with all possible despatch to Kabul, in response to His Highness the

Amir's appeal for aid, and with the object of avenging the dastardly

murder of the British representative and his escort, Sir Frederick

Roberts feels sure that the troops under his command will respond to

the call with a determination to prove themselves worthy of the high

reputation they have maintained during the recent campaign.
‘ The Major-General need address no words of exhortation to soldiers

whose courage and fortitude have been so well proved. The Afghan

tribes are numerous, but without organization ; the regular army is un-

disciplined, and whatever may be the disparity in numbers, such foes

can never be formidable to British troops. The dictates of humanity

require that a distinction should be made between the peaceable in-

habitants of Afghanistan and the treacherous murderers for whom a

just retribution is in store, and Sir Frederick Roberts desires to impress

upon all ranks the necessity for treating the unoffending population

with justice, forbearance, and clemency.
‘ The future comfort and well-being of the force depend largely on

the friendliness of our relations with the districts from which supplies

must be drawn
; prompt payment is enjoined for all articles purchased

by departments and individuals, and all disputes must be at once

referred to a political officer for decision.

‘ The Major-General confidently looks forward to the successful

accomplishment of the object of the expedition, and the establishment

of order and a settled Government in Afghanistan.’
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CHAPTER L.

On the 27th September I made over the Kuram command

to Brigadier-General T. Gordon, and set out for Kushi,

where Baker was now encamped.

Just before I started I had the pleasure of welcoming

my old friend and brother officer, Major-General J.

Hills, V.C., C.B., who had been with Sir Donald Stewart

as Assistant Adjutant-General from the beginning of the

campaign, and who had, the moment he heard there was

to be an advance on Kabul, come with all speed to place

his services at my disposal. Although I had no employ-

ment for Hills at the time, there would be plenty for all to

do at Kabul, and I waB delighted to have so good a Boldier

with me.

My escort consisted of the Head-Quarters of the Cavalry

brigade, one squadron 9th Lancers, 5th Punjab Cavalry,

and detachments of the oth and 28th Punjab Infantry.

We had only gone about halfway through the pass when

I pushed on with the Cavalry, in the hope of reaching

the camp on the top before dark, and was very soon met

by twenty-five men of the 92nd Highlanders, who brought

me a note from Colonel Perkins, R.E., in command on

the Shutargardan, warning me that we were sure to



200 FORTY-ONE YEARS IN INDIA
*

[1879

be attacked. We had not proceeded far, when at the

narrowest part of the defile we found the passage blocked

by some 2,000 Afghans, and as we approached a volley was

fired from a party concealed by some rocks on our left.

I was told afterwards that it was intended for me, but

I remained unscathed, and the principal medical officer, Dr.

Townsend, who was riding on my right, and to whom I was

talking at the moment, was severely wounded. The High-

landers, supported by some dismounted Cavalry, cleared

away the enemy to the north, but as they clung to the

precipitous hills on the south, we had to wait till the

main body of the escort came up, when they were speedily

dispersed.

Meanwhile, a sharp little engagement had taken place

further up the gorge, and as we advanced we could see the

enemy retiring before a detachment of the 92nd High-

landers, under Colour- Sergeant Hector Macdonald, and of

the 3rd Sikhs, under Jemadar Sher Mahomed, a Native of

Kabul. The manner in which the Colour-Sergeant and the

Native officer handled their men gave me a high opinion of

them both.*

On the top of the Shutargardan Pass that evening I

received the Amir’s reply t to my last letter, in which he

* Macdonald, having subsequently further distinguished himself,

was given a commission, and is now commanding a regiment in the

Egyptian Army. Sher Mahomed was rewarded with the Order of

Merit.

f From the Amir op Kabul, dated Kushi, 27th September,

1879.

(After compliments.) Your friendly letter has reached me just at this

moment, 8 p.m., the 10th Shawal (27th September), and opened
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expressed his gratitude for the sympathy and support

afforded him by the British Government, and informed me
that he had given orders to the Governor of Jalalabad that

the Khyber column should not meet with any opposition.

I was also given a letter from Sirdar Wali Mahomed Khan,

and several other Sirdars, professing loyalty to the British

Government, and expressing pleasure at my approach.

And at the same time the rather embarrassing information

reached me that the Amir, desiring personal communication

with me, had already arrived in General Baker’s camp

at Kushi, attended by his son Musa Khan, a lad about

Beven years old, his father-in-law, and the Commander-in-

Chief of the Afghan army (Daud Shah), with a suite of

45 members and an escort of 200 men.

the doors of joy and happiness on the face of my heart marked with

affection. I feel perfectly certain and confident that the movements
of Her Imperial Majesty’s victorious troops are merely for the pur-

pose of consolidating the foundation of my kingdom and strengthening

the basis of my government.

In truth, the sympathy of friends with friends is fitting and proper,

and the indulgence and kindness of a great Government to a sincere

and faithful friend are agreeable and pleasing. I am exceedingly grati-

fied with, and thankful to, the representatives of the illustrious British

Government for their expression of sympathy and their support of my
cause. Your friendly and wise suggestion that none of the ignorant

tribes of Afghanistan should oppose the British troops, so that the

officers of the British Government should be the better able to support

and protect me, is very acceptable and reasonable. Before I received

your letter, I had Bent orders repeatedly to the Governors of Jalalabad

and Lalpurn not to let anyone oppose or resist the British troops, and

stringent orders have again been issued to the Governor of Jalalabad

to use his utmost endeavours and efforts in this respect. The order in

question to the address of the Governor of Jalalabad will bo shown you
to morrow, and sent by an express courier.
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Although I had met with but slight opposition hitherto,

it was evident from the secret information I received that

the Ghilzais were inclined to be hostile, and intended to

oppose us, and as it was important to keep open com-

munication with Alikhel through their country, I arranged

for the Shutargardan to be held by a Mountain battery,

the 3rd Sikhs, and the 21st Punjab Infantry, under

the command of Lieutenant-Colonel G. N. Money, an

officer on whose judgment and coolness I knew I could

rely.

The next morning I rode to Kushi, where my first inter-

view with the Amir of Afghanistan took place.

I cannot say that I was favourably impressed by hiB

appearance. He was an insignificant-looking man, about

thirty-two years of age, with a receding forehead, a conical-

shaped head, and no chin to speak of, and he gave me the

idea of being entirely wanting in that force of character

without which no one could hope to govern or hold in

check the warlike and turbulent people of Afghanistan.

He was possessed, moreover, of a very shifty eye, he could

not look one straight in the face, and from the first I felt

that his appearance tallied exactly with the double-dealing

that had been imputed to him. His presence in my camp

was a source of the gravest anxiety to me. He was

constantly receiving and sending messages, and was no

doubt giving his friends at Kabul all the information he

could collect as to our resources and intentions. Ho

had, however, come ostensibly as our ally, seeking refuge

from his mutinous soldiers, and whatever suspicions I

might secretly entertain, I could only treat him as an
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honoured guest, so long as there was nothing proved

against him.

My first visit to Yakub Khan was of a formal character.

Nevertheless, he seized the opportunity to urge strongly

upon me the advisability of delaying my advance, that he

might have time, he said, to restore order amongst his

troops, and to punish those who had participated in the

attack on the Embassy. I replied that my orders were

peremptory, and that it was my duty, as it was my de-

termination, to press on to Kabul with all possible speed.

Finding that his arguments had no effect, he changed his

tactics, and declared that he was much alarmed for the

safety of his family, whom he had left in the Bala Hissar ;

that he had only one regiment on which he could de-

pend; that he feared when the others should hear of

our approach they would break out and attack the

citadel
; and that the innocent people in Kabul, not con-

sidering it possible that a British force could get there

so quickly, had made no arrangements to convey their

families away.

Feeling that anxiety for the safety of the families was

not the true cause for the Amir’s efforts to delay us, and

that his sole object was to gain time for the development of

plans for opposing our advance—which subsequent events

proved had been made with great care— I told him it

was impossible to accede to his wishes, but that time would

be given for all women and children to clear out of the city

if it should prove necessary to attack it. This necessity,

however, I was most anxious to avoid, and earnestly hoped

that our fighting would be over before we entered Kabul,
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for I had not forgotten Delhi, and I dreaded the idea of

the troops having to force their way through narrow streets

and crowded bazaars.

Yakub Khan was evidently much chagrined at my

decision. He had left Kabul hurriedly, his movements

probably being hastened by hearing that his uncle, Wali

Mahomed Khan, and several other Sirdars with whom he

was at enmity, were on their way to join me. He had not

even brought a tent with him, and, had he succeeded in

inducing me to delay our advance, he would without doubt

have returned to Kabul at once. As it was, he was accom-

modated with a tent in the centre of the camp, and the

best arrangements possible, under the circumstances, made

for his entertainment.

When his own tents arrived, he asked leave to have them

pitched outside camp limits. To this I consented, at the

same time ordering that a guard of the same strength as

my own should be detailed as his escort, ostensibly to do

him honour, but in reality that I might be kept informed

as to his movements. Unwelcome guest as he was, I

thought the least of two evils was to keep him now that

we had got him, as his presence in Kabul would be sure

to increase the opposition I felt certain we should en-

counter.

In response to the fears expressed by the Amir as to

the safety of the non-combatants, I issued the following

Proclamation to the people of Kabul

:

* Bo it known to all that the British Army is advancing on Kabul to

take possession of the city. If it be allowed to do so peacefully, well

and good ; if not, the city will be seized by force. Therefore, all well-
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disposed persons, who have taken no part in the dastardly murder of

the British Envoy, or in the plunder of the Besidency, are warned that,

if they ore unable to prevent resistance being offered to the entrance of

the British army, and the authority of His Highness the Amir, they

should make immediate arrangements for their own safety, either by
coming to the British camp, or by such other measures as may seem

fit to them. And as the British Government does not moke war on

women and children, warning is given that all women and children

should be removed from the city beyond the reach of harm. The
British Government desires to treat all classes with justice, and to

respect their religion, feelings, and customs, while exacting full retri-

bution from offenders. Every effort will, therefore, be made to prevent

the innocent suffering with the guilty, but it is necessary that the utmost

precaution should be taken against useless opposition.
1 After receipt of this Proclamation, therefore, all persons found armed

in or about Kabul will be treated as enemies of the British Government

;

and, further, it must be distinctly understood that, if the entry of tho

British force is resisted, I cannot hold myself responsible for any acci-

dental injury which may be done to the persons or property of even

well-disposed people, who may have neglected this warning.’

At the same time, the matter having been brought to

my notice by Lord Lytton, and bearing in my mind that

my father had told me one of the chief causes of the

outbreak in Kabul in 1841 was the Afghans* jealousy of

their women, and resentment at the European soldiers*

intimacy with them, I thought it well to impress upon all

the necessity for caution in this respect by publishing the

following Order

:

4
Sir Frederick Boberts desires General officers, and officers com-

manding corps, to impress upon all officers under their command the

necessity for constant vigilance in proventing irregularities likely to

&rouBe the personal jealousies of tho people of Kabul, who are, of all

ntces, most susceptible as regards their women.
4 The deep-seated animosity of the Afghans towards the English has

been mainly ascribed to indiscretions committed during the first occu-

pation of Kabul, and the Major-General trusts that the samo excellent

discipline so long exhibited by tho troops under his command will
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remove tlic prejudices of past years, and cause the British name to be

as highly respected in Afghanistan as it is throughout the civilized

world.’*

On the 30th September (my forty-seventh birthday), all

arrangements which it was possible for me to make having

been completed, the Cavalry brigade marched eight miles to

Zargunshahr, the first halting-place on the way to Kabul.

I accompanied it, for I was informed that Wali Mahomed

Khan and the Sirdars had arrived so far, and I could not

let them come on to my camp so long as the Amir was still

in it. I wished, also, to interview the Logar rnaliks and

ascertain whether I could procure supplies from their

valley. There was bread-stuff with the force sufficient for

fourteen days, but for the transport of so much grain a

large number of animals was required, which could ill be

spared, for carriage was so short that I could only move a

little more than half the troops at one time, and instead

of being able to march direct on Kabul with 6,000 men, a

halt would have to be made every other day to admit of

the animals going back to bring up the rear brigade, which

practically meant my only having at my disposal rather

more than half that number at any one time. How

fervently I wished that those in authority, who never can

see the necessity for maintaining transport in time of

peace, could be made to realize the result of their short-

sightedness—the danger of having to divide a none too

* It was a matter of intense gratification to mo that the whole time

wo remained in Afghanistan, nearly two years, not a single complaint

was made by an Afghan of any soldier in my force having interfered

with the women of the country.
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large force in an enemy’s country, the consequent risk

of failure, the enormous increase of anxiety to the Com-

mander, the delay in achieving the object of the cam-

paign, and the additional labour to all concerned in an

undertaking, arduous enough under the most favourable

circumstances, in a difficult country, and under a burning

eastern sun, even if possessed of good and sufficient trans-

port.

Stores had been collected at Kushi partly by means of

local carriage, and partly by our own animals doing the

journey twice over from Alikhel, a distance of thirty-six

miles. So hard pressed was I for transport that I had to

make the Cavalry soldiers march on foot and lead their

horses laden with grain— an unusual piece of duty,

which was, however, performed with the cheerful alacrity

which the troops of the Kabul Field Force always dis-

played.

But all this is a digression. To return to my story.

The malik8 of Logar, greatly to my relief, agreed to bring

a certain amount of supplies
;

while Wali Mahomed

Khan and the other Sirdars were full of protestations

of loyalty and devotion. Most of them remained with me

all the time I was in Kabul, and some of them afforded

me considerable assistance. The Sirdars warned me
to place no trust in the Amir, and enlarged on the

treachery of his conduct, but as I knew they looked

upon Yakub Khan as their own deadly enemy, I accepted

their counsel with some reservation. I was not, how-

over, able to feel quite at ease about the proceedings of

my Royal guest, so I returned to Kushi that same evening.
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On the 1st October the whole of the Kabul Field Force

was assembled in the Logar valley.*

I waited at Kushi with the last of the Infantry until

the morning of the 2nd. Just as I was leaving camp, I

became aware that firing was going on in the direction of

the Shutargardan, and later in the day I received a report

from Colonel Money as to what had happened there.

The enemy, emboldened by the diminished numbers of

the garrison, and undervaluing what might be accomplished

by a small number of good soldierB, had assembled in force,

and occupied the crest of the mountain, the only place

from which heliographic communication with me could be

kept up. Money very properly decided that this could

not be permitted, and considered it best to take the

* The force was made up as follows :

Other Banks.

British
Officers.

British. Native.

Divisional, Brigade, and Departmental Staff 60
F/A, R.H.A. .... 7 118
G/8, R.A. ..... 7 187
No. 2 Mountain Battery 8 228
Two Gatling guns - - - -

1 1 84
9th Lancers (one squadron) - 4 118
5th Punjab Cavalry - 7 825
12th Bengal Cavalry.... 6 828
14th Bengal Lancers - 7 407
07th Foot - 18 686
72nd Highlanders 28 746
92nd Highlanders .... 17 717
5th Punjab Infantry ....
5th Gurkhas ..... 8

7

610
674

28rd Pioneers .... 6 671

28th Punjab Infantry
7th Company Bengal Sappers and Miners

8
8 2

686
93

162 2,558 "8,867
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initiative before the enemy should become still stronger,

so ordered an advance. Under cover of the Mountain

battery’s fire, Major Griffiths, of the 3rd Sikhs, with 200

of his own men and 50 of the 21st Punjab Infantry,

supported by 150 rifles of the latter corps, stormed the

Afghans’ position. The assault, delivered in a most

spirited manner, was perfectly successful. Major Griffiths,

however, was wounded, also a signalling sergeant of the

67th Foot and five men of the 3rd Sikhs, while the

enemy left thirty dead on the ground, and were pursued

down the slope of the hill without making any attempt to

rally.

On the 3rd we marched fifteen miles to Zahidabad,

where we first came in sight of the fortified hill above

Kabul. The rear guard was fired into on the way, and we

had considerable difficulty in crossing the Logar river, as

the water from a large irrigation cut had been directed

back into the stream just above the ford. Our only casualty

on this day was Captain * Dick ’ Kennedy, who was wounded

in the hand.

It was plain from these occurrences, and from the

attack on the Shutargardan, that the people generally

were not disposed to be friendly. From the Amir I could

extract no information on this head, although he must

have been fully aware of the feelings and intentions of his

subjects. He was in constant communication with Kabul,

and was frequently being met by mounted messengers, who,

from the haste with which they travelled, as evidenced

V the exhausted state of their horses and the eagerness

with which the Amir read the letters they brought,

appeared to be the bearers of important tidings.

VOL. II. 46
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It may be imagined how irritating and embarrassing was

Yakub Khan’s presence, since his position in my camp

enabled him to give the leaders at Kabul accurate in-

formation as to our numbers and movements. That he felt

pretty sure of our discomfiture was apparent from his

change of manner, which, from being at first a mixture of

extreme cordiality and cringing servility, became as we

neared Kabul distant and even haughty.

On the 5th October, one month from the receipt at Simla

of the evil tidings of the fate of the British Embassy, we

reached the pretty little village of Gharasia, nestling in

orchards and gardens, with a rugged range of hills tower-

ing above it about a mile away. This range descended

abruptly on the right to permit the exit of the Logar

river, and rose again on its other side in precipitous

cliffs, forming a fine gorge* about halfway between our

camp and Kabul city, now only from ten tQ twelve miles

distant.

An uncle of the Amir (Sirdar Nek Mahomed Khan),

and a General in the Afghan army, came out to meet

Yakub Khan at thiB place ; he remained some time

in earnest conversation with his nephew, and, as he was

about to remount his horse, called out in so loud a tone

that it was evidently meant for us all to hear, that he was

* now going to disperse the troops.’ + Very different, how-

* Known as the awng-i-nawUhta (inscribed stone).

f Shortly after I was settled at Kabul, the following letter, written

by Nek Mahomed on the evening of the day ho had been with tho

Amir, to some person whom he wished to acquaint with the state of

affairs, was brought to me

:

1 My kind Friend,—The truth is that to-day, at sunrise, I went to
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ever, was the story brought to me by an escaped Native

servant of Cavagnari’s, who came into our camp later in

the day. This man declared that preparations for fighting
were steadily being carried on ; that the soldiers and towns-

people were streaming into the arsenal and supplying

themselves with cartridges ; that large bodies of troops were

moving out in our direction ; and that, when we advanced

next day, we should certainly be opposed by a formidable

force. The Amir, on having this intelligence communicated

to him, pretended to disbelieve it utterly, and assured me
that all was at peace in the city, that Nek Mahomed would

keep the troops quiet, and that I should have no trouble ;

but I was not taken in by his specious assurances.

Now more than ever I felt the want of sufficient

transport ! Had it been possible to have the whole of my
force with me, I should have advanced at once, and have

occupied that evening the range of hills I have described
;

but Macpherson’s brigade was still a march behind, and all

I could do was, immediately on arrival, to send back every

available transport animal to bring it up. I pushed forward

Cavalry patrols along the three roads leading to Kabul, and

rode out myself to reconnoitre the position in front. It

was sufficiently strong to make me wish I had a larger

force. Towards evening groups of men appeared on the

the camp, the Amir having summoned me. When I arrived, Mulla
Shah Mahomed [the Wazir] first said to me, “ Go back and tell the

people to raise a holy war.” I did not feel certain about what he said

[or was not satisfied with this]
,
[but] the Amir afterwards told me to

go back that very hour and rouse the people to a ghaza. I got back to

Kabul about 7 o’clock, and am collecting tho people. Salaam.’

The letter was not addressed, but it,was sealed with Nek Mahomed's

and there was no reason to doubt its authenticity.
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skyline all round, giving unmistakable warning that the

tribes were gathering in large numbers.

From the information brought me by the Cavalry, and

from my own examination of the ground, I decided to

advance along the left bank of the river ; and to facilitate

this movement I determined to seize the heights on either

side of the gorge at daybreak, whether Macpherson’s

brigade had arrived or not. That night strong piquets

were thrown out round the camp, and Cavalry patrols

were ordered to proceed at dawn to feel for the enemy.

L'homme propose , mats Dicu dispose.
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CHAPTER LI.

The Cavalry having reported that the road through the

sang-i-naivishta, gorge was impassable, I started off a party*

before it was fully light on the 6th, to work at it and make

it practicable for guns. I was preparing to follow with an

escort of Cavalry to examine the pass and the ground

beyond, when the growing daylight discovered large numbers

of Afghan troops in regular formation crowning the hills

that I ought to have been in a position to occupy the pre-

ceding evening. No hurry, no confusion was apparent in

their movements
;
positions were taken up and guns placed

with such coolness and deliberation that it was evident

regularly trained troops were employed. Very soon I

received reports of our Cavalry patrols having been fired

upon, and of their having been obliged to retire, i

Immediate action was imperatively necessary ; the

Afghans had to be dislodged from their strong position at

any cost, or we should have been surrounded by over-

whelming numbers. Their occupation of the heights was,

* Twenty sabres, 9th Lancers, one squadron 5th Punjab Cavalry,

two guns, No. 2 Mountain battery, 284 rides, 92nd Highlanders,

and 450 rifles, 28rd Pioneers.
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I felt, a warning that must not be disregarded, and a

menace that could not be brooked.

Behind this range of hills lay the densely-crowded city

of Kabul, with the scarcely less crowded suburbs of

Ghardeh, Deh-i-Afghan, and numberless villages thickly

studded over the Kabul valley, all of which were con-

tributing their quota of warriors to assist the Begular

troops in disputing the advance of the British. It did

not require much experience of Asiatics to understand

that, if the enemy were allowed to remain undisturbed for

a single night in the position they had taken up, their

numbers would increase to an extraordinary extent.

I now received a report from the rear that the road was

blocked, and that the progress of Macpherson’s brigade

would certainly be opposed; while, on the crests of the

hills to the right and left of my camp, bodies of men began

to assemble, who, I surmised (which surmise I afterwards

learnt was correct), were only waiting for the sun to go

down to make a general attack upon the camp under cover

of dusk.

The situation was one of great anxiety. The whole force

with me was not more than 4,000 men and eighteen guns.

The treacherous Amir and his equally treacherous Ministers

had, of course, kept the Afghan Commander fully informed

as to the manner in which my troops were perforce divided

;

the position of every man and every gun “with me was

known ; and I feared that, as soon as we were engaged

with the enemy, the opportunity would be taken to attack

my weakly-defended camp and to engage Macpherson’s

small brigade, encumbered as it was with its large convoy

of stores and ammunition.



1879] THE AFGHAN POSITION

The numbers of the enemy were momentarily increas-

ing, so delay would assuredly make matters worse; the

only chance of success, therefore, was to take the initia-

tive, and attack the Afghan main position at once.

Accordingly, I sent an officer with orders to the troops

who were moving towards the gorge not to commence

work, but to take up a defensive position until my

plans were further developed. I sent another messenger

to Macpherson, informing him of my intention to take

immediate action, and telling him to keep a good look-

out, and push on to Charasia with all possible speed,

and at the same time I reinforced him by a squadron of

Cavalry.

The Afghan position formed the arc of a circle, extend-

ing from the sang-i-nau'islita gorge to the heights above

Chardeh. Both sides of the gorge were occupied by the

enemy, as was a semi-detached hill to the south of it, and

sixteen guns were observed in position. The line they had

taken up occupied nearly three miles of country; and

their main position was the ridge, which, close to the

gorge, rose 1,000 feet above the plain, running up at its

western extremity to a peak 2,200 feet high. Thence the

line stretched along the edge of some lower heights to a

rugged hill, the summit of which was about 1,800 feet

above Charasia. In front of this formidable position were

a succession' of sandy hills, forming a series of easily

defensible posts, and at the foot of these hills ran a bare

stony belt, sloping down to the cultivated land surrounding

Charasia and the hamlet of Khairabad.

My movements and reconnaissances up till now having

led the enemy to believe that I intended to deliver my
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attack on their left at the sang-i-nawishta, they were seen

to be concentrating their forces in that direction. But this

position could only have been carried with such damaging

loss to us that I determined to make the real attack by an

outflanking movement to their right.

The men having made a hasty breakfast, I despatched

General Baker in this direction, and placing at his dis-

posal the troops noted below,* 1 entrusted to him the

difficult task of dislodging the enemy, while I continued

to distract their attention towards the gorge by making a

feint to their left.

Baker’s little column assembled in a wooded enclosure

close to Charasia, where he left his field hospital and

reserve ammunition, for the safe guarding of which I

sent him the 5th Punjab Infantry, while he was further

reinforced by 450 men of the 28rd Pioneers and three Field

Artillery guns. I was thus left with only six Horse Artillery

guns, 450 Cavalry, and between 600 and 700 Infantry for

the protection of the camp, where I was still handicapped

by the presence of the Amir and his untrustworthy

following.

While Baker advanced to the left, the party near the

sang-i-nawishta gorge, commanded by Major White, of

the 92nd HighlanderB, was ordered to threaten the pass

and to prevent the enemy occupying any portion of the

Charasia village, to advance within Artillery range of the

enemy’s main position above the gorge, and when the out-

* Two guns, No. 2 Mountain battery, two Gatling guns, detach-

ment 12th Bengal Cavalry, 72nd Highlanders, 6th Gurkhas (800

rifles), 6th Punjab Infantry (200 rifles), No. 7 Company Sappers

and Miners.



1879] THE FIGHT AT CHARASIA 217

flanking movement had been thoroughly developed and

the enemy were in full retreat, but not before, to push the

Cavalry through the gorge and pursue.

At about 11.80 a.m. Baker’s leading troops emerged

into the open, and were immediately engaged with a crowd

of armed Afghans, supported by a considerable body of

Begular troops. The General now sent one company of

the 72nd, under Captain Hunt, to turn the Afghans off a

succession of peaks situated at right angles to the ridge

they were occupying on their extreme right. Running

along this ridge, and stretching across the Indiki road to

the sandhills, the Afghan right wing held a line con-

siderably in advance of their left on the hill above the

sang-i-nawishta gorge, and one which could not easily

be turned, for the peaks the 72nd were sent to occupy

were almost inaccessible, and the fire from them swept

the slopes up which our troops must advance. These

peaks, therefore, formed the key of the position, and their

defenders had to be dislodged from them at all hazards

before anything else could be attempted. The company of

the 72nd with much difficulty fought their way up, and

gained a footing on the first peak, where they were obliged

to pause, until reinforced by two companies of the 5th

Gurkhas under Captain Cook, V.C. ; when they advanced

all together, clearing the enemy from each successive

point, while the remainder of the 72nd breasted the hill,

and, under cover of the Mountain guns, attacked the

position in front. But the enemy were obstinate, and the

extremely difficult nature of the ground somewhat checked

the gallant Highlanders. Seeing their dilemma Baker

despatched two companies of the 5th Gurkhas, under Lieu-
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tenant-Colonel Fitzhugh, and 200 men of the 5th Punjab

Infantry, under Captain Hall, to their assistance
; while

the 28rd Pioneers were brought up on the right, in support,

and a detachment of the 5th Punjab Infantry echeloned in

rear, on the left of the line.

The engagement now became hot, and the firing fast

and furious. My readers will, I am sure, be able to

realize with what intense excitement and anxiety I watched

the proceedings. It was evident to me that little progress

could be made so long as the enemy retained possession of

the ridge, which the Afghan Commander apparently had

just begun to appreciate was the real point of attack, for his

troops could now be seen hurrying to this point, and it

became more urgently necessary than ever to carry the

position before it could be reinforced. At 2 p.m. it was

seized
; the Highlanders and Gurkhas could no longer be

resisted ; the Afghans wavered, and then began to retreat,

exposed to a cross-fire that effectually prevented their

rallying.

The brunt of this affair was borne by the 72nd, admir-

ably led by their company officers, under the skilful

direction of Lieutenant-Colonel Clarke and his Adjutant,

Lieutenant Murray. I closely watched their movements,

and particularly observed one man pushing up the pre-

cipitous hillside considerably in advance of everyone else,

and apparently utterly regardless of the shower of bullets

falling round him. I inquired about him later on, and

found that he was a young Irish private of the 72nd,

named MacMahon, to whose coolness and daring was in a

great measure due the capture of this very strong post.

Her Majesty, I am glad to be able to relate, subsequently
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rewarded this intrepid soldier by bestowing on him the

Victoria Cross.

The general advance was now sounded, and gallantly

was it responded to. The main position was stormed by

the Highlanders, Gurkhas and Punjab Infantry, each trying

hard to be the first to close with its defenders. The enemy

fought desperately, charging down on the Gurkhas, by

whom, under the leadership of Lieutenant-Colonel Fitz-

Hugh and his Adjutant, Lieutenant Martin, they were

repulsed and driven over the crest with heavy loss.

The Afghans now took up a position some 600 yards in

the rear of that from which they had just been dislodged,

where they made an obstinate stand for half an hour, but

they were again forced back on the attacking party being

strengthened by the arrival of two companies of the 92nd

Highlanders, sent to their assistance by Major White, who

had already successfully engaged the Afghan left above the

sang-i-nawUhta gorge. As the enemy’s advanced posts on

the hill to the south, and directly in front of the gorge,

prevented our guns from coming within range of their

position on the heights above, these posts had to be dis-

posed of as a preliminary to effective co-operation with

Baker; accordingly, about noon the hill was captured by

two companies of the 92nd, under Captain Cotton, and

half a battery of Field Artillery was advanced to a point

whence Major Parry was able to engage the Afghan guns

posted above the gorge.

It was at this juncture, when Baker’s troops, having

carried the main position, wrere proceeding to attack that

to which the enemy had retreated, that White despatched

two companies of the 92nd, under Captain Oxley, by
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whose timely aid the determined foe were at length driven

from this point of vantage also. The troops followed up

their success and advanced at the double, while our guns

shelled the shaken masses.

The Afghan right and centre now gave way completely

;

the enemy broke, and fled down the slope on the further

side in a north-westerly direction, eventually taking refuge

in the Chardeh villages.

By 8.45 we were in possession of the whole of the main

ridge. The first objective having been thus gained, the

troops, pivoting on their right, brought round their left

and advanced against the now exposed flanks of the

enemy’s left wing, and simultaneously with this move-

ment White advanced from his position by the hill in

front of the gorge, and a little after four o’clock had

gained possession of the pass and twelve Afghan guns.

Completely outflanked and enfiladed by Baker’s fire, the

left wing of the Afghan force made but little resistance

;

they rapidly abandoned the height, and retired across the

river towards the north-east, pursued by the small body of

Cavalry attached to White’s force, under Major Hammond,

and a party of the 92nd, under Major Hay.

Baker now paused to allow of the Infantry’s ammu-

nition being replenished, and then advanced along the

ridge towards the pass, which he reached in time to help

the Cavalry who were engaged with the enemy’s rear guard

at the river ; the latter were driven off and forced to retreat

;

but by this time the growing darkness made further pursuit

impossible. We were therefore compelled to rest satisfied

with holding the ground in advance by piquets and occupy-

ing both ends of the sang-i-nawialita defile, where the
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troops bivouacked for the night. I was able to supply

them with food from Charasia, and they were made as

comfortable as they could be under the circumstances.

While the fighting was taking place on the heights in

front of Charasia, the hills on both flanks of my camp were

crowded with the enemy, anxiously watching the result

;

they did not approach within the Cavalry patrols, but one

party caused so much annoyance to a piquet by firing into

it that it became necessary to dislodge it, a service which

was performed in a very daring manner by a few of the

92nd, under Lieutenant Grant and Colour-Sergeant Hector

Macdonald, the same non-commissioned officer who had a

few days before so distinguished himself in the Hazar-

darakht defile.

Our casualties were wonderfully few, only 18 killed

and 70 wounded,* while the enemy left 800 dead behind

them, and as they succeeded in carrying numbers of

their killed and wounded off the field, their loss must

have been heavy. I subsequently ascertained that we

had opposed to us, besides thirteen Regular regiments,

between eight and ten thousand Afghans. Ghilzais from

Tezin and Hisarak had hurried up in large numbers to join

the enemy, but, luckily for us, arrived too late. Of these,

* During the fight the Infantry expended 41,090 rounds, of which

over 20,000 were fired by the 72nd Highlanders. The half-battery,

G/8 R.A., fired 0 common shell (percussion fuses) and 71 shrapnel

(time fuses) ; total, 77 rounds. No. 2 Mountain Battery fired 10

common shell and 94 shrapnel ;
total, 104 rounds. The two Gatlings

fired 150 rounds.

At the tenth round one of the Gatlings jammed, and had to be taken

to pieces. This was the first occasion on which Gatling guns were

®sed in action. They were not of the present improved make, and,

being found unsatisfactory, were made but little use of.
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some returned to their homes when they found the Afghan

army had been beaten, but the greater number waited about

Kabul to assist in any further stand that might be made by

the Regular troops.

The heliograph, worked by Captain Stratton, of the 22nd

Foot, had been of the greatest use during the day, and kept

me fully informed of all details. The last message as the

sun was sinking behind the hills, confirming my own

observations, was a most satisfactory one, to the effect that

the whole of the enemy’s jiosition was in our possession,

and that our victory was complete.

Throughout the day my friend (!) the Amir, surrounded

by his Sirdars, remained seated on a knoll in the centre of

the camp watching the progress of the fight with intense

eagerness, and questioning everyone who appeared as to

his interpretation of what he had observed. So soon

as I felt absolutely assured of our victory, I sent an Aido-

de-camp to His Highness to convey the joyful intelligence

of our success. It was, without doubt, a trying moment
for him, and a terrible disa

2)pointment after the plans which

I subsequently ascertained he and his adherents at Kabul

had carefully laid for our annihilation. But he received

the news with Asiatic calmness, and without the smallest

sign of mortification, merely requesting my Aide-de-camp

to assure me that, as my enemies were his enemies, he

rejoiced at my victory.

Macpherson’s brigade, with its impedimenta, arrived

before it was quite dark, so altogether I had reason to feel

satisfied with the day’s results. But the fact still remained

that not more than twelve miles beyond stood the city

of Kabul, with its armed thousands ready to oppose us
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should an assault prove necessary. I had besides received

information of a further gathering of Ghilzais bent upon

another attack on the Shutargardan, and that reinforce-

ments of Regular troops and guns were hastening to Kabul

from Ghazni. Prompt action was the one and only means

of meeting these threatened difficulties. My troops had had

more than enough for one day, and required rest, but needs

must when the devil (in the shape of Afghan hordes) drives.

I resolved to push on, and issued orders for tents to be

struck at once and an advance to be made at break of day.

At the first streak of dawn on the 7th I started, leaving

Macpherson to come on with the heavy baggage as quickly

as he could. I marched by the nang-i-naii'islita defile, where

Major White met me and explained to me his part in the

victory of the previous day. From my inspection of the

ground, I had no difficulty in coming to the conclusion that

much of the success which attended the operations on this

side was due to White’s military instincts and, at one

supreme moment, his extreme personal gallantry. It

afforded me, therefore, very great pleasure to recommend

this officer for the Victoria Cross, an honour of which more

than one incident in his subsequent career proved him to

be well worthy.

Our rapid advance, following on the defeat of the

previous day, had the effect I hoped it would have. On

arriving at Beni Hissar, a considerable village, surrounded

by orchards and gardens, only two miles south of the far-

famed citadel of the Bala Hissar, I sent out Cavalry

patrols to reconnoitre, who brought me the pleasing news

that the Bala Hissar had been evacuated, and the only

part of the city visible seemed to be deserted.
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Daring the day I received visits from some of the chief

merchants of Kabul, who each told a different tale regard-

ing the movements of the defeated Afghan army and the

intentions of the Afghan Commander. From their conflict-

ing accounts, however, I gathered that, fresh troops having

arrived from Kohistan, the remnants of the Charasia army

had joined them, and that the combined forces were then

occupying the range of hills immediately above Kabul, to

the west, and had determined to make another stand.

Having received intelligence that the enemy, if again

defeated, intended to retire towards Turkestan, I directed

Brigadier-General Massy, on the morning of the 8tli

October, to move out with the Cavalry brigade and place

himself across their line of retreat.* The brigade started

at 11 a.ra., and, in order to avoid the city and adjacent

heights, made a considerable detour by Siah Sang and

Sherpur, the new Afghan cantonment. On reaching the

latter place, Massy heliographed to me that he had found it

deserted, the magazine blown up, and seventy-five gunst

abandoned inside the enclosure, and that the enemy were

now occupying a ridge* which seemed to him to be a

prolongation of the Shahr-i-Darwaza range above Kabul;

then, continuing his march, he crossed a depression in this

ridge called the Nanachi Kotal, and wheeling to his left,

and skirting the Asmai heights on the western side, he

* The troops available for this purpose were : One squadron 9th

Lancers, 5th Punjab Cavalry, 12th Bengal Cavalry, and 14th Bengal

Lancers ; total, 720 of all ranks.

t The guns included four English 18-pounders, one English 8-inch

howitzer and two Afghan imitations of this weapon, and forty-two

bronze Mountain guns.

% The Asmai heights.
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soon came in sight ot the Afghan camp, pitched on the

slope of the hills about a mile from Deh-i-Mazang.

Brigadier-General Massy was informed, in reply to his

heliogram, that Baker would be despatched at once to drive

the enemy from their position and force them to fall back

upon the Cavalry, upon which Massy immediately made

the arrangements which appeared to him most advisable

for blocking, with the limited number of sabres at his

disposal, the several roads by which the enemy might

attempt to escape.

I could only spare to Baker a very small force (1,044

rifles, two Mountain guns and one Gatling), for Mac-

pherson’s and White's troops had not yet come up.

He started off without a moment’s delay, and, driving

the enemy’s scouts before him, worked his way along

the Shahr-i-Darwaza heights to the west; but his pro-

gress was very slow, owing to the extreme difficulty of

the ground, and the day was far spent before he found

himself near enough to the enemy to use his Artillery.

To his delight, Baker perceived that he commanded

the Afghan camp and the rear of their main position;

but his satisfaction was considerably allayed when he

discovered that, between him and them lay a deep

gorge* with precipitous sides, through which ran the

Kabul river, and that before he could attack he would

have to descend 1,600 feet, and then climb up the

opposite side, which was nearly as high and quite as

steep.

Anxious as Baker was that there should be no delay

in delivering the assault, by the time his dispositions

* The l)ch-i-M«iziuig gorge.

von. ii. 47
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were made it had become too dark to attempt it, and

most reluctantly he had to postpone the movement till

daybreak the next day. He had ascertained that the Kabul

river was not fordable for Infantry except at a point which

was commanded by the enemy’s camp, and was too far

from support to warrant piquets being pushed across at

night. Nothing whatever could be seen, but a very slight

noise as of stealthy movement in the Afghan camp was

heard, and the fear seized Baker that the enemy might

escape him. Soon after 11 p.m., therefore, when the

rising moon began in a measure to dispel the darkness,

Baker sent a strong patrol under a British officer to feel

for the enemy. The patrol came into contact with the

Afghan scouts on the river-bank, from some of whom,

taken prisoners in the struggle, they learned that the

enemy had crept away under cover of the night, and the

greater number had dispersed to their own homes ;
but

about 800, mounted on Artillery horses, were reported to

have accompanied their Commander, Mahomed Jan, and to

have escaped in the direction of Bamian.

Meanwhile, Brigadier-General Massy, from his point of

observation beneath the Asmai heights, had perceived

that it was impossible for Baker to carry the enemy’B main

position by daylight ; he tried to communicate with Baker

and ascertain his plans, but the party despatched on this

service were unable to get through the villages and woods,

which were all held by the enemy, and returned unsuc-

cessful. Massy then collected his scattered squadrons and

bivouacked for the night, being anxious that his men and

horses should have food and rest, and it not having struck
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him that the enemy might attempt to escape daring the

hoars of darkness.

The information that in very truth they had escaped was

brought to Baker at 4.30 a.m. He at once communicated

it to Massy, telling him at the same time that any movement

the Cavalry might make in pursuit would be supported by

the troops under his immediate command, and also by a

brigade under Brigadier-General Macpherson, which I had

despatched to reinforce Baker ; Macpherson and White,

with their respective troops, having arrived at Beni Hissar

shortly after Baker had started.

I joined Baker at this time, and great was my disappoint-

ment at being told that the Afghans had given us the slip.

I went carefully over the ground, however, and satisfied

myself that Baker had done all that was possible under the

circumstances, and that the enemy having eluded us could

not in any way be attributed to w'ant of care or skill on his

part.

Massy scoured the country until nightfall on the 9th,

but with very little success, only one small party of

fugitives being overtaken about four-and-twenty miles on

the road to Ghazni. Numbers, doubtless, found shelter in

the city of Kabul, others in the numerous villages with

which the richly-cultivated Chardeh valley was thickly

studded, and whose inhabitants were hostile to a man

;

others escaped to the hills ; and the remainder, having

had ten hours’ start, could not be overtaken.

The enemy’s camp was left standing, and twelve guns,

some elephants, camels, mules, and ponies, fell into our

possession.
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During that day our camp was moved nearer the city to

Siah Bang, a commanding plateau between the Kabul and

Logar rivers, close to their confluence, and less than a

mile east of the Bala Hissar. The 5th Gurkhas and two

Mountain guns were left to hold the heights on which

Brigadier-General Baker had been operating, and the rest

of the force was concentrated on Siah Sang.
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CHAPTER LII.

At laBt I waa at Kabul, the place I had heard so much of

from my boyhood, and had so often wished to see ! The

city lay beneath me, with its mud-coloured buildings and

its 50,000 inhabitants, covering a considerable extent of

ground. To the south-east corner of the city appeared the

Bala Hissar, picturesquely perched on a saddle just beneath

the Shahr-i-Darwaza heights, along the top of which ran a

fortified wall, enclosing the upper portion of the citadel

and extending to the Doli-i-Mazang gorge.

Kabul was reported to be perfectly quiet, and numbers of

traders came into our camp to dispose of their wares ; but

I forbade anyone to enter the city until I had been able to

decide upon the best means of maintaining order amongst

a population for the most part extremely fanatical,

treacherous, and vindictive.

So far our success had been complete : all opposition

had been overcome, Kabul was at our mercy, the Amir was

in my camp ready to agree to whatever I might propose,

and it had been all done with extraordinarily little loss to

ourselves. Nevertheless, I felt my difficulties were very far

from being at an end—indeed, the part of my duty still

remaining to be accomplished was surrounded with far
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greater difficulty, and was a source of much more nnxiety

to me than the military part of the task I had undertaken
;

for, with regard to the latter, 1 possessed confidence in

myself and my ability, to perform it, whereas, with respect

to the political and diplomatic side of the question, actual

personal experience I had none, and I could only hope

that common-sense and a sense of justice would carry me

through.

The instructions I had received from the Government of

India were very general in their character, for the Viceroy

felt that my proceedings must necessarily depend on the

state of affairs obtaining at Kabul, the acts and attitude of

the Amir and his people, and the various conditions im-

possible to foresee when the Foreign Office letter was

written to me on the 29th September. But, though

general, they were very comprehensive.

The troops were to be placed in strong and secure

positions, such as would give me complete control over

the Amir’s capital ; any Afghan soldiers remaining at

Kabul, and the whole of the city population, were to be

disarmed ; supplies were to be collected in sufficient

quantities to render my force independent in case of

interruption along the line of communication; Yakub

Khan’s personal Bafety was to be secured, and adequate

supervision maintained over his movements and actions

:

a close investigation was to be instituted into all the

causes and circumstances connected with the ‘ totally

unprovoked and most barbarous attack by the Amir's

soldiery and the people of his capital upon the representa-

tive of an allied State, who was residing under the Amir’s

protection in the Amir’s fortress, in very close proximity to
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the Amir himself, and whose personal safety and honour-

able treatment had been solemnly guaranteed by the Buler

of Afghanistan.’

The retribution to be exacted was to be adapted to the

twofold character of the offence, and was to be imposed

upon the Afghan nation in proportion as the offence was

proved to be national, and as the responsibility should be

brought home to any particular community. Further, the

imposition of a fine, it was suggested, upon the city of

Kabul ‘ would be in accordance with justice and precedent,’

and the demolition of fortifications and removal of buildings

within range of my defences, or which might interfere with

my control over the city, might be * necessary as a military

precaution.’

In forming my plans for the removal of obstructive

buildings, I was to consider * whether they can be com-

bined with any measures compatible with justice and

humanity for leaving a memorial of the retribution exacted

from the city in some manner and by some mark that will

not be easily obliterated.’

I was told that ‘ in regard to the punishment of indi-

viduals, it should be swift, stem, and impressive, without

being indiscriminate or immoderate ; its infliction must not

be delegated to subordinate officers of minor responsibility

acting independently of your instructions or supervision

;

and you cannot too vigilantly maintain the discipline of the

troops under your orders, or superintend their treatment

of the unarmed population, so long as your orders are

obeyed and your authority is unresisted. You will deal

summarily in the majority of cases with persons whose

share in the murder of anyone belonging to the British
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Embassy shall have been proved by your investigations,

but while the execution of justice should be as public and

striking as possible, it should be completed with all pos-

sible expedition, since the indefinite prolongation of your

proceedings might spread abroad unfounded alarm.’

The despatch concluded with the words :
‘ It will pro-

bably be essential, not only for the protection of your own

camp from annoyance, but also for the security of the

well-affected population and for the general maintenance

of order, that you should assume and exercise supreme

authority in Kabul, since events have unfortunately proved

that the Amir has lost that authority, or that he has con-

spicuously failed to make use of it.’

On the lOtli I visited Sherpur, and the next day I

went to the Bala Hissar, and wandered over the scene of

the Embassy’s brave defence and cruel end. The walls

of the Residency, closely pitted with bullet holes, gave

proof of the determined nature of the attack and the

length of the resistance. The floors wero covered with

blood-stains, and amidst the embers of a fire were found a

heap of human bones. It may be imagined how British

soldiers’ hearts burned within them at such a sight, and

how difficult it was to suppress feelings of hatred and

animosity towards the perpetrators of such a dastardly

crime. I had a careful but unsuccessful search made for

the bodies of our ill-fated friends.

The Bala Hissar, at one time of great strength, was no"

in a somewhat dilapidated condition. It contained eighty-

five guns, mortars and howitzers, some of them of English

manufacture, upwards of 250 tons of gunpowder, stowed

away in earthen vessels, many millions of Enfield and Snider
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cartridges, and a large number of arms, besides quantities

of saddlery, clothing for troops, musical instruments, shot,

shell, caps, and accoutrements, and a vast amount of lead,

copper and tin. It would not have given us much trouble

to storm the Bala Hissar, had we been obliged to do so,

for Artillery could have opened on it within easy range,

and there was cover for Infantry close up to the walls.

The reading of the Proclamation announcing the inten-

tions of the British Government with regard to the

punishment of the city was to take place in the Bala

Hissar next day. The Amir had agreed to accompany me.

The leading people were invited to attend, and I had given

orders that all the troops were to take part in the pro-

cession, so as to render as impressive as possible the cere-

mony, at which were to be made known to the inhabitants

of Kabul the terms imposed upon them by the British

Government. The object of my visit was to decide how

the troops might best be disposed so as to make the most

imposing display on the occasion.

I decided to detain in custody two Sirdars, Yahia Khan*

and his brother Zakariah Khan, the Mustaufi, and the

Wazir, as these four were Yakub Khan’s principal advisers,

and I was satisfied that their influence was being used

against us, and that so long as they were at large a mine

might be sprung upon me at any moment.

The Commander-in-Chief, Daud Shah, was also in the*

Amir’s confidence ; but I determined to leave him at liberty,

for, from what I could learn, he had made an effort (not a

very strong one, perhaps) to help our unfortunate country-

men, and he had on several occasions since he had been in

* Yahia Khan was Yakub Khan’s father-in-law.
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my camp given me useful information ; moreover, I hoped

to obtain further help from him, in which hope I was not

altogether disappointed.

As to what I ought to do with the Amir I was consider-

ably puzzled. Lord Lytton had urged upon me the neces-

sity for weighing well the advisability of prematurely

breaking with him, as it was very possible he might

become a useful instrument in our hands, an eventuality

which I thoroughly understood ; but I was not at all sure

that Yakub Khan would not break with me when he learnt

my decision with regard to his Ministers, and I had

received more than one warning that, if he failed to keep

me from entering Kabul, he contemplated flight and a

supreme effort to raise the country against me.

Yakub Khan certainly did not deserve much considera-

tion from us ; for, though no absolute proof was forth-

coming of his having instigated the attack upon the

Embassy, he most certainly made not the slightest effort to

stop it or to save the lives of those entrusted to his care,

and throughout that terrible day showed himself to be, if

not a deliberate traitor, a despicable coward. Again, his

endeavours to delay the march of my force for the sole pur-

pose of gaining sufficient time to organize the destruction

of the army to whose protection he had appealed deprived

him, to my mind, of the smallest claim to be treated as

an honourable ally.

My doubts as to what policy I ought to pursue with

regard to Yakub Khan were all solved by his own action on

the morning of the 12th October. He came to my tent

before I was dressed, and asked for an interview, which

was, of course, accorded. The only chair I possessed I
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offered to my Royal visitor, who seated himself, and then

and there announced that he had come to resign the Amir-

ship, and' that he was only carrying out a determination

made before he came to Ivushi
; he had then allowed

himself to be over-persuaded, but now his resolution was

fixed. His life, he said, had been most miserable, and

he would rather be a grass-cutter in the English camp

than Ruler of Afghanistan ;
he concluded by entreating

me to allow his tent to be pitched close to mine until he

could go to India, to London, or wherever the Viceroy

might desire to send him. I placed a tent at his disposal,

ordered breakfast to be prepared for him, and begged him

not to decide at once, but think the matter over for some

hours, adding that I would see him again at ten o’clock,

the hour appointed for him to accompany me to the Bala

Hissar in order that he might be present at the reading of

the Proclamation. At this time, it must be remembered,

the Amir did not know what the terms of the Proclamation

were, and was entirely ignorant of my intentions regarding

his Ministers.

As arranged, I had another interview with Yakub Khan

at ten o’clock, when I found him unshaken in his resolve

to abdicate, and unwilling, under the circumstances, to be

present at the ceremony which was about to take place.

He said, however, that he would send his eldest son, and

that all his Ministers should attend me. I begged him

again to reconsider the decision he had come to, and to

think well over the results to himself ;
but finding that he

had finally* made up his mind, I told his Highness I would

* At an interview which Major Hastings, the Political Officer, and

Mr. Durand, iny Political Secretary, had with His Highness at my
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telegraph his determination to the Viceroy and ask for

instructions; that he would not, of course, be forced to

continue to reign at Kabul against his will, hut that I

would ask him to retain his title until I could receive a

reply from Simla.

At noon I proceeded to the Bala Hissar, accompanied by

my staff, the Heir-Apparent, the Ministers, and a large

gathering of the chief Sirdars of Kabul. Both sides of the

road were lined with troops, of whom I felt not a little

proud that day. Notwithstanding that the duty required of

them had been severe and continuous, now that they were

required to take part in a ceremonial parade, they turned

out as clean and smart as one could wish to see them.

As the head of the procession entered the main gateway,

the British flag was run up, the bands played the National

Anthem, and a salute of thirty-one guns was fired.

On arriving at the public Hall of Audience, I dis-

mounted, and ascending the steps leading to it, 1

request on the 28rd October, ho said, referring to the subject of the

Amirship :
* I call God and the Koran to witness, and everything a

Mussulman holds sacred, thnt my only desire is to be set free, and

end my days in liberty. I have conceived an utter aversion foi

these people. I always treated them well, and you see how they ha\i

rewarded me. So long ns I was fighting in one place or another, they

liked me well enough. Directly I became Amir, and consulted theii

own good by making peace with you, they turned on me. Now -

detest them all, and long to be out of Afghanistan for ever. It is noi

that I am unable to hold the country ; I have held it before and could

hold it again, but I have no further wish to rule such a people, and 1

beg of you to let me go. If the British Government wish me to st»i

I will stay, as their servant or aB the Amir, if you like to coll me so

until my son is of an age to succeed me, or even without that con

dition ; but it will be wholly against my own inclination, and I eamestl)

beg to be set free.’
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addressed the assembled multitude, and read to them

the following Proclamation, containing the orders of the

British Government

:

‘ In my Proclamation dated the 3rd October, I informed the people

of Kabul that a British uriny was advancing to take possession of

the city, and I warned them against offering any resistance to the

entry of the troops and the authority of His Highness the Amir. That

warning has been disregarded. The force under my command has

now reached Kabul and occupied the Bala Hissar, but its advance has

been pertinaciously opposed, and the inhabitants of the city have taken

a conspicuous part in the opposition offered. They have therefore

become rebels against His Highness the Amir, and have added to the

guilt already incurred by them in abetting the murder of the British

Envoy and his companions—a treaclicrouH and cowardly crime which

has brought indelible disgrace upon the Afghan people. It would be

but a just and fitting reward for such misdeeds if the city of Kabul

were now totally destroyed and its very name blotted out; but the

great British Government ever desires to temper justice with mercy,

and I now announce to the inhabitants of Kabul that the full retri-

bution for their offence will not bo exacted, and that the city will be

spared.
1 Nevertheless, it is necessary that they should not escape all penalty,

and, further, that the punishment inflicted should be such as will be

felt and remembered. Therefore, such portions of the city buildings

as now interfere with the proper military occupation of the Bala Hissar,

and the safety and comfort of the British troops to be quartered in it,

will be at once levelled with the ground ;
and, further, a heavy fine,

the amount of which will be notified hereafter, will be imposed upon the

inhabitants of Kabul, to be paid according to their several capacities.

I further give notice to all, that, in order to provide for the restoration

and maintenance of order, the city of Kabul and the surrounding

country, to a distance of ten miles, are placed under martial law.

With the consent of His Highness the .Amir, a military Governor of

Kabul will be appointed, to administer justice and punish with a strong

hand all evil-doers. The inhabitants of Kabul and of the neighbouring

villages are hereby warned to submit to his authority.

* This punishment, inflicted upon the whole city, will not, of course,

absolve from further penalties those whose individual guilt may be

hereafter proved. A full and searching inquiry into the circumstances

of the late outbreak will bo held, and all persons convicted of having

taken part in it will be dealt with according to their deserts.
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‘ With the view of providing effectually for the pre\ ention of crime

and disorder, and the safety of all well-disposed persons in Kabul, it is

hereby notified that for the future the carrying of dangerous weapons,

whether swords, knives, or firearms, within the streets of tlio city or

within a distance of five miles from the city gates, is forbidden. After

a week from the date of this Proclamation, any person found armed

within those limits will be liablo to the penalty of death. Persons

having in their possession any articles whatsoever which formerly

belonged to members of the British Embassy arc required to bring

them forthwith to tho British camp. Anyono neglecting this warning

will, if found hereafter in possession of any such articles, be subject

to the severest penalties.

4 Further, all persons who may have in their possession any firearms

or ammunition formerly issued to or seized by tho Afghan troops, are

required to produco them. For every country-made ritle, whether

breech or muzzle loading, the sum of 11s. 8 will be given on delivery,

and for every rifle of European manufacture Rs. 5. Anyone found

hereafter in possession of sucli weapons will bo severely punished.

Finally, I notify that I will give a reward of Bs. 50 for the surrender

of any person, whether soldier or civilian, concerned in the attack on

the British Embassy, or for such information as may lead directly to

his capture. A similar sum will bo given in the case of any person who

may have fought against the British troops since the 8rd September

(Shawal) last, and therefore become a rebel against His Highness the

Amir. If any such person so surrendered or captured be a captain

or subaltern officer of the Afghan army, tho reward will be increased

to Rs. 75, and if a field officer to Rs. 120.’

The Afghans were evidently much relieved at the leniency

of the Proclamation, to which thoy listened with tho

greatest attention. "When I had finished reading it, I dis-

missed the assembly, with the exception of the Ministers

whom I had decided to make prisoners. To them I

explained that I felt it to be my duty to place them under

restraint, pending investigation into the part they had

taken in the massacre of the Embassy.

The following day I made a formal entry into the

city, traversing all its main streets, that the people might

understand that it and they were at our mercy. I'l16
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Cavalry brigade headed the procession ; I followed with

my staff and escort, and five battalions of Infantry

brought up the rear ; there were no Artillery, for in some

places the streets were so narrow and tortuous that two

men could hardly ride abreast.

It was scarcely to be expected the citizens would give us

a warm welcome ; but they were perfectly respectful, and I

hoped the martial and workmanlike appearance of the

troops would have a salutary effect.

I now appointed Major-General James Hills, Y.C., to

be Governor of Kabul for the time being, associating

with him the able and respected Mahomedan gentleman,

Nawab Gliulam Hussein Khan, as the most likely means of

securing for the present order and good government in

the city. I further instituted two Courts—one political,

consisting of Colonel Macgregor, Surgeon-Major Bellew,*

and Mahomed Hyat Khan, a Mahomedan member of the

Punjab Commission, and an excellent Persian and Pushtu

scholar, to inquire into the complicated circumstances

which led to the attack on the Residency, and to ascertain,

if possible, how far the Amir and his Ministers were im-

plicated. The other, a military Court, with Brigadier-

General Massy as president, for the trial of those Chiefs

and soldiers accused of having taken part in the actual

massacre, t

Dr. Bellow was with the brothers Lumsdcn at Kandahar in 18o7.

1" My action in endorsing the proceedings of this court, and my

treatment of Afghans generally, were so adversely and sca erely

criticized by party newspapers and periodicals, and by members of the

Opposition in the House of Commons, that I was called upon for on

explanation of my conduct, which was submitted and read in both

Houses of Parliament by tho Secretary of State for India, Viscount
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Up to this time (the middle of October) communication

with India had been kept up by way of the Shutargardan,

and I had heard nothing of the approach of the Khyber

column. It was so very necessary to open up the Khyber

route, in view of early snow on the Shutargardan, that I

arranged to send a small force towards Jalalabad, and to

move the Shutargardan garrison to Kabul, thus breaking

off communication with Kuram.

Colonel Money had beaten off another attack made by the

tribesmen on his position, but as they still threatened him

in considerable numbers, I despatched Brigadier-General

Hugh Gough with some troops to enable him to with-

draw. This reinforcement arrived at a most opportune

moment, when the augmented tribal combination, imagining

that the garrison was completely at its mercy, had sent a

message to Money offering to spare their lives if they laid

down their armB ! So sure were the Afghans of their

triumph that they had brought 200 of their women to

witness it. On Gough’B arrival. Money dispersed tht

gathering, and hiB force left the Shutargardan, togetbei

with the Head-Quarters and two squadrons of the Dtb

Lancers, which had been ordered to join me from Sialkot

and afterwards proved a most valuable addition to the Kabu

Field Force.

I was sitting in my tent on tha morning of the 10tl

October, when I was startled by a most terrific explosioi

Cranbrook, and the Under-Secretary of State for India, the Hon. £

Stanhope. In the Parliamentary records of February, 1880, can b

seen my reply to the accusations, as well as an abstract statement c

the executions carried out nt Kabul in accordance with the findings^

the military Court.
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in the upper part of the Bala Hissar, which was occupied

by the 5th Gurkhas, while the 67th Foot were pitched in

the garden below. The gunpowder, stored in a detached

building, had somehow—we never could discover how

—

become ignited, and I trembled at the thought of what

would be the consequences if the main magazine caught

fire, which, with its 250 tons of gunpowder, was dangerously

near to the scene of the explosion. I at once sent orders

to the Gurkhas and the 67th to clear out, and not to wait

even to bring away their tents, kits, or anything but

their ammunition, and I did not breathe freely till they

wer£ all safe on Siah Sang. The results of this disaster

as it was, were bad enough, for Captain Shafto, R.A.

(a very promising officer), a private of the 67th, the

Subadar-Major of the 5th Gurkhas, and nineteen Natives,

most of them soldiers, lost their lives.

A second and more violent explosion took place two hours

and a half after the first, but there was no loss of life

amongst the troops, though several Afghans were killed at

a distance of 400 yards from the fort.

There was given on this occasion a very practical ex-

emplification of the good feeling existing between the

European soldiers and the Gurkhas. The 72nd and the

5th Gurkhas had been much associated from the com-

mencemeht of the campaign, and a spirit of camaraderie

had sprung up between them, resulting in the Highlanders

now coming forward and insisting on making over their

greatcoats to the little Gurkhas for the night—a very

strong proof of their friendship, for at Kabul in October

the nights are bitterly cold.

Two telegrams received about this time caused the

voi,. n. 48
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greatest gratification throughout the force. One was from

the Commander-in-Chief, conveying Her Majesty’s expres-

sion of ‘ warm satisfaction ’ at the conduct of the troops

;

the other was from the Viceroy, expressing his * cordial

congratulations’ and His Excellency’s ‘high appreciation

of the ability with which the action was directed, and the

courage with which it was so successfully carried out.’ I

was informed at the same time by Lord Lytton that, on

the recommendation of the Commander-in-Chief, I was

given the local rank of Lieutenant-General, to enable .me

to be placed in commnnd of all the troops in eastern

Afghanistan, a force of 20,000 men and 46 guns, in* two

divisions. The first division remained under my own imme-

diate command, and Major-General 11. 0. Bright, C.B.,*

was appointed to the command of the other. I was, of

course, very much pleased at this proof of the confidence

reposed in me.

* Now General Sir Robert Bright, G.C.B.
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CHAPTElt LIII.

I had given much thought to the question of housing the

troops during the winter, which was now fast approaching.

Some of the senior officers were in favour of quartering

them in the Bala Hissar, as being the place with most

prestige attached to it ; but the fact that there was not

accommodation in it for the whole force, and that, there-

fore, the troops would have to be separated, as well as

the dangerous proximity of the huge store of gunpowder,

which could only be got rid of by degrees, decided me to

occupy in preference the partly-fortified cantonment of

Sherpur, about a mile north-east of the city, and close to

the ruins of the old British entrenchment. It was en-

closed on three sides by a high and massive loop-holed

wall, and on the fourth by the Bimarn heights, while it

possessed the advantage of having within its walls sufficient

shelter in long ranges of brick buildings for the British

troops, and good hospital accommodation, and there was

ample space for the erection of huts for the Native

soldiers.

The drawback was that the great extent of its peri-

meter, more than four and a half miles, made it a
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very difficult place to defend ; lmt, remeniliering the

grievous results of General Elphinstone's force being

scattered in 1841, I thought the advantage of being able

to keep niv troops together outweighed the disadvantage

of having to defend so long a line.

Materials for the Native soldiers' huts were brought

from the Bala Hissnr, the demolition of which, as an act

of retributive justice, l had recommended to the Govern-

ment of India, as it up|>enred to me that the destruction

of the fortified (ulace in which the massacre had taken

place, and which was the symlsil of their power and their

boasted military strength, would la> a more fitting punish-

ment for treachery and insult than any other we could

inflict, and a more lasting memorial of our ability to

avenge our countrymen than any we could raise. The

tidings that their ancient citadel had l>cen levelled to the

ground would, I felt sure, spread throughout the length

and breadth of Afghanistan. Iieuring with them a jsilitioal

significance that could hardly lie over-estimated.

I now set to work to cultect supplies for the winter. Ml

khaUa , or State grain, we took ns our right, the justice of

this being recognized both by the Amir and the people, hut

what was the property of private individuals was pur-

chased at a price the. avaricious Afghan could not resist.

There had lieon a good harvest, and supplies were

abundant ; but the people from the outlying districts were

chary of assisting us, for they knew from exjierieiico that

all who befriended the British would be sure to suffer when

we took our departure.

I had repeated complaints brought to me of the harshness

and injustice with which those who had shown themselves
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well disposed towards us were treated by the Amir on his

return from signing the Treaty at Gandamak, and most of

the Afghans were so afraid of the Amir’s vengeance when
they should again l>e left to his tender mercies, that they

held aloof, except those who, like Wali Mahomed Khan
and his following, were in open opposition to Yakub Khan,
and some few who were still smarting from recent injury

and oppression.

I was frequently asked by the Afghans, when requiring

some service to la* rendered. 4 Are you going to remain ?'

Could I have replied in the affirmative, or could I have said

that we should continue to exercise sufficient control over

the Government of the country to prevent their being

punished for helping us, they would have served us

willingly. Not that 1 could flatter myself they altogether

liked us, but they would have felt it wise in their own
interests to meet our requirements

; and, Itesides. the great

mass of the people were heartily sick and tired of a long

continuance of oppression and misrule, and were ready to

submit (for a time at least 1 to any strong and just Govern-

ment.

Lord Lytton, in the hope of saving from the resent-

ment of the Amir those who had l»een of use to us

m the early part of the war. had expressly stipulated in

Article II. of the Gandamak Treaty that * a full and

complete amnesty should lie published, absolving all

Afghans from any responsibility on account of inter-

course with the British Forces during the campaign, and

the Amir should guarantee to protect all persons,

°* whatever degree, from punishment or molestation on
that account.’
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But this stipulation was not adhered to. Yakub Khan

more than once spoke to me about it, and declared

lliat it was impossible to control the turbulent spirits

in Afghanistan without being supreme, and that this

amnesty, had it been published, would have tied his

hands with regard to those who had proved themselveB

his enemies.

His neglect to carry out this Article of the treaty added

considerably to my difficulty, as will be seen from the

following letter from Asmatula Khan, a Ghilzai Chief, to

whom I wrote, asking him to meet me at Kabul.

4 1 received your kind letter on the 8th of Shawal [28th September],

and understood its contents, mid also those of the enclosed Proclama-

tion to the people of Kabul. I informed all whom I thought fit of the

contents of the Proclamation.
4 Some time ago 1 went to (nindanmk to Major Ca\agnari. He in-

structed me to obey the orders of the Amir, and made me over to His

Highness. When Major Cavagnari returned to India, the Amir’s

officials confiscated inv property, and gave tin* (’hiefship to in\ cousin*

[or enemy], Bakram Khan.
4 The oppression I suffered on your account is beyond description.

They ruined and disgraced every friend and adherent of mine. On the

return of Major Cavagnari to Kabul, I sent my Naib [deputy] to him,
who informed him of my Htate. Major Cavagnari sent a message to

me to the effect that I should recover my property by force if I could,

otherwise I should go to the hills, and not come to Kabul until I heard
from him. In the meantime I received news of the murder of the

Envoy, and I am still in the hills.’

The thought of what might be in store for those who

were now aiding me troubled me a good deal. No doubt

* In Pushtu the word iarbur signifies a cousin to any degree, and

no* infrequently used as 4 enemy,* the inference being that in

Afghanistan a cousin is necessarily nn enemy.
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their help was not disinterested, but they were ‘friends

in need,’ and I could not be quite indifferent to their

future.

I had several interesting conversations with Yakub Khan,

and in discussing with him Sher Ali’s reasons for breaking

with us, he dwelt on the fact that his father, although he

did not get all he wished out of Lord Mayo, was fairly

satisfied and content with what had been done for him,

but when Saiyad Nur Mahomed returned from Simla in

1878 , he became thoroughly disgusted, and at once made

overtures to the Russians, with whom constant intercourse

had since been kept up.

Yakub Khan’s statements were verified by the fact that

we found Kabul much more Russian than English. The

Afghan Sirdars and officers were arrayed in Russian

pattern uniforms, Russian money was found in the

treasury, Russian wares were sold in the bazaars, and

although the roads leading to Central Asia were certainly

no lietter than those leading to India, Russia had taken

more advantage of them than we bad to carry on com-

mercial dealings with Afghanistan. *

* As I reported at the time, the magnitude of Sher Ali’s military

preparations was, in »i\ opinion, a fact of peculiar significance. He had

raised and equipped with arm* of precision sixteen regiments of Cavalry

and sixty-eight of Infantry, while his Artillery amounted to nearly 300

gune. Numbers of skilled artisans were constantly employed in the

manufacture of rifled cannon and breech-loading small arms. Swords.

hclmetB, uniforms, and of her articles of military equipment, were stored

in proportionate quantities. Upon the construction of the Slierpur

cantonment Sher Ali had expended an astonishing amount of labour

*nd money. The sine and cost of tins work may be judged from tho

fact that the main line of rampart, with barrack accommodation.
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When I inquired of Yakub Khan what' had become of the

correspondence which must have been carried on between

his father and the Russians, he declared that he had

destroyed it all when on his way to Gandamak ; never-

theless, a certain number of letters* from Generals Kauff-

mann and Stoliatoff came into my possession, and a draft

of the treaty the latter officer brought from Tashkent was

made for me from memory by the man who had copied

it for Slier Ali, aided by the Afghan official who was

told off to be in attendance on Stoliatoff. and who had

frequently read the treaty.

In one of my last conversations with Yakub Khun, he

advised me ‘not to lose sight of Herat and Turkestan.’

On my asking him whether he had any reason to suppose

that his representatives in those [duces meant to give

trouble, he replied :
‘ I cannot say what they may do

;
but,

remember, I have warned you.’ He, no doubt, knew more

than he told me, and I think it quite possible that lie had

extended to a length of nearly two miles under the western and

southern slopes of the Hiniaru hills, while the original design was to

carry the wall entirely round the hills, a distance of four and a half

miles, and the foundations were laid for a considerable portion of this

length. All these military preparations must have been going on for

some years, and were quite unnecessary, except as a provision for

contemplated hostilities with ourselves. Slier Ali had refused during

this time to accept the subsidy we had agreed to pay him, and it is

difficult to understand how their entire cost could have been met from
the Afghan treasury, the annual gross revenue of the country at that

time amounting only to about HO lakhs of rupees.
* Thsse letters, as well as my report to the Secretary to the Govern-

ment of India in the foreign Department, with an account of my
conversation with Yakub Khan, are given in the Appendix.
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some inkling of his brother’s* (Ayub Khan’s) intentions,

in regard to Kandahar, and he probably foresaw that Abdur

Rahman Khan would appear on the scene from the direction

of Turkestan.

I duly received an answer to my telegram regarding

the abdication of Yakub Khan, in which I was informed

that His Highness’s resignation was accepted by Her

Majesty’s Government, and I was directed to announce

the fact to the people of Afghanistan in the following

terms

:

* X, General Roberts, on behalf of the British Go\ eminent, hereby

proclaim that the Amir, having by his own free will abdicated, hafl left

Afghanistan without a Government. In consequence of the shameful

outrage upon its Envoy anil suite, the British Government has been

compelled to occupy by force of arms Kabul, the capital, and to take

military possession of other parts of Afghanistan.

‘ The British Government now commands that all Afghan authorities.

Chiefs, and Sirdars do continue their functions in maintaining order,

referring to me whene\cr necessary,

‘The British Government desire that the people shall be treated i*ith

justice and benevolence, and that their religious feelings and customs

be respected.

‘The services of such Sirdars and C hiefs as assist in preserving

order will bo duly recognized, but all disturbers of the peace and

persons concerned in attacks upon the Britisli authority will meet uith

condign punishment.

‘The British Government, after consultation with the principal

Sirdars, tribal Chiefs, and others representing the interests and wishes

of the various provinces and cities, will declare its will as to the future

permanent arrangements to be made for the good government of the

people.’

This manifesto was issued on the 28th October, and

the same day I informed Yakub Ivhan that his abdication

Sirdar Ayub Khan was Governor of Herat in 1879.
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had been accepted, and acquainted him with the orders

passed bv the British Government in connexion with this

fact.*

Yakub Khan showed no interest either in the Pro-

clamation, a Persian translation of which was read to him,

or the Government’s decision as to himself, and made no

comment beyond a formal ‘ bisyar /.hub’ (‘very good ’)

and an inclination of the head.

I then told Yakub Khan that, as I was now charged

with the government of the country, it was necessary that

I should take possession of the treasury and all moneys

therein. He signified his assent, but demurred to certain

sums being considered as public property, contending that

they formed part of his father’s wealth, and that the

British Government might as well take from him his < //««/«,+

this also having come from the pockets of the people. ‘ My
father was I’ailixlutlt ,’ he said ;

‘ there was no distinction

between public and private money. However,’ he went

on, * I have given up the crown, and I am not going to

dispute about rupees. You may take all 1 have, down to

my clothes ; but the money was my father’s, and is mine

by right.’

1 replied that it was necessary that all money in his

possession should be given up, hut that hjs private effects

should not be touched
; that he would be given a receipt

for the money, and that, if the Government of India

* There were present at the interview, besides myself, Colonel

Mucgrcgor, Major Hastings, Surgeon-Major Bellow, Nawnb Sir Ghulmn
Hussein Khan, and Mr. H. M. Durand,

t A kind of mantle worn by Afghans.
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decided it to be hie personal property, it should be returned

to him.

This Yakub Khan at first declined to accept, with some

show of temper. Eventually he came round, and said,

‘ Yes, give me a receipt, so that no one may say hereafter

that I carried off State money to which I had no right. It

can be easily made sure that I have no money when

I go.’*

Spite of all his shortcomings, 1 could not help feeling

sorry for the self-deposed Ruler, and before leaving him 1

explained that he would be treated with the same considera-

tion that had always been accorded to him, that Nawab Sir

Ghulam Hussein Khan + should have a tent next to his, and

that it should be the Nawab’s care to look after his comfort

in every way, and that I should be glad to see him

whenever he wished for an interview. That same day,

under instructions, I issued the following further mani-

festo :

‘ In my Proclamation of yesterday I announced that His Highness the

Amir had of his own free will abdicated, and that for the present the

government of Afghanistan would be carried on under my supervision.

I now proclaim that, in order to pro\ide for the cost of administration,

I have taken possession of the State treasury, and that, until the

* As Yakub Khan refused under one pretext or another to deliver up

any money, Majof Moriarty. the officer in charge of the Kabul Field

Force treasure-chest, and Lieutenant Neville Chamberlain, accom-

panied by an escort, searched a house in the city in which a portion of

Yakub Khan's money was said to bo concealed. Upwards of eight and

ft half lakhs of rupees, and a certain amount of jowellcry and gold

coins, tillas and Htissian five-rouble pieces, in all amounting to nine

ftnd a half lakhs, were found. This sum was subsequently refunded

to the Afghan Government.

t The Nawab had been made a K.O.S.I.
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British Government shall declare its will as to the permanent arrange-

ments to bo made for the future £ood government of the country, the

collection of revenue and the expenditure of public money will bo
regulated by me. All persons concerned are hereby informod that

they must obey without dispute or delay such orders as may be issued

by me in regard to the payment of taxes and other connected matters
;

and I give plain warning that anyone resisting or obstructing tho
execution of such orders will be treated with the utmost severity as an
enemy to the British Government/
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CHAPTER LIV.

On the 1st November my Head-Quarters and the 1st

division moved into Sherpur, which the Engineers had

prepared for winter quarters, and whei'e stores of provisions

and forage were assuming satisfactory proportions. The

same day Brigadier-General Macplierson left Kabul with a

brigade of about 1,800 men and four guns to join hands with

the troops which I had lately heard were advancing from

the Khyber, and had reached Gundamak. I joined Mac-

pherson the following morning at Butkhak, about eleven

miles from Kabul, where our first post towards the Khyber

had already been established. It was very important that

our communication with India should be by a route good

enough for wheeled carriages
; I was therefore anxious to

see for myself if it were not possible to avoid the Khurd-

Kabul Pass, which was said to be very difficult. I had,

besides, a strong wish to visit this puss, as being the scene

of Sir Robert Sale’s fight with the tribesmen in 1841, and

of the beginning of the massacre of General Elphinstone's

unfortunate troops in 1842.* The Afghan Commander-

in-Chief, Daud Khali, and several Ghilzai Chiefs, accom-

panied me; from them I learned that an easier road did

* A most thrilling account of Klphinstone’s retreat through this pass

is given in Kaye's • History of the War in Afghanistan,’ vol. ii., p. 229.
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exist, running more to the east, and crossing over the

Lataband mountain. Personal inspection of the two lines

proved that Daud Shah’s estimate of their respective diffi-

culties was correct ; the Lataband route was comparatively

easy, there was no defile as on the Khurd-Kabul Bide,

and the kotal, 8,000 feet above the sea, was reached by a

gradual ascent from Butkhak. However, I found the

Khurd-Kabul much less difficult than I had imagined

it to be ; it might have been made passable for carts, but

there was no object in using it, as the Lataband route

possessed the additional advantage of being some miles

shorter; accordingly I decided upon adopting the latter

as the line of communication with India.

Macpherson reported that the country beyond Khurd-

Kabul was fairly settled, and that, on the 7th, he had been

able to open communication with Brigadier-General

Charles Gough, commanding Bright's leading brigade. I

was thus again brought into communication with India,

and in a position to clear my hospitals of those amongst

the sick and wounded who were not progressing favourably,

and could not soon be fit for duty.

By this time the Inquiry Commission had completed

its difficult task of trying to sift the truth concerning

the fate of Cavagnari and his companions from the mass

of falsehood with which it was enveloped. The pro-

gress had been slow, particularly when examination touched

on the part Yakub Khan had played in the tragedy;

witnesses were afraid to give evidence o[>enly until they

were convinced that he would not be re-established in a

position to avenge himBelf. The whole matter had been

gone into most fully, and a careful perusal of the proceed-
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ings satisfied me that the Amir could not have been

ignorant that an attack on the ltesidency was contem-

plated. He may not have foreseen or desired the massacre

of the Embassy, but there was no room for doubt as to his

having connived at a demonstration against it, which, had

it yot ended so fatally, might have served him in good

stead as a proof of his inability to guarantee the safety

of foreigners, and thus obtain the withdrawal of the

Mission.

It was impossible, under these circumstances, that Yakub
Khan could ever be reinstated as lluler of Kabul, and his

remaining in his present equivocal position was irksome to

himself and most embarrassing to me. 1 therefore recom-

mended that he should lie deported to India, to be dealt

with as the Government might decide after reviewing the

information elicited by the political Court of Inquiry, which

to me appeared to tell so weightily against the ex-Amir, that,

in my opinion, I was no longer justified in treating as rebels

to his authority Afghans who, it was now evident, had only

carried out his secret, if not his expressed, wishes when
i

opposing our advance on Kabul. I decided, therefore, to

proclaim a free and complete amnesty* to all persons not

* The amnesty Proclamation ran as follows:

4 IvAltUL.

4 12/h Norentier, 1879.

‘To nil whom it may concern. On the 12th October a Proclamation
was iasued in which I offered a reward for the surrender of any person

who had fought against the Jiritish troops since the Hrd September,

nnd had thoreby become a rebel against the Amir Yakub Khan. I

have now received information which tends to show that some, at least,

of those who shared in the opposition encountered by the llritisli troops

during their advance on Kabul, were led to do so by the belief that the

Amir w*os a prisoner in my camp, and had called upon the soldiery and
People of Kabul to rise on his behalf. Such persons, although enemies



256 FORTY-ONE YEARS IN INDIA [1879

concerned, directly or indirectly, in the attack on the

Residency, or who were not found hereafter in possession

of property belonging to our countrymen or their escort,

on the condition that they surrendered their arms and

returned to their homes.

At Daud Shah’s suggestion, 1 sent three intiuential

Sirdars to the Logar, Kohistan, and Maidan valleys,

to superintend the collection of the amount of forage

which was to be levied from those districts ; and in

order to lessen the consumption at Kabul. I sent away all

elephants/ spare bullocks, and sick transport animals.

to the British Government, were not rebels against their own Sovereign,

unci the great British Government does not seek for \engeance against

enemies who no longer resist. It ina\ be that few only of those who
took up arms were thus led away b\ the statements of evil-minded

nuiii, but rather than punish the innocent with the guilty. 1 am willing

to believe that all were alike deceived. On behalf of the British

Government, therefore. I proclaim a free and complete amnesty to

all persons who have fought against the British troops since the

3rd September, provided that the> now gi\e up any arms in their

possession and return to their 1 ionics. The offer of a reward for the

surrender of such persons is now withdrawn, and the\ will not for the

future be molested in any way on account of their opposition to the

British advuncc; but it must be clcarl\ understood tlmt the benefits of

this amnesty do not extend to anyone, whether soldier or civilian,

who was concerned directly or indirectly in the attack upon the

Residency, or who may hereafter be found in possession of any

property belonging to members of the Embassy. To such persons no

mercy will be shown. Further, I hold out no promise of pardon to

those who, well knowing the Amir’s position in the British camp*
instigated the troops and people of Kabul to take up arms against the

British troops. They have been guilty of wilful rebellion against the

Amir's authority, and they will be considered and treated as rebels

wherever found.'

* There was a slight fall of snow on the lltli November, followed

by severe frost, and the olephants were beginning to suffer from the

eold. Three of them succumbed on the l.ataband Kotal, much to the
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In furtherance of the same object, as soon as Macpherson

returned, I sent Baker with a brigade into the Maidan

district, about twenty miles from Kabul, on the Ghazni

road, where the troopB could more easily be fed, as it was

the district from which a large proportion of our supplies

was « expected, and I also despatched to India all time-

expired men and invalids who were no longer fit for

service.*

Towards the end of November, Mr. Luke, the officer in

charge of the telegraph department, who had done admir-

Annoyance of the olfactory nerves of all passers-by. It was impossible

to bury the huge carcases, as the ground was all rock, and there was
not wood enough to burn them. So intense was the cold that the ink

froze in my pen, and I was obliged to keep my inkstand under my
pillow at night.

* This party marched towards India on the 14th November, followed

by a second convoy of sickly men on the 27th idem. On this latter

date the strength of the 1st and 2nd Divisions, Kabul Field Force, and

the Reserve at Peshawar was as follows

:

Hritinh Force. ! Native Force.
|

-

'
1-
1

Total.

Officers.

;

Hank &
File.

1

British
.Officers.,

j

Troops,
ji

1st Division, at and Around 1

i i

1

j

1

|

Kabul - ! 100 : 2,788
,

71 5,060
!

8,014
2nd Division, on the Kliyber | 1

\ 1
i

line ----- 90 2,885 118 8,590
|j

11,188

190 I

[

5,168 189 13,650
4,654 !

!
19,197

Keserve at Peshawar - 55 1,952 49
i

j

! 6,710

i

i

245 7,120 288
|

18,804 i 25,907

Total :— 488 British officers.

7,120 British troops.

18,804 Native troops.

Grand total 28,907 with 60 guns, 24 with 1st Division, and 86

with 2nd Division and the Keserve.
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able work throughout the campaign, reported that com-

munication was established with India. As, however,

cutting the telegraph-wires was a favourite amusement of

the tribesmen, a heliograph was arranged at suitable

stations between Landi Kotal and Kabul, which was

worked with fair success to the end of the war. Had we

then possessed the more perfect heliographic apparatus

which is now available, it would have made us, in that land

of bright sun, almost independent of the telegraph, so far

as connexion with Landi Kotal was concerned.

Hearing that Baker was experiencing difficulty in col-

lecting his supplies, I joined him at Maidan to satisfy

myself how matters stood. The headmen in the neigh-

bourhood refused to deliver the khalsa grain they had I>een

ordered to furnish, and, assisted by a body of Ghilzais from

Ghazni and Wardak, they attacked our Cavalry charged

with collecting it, and murdered our agent, Sirdar Mahomed

Hussein Khan. For these offences I destroyed the chief

monk’s fort and confiscated his store of grain, after which

there was no more trouble, and supplies came in freely. 1

returned to Kabul, and Baker, with his brigade, followed

me on the 1st December.

That same day Yakub Khan was despatched by double

marches to India, careful precautions having been taken

to prevent his being rescued on the way. When saying

good-bye to him, he thanked me warmly for the kind-

ness and consideration he had received, and assured me

that he left his wives and children in my hunds in the

fullest confidence that they would be w'ell treated and cared

for.

A week later I sent off the two Sirdars, Yahia Khan and
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Zakariah Khan, as well as the Wazir, whose guilt had been

clearly proved, and whose powerful influence, I had every

reason to believe, was being used to stir up the country

against us. The Mustaufl I allowed to remain; he had

been less prominent than the others in opposing us, and,

besides, I had an idea that he might prove useful to me in

the administration of the country.
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CHAPTER LV.

The general political situation, as it developed itself in

the early part of December, and the causes which appeared

to me to have contributed to produce it, may be briefly

summarized as follows. After the outbreak in the previous

September and the massacre of our Envoy, the advance of

the British force was too rapid to give the Afghans, as a

nation, time to oppose us. At Charasia, the troops, aided

by large numbers of the disaffected townspeople, were

conspicuously beaten in the open field ; their organization

as an armed body was at an end, and their leaders all

sought personal safety in flight.

It appears probable that at this period the general

expectation amongst the Afghans was that the British

Government would exact a heavy retribution from the

nation and city, and that, after vengeance had been satis-

fied, the army would be withdrawn.

Thirty-seven years before, a British massacre had been

followed by a temporary occupation of the city of Kabul,

and just as the troops of Pollock and Nott, on that occasion,

had sacked and destroyed the great bazaar and then retired,

so in 1879 the people believed that some signal punish-

ment would again be succeeded by the withdrawal of our
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troops. Thus a period of doubt and expectation ensued

after the battle of Charasia ;
the Afghans were waiting

on events, and the time had not arrived for a general

movement.

This pause, however, was marked by certain occurrences

which doubtless touched the national pride to the quick, and

which were also susceptible of being used by the enemies of

the British Government to excite into vivid fanaticism the

religious sentiment, which has ever formed a prominent

trait in the Afghan character.

The prolonged occupation by foreign troops of the for-

tified cantonment which had been prepared by the late

Amir Slier Ali for his own army ;
the capture of the large

park of Artillery, and of the vast munitions of war, which

had raised the military strength of the Afghans to a

standard unequalled among Asiatic nations ;
the destruc-

tion of their historic fortress, the residence of their Kings ;

and, lastly, the deportation to India of their Amir and his

principal Ministers, were all circumstances which united to

increase to a high pitch the antipathy naturally felt towards

a foreign invader.

The temper of the people being in this inflammable

condition, it was clear that only disunion and jealousy

amongst their Chiefs prevented their combining against us,

and that if any impetus could be given to their religious

sentiment Btrong enough to unite the discordant elements

in a common cause, a powerful movement would be initiated,

having for its object our annihilation or expulsion from

their country. Such an impetus was supplied by the

fervent preaching of the aged mullti Mushk-i-Alam,* who

* FrAgruncc of the universe.
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denounced the English in every mosque throughout the

country. The people were further incited to rise by the

appeals of the ladies of Yakub Khan’s family to popular

sympathy, and bribed to do so by the distribution of the

concealed treasure at their command.

The mullas, in short, became masters of the situa-

tion, and, having once succeeded in subordinating private

quarrels to hatred of the common foe, the movement rapidly

assumed the aspect of a religious war. The Afghan suc-

cesses of 1841-42 were cited as examples of what might

happen again, and the people were assured that, if they

would only act simultaneously, the small British army in

Sherpur would be overwhelmed, and the plunder of our

camp would be part of their reward.

From time to time reports reached me of what was going

on, and, from the information supplied to me, 1 gathered

that the Afghans intended to gain possession of the city,

and, after occupying the numerous forts and villages in

the neighbourhood of Sherpur, to surround the canton-

ment.

It was under the stimulating influences of religious

enthusiasm, patriotic and military ardour, the prestige of

former success, and the hope of remuneration and plunder,

that the Afghans took the field against us early in

December.

It was arranged that the forces from the south* should

seize the range of hills extending from Charasia to the

Shahr-i-Darwaza heights, including the fortifications of

the upper Bala Hissar and the high conical peak called the

* Viz., Logar, Zurmat, the Manga] and Jadran districts, and the

intervening Qhilzai country.
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Takht-i-Shah ; that those from the north* should occupy

the Asmai heights and hills to the north of Kabul ; and

those from the west! should make direct for the city.

As it was evident to me that these several bodies, when

once concentrated at Kabul, would be joined by the

thousands in the city, and the inhabitants of the adjoining

villages, I determined to try and deal with the advancing

foi'ces in detail, and disperse them, if possible, before the

concentration could be effected. 1 had, however, but a

very imperfect idea of the extent of the combination,

or of the enormous numbers arrayed against us. My
intelligence was most defective ; neither the nature of the

country nor the attitude of the people admitted of extended

reconnaissances, and I was almost entirely dependent for

information on Afghan sources. Some of the Afghan

soldiers in our ranks aided me to the best of their ability,

but by the Sirdars, notably Wali Mahomed Khan, I was,

either wilfully or from ignorance, grossly misinformed as to

the formidable character of the rising. But that there waB

serious trouble ahead was plain enough when the con-

flicting reports had been carefully sifted, and I thei'efore

thought it only prudent to telegraph to General Bright at

Jalalabad to push 011 the Guides Corps, although I was.

very much averse to augmenting the Sherpur garrison, and

thereby increasing the drain on our supplies.

In the meantime immediate action was necessary to carry

out my idea of preventing the different sections of the

enemy concentrating at Kabul. I accordingly prepared

two columns : one under Mucpherson, whose orders were

to attack the tribesmen coming from the north before they

1 Kohintan. f Mniditn and Ghazni.
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could join those advancing from the west ; the other under

Baker, who was instructed to place himself across the line

by which the enemy would have to retreat when beaten, as

I hoped they would be, by Macpherson.

Macpherson* started on the 8th towards Kila Aushar,

about three miles from Sherpur, en rout

e

to Arghandeh.

And on the following morning Baker, with a small force, t

proceeded to Chihal Dukhteran, giving out that his desti-

nation was the Logar valley, and that he would march

by Charasia, as I had directed him to make a feint in

that direction, and then to turn to the west, and place

himself between Arghandeh and Maidan, on the Ghazni

road.

To give Baker time to carry out this movement, I halted

Macpherson at Kilu Aushar on the !)th, whence he sent out

two reconnoitring parties—one in the direction of Koliistan,

the other, in charge of Lieutenant-Colonel Lockhart,'

A.Q.M.G., towards Arghandeh.

The intelligence brought in induced me to change my
orders to Macpherson. The first party reported that a

very considerable force of Kohistanis had collected at

Karez-i-Mir, about ten miles north of Kila Aushar, while

Lockhart had discovered large numbers of the enemy

moving from Arghandeh and Paghman towards Kohistan.

Accordingly, I directed Macpherson to attack the Kohis-

* Macpherson had with him the following troops : 4 guns It.H.A.

;

4 guns Mountain battery ; 1 squadron 9th Lancers ; 2 squadrons 14th

Bengal Lancers ; 401 rifles 67th Foot ; 609 rifles 3rd Sikhs ; 893 rifles

6th Ghurkas.

t Baker’s column consisted of : 4 guns Mountain battery ; 8 troops

5th Punjab Cavalry ; 25 Sappers and Miners ; 460 rifles 92nd High-

landers ; 450 rifles 6th Punjab Infantry.

t Now Lieutenant-General Sir William Lockhart. K.C.H., K.C.S.L
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tanis, in the hope of being able to disperse them before

the people from Ghazni could join them ; and, as the

part of the country through which he had to move was

unsuited to Horse Artillery and Cavalry, I ordered him to

leave the mounted portion of his column, except one

squadron of Cavalry, at Kila Aushar.

Macpherson made a rapid advance on (he morning of the

10th December, skirting the fringe of low hills which

intervenes between Kohistan and the Chardeh valley.

He reached the Surkh Kotal—which divides western

Kohistan from the Argliandeh valley—without opposition.

From this point, however, the Kohistanis were sighted,

occupying a position about two miles to his right front,

their centre on a steep, conical, isolated hill, at the base of

which lay the village of Karez-i-Mir.

Macpherson was now able to obtain a good view of the

Paghman and Chardeh valleys on his left and left rear, and

the numerous standards planted on the different knolls

near the villages of Paghman gave ample evidence of the

presence of the enemy discovered by Lockhart the previous

day, and showed him that, unless he could quickly succeed

in scattering the Kohistanis, he would find himself attacked

by an enemy in his rear, in fact, between two fires.

Macpherson made his disposition for an attack with skill

and rapidity. Leaving Lieutenant-Colonel Money with one

company of the G7th, live companies of the 3rd Sikhs, and

two guns, to hold the ridge, he sent the remainder of the

Sikhs to harass the enemy’s left dank and support the

Cavalry, who were ordered to hover about and threaten

the line of retreat, while Macpherson himself went forward

with the rest of the force.
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The Kohistanis retreated rapidly before oar skirmishers,

and the attacking party, protected by a well-directed fire

from Morgan’s guns, advanced with such promptitude that

the enemy made no attempt to rally until they reached the

conical hill, where they made a stubborn resistance. The

hill was carried by assault, its defenders were driven off,

leaving seven standards on the field, and Morgan, bringing

up his Artillery, inflicted severe loss on the flying Kohistanis.

On this occasion Major Cook, V.C., of the 5th Gurkhas,

was again noticed for hiB conspicuous gallantry, and Major

Griffiths, of the 3rd Sikhs, greatly distinguished himself.

Our casualties were one officer (Lieutenant-Colonel Fitz-

Hugh) and six men wounded.

It was evident that the tribesmen from the directions of

Arghandeli and Paghman intended to ascend the Surkh

Kotal, but suddenly they appeared to change their mindB,

on discovering, probably, that our troops held all the

commanding positions and that their allies were in full

flight.

Soon after noon on the 10th 1 received the report of

Macpherson’s success and the enemy’s retirement towards

Arghandeb. L at once sent off Lieutenant -Colonel B.

Gordon, B.H.A., with orders to intercept them with the

Horse Artillery and Cavalry at Aushar ; but when I rode

over myself later in the day to that place, 1 was much

disappointed to find that Gordon had not been able to give

effect to my instructions, us the enemy, on perceiving his

troops, dispersed and took shelter in the surrounding

villages and on the slopes of the hills.

Macpherson encamped for the night between the Surkh

Kotal and Karez - i • Mir, and Baker, who had steadily
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pursued his march along a very difficult road, halted a

short distance west of Maidan and eight miles only from

Arghandeh.

To Macpherson I sent orders to march very early

the next morning—the 11th—through Paghman towards

Arghandeh and in Baker’s direction ; at the same time I

informed him that Massy, whom 1 had placed in command

of the troops at Aushar, would, according to directions from

me, leave that place at nine o’clock to co-operate with him,

vid the Arghandeh and Ghazni road. That evening Massy

came to my room, and I carefully explained to him his part

in the next day’s proceedings ; I told him that he was to

advance cautiously and quietly by the road leading directly

from the city of Kabul towards Arghandeh, feeling for the

enemy ; that lie was to communicate with Macpherson and

act in conformity with that officer’s movements ;
and I

impressed upon him that he was on no account to commit

himself to an action until Macpherson had engaged the

enemy.

Up to this time the combination of tribesmen, which

later proved so formidable, had not been effected ; Mac-

phei'Hon for the time being had dispersed the Kohistanis

and checked the force advancing from Ghazni under the

leadership of Mahomed Jan
;

the Logaris and Ghilzais

were merely watching events, and waiting to see how it

fared with the Kohistani and Ghazni factions, before com-

mitting themselves to hostilities ; they had but recently

witnessed our successful advance through their country;

they knew that their homes and property would be at our

mercy should we be victorious, and they were uncertain aB

to Baker’s movements.
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On the morning of the 11th December,* therefore, only

one section was actually in opposition to us, that led by

Mahomed Jan, who during the night of the 10th had

taken up a position near the group of villages known as

Kila Kazi.

Further, I felt that Mahomed Jan must be disheartened at

our recent success, and at his failure to induce the Logans

to join him, and doubtless felt that a movement towards

Kabul would expose his left flank to Macplierson, while

his rear would be threatened by Baker.

The strength of Baker’s and Macpherson’s columns had

been carefully considered, as well as the routes they were

to take. I was thoroughly well acquainted with the ground

comprised in the theatre of the proposed operations, having

frequently ridden over it during the preceding two months

;

I was thus able to calculate to a nicety the difficulties each

column would have to encounter and the distances they

would have to cover, and arrange with the utmost pre-

cision the hour at which each Commander should move off

* On the 11th December, the troop* at and around Kabul amounted
to 6,852 men and 20 guns, which were thus disposed

:

Men . C! wnn.

Baker’s column - 1,325 4

Macpherson’s column - - 1,492 4

Massy’s column 351 4

At Sherpur - 3,184 8

6,852
There were besides at Butkhak and]

Lataband
)

******

And the Guides Corps, which reached]

Sherpur on the evening of the 1 1th l 670
December

f

20

2
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to insure a timely junction. So that when I left Sherpur

at ten o’clock on the 11th December to take command of

Macpherson’s and Massy’s columns as soon as they should

unite, I had no misgivings, and was sanguine that my
carefully arranged programme would result in the dis-

comfiture of Mahomed Jan ; but the events which followed

on that day afforded a striking exemplification of the un-

certainty of war, and of how even a very slight divergence

from a General’s orders may upset plans made with the

greatest care and thought, and lead to disastrous results.

Massy could not have clearly understood the part he was

meant to take in co-operation with Macpherson, for instead

of following the route I had directed him to take, he

marched straight across country to the Ghazni road, whjch

brought him face to face with the enemy before he could be

joined by Macpherson. In his explanatory report Massy

stated that he had been misled by a memorandum* which

lie received from the Assistant- Adjutant -General after his

interview with me (although this memorandum contained

nothing contradictory of the orders I had given him) ;
that

he understood from it that his business was to reach the

Ghazni road at its nearest point in the direction of

Arghandeh, and that he thought it better, with a thirty

miles’ march in prospect, to take the most direct line in

order to save his horses, to economize time in a short

December day, and to keep aB near as he could to the

* The memorandum was as follows :

• Brigadier-General Massy will start at eight a.m. to-morrow with a

squadron of Cavalry, join the Cavalry and Horse Artillery now out

under Colonel Gordon, taking command thereof, and operating towards

Arghandeh in conjunction with Brigadier-General Macpherson. The

troops to return in the evening.'
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column with which he was to co-operate
; further, he stated

that he was under the impression there was little likeli-

hood of his meeting with any of the enemy nearer than
Arghandeh.

On starting from Aushar Massy detached a troop of the
9th Lancers to communicate with Macpherson. This
reduced his column to 247 British and 14 Native Cavalry,
with 4 Horse Artillery guns.

As the party moved along the Chardeh valley, a loud
beating of drums was heard, and Captain Bloomfield
Gough, 9th Lancers, commanding the advance guard, per-
ceived when he 'had moved to about a mile north of Kila
Kazi, that the enemy were occupying hills on both sides
of the Ghazni road, about two miles to his left front, and
sent back word to that effect. Massy, not believing that
the Afghans had collected in any considerable numbers,
continued to advance : but he w-as soon undeceived by the
crowds of men and waving standards which shortly came into
view moving towards Kila Kazi. He then ordered Major
Smith-Wyndham to open fire, but the range, 2,900 yards
being considered by Colonel Gordon, the senior Artillery
officer, too far for his six-pounders, after a few rounds the
guns were moved across the Ghazni road, and again
brought into action at 2,500 yards; as this distance was
sbll found to be too great, they were moved to 2,000 yards.

e enemy now pressed forward on Massy’s left flank,
which was also his line of retreat, and the guns had to be
retired about a mile, covered on the right and left by the

,

®ncers ari^ 14th Bengal Lancers respectively,
an o owed so closely by the Afghans that when fire was
next opened they were only 1,700 yards distant. Four
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Horse Artillery guns could do nothing against such

numbers attacking without any regular formation, and

when the leading men came within carbine range, Massy

tried to stop them by dismounting thirty of the 9th Lancers :

but their fire ‘ had no appreciable effect.’

It was at this critical moment that I appeared on the

scene. Warned by the firing that an engagement was

taking place, I galloped across the Chardeh valley as fast

as my horse could carry me, and on gaining the open

ground beyond Bhagwana, an extraordinary spectacle was

presented to my view. An unbroken line, extending for

about two miles, and formed of not less than between 9,000

and 10,000 men, was moving rapidly towards me, all on

foot save a small body of Cavalry on their left flank—in

fact, the greater part of Mahomed Jan’s army. To meet

this formidable array, instead of Macpherson’s and Massy's

forces, which I hoped I should have found combined, there

were but 4 guns, 198 of the 9th Lancers under Lieutenant-

Colonel Cleland, 40 of the 14th Bengal Lancers under

Captain Philip Neville, and at some little distance Gough's

troop of the 9th Lancers, who were engaged in watching

the enemy’s Cavalry.

The inequality of the opi>osing forces was but too pain-

fully apparent. The first glance at the situation showed

me the hopelessness of continuing the struggle without

Infantry. Up to that moment our casualties had not been

many, as Afghans seldom play at long bowls, it being

necessary for them to husband their ammunition, and

when, as in the present instance, they outnumber their

Adversaries by forty to one, they universally try to come

to close quarters and use their knives.
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My first thought was how to secure the best and shortest

line of retreat ; it lay by Deh-i-Mazaug, but in order to use

it, the gorge close by that village had to be held ; for if the

enemy reached it first they
,
would have no difficulty in

gaining the heights above Kabul, which would practically

place the city at their mercy.

I was very anxious also to prevent any panic or disturb-

ance taking place in Kabul. 1 therefore told General Hills,

who just then opportunely joined me, to gallop to Sherpur,

explain to Brigadier-General Hugh Gough, who had been

placed in temporary command of that place, how matters

stood, and order 200 of the 72nd Highlanders to come to

Deh-i-Mazang with the least possible delay. I directed

Hills, after having delivered this message, to make for

the city, shut the gates, and do all in his power to

keep the people quiet, while warning the Kizilbashes* to

be prepared to defend their quarter. I then despatched

my nephew and A.D.C., Lieutenant John Sherston, to

MacplierBon to inform him of what had happened, and

desire him to push on with the utmost speed.

Having taken these precautionary measures, I sent

another A.D.C., Captain Pole Carew, to Brigadier-General

Massy to direct him to try and find a way by which the

guns could retire in case of a necessity, which appeared to

me to be only too probable.

The engagement had now become a question of time.

If Mahomed Jan could close with and overwhelm our small

force, Kabul would be his ; but if, by any possibility, his

* Kizilbashes are Persians by nationality and Shiah Mahomcdans
by religion. They fonned the vanguard of Nadir Shah’s invading

army, and after his death a number of them settled in Kabul, where

they exercise considerable influence.
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advance could be retarded until Macpherson should come

up, we might hope to retain possession of the city. It

was, therefore, to the Afghan leader’s interest to press on,

while it was to ours to delay him as long as we possibly

could.

Pole Carew presently returned with a message from

Massy that, the enemy were close upon him, and that he

could not keep them in check. I desired Pole Carew to

go back, order Massy to retire the guns, and cover the

movement by a charge of Cavalry.

The charge was led by Lieutenant-Colonel Cleland and

Captain Neville, the former of whom fell dangerously

wounded ; but the ground, terraced for irrigation purposes

and intersected by nullas, so impeded our Cavalry that

the charge, heroic as it was, made little or no impres-

sion upon the overwhelming numbers of the enemy, now

flushed with the triumph of having forced our guns to

retire. The effort, however, was worthy of the best

traditions of our British and Indian Cavalry, and that it

failed in its object was no fault of our gallant soldiers.

To assist them in their extremity, I ordered two of Smyth

-

Windham’s four guns to halt and come into action while the

other two continued to retire, but these had not gone far

before they got into such difficult ground that one had to

be spiked and abandoned in a water-cut, where Srnyth-

Windham found it when he came up after having fired a

few rounds at the fast-advancing foe. I now ordered Smyth-

Windham to make for the village of Bhagwana with his three

remaining guns, as the only chance left of saving them. This

he did, and having reached the village, he again opened fire

from behind a low wall which enclosed the houses ; but the

50VOL. II.
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ammunition being nearly expended, and the enemy close at

hand, there was nothing for it but to limber up again and

continue the retirement through the village. At the further

side, however, and forming part of its defences, was a

formidable obstacle in the shape of a ditch fully twelve feet

deep, narrowing towards the bottom ; across this Smyth-

Windham tried to take his guns, and the leading horses

had just begun to scramble up the further bank, when one

of the wheelers stumbled and fell, with the result that the

shafts broke and the gun stuck fast, blocking the only

point at which there was any possibility of getting the

others across.

With a faint hope of saving the guns, I directed

Captain Stewart-Mackenzie, who had assumed command

of the 9th Lancers on Cleland being disabled, to make a

second charge, which he executed with the utmost

gallantry,* but to no purpose ; and in the meanwhile

Smyth-Windham had given the order to unhook and spike

the guns.

By this time the enemy were within a few hundred

yards of Bhagwana, and the inhabitants had begun to fire

at us from the roofs of their houses. I was endeavour-

ing to help some men out of the ditch, when the head-

man of the village rushed at me with his knife, seeing

which, a Mahomedant of the 1st Bengal Cavalry, who

was following me on foot, having just had his horse shot

under him, sprang at my assailant, and, seizing him

* Stewort-Mackenzie's home was shot, and fell on him, and he was

extricated with the greatest difficulty.

t Mazr Ali was given the order of merit for his brave action, and

is now a Native officer in the regiment.
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round the waist, threw him to the bottom of the ditch,

thereby saving my life.*

Suddenly the Afghans stayed their advance for a few

minutes, thinking, as I afterwards learnt, that our Infantry

were in the village—a pause which allowed many of our

Cavalry who had lost their horses to escape.-f*

* Our Chaplain (Adams), who had accompanied me throughout the

day, behaved in this particular place with conspicuous gallantry.

Seeing a wounded man of the 9th Lancers staggering towards him,

Adams dismounted, and tried to lift the man on to his own charger.

Unfortunately, the mare, a very valuable animal, broke loose, and was
never seen again. Adams, however, managed to support the Lancer

until ho was able to make him over to some of his own comrades.

Adams rejoined me in tim»* to assist two more of the 9th who were

struggling under their horses at the bottom of the ditch. Without

a moment's hesitation, Adams jumped into the ditch. He was an

unusually powerful man, and by sheer strength dragged the Lancers

clear of their horses. The Afghans meanwhile had reached Bhagwana,

and were so close to the ditch that I thought my friend the padre

could not possibly escape. I called out to him to look after himself,

but he paid no attention to my warnings until he had pulled the almost

exhausted Lancers to the top of the slippery bank. Adams received

the Victoria Cross for his conduct on this occasion.

+ These men were much impeded by their long boots and their

swords dangling between their legs ; the sight, indeed, of Cavalry

soldiers trying to defend themselves 011 foot without a firearm confirmed

the opinion I had formed during the Mutiny, as to the desirability for

the carbine being slung on the man's back when going into action.

Lieutenant-Colonel Bushman (Colonel Cleland’s successor) curiously

enough hud brought with him from England a sling which admitted of

this being done, and also of the carbine being carried in the bucket on

all ordinary occasions. This pattern was adopted, and during the

remainder of the campaign the men of the 9th Lancers placed their

CArbinos on their backs whenever the enemy were reported to be in

sight. At the same time I authorized the adoption of an arrangement

—also brought to my notice by Colonel Bushman, by which the sword

was fastened to the saddle instead of round the man's body. This

mode of wearing the sword was for some time strenuously opposed

in this country, but its utility could not fail to be recognized, and in

1891 an order was issued sanctioning its adoption by all mounted troops.
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Directly we had got clear of the village the Cavalry

reformed, and retired slowly by alternate squadrons, in a

manner which excited my highest admiration, and reflected

the greatest credit on the soldierly qualities of Stewart-

Mackenzie and Neville. From Bhagwana, Deh-i-Mazang

was three miles distant, and it was of vital importance to

keep the enemy back in order to give the Highlanders from

Sherpur time to reach the gorge.

For a time the Afghans continued to press on as before,

but after a while their advance gradually became slower

and their numbers somewhat decreased. This change in

Mahomed Jan’s tactics, it afterwards turned out, was

caused by Macpherson’s advance guard coming into colli-

sion with the rear portion of his army; it was of the

greatest advantage to us, as it enabled the 72nd to arrive

in time to bar the enemy’s passage through the gorge.

My relief was great when I beheld them, headed by their

eager Commander, Brownlow, doubling through the gap

and occupying the village of Deh-i-Mazang and the heights

on either side. The Cavalry greeted them with hearty

cheers, and the volleys delivered by the Highlanders from

the roofs of the houses in the village soon checked the

Afghans, some of whom turned back, while others made

for Indiki and the slopes of the Takht-i-Shah. For a time,

at any rate, their hopes of getting possession of Kabul had

been frustrated.

It will be remembered that the orders I sent to Macpher-

son on the 10th were that he was to march very early the

next morning, as Massy with the Horse Artillery and

Cavalry would leave AuBhar at 9 a.m., and that he must

join him on the Arghandeh road. Macpherson did not
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make so early a start as I had intended ; from one cause or

another, he said, he was not able to leave Karez-i-Mir before

eight o’clock. On reaching the Surkh Ivotal he observed

dense bodies of the enemy hurrying from the Paghman

and Arghandeh directions towards Kila Kazi, and he

pushed on, hoping to be able to deal with them individually

before they had time to concentrate. For the first three

miles from the foot of the pass the view was obstructed by

a range of hills, and nothing could be seen of the Horse

Artillery and Cavalry ; but soon after 10 a.m. the booming

of guns warned Macpherson that fighting was going on,

but he could not tell whether it was Baker’s or Massy's

troops which were engaged. He was, however, not left

long in doubt, for Lieutenant Neville Chamberlain, attached

to Macpherson as political officer, and who had gone on

with his advance guard, sent back word that he could

distinguish British Cavalry charging the Afghans, and as

Baker had only Native Cavalry with him, Macpherson

knew at once that the action was being fought by Massy.

Suddenly the firing ceased, and he was informed that the

enemy were advancing on Kabul, and that their vanguard

had already reached the belt of orchards and enclosures,

on the further fringe of which the smoke from our guns

and the charge of our Cavalry had been seen.

Macpherson, feeling that something serious had occurred,

called on his men to make a further effort. At 12.80 p.m.,

less than an hour after we had begun to retire, he reached

the ground where the fight had taken place. The dead

bodies of our officers and men, stripped and horribly

mutilated, proved how fierce had been the struggle, and

the dropping shots which came from the fortified villages
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iii the neighbourhood and from the ravines, warned the

Brigadier-General that some of the enemy were still in the

neighbourhood. But these men, so bold in the confidence

of overwhelming numbers when attacking Massy’s Cavalry,

were not prepared to withstand Macpherson’s Infantry;

after a brief resistance they broke and fled in confusion,

some to Indiki, but the greater number to the shelter of the

hills south of Kila Kazi, to which place Macpherson followed

them, intending to halt there for the night. This I did not

allow him to do, for, seeing the heavy odds we had opposed

to us, and that the enemy were already in possession of the

Taklit-i-Shah, thus being in a position to threaten the Bala

Hissar, I sent orders to him to fall buck upon Deli-i-

Mazang, where he arrived about 7 p. 111 .

Meanwhile, Macpherson’s baggage, with a guard of the

5th Gurkhas, commanded by Major Cook, V.C., was

attacked by some Afghans, who had remained concealed

in the Paghman villages, and it would probably have

fallen into their hands, as the Gurkhas were enormously

outnumbered, but for the timely arrival of four companies

of the 3rd Sikhs, under Major Griffiths, who had been left

by Macpherson to see everything safely down the pasB.

Cook himself was knocked over and stunned by a blow, while

his brother in the 3rd Sikhs received a severe bullet-wound

close to his heart.

During the retirement from Bhagwanu, Macgregor, ray

Chief of the Staff, Durand, Badcock, and one or two other

staff officers, got separated from me and were presently

overtaken by an officer (Captain Gerald Martin), sent

by Macpherson to tell Massy he was coming to his

assistance as fast as his Infantry could travel ;
Martin
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informed Macgregor that aB he rode by Bhagwana he

had come across our abandoned guns, and that there was

no enemy anywhere near them. On hearing this, Macgregor

retraced his steps, and, assisted by the staff officers with

him and a few Horse Artillerymen and Lancers, and some

Gurkhas of Macpherson’s baggage guard picked up on the

way, he managed to rescue the guns and bring them into

Sherpur that night. They had been stripped of all their

movable parts, and the ammunition-boxes had been emptied

;

otherwise they were intact, and were fit for use the next day.

I found assembled at Deh-i-Mazang Wali Mahomed and

other Sirdars, who had been watching with considerable

anxiety the issue of the fight, for they knew if the Afghans

succeeded in their endeavours to enter Kabul, all property

belonging to people supposed to be friendly to us would be

plundered and their houses destroyed. I severely upbraided

these men for having misled me as to the strength and

movements of Mahomed Jan’s army, and with having

failed to fulfil their engagement to keep me in communi-

cation with Baker. They declared they had been misin-

formed themselves, and were powerless in the matter.

It was difficult to believe that this was the case, and I was

unwillingly forced to the conclusion that not a single

Afghan could he trusted, however profuse he might be in

his assurances of fidelity, and that we must depend entirely

on our own resources for intelligence.

I waited at Deh-i-Mazang until Macpherson arrived, and

thus did not get back to Sherpur till after dark. I was

gratified on my arrival there to find that Hugh Gough had

made every arrangement that could be desired for the

defence of the cantonment, and that by his own cool and
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confident bearing he had kept the troops calm and steady,

notwithstanding the untoward appearance of Borne fugitives

from the field of battle, whose only too evident state of

alarm might otherwise have caused a panic.

For the safety of Sherpur I never for one moment had

the smallest apprehension during that eventful day. It was,

I believe, thought by some that if Mahomed Jan, instead

of trying for the city, had made for the cantonment, it

would have fallen into his hands ; but they were altogether

wrong, for there were a sufficient number of men within the

walls to have prevented such a catastrophe had Mahomed

Jan been in a position to make an attack ; but this, with

Macpherson’s brigade immediately in his reur, he could

never have dreamt of attempting.

The city of Kabul remained perfectly quiet while all the

excitement I have described was going on outside. Hills,

with a few Sikhs, patrolled the principal streets, and even

when the Afghan standard appeared on the Takht-i-Shah

there was no sign of disturbance. Nevertheless, I thought

it would be wise to withdraw from the city ; I could not tell

how long the people would remain well disposed, or whether

they would assist us to keep the enemy out. I therefore

directed Hills to come away and make over his charge to

an influential Kizilbash named Futteh Khan. I also

telegraphed to General Bright at Jalalabad to reinforce

Gandamak by a sufficient number of troops to hold that

post in case it should be necessary to order Brigadier-

General Charles Gough, who was then occupying it, to

move his brigade nearer to Kabul ; for I felt sure that,

unless I could succeed in driving Mahomed Jan out of the

neighbourhood of Kabul, excitement would certainly spread
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along my line of communication. I concluded my message

to Bright thus :
‘ If the wire should be cut, consider it a

bad sign, and push on to tiandamak, Bending Gough's

brigade towards Kabul.’

I could not help feeling somewhat depressed at the turn

things had taken. I had no news from Baker, and we had

undoubtedly suffered a reverse, which I knew only too well

would give confidence to the Afghans, who, from the footing

they had now gained on the heights above Kabul, threat-

ened the Bala Hissar, which place, stored as it was with

powder and other material of war, I had found it necessary

to continue to occupy. Nevertheless, reviewing the incidents

of the 11th December, as I have frequently done since, with

all the concomitant circumstances deeply impressed on my
memory, I have failed to discover that any disposition of

my force different from that I made could have had better

results, or that what did occur could have been averted by

greater forethought or more careful calculation on my
part. Two deviations from m3' programme (which probably

at the time appeared unimportant to the Commanders in

question) were the principal factors in bringing about the

unfortunate occurrences of that day. Had Macpherson

marched at 7 a.m. instead of 8 , and had Massy followed

the route I had arranged for him to take, Mahomed Jan

must have fallen into the trap I had prepared for him.

Our casualties on the lltli were— killed, 4 British

officers, 16 British and 9 Native rank and file
;
wounded,

4 British officers, 1 Native officer, 20 British and 10 Native

rank and file.
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CHAPTER LVI.

On the morning of the l‘2th I was cheered by hearing

that the Guides had arrived during the night under the

command of Colonel F. Jenkins— a most welcome rein-

forcement, for I knew how thoroughly to be depended

upon was every man in that distinguished corps.

The first thing now to be done was to endeavour to

drive the Afghans from the crest of the Takht-i-Shah ; and

I directed Macpherson, as soon as his men had breakfasted,

to attack the position from Deh-i-Mazang. Just then my
mind was considerably relieved by a heliogram from Baker

informing me that he was on his way back to Kabul. The

message was despatched from near Kila Kazi, within four

miles of which place Baker had encamped on the afternoon

of the previous day.

Macpherson deputed the task of trying to dislodge the

enemy to Lieutenant-Colonel Money, of the 3rd Sikhs, with

a detachment consisting of 2 Mountain guns and 5(>0

British and Native Infantry.

It was a most formidable position to attack. The slopes

leading up to it were covered with huge masses of jagged

rock, intersected by perpendicular cliffs, and its natural
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great strength was increased by breastworks, and stockades

thrown up at different points.

After a gallant and persistent attempt had been made,

I ordered the assault to be deferred ; for I perceived that

the enemy were being reinforced from their rear, and to

ensure success without great loss, it would be necessary to

attack them in rear as well as in the front. The arrival

of Baker’s brigade made it possible to do this. I there-

fore ordered Macpherson to hold the ground of which he

had gained possession until Baker could co-operate with

him next morning from the Beni Hissar side.

During the night Mahomed Jan, who had been joined by

several thousands from Logar and Wardak, occupied the

villages situated between Beni Hissar and the Bala Hissar

and along the miifi-i-nawishtu road. Baker, who started

at 8 a.m. on the 13th,* had, therefore, in the first place, to

gain the high ground above these villages, and, while

holding the point over-looking Beni Hissap, to wheel to his

right and move towards the Takht-i-Sliah.

When he had proceeded some little distance, his advance

guard reported that large bodies of the enemy were moving

up the slope of the ridge from the villages near Beni Hissar.

To check this movement, and prevent the already very

difficult Afghan position being still further strengthened,

Major White, who was in command of the leading portion

of the attacking party, turned and made for the nearest

point on the ridge. It was now a race between the High-

* His force consisted of 4 guns, Field Artillery ; 4 Mountain guns

;

1 squadron Oth Lancers ; 6th Punjab Cavalry ; 6 companies 92nd

Highlanders ; 7 companies Guides ; and 800 8rd Sikhs ; and sub-

sequently it was strengthened by 160 of the 6th Punjab Infantry.
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landers and the Afghans as to who should gain the crest of

the ridge first. The Artillery came into action at a range

of 1,200 yards, and under cover of their fire the 92nd,

supported by the Guides, rushed up the steep slopes.

They were met by a furious onslaught, and a desperate

conflict took place. The leading officer, Lieutenant

Forbes, a lad of great promise, was killed, and Colour-

Sergeant Drummond fell by his side. For a moment even

the brave Highlanders were staggered by the numbers and

fury of their antagonists, but only for a moment. Lieu-

tenant Dick Cunyngham* sprang forward to cheer them

on, and confidence was restored. With a wild shout the

Highlanders threw themselves on the Afghans, and quickly

succeeded in driving them down the further side of the

ridge.

By this successful movement the enemy’s line was cut

in two, and while the Cavalry and a party of the 3rd Sikhs

prevented their ^rallying in the direction of Beni Hissar,

the 92nd and Guides, protected by the Mountain guns,

which had been got on to the ridge, and the Field

Artillery from below, advanced towards the Takht-i-Shah.

The Afghans disputed every inch of the way, but by

11.80 a.m. White’s men had reached the foot of the

craggy eminence which formed the enemy’s main position.

They were here joined by some of the 72nd Highlanders,

3rd Sikhs, and 5th Gurkhas, under the command of *

Lieutenant -Colonel Money, who had fought their way

from the upper Bala Hissar.

A brilliant charge by the combined troops now took

* Dick Cunyngham received the Victoria Cross for conspicuous

gallantry and coolness on this occasion.
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place, the two Highland corps vying with each other for

the honour of reaching the summit first. It fell to the

72nd, Colour-Sergeant Yule* of that regiment being the

foremost man on the top. The enemy made a most deter-

mined stand, and it was only after a severe struggle and

heavy loss that they were driven off the heights.

From my position at Sherpur I had the satisfaction of

witnessing this success. This satisfaction, however, was

short-lived, for almost immediately I received a report from

the city that the inhabitants had joined the tribesmen, and

that the cantonment was being threatened ; indeed, I could

see large bodies of armed men emerging from the city and

moving towards Siah Sang, whence the road between the

Bala Hissar and Sherpur would be commanded.

Having only too evidently lost control over the city, the

value of Deh-i-Mazang was gone, so I ordered Macpherson to

abandon it and move to the Shahr-i-Darwaza heights, taking

with him six companies of the (57th Foot for the protection

of the Bala Hissar, to which it was desirable to hold on as

long as possible. The remainder of his troops I ordered to

be sent to Sherpur. To Baker I signalled to leave a party

on the Tnkht-i-Shah under Lieutenant-Colonel Money, and

to move himself towards the cantonment with the rest of

his troops, driving the enemy off the Siah Sang on the way.

But from his point of vantage on the heights Baker could

. see, what I could not, that the Afghans had occupied two

strongly fortified villages between Siah Sang and the Bala

Hissar, from which it was necessary to dislodge them

in the first instance, and for this service he detached the

* This gallant noii-coiutnissioned officer was killed the following

‘lay.
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6th Punjab Infantry and a battery of Artillery. It was

carried out in a masterly manner by Major Pratt, who

soon gained possession of one village. The other, however,

was resolutely held, and the Artillery failing to effect a

breach, the gates were set on fire ; but even then a satis-

factory opening was not made, and the place was eventually

captured by means of scaling-ladders hastily made of poles

tied together with the Native soldiers’ turbans.

Baker was now able to turn his attention to Siali Sang,

so I despatched the Cavalry under Massy, to act with him

when a signal success was achieved. The enemy fought

stubbornly, but were at last driven off. The 5th Punjab

Cavalry, led by Lieutenant-Colonel Williams and Major

Hammond, greatly distinguished themselves, and a grand

charge was made by the Cuides and !)th Lancers, in which

Captain Butson, of the latter regiment, was killed, also the

troop Sergeant-Major and 3 men ; and Captain Chisholme,*

Lieutenant Trower, and 8 men were wounded.

This ended the operations on the 13th. Our losses

during the day were : killed, 2 British officers and 12 men

;

wounded, 2 British officers and 43 men, British and Native.

I was in great hopes that our successes and the heavy

losses the enemy had sustained would result in the break-

ing up of the combination against us ; but in case these

hopes should not be realized, I decided to do away with

some of the smaller posts on the line of communication,

and order up more troops. Accordingly, I telegraphed to

General Bright to send on Charles Gough’s brigade, and I

* Notwithstanding that his wound was most sovere, Captain

Chisholme remained in the saddle, and brought the regiment out of

action.
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directed the detachment at Butkhak to return to Kabul,

and that at Seh Baba to fall back on Lataband. Having

great confidence in its Commander, Colonel Hudson, I

determined to hold on to Lataband for a time, though by so

doing the numbers I might otherwise have had at Sherpur

were considerably diminished. Lataband was the most im-

portant link in the chain of communication between Kabul

and Jalalabad ; it was in direct heliographic connexion

with Kabul ; it had sufficient ammunition and supplies

to last over the date on which Gough should arrive at

Sherpur, and its being held would be a check on the

Ghilzais, and prevent his encountering any serious oppo-

sition. At the same time, I could not disguise from my-

self that there was a certain amount of risk attached to

leaving so small a garrison in this somewhat isolated

position.

The night of the 18th passed quietly, but when day

dawned on the 14th crowds of armed men, with numerous

standards, could be seen occupying a hill on the Kohistun

road ; and as day advanced they proceeded in vast numbers

to the Asmai heights, where they were joined by swarms

from the city and the Chardeh valley. It then became

apparent that the combination was much more formidable

than I had imagined, and that the numbers of the enemy

now in opposition to us were far greater than I had dreamt

was possible. Foiled in their attempt to close in upon us

from the south and west, the tribesmen had concentrated to

the north, and it was evident they were preparing to deliver

an attack in great strength from that quarter. I quickly

decided to drive the enemy off the Asmai heights, to cut

their communication with Kohistan, and to operate towards
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the north, much as I had operated the previous day to the

south of Sherpur.

At 9 a.m. I despatched Brigadier-General Baker to the

eastern slope of the Asmai range with the following troops :

4 guns, Field Artillery ; 4 guns, Mountain Artillery
; 14th

Bengal Lancers ; 7*2nd Highlanders (192 rifles) ; 92nd

Highlanders (100 rifles) ; Guides Infantry (460 rifles) ; and

5th Punjab Infantry (470 rifles).

Covered by the fire of his Artillery, Baker seized the

conical hill which formed the northern boundary of the

Aliabad Kotal, thus placing himself on the enemy’s line of

communication, and preventing them from being reinforced.

He then proceeded to attack the Asmai heights, leaving

2 Mountain guns, 64 men of the 72nd, and 60 Guides, under

the command of Lieutenant-Colonel W. H. Clarke, to hold

the hill.

To aid Baker in his difficult task, I brought four guns

into action near the north-west corner of the cantonment,

and I signalled to Macpherson to give him every possible

assistance. Macpherson at once sent the 67th across the

Kabul river to threaten the enemy’s left rear ; while the

marksmen of the regiment and the Mountain guns opened

fire from the northern slope of the Bala Hissar heights.

The enemy fought with the greatest obstinncy, but

eventually our troops reached the top of the hill, where, on

the highest point, a number of (fhazi* had taken their stand,

determined to sell their lives dearly.

All this I eagerly watched from my place of observation.

There was a fierce struggle, and then, to my intense

relief, I saw our men on the topmost pinnacle, and 1 knew

the position was gained.
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It was now a little past noon, and I was becoming

anxious about tlie party left: on the conical hill, as Mac-

pherson had heliographed that very large bodies of

Afghans were moving northwards from Indiki, with the

intention, apparently, of effecting a junction with the

tribesmen who were occupying the hills in the Kohistan

direction. I therefore signalled to Baker to leave the 67th

in charge of the Asmai heights, and himself return to the

lower ridge, giving him my reasons.

Baker at once despatched a detachment of the 5th

Punjab Infantry, under Captain Hall, to reinforce Clarke,

who I could see might soon be hard pressed, and I sent

200 rifles of the 8rd Sikhs (the only troops available at the

moment) to his assistance.

I watched what was taking place on the conical hill

through my telescope, and was startled to perceive that the

enemy were, unnoticed by him, creeping close up to Clarke’s

position. I could just see a long Afghan knife appear above

the ridge, steadily mounting higher and higher, the bearer

of which was being concealed by the contour of the hill, and

I knew that it was only one of the many weapons which were

being carried by our enemies to the attack. The reinforce-

ments were still some distance off, and my heart sank within

me, for I felt convinced that after our recent victories the

Afghans would never venture to cross the open and attack

British soldiers unless an overwhelming superiority of

numbers made success appear to them a certainty. Next I

heard the boom of guns and the rattle of musketry, and a

minute or two later (which, in my anxiety, seemed an

eternity to me), I only too plainly saw our men retreat-

ing down the hill, closely followed by the enemy. The

von. 11 .
61
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retirement was being conducted steadily and slowly, but

from that moment I realized, what is hard for a British

soldier, how much harder for a British commander, to

realize, that we were over-mate lied, and that we could not

hold our ground.

Clarke,* as well as every man with him, fought splendidly;

the Afghans by force of numbers alone made themselves

masters of the position and captured two guns.+

While all that I have described was going on, the enerny

began to collect again on Siah Sang, and to make their

way round the eastern Hank of the cantonment towards

Kohistan.

I had sent orders in tho morning to Lieutenant-Colonel

Williams, who was quartered with his regiment (the 5th

Punjab Cavalry) in the King’s Garden, between Sherpur

and the city, to be on the look-out, and not to allow any of

the enemy to pass in that direction. About 1 p.m. some

400 Afghans were observed moving along the left bank of

the river : these were met by Captain Yousden of the same

* Clarke never recovered the loss of this post. He and I had been

cadets together at Sandhurst, and 1 often visited him while he was in

hospital at Sherpur. He was apparently sulTeriug from no disease,

but gradually faded away, and died not long after he reached India.

t General Baker, in his despatch, stated that ‘ No blame for the loss

of these guns is in any way to bo attached to the officers and men of

No. 2 Mountain Mattery. , . . Kvcrj credit is due to Captain

Swinley, the late Lieutenant Montanaro, and Lieutenant Liddell, and

the several Native officers, non-commissioned officers and men com-

posing the gun detachments, for the gallant manner in which they

stood to their guns to the last, and it was only on the sudden rush of

this overwhelming force of the enemy that they had to retire with the

loss of two guns.’

Of the men composing the gun detachments, one was killed and

six wounded, and Surgeon-Major Joshua l)ukc was specially men-

tioned for his attention to the wounded under heavy fire.
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regiment, who with one troop was employed in recon-

noitring : he most gallantly charged in amongst them with

only twelve of his men, the remainder being effectually

stopped by a heavy fire opened upon them from behind a

low wall. Vousden succeeded in dispersing these heavy

odds, and in inflicting severe loss upon them—a very

brilliant service, for which he received the Victoria Cross.

My object throughout these operations had been, as I

hope I have made clear, to break up the combination

by dealing with the enemy in detail, and preventing them

getting possession of the city and the Bala Hissar.

Up till noon on the 14th I had no idea of the extra-

ordinary numbers they were able to bring together, and I

had no reason to believe that it would be possible for

them to cope with disciplined troops : but the manner in

which the conical hill had been retaken gave me a more

correct idea of their strength and determination, and shook

my confidence in the ability of my comparatively small

force to resist the ever - increasing hordes, on ground

which gave every advantage to numerical superiority. It

was a bitter thought that it might be my duty to retire

for a time within the defences of Sherpur, a measure which

would involve the abandonment of the city and the Bala

Hissar, and which I knew, moreover, would give henrt to

the tribesmen.

I had to decide at once on the course I ought to pursue,

for, if I continued to act on the defensive, food and ammu-
nition must be sent before dark to Macpherson’s brigade

occupying the hills above the city, and arrangements must
be made for Baker’B retention of the Asmai heights. I

heliographed to Macpherson to inquire the direction in
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which the enemy were moving, and whether their numbers

were still increasing. He replied that large masses were

steadily advancing from north, south, and west, and that

their numbers were momentarily becoming greater, to

which the young officer in charge of the signalling station

added, ‘The crowds of Afghans in the Chardeh valley

remind me of Epsom on the Derby day.’

This decided me ; I determined to withdraw from all

isolated positions, and concentrate my force at Sherpur,

thereby securing the safety of the cantonment and avoiding

what had now become a useless sacrifice of life. I only too

thoroughly recognized the evils of the measure, but I con-

sidered that no other course would be justifiable, and that

I must act for the present entirely on the defensive, and

wait until the growing confidence of the enemy should

afford me a favourable opportunity for attacking them, or

until reinforcements could arrive.

The inevitable order reached the two Generals at 2 p.m.,

and the retirement was begun at once. The Afghans

speedily discovered the retrograde movement, and no sooner

had each post in its turn been evacuated than it was

occupied by the enemy, who pressed our troops the whole

way back to the cantonment. There waB hand-to-hand

fighting, and many splendid acts of courage were performed,

Major Hammond, of the Guidos, earning the Victoria Cross

;

but throughout there was no hurry or confusion, all was

conducted with admirable coolness and skill, and shortly

after dark the troops and baggage were Bafe inside Sherpur.

That night the Afghans occupied the city and the Uala

Hissar.
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It is comparatively easy for a small body of well-trained

soldiers, such as those of which the army in India is com-

posed, to act on the offensive against Asiatics, however

powerful they may be in point of numbers. There is some-

thing in the determined advance of a compact, disciplined

body of troops which they can seldom resist. But a retire-

ment is a different matter. They become full of confidence

and valour the moment they see any signs of their opponents

being unable to resist them, and if there is the smallest

symptom of unsteadiness, wavering, or confusion, a disaster

is certain to occur. It may be imagined, therefore, with

what intense anxiety I watched for hours the withdrawal.

The ground was all in favour of the Afghans, who, un-

impeded by impedimenta of any kind, swarmed down upon

the mere handful of men retreating before them, shouting

cries of victory and brandishing their long knives ; but our

brave men, inspired by the undaunted bearing of their

officers, were absolutely stead}’. They took up position

after position with perfect coolness ;
every movemont was

carried out with as much precision as if they were

manoeuvring on an ordinary field-day ; and the killed and

wounded were brought away without the slightest hurry

or confusion. In fact, the whole of the hazardous

operation was most successfully and admirably carried

out ; and as each regiment and detachment tiled through

the Head-Quarters gateway I was able to offer my warm

congratulations and heartfelt thanks to my gallant

comrades.

Our losses during the day were: 19 killed, including

Captain Spens and Lieutenant Gaisford, 7‘2nd Highlanders,
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and 88 wounded, amongst whom were Captain Gordon,

92nd Highlanders, Lieutenant Egerton, 72nd Highlanders,

and Captain Battye, of the Guides.*

* The same officer who so gallantly met his death during the recent

Chitral campaign, while commanding the regiment of which he was so

justly proud, and in which two brave brothers had been killed before

him—Quinton at Delhi, and Wgram during the first phase of the

Afghan war.
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Thr moment the gates were closed I telegraphed the

result of the day’s operations to the Viceroy and Com-
mander-in-Chief, for I knew that the enemy’s first thought

would be to stop communication with India by cutting the

telegraph-wires. I reported that I had ordered Brigadier-

General Charles Gough’s brigade to push on from Gan-

damak as fast as possible ; and I recommended that

General Bright should have more troops sent up to him, to

allow of his keeping open the route to Kabul, and of his

reinforcing me should I find it impossible to clear the

country with the force at my disposal. It was a satisfac-

tion to be able to assure the authorities in these, to me,

otherwise painful telegrams, that there was no cause for

anxiety as to the safety of the troops ; that sufficient

supplies for men were stored in Sherpur for nearly four

months, and for animals for six weeks ; that there was

abundance of firewood, medicines, and hospital comforts,

and sufficient ammunition both for guns and rifles to admit

of an active resistance being carried on for between three

and four months.

It was fortunate there was no lack of provisions, for our

numbers were considerably increased by the presence of
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Wali Mahomed Khan and many other Sirdars, who begged

for shelter in Sherpur, on the plea that their lives would not

be safe were they to return to the city. They were far from

being welcome guests, for I could not trust them
; ostensibly,

however, they were our friends, and I could not refuse

their petition. I therefore admitted them, on condition

that each Sirdar should only be accompanied by a specified

number of followers.

The stormy occurrences of the 14th were succeeded by a

period of comparative calm, during which the entrench-

ments were strengthened, and the heavy guns found in the

Kabul arsenal were prepared for service.

The great drawback to Sherpur, as I have already men-

tioned, was its extent and the impossibility of reducing the

line of defences owing to the length of the Bimaru ridge.

The cantonment was in the form of a parallelogram, with

the Bimaru heights running along, and protecting, the

northern side. Between this range and the hills, which

form the southern boundary of Kohistan, lay a lake, or

rather jhil, a barrier between which and the commanding

Bimaru ridge no enemy would dare to advuncc.

The massive wall on the south and west faces was twenty

feet high, covered at a distance of thirty feet by a lower

wall fifteen feet high ; the southern wall was pierced at

intervals of about 700 yards by gateways, three in number,

protected by lofty circular bastions, and between these and

at the four corners were a series of low bastions which

gave an admirable flanking fire. The wall on the western

flank was of similar construction, but had been consider-

ably damaged at the northern end, evidently by an ex-

plosion of gunpowder.
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The weak part of our defence wan on the eastern face,

where the wall, which had never been completed, was only

seven feet high, and did not extend for more than 700

yards from the south-east corner ; the line then ran to the

north-west, and, skirting the village of Bimaru, ended at the

foot of the ridge.

From this description it will be seen that, though the

perimeter* of Sherpur was rather too large for a force of

7,000 effective men to defend, its powers of resistance, both

natural and artificial, were considerable. It was absolutely

necessary to hold the Bimaru ridge for its entire length

;

to have given up any part of it would have been to repeat

the mistake which proved so disastrous to Elpliinstone's

armjr in 1841. In fact, the Bimaru heights were at once

the strength and tlio weakness of the position. So long

as we could hold the heights we were safe from attack

from the north ;
but if we bad been forced, either from

the weakness of our own garrison, or from any other cause,

to relinquish the command of this natural barrier, the

whole of the cantonment must have lain open to the

enemy, and must forthwith have become untenable.

The question of how Sherpur could best be defended had

been carefully considered by a committee, + assembled by

my orders soon after our arrival in Kabul ; and a scheme

had been drawn up detailing the measures which should

be adopted in case of attack.

On the recommendation of this committee six towers had

been constructed on the Bimaru heights, and shelter

* Four and a half miles.

t The committee consisted of Brigadier-General T. D. Baker,

Lieutenant-Colonel AS. Perkins, commanding Royal Engineers, and

Lieutenant-Colonel B. Gordon, commanding Royal Artillery.
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trenches and gunpits made at the points where Infantry

and Artillery fire could be used with the greatest advantage.

These trenches were now deepened and prolonged, so as to

form one continuous line of defence, protected by an abattis

;

and the defences in the depression between the heights were

so arranged that fire could be brought to bear on an enemy

advancing from the north. To strengthen the north-east

comer, a battery was thrown up on the slope of the ridge,

which was connected with the tower above and the village

below. The village itself was loop-holed, the outlying

buildings to the front made defensible, und the open space

to the north-east secured by abattis and wire entangle-

ments. The Native Field Hospital was strengthened in

like manner, and sand-bag purapets were piled upon the

roof, which was somewhat exposed.

The unfinished wall on the eastern face was raised by

logs of wood, and abattis and wire entanglements were

placed in front. In the open space lying between the

Bimaru ridge and the north-west circular bastion, a defence

on the laatjer system was constructed out of gun-carriages

and limbers captured from the enemy ; while the village of

Ghulam Hasan Khan, which formed an excellent Hanking

defence along the northern and western faces, was hold

as an independent post.

I divided the whole of the defences into five sections,

under the superintendence of five different commanders

:

Brigadier-General Macpherson, Colonel Jenkins, Brigadier-

General Hugh Gough, Major-General Hills, and Colonel

Brownlow. Brigadier-General Massy was given the centre

of the cantonment, where were collected the forage and fire-

wood ; and Brigadier-General Baker commanded the reserve,



1879J DEFEXCE OF SHERPUR 299

which was formed up at the depression in the Bimaru heights

mentioned above, that he might be able to move rapidly to

either end of the ridge, the weakest points in our defences.

The several sections were connected with each other and

with my Head-Quarters by a telegraph-wire, and visual

signalling was established at all important points.

In my arrangements for the defence of Sherpur I relied

to a great extent on the advice of my accomplished Chief

Engineer, Colonel *Eneas Perkins, and it was mainly owing

to him, and to the exertions of his competent staff, that the

work was carried on as rapidly and satisfactorily as it was.

During these days of preparation the enemy remained

comparatively inactive, being chiefly employed in looting

the city and emptying the Amirs arsenal. The gun-

powder had been destroyed as far as possible ; but a great

deal still remained, and many tons of it were carried off by

the army of Mahomed Jan, who had now become the

practical leader of the Afghan combination, and had lately

proclaimed Yakub Khan’s eldest son, Musa Khan, Amir.

On the afternoon of the 16tli I received the welcome

news that Colonel Hudson had successfully resisted an

attack on his position by the Ghilzais—welcome because

I could now feel assured that Lataband could be depended

upon to hold its own.

For the next five days nothing of much importance was

done on either side. The enemy took up positions daily

in the neighbouring forts and gardens, causing a few

casualties, and some of our troops moved out to dislodge

them from those places from which they could specially

annoy us. I destroyed some of the forts, and removed

other cover in the immediate vicinity of the walls ;
but I
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did not undertake any large sorties, for to have attempted to

drive the enemy out of the outlying posts, which I could not

then have held, would have been a useless waste of strength.

My chief trouble at this time waB the presence of the

Afghan Sirdars within the cantonment. I had good reason

to believe that Borne of them, though full of protestations

of friendship, had been in communication with Mahomed

Jan, the high-priest Muslik-i- Alam, and other Afghan

leaders, so that I felt sure that neither they nor their

followers were to be depended upon. I was also some-

what anxious about the Pathan soldiers in our ranks, a

feeling which I was unwilling to acknowledge even to

myself, for they had hitherto behaved with marked loyalty,

and done splendid service ;
but they were now being ex-

posed to a most severe trial, in that they were, as I knew

,

being constantly appealed to by their co-religionists to join

in the jahatl against ps, and bitterly reproached for serving

their infidel masters. Whether they would be strong

enough to resist such appeals, it was impossible to tell ;
but

it would have been most unwise, as well us most painful to

me, to show the slightest suspicion of these fine soldiers.

It happened that the Corps of Guides and 5th Punjab

Infantry, which had of all regiments the largest number of

Mahomedans amongst them, were located at the two ex-

tremities of the Bimaru range, the points most likely to be

attacked; to have made any change in the disposition

would have been to show that they were suspected, so I

determined (after taking their commanding officers, Colonels

Jenkins and McQueen, into my confidence) to leave them

where they were, and merely to strengthen each post by a

couple of companies of Highlanders.
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I was also considerably exercised about the safety of the

large stacks of firewood, grain, and forage, for if anything

had happened to them we could not have continued to hold

Sherpur. There were not enough British soldiers to furnish

guards for these stacks, so I was obliged to have them

watched for a time by officers ; an opportune fall of

snow, however, on the night of the 18th, rendered in-

cendiarism impossible.

One other extremely unpleasant precaution 1 felt it my
duty to take was the placing of Baud Shah, Yakub Khan’s

Commander-in-Chief, under arrest. 1 liked the man, and

he had pixed freely with us all for more than two

months. He was not, however, absolutely above suspicion :

some of his near relatives were the most prominent amongst

our enemies ; and 1 had been struck by a change in his

manner towards me of late. In trusting him to the extent

I had done, I acted against the opinion of almost everyone

about me, and now that I had a doubt myself, I felt I was

not justified in leaving him at liberty, for if he were disposed

to make use of his opportunities to our disadvantage, his

unrestrained freedom of movement and observation would

be certainly a source of great danger.

For three or four days cloudy weather prevented helio-

graph communication with Latabnnd, and messengers sent

by Hudson had failed to reach Sherpur, so that we were

without any news from the outer world ;
but on the after-

noon of the 18th I received a letter from Brigadier-General

Charles Gough, conveying the disappointing intelligence

that he had only got as far as Jagdalak, twenty-one miles

from Gandamak, and that he did not consider himself

strong enough to advance on Kabul.
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Gough no doubt felt himself in nn awkward position.

The line to his rear was weakly held, the telegraph-wire on

both sides of him was cut, his rear guard had been attacked

near Jagdalak, there was a considerable collection of men

on the hills to his front, and, as he reported, ‘ the whole

country was up.’ Moreover, Major-General Bright, under

whom Gough was immediately serving, shared his opinion

that it would be wiser for him to wait until reinforcements

came up from the rear.

Gough, however, had with him 4 Mountain guns and 125

Artillerymen, 78 Sappers and Miners, 222 Native Cavalry,

487 British Infantry, and 474 Gurkhas; in all, 1^881 men,

besides 86 officers—not a very large force, but composed of

excellent material, and large enough, I considered, aug-

mented, as it would be, by the Latuband detachment, to

move safely on Kabul. I had no hesitation, therefore, in

sending Gough peremptory orders to advance without

delay, thus relieving him of all responsibility in the event

of anything unexpected occurring.

Hudson, at Lataband, as has already been recorded, was

only victualled until the 23rd, before which date I had

calculated that Gough would surely have relieved the

garrison and brought the troops away. But now all was

uncertain, and it was incumbent upon me to send them food.

The difficulty as to how to get supplies to Lataband was

solved by some Hazaras, who had been working in our

camp for several weeks, volunteering to convey what was

necessary, and it was arranged that the provisions should

be sent with two parties, one on the 19th, the other on the

20th. The first got through safely, but the second almost

entirely fell into the hands of the enemy.
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On the 21st a heliogram from Hudson informed me that

(rough’s brigade was expected the next day ; but as it

had been found necessary to drop his Cavalry at the

several posts he passed on the way for their better pro-

tection, I deemed it expedient to send him the 12th Bengal

Cavalry, for he had to pass through some fairly open

country near Butkhak, where they might possibly be of

use to him. Accordingly, they started at 8 a.m. on the

22ud, with instructions to halt at Butkhak should that

post be unoccupied, otherwise to push on to Lataband.

Finding the former place in possession of the Afghans,

Major Green, who was in command of the regiment, made

for the further post, where he arrived with the loss of only

three men killed and three wounded.

It was not easy to get reliable information as to the

movements or intentions of the enemy while we were sur-

rounded in Sherpur ;
but from spies wlio managed to pass

to and from the city under cover of night, I gathered that

plans were being made to attack us.

It was not, however, until the 21st that there were any

very great signs of activity. On that and the following

day the several posts to the east of the cantonment were

occupied preparatory to an attack from that quarter ; and

1 was told that numbers of scaling-ladders were being con-

structed. This looked like business. Next, information

was brought in that, in all the mosques, mullas were

making frantic appeals to the people to unite in one final

effort to exterminate the infidel ; and that the aged Mushk-

i-Alam was doing all in his power to fan the flame of

fanaticism, promising to light with his own hand at dawn

on the 28rd (the last day of the Moharram, when religious
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exaltation amongst Mahomedans is at its height) the

beacon-fire which was to be the signal for assault.

The night of the 22nd was undisturbed, save by the Bongs

and cries of the Afghans outside the walls, but just before

day the fiames of the signal-fire, shooting upwards from

the topmost crag of the Asmai range, were plainly to be

seen, followed on the instant by a burst of firing.

Our troops were already under arms and at their posts,

waiting for the assault, which commenced with heavy firing

against the eastern and southern faces. The most deter-

mined attack was directed against the two sections com-

manded by Brigadier-General Hugh Gough and Colonel

Jenkins, who by their able dispositions proved themselves

worthy of the confidence I had reposed hi them.

It was too dark at first to see anything in front of the

walls, and orders were given to reserve fire until the

advancing masses of the assailants could be clearly made

out. Gough's Mountain guns, under Lieutenant Sherries,

then tired star-shells, which disclosed the attacking force up

to a thousand yards off. The 28th Punjab Infantry were

the first to open fire ; then the Guides, the 67th, and 92nd,

each in their turn, greeted by their volleys the i/hazi* who

approached dose to the walls. Guns from every battery

opened on the foe moving forward to the attack, and from

7 to 10 a.m. the tight was carried on. liepeated attempts

were made to scale the south-eastern wall, and many times

the enemy got up as far as the ahattis, but were repulsed,

heaps of dead marking the spots where these attempts had

been most jiersistent.*

• A curious exemplification of the passive courage and indifference

to danger of some Natives was the behaviour of an old Mahomedan
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Soon after 10 a.m. there was a slight lull in the fighting,

leading us to believe that the Afghans were recoiling before

the breechloaders. An hour later, however, the assault

grew hot as ever, and finding we could not drive the enemy
back by any fire which could be brought against them from

the defences, I resolved to attack them in flank. Accord-

ingly, I directed Major (.'raster, with four Field Artillery

guns, and Lieutenant - Colonel Williams, with the 5th

Punjab Cavalry, to move out over the hollow in the

Bimaru range and open fire on a body of the enemy
collected in and around the village of Kurja Kila. This

fire had the desired effect ; the Afghans wavered and broke.

From that moment the attacking force appeared to lose

heart, the assault was no longer prosecuted with the same

vigour, and by 1 p.m. it had ceased altogether, and the

enemy were in full flight.

• This was the Cavalry’s opportunity. I ordered Massy

to follow in pursuit with every available man, and before

nightfall all the open ground in the neighbourhood of

Sherpur was cleared of the enemy. Simultaneously with

the movement of the Cavalry, a party was despatched to

destroy some villages near the southern wall which had

caused us much trouble, and whence it was necessary the

enemy should be driven, to facilitate the entrance of

Brigadier-General Charles Gough the next day, for that

servant of miuo. At this juncture, just at the time when the fight

was hottest, und I was receiving reports every few seconds from the

officers commanding the several posts, JSli Uux (a brother of the man
who had been with me throughout the Mutiny) whispered in my ear

that my bath was ready. Ho was quite unmoved by the din and shots,

and was carrying on his ordinary duties os if nothing at all unusual

was occurring.

VOL. n. 62
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officer had arrived with his brigade within about six

miles of Sherpur, where I could see his tents, and gathered

from the fact of his pitching them that he meant to halt

there for the night. The villages were found to be occupied

by gliazi8, who refused to surrender, preferring to remain

and perish in the buildings, which were then blown up.

Two gallant Engineer officers (Captain Dundas, Y.C., and

Lieutenant C. Nugent) were most unfortunately killed in

carrying out this duty.

The relief I felt when I had gathered my force inside th6

walls of Sherpur on the evening of the 14th December was

small compared to that which I experienced on the morn-

ing of the 24th, when I realized that not only had the

assault been abandoned, but that the great tribal combina-

tion had dissolved, and that not a man of the many

thousands who had been opposed to us the previous day

remained in any of the villages, or on the surrounding

hills. It was difficult to form an accurate estimate of the

numbers opposed to us. As the Contingent from the more

distant districts advanced, they received accessions from

every place they passed, and as they neared Kabul they

were joined by the inhabitants of the numerous villages,

and by the disaffected in the city. It was calculated by

those best able to judge that the combined forces exceeded

100,000, and I myself do not think that an excessive com-

putation.

Our casualties between the 15th and the 23rd were re-

markably few : 2 officers, 9 men, and 7 followers killed,

and 5 officers, 41 men, and 22 followers wounded; while

the enemy lost not less than 3,000.

I think 1 had great reason to be proud of my force. All
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night and every night, the ground covered with snow and

the thermometer marking sixteen degrees of frost, officers

and men were at their posts, and each day every available

man had to be hard at work strengthening the defences.

Native and European soldiers alike bore the hardships and

exposure with the utmost cheerfulness, and in perfect

confidence that, when the assault should take place, victory

would be ours.

Early on the 24th the fort of Mahomed Sharif was

occupied, and a force moved out to escort Charles Gough’s

brigade into Sherpur, a precaution which, however, was

hardly necessary, as there was no enemy to be seen.

I next set to work to re-open communication with India.

Butkhak was re-occupied, and the relaying of the telegraph

was taken in hand. General Hills resumed his position as

military Governor of Kabul ; the dispensary and hospital

were re-established in the city under the energetic and

intelligent guidance of Surgeon-Captain Owen ;* and in the

hope of reassuring the people, I issued the following

Proclamation :

‘At the instigation of some seditious men, the ignorant people,

generally not considering the result, raised a rebellion. Now many of

the insurgents have received their reward, and as subjects are a trust

from God, the British Government, which is just and merciful, as well

as strong, has forgiven their guilt. It is now proclaimed that all who
come in without delay will be pardoned, excepting only Mahomed Jan

* This hospital was admirably managed, and was attended by a

large number of patients, half of whom wero women. The disease

*U0Bt prevalent in Kabul was ophthalmia, caused by dust, dirt, and ex-

posure, while cataract and other affections of the eye were very common.
Dr. Owen, amongst his other many qualifications, excelled as an
.oculist, and his marvellous cures attracted sufferers from all parts of

[Afghani*t.an .
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of Wardak, Mir Bacha of Koliistnn, Samondar Klian of Logur, Ghulnm
Hyder of Chordeh, and the murderers of Sirdar Mahomed Hasson

Khan. Come and moke your submission without fear, of whatsoever

tribe you may be. You van then remain in your houses in comfort

and safety, and no harm will befall you. The British Government

has no enmity towards the people. Anyone who rebels again will, of

course, be punished. This condition is necessary. But all who come

in without delay need have no fear or suspicion. The British Govern-

ment speaks only that which is in its heart.'

The effect of this Proclamation was most satisfactory : the

city and the surrounding country quieted rapidly, shops

were re-opened, and before the close of the year the bazaars

were as densely thronged as ever. Most of the principal

men of Logar and Kohistan came to pay their respects to

me; they were treated with due consideration, and the

political officers did all they could to find out what they

really wanted, so that some basis of an arrangement

for the peaceful administration of the country might be

arrived at.

’While taking these measures, which I thought would

create confidence in our clemency and justice, I endeavoured

in other ways to prevent a repetition of further serious

troubles. Snow was still deep on the ground, but I did

not let it prevent ray sending General Baker to destroy a

fort about twenty miles off, where dwelt an influential

malik, who was one of the chief ringleaders in the revolt.

All walled enclosures within 1,000 yards of the cantonment

were razed to the ground, roads fit for guns were made

all round the outside walls and towards the several gates of

the city and Siah Sang, while two bridges, strong enough for

Artillery to pass over, were thrown across the Kabul River.

The increased numbers to be accommodated on the

arrival of Gough's brigade necessitated the re-occupation
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of the Bala Hissar, the defences of which were recon-

structed so as to give a continuous line of fire, and admit

of free circulation round the walls; roads were made

through the lower Bala Hissar, and redoubts and towers

were built on the Shahr-i-Darwaza range.

A strong fort—Fort Roberts—was constructed on the

south-west point of Siah Sang, which commanded the

Bala Hissar and the city
;
a smaller one was built at the

crossing of the river ; and as these two forts were not within

sight of each other, a tower to connect them was constructed

at the north-west extremity of Siah Sang.

Sherpur was thus made safe ; but for the absolute pro-

tection of the city against an enemy operating from the

Chardeh direction, a third fort was erected on the Asmai

heights, which completed a formidable line of defences

most skilfully carried out by Colonel Perkins and his staff.
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CHAPTER LVIII.

The outlook in Afghanistan on the 1st January, 1880, was

fairly satisfactory ; the tidings of the defeat and dispersion

of the tribesmen had spread far and wide, and had

apparently had the effect of tranquillizing the country

even in remote Kandahar, where the people had keen

greatly excited by the news of our retiring within Sherpur,

and by the exaggerated reports of their countrymen’s

success. No complications now existed anywhere, and pre-

parations were commenced for Sir Donald Stewart’s force

in southern Afghanistan to move towards Ghazni, in antici-

pation of the carrying out of a complete and connected

scheme* for the pacification of the country, and an early

withdrawal from northern Afghanistan.

* In reply to a reference made to inc on the subject, I represented

that, before operations could be undertaken on so extensive a scale as

was proposed, it would be necessary to reinforce the Kabul garrison and

the several posts on the Kyber line by

:

One battery of Horse or Field Artillery.

One Heavy battery.

One Mountain battery.

A detachment of Garrison Artillery.

A brigade of Cavalry.

Thrco companies of Sappers and Miners.

Two regiments of British Infantry.

Mix regiments of Native Infantry.



187»] TWO IMPORTANT QUESTIONS 3”

No withdrawal, however, would be possible until durable

foundations had been laid for the future safety of the

Indian frontier, and reliable guarantees given for the

continued good behaviour of India’s Afghan neighbours.

The two questions, therefore, which chiefly exercised the

minds of people in authority, both in England and in

India, with regard to Afghan affairs were, What was to

be done with Afghanistan now we had got it ? and, Who
could be set up as Rujer with any chance of being able to

hold his own ?

The second question depended a good deal on the decision

which might be arrived at with regard to the first, for the

selection of a Ruler could hardly be considered until it had

been determined whether the several provinces of Afghan-

istan were to be again formed into one kingdom, or whether

the political scheme for the future government of the

country should be based on the separation of the several

States.

I myself had come to tho conclusion, after much de-

liberation and anxious thought, that the latter course was

the least dangerous for us to adopt. Disintegration had

been the normal condition of Afghanistan, except for a

short period which ended as far back as 1818. Dost

Mahomed was the first since that time to attempt its unifi-

cation, and it took him (the strongest Amir of the century)

Drafts sufficient to raise each Infantry regiment at

Kabul to 800 men.
This was agreed to ; tho reinforcements were sent up by degrees, and

a second division was formed at Kabul, to the command of which

Major-General J. Koss,‘ C.B., was appointed.

1 Now General Sir John Moss, G.C.B#
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eight years after his restoration to establish his supremacy

over Afghan-Turkestan, fourteen years before Kandahar

acknowledged his authority, and twenty-one years ere he

got possession of Herat, a consummation which was

achieved only just before his death. His successor, Sher

Ali, was five years making himself master of Afghanistan,

and he could never have attained that position but for the

material assistance he received from us. I felt it would be

in the future as it had been in thq past, and that there

would always be the danger of a Ruler, made supreme by

the aid of our money and our arms, turning against us for

some supposed grievance, or at the instigation of a foreign

Power, as had happened with Sher Ali. A strong, united

Afghanistan was very desirable, no doubt, could we be

certain that its interests and ours would always remain

identical; but, in addition to the chance of its strength

and unity being used against us, there wns the certainty

that, even if the man we might choose as Amir were to

remain perfectly loyal, at his death Afghan history would

repeat itself ; the succession to the throne would be dis-

puted, and the unification would have to begin all over

again. For these reasons I had no hesitation in giving it

as my opinion that Afghanistan should be disintegrated,

and that we should not again attempt to place the whole

country under any one Sovereign.

My views must have commended themselves to the

Government of India, for in their despatch to the Secretary

of State, dated 7th January, 1880, they indicated them as

the line of policy they proposed to adopt in pursuance

of the object they had at heart, viz., the safety of the

Indian Empire and the tranquillity of its northern frontier

;
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and in the communication to myself, conveying their idea

of the general principles upon which the permanent settle-

ment of Afghanistan should be based, the Foreign Secretary

wrote that all arrangements for the establishment of a

durable Government at Kabul depended on the selection

of a suitable Ruler for that province
; and that, as it was

essential to clear away any apprehension that the British

Government contemplated territorial annexation, which

might be caused by a prolonged interregnum, it would

be very advantageous if one of the principal Sirdars, quali-

fied by his family connexions, his local influence, and his

personal following, could be selected as the Ruler of the

Kabul State.

There was another very strong reason why the Govern-

ment of India should wish to find some one to whom

the administration of the country could safely be made

over. The first warning notes of a General Election were

heard in India early in January. Afghan affairs were being

made a party question, and the policy of the Beaconsfield

Government with regard to them was being severely and

adversely criticized. Lord L3*tton was, therefore, most

anxious that a definite conclusion should be arrived at as

to the administration of Afghanistan, and a period put to.

our occupation of the northern province before the meeting

of Parliament should take place.

The difficulty was to find the right man. Abdur Rahman,

who I had reason to believe would be acceptable to the

army, was far away, I could not find out where, and I

could think of no one else at all suitable. Under the cir-

cumstances, I deemed it advisable to open negotiations with

the several leaders of the late combination against us, who
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were congregated at Ghazni, and had with them the

young Heir - apparent, Musa Khan. In the middle of

January I had received two communications from these

people, one ostensibly written by Musa Khan himself, the

other signed by seventy of the most influential chiefs ; the

tenor of both was the same ; they demanded Yakub Khan’s

restoration, and asserted his innocence as to the massacre

of the Embassy. I replied that Yakub Khan’s return waB

impossible, and that they must consider his abdication

final, as he himself had declared that he wished it to be/

and a few days later I deputed the Mustauti to visit Ghazni,

* As the deportation of Yakub Klinn was believed to be one of the

chief causes of the recent disturbances, and as a powerful party in the

country still looked forward to having him back as their ltuler, I was

directed to make it clear to his adherents that the ex-Amir would

never be allowed to return to Afghanistan, and that his abdication

must be, as he himself ut the time wished it to be, considered

irrevocable. In support of this decision, I was informed that tho

unanimous verdict of guilty of murder, recorded against Yakub Khan

by Colonel Macgregor’s Commission, was substantially endorsed by tho

Chief Justiccof Calcutta and the Advocate-General ; and that, although

other authorities who had considered the evidence did not go quite so

far as these two high legal functionaries, the general conclusion como

to was that, if the Amir did not connive at the massacre of the Mission,

he made no uttempt whatever to interpose on its behalf, and that

his whole conduct on that occasion betrayed a. culpable indifference to

the fate of Sir Louis Cavagnari and his companions, and a total dis-

regard of the solemn obligation which lie had contracted with the

British Government.

f I had released the Mustaufi from confinement when tho general

amnesty was published on tho ‘26th December, and he had subsequently

been usefully employed assisting the political officers in revenue

matters. I did not suppose that he had any great love for the British,

but he was anxious to see us out of the country, and was wise enough

to know that no armed opposition could effect his purpose, and that it

could only be accomplished by the establishment of a stable govern-

ment, under a Ruler that we could accept.
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in the hope that he might be able to induce the leaders to

incite some more feasible suggestion for the government of

the country.

The Mustaufi had scarcely started, before what seemed

to be a reliable report reached me that Abdur Rahman

was at Kanduz, on his way to Badakhshan, and I im-

mediately communicated this news to Lord Lytton.

A fortnight later Abdur Rahman’s mother, who resided

at Kandahar, informed Sir Donald Stewart that Ayub Khan

had received a letter from her son, in answer to an offer

from Ayub to join him at Balkh and march with him

against the British. In this letter Abdur Rahman had

replied that he would have nothing to do with any of

Sher Ali’s family, who had deceived him and dealt with

him in the same treacherous manner that characterized

Sher Ali’s dealings with the British ; further, that he had

no intention of opposing the British, knowing full well he

was not strong enough to do so ; that he could not leave

Russian territory without the permission of the Russians,

whose pensioner lie was
;
and that, even if he got that

permission, he could not come either into Turkestan or

Kabul without an invitation from us, but that, if he re-

ceived such an invitation, he would obey it as an order.

He concluded by advising Ayub Khan to make his sub-

mission to the British, as opposition was useless. Sir

Donald Stewart telegraphed the substance of this com-

munication to the Foreign Secretary, adding that Abdur

Rahman's family were well disposed towards us, and that

there would be no difficulty in communicating with the

Sirdar through them.

In the meantime, I had been careful to acquaint the
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Government of India with my failure to come to any con-

clusion with the Ghazni faction as to the future government

of the country, and the hopelessness of finding anyone of

sufficient strength of character to set up as Ruler of Kabul

;

and I had suggested, failing a really Btrong man, the alter-

native of letting the Afghans choose for themselves some

Ruler, other than Yakub Khan, and thus leave us free to

evacuate the country.

About this time Mr. Lyall, the Foreign Secretary, came

to Kabul on a visit to me, and Captain West Ridgeway*

took the place of my Political Secretary, Mr Durand, who

left me to join the Foreign Office at Simla, Mr. (now’ Sir)

Lepel Griffin, Secretary to the Punjab Government, being

appointed Chief of the political staff at Kabul.

Lyall told me that the Indian Government full}’ appre-

ciated the difficulty I was in about finding a Ruler for the

province, and that, unless Abdur Rahman could be brought

within negotiable distance, the alternative I had suggested

would have to be acted upon.

Lord Lytton, however, was very sanguine uliout Abdur

Rahman, and he warned Mr. Griffin, before he started

for Kabul, that the Sirdar’s letter to Ayub Khan indicated

possibilities that might have the most important bearing on

the solution of the difficult problem to be dealt with in

northern Afghanistan. It was Lord Lytton’s wish to place

Abdur Rahman on the throne of Kabul, or, at least, to afford

him the best opportunity of winning his own way to that

position. The difficulty was to get at him, in the first

instance, and, in the second, to convince him of our wish

and power to help him ; while a not unnatural hesitation on

* Now Colonel Sir “Went Bidgpwny, K.C.B.
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the Sirdar’s part to enter Afghanistan without Russia’s

permission had to be considered.

Lord Lytton impressed upon Mr. Griffin the necessity for

overcoming these difficulties in time to enable us to with-

draw from northern Afghanistan in the early autumn at

latest ; and he desired Sir Oliver St. John (Sir Donald

Stewart’s political officer, who was at that time in Calcutta),

immediately on his return to Kandahar, to communicate

with Abdur Rahman, through his mother, the Viceroy’s

willingness to make him Ruler of Kabul and Turkestan,

if he would accept the terms offered to him without delay.

The Viceroy communicated his views to the Secretary of

State in the following telegram :

‘Necessary to find without delay some Native authority to which wc
can restore northern Afghanistan without risk of immediate anarchy

on our evacuation of Kabul not later than next autumn, and if possible

earlier. No prospect of finding in the country any man strong enough

for this purpose. I therefore advocate early public recognition of

Abdur liahinnn as legitimate heir of Dost Mahomed, and open deputa-

tion of Sirdars with British concurrence to oiler him throne of

Afghanistan as sole means of sa\ing the country from anarchy. Do
you approve V

Lord Cranbrook’s reply was as follows

:

4 Assuming that Abdur liahinan is acceptable to the country, and

that he would be content with northern Afghanistan, it is desirable to

support him at Kabul ; the more spontaneous any advances to him on

the part of the Sirdars, and the less appearanco of British infiucnce,

the better. But where is he ? And how do you propose to learn his

wishes and intentions? If invited by Chiefs, every inducement to

bring him to Kabul should be then held out. Public recognition

should not precede, but follow, his adoption by birdars, and his

acceptance of the position.’

By the end of March authentic intelligence was received

that Abdur Rahman had made himself master of Afghan-

iurkestan, and was corresponding with the representative
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Sirdars at Kabul. It seemed, therefore, that the time had

arrived when distinct overtures might be made to Abdur

Rahman ; accordingly, on the 1st April Mr. Griffin addressed

to him the following letter

:

' It has become known that you have entered Afghanistan, and con-

sequently this letter is sent you bv a confidential messenger, in order

that you may submit to the British officers at Kabul any representa-

tions that you may desire to moke to the British Government with

regard to your object in entering Afghanistan.'

Abdur Rahman, in his friendly but guarded reply,* ex-

pressed in general terms his hope of being recognized as

Amir. He greatly desired, he wrote, the friendship of the

British, and their assistance in restoring peace and order

to Afghanistan ; but at the same time, he hinted that his

obligations to the Russian Government for the hospitality

they had extended to him placed him in some doubt as to

the terms upon which our friendship might be accorded

to him, and while he expressed a desire for the permanent

establishment of Afghanistan, with our assistance and

sympathy, he let it be understood that he wished to

consider himself under the protection of Russia as well

as of Great Britain.

In a verbal message, however, he added that he was

ready to cross the Hindu Kush to discuss matters with our

officers, and he begged that he might be furnished with

information as to the * nature of our friendship ’ and ‘
its

conditions.'

In answer, Mr. Griffin was directed to inform Abdur

Rahman that the relations of Afghanistan to the British

and Russian Empires was a subject the Government of

* Abdur Rahman’s letter is given in the Appendix.
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India must decline to discuss with him, and to explain that

their declared determination had been the exclusion of

foreign influence and interference from Afghanistan, a

cardinal condition ‘ which had at all times and under all

circumstances been deemed essential for the permanent

security of Her Majesty’s Indian Empire,’ a condition,

moreover, which lmd always been accepted by the Govern-

ment of the Czar, which had repeatedly renewed those

assurances, solemnly given to Her Majesty’s Ministers,

that * Russia considered Afghanistan as entirely beyond the

sphere of her influence.’*

Early in April the Mustaufi (whom, it will be remembered,

I had sent to Ghazni to communicate with the Chiefs, and

ascertain their ideas and desires as to the future govern-

ment of Kabul) returned without having achieved much

success. He had persuaded some of the leading men to

accompany him as far as Maidan, whence a few repre-

sentatives came on to Kabul as bearers of a document

signed by Mahomed Jan, twelve other Sirdars, and 189

influential tribesmen, setting forth their views and wishes

;

but as these were all based upon the restoration of Yakub

Khan, their proposals could not be entertained.

On the 18th April I held a durbar, at which I received

this deputation ; all the Sirdars, Chiefs, and inaliks of

Kabul and many Hazaras being present. Mr. Griffin, on

the part of the Government, told them that Yakub Khan

could not be allowed to return to Afghanistan, but that the

names of any Sirdars, approved of by a large proportion of

the people Jiov the Amirsliip, would be laid before the

* This letter from the Foreign Secretary to Mr. Griffin is gi\on in

foil in the Appendix.
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Viceroy ; that there was no intention of annexing Afghan-

istan, and that there would be no occupation of any places

except such as were necessary for the safety of our Indian

frontier. They were further informed that the British

army would be withdrawn us soon as the country had

settled down peacefully and an Amir, amicably disposed

towards us, had been selectod ; but that Kandahar would

not again be united to Kabul.

The effect produced was good. The deputation was

greatly disappointed that Yakub Khan was not to be per-

mitted to return, but all present felt that they had received

a definite reply.
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CHAPTER LIX.

Sir Donald Stewart’s division, which, I have mentioned,

it had been decided should be sent to Kabul to take part in

the pacification of northern Afghanistan, left Kandahar* on

the 80th March, and was expected to arrive at Ghazni

about the 21st April. On the 16th I received a letter

from Sir Donald, dated six days before, asking me to

send supplies to meet him. I, therefore, that same day

despatched a small column, under the command of Major-

General Boss, C.B., with the articles of food required ; and

as I thought it likely that my object in sending this force

might be misunderstood, the deputation which attended the

durbar was told to explain matters to the Chiefs at Maidan,

and assure them that the advance would be peaceful unless

hostilities should be provoked by their own action. Not-

withstanding this precaution, I thought it quite possible the

column would be opposed, for the news concerning Abdur

Bahman’s advent was causing considerable excitement

;

and whilst the soldiers and a proportion of the tribesmen

were disposed to welcome him as a deliverer, those from

Wardak and Logar resented his appearance on the scene

Sir Donald Stewart's division was replaced at Kandahar by troops

from Bombay.

VOL. ii.
53
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as patting an end to their hopes of having Yakub Khan

reinstated.

AVith a view, therefore, to prevent the Logaris from

joining any attack which might be made on General Ross,

I sent a party, 1,200 strong, under Colonel Jenkins, in the

direction of Charasia.

On the 22nd April Ross reached Sar-i-top, forty-one

miles from Ghazni ; Sir Donald Stewart having arrived

that same day at the latter place, heliographic com-

munication was at once opened with him, and the

welcome news was signalled that Sir Donald had fought

an engagement at Ahmedkhel on the 19th, and had

been entirely successful. On receipt of this intelligence

I ordered a Royal salute to he fired in honour of the

victory, the announcement of which I hoped might have

a quieting effect on the excitement which prevailed around

Kabul.

In this I was disappointed. On the evening of the 24th,

Jenkins, who was encamped at Charasia, heard that ho

was about to be attacked by the Logaris, under Mahomed

Hasan Khan. At once striking his tents, and collecting his

baggage in a sheltered spot, he ordered a party of Cavalry

to reconnoitre up the Logur valley, strengthened his

piquets, and Bent off an express messenger to inform me

of the situation.

I immediately despatched Brigadier-General Macpherson

to Jenkins’s assistance. By 9 a.m. he had started, with

four Mountain guns and 962 Infantry, followed later by two

more guns and a troop of the 3rd Punjab Cavalry ;
and as

a support to Macpherson, Brigadier-General Hugh Gough,

with the Cavalry brigade and four Horse Artillery guns,
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was ordered to take up a position half-way between Kabul

and Gharasia.

At 1 p.m. on the 25th Macpherson arrived on the high

ground beyond the sang -i- nawishta gorge, whence he

obtained a good view of Jenkins’s position ; and seeing

that the enemy formed a complete semicircle round it, he

pushed on. Jenkins had stood on the defensive from the

early morning, and the Afghans, who had advanced to

within a couple of hundred yards, wero only kept at bay

by the steadiness of his fire.

Macpherson first sent back the baggage to Slierpur, so as

to free all hands for action, and then proceeded to attack

the left horn of the semicircle. The enemy broke, fell

back, and were completely scattered by a well-directed

Artillery firo ; the surrounding hills were speedily cleared,

and the Cavalry and Horse Artillery pursued for four

miles. By four o’clock not a single living Afghan was to

be seen ; more than 200 had been killed, while our casualties

were only four killed and thirty-four wounded.

I came up just as the fight was over ;
and being sure

from the decisive character of the defeat that a retirement

could not be misunderstood, I ordered the troops to return

to Kabul.

In anticipation of Sir Donald Stewart’s arrival, and the

consequent necessity for my making over to him, as my
senior, the supreme command of the Kabul Field Force,

I prepared a report* for his information, which explained

the general military situation in northern Afghanistan, and

contained a statement of economic details which I thought

* The part of the report which deals with economic details is given

j

n the Appendix
; the military portion is omitted, as it was onls

intended for Sir Donald Stewart’s information at the time.
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would be of use to the Government, and concerning which

an experience of eighteen months in the field enabled me
to give an opinion with some confidence.

The strength of tho Kabul Field Force at the end of

April amounted to nearly 14,000 men and thirty-eight

guns, with 12,500 followers;* besides 15,000 men and

thirty guns on the Khyher line, under the immediate

command of Major-General Bright.

Sir Donald reached Kabul on the 5th May. On the

same day we heard that the Beaconsficld Administration

had come to an end ; that a new Ministry had been formed

under Mr. Gladstone ; that Lord Lytton hud resigned, and

was to be succeeded by the Marquis of Ripon
; and that the

Marquis of Hartington had become Secretary of State for

India.

Notwithstanding the pleasure of meeting an old friend

in my new Commander, that 5th of May was altogether not

a happy day for me. Lord Lytton’s approaching departure

was a source of real sorrow. Personally, I felt that I was

deeply indebted to him for the confidence he had reposed

in me, and for the warm support ho had invariably

accorded me. I had hoped that he would have had the

gratification of seeing, while in office, the campaign in

which he was so much interested satisfactorily concluded,

and with the prospect of permanent results ; and I dreaded

that a change of Government might mean a reversal of the

policy which I believed to be the best for the security of

our position in India. Moreover, it was not in human

* Of these, more than 8,000 were doolie-bearers, and nearly 8,000

were $aicci of Native Cavalry regiments, and men belonging to the

Transport and other Departments.
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nature to feel absolute satisfaction in ’yielding up the

supreme command I had so greatly delighted in, into the

hands of another, even though that other was one for

whom I had so great a personal regard, and under whom I

had already served in the field.

The amalgamated troops were now styled the Northern

Afghanistan Field Force, and I retained the command of

the two divisions at Kabul, with Major-General John Ross

as second in command ; while Major-General Hills was

given the brigades from Kandahar, which now became the

third division of the Force.

The idea in bringing Stewart away from Kandahar was

that he should occupy Ghazni and Kabul; that my

divisions should operate in Koliistan and in the direction

of Bamian; that General Bright should move against the

Ghilzais; and that a column from Kuram should march

over the Shutargardan to Kabul. It was hoped that

these operations would have the effect of quieting the

country, and, by the time they had been carried out, it

would be possible to evacuate northern Afghanistan.

With a view to having m3’ divisions thoroughly efficient

and mobile for the service they were expected to perfoi’m,

I had largely replenished the numbers of m3’ transport

animals, which had suffered greatly from the strain put

upon them in supplying the troops with food and

other necessaries during the winter months ; tne3' had

been continuously at work in the most inclement weather,

numbers had died, and those that remained required to be

carefully looked after and given complete rest to render

them fit for the contemplated operations. Major Mark

Heathcote, who had taken, at m3’ particular request,
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the arduous charge of this department, wished to revert to

regimental duty, so I applied for, and obtained, the services

of Lieutenant-Colonel It. Low* as Director of Transport,

under whose energetic and intelligent management the

transport service was rendered as perfect as it was possible

to make it. In the end, circumstances prevented the con-

certed movements for which these preparations were made

being carried out, but I reaped the benefit of them when

later in the year I was required to undertake a rapid

march to Kandahar, which could not possibly have been

successfully accomplished had my transport not been in

such admirable condition.

In order to relieve the great pressure put upon the Com-

missariat Department by having to provide for the in-

creased number of troops at Kabul, and with a view to

opening up the roads upon which traffic had been more or

less impeded for some months, it was considered desirable

to send a strong brigade towards Maidan, which I accom-

panied, and remained away from Kabul for some weeks.

On my return, I found a considerable change had taken

place in the political situation. The Mustaufi had been

deported to India ; the correspondence l>etween Abdur

Rahman and Mr. Grinin had taken rather an unsatis-

factory turn, and the Sirdar's dealings with the leading

Chiefs and tribesmen had given cause to fear that, if he

came to Kabul during our occupation, it might be ns an

enemy rather than a friend.

The Mustaufi was a firm adherent of the Sher AH

faction, and, finding there was no hope of Yakub Khan

being reinstated, and that we were negotiating with Abdur

* Now Major-General Sir Robert Low, O.C.TL
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Rahman, he had espoused the cause of Yakub’s younger

brother, Ayub Khan, and had been proved guilty of inciting

the Sirdars and Chiefs to oppose us. For this he was

very properly sent out of Afghanistan
; nevertheless, I

looked upon his removal as a misfortune, for it broke up

the only party that could possibly be formed to counter-

balance Abdur Rahman, who was astute enough to see that

the weaker our position became, the more chance there was

of his being able to get his own terms from us.

From the letters he had written to his friends and rela-

tions in northern Afghanistan (the majority of which had

fallen into our hands), it was evident that he was doing all

he could to strengthen himself, even at our expense, and

that he greatly disliked the idea of Kandahar being

separated from the kingdom of Kabul. Indeed, in one of

his communications to Mr. Griffin he had made it clear

that he expected the whole inheritance of his grandfather,

Dost Mahomed Khan, to be made over to him.

The uncertainty as to the result of the correspondence

with Abdur Rahman, the rumours in circulation regarding

his real disposition and plans, and the general excitement

throughout the country, suggested such grave doubts of the

Sirdar’s good faith that, in some quarters, the question was

seriously discussed whether it might not be necessary to

break off negotiations with him, and reinstate Yakub

Khan, or else set up his brother, Ayub Khan, as Amir.

I myself was altogether opposed to Yakub Khan s restora-

tion, and as to Ayub Khan, we were in total ignorance of

his character and proclivities, even if he had been near

enough to treat with. It appeared to me, moreover, that

we had gone too far with Abdur Rahman to throw him
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over because, in conformity with Afghan chai'acter and

tradition, he was not running quite straight. I, therefore,

gave it us my opinion that we should not change our

tactics unless it was found impossible to come to terms

with him, or unless it was made evident on his nearer

approach to Kabul that the majority of his countrymen

were averse to have him as their Euler.

Soon after this the situation began to improve, and early

in July Mr. Griffin was able to inform the Government of

India that * the probabilities of a settlement with Abdur

Rahman appear far more favourable than they did last

week. . .
.’ ‘ Abdur Rahman has seen that we have been

fully informed of the game he has been playing, that

trickery and treachery would not be tolerated, and that,

if he intends coming to a settlement with us at all, he

must l>e prepared to accept our terms rather than dictate

his own.’

A few days later a letter was received from Abdur

Rahman, announcing his arrival in Kohistan. HiB near

approach, and the report that he was willing to accept our

terms, excited a keen and hopeful interest throughout the

country, for the Afghans had at length become convinced

that the only chance of getting rid of us was by agreeing

to any form of settled government we might establish, nnd

they had grown heartily tired of perpetual fighting and of

having to maintain bands of phazis to oppose us, who wore

eating them out of house and home. With the exception

of the Slier Ali faction, therefore, whose interests were

directly opposed to his, Abdur Rahman's advent was wel-

comed by the people, and several of the most influential

amongst them went to meet him.
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Towards the end of July Sir Donald Stewart was em-

powered to conclude all political and military arrange-

ments preparatory to withdrawing from northern Afghan-

istan. Abdur Rahman was to be recognized as ‘ Amir of

Kabul he was to be provided with a sufficient number

of guns to strengthen effectively his occupation of the

city, and he was to be given as much money (within a

maximum of ten lakhs) as was thought necessary to meet

bis present wants. It was to be clearly explained to Abdur

Rahman that the Government of India would not engage

to give him a regular subsidy, or a continuous supply of

anus or money, and that after he had taken possession of

his capital he would have to rely upon his own resources

for holding it. There was to be no treaty, and all ques-

tions of reciprocal engagements between the two Govern-

ments were to be postponed until some settled and respon-

sible administration had been consolidated.

General Stewart was directed to make the best arrange-

ments he could with Abdur Rahman for the protection of

the tribes and individuals who had assisted us, and the

Sirdar was to be informed that, if he desired our goodwill,

he could give no better proof of his friendly disposition

,
than by his behaviour towards those of his own nation in

whom the British Government were interested.

Sir Donald Stewart considered that the best way of giving

effect to these instructions was to publicly proclaim Abdur

liahman as Amir of Kabul; for this purpose he held

a durbar on the 2‘2nd July, at which the Sirdar’s repre-

sentatives were received. Sir Donald, in a few words

gave his reasons for summoning them to meet him,

and Mr. Griffin then explained more fully the motives b\
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which the Government of India were actuated in acknow-

ledging the claimB of Abdur Rahman. Immediately after

the durbar orders were issued for an early retirement.

I was to withdraw my column by the Kuram route ; but

being anxious to see something of the Kliyber line while

I had the opportunity, I started off the following day to

ride through the Jagdalak Pass to Gandamak, where I

was entertained by General Bright and his staff. The

next day I went on to Jalalabad, and was greatly interested

in wandering over the place where Sir Robert Sale in some

measure redeemed the lamentable failures of the first

Afghan war.

My intention, when I left Kabul, was to ride as far as the

Khyber Pass, but suddenly a presentiment, which I have

never been able to explain to myself, made me retrace

my steps and hurry back towards Kabul—a presentiment

of coming trouble which I can only characterize as

instinctive.

The feeling was justified when, about half-way between

Butkhak and Kabul, I was met by Sir Donald Stewart and

my Chief of the Staff,* who brought me the astounding

news of the totul defeat by Ayub Khan of Brigadier-General

Burrows’s brigade at Maiwand, and of Lieutenant-General

Primrose, + with the remainder of his force, being besieged

at Kandahar.

* Colonel Macgrcgor and Lieutenant-Colonel Chapman had changed

places, the former joining Sir Donald Stewart aa Chief of the Staff, and

the latter taking up the same portion with me.

t Lieutenant-General Primrose succeeded Sir Donald Stewart in

command of the troopa at Kandahar.
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CHAPTER LX.

Eon more than six months rumours had been afloat of

Ayub Khan’s determination to advance on Kandahar ; but

little attention was paid to them by the authorities at that

place until towards the end of May, when a Sirdar, named

Sher Ali,* who had been a few days before formally in-

stalled as Wali, or Ruler, of Kandahar, informed the political

officer, Lieutenant-Colonel St. John, that the British occu-

pation of Kabul had had the effect of bringing about a

reconciliation between the various chiefs at Herat, who' had

placed themselves under the leadership of Ayub Khan and

induced him to proclaim a jahad. Shej Ali, who evidently

considered this news authentic, declared his belief that his

own troops,t who were then engaged in collecting revenue

in Zamindawar, would desert to Ayub Klian as he ap-

proached Kandahar, and he begged that a brigade of

British soldiers might be sent to Girishk to support him.

On General Primrose communicating this information to

the Commander-in-Chief in India, he recommended to the

* Sirdar Sher Ali had been appointed Governor of Kandahar by the

Amir Yakub Khan after the treaty of Gondamak, and had since

assisted Sir Donald Stewart in the civil administration of the province.

t Local Native levies.
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Government that the Bombay reserve division, located at

Jacobabad, Hyderabad, and Karachi, should bo mobilized

so soon as it became certain that Ayub Khan really con-

templated this move, as in his opinion the garrison at

Kandahar would be left dangerously weak after a brigade

had been detached for Girishk.

Ayub Khan's movements, however, were not ascertained

until the ‘27th June, when he had advanced halfway to the

Helmaml : it was too late then to mobilize troops so fur

off as Jacobabad, Hyderabad, and Karachi with any chance

of their being in time to check his onward march. The

news of his approach spread rapidly, and had the most

disturbing effect in Kandahar and its neighbourhood.

The Governor’s authority daily diminished, and many of

the inhabitants left the city.

Ayub Klmn had with him, when he started from Herat

on the 15th June, 7,500 men and ten guns as the nucleus of

an army, which he calculated, as ho moved forward, would

l*e strongly reinforced by tribesmen, levies, and ijhazi*.

On the 4th July a brigade, under the command of

Brigadier-General Burrows, started from Kandahar, and

reached the Helmand on the 11th, encamping on the near

bank of the river opposite Girishk. On the further bank

Sirdar Slier All’s troops were located, having with them

six guns. Two days afterwards these troops deserted in a

body to the enemy, but did not succeed in taking their

Artillery with them, as Burrows, on perceiving their inten-

tion, crossed the river and captured the guns.

Brigadier-General Burrows’s position had now entirely

changed ; instead of there being a loyal force under the

Wali, with which to co-operate and prevent Ayub Khan
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crossing the Helmand, he found himself with an inadequate

number of troops, the Wali’s men gone over to the enemy,

and the Wali himself a fugitive in the British camp. The

Helmand was fordable everywhere at that season, making

it easy for Ayub to cut off Burrows’s retreat
; the first

twenty-five of the eighty miles by which he was separated

from Kandahar was a desert, and no supplies were forth-

coming owing to the hostile attitude of the people.

Burrows therefore determined to retire to Khushk-i-

Nakhud, an important position half-way to Kandahar,

covering the road from Girishk, and where supplies and

water were plentiful.

Burrows reached Khushk-i-Nakhud on the 16th July.

On the 22nd the Commander-in-Chief in India, who had

been inquiring from General Primrose whether there were

‘any routes from the Helmand passing by the north to

Ghazni, by which Ayub Khan might move with his guns,’

telegraphed to Primrose: ‘You will understand that you

have full liberty to attack Ayub, if you consider you are

strong enough to do so. Government consider it of the

highest political importance that his force should be dis-

persed, and prevented by all possible means from passing

on to Ghazni.’

On the afternoon of the 26th information was received

by Brigadier-General Burrows that 2,000 of the enemy’s

Cavalry and a large body of (fliazin had arrived at

Maiwand, eleven miles off, and that Ayub Khan was

about to follow with the main body of his army.

To prevent Ayub Khan getting to Ghazni, General

Burrows had to do one of two things, either await him at

Khushk-i-Nakhud, or intercept him at Maiwand. After
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consulting with Colonel St. John, he determined to adopt

the latter course, as he hoped thus to be able to deal with

the ghazis before they were joined by Ayub Khan.

The brigade started soon after 6 a.m. on the ‘27th. It

was encumbered by a large number of baggage animals,

which Burrows considered could not be left behind because

of the hostile state of the country, and the impossibility

of detaching any part of his already too small force for

their protection.

At 10 a.m., when about half-way to Maiwand, a spy

brought in information that Ayub Khan had arrived at

that place, and was occupying it in force ; General Burrows,

however, considered it then too late to turn bach, and

decided to advance. At a quarter to twelve the forces

came into collision, and the fight lasted until past three

o'clock. The Afghans, who, Burrows reported, numbered

25,000, soon outflanked the British. Our Artillery expended

their ammunition, and the Native portion of the brigade

got out of hand, and pressed back on the few British

Infantry, who were unable to hold their own against the

overwhelming numbers of the enemy. Our troops were com-

pletely routed, and had to thank the apathy of the Afghans

in not following them up for escaping total annihilation.

Of the 2,476 men engaged at Maiwand, 1)34 were killed

and 175 were wounded and missing;* the remnant

Killed.
Wounded and

Missing.
* Hritihh officer* ... 20 « 9

if troop* ... ... 290 4H

Native „ ... 624 118

984
^

l
l

" "V*

175
'

Tntal. 1,109
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struggled on throughout the night to Kandahar, where the

first of the fugitives arrived early on the morning of the

28th. Brigadier-General Burrows, who had two horses

shot under him during the engagement, was amongst the

last to reach Kandahar.

This lamentable story imparted to me by Stewart almost

took my breath away, and we eagerly discussed the situa-

tion as we rode back together to Sherpur. It was impossible

to predict how the news would affect the recent arrange-

ments entered into with Abdur llahman, or what the

attitude of the tribesmen would be ; but we agreed that,

whatever might happen in our immediate neighbourhood,

the only means of affording speedy relief to the Kandahar

garrison was by sending a force from Kabul.

It soon, however, became apparent, by telegrams received

from Simla, that the Government were in doubt as to the best

course to pursue, and looked to Quetta rather than Kabul

as the place from which Kandahar could be most con-

veniently and rnpidly succoured. This was not altogether

surprising, for the authorities naturally hesitated to weaken

Kabul until matters had been finally settled with Abdur

Bahman, and it was only to be expected that, after what

had occuri'ed at Maiwand, they should be alarmed at the

idea of a force being cut off from all communication with

India during the four weeks, or thereabouts, it would take

Of the regimental followers 881 were killed and 7 were missing

;

455 transport followers and drivers were reported os killed or missing,

hut a number of these, being Afghans, probably joined the enemy.

A largo quantity of arms and ammunition was lost, including over

1|000 rifles and carbines, and 600 or 700 swords and bayonets.

201 horses wore killed, and 1,676 camels, 855 ponies, 24 mules,

291 donkeys, and 79 bullocks, were not forthcoming.
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to reach Kandahar. But there was really no alternative,

for, as Major-General Phayre * (commanding in Balu-

chistan) reported, t the troops available for Field Service

were but few in number, it would require at least fifteen

days to equip them, and there was no organized transport

at hand, the animals having been sent to distant grazing-

grounds on account of the scarcity of water and forage.

I knew nothing as to the actual condition of the troops

in Baluchistan, except that, as belonging to the Bombay

Presidency, they could not be composed of the best fighting

races, and I had a strong feeling that it would be extremely

unwise to make use of any but the most proved Native

soldiers against Ayub Khan's superior numbers, elated as

his men must be with their victory at Maiwand.

The disaster to our arms caused, as was to be expected,

considerable excitement all along the border ; indeed,

throughout India the announcement produced a certain

feeling of uneasiness—a mere surface ripple—but enough

to make those who remembered the days of the Mutiny

anxious for better news from the north.

To me it seemed of such supreme importance that

Kandahar should l>e relieved without delay, and the reverse

to our arms retrieved, that I made up my mind to com-

municate my views to the Viceroy through the Commander-

in -Chief, in the hope that, when he realized that a

* Now General Sir Robert Phayre, O.C.J1.

t General Phayre reported on the 28th July that there wore only

•even Native regiment* in Baluchint&n, three of which were required

for the lines of communication, leaving only four available for Pield

Service ; and that a battalion of British Infantry and a battery of

Artillery required for his column were a long way off, being still in

Sind.
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thoroughly efficient force was ready and willing to start

from Kabul, he would no longer hesitate as to what was

best to do.

On the 30th July I dined with Stewart, and, leaving his

mess-tent at an early hour, I retired to my own quarters,

and wrote out the following telegram in cipher, but, before

despatching it, 1 showed it to Stewart, for, although I

knew that his views were in accord with mine, 1 could not

with propriety have sent it without his knowledge

:

4 To Major-General Gkkwrs,* Adjutant-General in India, Simla.

‘ Kabul,
4 30ih July , 1880.

4 Personal ami secret. I strongly recommend that a force be sent

from this to Kandahar. Stewart lias organized a very complete one

consisting of nine regiments of Infantry, three of Cavalry, and three

Mountain batteries. This will suffice to o\ercomc all opposition

rn route ; it will have the best possible effect on the country, and will

be ready to go anywhere on reaching Kandahar, being fully equipped

in all respects. He proposes sending me in command.
4
1 am sure that but few Bombay regiments arc able to cope with

Afghans, and once the Kabul Field Force leaves this country, the chance

of sending a thoroughly reliable and well-equipped column wiU be lost.

The movement of the remainder of the Kabul troops towards India

should be simultaneous with the advance of my division towards

Kandahar, it being most desirable to limit the area of our responsibilities

w soon as possible ; at the same time, it is imperative that we should

now show our strength tliroughout Afghanistan. The withdrawal,

under existing circumstances, of the whole force from Kabul to India

would certainly be misunderstood, both in Afghanistan and elsewhere.

You need have no fears about my division. It can take care of itself,

and will reach Kandahar under' the month. I will answer for the

loyalty and good feeling of the Native portion, and would propose to

inform them that, as soon as matters have been satisfactorily settled at

Kandahar, they will bo sent straight back to India. Show this to

byall.
4

**Now General Sir George Greaves. G.C.B., G.C.M.G.

VOL. ii. 54
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Exaggerated reports of the Maiwand affair being- rife in

the Kabul bazaars, which were daily becoming crowded

with armed Afghans from Abdur Rahman’s camp, and

the prospect of troops having to leave at once for Kan-

dahar, made it more than ever necessary to bring the

negotiations with the new Amir to a speedy conclusion.

It was accordingly arranged that Mr. Griffin should

meet him at Zimina, about sixteen miles from Kabul.

This interview had the happiest results, and must have

been extremely gratifying to Mr. Griffin, whom we all

heartily congratulated on the successful ending to the very

delicate and difficult negotiations which he had carriod on

with so much skill and patience.

In taking leave of His Highness, Mr. Griffin invited him

to come to the British camp the following day to be

received by Sir Donald Stewart. Abdur Rahman himself

was quite willing to come, and some of his supporters were

in favour of his doing so, but others vehemently opposed

the idea, and * swore by their faith they would leave

him if he persisted.’ After a stormy meeting with his

Chiefs, the Amir wrote to Mr. Griffin as follows :
* If you

really wish me to come to you, irrespective of the opinion

of the people, I am quite ready to do so. Please write

and let me know your wishes. I am in the hands of

ignorant fools, who do not know their own interests, good

or bad. What can Ido? I am most anxious to meet you.

Upon receipt of this note Stewart decided that it would

be impolitic to press for an interview, for, instead of

strengthening the Amir, as had l>een the intention, it was

evident it would have the opjwsite effect, so the meeting

was given up.
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On the morning of the 3rd August the telegram arrived

from Lord Ripon, which 1 had been so anxiously expecting,

authorizing the despatch of a force to Kandahar, and

directing that I should be placed in command.

I heard afterwards that my message to the Adjutant-

General was received at Simla at a most opportune

moment. Lyall took it without delay to Lord Ripon, who

from the first had been in favour of a force being sent from

Kabul, but had refrained from ordering the movement in

deference to the views held by some members of his

Council, whose longer experience of India, His Excellency

considered, entitled their opinions to be treated with

respect.

I set to work at once to organize the column which I

was to have the great honour of commanding. In this

most congenial duty I received every possible assistance

and encouragement from Stewart ; he gave me carte-

blanche, and I should only have had myself to blame if

every unit had not been as efficiently equipped as circum-

stances would admit.

I wished that tho force should be composed, as far as

possible, of those who had served with me throughout the

campaign
; but as some of tho regiments (more especially

Native corps) had been away from their homes for two

years, and had had more than their share of fighting,

besides having suffered heavy losses in action and through

sickness, I considered it right to consult their commanders

before detailing the troops. With the exception of three,

who thought that their regiments had been long enough

&way from India, all, to my great delight, eagerly re-

sponded to my call, and 1 took upon myself to promise
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the men that they Bhould not be left to garrison Kandahar,

but should be sent back to India as soon as the fighting

ceased.

When the several regiments were decided upon, every

man not likely to stand the strain of prolonged forced

marches was weeded out, and the scale of baggage, tents,

and impedimenta was reduced to a minimum.’*

I had no fear as to the officers and men ably and

cheerfully performing their part of the task ; we had been

long enough together to enable us thoroughly to under-

stand and trust each other, uud I felt that I could depend

upon each and all to respond heartily to whntever call l

might make upon them.

The question of supplies was my greatest anxiety, and I

had many consultations with my experienced Commissariat

officer. Major liadcock, before I could feel satisfied in this

respect.

The transport, as I have alreudy recorded, was in good

order ; it was fortunate that the soldiers hud been practised

in loading, leading, and tending the animals, for the

Afghan drivers deserted to a man a march or two from

Kabul, and the Hazaras followed their example on reaching

their own country. Sir Donald Stewart's account of the

troubles he had encountered during his march from Kan-

* Each British soldier was allowed for kit and camp*
equipage, including great-coat nnd waterproof sheet 80 lbs.

Each Native uoldier • 20 »

Each public and private follower - - 10 „

Each European officer .... 1 mule*

Every eight officers for men* - . 1 ,*

Each staff-officer for office purponen - HO lbs.

Each Native officer - - . . 80 M
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dahar was not very encouraging, and I should have been

glad if I could have taken a larger amount of supplies;*

but on this point I had to be guided bj” the number of

animals that could be allotted to the column, which was

necessarily limited, as carriage had to be provided simul-

taneously for the withdrawal of the rest of the army of

occupation.

The strength of the force placed at my disposal consisted

of 9,986 men of all ranks and eighteen guns, divided

into throo brigades of Infantry, one brigade of Cavalry,

and three batteries of Mountain Artillery. There were,

* The amount of supplies taken with the force was as follows:

For British Troops.

Bread-stuff * - - - -5 days.

Preserved vegetables - - - • 15 „

Tea, sugar, salt, and rum - - 80 „

Tor Native Troops and Followers.

Flour - - ... 5 days.

Dal and salt - - - - 80 „

Rum for spirit -drinking men - B >«

Sheep, ten days’ supply for British troops and four issues for

Native troops, with 20 per cent, spare. Nearly 5,000 sheep

were purchased on the march. N.B.—There are no horned

cattle in Afghanistan, except those used for the plough or

transport.

In addition to the nbo\e, a small reserve of lime-juice, pea-soup, and

tinned meat was token; these proved most useful, and might ha\o

been increased with advantage lmd carriage been available.

I gave strict orders that the reserve of bread-stuff, dour, and sheep

was never to bo used without my sanction, and that wherever possible

food for the day's consumption was to be purchased. We had occa-

sionally to trench upon the reserve, but wo nearly mode it up at other

places, and wo arrived at Kandahar witli three days supplies m
hand.



342 FORTY-ONE YEARS IN INDIA 11880

besides, over 8,000 followers* and 2,800 horses and gun-

mules.

It was designated the Kabul-Ivandahar Field Force.

Major-General J. Boss, G.B., was given the command of

the Infantry division, his three Brigadier-Generals being

Herbert Macplierson, T. I). Baker, and Charles Macgregor.

Brigadier-General Hugh Gough commanded the Cavalry

brigade ; Colonel Alured Johnson the Artillery
; while

Colonel yE. Perkins held the position of Commanding Royal

Engineer; Deputy -Surgeon -General J. Hanbury that of

Principal Medical Officer ; and Lieutenant-Colonel E. F.

Chapman, Chief of the Staff.

From the detail of the force given below, + it will lie

* The followers consisted of

:

Doolie-bearers.... - 2,192

Transport and other departments . 4,698

Private servants, and mires of Nati\c Cavalry

regiments .... • 1,244

Total • - 8,134

t DETAIL OF FORCE.

1st Infantry Brigade.

British . Native.

92nd Highlanders - 651 —
23rd Pioneers .... — 701

24th Punjab Native Infantry — 675

2nd Gurkhas .... — 501

Total - 651 1,777

2nd Infantry Brigade.

British . Native.

72nd Highlanders.... 7H7 —
2nd Sikh Infantry — 612

3rd Sikh Infantry.... — 570

6th Gurkhas .... — 561

m a _n rrttrr 1.748
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seen that there was no wheeled Artillery, and that the

number of guns was not in proportion to the strength of

the other branches. This was my own doing ; I was pressed

to take more and heavier gunB, but, after due consideration,

I decided that I would only have Mountain batteries. We
could not tell how long the Kandahar garrison would be able

to hold out, so that our first object must be to reach that

3rd Infantry Brigade.
British. Native

.

60th Rifles, 2nd Battalion 616 —
15th Sikhs----- — 650

25th Punjab Native Infantry - - — 629

4th Gurkhas .... — 637

Total - - 616 1,916

Cavalry Brigade.
British. Native.

9th Queen's Royal Lancers - 618 —
3rd Bengal Cavalry - — 394

3rd Punjab Cavalry - — 408

Central India Horse - — 485

Total - - 318 1,297

Artillery Division.

British. Native. Guns.

6-8th Royal Artillery—screw guns 95 139

11 -9th Royal Artillery 95 139

No. 2 Mountain Battery - — 140

Total - 190 418

Total of Force.
British troops

Native „
British officers

Guns -

Cavalry horses

Artillery mules

Two hundnoiTI

2,662

7,161

278

18

1,779

460

inrAinA tftirfln fifYir
1 each Infantry
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place with the least possible delay, and wheeled Artillery

would, in a country where there were practically no roads,

have only prevented our moving as rapidly as we might

otherwise have done.

For the equipment of the force, inclusive of carriage

for footsore soldiers* and followers, and allowing ten

per cent, spare, more than 8,000t animals were re-

quired.

soldier : seventy rounds were carried by each man, thirty rounds were

in reserve with the regiment, and a hundred rounds in the Field Park.

Each Mountain batterv had :

Common shell

Double shell -

Shrapnel shell

Star shell

Case shot

264

60

144

24

4H

540 rounds.Total -

And thirty rounds per gun in the Field Park.

* British troops were allowed ponies at the rate of 2 per cent, of

strength.

Native troops were allowed ponies at the rate of 2J per cent, of

strength.

Followers were allow

strength.

t Number of Animals that

left Kabul
Purchased during the
march1

Number of animals that
reached Kandahar -

Casualties during the
march

ponies at the rate of H FT cent, of

Vabiifl, or
Afghan
pon Ion.

Mule.
Indian
lenten.

.
i

Donkey*. Camel*-

!

1

1,580
i

4,510

i

;
1,244 012

;

6.

85 i

j

1 — 208
|

171

1,179 ! 4,208
,

1.18H
|

1,078 j

177
i

445 1 218 • 106
1 42

1

1

1 With hospital equipment. « -a k im mwncrSf
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Fortunately, it turned out that a fair amount of Indian

corn in the ear whb almost everywhere procurable, which

was so nutritious that a large majority of the Cavalry

horses and transport animals reached Kandahar in ex-

cellent condition.

Throughout the march great difficulties were experienced

in procuring food, but they were always overcome, with

the able assistance of Major Hastings and his political

staff,* and by means of the admirable arrangements

made by the Commissariat + and Transport t officers, who
were quite untiring, and after the longest march, and

with the prospect of having to start again at an early

hour the following morning, had often to work far into

the night.

The want of fuel was our chief drawback. We had

on many occasions to purchase houses and pull them to

pieces for the sake of the wood to be got out of them, and

frequently there was nothing to cook with save tiny roots

of southernwood, which had to be dug out and collected

after a long day’s march before the men could prepare

their food and satisfy their hunger.

One day’s corn was carried by each animal, in addition to

the ordinary load, and as far as Ghazni grain was tolerably

* Major E. Hastings, Captain West Ridgeway, Major Euan Smith,

C.8.I., and Major M. Protheroe.
t Major A. Badcock, Captain A. Rind, and Lieutenants C. Fitz-

gerald, H. Hawkcs, and H. Lyons-Montgoinery, all of the Bengal Staff

Corps.

. + tenant-Colonel R. Low, Bengal Staff Corps; Captain W.
Wynter, 88rd Foot; Captains G. H. Eliot and C. R. Macgregor, Bengal

Staff Corps; Lieutenants L. Booth, 88rd Foot, H. Elverson, 2nd Foot,

«• Fishor, 10th HuBsars, It. Wilson, 10th Hussars, and C. Robertson,

oth Foot.
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plentiful ; beyond that we had to depend for forage on the

crops still standing. At the end of tho day's march,

certain fields were told off to the several brigades; from

these all that was required was cut and carried away, the

fields were then measured and assessed, and compensation

was awarded by the political officers, who also adjusted all

cl&ims on account of wrecked houses, and fruit, vegetables,

etc., brought in for the troops.

On Sunday, the 8th August, the force moved into camp

by brigades, my Head-Quarters being with the first and

third Infantry brigades at Beni Hissar, on the way to the

Logar valley, which route I had chosen instead of the

slightly shorter line by Maidan, on account of the greater

facility it afforded for supplies.

Sir Donald Stewart paid us a farewell visit in the after-

noon, and at 0 a.m. the following morning we began the

march to Kandahar.
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CHAPTER LXI.

Before daybreak on the lltli August, as 1 was starting

from camp, I received my last communication from the

outside world in the shape of a telegram from my wife,

sent off from a little village in Somersetshire, congratulat-

ing me and the force, and wishing us all God speed. She

had taken our children to England a few months before,

thinking that the war in Afghanistan was over, and that I

would soon he able to follow.

Four days brought us to the end of the Logar valley, a

distance of forty-Bix miles. So far the country was easy

and supplies plentiful. I thought it wise, however, not

to attempt long distances at first, that both men and

animals might becomo gradually hardened before entering

on the difficult and Bcantily cultivated ground between

Ghilzai and Kelat-i-Ghilzai, where I knew that forced

marches were inevitable, and that their powers of endur-

ance would be sorely taxed. Moreover, it was necessary

to begin quietly, and organize some system by which con-

fusion in the crowded camping-grounds might be avoided,

and the physical strain upon everyone lightened as much

as possible.

When it in fttTffrTi lU/ftwrkyfTi 4TVh«Tifr ifliTijIv ho pud?v for ovor
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18,000 men and 11,000 animals had to be drawn from the

country after arrival in camp, that food had to be dis-

tributed to every individual, that the fuel with which it was

cooked had often to be brought from long distances, and

that a very limited time was available for tho preparation

of meals and for rest, it will readily be understood how

essential it was that even the stupidest follower should be

able to find his place in camp speedily, and that everyone

should know exactly what to do and how to set about

doing it.

On the march and in the formation of the camps the

same principles were, as far as possible, applied each day.

The ‘ rouse ’ sounded at a.m., and by four o'clock

tents had been struck, baggage loaded up, and every-

thing was ready for a start.

As a general rule, the Cavalry covered the movement at

a distance of about five miles, two of the four regiments

being in front, with the other two on either flank. Two of

the Infantry brigades came next, each accompanied by

a Mountain battery ; thon followed the field hospitals,

Ordnance and Engineer parks, treasure, and the baggage,

massed according to the order in which the brigades were

moving. The third Infantry' brigade with its Mountain

battery and one or two troops of Cavalry formed the rear

guard.

A halt of ten minutes was made at tho end of each hour,

which at eight o’clock was prolonged to twenty minutes to

give time for a hasty breakfast. Being able to sleep on the

shortest notice, I usually took advantage of these intervals

to get a nap, awaking greatly refreshed after a few minutes
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On arrival at the resting-place for the night, the front

face of the camp was told off to the brigade on rear guard,

and this became the leading brigade of the column on the

next day’s march. Thus every brigade had its turn of

rear guard duty, which was very arduous, more particu-

larly after leaving Ghazni, the troops so employed seldom

reaching the halting-ground before six or seven o’clock in

the evening, and sometimes even later.

One of the most troublesome duties of the rear guard

was to prevent the followers from lagging behind, for it

was certain death for anyone who strayed from the shelter

of the column ;
numbers of Afghans always hovered about

on the look-out for plunder, or in the hope of being able to

send a Kafir, or an almost equally-detested Hindu, to

eternal perdition. Towards the end of the march particu-

larly, this duty became most irksome, for the wretched

followers were so weary and footsore that they hid them-

selves in ravines, making up their minds to die, and

entreating, when discovered and urged to make an effort,

to be left where they were. Every baggage animal that

could possibly be spared was used to carry the worn-out

followers; but, notwithstanding this and the care taken by

officers and men that none should be left behind, twenty

of these poor creatures were lost, besides four Native

soldiers.

The variation of temperature (at times as much as eighty

degrees between day and night) was most trying to the

troops, who had to carry the same clothes whether the

thermometer was at freezing-point at dawn or at 110 tahi.

at mid-day. Scarcity of water, too, was a great trouble to

them, while constant sand-storms, and the suffocating dust
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raised by the column in its progress, added greatly to their

discomfort.

Daily reports regarding the health of the troops, followers,

and 'transport animals were brought to me each evening,

and I made it my business to ascertain how many men

had fallen out during the day, and what had been tho

number of casualties amongst the animals.

On the l*2th August the Head-Quarters and main body

of the force halted to allow the Cavalry and the second

Infantry brigade to push on and get clear over tho Zam-

burak Kotal (H,100 feet high) before the rest of the column

attempted its ascent. This kotal presented a serious

obstacle to our rapid progress, the gradient being in many

places one in four, and most diilicult for the baggage

animals ; but by posting staff officers at intervals to control

the flow of traffic, and by opening out fresh pnths to relieve

the pressure, we got over it much more quickly than I

had expected.

On the loth we reached Ghazni, ninety-eight miles from

Kabul, a place of peculiar interest to me from the fact that

it was for his share in its capture, forty-one years before,

that my father was given tho C.D.

I was met by the Governor, who handed me the keys of

the fortress, and I placed my own guards and sentries in

and around the city to prevent collisions between the in-

habitants and our troops, and also to make sure that our

demands for supplies were complied with. Up to this

point we had been fairly well off for food, forage, and

water.

Our next march was across a barren, inhospitable track

fror iwonfv milnu In <1 nlitoio ien ll«#l Ynrfflmti. On the way
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we passed Ahmedkhel, where Sir Donald Stewart won his

victory; the name had been changed by the Natives to
‘ the Resting-place of Martyrs,’ and the numerous freshly-

covered-in graves testified to the (jhazis heavy losses. The
remains of the few British soldiers, who had been buried

where they had fallen, had been desecrated, and the bones

were exposed to view and scattered about.

At Chardeh, our next halting-place, a communication

from Colonel Tanner, Commanding at Kelat-i-Ghilzai, was
brought to me by a Native messenger

; it was dated the

12th August, and informed me that Kandahar was closely

invested, but that the garrison had supplies for two months
and forage for fifteen days.

On the 21st we arrived at a point thirty miles from

Kelat-i-Ghilzai, whence we opened heliograph communi-
cation with that place, and were told of an unsuccessful

Bortie made from Kandahar five days before, in which

General Brooke and eight other British officers had been

killed.

On the 23rd Kelat-i-Ghilzai was reached. The garrison*

had been well taken care of by Colonel Tanner, t and a

large quantity of food for man and beast had been

collected
; but I thought it unadvisable at present to

continue to hold the place, and have to keep open com-

munication between it and Kandahar, and as I could see

no compensating advantage in doing so, I determined to

withdraw the troops and take them along with me.

* The garrison consisted of 2 guns of C/2, Boyal Artillery, 145 rifles

of the 66th Foot, 100 of the 8rd Sind Horse, and the 2nd Baluch

hegbnent, 680 strong.

t Now Lieutenant-Oenernl Sir Oriol Tanner, IC.C.B.
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Colonel Tanner’s report satisfied me there was no im-

mediate danger to be apprehended at Kandahar, so I

decided to halt for one day; both men and animals

greatly needed rest after a continuous march of 225

miles.

I had endeavoured to keep the Government of India in-

formed of my progress by a message from Ghazni, and one

from Oba Karez on the 18th August, but neither reached

its destination. I now despatched a message which was

more successful, and was delivered at Simla on the 30th

August. It was as follows :

• Kelat-i-Ghilzai,
• 28ri/ Auyuxti 1H80 .

‘The force under my command arrived here this morning. The

authorities at Kandahar having stated on the 17th instant that they

have abundant supplies and can make forage last until 1st September,

I halt to-morrow to rest troops, and more especially the transport

animals and camp-followers. The force left Ghazni on the 16th,

and has inarched 186 miles during the last eight dnys ; the troops

are in good health and spirits. From this I purpose moving by

regular stages, so that the men may arrive fresh at Kandahar. I

hope to be in heliographic communication with Kandahar from Itobat,

distant twenty miles, on the 29th. If General Fhayrc reaches

Takht-i-Pul, I should also hope to communicate with him and arrange

a combined movement oil Kandahar. 1 am taking the Kclut-i-Ghilzai

garrison with me, making the Fort over to Mahomed Sadik Khan, a

Toki Chief, who had charge of the place when wo arrived in 1H79; the

present Governor, Sirdar Sherindil Khan, refuses to remain. We have

met with no opposition during the march, and have been able to make

satisfactory arrangements for supplies, especially forage, which at this

season is plentiful. The Cavalry horses and Artillery mules are in excel-

lent order ; onr casualties to date arc, one soldier 72nd Highland01,0
'

one sepoy 28rd Pioneers, one 2nd Sikhs, two sepoys 8rd Sikhs dead,

one sepoy 4th Gnrkhas, two sepoys 24th Punjab Native Infantry*

one Duffadar 8rd Punjab Cavalry missing, six camp-followers dc »

five missing. The missing men have, I fear, been murdered,

telegraphed from Ghazni on the 15th, and from Oba Karez on 6

18th August.'
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I wrote also to Major-General Phayre, telling him of

the date on which I expected to reach Kandahar, and that

if I heard of his being anywhere near I would arrange

my movements to suit his, in order that the two

forces might make a combined attack on Ayub Khan’s

position.

As I was afraid the supplies at Kandahar would be in-

sufficient for the additional troops about to be collected there,

I sent General Phayre a memorandum* of the amount of

food required daily by my forcth and begged him to get

pushed up from the rear such articles as were more

particularly wanted. I pointed out that we were badly

* Estimate of daily requirements for the Kabul-Kandahar Field

Force and the Kclat-i-Ghil/.ai garrison :

Europeans 3,200

Native troops 8,000

Followers 8,500

Horses 2,300

Transport—yabus 1.592, mules and ponies 5,926, camels 400,

donkeys 400.

Meat 4,000 lbs.

Bread-stuff 40 maunds .
1

Vegetables 4,000 lbs.

Rice - 800 „

Salt 133 „
Sugar - 600 „

Tea - 150 „

Rum, 25 per cent. 80 gallons.

Atta - 820 maunds.

Dali 611 „

Ghee - 19* „

Salt . 8* „

Grain..... 700 „

A. R. BADCOCK, Major,

Keut-i-Ohilzai, Deputy Commissary-General.

24th Augutt, 1880.

1 A maund is equivalent to 80 lbs.

VOL. II. 55



354 FORTY-ONE YEARS IN INDIA [1880

off for boots, and that the 92nd Highlanders had only one

hundred great-coats fit for wear, which were used by the

men on night duties.

On the 25th we marched to Juldak, seventeen miles, and

the same distance the next day to Tirandaz, where I

received a letter from Lieutenant-General Primrose, in-

forming me that Ayub Khan had raised the siege on the

28rd, and was entrenching himself at Mazra, beyond the

Baba Wali Kotal, in the valley of the Arghandab.

I awoke on the morning of the 27th feeling very unwell,

and soon found I was in for an attack of fever. The heat

during the day was becoming more and more overpowering

as we proceeded south, and I had lately been feeling some-

what knocked up by it and by exposure to the sun. I had

now to give in for the time being, and was compelled to

perform the march in a doolie, a most ignominious mode of

conveyance for a General on service ; but there was no help

for it, for I could not sit n horse.

That day the 3rd Bengal and 3rd Punjab Cavalry

marched thirty-four miles to Robat, in order to establish

direct heliographic communication with Kandahar. The

main body halted about half-way, when I again reported

progress as follows

:

* Siiaiir-i-Sapa,

‘27th August, 18H0.

• My force arrived here to-day. I received a letter yesterday, dated

26th, from Colonel Ht. John. lie writes : “ The rumours of the

approach of your force have been sufficient to relieve the city from

investment. On Monday night the villages on the east and south were

abandoned by their mixed garrisons of ghazis and regulars. Yesterday

morning Ayub struck his camp, and marched to a position on the

Argandab, between J)aba Wali and Sheikh Chola, due north of the oity,

and separated from it by a range of rocky hills. Ho has about 4,000



A LETTER FROM GENERAL PHAYRE 355
1300]

Infantry regulars, six 12-pounders and two 9-pounders rifled, four
6-pounder smooth-bore batteries, and one 4-pounder battery, 2,000
sbwars, and perhaps twice that number of ghazis

, of whom a third have
firearms. The KizilbasheH and Kohistanis in his army, about 1,200
Infantry and SOO Cavalry, offered to desert and join us directly we
made a show of attack. They are at last aware of Abdur Rahman’s
succession, but I think Ayub will remain unmolested until the arrival

of the Kabul force, provided he waits, which is unlikely. He will, I

expect, strike away north into Khakrez, on which line a vigorous
pursuit will give us his guns. Maclaine, Royal Horse Artillery, is still

a prisoner; I am making every effort to obtain his release, but I am
not very hopeful of success. This morning, the 25th, I went to the

field of the unlucky sortie of the 16th, and found the bodies of the poor
fellows who fell there, some forty in number ; they will be buried this

afternoon. All the wounded are doing well. Xo signs or tidings of

Phayre." General Gough, with two regiments of Cavalry, is at Robat

;

they are in hcliographic communication with Kandahar. General

Primrose heliographs that Ayub Khan has entrenched his camp at

Baba Wali. The force marches for Robat to-morrow, seventeen miles

distant from Kandahar.’

The following day the column joined the two Cavalry

regiments at Robat, where I was met by Lieutenant-Colonel

St. John, from whom I heard that Ayub Khan was likely to

make a stand. 1 thought it prudent, therefore, to halt on

Sunday, the 2!)th, and divide the last twenty miles into two

short marches, in order that the men and animals might

arrive as fresh as possible, and fit for any work which

might be required of them ;
for should Ayub Khan

retire towards Herat, he would have to be followed up,

and his army attacked and defeated wherever we might

overtake him.

Before leaving Robat, a letter arrived from General

Phayre, which put an end to all hope of his force being

able to co-operate with mine, for his leading brigade, he

wrote, had only just got to the Kohjak Pass. This was to

b® regretted, but it was unavoidable. I was well aware
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of the strenuous efforts the gallant Commander had

made to relieve the beleaguered garrison, and I knew

if co-operation had been possible it would have been

effected.

We encamped at Momund on the 80th, whence I sent the

following telegram to Simla :

4 My force arrived here to-day ; we inarch to Kandahar to-

morrow. General Primrose heliographs t(mt a letter from Ayub’s

camp brings information that the mother of the late Heir-Apparent,

Abdulla Jan f with other ladies, has been sent to Ziunindawar.

Arrival of the young Musa Jan in Ayub's camp is confirmed. Hashini

Khan is also there. The position is being strengthened, especially

on the Pir Paimal side, where two guns have been placed with two

regiments. From former information, I learn that the Baba Woli

Kotal is occupied by three regiments oml two guns. The Kotal-i-

Murchft is held by the Kabul regiment*, and Ayub's own camp is at

Mazra, where it i* said that the majority of his guns are parked. I

propose to encamp the Infantry to the west of Kandahar iminediatch

under the walls, and the Cavalry under the walls to the south. Should

I hear that Ayub contemplates flight, I shall attack without deluy. If,

on the contrary, he intends to resist, I shall take my own time. The

country he is occupying is, from description and map, extremely

difficult and easily defensible, and each separate advance will require

careful study and reconnaissance to pre\ent unnecessary loss of life.’

On the morning of the Hist we marched into Kandahar,

jast over 81H miles from Kabul. The fever, which had

attacked me rather sharply, had left me extremely weak,

and I was unable to ride the whole way. I got on my

hone, however, some distance from Kandahar to meet

Generals Primrose, Burrows, and Nuttall, who came out to

receive the column. As we approached the city, the whole

garrison turned out and gave us u hearty welcome ;
officers

and men. Native and British, crowded round us, loud in

their expressions of gratitude for our having come so quickly

to their assistance. We, on our side, were all anxiety to
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learn the particulars about Maiwand, how they had fared

while invested, and all they could tell us of Ayub Khan, his

position, strength of his army, etc.

I confess to being very greatly surprised, not to use a

stronger expression, at the demoralized condition of the

greater part of the garrison ;* there were some notable

exceptions, \ but the general bearing of the troops reminded

me of the people at Agra in 1857. They seemed to con-

sider themselves hopelessly defeated, and were utterly de-

spondent ;
they never even hoisted the Union Jack until the

relieving force was close at hand. The same excuses could

not, however, be made for them, who were all soldiers by

profession, as we had felt inclined to make for the residents

of Agra, a great majority of whom were women, children,

and civilians. The walls l which completely surrounded

Kandahar were so high and thick as to render the city

absolutely impregnable to any army not ecpiipped with a

regular siege-train. Scaling-ladders had been prepared by

the enemy, and there was an idea that an assault would

be attempted ; but for British soldiers to have contem-

plated the possibility of Kandahar being taken by an

Afghan army showed what a miserable state of depression

and demoralization they were in.

I halted the column for two hours outside the south wall

* The effective garrison consisted of 1,000 British soldiers, 3,000

Native soldiers, and fifteen Field guns.

t One and all boro testimony to the unfailing good behaviour an

creditable bearing of the Royal Artillery and the Bombay Sappers an

Miners, not only during the investment, but in the very trying tune o

the retreat from Maiwand. . - - . f

* + The walls had an average height of 80 feet, and brea t o

on the north and east fronts.
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of the city, where it was sheltered from the enemy’s fire,

Ayub Khan’s position being within long range directly

north of Kandahar. While the men rested and breakfasted,

and the baggage animals were being unloaded, fed, and

watered, I went into the citadel to talk matters over with

General Primrose and Colonel St. John, and inquire

whether there was sufficient accommodation for the sick

men of my force, numbering 940, who needed to be taken

into hospital. The thermometer now’ registered 105° F. in

tents during the day, but the nights were still bitterly cold,

and the sudden changes of temperature were extromely

trying to people in bad health.

On the advice of Lieutenant-Colonel Chapman, whose

intimate acquaintance with the neighIwurhood of Kandahar,

gained while serving on Sir Donald Stewart’s staff, was now

most valuable to me, I determined to take up a position to

the west of the city, with my right on the cantonment and

my left touching Old Kandahar. This enabled me to cover

the city, gave me command of a good supply of water,

and placed me within striking distance of Ayub Khan’s

camp.

At 10 a.m. the first and third brigades moved off ond

occupied Piquet Hill, Karo/. Hill, ond the north-east spur of

the hill above Old Kandahar. A few shots were fired at

the advance guard from distant orchards, and the ground

proved to be within range of some of the eneipy’s Field-

pieces on the Babu Wali Kotal, but it was a cose

Hobson’s choice, as water was not to be found anywhere

else at a come-at-able distance.

Large numbers of men were to be seen crowning the

m, . m.i: onnatnintincr shelter-trenches along
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the crest of the low black ridge, which jutted out in a
south-easterly direction from the more lofty range on which

the kotal is situated. Piquets were immediately sent to

occupy the northern spur of the Kohkeran Hill command-
ing the road to Gundigan, the village of Abbasabad, the

Karez Hill, the village of Chihal Dukhtaran, the greater

and lesser Piquet Hills, and the village of Kalachi, all of

which were found to be deserted.

From a cursory examination of the ground, I satisfied

myself that any attempt to carry the Baba Wali Kotal by

direct attack must result in very severe loss, and I deter-

mined to turn it. But before I could decide how this

could best be done, it was necessary to ascertain the

strength and precise extent of the Afghan position. I

therefore detailed a small party ;* under the command of

Brigadier-General Hugh Gough, to make as complete a

reconnaissance as time would allow. In the meantime I

despatched the following telegram to the authorities at

Simla :

4 Kandahar,
‘ 31at August, 1880.

% The force under my command arrived here this morning without

opposition. Enemy are Haul to be iu considerable strength at Mazra,

but the ridge of hills which divides Kandahar from the Argandab

completely covers their position, and at present I have only been

able to ascertain that the Baba Wali Kotal and one or two other

points on this ridge are held in great strength, and that the enemy
are busily engaged in defensive works. Reconnaissances are now
being conducted, and I shall soon, I hope be sufficiently acquainted

with affairs generally to enable me to arrange for an attack. The

Kandahar garrison are in good health ; the horses and transport animals

* Two Royal Artillery guns, 8rd Bengal Cavalry, and 15th Sikhs.

bfeutenant-Colonel Chapman accompanied the party, and was of great

assistance to Brigadier-General Gough.
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appear to be in good condition. Major Vandeleur, 7th Fusiliers, has

died of his wounds ; the remainder of the wounded, both officers and
men, are generally doing well. The troops from Kabul arc in famous

health and spirits. The assurance of tho safety of this garrison enabled

comparatively short marches to be made from Kelat-i-Gliilzai, which

much benefited both inen and animals. Tlic Cavalry horses and

Artillery mules are in excellent condition, and the transport animals

are, as a rule, in very fair order, General l'rimrosc has arranged for

the sick of the force from Kabul being accommodated inside the city

;

many of the cases ore sore feet ; none are serious. To-morrow the

telegraplfline towards India will commence to be re-constructed, and as

General Fhayre is probably on this side of the Kohjak to-day, through

communication should soon be restored.*

The reconnaissance, which started at 1 p.m., proceeded

towards the high ground immediately above the villages of

Gundigan and Murghan. Here the Infantry and guns

were halted, while the Cavalry advanced between two or

three miles, avoiding the numerous orchards and enclosures,

and coming out in front of Pir Paimal, which was found to

be strongly entrenched.

As soon as the enemy's tire along this line had been

ilrawn, the 3rd Bengal Cavalry fell back, admirably handled

by their Commandant, Lieutenant-Colonel A. Mackenzie.

In the meantime, two guns of No. 11 Battery 9th Brigade

were brought into action, partly to test the range, and

partly to check the enemy, who were passing rapidly into

the gardens near Gundigan. The Infantry and Artillery

then retired within the line of piquets, and the moment

they began to fall back the Afghans cume after them in

great strength ; they were so persistent that I ordered the

whole of the 8rd Brigade and part of the 1st Brigade under

arms. The enemy, however, were unable to come to close

quarters owing to the bold front shown by the 15th Sikhs,

nnder the command of Lieutenant-Colonel Hennessy, and
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before dark the troops were all back in camp, with a loss of

five men killed and fifteen wounded.

From the information obtained by this reconnaissance,

I found that it was quite practicable to turn the Afghan

right, and thus place myself in rear of the Baba Wali

range; I decided, therefore, to attack the position the

following morning. It was too close to our own camp to

risk delay. Moreover, I knew that the retrograde move-

ment of Gough’s small body would be construed into a

defeat by the enemy, who, if we did not move at once,

would assuredly think that we were afraid to take the

initiative, and would become correspondingly bold.

I accordingly issued orders for the troops to breakfast at

7 a.m., and for one day’s cooked rations to be carried by

the Infantry and two days by the Cavalry and Horse

Artillery. Brigades wore to be in position by eight o’clock,

tents being previously struck and the baggage stored in a

walled enclosure.

The night passed quietly except for occasional bursts of

musketry along the line of piquets to the west, showing

that the Afghans were holding the villages they had

occupied the previous evening.
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CHAPTER LXII.

The next morning, tbe 1st Septemljer, in accordance

with instructions from Simla, I assumed command of the

army in southern Afghanistan. There was no return to

show the strength or composition of General Phayre’s

column, but the troops at Kandahar all told now amounted

in round numbers to 3,800 British and 11,000 Native

soldiers, with 36 guns.

An hour before daybreak the whole of the troops were

under arms, and at 6 a.m. I explained to Generals Primrose

and Ross and the officers commanding brigades the plan of

operations. Briefly, it was to threaten the enemy’s left

(the Baba Wali Kotnl), and to attack in force by the village

of Pir Paimal.

The Infantry Imlonging to the Kabul column, upon whom

devolved the duty of carrying the enemy's position, were

formed up in rear of the low hills which covered the front

of our camp, their right being at Piquet Hill and their left

resting on Chitral Zina. The Cavalry of the Kabul column

were drawn up in rear of the left, ready to operate by

Gundigan towards the head of the Arghandab, so as to

threaten the rear of Ayub Khan's camp and his line of re-

treat in the direction of Girishk. Four guns of E Battery*
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Royal Horae Artillery, two companies of the 27th Fusiliers,

and four companies of the 28th Bombay Infantry, were

placed at the disposal of Brigadier-General Hugh Gough,

whose orders were to occupy with these troops the position

above Gundigan, which had been so useful during the

previous day’s reconnaissance, and to push his Cavalry on

to the Arghandab.

Guards having been detailed for the protection of the city,

the remainder of Lieutenant-General Primrose’s troops

were ordered to be disposed as follows : Brigadier-General

Daubeny’s brigade to occupy the ground between Piquet

Hill and Cliitral Zina as soon as the Infantry of the Kabul-

Kandahar Field Force advanced to the attack. The

remnant of Brigadier-General Burrows’s brigade, with

No. 5 Battery, 11th Brigade Royal Artillery, under Captain

Hornsby, and the Cavalry under Brigadier-General Nuttall,

to take up a position north of the cantonment, from which

the 40-pounders could be brought to bear on the Baba

Wali Kotal, while the Cavalry could watch the pass, called

Kotal-i-Murcha, and cover the city.

From an early hour it was clear that the enemy con-

templated an offensive movement ;
the villages of Gundigan

and Gundi Mulla Sahibdad were being held in strength, and

a desultory fire was brought to bear on the British front

from the orohards connecting these two villages and from

the Baba Wali Kotal.

The Bombay Cavalry moved out at 7.30 a.m., and

Daubeny’s brigade at eight o’clock. Burrows’s troops

followed, and shortly after 9 a.m., their disposition being

completed, Captain Hornsby opened fire upon the kotal.

which was one mass of phazis.
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This feint, made by General Primrose’s troops, having

had the effect I had hoped, of attracting the enemy’s atten-

tion, I gave the order for Major-General Ross to make the

real attack with the 1st and 2nd Brigades of his division.

The 3rd Brigade, under Brigadier-General Maegregor, I

placed in front of the village of Ahbasabad, with the

double object of being a reserve to ' the 1st and 2nd

Brigades and of meeting a possible counter-attack from

the Baba Wnli Kotal.

Ross’s orders were to advance against Gundi Mulla

Sahibdad, capture the village, and then drive the enemy

from the enclosures which lay between it and the low spur

of Pir Paimal hill. This duty he entrusted to Brigadier-

General Macpherson, and he directed Brigadier-General

Baker to advance to the west, to keep touch with the 1st

Brigade, and to clear the gardens and orchards in his

immediate front.

Greig’s 9-pounder and Robinson’s 7-pounder (screw

gan> batteries covered the attack on Gundi Mulla Sahib-

dad, which was made by the 2nd Gurkhas, under Lieu-

tenant-Colonel Arthur Battye, and the 92nd Highlanders,

under Lieutenant-Colonel G. Parker, supported by the

23rd Pioneers, under Lieutenant-Colonel H. Collett, and the

24th Punjab Infantry, under Colonel F. Norman. The

village was carried with the utmost gallantry, Highlanders

and Gurkhas, always friendly rivals in the race for glofy>

by turns outstripping each other in their efforts to be first

within its walls. The enemy sullenly and slowly withdrew,

a goodly number of (/limit remaining to the very last to

receive a bayonet charge of the 92nd. Meanwhile* Baker

iwvtmai toJ Kaon tKroailitu* thiniip wav through the nar
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lanes and loop-holed enclosures which lay in the line of

their spirited attack ; the resistance they encountered

was most stubborn, and it was during this advance

that the 72nd lost their dashing Commander, Lieutenant-

Colonel F. Brownlow,* Captain Frome, and Lance-

Sergeant Cameron, the latter a grand specimen of a

Highland soldier. *

In the 2nd Brigade, the 72nd Highlanders and the 2nd

Sikhs bore the brunt of the fighting ; they were the leading

battalions, and frequently had to fix bayonets to carry

different positions or to check the desperate rushes of the

Afghans.

After continued and severe fighting, both leading

brigades emerged at the point of the hill close to Pir

Paimal, and, wheeling to their right, they pressed rapidly

on, sweeping the enemy through the thickly -wooded

gardens which covered the western slopes, until noon,

when the whole of Pir Paimal was in our possession, t

During the early part of the advance the Afghans

* Browillow's death was a great loss, for throughout the war he had

frequently distinguished himself as a leader—at the Pciwar Kotal,

during the operations round Kabul, and notably on the 14th December,

when he won the admiration of the whole force by his brilliant con-

duct In the attack on the Asmai heights.

t The following Native officers, British and Native non-com-

missioned officers, and Native soldiers were brought forward as having

been very conspicuous during this part of the fight

:

Colour-Sergeant G. Jacobs -

Colour-Sergeant R. Lauder •

Lance-Corporal J. Gordon -

Subadar-Major Gurbaj Sing

Jemadar Alla Sing -

Naick Dir Sing
Sepoy Hakim

72nd Highlanders.

n »•

H »•

2nd Sikhs.

»» 11

n ••

it 11
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collected in great strength on the low hills beneath

the Baba Wali Kotal, evidently preparing for a rush

on our guns ; their leaders could be seen urging them

on, and a portion of them came down the hill, but the

main body apparently refused to follow, and remained on

the crest until the position was turned, when they at once

retreated.

Having become assured of General Boss’s complete

success, and seeing that there was now no necessity for

detaining Macgregor’s (the 3rd) brigade to meet a counter-

attack, I pushed on with it to join Boss, who, however,

knowing how thoroughly he could depend upon his troops,

without waiting to be reinforced, followed up the retreating

foe, until he reached an entrenched position at the other

side of the Baba Wali Kotul, where the Afghans made

another most determined stand, (ihazia in large numbers

flocked to this spot from the rear, while the guns on the

kotal were turned round and brought to bear on our men,

already exposed to a heavy Artillery fire from behind the

entrenched camp.

It now became necessary to take this position by storm,

and recognizing the fact with true soldierly instinct, Major

White, who waB leading the advanced companies of the

92nd, called upon the men for just one charge more ‘to

close the business.’ The battery of screw guns had been

shelling the position, and, under cover of its fire and

supported by a portion of the 2nd Gurkhas and 28rd

Pioneers, the Highlanders, responding with alacrity to

Sepoy Taj Sing - 2nd Sikha.

Sepoy Pertap Sing • „ „

Sepoy Bir Sing • - „ „
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their leader’s call, dashed forward and drove the enemy
frojn their entrenchments at the point of the bayonet.*

Major White was the £rst to reach the guns, being

closely followed by Sepoy Inderbir Lama, who, placing his

rifle upon one of them, exclaimed, ‘ Captured in the name
of the 2nd (Prince of Wales’ Own) Gurkhas !’

Whilst the 1st Brigade was advancing towards the last

position, a half-battalion of the 3rd Sikhs (belonging to the

2nd Brigade), under Lieutenant-Colonel G. Money, charged

a body of Afghans and captured three guns.

The enemy were now absolutely routed, but, owing to

the nature of the ground, it was impossible for General

Boss to realize how complete had been his victory, and he

fully expected that the enemy would take up a fresh posi-

tion further on ; he therefore ordered the 1st and 2nd

Brigades to halt while they replenished their ammunition,

and then proceeded for about a mile, when they suddenly

came in sight of Ayub Khan’s enormous camp. It was

entirely deserted, and apparently stood as it had been

left in the morning when the Afghans moved out to

the attack. With his camp was captured the whole of

Ayub Khan’s Artillery, thirty-two pieces, including our two

* During this engagement the following officers and men were

»pecially remarked for their gallantry

:

Major G. White 92nd Highlanders.

Lieutenant C. Douglas »» 11

Corporal William McGillvray »> 11

Private Peter Grieve I* •1

Private D. Grey - 11 it

Major Sullivan Becher 2nd Gurkhas.

Havildar Gopal Borah n 11

Sepoy Inderbir Lama n •1

Sepoy Tikaram Kwas 11 11
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Horse ^Artillery guns* which had been taken at Maiwand

on the 27th July.

Further pursuit by the Infantry being valueless, the

1st and 2nd Brigades halted on the far side of Mazrtf,

where I with the 3rd Brigade shortly afterwards joined

them.

Brigadier-General Hugh Gough, having satisfied himself

as to the security of oyr loft fiank, scouted as far as

Kohkeran, and then proceeded with the Cavalry of the

Kabul-Kandahar Field Force to execute the extended move-

ment entrusted to him. He crossed the Arghandab, and

pushed round to get in front of the line of the enemy’s

retreat towards Kakrez. Some and Irregular Afghan

troops were overtaken, but no Regular regiments were met

with, the soldiers having, as is their custom, quickly

divested themselves of their uniform and assumed the garb

of harmless agriculturists.

Ayub Khan himself had fled early in the day with his

principal Sirdars.

As I rode into the abandoned camp, I was horrified

to hear that the l>ody of Maclaine, the Horse Artillery

officer who had been taken prisoner at Maiwand, was lying

with the throat cut about forty yards from Ayub Khan’s

own tent. From what I could learn, the latter had not

actually ordered the murder, but as a word from him

would have prevented it, he must be held responsible for

the assassination of an officer who had fallen into his hands

as a prisoner of war.

Our losses during the day comprised : killed, 8 British

* These guru were presented to me by the Indian Government, end

an now at the Royal Hospital, Dublin.
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officers,* 1 Native officer, and 86 men
; wounded, 11 British

officers, 4 Native officers, and 195 men, 18 of whom suc-

cumbed to their wounds. It was difficult to estimate the

loss of the enemy, but it must have been heavy, as between
Kandahar and the village of Pir Paimal alone 600 bodies

were buried by us.

With the exception of the 1st Brigade, which remained at

Mazra for the night to protect the captured guns and
stores, the troops all returned to camp before 9 p.m.t

Utterly exhausted as I was from the hard day’s work
and the weakening effects of my late illness, the cheers

with which I was greeted by the troops as I rode into Ayub
Khan’s camp and viewed the dead bodies of my gallant

soldiers nearly unmanned me, and it was with a very

big lump in my throat that I managed to say a few words

of thanks to each corps in turn. When I returned to

Kandahar, and threw myself on the bed in the little

room prepared for me, I was dead-beat and quite un-

equal to the effort of reporting our success to the Queen

* The third British officer killed uns Captain Straton, 22nd Foot,

Superintendent of Army Signalling, a most accomplished officer, under
whose direction signalling as applied to Field Service reached a

wonderful pitch of perfection. His energy knew no difficulties, and his

enthusiasm was beyond praise.

t The ammunition expended by the Kabul-Kandahar Field Force
on the 81st August and 1st September was

:

llonnda.

Gun - . 102
jShrapncll shell 78

/ Common „ 24

Rifle rnr j
Martini-Henry 15,129

'He ' - °'-705
|
Snider 42,570

®nd in addition 818 rounds were fired by the Artillery, and 4,971 rounds

y the Infantry of the Kandahar Garrison.

VOL. II. 56
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or to the Viceroy. After an hour’s rest, however, knowing

how anxiously news from Kandahar was looked for both

in England and India, I managed to pull myself together

sufficiently to write out and despatch the following

telegram

:

* Kandahar,

4 September, 1880 (6 p.m.).

4 Ayub Khan*a army was to-day defeated and completely dispersed

with, I hope, comparatively slight loss on our side; his camp was

captured, the two lost guns of E Battery, B Brigade Koyal Horse

Artillery were recovered, and several wheeled guns of various calibre

fell to the splendid Infantry of this force; the Cavalry are still in

pursuit. Our casualties are: 22nd Foot, Captain Straton, killed;

72nd Highlanders, Lieutenant-Colonel Brownlow, Captain Froine,

killed, Captain Murray and Lieutenant Monro, wounded, 7 men
killed, 18 wounded; 92nd Highlanders, Lieutenants Menzies and

Donald Stewart wounded, 11 men killed and 39 wounded ; 2nd Gurkhas,

Lieutenant-Colonel Battyc, and 2nd Sikhs, Major Slater wounded.

It is at present impossible to ascertain the casualties amongst the

Native troops, but I have no reason to believe they are excessive ; full

details will be telegraphed to-morrow. The quite recently murdered

remains of Lieutenant Maclaine, lioyal Horse Artillery, were found on

the arrival of the British troops in Ayub Khan's camp. Ayub Khan is

supposed to have fled towards Herat.'

It can easily be imagined with what an intense sense of

relief I awoke on the morning of the 2nd September—the

march had ended, Kandahar had been relieved, Ayub

Khan’s army had been beaten and dispersed, and there

was an adequate force in southern Afghanistan to prevent

further disturbances.

Amongst the innumerable questions of detail which now

confronted me was the all-important one, and that which

caused me greatest anxiety, of how the large body of troops

hastily concentrated at Kandahar, and for whioh the
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produce of the country was quite inadequate, were to be

fed.

No supplies and very little forage were procurable

between Quetta and Kandahar, and in the neighbourhood

of the latter place there was now hardly anything in the

shape of food for man or beast to be had for love or money,

the resources of this part of the country having been

quite exhausted. Belief could only be obtained by reducing

the number of mouths to be ied, and with this object I

scattered the troops in different directions, to posts as far

distant from each other as possible, consistent with safety

;

and in accordance with my promise to the Kabul-Kandahar

Field Force, that they should not be required to garrison

Kandahar when the fighting was at an end, I arranged

to despatch without delay to India the corps which had

come with me from northern Afghanistan.

One column proceeded to Maiwand to inter the bodies

of our soldiers who fell on the 27th July. The Cavalry

brigade moved with a number of sick men and transport

animals to Kolikernn. Macgregor’s brigade started for

Quetta on the 8th, and was followed soon after by Baker’s

and Macpherson's brigades. I accompanied Macgregor in

the hope that the change to Quetta (where I remained

about a month) would pick me up, and enable me to meet

Lord Ripon’s wish that I should retain the command in

southern Afghanistan until some satisfactory settlement

could be arrived at.

Before leaving Kandahar I issued an order thanking all

ranks of the Kabul-Kandahar Field Force for the work they

bad so nobly performed, and I had the gratification of
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acknowledging, on their behalf and my own, congratulatory

messages from the Queen, the Duke of Cambridge, the

Marquis of Ripon, and many others. On the way to

Quetta I had the further gratification of being informed by

the Viceroy that Her Majesty had been graciously pleased

to make me a G.C.B., and to appoint me Commander-in

-

Chief of the Madras Army.

I now heard that Abdur Rahman had l>ecn finally

nominated Amir of Kabul on the 10th August, and that

immediately after the ceremony of installation Sir Donald

Stewart had marched the whole British force of B,G7H

men of all arms out of Kabul on their return to India.

Sir Donald left Peshawar to take up his appointment of

Military Member of Council at Simla on the Gist August,

and by the 7th September the last of his troops had

arrived at the former place, except one brigade left as a

temporary measure in tho Khyher Pass.

At Quetta I stayed with Sir Robert Sandeman, the

capable Resident, who by his groat personal influence had

done much to allay excitement amongst the tribes, and

to prevent serious trouble in Baluchistan and along the

l>order. I had never before been to that part of the

frontier, and I was greatly impressed by the hold Sande-

man had obtained over the country ; ho was intimately

acquainted with every leading man, and there was not a

village, however out of the way, which he had not visited.

' Sinniman nahib,’ as the Natives called him, had gained

the confidence of the lawless Baluchis in a very remarkable

manner, and it was mainly owing to his power over them

that 1 was able to arrange with camel contractors to
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transport to Quetta and Kandahar the huge stocks of

winter clothing, medical comforts, grain, and the various

requirements of an army in the field, which had been

brought by rail to Sibi, and had there remained for want of

transport to take them further on.

As the change to Quetta did not benefit me, and as I

found that, owing to indifferent health, I was unable to

carry on my duty with satisfaction to myself, I applied to

be relieved. My request was acceded to, and I started on

the 12th October for India.

Riding through tile Rolan 1'ass I overtook most of the

regiments of the Kahul-Kandahar Field Force marching

towards Sibi, thence to disperse to their respective destina-

tions. As I parted with each corps in turn its band played

‘ Auld Lang Svne,’ and I have never since heard that

memory-stirring air without its bringing before my mind’s

eye the last view 1 had of the Kahul-Kandahar Field Force.

I fancy myself crossing and re-crossing the river which

winds through the pass ; I hear the martial beat of drums

and plaintive music of the pipes ; and I see Riflemen and

Gurkhas, Highlandors and Sikhs, guns and horses, camels

and mules, with the endless following of an Indian army,

winding through the narrow gorges, or over the intermin-

able lioulders which made the passage of the Rolan so

difficult and wearisome to man and beast.

I shall never forgot the feeling of sadness with which I

said good-bye to the men who had done so much for me. I

looked upon them all, Native as well as British, as my
valued friends. And well I might, for never had a Com-

mander been better served. From first to last a grand spirit
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o! camaraderie* pervaded all ranks. At the Peiwar Kotal, at

Charasia, and during the fighting round Kabul, all were

eager to close with the enemy, no matter how great

the odds against them. Throughout the march from

Kabul all seemed to be animated with but one desire, to

effect, cost what it might in personal risk, fatigue, or dis-

comfort, the speedy release of their beleaguered fellow-

soldiers in Kandahar ; and the unflagging energy and

perseverance of my splendid troops seemed to reach their

full height, when they realized they were about to put

forth their strength against a hitherto successful enemy.

Their exemplary conduct, too, under circumstances often

of the most trying nuture, cannot lie praised in terms too

strong or too full. Notwithstanding the provocation caused

by the cruel murder of any stragglers who fell into the

hands of the Afghans, not one net infringing the rules of

civilized warfare was committed by my troops. The persons

and property of the Natives were respected, und full com-

* The 72nd Highlanders and 5th Gurkha* were brigaded together

throughout the campaign, and at their return to India the latter regiment

presented the fonner with a shield bearing tho following inscription

:

FROM THK

MEN OF THK 5th GURKHAS

TO THK

MEN OF THE 72* i» (DUKE OF ALBANY'S OWN) HIGHLANDERS,

IN REMEMBRANCE OF

The Afghan Campaign, 1878 to 1880.

The gift wm entirely spontaneous, and wan subscribed for by the

Native officer* , non*commiiwdonod officer*, and men.

In return, the non-comuiiseionod officers and men of the 72nd gave

the Mi Ourkhme a very handsome ebony, silver-mounted Drum-Major s

aiaff.
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pensation for supplies was everywhere given. In short, the

inhabitants of the districts through which we passed could

not have been treated with greater consideration nor with

a lighter hand, had they proved themselves friendly allies,

and the conduct of the troops will ever be to me as pleasing

a memory as are the results which they achieved.
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CHAPTER LXIII.

On the 15th October I handed over ray command to

Major-General Phayre, and started for England, making,

by the desire of the Viceroy, a diversion to Simla, where

Lord Eipon received me most kindly, and, to ray great

pride and pleasure, delivered to me a letter from the Queen-

Empress, written by Her Majesty’s own hand, which con-

veyed in the most gracious terras the Queen’s satisfaction

at the manner in which the service entrusted to me had

been performed, thanks to 'the brave officers and men

under my command,’ sorrow ‘ for those of her gallant

soldiers who fell for Queen and country,’ und anxiety

for the wounded. Her Majesty also wrote of ‘ the thrill

of horror ’ with which the news of the fate of Lieutenant

Maclaine had been received, and concluded with words of

. hope that my own health and that of the troops would

remain good, and that success might attend us 'till the

blessings of peace are restored.’

A gracious letter, truly ! And to me a deeply appreciated

reward for what I had l*een able to do.

I landed at Dover on the 17th November. The reception

I met with from ray countrymen was as enthusiastic as it

nna*nM»tad and ^ratifying. After an absence of twelve
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yearn there mast almost always he more or less of sadness

mingled with the pleasure of the home-coming, and two

vacant places in my family circle—those of my father and

sister—cast a deep shadow upon what would otherwise have

been a most joyous return, for my mother was alive to

welcome me, and I found my children flourishing and

my wife well, notwithstanding all the anxiety she had

undergone.

I was feted and feasted to almost an alarming extent,

considering that for nearly two years I had been restricted

to campaigning diet ; but it surprised me very much to

find that the kind people, by whom I was so greatly

honoured, invariably appeared to think the march from

Kabul to Kandahar was a much greater performance than

the advance on Kabul the previous autumn, while, to my
mind, the latter operation was in every particular more

difficult, more dangerous, and placed upon me as the Com-

mander infinitely more responsibility. The force with

which I started from Kuram to avenge the massacre of

our fellow-countrymen was little more than half the

strength of that with which I marched to Kandahar.

Immediately on crossing the Shutargardan I found myself

in the midst of a hostile and warlike people, entirely de-

pendent on the country for supplies, heavily handicapped

by want of transport, and practically as completely cut

off from communication with India os I was a year later

on the march to Kandahar. The Afghans' fanatical hatred

of Europeans had been augmented by their defeats the

year before, and by the occurrences at Kabul, and they

looked upon my small column as a certain prey delivered

into their hands by a sympathizing and all-powerful Allah.
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Before me was Kabul, with its large and well-equipped

arsenal, defended by an army better organized and more

highly trained than that possessed by any former liuler of

Afghanistan. On all sides of me were tribesmen hurrying

ap to defend the approaches to their capital, and had

there been on our part the smallest hesitation or delay,

we should have found ourselves opposed by as formidable

a combination as we had to deal with two months later at

Sherpur. Nothing could then have saved the force, not

one man of which I firmly believe would have ever re-

turned to tell the tale in India. Worse than all, I had in

my own camp a traitor, in the form of the Amir, posing

as a friend to the British Government and a refugee seek-

ing our protection, while he was at heart our bitterest

enemy, and was doing everything in his power to make

my task more difficult and ensure our defeat.

The march to Kandahar was certainly much longer, the

country was equally unfriendly, and the feeding of so large

a number of men and animals was a continual source of

anxiety. But I had a force capable of holding its own

against any Afghan army that could possibly be opposed

to it, and good and sufficient transport to admit of its

being kept together, with the definite object in view

of rescuing our besieged countrymen and defeating Ayub

Khan ; instead of, as at Kabul, having to begin to unravel

a difficult political problem after accomplishing the defeat

of the tribesmen and the Afghan army.

1 could only account to myself for the greater amount of

interest displayed in the march to Kandahar, and the

larger amount of credit given to me for that undertaking,

by the glamour of romance thrown around an army of
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10,000 men lost to view, as it were, for nearly a month,

about the fate of which uninformed speculation was rife

and pessimistic rumours were spread, until the tension

became extreme, and the corresponding relief proportionably

great when that army re-appeared to dispose at once of

Ayub and his hitherto victorious troops.

I did not return to India until the end of 1881, six

weeks out of these precious months of leave having been

spent in a wild-goose chase to the Cape of Good Hope and

back, upon my l«eing nominated by Mr. Gladstone’s Govern-

ment Governor of Natal and Commander of the Forces in

South Africa, on the death of Sir George Colley and the

receipt of the news of the disaster at Majuba Hill. While

I was on my way out to take up my command, peace was

made with the Boers in the most marvellously rapid and

unexpected manner. A peace, alas !
* without honour,’

to which may be attributed the recent regrettable state

of affairs in the Transvaal—a state of affairs which was

foreseen and predicted by many at the time. My stay

at Cape Town was limited to twenty-four hours, the

Government being apparently as anxious to get me away

from Africa as they had been to hurry me out there.

In August I spent three very enjoyable and instructive

weeks as the guest of His Imperial Majesty the Emperor

of Germany, while the manoeuvres at Hanover and Schleswig-

Holstein were taking place.

Shortly before leaving England for Madras, 1 was asked

by Mr. Childers, the then Secretary of State for War,

whether I would accept the appointment of QuartermaBter-

General at the Horse Guards, in succession to Sir Garnet

Wolseley. The offer, in some ways, was rather a tempta-
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tion to me, for I had a great wish to luko part in the

administration of our army ; and had it been made Hooner,

before my arrangements for going to Madras had been

completed, I think I should have accepted it at once ; as it

was, I begged to be allowed to join my new command, and

leave the question of the Quartermaster-Generalship in

abeyance until it was about to become vacant. This was

agreed to, and I started for Madras, taking my wife and

two little daughters with me, the boy being left at school

in England.

On arriving in Madras, on the 27th November, I had the

pleasure to find myself associated as a colleague in Council

with Mr. Grant-Duff,* who had recently been appointed

Governor of the Presidency. We spent a few pleasant

days with him and Mrs. Grant-Duff at Government House,

before proceeding to deposit our children at Ootacamund,

that Queen of Indian Hill-stations, which was to be our

home for four years. We spent Christmas there, and then

went to Durum, visiting the Andaman Islands on the way.

We had on board our ship some prisoners destined for

that convict settlement, umongst whom cholera unfor-

tunately broke out a few hours after we left Madras.

They were accommodated just outside my wife’s cabin,

and their cries and groans were most distressing. Very

little could be done for them on tmard, for the Native

Doctor accompanying us jKjsscHsed no remedy but castor

oil ! and as the disease was spreading rapidly, I took upon

myself to have the party landed at Yizagapatam. The

cholera patients were put into tents on the sea-shore, under

the charge of a medical officer, and every arrangement

. —. n— 4 nrsi.
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possible for tlieir comfort and relief was made before we

proceeded on our journey.

During our stay at Port Blair, the Head-Quarters of the

Andaman Administration, we were the guests of the

hospitable Superintendent, Lieutenant -Colonel Frotheroe,

who had been one of the political officers on my Btaff in

Afghanistan. The group of islands forming the settlement

are extremely beautiful, but it is tropical beauty, and one

pays the penalty for the luxuriant vegetation in the climate,

which is very much like a Turkish bath, hot and damp.

While going through the prisons, I came across some of the

sepoys of the “20th Punjab Infantry who deserted during

the advance on the Peiwar lvotal. I was told that they

were l>ehaving well, and might in time be allowed some

remission of their sentences.

A voyage of thirty-six hours brought us to Rangoon,

where we had the pleasure of meeting and being enter-

tained by our old friends, Mr. Bernard,* the Chief Com-

missioner of Burma, and his wife.

In 18H*2 Thyetmyo and Tongliu were the two frontier

stations of Burma, and I had been asked to consider the

question of the dcfenco of the proposed railway termini at

these places. I accordingly visited them both, and as I

thought I foresaw that the lines of railway could not end

as then contemplated, I recommended that the absolutely

necessary works only Bliould be attempted, and that these

should be as inexpensive as possible. Ere many years

had passed, the line, ns I anticipated, was completed to

Mandaluy.

The defences of Rangoon had nlso to bo arranged for.

* Now Sir Charles Bernard. K.C.S.I.
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An examination of the approaches, however, satisfied me
that no elaborate system of fortification was necessary, and

that Rangoon’s best security lay in her winding, dangerous

river ; so I gave it as my opinion that, with two small

batteries at Monkey Point and King’s Point, and a couple

of torpedo-boats, Rangoon would be reasonably safe against

attack.

Before leaving Burma I received letters from H.B.H. the

Duke of Cambridge and Mr. Childers, in which were re-

peated the offer of the Quartermaster-Generalship at the

Horse Guards. But I had by this time begun to like my
new work, and had no desire to leave Madras ; 1 therefore

definitely declined the appointment.

From Burma we returned to Ootacamund, via Calcutta,

where we spent a few days with Lord and Lady Ripon and

Sir Donald and Lady Stewart.

Life at ‘ Ooty ’ was very pleasant ; such peace and

repose I had never before experienced ; 1 thoroughly

enjoyed the rest after the turmoil of the preceding years,

and I quite recovered my health, which had been somewhat

shattered. Unlike other hill-stations, Ootacamund rests on

an undulating tableland, 7,400 feet above the sea, with

plenty of room in the neighbourhood for riding, driving, and

hunting ; and, although the Bcenery is nothing like as grand

as in the Himalayas, there are exquisite views to be had,

and it is more restful and homelike. We made many

warm friends and agreeable acquaintances, who when our

time in Madras came to an end presented my wife with a

very beautiful clock ‘ as a token of esteem and affection '

;

we were very sorry to bid farewell to our friends and
a - *T!1 _•_! n
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Each cold season I made long tours in order to acquaint

myself with the needs and capabilities of the men of the

Madras Army. I tried hard to discover in them those

fighting qualities which had distinguished their forefathers

during the wars of the last and the beginning of the

present century. But long years of peace, and the security

and prosperity attending it, had evidently had upon them,

as they always seem to have on Asiatics, a softening and

deteriorating effect ; and I was forced to the conclusion

that the ancient military spirit had died in them, as it

had died in the ordinary Hindustani of Bengal and the

Mahratta of Bombay, and that they could no longer with

safety be pitted against warlike races, or employed outside

the limits of southern India.

It was with extreme reluctance that I formed this opinion

with regard to the successors of the old Coast Army, for

which I had always entertained a great admiration. For

the sake of the British officers belonging to the Madras

Army, too, I was very loath to lie convinced of its inferiority,

for many of them were devoted to their regiments, and

were justly proud of their traditions.

However, there was the army, and it was my business

as its Commander-in-Chief to do all that 1 possibly

could towards rendering it an efficient part of the war

establishment of India.

Madrassies, as a rule, are more intelligent and better

educated than the fighting races of northern India, and
I therefore thought it could not lie difficult to teach them
the value of musketry, and make them excel in it. To this

3nd, I encouraged rifle meetings and endeavoured to get

General Officers to take an interest in musketry inspections.
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and to make those inspections instructive and entertaining

to the men. I took to rifle-shooting myself, as did the

officers on my personal staff,* who were all good shots,

and our team held its own in many exciting matches at

the different rifle meotings.

At that time the importance of musketry training was

not so generally recognized as it is now, especially by the

senior officers, who had all entered the service in tho days

of ‘ Brown Bess.’ Some of them had failed to note the

remarkable alteration which the change from the musket

to the rifle necessitated in tho system of musketry instruc-

tion, or to studv the verv different conditions under which

we could hope to win battles in the present day, com-

pared with those under which some of our most celebrated

victories had been won. It required time and patience to

inspire officers with a belief in the wonderful shooting

power of the Martini-IIenry ride, and it was even more

difficult to make them realize that tho better the weapon,

the greater the necessity for its being intelligently used.

I had great faith in the value of Camps of Kxercise, and

notwithstanding the difficulty of obtaining an annual grant

to defray their cost, I managed each year, by taking

advantage of the movement of troops in course of relief,

to form small camps at the more important stations, and

on one occasion was able to collect 11,000 men together in

the neighbourhood of Bangalore, where the Commanders-

in-Chief in India and of Bombay (Sir Donald Stewart and

* Lieutenant Colonel G. T. lYetyinnn, K.A., was Assistant Military

Secretary until 1H84, when ho was succeeded by Lieutenant-Colonel

R. Pole*Carow, Coldstream Guards, Lieutenant Noville Chamberlain,

Central India Horn, and Captain Ian Hamilton, the Gordon High

landers, wero Aides-de-camp.
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the Hon. Arthur Hardinge) were present—the first and
last time that the ‘ three Chiefs ’ in India met together at

a Camp of Exercise. The Sappers and Miners were a

brilliant exception to the rest of the Madras Army, being

indeed a most useful, efficient body of men, but as no

increase to that branch was considered necessary, I

obtained permission to convert two Infantry regiments

into Pioneers on the model of the Pioneer Corps of the

Bengal Army, which had always proved themselves so

useful on service. Promotion amongst the British officers

was accelerated, recruits were not allowed to marry, or, if

married, to have their wives with them, and many other

minor changes were made which did much towards im-

proving the. efficiency of the Native portion of the Madras

Army ; and 1 hope I was able to increase the comfort and

well-being of the British portion also by relaxing irksome

and useless restrictions, and by impressing upon com-

manding officers the advisability of not punishing young

soldiers with the extreme severity which had hitherto been

considered necessary.

I had been unpleasantly struck by the frequent Courts-

Martial on the younger soldiers, and by the dispropor-

tionate number of these lads to he met with in the

military prisons. Even when the prisoners happened

to be of some length of service, 1 usually found that they

had undergone previous imprisonments, and had been

severely punished within a short time of their enlistment.

I urged that., in tho first two or three years of a soldier’s

service, every allowance should be made for youth and

inexperience, and that during that time faults should,

whenever practicable, be dealt with summarily, and not

vol. 11. 57
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visited with the heavier punishment which a Court-Martial

sentence necessarily carries with it, and I pointed out that

this procedure might receive a wider application, and

become a guiding principle in the treatment of soldiers

generally. I suggested that all men in possession of a

good-conduct badge, or who had had no entry in their

company defaulter sheets for one year, should be granted

certain privileges, such as receiving the fullest indulgence

in the grant of passes, consistent with the requirements of

health, duty, and discipline, and being excused attendance

at all roll-calls (including meals), except perhaps at tattoo.

I had often remarked that those corps in which in-

dulgences were most freely given contained the largest

number of well-behaved men, and I bad been assured that

such indulgences were seldom abused, and that, while they

were greatly appreciated by those who received them, they

acted as an incentive to less well conducted men to try

and redeem their characters.

The reports of commanding ollicers, on the results of

these small ameliorations, after a six months' trial, were so

favourable that I was able to authorize still further con-

cessions as a premium on good behaviour.

The Madras Presidency abounds in places of interest

connected with our earlier struggles in India, and it was

possible to combine pleasure with duty in a very delightful

manner while travelling about the country. My wife

frequently accompanied me in my tours, and enjoyed as

much as I did our visits to many famous und lteautiful

places. Madras itself recalled the struggles for supremacy

between the English and French in the middle of the

eighteenth century. Arcot reminded one that it was in the
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brilliant capture and still more brilliant defence of the fort

at that place that Clive’s soldierly genius first became

conspicuous. Trichinopoly and Wandewash made one

think of Stringer Lawrence’s and Eyre Coote’s splendid

sendees, and while standing on the breach at Seringapa-

tam, one was reminded of Wellington’s early life in India,

and marvelled how heavily-armed men could have ventured

to cross the single plank which alone spanned the deep,

broad ditch of the inner defences.

I should like to dwell on the architectural wonders of

Tunjore and the Oaves of Elloru ; the magnificent enter-

tainments and Princely hospitality accorded to us by the

Nizam of Hyderabad, the late Maharajas of Mysore and

Travancore, the Maharaja of Yizianagram, the Raja of

Cochin, and many other Rulers of Native States; the

delights of a trip along the west coast by the beautiful

‘ back-water,' and the return journey through the glorious

forests of Cannara and Mysore ; the pleasure of visiting the

lovely 4 White Lady ” and the wonderful Godaveri falls

;

but to give my readers any idea of their marvels would

be to put too great a strain upon their patience, which I

fear has already been severely taxed.

The late Maharaja of Travancore was an unusually

enlightened Native. He spoke and wrote English fluently;

his appearance was distinguished, and his manners those of

a well-bred, courteous English gentleman of the old school.

His speech on proposing the Queen’s health was a model

of fine feeling and fine expression, and yet this man was

steeped in superstition. His Highness sat, slightly retired

from the table, between my wife and myself while dinner

* The finest of tlv Gassapa falls.
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was going on ; he partook of no food or wine, but his close

contact with us (he led my wife in to dinner and took her

out on his arm) necessitated his undergoing a severe course

of purification at the hands of the Brahmins as soon as

the entertainment was over ; he dared do nothing without

the sanction of the priests, and he spent enormous sums

in propitiating them.

Notwithstanding the high civilization, luxury, and

refinement to l>e found in these Native States, my visits to

them strengthened my opinion that, however capable and

enlightened the Ruler, he could have no chance of holding

his country if deprived of the guiding hand of the British

Government as embodied in the Resident. It is just that

control, so light in ordinary times as to be hardly per-

ceptible, but firm enough when occasion demands, which

saves the State from being rent by factions and internal

intrigue, or swallowed up by a more powerful neighbour,

for, owing to the influence of the Brahmins and the prac-

tical seclusion which caste prejudices entail, involving

ignorance of what is taking place immediately outside their

own palaces, the Native Princes of the less warlike peoples

would have no chance amidst the anarchy and confusion

that would follow the withdrawal of British influence.

A remark made to me by the late Sir Madhuvu Rao, ex-

Minister of the Baroda State, which exemplifies my meaning,

comes back to me at this moment. Sir Madhava was one

of the most astute Hindu gentlemen in India, and when

discussing with him the excitement produced by the ‘ Ilbert

Bill,’ ho said : ‘ Why do you English raise these unneces-

sary questions? It is your doing, not ours. We have

heard of the cry, “ India for the Indians,” which some of
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your philanthropists have raised in England ; but you have

only to go to the Zoological Gardens and open the doors

of the cages, and you will very soon see what would be the

result of putting that theory into practice. There would

be a terrific fight amongst the animals, which would end

in the tiger walking proudly over the dead bodies of the

rest.’ ‘Whom,’ I inquired, ‘do you consider to be the

tiger?’ ‘The Mahomedan from the North,’ was his

reply.
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CHAPTER LX1V.

In March, 1885, we again visited Calcutta. The Marquis

of Ripon had departed, and the Earl of Dufferin deigned

in his stead.

Affairs on our north-west and south-east frontiers were

at this time in a very unsettled state. Indeed, the political

outlook altogether had assumed rather a gloomy aspect.

Our relations with the French had become somewhat

strained in consequence of their interference with Upper

Burma and our occupation of Egypt ; while Russia's

activity in the valley of the Oxus necessitated our looking

after our interests in Afghanistan. These considerations

rendered it advisable to increase the army in India by

11,000 British and 12,000 Native troops, bringing the

strength of the former up to nearly 70,000, with 414 guns,

and that of the latter to 128,08(1.

Russia’s movements could not be regarded with in-

difference, for, while we had retreated from our dominating

position at Kandahar, she had approached considerably

nearer to Afghanistan, and in a direction infinitely

more advantageous than before for a further onward

move. Up to 1881 a Russian army advancing on

Afghanistan would have had to solve the difficult problem
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of tlie formidable Hindu Kush barrier, or if it took the

Herat line it must have faced the deserts of Khiva and

Bokhara. But all this was changed by SkobelofFa victories

over the Tekke Turkomans, which gave Merv and Sarakhs

to Russia, and enabled her to transfer her base from

Orenburg to the Caspian—by far the most important step

ever made by ltussia in her advance towards India.

I had some years before pointed out to the Govern-

ment of India how immeasurably Russia would gain, if by

the conquest of Merv—a conquest which I then looked

upon as^ certain to be accomplished in the near future

—

she should be able to make this transfer. My words were

unheeded or ridiculed at the time, and I, like others who

thought as I did, was supposed to be suffering from a

disease diagnosed by a distinguished politician as ‘ Merv-

ousness.’ But a little later those words were verified.

Merv had become a Russian possession, and Turkestan

was in direct communication by rail and steamer with

St. Petersburg. And can it be denied that this fact, which

would have enabled the army in the Caucasus to be rapidly

transported to tin* scene of operations, made it possible

for General Komaroff practically to dictate terms to the

Boundary Commission which was sent to define the

northern limits of Afghanistan, and to forcibly eject an

Afghan garrison from Panjdeh under the eyes of British

officers ?

Lord Dufferin took up the reins of the Government of

India at a time when things had come to such a pass that a

personal conference with the Amir was considered necessary,

to arrange for the defence and demarcation of His High-

ness’s frontier, the strengthening of Herat, the extension of
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the Sakkur-Sibi railway to Quetta, and the discussion of the

general situation. Alwlur llalnnan was therefore invited to

meet the Viceroy at Rawal Pindi, where a large standing

camp was prepared, and my wife and I were bidden amongst

a numerous company, including Their lloyal Highnesses

the Duke and Duchess of Connaught, the Ruling Punjab

Chiefs, and the high officers of Government from various

parts of India, to be the guests of Ilis Excellency and

Lady Dufferin on the interesting occasion.

The meeting was fixed for the end of March, and as

there was scarcely lime for us to return to Madras and get

back again before then, we proceeded leisurely up country,

visiting different places and one or two old friends on the way.

At Multan I received a cipher telegram from Sir Donald

Stewart informing me that it had been decided to mobilize

two Army Corps, and that I was to have command of the

first. This was exciting news, and we lost no time in

making our way to Rawal Pindi, where we should l>c in

direct communication with Head-Quarters, and hoped to

hear what had taken place since we left Calcutta to make

it necessary to prepare for war.

I soon found out that this action on the part of the

Government was forced on them by the representatives of

Russia on the Boundary Commission, who were persistent

in their attempts to encroach on Afghan territory, in order

that they might be in a position to control the approaches

to Herat, a Russian occupation of which fortress we could

not permit.

AMur Rahman arrived at Rawal Pindi on the last day

of March ; he was about forty-five years of age, and although

he required a stick to walk with. Ming a martyr to rheit-
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mutism, and very stout, his appearance was decidedly

dignified and imposing. He had a manly, clever, and

rather handsome face, marred only by the cruel expression

of the mouth, and his manner was sufficiently courteous

though somewhat abrupt.

Several semi-private meetings took place between the

Viceroy and the Amir, at the first of which Ilis Highness,

after expressing his appreciation of the flattering and

cordial reception he had met with, reminded Lord Dufferin

that he had consistently warned the British Government of

the approach of the Russians towards Afghanistan and of the

unsettling effect their advance was producing on the minds

of his countrymen ; and ho advocated the necessity for

timely action. No attention, he said, had been paid to his

warnings, owing, probably, to the strife of parties in

England, and to the excessive caution of the British

Government.

Lord I Hi fieri n, in reply, pointed out that the Amir

had been advised to strengthen northern Afghanistan, and

that the services of Engineer officers had been offered to

him for the purpose of putting Herat into a satisfactory

state of defence. Ilis Excellency declared that England

was resolved that a Russian advance on Herat should be

met by a declaration of war : that preparations were, then

being made to give effect to that resolve: and that it was

now absolutely necessary for His Highness to make up bis

mind which of his two powerful neighbours lie would elect

to choose as his ally.

Abdur ltalnnan thanked the Viceroy for his offer of help,

but showed plainly that he lmd no intention of avail-

ing himself of the services of our Engineers. He vowed
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that his own personal wishes were entirely in favour of a

close and practical alliance with the Bvitish, hut that his

subjects did not share his feelings towards us. They were

‘rude, uneducated, and suspicious.’ He hoped that in time

they might become more disposed to he friendly, but at

present he could not pretend to rely upon them. He
then disclosed the real reason for his ready response to

the Viceroy’s invitation by saying that he would gratefully

receive the assistance of the British Government in the

shape of money, arms, and munitions of war.

At a later visit the conversation turned upon the diffi-

culty of the position in which the British members of the

Boundary Commission were placed, and the imi>ossibility

of the Afghan posts being able to hold their own in the

face of a Russian advance was explained to the Amir.

A map was produced, on which the country to the north

of Herat was carefully examined, and Russia’s claims

were made known to him. Abdur Rahman’s ideas of

topography were not very accurate, hut he displayed

considerable intelligence in his questions and perception

of the meaning of the answers, and eventually expressed

his willingness to leave the question of the delimitation

of his northern frontier in the hands of the British

Government.

On the 6th April there was a parade of the troops,

17,000 in number, and that evening the Amir was

present at a state banquet, at which, after the usual

loyal toasts, the Viceroy proposed the Amir’s health.

His Highness, in reply, expressed a fervent hope that

the prosperity of the British Empire might long endure,

as with it the welfare of Afghanistan was l»ound up. He
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had watched, he said, the progress of India under British

rule, and he hoped that Afghanistan might flourish in like

manner ; and he ended with a prayer that the Almighty

would preserve Her Majesty’s troops in safety, honour, and

efficiency.

Two days later the Amir was publicly received in durbar

by the Viceroy, on whose right hand he was placed, while

the Duke of Connaught occupied the seat on his left.

After a few words had been exchanged, Abdur Bahman

rose, and spoke as follows :
‘ 1 am deeply sensible of the

kindness which 1 have received from His Excellency the

Viceroy, and of the favour shown me by Her Majesty the

Queen-Empress. In return for this kindness and favour,

I am ready with my army and people to render any

services that may be required of me or of the Afghan

nution. As the British Government has declared that it

will assist me in repelling any foreign enemy, so it is right

and proper that Afghanistan should unite in the firmest

manner, and side by side by the British Government.’

On being presented, amongst other gifts, with a sword

of honour, ho said in a loud and determined voice :
‘ With

this sword I hope to smite any enemy of the British

Government.’

That same evening the Viceroy received news of the

Bussian attack on l’anjdeh, and communicated it to

the Amir, who heard it with extraordinary equanimity, not

appearing to attach any great importance to the matter,

and attributing the defeat of his troops to the inferiority

of their weapons. He observed that the excuse given by

the Russians, that the Afghans intended to attack them,

was a frivolous pretext, and declared all that his men had
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done was very properly to make preparations to defend

themselves.

Abdur Rahman had expressed a desire for u British

decoration, so shortly before his departure from India he

waB invested, informally, with the G.C.S.I. As the train

was moving oil, he said to the British olticers assembled on

the platform :
‘ I wish you all farewell, and commend you to

the care of God. May your Government endure and your

honour increase. I have been greatly pleased and gratified

by the sight of the British Army. I hope and am certain

that the friendship now existing between us will last for ever.'

Abdur Rahman had, indeed, every reason to be satisfied

with the result of his visit, for not only was Lord

Ripon’s promise that England would defend his kingdom

against foreign aggression ratified by Lord Dufferin, but

the Amir was given, in addition to the large sums of

money and the considerable amount of munitions of war

already received by him, ten lakhs of rupees, 20,000

breech-loading rifles, a Heavy battery of four guns and

two howitzers, a Mountain battery, and a liberal supply

of ammunition for both guns and ritles.

On the Amir’s departure the great camp was broken up,

and the troops returned to their respective stations, all pre-

pared to move towards the Guetta frontier at a moment's

notice. The Native Chiefs, in taking their leave of the

Viceroy, were profuse in their offers and promises of help

should a recourse to urms 1ms found necessary ;
and Lord

and Ludy Dufferin's numerous guests, who, like my wife

and myself, had for more than a fortnight been recipients

of the most profuse hospitality, wished their generous host

«nd boHtess a heartv good-bye.
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Interesting as the whole proceeding had been, by far the

nost gratifying result of the gathering was the unmistak-

ible loyalty displayed by the Native Rulers who were

present, as well as by those in distant parts of India, on

hearing of the unprovoked attack made by the Russians on

the Afghan troops at Panjdeh, and our consequent prepara-

tions for war. The greatest enthusiasm prevailed, and the

various military camps at Rawal Pindi were crowded with

men desirous of joining the ranks of our army. I was

literally besieged by old soldiers, begging that they might

be allowed to return to the colours and tight once more for

the Sirialr

;

and one Native officer, who had been with me
in Afghanistan, came to me and said: *1 am afraid, sahib,

I am too old and infirm to do more work myself ; but you

must take my two sons with you—they are ready to die for

the Ainjrrsr.
9 *

We hastened hack to Madras, and reached Ootacamund

after seven consecutive nights in the train, with a ther-

mometer at 10 P in the daytime, the only pause in our

journey being at Poona, where we spent a few hours with

our friend General Sir John Ross.

1 left my horses at Lahore, and for some weeks lived in

daily expectation of being ordered back to the Punjab to

take command of the 1st Army Corps. A change of

Government, however, took place just in time to prevent

the war. Lord Salisbury's determined attitude convinced

Russia that no further encroachments on the Afghan

frontier would be permitted ; she ceased the ‘ game of brag

’

«he had been allowed to play, and the Roundary Commission

M’ere enabled to proceed with the work of delimitation.

* A Native corruption of tho word 4 KukIisIi.*



L 39° J

CHAPTKlt IjXV.

We only remained three montlis at ‘ Ooty,’ for on the

8th July a telegram arrived from Lord Dufferin announcing

the Queen’s approval of my being appointed to succeed Sir

Donald Stewart as Commander-in-Chief in India, and

granting me leave to visit England before taking up

the appointment.

At the end of a fortnight all our preparations for

departure had been made, and on the lHth August we left

Bombay, in the teeth of the monsoon.

Our boy, whose holidays had just commenced, met ub at

Venice, and we loitered in Italy and Switzerland on our

way home. I spent but six weeks in England, returning

to the East at the end of November, to join my new

command. 1 met Lord Duffcrin at Agra, and accompanied

him to Gwalior, whither liin Excellency went for the pur-

pose of formally restoring to the Maharaja Kcindia the

much coveted fortress of Gwalior, which had been occupied

by us since lHiiH—an act of sound policy, enabling us to

withdraw a brigade which could l>e far more usefully em-

ployed elsewhere.

At Gwalior we received the news of the capture of
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Mandalay, and I sent a telegram to Lieutenant-General

Prendergast,* to congratulate him on the successful conduct

of the Burma Expedition.

Affairs in Burma had been going from bad to worse from

the time King Thebaw came to the throne in 1878.

Wholesale murders were of constant occurrence within the

precincts of the palace ; dacoity was rife throughout the

country, and British officers were insulted to such an

extent that the Resident had to he withdrawn. In 1888 a

special Mission was sent by the King of Burma to Paris,

with a view to making such a treaty with the French

Government as would enable him to appeal to France for

assistance, in the event of his being involved in difficulties

with England. The Mission remained eighteen months in

Paris, and succeeded in ratifying wlmt the French called a

‘Commercial Convention,' under the terms of which a

French Consul was located at Mandalay, who soon gained

sufficient ascendency over King Thebaw to enable him to

arrange for the 1 construction of a railway between Mandalay

and Tonghu, and the establishment of a French bank at

Mandalay, by means of which France would speedily have

gained full control over the principal sources of Burmese

revenue, and power to exclude British trade from the

valley of the Irrawaddy. In furtherance of these designs,

the King picked a quarrel with a British trading

company, threatened to cancel their leases for cutting

timl>er, and demanded a line of ten lakhs of rupees.

The Chief Commissioner proposed arbitration, but this

was declined, and the King refusing to modify his action

with regard to the trading company, the \ iceroy proposed

* Now General Sir Harry Prendergast. A K.C.B.
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to the Secretary of State for India that an ultimatum*

should he sent to King Thehaw.

In approving of the ultimatum, Lord Randolph Churchill

expressed his opinion that its despatch should he con-

current with the movement of troops and ships to Rangoon,

that an answer should he demanded within a specified

time, and that, if the ultimatum were rejected, an

immediate advance on Mandalay should he made.

A force + of nearly 10,000 men and 77 guns, under the

command of Lieutenant-General Prondergast, was accord-

ingly ordered to he in readiness at Thyetmyo by the

14th November, and as the reply of the Burmese Govern-

ment was tantamount to a refusal, Prendergast was in-

structed to advance on Mandalay, with the result which

it was my pleasant duty to congratulate him upon in my

capacity as Commander-in-Chief of the Army in India.

From Gwalior I went to Delhi to prepare for a Camp

of Exercise on a much larger scale than had ever before

been held. Many weak points in the Commissariat and

Transport Department, having become only too apparent

when the mobilization of the two Army Corps had been

The ultimatum informed King Tliebaw that the British Govern-

ment insisted upon an Envoy being received at Mandalay, with fret-

accent to the King, without having to submit to any humiliating

ceremony ; that proceedings against the trnding company would not

be permitted ; that n British Agent, with a suitable guard of honour

and steamer for his personal protection, must 1m* permanently stationed

at the Burmese capital ; that the Burmese Government must regulate

their external relations in accordance with British advice ;
and that

proper facilities must be granted for the opening up of British trade

with China viA. Bhamo.

t Thu force consisted of 864 seamen and 09 Afnriiit-s formed into a

Naval Brigade, with 49 guns, including 27 machine guns, and 8,029

British and 0,005 Native soldiers, with 20 guns.
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imminent the previous spring, it was considered necessary

to test our readiness for war, and orders for the strength

and composition of the force to be manoeuvred had been

issued before Sir Donald Stewart left India.

The troops were divided into two Army Corps. The

northern assembled at Umballa, and the southern at

Gurgaon, 25 miles from Delhi, the points of concentration

being 150 miles apart.

' After a fortnight passed in brigade and divisional

movements, the opposing forces advanced, and on the

7th January they came into contact on the historic battle-

field of Panipat.*

Lord Dufferin. whose interest in the efficiency of the

army induced him to come all the way from Calcutta

to witness the last two days manoeuvres, was present

—

with the «twelve ‘foreign officers ,+ from the principal

armies of Europe and America, who had been invited to

attend the camp—at a march-past of the whole force of

85,000 men on the 18th. It was a tine sight, though

marred by a heavy thunderstorm and a perfect deluge of

rain, and was really a greater test of what the troops could

do than if we had had the perfect weather we had hoped

* Paniput is famous for three great battles fought in its immediate

neighbourhood : one in 1526, by the Emperor Haber against Sultan

Ibrahim, which resulted in the establishment of the Mogul dynasty

;

the second in 1556, when the Emperor Akbar beat the Hindu General

of the Afghan usurper, and re-established the Moguls in power; and

the third in 1761, when Ahmed Shah llurani defeated the Mahrattas.

t I was much gratitied at receiving subsequently from His Imperial

Majesty the Emperor William I. and from the Crown Princess of

Prussia autograph letters of acknowledgment of, and thanks for, the

reception accorded and the attention paid to Majors von Huene and

von Hagenau, the two representatives of the German army who

attended these manoeuvres.
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for. The ‘ foreign officers ’ were, apparently, somewhat

surprised at the fine physique and efficiency of our Native

soldiers, but they all remarked on the paucity of British

officers with the Indian regiments, which I could not but

acknowledge was, as it still is, a weak point in our military

organization.

When the camp was broken up, I accompanied the

Viceroy to Burma, where we arrived early in February,

1886. Lord Dufferin must, I think, have been pleased at

the reception he met with at Rangoon. The people gene-

rally tried in every possible way to show their gratitude to

the Viceroy, under whose auspices the annexation of Upper

Burma had been carried out, and each nationality had

erected a triumphal arch in its own particular quarter of

the town.

From Rangoon we went to Mandalay, where Lord

Dufferin formally announced the annexation by England

of all that part of Upper Burma over which King Thebaw

had held sway We then proceeded to Madras, where I

parted from the Viceregal party and travelled to Bombay to

meet my wife. Leaving her at Simla to arrange our house,

which had been considerably altered and added to, I pro-

ceeded to the North-West Frontier, for the question of its

defence was one which interested me very deeply, and I

hoped that, from the position 1 now held as a member of

the Government of India, I should be able to get my
ideas on this, to India, all-important subject listened to,

if not altogether carried out.

The defence of the frontier had been considered under

the orders of my predecessor by a Committee, the members

of which had recorded their several opinions as to the
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means which should be adopted to make India secure.

But Sir Donald Stewart relinquished his command before

anything could be done to give effect to the measures they

advised.

The matter had therefore to be taken up afresh by

mo, and I carefully studied the recommendations of the

‘ Defence Committee ’ before visiting the frontier to refresh

my memory by personal inspection as to the points to be

defended.

It seemed to me that none of the members, with the

exception of Sir Charles Macgregor and the secretary,

Major W. G. Nicholson, at all appreciated the great change

which had taken place in our position since the near

approach of Russia, and our consequent promise to the

Amir to preserve the integrity of his kingdom, had widened

the limit of our responsibilities from the southern to the

northern boundary of Afghanistan.

Less than a year before we had been on the point of

declaring war with Russia because of her active inter-

ference with ‘ the authority of a sovereign—our protected

ally—who had committed no offence 4 ;’ and even now it

was not certain that peace could be preserved, by reason

of the outrageous demands made by the Russian members

of the Boundary Commission as to the direction which the

line of delimitation between Russian and Afghan territory

should take.

It was this widening of our responsibilities which pre-

vented me from agreeing with the recommendations of the

* Words used by Mr. Gladstone when asking for a vote of credit

for £6,600,000 for special preparations in connexion with the Afghan

difficulty.
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Defence Committee, for the majority of the members laid

greater stress on the necessity for constructing numerous

fortifications, than upon lines of communication, which I

conceived to be of infinitely greater importance, as afford-

ing the means of bringing all the strategical pointB on the

frontier into direct communication with the railway system

of India, and enabling us to mass our troops rapidly, should

we be called upon to aid Afghanistan in repelling attack

from a foreign Power.

Fortifications, of the nature of entrenched positions,

were no doubt, to some extent, necessary, not to guard

against our immediate neighl>ours, for experience had

taught us that without outside assistance they are in-

capable of a combined movement, but for the protection of

Buch depots and storehouses as would have to be con-

structed, and as a support to the army in the field.

The line chosen at that time for an advance was by

Quetta and Kandahar. In the first instance, therefore, 1

wended my way to Baluchistan, where I met and consulted

with the Governor-General’s Agent, Sir Robert Sandeman,

and the Chief Engineer of the Sind-Pishin Railway,

Brigadier-General Browne.*

We together inspected the Kwaja-Ainran range, through

which the Kohjak tunnel now runs, and I decided that the

best position for an entrenched camp was to the rear of

that range, in the space between the Takatu and Mashalik

mountains. This open ground was less than four miles

broad ; nature had made its Hanks )>erfectly Becure, and in

* The late Major-General Sir James Browne, K.C.S.I., C.B., who,

like Sir Robert Sandeman, died while holding the important and

responsible position of Governor-General's Agent in Baluchistan.
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front was a network of ravines capable of being made quite

impassable by simply flooding them. It was unfortunate that

the railway had been marked out in front instead of in rear

of the Takatu range, and that its construction was too far

advanced before the question of defence came to be con-

sidered to admit of its being altered, otherwise this position

would have been a complete protection for the line of rail also.

Having come to a definite conclusion as to the measures

to be taken for meeting the offensive and defensive require-

ments of Quetta and the Bolan Pass. I turned my attention

to Peshawar and the Khyber Pass, which were infinitely

more difficult to deal with, because of the political con-

siderations involved.

Over the whole of Baluchistan we had entire control,

so that in the event of an army moving in that direction

we could depend upon the resources of the country being at

our disposal, and the people remaining, at least, neutral.

But on the Peshawar side the circumstances were altogether

different : the tribes were hostile to a degree, and no

European’s life was safe across the frontier. Except

in the Khyber itself (where the policy of establishing

friendly relations with the Afridis, and utilizing them to

keep open the pass, had been most successfully practised

by the political officer, Lieutenant-Colonel Warburton),

we could not depend on the tribesmen remaining passive,

much less helping us if we advanced into Afghanistan.

While, should an army attempt to invade India from that

direction, we should to a certainty have every man of the

200,000 warlike people who inhabit the mountainous

district from Ohitral to Baluchistan combining against us,

and pouring into Indin from every outlet.
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For these reasons I recorded a strong opinion in opposi-

tion to the proposals of the Defence Committee, which were

in favour of the construction of a large magazine at

Peshawar and extensive entrenched works at the mouth of

the Khyber. I pointed out the extreme danger of a

position communication with which could be cut off, and

which could he more or less easily turned, for it was clear

to me that until we lmd succeeded in inducing the border

tribes to be on friendly terms with ub, and to believe that

their interests were identical with ours, the Peshawar valley

would become untenable should uny general disturbance

take place ; and that, instead of entrenchments close to

the Khyber Pass, we required a position upon which the

garrisons of Peshawar and Nowshera could fall back und

await the arrival of reinforcements.

For this position 1 selected a spot on the right bank of the

Kabul river, between Khairabad and the Indus; it com-

manded the passage of the latter river, and could easily l>e

strengthened by defensive works outside the old fort of

Attock.

It will be readily understood by those of my readers

who have any knowledge of our North-West Frontier, or are

interested in the question of the defence of India, that

other routes exist between the Bolan and the Khyber Passes

which might be made use of either by an army invading

India, or by a force sent from India to the assistance of

Afghanistan
; and by such it will probubly be asked, as

was the case when my recommendations were being dis-

cussed, why I did not advise these lines to be similarly

guarded. My reply was, and is, that there are no arsenals

or depots near these passes to be protected, as at Quetta
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and Rawul Pindi ; that we should not be likely to use them
for an army moving into Afghanistan; that, although
small parties of the enemy might come by them, the main
body of a force operating towards India is bound to advance
by the Khylier, for the reason that it would debouch

directly on highly cultivated country and good roads lead-

ing to all the great cities of the Punjab
; and finally that,

even if our finances would admit of the construction of

such a long line of forts, it would be impossible for our

limited army to supply the garrisons for them.

Having completed my inspection of the frontier, I returned

to Simla and drew up a memorandum declaring the convic-

tion I had arrived at after careful deliberation, that the

improvement of our communications was of far greater

importance than the immediate construction of forts and

entrenchments, and that, while 1 would not spare money in

strengthening well-defined positions, the strategical value of

which was unmistakable, I would not trouble about those

places the primary importance of fortifying which was open

to argument, and which might never be required to be

defended; these, 1 contended, might be left alone, except

so far as to make a careful study of their localities and

determine how they could best be taken advantage of should

occasion require. My note ended with the following words

:

‘ Meanwhile I would push on our communications with all

possible speed ; we muBt have roads, And we must have

railways
; they cannot be made on short notice, and every

rupee spent upon them now will repay us tenfold here-

after. Nothing will tend to secure the safety of the

frontier so much as the power of rapidly concentrating

troops on any threatened point, and nothing will strengthen
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onr military position more than to open out the country

and improve our relations with the frontier tribes. There

are no better civilizers than roads and railways ; and

although some of those recommended to be made may

never be required for military purposes, they will be of

the greatest assistance to the civil power in the administra-

tion of the country.’

Accompanying this paper was a statement of the defen-

sive works which, in my opinion, should be taken in hand

without delay ; also of the positions which required careful

stud}’, and the roads and railways which should be con-

structed, to make the scheme of defence complete.

Seven years later, when I gave up my command of the

Army in India, 1 had the supreme satisfaction of knowing

that I left our North-West Frontier secure, so far as it was

possible to make it so, hampered as we were by want of

money, The necessary fortifications had been completed,

schemes for the defence of the various less important

positions had been prepared, and the roads and railways,

in my estimation of such vast im[K)rtance, had either been

finished or were well advanced.

Moreover, our i>osition with regard to the border tribes

had gradually come to be better understood, and it had

been realized that they would be a powerful support to

whichever side might be ablo to count upon their aid ;
the

2>olicy of keeping them at arm’s length hud been aban-

doned, and the advantages of reciprocal communication

were becoming more appreciated by them and by us.

It was not to be expected that these results could be

achieved without a considerable amount of opposition,

owing partly to the majority of our countrymen (even

amongst those who had spent the greater part of their



1886] SIR GEORGE CHESNEY 409

lives in India) failing to recognize the change that had

taken place in the relative positions of Great Britain

and Russia in Asia, and to their disbelief in the steady

advance of Russia towards Afghanistan being in any

way connected with India, or in Russia’s wish or power

to threaten our Eastern Empire.* The idea was very

common, too, amongst people who had not deeply con-

sidered the subject, that all proposals for gaining control

over our troublesome neighbours on the border, or for

facilitating the massing of troops, meant an aggressive

policy, and were made with the idea of annexing more

territory, instead of for the purpose of securing the safety of

India, and enabling us to fulfil our engagements.

Happily, the Viceroys who governed India while I was

Commander-in-Chief were not amongst those who held

these opinions ;
and while they had no expectation of

India being invaded in the near future, they realized

that we could not unconcernedly look on while a great

Power was, step by step, creeping closer to our possessions.

It was a fortunate circumstance, too, that, for the first five

years I was at the head of the Army m India, l had as my

military colleague in Council the late General Sir George

Chesney, a man of unquestionable talent and sound judg-

ment, to whose cordial support, not only in frontier affairs,

but in all my efforts to promote the efficiency and welfare

of the soldier, I was very greatly indebted.

* A Statesman of high reputation in England was so strong in his

disbelief of the necessity for making any preparations in India, that

he publicly stated that if the only barrier between Russia in Asia and

Britain in Asia were a mountain ridge, or 11 stream, or a fence, there

would be no difficulty in preserving peace between Russia and the

United Kingdom.—Speech delivered by the Right Hon. John Brig it,

M-l\, at Birmingham on the Itfth April. 1879.
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Many interesting and important questions had to he

dealt with during this my first year as a member of the

Viceroy’s Council, and it was pleasant to me to he able

to bring before the Government of India a scheme which

my wife had had very much at heart for many years—for

supplying skilled nursing to the military hospitals in India.

That our sick soldiers (officers and men) should lie entirely

dependent for nursing, even in times of the most dangerous

illness, on the tender mercies of * the orderly on duty,’ who,

whether kind-hearted or the reverse, was necessarily utterly

untrained and ignorant of the requirements of sickness, waB

a source of unhappiness to her, and had been felt as a cruel

want by many ; hut whenever she had discuesed the subject

with those who might have helped her, she was told that

proposals for supplying this want had already been made,

that the Government could not, nor would they ever be able

to, act on such proposals, on account of the prohibitory

expense, so she felt there was no use in making any appeal

until I might be in a position to see that any suggestions

made by her would be certain to receive the careful con-

sideration of Government. This time had now arrived,

and almost directly Lady Roberts returned to India in
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1886 she drew up a scheme for supplying lady nurses

to the military hospitals throughout India, and set to work

to try and get the support of some of the principal Medical

officers. To her great joy, her recommendations were

accepted by Lord Dufferin and his Council, and her note

upon the subject was sent homo to the Secretary of State,

strongly backed up by the Government of India. Lord

Cross happily viewed the matter in a favourable light, and

consented, not only to a certain number of nurses being

Bent out the following year as an experiment, but to the

whole of the cost of the movement being borne by the

State, with the exception of the provision of ‘ Homes in the

Hills ’ for the nursing sisters as health resorts, and to

prevent the expense to Government of their having to be

sent home on sick-leave when worn out by their trying work

in the plains. The Secretary of State, however, declared

these * Homes * to be ‘ an important part ’ of the nursing

scheme, ‘and indispensable to its practical working,’ but

considered that they should be provided by private sub-

scription, a condition my wife undertook to carry out. She

appealed to the Army in India to help her, and with

scarcely an exception every regiment and battery generously

responded—even the private soldiers subscribed largely in

proportion to their small means—so that by the beginning

of the following year my wife was able to set about pur-

chasing and building suitable houses.

* Homes ’ were established at Murree, Kasauli ahd

Quetta, in Bengal, and at Wellington* in Madras, and

* The homes at Quetta and Wellington were e\ entually taken over

hy Government, and Lady Roberts’ nurses, who worked in the military

hospitals at these stations, were replaced by Government nurses when
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by making a further appeal to the officers of the army, and

with the assistance of kind and liberal friends in England

and India, and the proceeds of various entertainments, Lady

Roberts was able to supply, in connexion with the ‘ Homes ’

at Murree and Kasauli, wards for the reception of sick officers,

with a staff of nurses* in attendance, whose salaries,

passages, etc., are all paid out of ‘ Lady ItobertB’s Fund.*

My wife was induced to do this from having known many

young officers succumb owing to want of care and improper

food at hotels or clubs on being sent to the Ilills after a

hard fight for life in the plains, if they were not for-

tunate enough to have personul friends to look after them.

Although it is anticipating events, I may as well say here

that the nursing experiment proved a eomplote success,

and now every large military hospital in India has its

staff of nurses, and there are altogether -1 superintendents,

9 deputy superintendents, and 39 nursing sisters, in India.

There are many more wuntcd in the smaller stations,

where there is often great loss of life from lack of proper

nursing, and Burely, as my wife pointed out in her first

appeal, ‘ when one considers what an expensive article

the British soldier is, costing, as he does, LTOO before

landing in India, it seems certain that on the score of

economy ulone, altogether setting aside the humane aspect

of the question, it is well worth the State's while to provide

him with the skilled nursing care ’ which has up to now

saved so many lives.

the increase to the Army Nursing Service admitted of this being

done.

* When the ‘ Homes in the Ilills ' are closed during the cold months,

these nurses attend sick officers in their own houses in the plains, free

of charge except travelling expenses.
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That officers as well as men might benefit by the

devotion of the ‘ nursing sister,’ I was able to arrange

in all the large hospitals for some room, or rooms, used

until then for other purposes, to be appropriated for an

officers’ ward or wards, and these have proved a great boon

to the younger officers whose income does not admit of

their obtaining the expensive care of a nurse from one of

the large civil hospitals in the Presidency towns.

The next most interesting question, and also the most

pressing, which lmd to be considered by the Viceroy’s

Council during the summer of 1RH6, was the pacification

of Upper Burma. People in England had expressed

surprise at this being so long delayed. It is extremely

easy, however, to sit at home and talk of what should

lie done, but very difficult to say how to do it, and more

difficult still to carry it out. To establish law and

order in a country nearly as large as Prance, in which

dacoity is looked upon as an honourable profession,

would l»e no light task even in Europe ;
but when the

country to be settled has a deadly climate for several

months in the year, is covered to a great extent with

jungle, and is without a vestige of a road, the task assumes

gigantic proportions. In Upper Burma the garrison was

only sufficient to keep open communication along the line

of the Irrawaddy, and, to add to the embarrassment of

the situation, disaffection had spread to Lower Burma,

and disturbances had broken out in the almost unknown

district between Upper Burma and Assam.

It was arranged to send strong reinforcements to Burma

®o soon as the unhealthy season should be over and it would

be safe for the troops to go there, and Lieutenant-General
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Sir Herbert Macpherson (who had succeeded me as Com-

mander-in-chief in Madras) was directed to proceed

thither.

In October my wife and I. with some of my Btaff, started

from Simla on a trip across the Hills, with the object of in-

specting the stations of Dhurmsala and Dalhousie before it

was cool enough to begin my winter tour in the plains.

We crossed the Jalaurie Pass, between 11,000 and 12,000

feet high, and travelling through the beautiful Kulu

valley and over the Buhhu mountain, we finally arrived at

Palampur. the centre of the tea industry in the Kangra

valley. Having been cut off from telegraphic communica-

tion for some time, we went straight to the telegraph-office

for news, and found at the moment a message being

deciphered which brought me the terribly sad information

that General Macpherson had died of fever in Burma. In

him the country had lost a good soldier, and I a friend

and comrade for whom I had a great regard and admira-

tion. We were discussing his untimely end, and I was

considering who should replace him, when a second

message arrived. This was from Lord Dufferin, telling me

that he wished me to transfer my Head-Quarters to Burma,

and arrange to remain there until ‘ the neck of the business

was broken.’

I hurried to Calcutta, embarked in the first mail-steamer,

and landed at Rangoon on the 0th November.

Sir Charles Bernard (the Chief Commissioner) and

General White had done well under very difficult circum-

stances; but owing partly to large districts being im-

passable from months of heavy rain, and partly to the

change in Commanders, unavoidable inaction had been
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forced upon our troops, and the dacoits had in consequence

made head against us.

Having been in constant correspondence with General

White, 1 had been kept informed of his plans, and, as his

responsible Chief, 1 had approved of them ; I therefore

had the somewhat complicated military situation at my

fingers’ ends, and did not need to lose a single day in

arranging for a series of combined movements being

carried on all over the country.

It was hoped that the recently arrived reinforcements

would be sufficient for all requirements, but it soon became

apparent that the difficulties connected with the pacifica-

tion of Burma had lieen underrated, and that, in addition

to more troops, an efficient civil administration would have

to be provided, to take the place of military authority so

soon as anything like organized resistance had been

crushed ; for to deal with ordinary robbers I conceived

to be work more suited to police than to soldiers.

Upwards of thirty years' experience had proved that the

Burmese could not be relied upon for this kind of service

;

I therefore recommended that a large body of police

Bhould l)e raised in India without delay, and given a

semi-military organization, and in the meantime I asked

for, and was give)), five additional regiments.

I felt very confident of success, for I had taken great

care in the selection of the brigade commanders and staff

officers, and I knew the troops could lie depended upon in

any emergency that was likely to arise. Nevertheless, as the

work they would have to perforin was of rather an unusual

character, irksome as well as difficult, I thought it advisable

to issue some general instructions for the guidance of the
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officers in command of the different columns.* These in-

structions were carried out so intelligently, and the troops

did such good service, especially a very fine body of Mounted

Infantry raised and organized by Major Symons, of the

South Wales Borderers, that before I returned to India in

February, 1887, I was able to report that the country waH

gradually becoming quiet and the Burmese reconciled to our

rule. Most of the principal dacoit leaders had been killed

or captured, and villages which had been in their hands for

months were being re-occupied by their legitimate in-

habitants ; caravans were coming into Mandalay almost

daily from districts on the Chinese borders ; contracts for

making roads were readily taken up. anil there was no

difficulty in obtaining labour for the railway then being

constructed between Lower Burma and Mandalay, the first

sod of which was turned within a month of my arrival at

that place.

In achieving these satisfactory results I was materially

aided by the hearty co-operation of Sir Charles Bernard

and the civil officers serving under him ; while the entire

absence of fanaticism amongst the Burmese, and their

cheerful, happy natures, facilitated our intercourse with

them. I received, besides, most valuablo assistance from

the Buddhist Pooiujhiea, or monks, with many of whom 1

made friends. From the fact that education, secular and

religious, is imparted by these monks, and that every male,

from the King to the humblest peasant, was obliged to enter

a monastery and wear the saffron garb of a monk for a

certain period, the priesthood had enormous influence with

the Burmese. There are no hereditary Chiefs or Nobles in

* These instruction* ere given in the Appendix.
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Burma, the Poonyhiea being the advisers of the people and

the centre round which Native society revolves.

Our occupation of Upper Burma was necessarily a great

blow to the Buddhist priesthood, for many of the monas-

teries* were kept up entirely by the King, Queen, and

Ministers of State ; and, as it was most advisable to have

the influence of the monks in our favour, I recommended

that a monthly stipend should be paid to the Archbishop

and two senior Bishops of Mandalay. They showed their

gratitude by doing all they could to help me, and when

I was leaving the country the old Thathannbain (Arch-

bishop) accompanied me as far as Rangoon. We cor-

responded till his death, and I still hear occasionally from

one or other of my Ponuyhie friends.

1 remained only a short time in Calcutta on my

return to India, and then started off again for the North-

West Frontier, in company with General Chesney, who

had previously expressed his general concurrence in my

defence proposals, but was anxious to see the several

positions and judge for himself, from an Engineer s point

of view, of their suitability to be treated as I suggested.

It was a great source of contentment to me to find that

the sites chosen and the style of entrenchments I had

advocated commended themselves to my expert com-

panion.

Simla was more than usually gay during the summer of

1887, in consequence of the numerous entertainments given

in celebration of Her Majesty’s Jubilee. We had just added

a ballroom to ‘ Snowdon,’ and we inaugurated its opening

* Monasteries in Burmn aro not merely dwelling-places for the

monks, but are the schools where all education is carried on.

VOL. n. 5y
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by a fancy ball on the 21st June, in honour of the auspicious

anniversary.

My name appeared in the Jubilee Gazette as having been

given the Grand Cross of the Indian Empire, but what I

valued still more was the acceptance by the Government

of India of my strong recommendation for the establish-

ment of a Club or Institute in every British regiment and

battery in India. In urging that this measure should be

favourably considered, I had said that the British Army in

India could have no better or more generally beneficial

memorial of the (Queen's Jubilee than the abolition of that

relic of barbarism, the canteen, and its supersession by an

Institute, in which the soldier would liuve under the same

roof a reading-room, recreation-room, and a decently-

managed refreshment-room.

Lord Dufferin’s Government met my views in the most

lilieral spirit, and with the sanction of Lord CrosB * The

Regimental Institute ’ became a recognized establishment,

a fact which my colleagues in Council referred to as a

second. Jubilee honour for me !

At a time when nearly every soldier could read and

write, and when we hoped to attract to the army men of

a better stamp and more respectable antecedents than

those of which it was composed in ‘ the good old days,’

it appeared to me a humiliating anachronism that the

degrading system of the canteen Bhould still prevail, and

that it was impossible for any man to retain his self-

respect if he were driven to take his glass of beer under

the rules by which regimental canteens were governed. I

believed, too, that the more the status of the rank and file

could be raised, and the greater the efforts made to provide
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them with rational recreation and occupation in their

leisure hours, the less there would be of drunkenness, and

consequently of crime, the less immorality and the greater

the number of efficient soldiers in the army.

Funds having been granted, u scheme was drawn up for

the erection of buildings and for the management of the

Institutes. Canteens were reduced in size, and such

.

attractions as musical instruments were removed to the

recreation - rooms ; the name ‘ liquor bar ’ was substi-

tuted for that of ‘ canteen,’ and, that there should be

no excuse for frequenting the ‘ liquor bar,’ I authorized a

moderate and limited amount of beer to be served, if re-

quired, with the men’s suppers in the refreshment-room

—

an arrangement which has been followed by the happiest

results.

At tirst it was thought that these changes would cause a

great falling off in regimental funds, but experience has

proved the reverse. With good management, the profits

from the coffee-shop and the soda-water manufactory far

exceed those to be derived from the canteen, and this

without permitting anyone outside the regiment to purchase

from the coffee-shop and without interfering at all with local

tradesmen.

Another measure which I succeeded in carrying through

the same year was the amalgamation of the various sec-

tarian societies that existed in India for the prevention of

drunkenness in the army into one undenominational

society, under the name of the Army Temperance Asso-

ciation, which I hoped would admit of more united action

and a more advantageous use of funds, besides making it

easier for the Government to assist the movement. The
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different religious tuid * total abstinence ’ associations had

no doubt done much towards the object they had in view,

but their work was necessarily spasmodic, and being carried

on independently of regimental authority, it was not always

looked upon with favour by officers.

There was of necessity at first a good deal of opposition

on the part of the promoters of the older societies, but

those who were loudest in denouncing my proposals soon

came to understand that there was nothing in the consti-

tution of the Army Temperance Association which could

in any way interfere with total abstinence, and that the

only difference l>etween their systems and mine consisted

in mine being regimental in its character, and including

men for whom it was not necessary or expedient to forego

stimulants altogether, but who earnestly desired to lead

temperate lives, and to be strengthened in their resolve

by being allowed to share in the advantages of the new

Institution.

To make the movement a complete success, it wns above

all things important to secure the active co-operation of the

ministers of the various religions. To this end I addressed

the heads of the different churches, explaining my reasons

and the results I hoped to attain in establishing the

amalgamated association, and I invited them to testify

their approval of the scheme by becoming patrons of it.

With two exceptions, the dignitaries to whom I appealed

accepted my invitation, and expressed sympathy with my

aims and efforts, an encouragement I had hardly dared to

hope for, and a proof of liberal-mindedness on the part

of the prelates which was extremely refreshing.

The Government of India ttere good enough to sanction
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the allotment of a separate room in each soldiers' Institute

for the exclusive use of the Association, where alcohol in

any shape was not admitted, and to the grant of this room

I attribute, in a great measure, the success of the under-

taking. The success was proved by the fact that, when I

left India, nearly one third of the 70,000 British soldiers in

that country were members or honorary members of the

Army Temperance Association.
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CHAPTER LXVII.

In Decemlier I made a prolonged tour along the North-

West Frontier, accompanied by my wife, who was greatly

delighted at l>eing able at last to see many places and meet

many people, of whom she had often heard me speak.

Part of this trip was made in company with* the Viceroy

and Lady Dufferin, who visited all the principal stations on

the frontier, including Quetta. I rode with Lord Dufferin

through the Khyber Pass, and to the top of the Kwaja

Amran range, our visit to this latter point resulting, as I

earnestly hoped it would, in His Excellency being convinced

by personal inspection of the advantage to l>e gained by

making the Kohjak tunnel, and of the necessity for our en-

deavouring to cultivate more friendly relations with the

border trilies. We ended this very enjoyable tour at Rawal

Pindi in order to be present at the winding-up of a Cavalry

Camp of Exercise in the neighbourhood. There were assem-

bled together under the direction of Major-General Luck one

regiment of British and eight regiments of Native Cavalry,

with two batteries of Royal Horse Artillery, and it was a

pretty sight, their advance at full gallop, and the halt, as

of one man, of that long line of Cavalry within a few yards

of the Viceroy, for the Royal salute. The spectators were
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much impressed with Lord Bufferin’ s nerve in being able

to remain perfectly calm and still on his horse in the face

of such an onslaught, and it certainly did seem rather close

quarters ; but General Luck knew his regiments, and had

confidence in his men, and we knew General Luck.

In the early part of 1888 I visited all the chief military

stations in the Bengal Presidency, and attended Camps of

Exercise for all arms, held at Rawal Pindi, Umballa,

Meerut, and Lucknow, before going to Calcutta for the usual

discussion on the Budget ; after which the Government

generally breaks up for the hot weather, and assembles in

Simla two or three weeks later.

During 1887 and 1888 much useful work was got through

by the Defence Committee, and by another Committee which

was assembled for the consideration of all questions bearing

upon the mobilization of the army. As Commander-in-

Chief I presided over both, and was fortunate in being

able to secure as my secretaries two officers of exceptional

ability, Lieutenant-Colonel W. Nicholson, R.E., for defence,

and Lieutenant-Colonel E. Elies, R. A., for mobilization.

It was in a great measure due to Colonel Nicholson’s

clear-sighted judgment on the many knotty questions

which came before us, and to his technical knowledge, that

the schemes for the defence of the frontier, and for the

ports of Bombay, Karachi, Calcutta, Rangoon and Madras,

were carried out so rapidly, thoroughly and economically

as they were ;* and with regard to measures for rendering

the army mobile, Colonel Elies proved himself equally

capable and practical. The Secretary to Government in

* The total oost of the coast and frontier defences amounted to the

very moderate sum of five crores of rupees, or about three and a half

millions sterling.
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the Military Department, Major-General Edwin Collen,

was a particularly helpful member of the Committees*

from his intimate acquaintance with the various subjects

which had to be discussed.

If my readers have had the patience to follow in detail

the several campaigns in which I took part, they will have

grasped the fact that our greatest difficulties on all occa-

sions arose from the want of a properly organized Trans-

‘

port Department, and they will understand that I was

able to make this very apparent when the necessity for

mobilizing rapidly only one Army Corps came to be

seriously considered. We were able to demonstrate con-

clusively the impossibility of putting a force into the field,

sufficiently strong to cope with a European enemy, without

a considerable increase to the existing number of transport

animals, and without some description of light cart strong

enough to stand the rough work of a campaign in a country

without roads
;
for it is no exaggeration to say that in the

autumn of 1880, when I left Kandahar, it would have been

possible to have picked out the road thence to Quetta,

and onward to Sibi, a distance of 250 miles, with no

other guide 'than that of the line of dead animals and

broken-down carts left liehind by the several columns and

convoys that had marched into Afghanistan by that route.

Soon after I took over the command of the Army in

India, while voyaging to Burma, I had brought this most

pressing question of transport to the notice of Lord

Dufferin, who, with his usual quick appreciation of n

situation, at once fully recognized its urgency, and pro-

* The Committees consisted, besides the Military Member of Council

and myself, of the heads of Departments with the Government of India

and at Army Head-Quarters.
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mised to give me all possible help in my endeavour to

render the army mobile—a promise which he amply ful-

filled by taking a keen personal interest in the proceedings

of the Committee, and giving his hearty support to our

various recommendations.*

Our labours resulted in several thousand good pack

animals (chiefly mules) being purchased, and information

collected and recorded as to the districts where others could

be rapidly procured in case of emergency. A transport

service was established, for which officers had to go through

a regular course of instruction, and pass an examination

in the loading and general management of the animals.

A prize was offered for a strong, useful light cart; and

when the most suitable had been selected, large numbers

were made up of the same pattern.* The constitution of

* When the report of the Mobilization Committee was submitted to

the Viceroy, he recorded a minute expressing his 4
' warm admiration of

the manner in which the arduous duty hod been conducted, ’ and 44 his

belief that no scheme of a similar description had ever been worked out

with greater thoroughness, in more detail, and with clearer apprehen-

sion of the ends to be accomplished." He concluded by conveying to

the members an expression of his groat satisfaction at what had been

done, and recording that 4 the result of the Committee’s labours is a

magnificent monument of industry and professional ability.

f Statement of transport carriage maintained in India in the yews

1878 and 1898 for military purposes, exclusive of animals registered By

the civil authorities on the latter date, and liable to be requisitioned in

time of war
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two Army Corps, to be in readiness for taking the field on

short notice, was decided upon, and the unitB to form the

several divisions and brigades were told off and provided

with the necessary equipment. A railway time-table was

prepared, giving the hours at which the troops should leave

their stations so as to avoid any block at route. Special

platforms were constructed for training and detraining

Cavalry and Artillery, and storehouses were erected and

stocked at those stations where road marching would pro-

bably commence. Finally, the conclusions we had arrived

at were embodied in a manual entitled ' General ltegula-

tions for Mobilization/ It was extremely gratifying to me

to learn from India that this manual, with such additions

and alterations ns our subsequent experience in Burma

and various frontier expeditions proved would l>e advan-

tageous, was the guide by which the Chitral relieving force

was last year so expeditiously and completely equipped and

despatched.

Of the many subjects discussed and mensnres adopted

during this, the last year of Lord Dufferin’s Viceroyalty,

I think the scheme for utilizing the armies of Native

States, as an auxiliary force for the service of the Empire,

was the most important both from a political and military

point of view.

The idea was, in the first instance, propounded by Lord

Lytton, who appointed a committee to consider the pros

and cons of the question. I was a member of that com-

mittee, but at that time I, in common with many others,

was doubtful as to the wisdom of encouraging a high state

of efficiency amongst the troops of independent States;

the excellent work, however, done by the Native (Jontin-
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gent I had with me in Kuram, and the genuine desire of

all ranks to be allowed to serve side by side with our own
soldiers, together with the unmistakable spirit of loyalty

displayed by Native ltulers when war with Itussia was

imminent in 1885, convinced me that the time had arrived

for us to prove to the people of India that we had faith in

their loyalty, and in their recognition of the fact that their

concern in the defence of the Empire was at least as great

as ours, and that we looked to them to take their part in

strengthening our rule and in keeping out all intruders.

I believed, too, that we had now little to fear from internal

trouble so long us our Government continued just and

sympathetic, but that, on the other hand, we could not

expect to remain free from outside interference, and that it

would l»e wise to prepare ourselves for a struggle which, as

my readers must be aware, I consider to he inevitable in

the end. We have done much, and may still do more, to

delay it, but when that struggle conies it will be incumbent

upon us, both for political and military reasons, to make

use of all the troops and war material that the Native

States can place at our disposal, and it is therefore to

our advantage to render both as efficient and useful as

possible.

The subject was, of course, most delicate and complex,

and had to be treated with the greatest caution, for not

only was the measuro adapted to materially strengthen our

military position in India, but I was convinced it was

politically sound, and likely to be generally acceptable to

the Native Rulers, provided we studied their wishes, and

were careful not to offend their prejudices and suscepti-

bilities by unnecessary interference.
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It was very satisfactory to find how cordially the Chiefs

responded to Lord Dufferin’s proposals, and extremely

interesting to watch the steady improvement in their

armies under the guidance of carefully selected British

officers. Substantial results have been already obtained,

valuable help having been afforded to the Chitral expedition

by the transport trains organized by the Maharajas of

Gwalior and Jaipur, and by the gallantry of the Imperial

Service Troops belonging to His Highness the Maharaja

of Kashmir at Hunza-Nuga and during the siege and relief

of Chitral.

Two minor expeditions took place this year : one against

the Thilietans in retaliation for their having invaded the

territory of our ally, the Baja of Sikiin ; the other to

punish the Black Mountain tribes for the murder of two

British officers. Both were a success from a military

point of view, but in the Black Mountain the determina-

tion of the Punjab Government to limit the sphere of

action of the troops, and to hurry out of the country,

prevented our reaping any political advantage. We lost a

grand opportunity for gaining control over this lawless and

troublesome district ; no Hiirvey was made, no roads opened

out, the tribesmen were not made to feel our power, and,

consequently, very soon another costly expedition had to

be undertaken.

In November, 1888, Lord I)ufferin left India amidst a

storm of regret from ull classes of Her Majesty’s subjects.

He was succeeded by Lord Lansdowne, one of whose

earliest communications to me rejoiced my heart, for in it

His Excellency inquired whether anything could lie done

towards improving our relations with the frontier tribes.
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This augured well for the abandonment of the traditional,

selfish, and, to my mind, short-sighted policy of keeping

aloof, and I hoped that endeavours would at last be made
to turn the tribesmen into friendly neighbours, to their

advantage and ours, instead of being obliged to have

recourse to useless blockades or constant and expensive

expeditions for their punishment, or else to induce them

to refrain from troubling us by the payment of a heavy

blackmail.'

After a visit to the frontier in the autumn to see how

the defences were advancing, I attended a Cavalry Camp of

Exercise at Delhi, and an Artillery Practice Camp at

Gurgaon, and then went to Meerut to be present at the first

meeting of the Bengal Presidency Rifle Association, which

was most interesting and successful. We spent Christmas

in camp—the first Christmas we had all been together for

ten years. Our boy, having left Eton, came out in the

early part of the year with a tutor, to be with us for

eighteen months before entering Sandhurst.

At the end of December I proceeded to Calcutta rather

earlier than usual, to pay my respects to the new Viceroy,

and in January of the following year, accompanied by my
wife and daughter, I started off on a long tour to inspect

the local regiments in Central India and Bajputana, and

to ascertain what progress had been made in organizing

the Imperial Service Troops in that part of India.

Did space permit, I should like to tell my readers of the

beauties of Udaipur and the magnificent hospitality ac-

corded to us there, as well as at Bhopal, Jodhpur, Jaipur,

and Ulwar, but, if 1 once began, it would lie difficult to

8top, and I feel I have already made an unconscionably
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heavy demand on the interest of the public in things

Indian, and must soon cease my * labour of love.’ I must

therefore coniine myself to those subjects which I am

desirous should be totter understood in England than they

generally are.

Upon seeing the troops of the Begum of Bhopal and the

Maharana of Udaipur, I recommended that Their High*

nesses should to invited to allow their share of Imperial

defence to take the form of paying for the services of

an increased number of odicers with their respective local

Corps,* for I did not think it would to possible to make

any useful addition to our strength out of the material of

which their small armies were composed. The men were

relics of a past age, lit only for police purposes, and it

would have toen a waste of time and money to give them

any special training. My recommendation, however, was

not accepted, and neither of these States takes any part in

the defence scheme.

At Jodhpur, on the contrary, there was splendid material,

and a most useful force wub being organized by the Maha-

raja’s brother, Lieutenant-Colonol Sir l’ortap Sing, himself

a Rajput, and of the bluest blood of India. The Cavalry

were specially line. The gallant Rajput horsemen of

* According to treaty, tin: Itliopol State pa.ve nearly two lakhs of

rupees a year towards the cost of the local battalion maintained b\

the British (iovernment for the purpose of keeping order within the

State itaclf. The battalion, however, has only four, instead of eight,

British officers, and it appeared to me only reasonable that the Begum

should be invited to pay the additional amount necessary to make the

battalion as efficient ns the rest of the Native army, as a ‘premium of

insurance ’ for the peace and prosperity which Her Highness’s State

enjoys under our protection, and as her quota towards the general

scheme for the defence of the Empire.
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Jodhpur had always been famous for their chivalrous

bravery, unswerving fidelity, and fearless self-devotion in

their wars with the Mahrattas and the armies of the

Mogul Emperors, and I felt, as the superbly mounted

squadrons passed before me, that they had lost none of

their characteristics, and that blood and breeding must tell,

and would, if put to the test, achieve the same results now

as of old. There could be but one opinion as to the value

of the ‘ Sirdar Rissala,’* so named after the Maharaja’s son

and heir, Sirdar Sing, a lad of only nine years old, who

led the little army past the saluting flag mounted on a

beautiful thorough-bred Arab.

The Jaipur troops were much on a par with those of

Bhopal and Udaipur. 1 was glad, therefore, that, in lieu

of troops, the Maharaja hud agreed to organize, as his

contribution to the Imperial service, a transport corps of

1,000 fully-equipped animals.

At Ulwar I found that the 000 Cavalry and 1,000 Infantry

(all Rajputs) well advanced in their drill and training;

this was 'evidently owing to the personal interest taken

in them by the Maharaja, who seldom allowed a day to

pass without visiting the parade grounds.

By the end of March I had finished my tour in Central

India and Rajputana, and as the heat was every day

becoming more intense, I was not sorry to turn my steps

northwards towards Kashmir, the army of which State still

remained to be inspected, and the measures most suitable

for its re-organization determined upon.

Our whole family party re-assembled at Murree early in

April, and we all went into the ‘ Happy Valley togethei

,

* llingalft is ft body of Cavalry.
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where between business and pleasure we spent a most

delightful six weeks. The Maharaja personally superin-

tended the arrangements for our comfort. Our travelling

was made easy— indeed luxurious—and everything that

the greatest care and forethought and the most lavish

hospitality could accomplish to make our visit happy

was done by the Maharaja and by the popular Resident,

Colonel Nisbet.

The Kashmir army was much larger than any of

those belonging to the Native States I hud lately visited

;

it consisted of 18,000 men and 06 guns— more than was

needed, even with the (iilgit frontier to guard. Some of

the regiments were composed of excellent material, chiefly

Dogras; but as the cost of such a force was a heavy

drain ui>on the State, and as many of the men were old

and decrepit, I recommended that the Maharaja should be

invited to get rid of all who were physically unfit, and to

reduce his array to a total of 10,000 thoroughly reliable

men and 30 guns. I knew this would I *e a very difficult,

and perhaps distasteful, task for the Commander-in-Chief

(who was also the Maharaja’s brother). Raja Ram Sing, to

perform, so I recommended that a British oflicer should lie

appointed military adviser to the Kashmir (ioverninent,

under whose supervision the work of reformation should lie

carried out.

At that time we had none of our own troops in the

neighbourhood of (iilgit, and as I thought it advisable,

in case of disturbance, that the Kashmir troops should be

speedily put into such o state of efficiency as would enable

us to depend upon them to hold the passes until help could

arrive from India, 1 urged that the military adviser should
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be given three British officers to assist him in carrying out

his difficult and troublesome duty
; and at the same time I

pointed out that it was absolutely essential to construct at

an early date a serviceable road between Kashmir and

Gilgit, as the sole approach to that strategic position was

not only difficult, but very dangerous.

All these proposals commended themselves to, and were

acted upon by, the Viceroy.

Lieutenant-Colonel Neville Chamberlain—a persona ijrata

to the Kashmir authorities—was appointed Military Secre-

tary to the Kashmir Stnte, and by his ability, tact, and happy

way of dealing with Natives, quickly overcame all obstacles.

The Maharaja ami his two brothers, Rajas Ram Sing and

Amar Sing, entered heartily into the scheme; the army was

remodelled and rendered lit for service
; and an excellent

road was made to Gilgit.

During the summer of 1H89 1 was able to introduce

several much needed changes in the annual course of

musketry for the Native Army. The system in vogue at

that time dated from a period when fire discipline was

not thought of, and when the whole object of the course

was to make soldiers individually good shots. After the

Delhi Camp of Exercise in lSHH-HB, when the want of fire

control was almost the only point unfavourably criticized by

the foreign officers, the Army in India made a great advance

in this important branch of musketry training ;
nevertheless,

I felt that further progress was possible, and that the course

of instruction was not altogether as practical as it might

k® - I therefore gave over the work of improvement

in this respect to an enthusiast in the matter of rifle-

shooting and an officer of exceptional energy and intelli-

von. 11 . 150
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gence, Lieutenant-C'olouel Ian Hamilton, and directed him,

aB Assistant Adjutant-General of Musketry, to arrange a

course of instruction, in which the conditions should

resemble as nearly as possible those of field service, and

in which fire discipline should be developed to the utmost

extent. He was most successful in carrying out my wishes,

and the results from the first year’s trial of the new system

were infinitely better than even 1 had anticipated.

Simultaneously with the improvement in musketry, a

great advance was made in gunnery. Artillery, like

Infantry officers, had failed to realize the value of the

new weapon, and it required the teaching of a man who

himself thoroughly believed in and understood the breech-

loading gun to arouse Artillerymen to a sense of the

tremendous power placed in their hands, and to the

importance of devoting much more care and attention

to practice than had hitherto been thought necessary.

Such a man was Major-General N'airne, and I was happily

able to induce the Government to revive in him the

appointment of Inspector-General of Artillery.

Under the unwearying supervision of this officer, there

was quite as remarkable an improvement in Artillery

shooting as Colonel Hamilton had effected in musketry.

Practice camps were annually formed at convenient localities,

and all ranks l»egan to take as much pride in belonging to

the ‘ best shooting lottery ’ as they had hitherto taken in

belonging to the ‘ smartest,’ the
‘

best-horsed,’ or the ‘ best-

tumed-out’ battery. I impressed upon officers and men

that the two things were quite compatible ; that, according

to my experience, the smartest and tost-turned-out men

made the best soldiers ; and while I urged every detail being
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most carefully attended to, which could enable them to

Itecome proficient gunners and take their proper place on

the field of battle, I expressed my earnest hope that the

Boyal Artillery would always maintain its hitherto high

reputation for turn-out and smartness.

The improvement in the Cavalry was equally apparent.

Kor this arm of the service also the Government consented

to an Inspector-General being appointed, and I was fortunate

enodgh to be able to secure for the post the services of

Major-General Luck, an officer as eminently fitted for this

position as was General Nairne for his.

Just at first the British officers belonging to Native

Cavalry were apprehensive that their sowars would be

turned into dragoons, but they soon found that there was no

intention of changing any of their traditional characteristics,

and that the only object of giving them an Inspector-

General was to make them even better in their own way

than they had been before, the finest Irregular Cavalry

in the world, as I have not the slightest doubt they will

always prove themselves to be.

Towards the ehd of the Simla season of 1889, Lord

Lansdowne, to my great satisfaction, announced his in-

tention of visiting the frontier, and asked uie to accompany

him.

We rode through the Khyber and Goinal Passes, visited

Peshawar, Kohat, Bannu, Dera Ismail Khan, and Quetta,

looked into the Kohjak tunnel, and attended some in-

teresting manoeuvres, carried out with a view of testing, in

as practical a manner as possible, the defensive power of

the recently-finished Takatu-Mashalik entrenchment. The

principal works were fired upon by Artillery and Infantry,
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and, notwithstanding the excellent practice made, in-

finitesimal damage was done, which proved the suitability

of the particular design adopted for the defences.

Lord Lansdowne expressed himself greatly interested,

and much impressed by all he saw of the frontier ; and he

was confirmed in his opinion ns to the desirability of

establishing British influence amongst the border tril>es.

With this object in view, His Excellency authorized Sir

Robert Sondeman (the Governor-General’s Agent at Quetta)

to establish a series of police posts in the Gomal Pass, and

encourage intercourse between the people of the Zlioh

district and ourselves.

It was high time that something should be done in this

direction, for the Amir’s attitude towards us was becoming

day by day more unaccountably antagonistic. He was

gradually encroaching on territory and occupying places

altogether outside the limits of Afghan control ; and

every movement of ours—made quite as much in His

Highness’s interest as in our own—for strengthening the

frontier and improving the communications, evidently

aroused in him distrust and suspicion as to our motives.
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CHAPTER LXVIII.

New Year’s Day, 1890, found me in Calcutta, where I

went to meet Prince Albert Victor on his arrival in

India. On my way thither I received a letter from Mr.

Edward Stanhope, Secretary of State for War, telling me

that he had heard from Lord Cross, the Secretary of State

for India, that there was a proposal to ask me to retain

my appointment of Commander-in-Chief in India for some

time after the expiration of the usual term of office ;
but

that, while such an arrangement would have his hearty

approval, he thought the question should be considered

from another point of view, and that it would he extremely

agreeable to himself, and he felt to the Duke of Cambridge

also, if he could secure me for the post of Adjutant-

General in succession to Lord Wolseley. Mr. Stanhope

went on to say he would like to know’ whether I would be

willing to accept the appointment, or whatever position

Lord Wolseley's successor would fill, should the report of

Lord Hartington’s Commission cause a change to be made

in the staff at the Horse Guards.

I was pleased, though somewhat surprised, at this com

munication, and I replied to the Right Honourable gentle-

man that I would gladly accept the offer, and that I could
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arrange to join on the 1st October, when the appointment

would become vacant, hut that, as Lord Lansdowne had

expressed a wish that I should remain in India over the

next cold season, I hoped, if it were possible, some

arrangement might be made to admit of my doing so.

The idea of employment in England, now that I allowed

myself to dwell upon it, was very attractive, for dearly as

I loved my Indian command, and bitterly as 1 knew I

should grieve at leaving the country, the peoples, and the

grand army, which were all sources of such intense interest

to me, I felt that the evil day at longest could only l>e

postponed for a few years, and that there is a limit to the

time that even the strongest European can with impunity

live in an eastern climate, while I was glad to think 1 should

still be in a position to work for my country and for the

benefit of the army.

From Calcutta I travelled north to Muridki, where a

large force of Horse Artillery and Cavalry was assembled

for practice, and where we had a standing camp, at

which Prince Albert Victor did us the honour of l>eing

our guest for the final mameuvres. I think His Royal

Highness enjoyed the novelty of camp life, and was? greatly

attracted by the picturesque and soldier-like appearance

of the Native troops. The Native oflicers were very proud

at being presented to the grandson of their Empress, And

at His Royal Highness l»eing ap|>ointcd Honorary Colonel

of the 1st Punjab Cavalry.

Towards the end of April 1 returned to Simla for what

1 thought was to be our last season in that place ;
and

shortly after I got np there, a telegram from Mr. Stanhope

informed me that my api>ointment had boon accepted l*.V
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the Cabinet, and that my presence in England was strongly

desired in the autumn. It was therefore with very great
surprise that 1 received a second telegram three weeks
later from the Secretary of State, telling me that, as it was
then found to be impossible to choose my successor, and
as the exigencies of the public service urgently required my
presence in India, the Cabinet, with the approval of Her
Majesty and the concurrence of the Duke of Cambridge, had
decided to ask me to retain my command for two more years.

I felt it my duty to obey tbe wishes of the Queen, Her
Majesty’s Government, and the Commander-in-Chief

; but

I fully realized that in doing so 1 was forfeiting my chance

of employment in England, and that a long and irksome

term of enforced idleness would in all probability follow on

my return home, and I did not attempt to conceal from

Mr. Stanhope that 1 was disappointed.

At the latter end of this year, and in the early part of

1891, it was found necessary to undertake three small

expeditions : one to Zhoh, under the leadership of Sir

George White, for the protection of our newly-acquired

subjects in that ’valley; one on the Kohat border, com-

manded by Sir William Lockhart, to punish the people

of the Miranzai valley for repeated acts of hostility ; and

the third, under Major-General Elies,* against the Black

Mountain tribes, who, quite unsubdued by the fruitless

expedition of 1H8H, had given trouble almost immediately

afterwards. All these were as completely successful in

their political results as in their military conduct. The

columns were not withdrawn until the tribesmen had

become convinced that thev were powerless to sustain a

* The late Licutenant-Geucral Sir \V. K. Elies, K.C.B.
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hostile attitude towards us, and that it was their interest,

as it was our wish, that they should henceforth be on

amicable terms with us.

While a considerable number of troops were thus em-

ployed, a fourth expedition had to be hurriedly equipped

nmt despatched in quite the opposite direction to punish

the Raja of Manipur, a petty State on the confines of

Assam, for the treacherous murder of Mr. Quinton, the

Chief Commissioner of Assam, and four other British

officers.

Notwithstanding its inaccessibility, two columns, one

from Burma, the other from Cachar, quickly and simul-

taneously reached Manipur, our countrymen were avenged,

and the administration of the State was tuken over for a

time by the Government of India.
*

Towards the end of January the Cesarewitch came to

Calcutta, where 1 had the honour of being introduced to

our august visitor, who expressed himself as pleased with

what he had seen of the country und the arrangements

made for His Imperial Highness's somewhat hurried

journey through India.

In April my military colleague in the Viceroy's Council

for five years, and my personal friend, Generul Sir George

Chesney, left Indiu, to my great regret. We had worked

together most harmoniously, and, as he wrote in his

farewell letter, there was scarcely a point in regard to tho

Army in India al>out which he and I did not agree.

Sir George was succeeded by Lieutenant-General Brackeu-

* A detachment of the Calcutta Volunteer ltiflr*. at the particul<*r

request of the regiment, took part in the expedition, and did Rood

service.
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bury, who had been Director of Military Intelligence at the

War Office. I was relieved to find that, although in some

particulars my new coadjutor’s views differed from mine,

we were in accord upon all essential points, particularly

as to the value of the Indian Army and the necessity for

its being maintained in a state of preparedness for war.

From the time I became Commnnder-in-Chief in Madras

until I left India the question of how to render the army

in that country as perfect a fighting machine as it

was possible to make it, was the one which caused me

the most anxious thought, and to its solution my most

earnest efforts had been at all times directed.

The first step to be taken towards this end was, it seemed

to me, to substitute men of the more warlike and hardy

races for the Hindustani sepo\s of Bengal, the Tamils and

Telagus of Madras, and the so-called Mahrattas of Bombay

;

but I found it difficult to get my views accepted, because of

the theory which prevailed that it was necessary to maintain

an equilibrium between the armies of the three Presidencies,

and because of the ignorance that was only too universal

with respect to the characteristics of the different races,

which encouraged the erroneous belief that one Native was

as good as another for purposes of war.

In former days, when the Native Army in India was so

much stronger in point of numbers than the British Army,

and there existed no means of rapid communication, it was

only prudent to guard against a predominance of soldiers

of any one creed or nationality : but with British troops

nearly doubled and the Native Army reduced by more than

one-third, with all the forts and arsenals protected, and

nearly the whole of the Artillery manned by British
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soldiers, with railway and telegraph communication from

one end of India to the other, with the risk of internal

trouble greatly diminished, and the possibility of external

complications becoming daily more apparent, circumstances

and our requirements were completely altered, and it had

become essential to have in the ranks of our Native Army

men who might confidently be trusted to take their share

of fighting against a European foe.

In the British Army the superiority of one regiment ovei

another is mainly a matter of training ; the same courage

and military instinct are inherent in English, Scotch and

Irish alike, but no comparison can be made between the

martial value of a regiment recruited amongst the Gurkhas

of Nepal or the warlike races of northern India, and of one

recruited from the effeminate [teoples of the south.

How little this was understood, even by those who had

spent a great part of their service in India, was a marvel to

me ; but, then, I had had peculiar opportunities of judging

of the relative fighting qualities of Natives, and 1 was in

despair at not l>«ing able to get people to see the matter

with my eyes, for I knew that nothing was more sure to lead

to disaster than to imagine that the whole Indinn Army, as

it was then constituted, could l>e relied on in time of war.

General Chesney fortunately shared my opinions, and as

Lords Hufferin and Lansdowne trusted us, we were able to

do a great deal towards increasing the efficiency of the

Native Army and improving the status and prospects of the

Native soldier. .Several companies and regiments com-

posed of doubtful material were disbanded, and men of

well-known fighting castes entertained instead. Glass regr

ments were formed, as being more congenial to the men ami
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mare conducive to esprit ilr corps

;

recruiting was made the

business of carefully selected officers who understood Native

character, and whose duty it was to become acquainted with

the various tribes inhabiting the districts from which the

recruits for their own regiments were drawn
; and special

arrangements were made with the Nepalese Government by

which a sufficient number of the best class of men could be

obtained for our thirteen Gurkha regiments.

The pay of Cavalry soldiers was improved, and it was

pointed out to the Government that an increase to the

Infantry soldiers’ pay could not be long deferred ;* the

issue of good-conduct pay was accelerated
;
japirs^ were

sanctioned annually for a limited number of specially dis-

tinguished Native officers : full pay was authorized for

recruits from date of enlistment instead of from the date

of joining their regiments : field hada * was sanctioned

whenever troops should be employed beyond sea or on

service
;

pensions were granted after a shorter period of

service than heretofore ; medals for meritorious service

and good conduct were given in commemoration of Her

Majesty’s J ubilee f bronze war medals were sanctioned for

all authorized Government followers: a reserve, which it

was arranged should undergo an annual course of training,

was formed for the Artillery and Infantry ;
and a system

of linked battalions was organized, three battalions being

grouped together, and the men being interchangeable during

war-time.

* Thu pay of the Native Infantry line been suitably increased since

I left India.

t Jagin are grants of land.

t Ealta, extra allowances given to Native soldiers when proceeding

on field service.
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While the tendency of these alterations and concessions

was to make all ranks happy and contented, their training

was carefully attended to, and, as 1 have l>efore mentioned,

musketry particularly reached a very high standard.

The one thing left undone, and which I should like to

have been able to accomplish before leaving India, was to

induce the Government to arrange for more British officers

to be given to the Native regiments in time of war. Nine to

a Cavalry and eight to an Infantry corps may be sufficient

in time of pence, but that number is quite too small

to stand the strain of war. Indian soldiers, like soldiers

of every nationality, require to be led ; and history

and experience teach us that eastern races (fortunately

for us), however brave and accustomed to war, do not

possess the qualities tlint go to make leaders of men,

and that Native officers in this respect can never take the

place of British officers. I have known many Natives

whose gallantry and devotion could not 1 m- surpassed, but

I have never known one who would not have looked to

the youngest British officer for support in time of diffi-

culty and danger. It is therefore most unwise to allow

Native regiments to enter upon a war with so much

smaller a proportion of British officers than is con-

sidered necessary for European regiments. I have no

doubt whatever of the fighting (lowers of our best Indian

troops ; I have a thorough lielief in, and admiration for,

Gurkhas, Sikhs, Dogras, Rajputs, Juts, and selected

Mahomedans ; I thoroughly appreciate their soldierly

qualities; brigaded with British troops, I would lie proud

to lead them against any European enemy ; but we cannot

expect them to do with less leading than our own soldiers
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require, and it iB, I maintain, trying them too highly to

send them into action with the present establishment of

British officers.*

In the late autumn of 1891 our latest acquisition, the

Zhob Valley, was included in my frontier tour, which

I had the pleasure of making, for the greater part of

the way, in the company of General Brackenbury. He

was prevented from getting as far as Quetta by an accident

which laid him up for some time, but not, as he told

me, before he had seen enough of the frontier to satisfy

him that the tribes were a factor in our system of defence

* During the Mutius the casualties amongst the British officers

with the six Punjab regiments which saw the most lighting amounted

to 60 per cent. Luckily, those wore able to bo replaced by officers

belonging to corps which luid mutinied. This supply, however, has

long since been used up, and it behoves the Government either to

provide an adequate reserve of officers, or to arrange for a sufficient

number being scut out from Kngland whenever India is likely to be

engaged in a serious war.

I

I

1

( -OKI'S.

1st Punjab
Cavalry (1

sauadron)
2nd Punjab
Cavalry -

5th Punjab
Cavalry (1

squadron)
1st Punjab
Infantry -

2nd Punjab
Infantry -

4th Punjab
Infantry

Total

Number of
Officer*
who dt'l

Duty with
each Cony.

Casualties
.

Killed in

Action.

Died of

Wound*.
1 >ied of

DIhcajc.
Wounded. Invalided.

12 1
6 7

20 1 ... 5 4

1

I 7 1 1 ...
...

16

-

3 • •• f
i

6

22 3 ...
1 4 8

24 2 3 2 8 ...

100
1 n 4 2 29 14
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which could not be ignored, and that I had not exaggerated

the importance ot having them on our aide.

During this winter the brilliant little Hunza-Naga cam-

paign took place, which has been so graphically described

in Mr. Knight’s ‘ Where Three Empires Meet.’ It was

brought aliout by Russia's intrigues with the Rulers of the

petty States on the northern Imundary of Kashmir ; and

our attention was first roused to the necessity for action

by two British officers, who were journeying to India by

way of the Pamirs and Gilgit, being forced by Russian

soldiers to leave what the leader of the party culled ‘ newly-

acquired Russian territory
'*— territory to which Russia

had not the shadow of a claim.

In addition to this unjustiliable treatment of Captain

Younghushand and Lieutenant Davison, Colonel Yanoff

crossed the Hindu Kush with his Cossacks by the Korabhut

Pass, and, after reconnoitring the country on the Itordors of

Kashmir, re-crossed the range by the Baroghil Pass. As

this was a distinct breach of the promises mnde by the

Russian Government, and un infringement of the boundary

line as agreed to lietween England and Russia in 1873. it

was necessary to take steps to prevent any recurrence of

such interference, and a small force was accordingly sent

against the Chief of Hunzu, who had ojtenly declared

himself in favour of Russia. He made a desperate stand,

but was eventually driven from his almost inaccessible

position by the determined gallantry of our Indian troops*

assisted by a Contingent from Kashmir. Three Victoria

* Captain Younghusband was at llorai-Gmuba/, and Lieutenant

Davison on tho Alichur Pamirs, both places being sooth of the branch

of the Oxus which take* its rise in the Hirikul Lake.
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Crosses were given for this business, and many more were

earned, but of necessity there must be a limit to the dis-

posal of decorations; and in an affair of this kind, in

which all proved themselves heroes, each individual muBt

have felt himself honoured by the small force being awarded

such a large number of the coveted reward, in proportion

to its size.

We reaped the benefit of having taken this district under

our own control when Chitral required to be relieved, and

the Hunza-Naga people afforded Colonel Kelly such valuable

help.

On the 1st January, 1HSV2, I received an intimation that

Her Majesty had been graciously pleased to bestow a

peerage upon me, and the same day the Secretary of State

for India offered me a further extension of my appoint-

ment as Commander- in-l'hief- an offer I would gladly have

accepted, as I knew it had been made with the concurrence

of the Viceroy, if I could have taken even a few months

leave to England. Hut during a quarter of a century I had

only been able to sj>end eighteen months out of India, and

I felt the need off change of climate and a little rest aftei

so many years of continued hard work. I nder the exist-

ing regulations a Commander-in-Chief could have no leave.

Lord Cross had tried to remedy this hard rule by bringing

in the ‘ Officers’ Leave. Hill *
: but as he informed Lord Lans-

downe it was impossible to get it through the House of

Commons that session, I was obliged very reluctantly to

beg to l)e allowed to resign my command in the spring of

1893.

Before returning to Simla for really the last time, my

wife and I made another trip to Burma as far as Man-
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dalay, and after this wab over we paid a most interesting

visit to Nepal, having received the very unusual honour of

an invitation to Khatmandu from Maharaja Bir Shumsher

Jung Buna Bahadur.

Khatmandu is about a hundred miles from our frontier

station of Segowli, by a very rough road over a succession

of steep, high hills and along deep, narrow valleys, which

would have l>een quite impossible for a lady to travel by

but for the excellent arrangements made by the Nepalese

officials : the lust descent was the worst of all
;
we literally

dropped from one rock to the next in some places. But on

reaching the base of the mountain all was changed. A

beautifully cultivated valley spread itself out before us

;

comfortable tents were prepared for our reception, where

we were met by some of the State officials ; and a perfectly

appointed carriage-and-four was waiting to carry us on to

Khatmandu, where we were received by the Resident,

Lieutenant-Colonel Wylie, and his wife, old friends of ours.

That afternoon the Maharaja paid me a private visit.

The next morning the official call was made, which 1

returned soon afterwards ; and in the evening the Maha-

raja, accompanied by his eldest son and eight of hi*

brothers, all high officers of state, were present at Mrs.

Wylie’s reception, wearing military frock-coats and forage-

caps. They all spoke English fluently ;
their manners

were those of well-bred gentlemen, easy and quiet, as free

from awkwardness as from forwardness ; each, coming up

in turn, talked very pleasantly to Lady Roberts for a time,

and then made way for someone else. The Maharaja is

extremely musical, and has several well-trained bands,

taught by an English bandmaster ; three of them were in
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attendance, and were directed to play selections from

our favourite operas, and then A number of the beautiful

plaintive Nepalese airs. Altogether, we passed a most

agreeable evening.

The following day a review of all the troops (18,000 men

and 78 guns)* waB held on a ground one mile in length

by half a mile in breadth, perfectly level and well turfed.

It would be considered a fine parade-ground for the plains

of India, and must have entailed a considerable expendi-

ture of time, labour, and money to make in such a hilly

place as Khatmandu.

On reaching the ground, I was received by the Maharaja

and Deb Shamsher Jung, the eldest of his many brothers,

and the nominal Commander-in-Chief of the army; we

rode along the line together, and the march-past then

Itegan. Everything was done with the utmost precision

;

there was no fuss or talking, and from first to last not

a single bugle sonnd was heard, showing how carefully

officers and men had been drilled. I was told that the

executive Commander-in-Chief, the third brother, by name

Chandra Shamsher, had almost lived on the parade-ground

for weeks before my arrival. The Maharaja s sons and

brothers, who all knew their work, and were evidently

fond of soldiering, commanded the several divisions and

brigades.

The troops were not, perhaps, turned out quite so

* The Infantry comprised twenty-four battalions drawn up in line

of quarter columns. The Artillery consisted of one battery (six

7-pounders) carried on elephants, six batteries (six guns each,

b-poundere and 7-pounders) draggod by soldiers, and six batteries (six

guns each, 8-poundere and 5-pounders) carried by Bhutia coolies.

VOL. ii. 61
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smartly as those in our service, and several of the officers

were old and feeble; but these were the only faults per-

ceptible, and I came to the conclusion that the great

majority of the 18,000 men were quite as good as the

Gurkhas we enlist ; and I could not help thinking that

they would be a valuable addition to our strength in the

event of war.

General Chandra Shamsher is a very red-hot soldier.

He said to my wife :
4 Lady Roberts, when are the Russians

coming? I wish they would make haste. We have 40,000

soldiers in Nepal ready for war, and there is no one to

fight
!’

The next day a grand durbar was held, at which the

King (the Maharaja Dhiraj, as he is called) presided : he

was an unusually handsome lad of alnnit eighteen years of

age, fairer than most Nepalese, and very refined looking.

As on all previous occasions, everyone wore uniform

except the King, who had on a perfectly plain dress of

spotless white. Great deference is outwardly paid to the

Dhiraj, but he has no [tower, and is never consulted in

matters of Htate, being considered too stfcred to lie troubled

with mundane affairs. Although a mere l>oy, ho had

four wives, two of them daughters of the Maharaja Bir

Shamsher Jung.

After the durbar, I was shown over the principal school

and hospital ; both appeared to life well conducted, and evi-

dently no expense was spared upon them. 1 was then

taken to a magazine, in which were a number of guns of

various calibre and any amount of ammunition. I was told

there were several other magazines, which 1 had not time

to see, and a few miles from Khatmandu extensive work-
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shops, where all kinds of munitions of war were manu-
factured.

That evening, accompanied by Colonel and Mrs. Wylie,

we attended a reception at the Maharaja’s palace. The

durbur hall, which was tilled with men in uniform, was of

beautiful proportions, and very handsomely decorated and

furnished. After the usual introductions and some con-

versation with the chief officers, we were invited to visit the

Muharani in her own apartments, and having ascended a

flight of steps and passed through numerous corridors and

luxuriously furnished rooms, we were shown into a spacious

apartment, the prevailing colour of which was rose, lighted

by lamps of the saino colour. The Maharani was sitting on

a sofa at the further end of the room, gorgeously apparelled

in rose-coloured gauze dotted over with golden spangles;

her skirts were very voluminous, and she wore magnificent

jewels on her head and about her person. Two Maids of

Honour stood behind her, holding fans and dressed in the

same colour as their mistress, but without jewels. On

each side of her, forming a semicircle, were grouped the

ladies of the Court, all arrayed in artistically contrasting

colours
; they were moro or less pretty and refined looking,

and the Maharani herself was extremely handsome. My

wife was placed by her side on the sofa, and carried on a

long conversation with her through one of the ladies who

spoke Hindustani and acted as Interpreter. The Maharani

presented Lady lioberts with a beautiful little Chinese pug-

d°g, and the Maharaja gave mo a gold-mounted kookri

(Gurkha knife). After this little ceremony there was a

(grand display of fireworks, and we took our leave.

Nothing could exceed the kindness we mot with during
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our stay in Nepal. The Maharaja endeavoured in every

way to make our visit enjoyable, and his brothers vied

with each other in their efforts to do us honour. It was

impressed upon me that tho Nepalese army was at the

disposal of the Queen-Empress, and hopes were repeatedly

expressed that we would make use of it in the event of

war.

Notwithstanding the occasional differences which have

occurred lietween our Government and the Nepal Durbar,

I believe that, ever since 1817, when the Nepal war was

brought to a successful conclusion by Sir David Ochterlony.

the Gurkhas have had a great respect and liking for us

:

but they are in perpetual dread of our taking their country,

and they think tho only way to prevent this is not to

allow anyone to enter it except by invitation, and to insist

upon the few thus favoured travelling by the difficult

route that we traversed. Nepal can never be required

by us for defensive purposes, and as we get our bed

class of Native soldiers thence, everything should, I think,

be done to show our confidence in the Nepalese alliance,

and convince them that we have no ulterior designs on tin-

independence of their kingdom.

On leaving Nepal we made n short tour in the Punjab,

and then went to Simla for the season.

One of the subjects which chiefly occupied the attention

of the Government at this time was the unfriendly attitude

of the ituler of Afghanistan towards us. Abdur ltalnunn

Khan ap]>eared to have entirely forgotten that he owed

everything to us, and that, but for our support and la'inb

aid in money and munitions of war, he could neither

gained nor hold the throne of Kabul. We refused to Sbc
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Ali much that we could have gracefully granted and that

would have made him a firm friend, but in our dealings

with Abdur Rahman we rushed into the other extreme,

and showered favours upon him ; in fact, we made too

much of him, and allowed him to get out of hand. The

result was that he mistook the patience and forbearance

with which we bore his fits of temper for weakness, and

was encouraged in an overweening and altogether unjustifi-

able idea of his own importance ;
he considered that he

ought to be treated as the equal of the Shah of Persia, and

keenly resented not being allowed to communicate direct

with Her Majesty’s Ministers.

In tlio hope of being able to establish more satisfactory

relations with the Amir, Lord Lansdowne invited him to

come to India, and, on llis Highness pleading that his

country w«s in too disturbed a condition to admit of hiB

leaving it, the Viceroy expressed his willingness to

meet him on the frontier, hut Abdur Rahman e\aded

this arrangement also under one pretext or another.

It was nt last proposed to send me with a Mission as

far as Jalalabad, p proposal I gladly accepted, for I was

sanguine enough to hope that, by personal explanation, I

should be able to remove the suspicions which the Amir

evidently entertained aH to the motives for our action on the

frontier, and to convinco him that our help in the time of

his need must depend upon our mutually agreeing in what

manner that help should be given, and on arrangements

being completed beforehand to enable our troops to be

rapidly transported to the threatened points.

Abdur Rahman agreed to receive me in the autumn, and

expressed pleasure at the prospect of meeting me, but
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eventually he apparently became alarmed at the size of

the escort by which the Government thought it necessary

that I, as C’ommander-in-Chief, should be accompanied :

and, as the time approached for the Mission to start, he

informed Lord Lansdowne that his health would not permit

of his undertaking the journey to Jalalabad.

Thus the opportunity was lost to which 1 had looked

forward as a chance for settling many vexed questions, and

I am afraid that there lias been very little improvement in

our relations with Abdur lhiliman since then, and that we

are no nearer the completion of our plans fur the defence

of his kingdom than we were four years ago*—a defence

which (and this cannot he too strongly impressed upon the

Amir) it would be imiiossible for us to aid him to carry

through unless Kabul and Kandahar are brought into

connexion with the railway system of India.

In the autumn, just before we left Simla, our friends

liestowed upon my wife a farewell gift in the shai>e of u

very beautiful diamond bracelet and, a sum of monoy for

her fund for * Homes in the Hills, and Officers’ Hospitals,'

made doubly acceptable by the kind yords with which

Lord Lansdowne, on belinlf of the donors, presented it.

Shortly afterwards we bade a regretful adieu to our happy

home of so many years, and made otir way to the Punjab

for a final visit.

We spent a few days at Poslmwar, and then went to

liawal Pindi to lie present at a Camp of Exercise, and sec

how the works under construction for the protection of the

* 1 am not unmindful of the vi*it which 8ir Mortimer Durand paid

to Kabul after I had left India, but on that occasion, I belie' e, the

question of the defence of Afghanistan was not dincnwcd
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arsenal were progressing. These works had been put in

hand in 1890, when, according to my recommendation, it

had been decided not to fortify Multan. No place in the

Punjab appeared to my mind to possess the same military

value as Rawal Pindi, its strategical importance with

regard to the right flank of the frontier line being hardly

inferior to that of Quetta in relation to the left flank ; but

of late the advisability of completing the works had been

questioned by my colleagues in Council, greatly to my

concern, for I felt that it would be unwise to leave the

elaboration of the defences of such a position until war

should be imminent.*

In January, 1898, a series of farewell entertainments

were organized for me at Lahore by the people of the

Punjab, as touching as they were highly appreciated, and

* The works wore stopped lifter I li*ft India, but not, I was glad to

think, before the redoubts hud been finished, with the communications

thereto. The reasons given were that u chiuige of plans was necessary

for economy's sake, and that the construction of fortifications might

induce the Natives to think wo wen* doubtful of the continuance of our

supremacy. Ah regarded the first, I explained that the total outlay

for works and armaments was estimated at only A‘382,2i4 consider-

ably lens than one half the cost of a Hritish line-of-battle ship; and as

to the second, l urged that an argument of this sort against frontier

defences would hardly bear examination ;
that the possibility o

external attack was freely discussed in every newspaper ;
that Russian

movements and frontier difficulties were known and commented on m
every bazaar; that the construction of fortifications in support o tie

Ruling Power hud been an Oriental practice from time imwemorm ,

that our action in this respect was at least as likely to instil the u ea

that we meant to retain our eastern possessions at any cost, as to give

mi impression of weakness ; that the progressive re-organization an

mobilization of our army were well known to have reference to ®ei '*ce

beyond the frontier ; and that we had extended our confidence in this

respect to Native Princes by encouraging them to train t leir ow

troop, and fit them to take their plnco in line with ours.
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intensely gratifying. Amongst the crowds assembled in

the Town Hall to kid me good-bye, 1 was greatly pleased to

see, besides the Maharaja of Kashmir, Chiefs and men

from beyond our frontier, from Kuram, from the coniines

of Baluchistan, even from the wilds of AVaziristan ; for

their presence on this occasion l felt to )>e, not only a

proof of their kindly feeling towards me personally, and of

their approval of the measures for their safety and welfare

that I had always advocated, but a very distinct sign of

the much to be desired change that was taking place in

the sentiments of the border tribes towards us as a nation.

Four addresses were presented to me, from the Sikh,

Hindu, Mahomedan, and European communities of the

Punjab, respectively, which I will venture to give in the

Appendix, as I feel sure that the spirit of loyalty which

pervades them will be a revelation to many, and a source

* of satisfaction to all who ure interested in the country

to which we owe so much of our present greatness, and

which I conceive to lie the brightest jewel in England's

crown.

It was a wonderful and moving scent) upon which we

looked from the platform of the Town Hall on this memor-

able occasion, mado up ns it was of such different elements,

each race and creed easily recognizable from their different

costumes and characteristics, but ail united by the sumo

kindly desire to do honour to their departing friend, or

comrade, for there were a great munlair of old soldiers

present.

At each place that wo visited on our way to Calculi a

there was the same display of kindly regret at our de-

parture; friends assembled to see us off at tho railway -
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stations, bands played ‘ Auld lang syne,’ and hearty cheers

speeded us on our way.

In February wo went to Lucknow for a few days,

when the Talukdars of Oudh gave my wife and me an

entertainment on a very splendid scale in the Wingfield

Park, and presented mo with an address* and a sword of

honour.

On our return to Calcutta, just before we left for England,

the European community entertained me at a dinner, at

which more than two hundred were present, presided over

by Sir James Mackav, K.C.I.E., Chairman of the Calcutta

Chamber of Commerce. Sir .Tames was far too kind and

eulogistic in speaking of my services, but for his appre-

ciative allusion to my wife I could only feel deeply gratified

and thankful. After dinner a reception was given to Lady

Roberts and myself, at which the Viceroy and Lady Lans-

downe and all the principal Native and European residents

of Calcutta were assembled. An addresst was presented to

me on this never-to-be-forgotten occasion, in which, to my

supremo satisfaction, the Native noblemen and gentlemen

expressed their h&arty approval of what had been done

during my tenure of office as Coiumander-in-Chief to

strengthen the defences of the frontier and render theanny

in India efficient, and declared that ‘ we cheerfully bear

our sharo of the cost, as in possession of these protections

against aggressions from without wo believe all who dwell

within the borders of the land will find their best guarantee

peace, and in peace the best safeguard they and their

children can possess to enable them to pass their lives in

* Given in tlm Appendix. t Ihui.
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happiness and prosperity, and escape the misery and ruin

which follow war and invasion.'

We travelled to Bombay rid Jeypur and Jodhpur. At

both places we were royally entertained by the Billers of

those states, and my staff and I were given excellent sport

amongst the wild boar, which was much enjoyed by all,

particularly by my son, who, having joined the King’s

Boval Bides at Bawal Pindi, was attached to me as A.D.C.

duringmy last six months in India, and had not before had

an opjiortunity of tasting the joys of pig-sticking.

At Jodhpur my friend the Maharaja Sir Pertap Sing

gave us u signal proof that the ancient valour of the

Bajputs has not deteriorated in the present day. 1 had

wounded a fine boar, and on his making for some rocky

ground, where I could hardly have followed him on horse-

back, I shouted to Sir Pertap to get lietween him and the

rocks, and turn him in my direction. The Maharaja

promptly responded, but just as he came face-to-face, with

the l>oar, his horse put his foot into a hole and fell ; the

infuriated animal rushed on the fallen rider, and, before

the latter could extricate himself, gave him a severe wound

in the leg with his formidable tushes. On going to his

assistance, I found Sir Pertap bleeding profusely, but

standing erect, facing the boar and holding the creature

(who was upright on his hind-legs) at arms' length by his

inouth. The spear without the impetus givon by the horse

at full speed is not a very effective woapon against the

tough hide of a boar’s back, and on realizing that mine

did not make much impression, Pertap Sing, letting go his

hold of the boar’s mouth, quickly seized his hind-legs, and

turned him over on Ins back, crying :
* Mam, mhih,

hi fit'"-
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(‘ Strike, air, strike !’) wliich I instantly did, and killed him.

Anyone who is able to realize the strength and weight of

a wild boar will appreciate the pluck and presence of mind

of Sir Pertap Sing in this performance. Fortunately, my
wife and daughter, who had been following the pig-Btickers

in a light cart, were close at hand, and we were able to

drive my friend home at once. The wound was found to be

rather a bad one, but it did not prevent Sir Pertap from

attending some tent-pegging and other amusements in the

afternoon, though he had to be carried to the scene.

A few months after my return to England the boar’s

head arrived, set up, and with a silver plate attached to it,

on which was an inscription commemorating the adventure.

At Ahmedabad. where the train stopped while we, lunched,

I was presented with an address by the President and

members of the Municipality, who. ‘ with loyal devotion to

Her Imperial Majesty the Queen and Empress of India, to

whose glorious reign we sincerely wish a continuance of

brilliant prosperity,' expressed their hope that Lady

Roberts and I would have ‘ a lmppy voyage home and

enjoyment of porfdfct health and prosperity in future.’

The day before we left Bombay for England, the

members of the Byculla Cluh gave, me a parting dinner.

It wab with great difficulty I could got through my speech

in response to the toast of my health on that occasion, for,

pleased and grateful as I was at this last mark of friend-

8hip and approval from my countrymen, l could not help

feeling inexpressibly Had and deeply depressed at the

thought uppermost in my mind, that the time had come

to separate myself from India and my gallant comrades

“nd friends, British and Native.
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In dwelling on the long list of farewell addresses and

entertainments with which I was honoured on leaving

India, 1 feel that I may l>e laying myself open to the

charge of egotism ; but in writing of one’s own experiences

it is difficult to avoid being egotistical, and distasteful as it

is to me to think that I may be considered so, I would

rather that, than that those who treated me so kindly and

generously should deem me unmindful or ungrateful.

Thus ended forty-one years in India. No one can, 1

think, wonder that I left the country with heartfelt regret.

The greater number of my most valued friendships had

been formed there ; from almost everyone with whom I had

been associated, whether Kuropean or Native, civilian or

soldier, I had experienced unfailing kinduess, sympathy,

and support ;
and to the discipline, bravery, and devotion

to duty of the Army in India, in peace and war, I felt

that I owed whatever success it was my good fortune to

achieve.
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Thk column was composed as follow* : Men. Ouvs.

F Battery, A Brigade, U.1I.A., commanded by Colonel

W. Sterling 185 6

One squadron 10th Hussars, commanded by Major

Bulkeley ... ... ... ... ... 102

(i Battery, 3rd Brigade, U.A., eoininauded by Major

Sydney Parry ... ... ... ... 88 8

2nd Battalion 8th Foot, commanded by Colonel Barry

Drew ... ... ... ... ... 020

Wing 72nd Highlander*, commanded by Lieutenant-

( 'olonel F. Brownlow ... ... ... 405

Total British troops ... ... 1,345 9

12th Bengal Cuvalr\. eoniinanded by ('olonel Hugh

Gough, V.C.

No. 1 Mountain Battery, commanded by Captain Kelso

7th Company Bengal Sappers and Miners ...

2nd (Punjab Frontier Force) Infantry, ronmmnded by

Lieutenant-Colonel T>ndall ...

5tb (Punjab Frontier Force) Infantr\, commanded by

Major McQueen
5th (Punjab Frontier Force) Gurkhas, commanded by

Major Fitz-llugh

21st Punjab Infantry, commanded by Major Collis ...

2ttrd Pioneers, commanded by Colonel Currie

29th Punjab Infantry, commanded by ('olonel •!. •!.

Gordon

337

186

118

647

502

438

496

650

671

Total natives 3.990 4

13
Grand total
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Lieutenant-Colonel Alexander Lindsay commanded the Artillery.

Colonel J2neas Perkina was Commanding ltoyal Engineer. Colonel

Hugh Gough commanded the Cavalry, Brigadier-Generals Cohbc

(17th Foot) and Thelwull (21st Punjab Infantry) the two Infantry

brigades. Major W. Galbraith (83th Foot) was Assistant-Adjutant-

General; Major H. Collett, Assistant, and Captains 'Dick* Kennedy

and F. Carr, Deputy-Assistant-Quartermasters-General. Captains G.

de C. Morton and A. Scott, V.C., 1 brigade - Majors. Captain A.

Badcock, Chief Commissariat officer ; Captain J. Colquhoun, It. A.,

Commissary of Ordnance ; Major Moriarty, Captain Goad, and Lieu-

tenant F. Maisey, Transport officers ; Captain A. Wynne (51st Foot),

Superintendent of Field Telegraphs; Captain It. Woodthorpc, li.K.,

Superintendent of Surveys ; Deputy - Surgeon - General F. All* n,

Principal Medical officer ; lle\. .T. W. Adams, Chaplain.
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(Referred to lit |». 104.)

Tnnixfotion of o letter from Major - Gknehal Sir Frederick

Roberts to Hi* Hir/bit H* thk Amir of Kabul.

Alikiiel, 18 th Sejitember
, 1879.

(After tilt usual compliments.) Your Highness's letter of the 28th

Ramazan. with the enclosure* from Herat and Turkestan, reached me

lu-t night. J lmvc acquainted myself with the contents. I am glad to

find ypur Highness is in good health, but sorry to hear of the un-

fortunate disturbances in your Highness s dominions. Your Highness’s

letter, in original, 1ms been sent with enclosures to His Excellency the

Yiccrox. I have already informed \our Highness of the wishes of His

Excellency the Viceroy, and the reasons for the movements of the

llritish troops, and I have requested \our Highness to send a confi-

dential representative to my camp. I am awaiting a roply to that

letter, and the arrixal t>f your Highness's confidential representative.

In the meantime T have sent a Proclamation to the tribes, and letters

to some of the Logar maliks, your Highness s subjects, to assure

those not concerned in the hateful massacre, and asking them for

assistance in carriage and supplies on paxmeut. As it appears to me

proper I should inform your Highness of what I have done, I enclose

copies of the Proclamation to the tribes and of my letter to the Logar

maliln, and hopo that your Highness may also issue necessary orders

for the furtherance of our plans. Rest. assured of the support of the

(iovermnent of India.
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Xi>t,8 of an infercuw hvttccen Gknfkal Sir Frkdkkkk Roukrth a ml

the Amir’s Auknts, MrsT\rri IIahibulla Khvn and Wazik Sii\h

Makomki» Khan. Dated Alikhkl, 23rd September, 1H79.

AriKR compliments, General Huberts intimated to the Agents tlmt at

their desire he had granted them a second interview. He now requested

them to be good enough to speak freely all that they wished him to

know.

The MrsiTiL’Fl then spoke in the following sense: The interest* nf

Kngland and Afghanistan are the same, and the Amir and hi* officials

are deeply grieved at the late occurrence* in KubuL Moreo\cr, tin*

Aiuir i* anxious to do \vhat**v« r the Rritinh Government wishes, and

most desirous that the dignity of the Rritish Government should hi

maintained by any means wliich may seem proper to the Viceroy, llut

Hi* Highness cannot conceal from himsedf that the mutinous troopf*

and the people in general, ryots as well as solders, are in fear of an

indiscriminate revenge, which will fall alike upon innocent and guilty.

He hopes, therefore, that measures will be taken to guard against the

possibility of a general rising consequent on fear.

The Mustaufi was here reminded of the tenor of General Roberts <

reclamation of 15th September. He answered that the people were

too ignorant to lw >u*U»d upon by a Proclamation, and then went on as

follows :

Of course, it is possible that no such combination may take place.

The Afghans an* selfish, and divided against themselves. Still* lest he

should be blamed if it should occur, the Amir thinks it right to express

his opinion, and give the ltrilish Government all the information in

his power. On the whole, his advice, as an earnest friend, is that the

advance of a llritish force on Kabul should be delayed for a short tins-
1

(*• Vanjrnz "). In tin interval he will endeavour to disarm the Regular
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troops, raise now levies, and, by the aid of the latter, punish all
concerned in the lute abominable outrage. His idea is fc0 get rid of
Sher Ali’s soldiery- -always a source of danger—and keep only 15,000
men for tho future. It would be very desirable to delay the advance
until he could establish his power. The Amir does not mean to imply
that any Afghan army, were it 50.000 strong, could resist the British.

The mutinous troops have neither organization nor loaders. But the
mutinous troops are of all tribes; and it the British army destroys

them, as it would undoubtedly do in ease of resistance, the whole
country may combine against the British and the Amir. It is for this

reason that he advise s dihiv. and that the punishment of the guilty be

left to him. The Viceroy may rest assured that he will show no
mercy. He will make an example which will be conspicuous in the

eves of the world as the sun at uouiiduy. Already everyone in Kabul
regards the Amir as an infidel, because of the wav in which he and his

have thrown in their lot with the British Government.

Notwithstanding all that lias been said, however, things might go

right if the mutinous troops would keep togetliei and attempt a stand.

But the Amir fears tin \ will not do so. They are more likely to

scatter here and then . and iuise the country. In that case there will

be constant attacks i>n the coiikinunications of the force, and the

gathering of supplies w ill be difficult- Tiny would come chiefly from

the direction ot (ilm/ni. partly also from Logar. If the tribes rise it

would he hard to colli ct them. Only one month remains before the

setting in of winter. Of course, it is impossible to say what may
happen. There may be no opposition, and the Amir is in any case

ready to do what the British tiov eminent desires. But he feels it is his

duty to express his strong opinion that the present season is unsuited

for a forward movement.

General Kom-.uis replied that 011 behalf of the Viceroy he

thanked the Amir for fits kind advice, which he was confident was the

advice of a friend. He said the matter was important, and required

careful consideration, and asked whether the Agents had anything

more to bring forward.

The Muhtaufi then spoke us follows: The Amir’s advice to delay the

advance is that of a sincere friend, and it is the best he cun give. But

If the British Army is to march on Kabul, there is one thing more

^hich I am desired to say : lot it inarch in such strength as to crush

hopes of mischief, and put down nil rebellion throughout the

country. You cannot wait for reinforcements. If you come, you must

come in full strength—in sufficient strength to put down all opposition.

There may be no opposition, but you cannot count on this.

General Roberts replied : The Amir's adv ice is of great importance,

vol. 11 . 62
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and must be carefully considered. When His Highness first wrote,

announcing the outbreak at Kabul and asking for help, the first

desire of the Viceroy was to send British forces without delay. I

was ordered to Kurain at once to lead the force here. Simul-

taneously the Kandahar force was ordered by telegram to return

to Kandahar, which it was then leaving, and to advance towards

Kelat-i-Ghilxai, and instructions were issued to collect a third force

at Peshawar; all this was to help the Amir. The Viceroy from

the first contemplated the possibility of such a general rising as the

Amir now fears, and the soveral armies were, therefore, by His

Excellency's order, made up to such strength that all Afghanistan

combined could not stand against them for a moment. The Kandahar

troops were ready in a very short time, and are now beyond Kandahar,

on the road to Kabul.* The Peshawar force v\ as rapidly collected And

pushed on ; and the Amir may rest assured that the British army is

advancing in ample strength. I will think over the Amir’s advice,

nevertheless, for it is important. Hut His Highness must remember

that the late occurrences at Kabul do not affect only the English

officers and the fifty or sixty men who were treacherously killed - the

honour of the English Government is concerned ; and so long as the

bodies of these officers and men remain iinburied or nneared for in

Kabul, I do not believe the English people will ever be satisfied. They

will require the advance of a British force, and the adequate punishment

of the crime. Still, the Amir's advice, which I am convinced is that

of a friend, must be carefully considered, and 1 will think over it ami

give an answer later.

The Mustaitfi then said: We quite understand nhat has been said

about the strength of the British army. Doubtless it is sutticiont, ami

all Afghanistan could not stand against it. But the Amir asked us to

mention, what I have hitherto forgotten, that there are in Turkestan

24 regiments of Infantry, 6 of Cavalry, and 50 guns. These troops

were the first to show a disaffected spirit at Maxar-i-SImrif ;
ami

putting aside external enemies, there are Abdur Rahman and the son 1*

of Azim Khan waiting their chance. Herat again is doubtful ;
when

the troops there hear what Iiah occurred at Kabul, there is no saying

what they may do. If Ahdur Rahman ingratiates himself with these

people, Herat and Turkestan will be permanently severed from the

Afghan dominions. This is another reason why the advance of the

British force should be delayed, in order that the Amir may have time

to gun over the Herat and Turkestan troops.

Obxbral Roberts replied: All these reasons will havo full con*

* The Agents here seemed surprised and anxious,—H. M. D.



APPENDIX III. 467

sideration. The Viceroy’s first order was to push on at once to help

the Amir ; but I am sure His Highness’s advice is friendly, and that

in any cose he will do his utmost to co-operate with the British

Government. Therefore every consideration will be given to what

His Highness has desired you to say.

The Mustaufi : The Viceroy may bo sure the Amir will do what he

pleases.

The Wa/.ih : When the Amir learnt from General Roberts’s letter

that the Viceroy had given General Roberts power to deal with the

whole matter, he was very pleased, knowing General Roberts’s character

as a soldier and his kindness of heart.

General ltohekts replied that lie would carefully consider the

proposals brought forward, and give an answer later on. Meanwhile,

he must request the Agents to stay a day or two in camp until he

should have thoroughly weighed the Amir’s ad\ice, which was of the

utmost importance to both the British and Afghan Governments.

The interview then came to an end.

(Signed) H. M. DVHAXD,
Political Secretary to General Roberts, K.C.B., V.C.,

Commanding Kabul Field Force.
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From Likuten'ant-Ukskkal Sik !•’. Coiikuts. K.C.H.. V.C., ('mnmand
ing Kabul Field Force, to A. ('. Lyai.i., Ksg., C.H., Serretaru t<>

the Government of India. Fotenjn Depart meat .

Kmiul. 22m/ November.

1. I havk the honour to submit a brief account of im interview

which took place between the Amir Yakub Khun uud myself on the

22nd October. The interview wus a private and informal one; hut

recent events have lent some inti rent to what passed on the occasion

and I have, therefore, thought it desirable that a report should Ik

prepared for the information of the (io\crnor-< leneral in Council.

2. After some conversation upon mutter* of no special iuqHirtanef.

the Amir introduced his father's name, and thus gave me the

opportunity I had often wished to have of leading him on to speak

naturally and unconstraim dl\ about Slier Ala Khan's feeling* ami

policy during the last ten yearn. I was most careful to avoid miv

expression of my own views upon the subject in order that I might, if

possible, obtain from the Amir a perfectly spontaneous mid truthful

account of the circumstances which led. in his opinion, to Slier Ah'"

estrangement from ourselves and rapprochement to Hussia. In thi* 1

think I succeeded. Yakub Khan spoke readilv and freely of all that

had passed, and needed no question or suggestion from me to declare

his conviction regarding the cause of his father's unfricudlv attitude

towards us during the past few years.

8. The substance of the Amir's statement was us follows :

4 In 1869 my father was fully prepared to throw in his lot will* vou-

He had suffered many reverse* Indore making himself secure on the

throne of Afghanistan ; and ho had conic to the conclusion that hi*

best chance of holding wliat ho had won lay in an alliance with the

British Government. He did not receive from Lord Mayo as large a
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supply of iirinK and ammunition ,m ho had hoped, but, nevertheless ho

rr»“ "»> - »
Saiyad Nur Mulmm.m.d to India in 1878. This visit brought matters
to a head lhe d.arioH rm-iw.1 from Saiyad Nur Mahomed during
h.s May in India, and the report which he brought back on his return
convinced ,ny father that he could no longer hope to obtain from the
Hritinl. Government all the aid that he wanted

; and from that time he
began to turn his attention to the thoughts of a Russian alliance. You
know how this ended.

• AY hen my father received from tin- Government of India the letter
informing him that it llritish Mission was about to proceed to Kabul
be read it out in durbar. The numbers of the Russian Embassy were
present. After the reading was finished. Colonel StolictofT rose, saluted
the Amir and twkrd permission to leave Kabul. If permitted, he
would, lie said, travel without delu\ to Tashkent, and report the state
of affairs to General Kauffinann. who would inform the Czar, and thus
biing pressure to bear on England, lie promised to return in six
weeks or two months, and urged the Amir to do everything in bis
power menuwhile to prevent tin- Rritish Mission from reaching Kabul.

( oloiiel Stolietoff never returned to Kabul. lie lost no time in
reaching Tashkent, when* lie remained for a few weeks, and he then
started for Russia.

,r
lho Afghan ollieial. Alir/a Mahomed Hassan Khan, generally

known hh the " I>nhir iil-Mulk.’* who had travelled with Colonel
blolietoff from the Oxus to Kabul, accompanied him on his return
journey to Tashkent. Here tin* Mir/a was detained under pretence

that orders would shortlv he received from the Emperor, until the news
of my father's flight from Kabul reached General Kauffinann. He wns
then permitted to lcnv« . Two Aides-de-camp wore sent with him, one
a Europe;an, the other a Native of llokhnrn.

* My father was strongly \ivg« d bv General Kauffnmnn not to leave

Kabul. At the same time the members of the Embassy were ordered
to return to Tashkent, the Doctor being permitted to remain with my
father if his services were required.

4

Throughout, the Russian Emhassv was treated with great honour,
*nd at all stations between Mn/nr-i-SharitT and Kabul, orders were
Hivcn for the troops to turn out, and for a salute to be fired on their

arrival and departure.*

^ I cannot, of course, vouch for the exact words used by Yakub Khan,
but I am confident that the foregoing paragraph, which is written from
notes taken at the time, contains a substantially accurate record of the

conversation.

b* It Would be supe rfluous for mo to advance any proof of the fact
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that for one reason or another, 8hcr Ali did during the latter part of

his reign fall away from us and incline towards an alliance with Russia.

But I think the closeness of the connexion between Russia and Kabul,

and the extent of the Amir's hostility towards ourselves, has not

hitherto been fully recognized. Yakub Khan's statements throw some
light upon this question, and they are confirmed by various circum-

stances which have latch come to my knowledge. The prevalence of

Russian coin and wares in Kabul, and the extensile military prepara-

tions made by Slier Ali of late years, appear to me to afford an in-

structive comment upon Yakub Khan's assertions. Our recent rupture

writli Slier Ali has, in fact, been the means of unmasking and checking

a very serious conspiracy against the peace and security of our Indian

Empire.

6. The magnitude of Slier Ali's military preparations is, in my
opinion, a fact of peculiar significance. I have already touched upon
this point in a former letter, but I shall perhaps In- excused for noticing

it again. Before the outbreak of hostilities la^t \ ear the Amir hud
raised and equipped with arms of precision 6H regiments of Infantry and
16 of Cavalry. The Afghan Artillery amounted to nearly 800 guns.

Numbers of skilled artt/aii* were constantly employed in the iminufac-

ture of rifled cannon and hrecch-loading small arms. More than a

million pounds of powder, and I bchc\c several million rounds of home-
made Snider fiimiiiim t ion. were in the lhila Hissar at the time of the

late explosion. Sword-*, helmets, uniforms, and other articles of

military equipment ucie stored in proportionate quantities. Finally,

Sher Ali had expended upon the construction of the Slierpur canton-

ments an astonishing amount of labour and money. The extent and

cost of this work may be judged of from the faetjhat the whole of the

troops under my command will find ro\cr during the winter within the

cantonment, and the bulk of them in the main line of riunpart itself,

which extends to n length of nearly two miles under the southern

and western slopes of the Bimam hills. Slur Ali’s original design

was apparently to carry the wall entirely round the hills, a distance

of nearly five miles, and the foundations were already laid for a

considerable portion of this length. All these military preparations

were quite unnecessary except as a provision for contemplated

hostilities with ourselves, and it is difficult to understand how their

entire cost could have been met from the Afghan treasury, the gross

revenue of the country amounting only to about eighty Iocs of rupees

per annum.

7. I have referred to the prevalence of Russian coin and wares in

Kabul as evidence of the growing connexion between Russia and

Afghanistan, f osn unable to find proof that the Csar** coin
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introduced in any other way than by the usual channels 0! trade. It

is quite possible that the bulk of it, if not the whole, came in gradually

by this means, the accumulation of foreign gold in particular being

considerable in this country, where little gold is coined. Nevertheless,

it seems to me a curious fact that the amount of Russian money in circu-

lation should be so large. No less than 18,000 gold pieces were found

among the Amir's treasure alone
;
similar coins are exceedingly common

in the city bazaar ;
and great numbers of them arc known to be in posses-

sion of the Sirdars. Of course English goods of all kinds arc plentiful

here—that is inevitable, particularly with a considerable body of Hindu

merchants settled in the city, but Russian goods also abound. Glass,

crockery, silks, tea, and many other things which would seem to be far

more easily procurable from India than from Russian territory, arc to

be found in great quantities. A habit, too, seems to have been growing

up among the Sirdars and others of wearing uniform* of Russian cut,

Russian buttons, Russian boots and the like. Russian goods and

Russian wavs seem, in foet. to have become the fashion in Afghanistan.
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(R#»!*‘ir«l to at p. *J48.)

Translations of letters from Uknkkal-Adjutant Von Kauffmann,

Governordienrral of Turkestan, to the address of the Amir ok

Afghanistan, received on lOf/t Shaban, 1205, through Gknkiml

Stolibtoff, 9th August , 1H7H.

B* it known to you that in thesis da.\s the relations between the British

Government and ours with regard to your kingdom require deep con-

sideration. As I am unable to communicate my opinion verbally to

you. I have deputed my agent. Major General Stolietoff. This gentle-

man is a near friend of mine, and performed excellent services in the

late Russo-Turkish war, by which he earned favour of the Emperor.

The Emperor lias always had a regard for him. He will inform \ou

of all that is hidden in my mind, f hope you will pay great attention

to what he says, and believe him n* you would myself, and, after due

consideration, you will give him your reply. Mdmwhile, be it known

to you that your union and friendship with the Russian Government

will be beneficial to the latter, and still more so to you. The advantages

of a close alliance with the Russian Government will be permanently

evident.

This friendly letter is written by the Governor-General of Turkestan

and Adjutant-General to the Emperor. Von Kauffmann. Tashkent.

Jautodial Akbar, 1295 (=June, 1878).

To the Amir of the whole of Afghanietan, 8HUR ALI Khan.

(Alter compliments.) Be it known to you that our relations with the

British Government are of great importance to Afghanistan and its

dependencies. As I am unable to see you, 1 have deputed uiy trust-

worthy (official) General Htolieteff to you. The General is an old

friend of mine, and during the late Russo-Turkish war earned the favour
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of the Emporor by hiH spirit and bravery. He has become well known

to the Emperor. This trustworthy person will communicate to you

whftt ho thinks best. I hope you will pay attention to what he says,

and repose as much confidence in his words as if they were my own;

and that you will give vour answer in this matter through him. In the

meantime, be it known to you that if a friendly treaty will be of benefit

to us, it will be of far greater benefit to yourself.

General Stoliktoff sent the following Utter
,
on his return to Tash-

kent from Kabul, to the address of the Foreign Minister, Wazir

Shah Maiiomkd Khan, daled'ZArd if the holy month ofRamazan,

1295 (~ 21af September, 1878 ).

Thank God, I reached Tashkent safely, and at an auspicious moment

paid my respect to the Viceroy (Yarom Padishah means ‘ half king’).

I am trying day and right to gain our objects, and hope I shall be

successful. I am starting to see the Emperor to-day, in order to inform

His Majesty personally of our affairs. If God pleases, everything that

is necessary will be done and affirmed. I hope that those who want

to enter the gate of Kabul from the east will see that the door is

elosed ; then, please Hod ,
they trill tremble . 1 hope you will give my

respects to His Highness the Amir. May God make his life long and

increase his wealth ! May you remain in good health, and know that

the protection of God will arrange our affairs

!

(Signed) General Stoliktoff.

From Uknkkal K u pi-'MSs /«• thr Amik. ./«/<’</ TaMrnl. Hf/i Zekadtt,

129.', 1 - ‘Win/ October, 1H7H).

(After compliment*.f He it known to you that your letter, dated

12th Shawal, reached me at Tashkent on the 10th October, i.e.,

8rd Zekada, and I understood it* contents. 1 have telegraphed an

abstract of your letter to the address of the Emperor, and have sent

the letter itaeU. tut also that addressed to General Stohetoff. by post to

Livadia, where tho Emperor now is. 1 am informed on good authority

that the English want to come to terms with you : and, as a fnenit,

advise you to make peace with them if they offer it

.

From Gknkk.vl Ktoliktokk to Wazir Shaii Maiiomkd Kiivx. rf*r

HfA October, 187H.

First of all, I hope you will be kind enough to gi\e m>
.

Amir. May God make his life long and increase his \\ea i •

always remember his royal hospitality. 1 nm busy 1 «> “K
jt^ affairs, ami, thank God, my labours have not been wi i
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The grant Emperor is a true friend of the Amir's and of Afghanistan,

and His Majesty will do whatever lie may think necessary. Of course,

you have* not forgotten what I told you, that the affairs of kingdoms
are like a country which has many mountains, \ allots, and rivers. One
who sits on a high mountain can see things well. Hy the pow*er nnd

order of God, there is no empire equal to that of our great Emperor.

May God make his life long! Therefore. whufevcr our Government
advises you, you should give ear to it. I tell you the truth that our

Government U wise as a serpent and hainiless as a dove. There are

many things which you cannot uiuh rstatid. but our Government under-

stands them well. It often happens that a thing which is unpleasant

at tir*t is regarded as a blessing afterwards. Now. my kind friend, 1

inform you that the enemy of your famous religion wants to mukr
peace with you through the Kuisar (Sultan) of Tui key. Therefore you

should look to your brothers who live on the other side of the ri\cr. If

God stirs them up. and gi\es the swoid of tight into their hands, then

go on, in the nniuc of God (Uismilliti. otherwise urn should he as a

serpent; make peace openly, and in -«eeiet prepare for war. and when

God reveals llis order to you. declan \ ourself. It will he well, when

the Envoy of your enemy wants to entei the country. if you send on

able emissary, possessing the tongue of a seipenl and full of deceit, to

the enemy’s country, so that lie may with sweet wonls perplex tin*

enemy's mind, nnd induce him to gi\e up the intention of lighting

with you.

My kind friend, f entrust \ on to the plot* etion of find. Ma> God

be the protector of the Amir's Kingdom, ami nm\ trembling full upon

the limbs of your enemies ! Amen.

Write to me soon, and send t hi* letter to th* capital. I'lni^e write

in Arabic characters, so that I ma\ !>* able to read your lettei.

Erirm Gknkku. Ku kfmvnn t" thr \mik ot AhnuNhr\N . Jatnl
mMh

'/»• harfn ( .VoreiwArr. 1 m7Hj.

(After compliments.) I wnsuuieh pleased to rerei\e your letter, dated

Wth Zekada, 1295 f=lHth November. 1*7H), ami to hear i»f your good

health. I have also received a copy of the 1* tier which you sent to the

Governor General May God he pleased with you. Tin* British

Ministers have given a pleilge to our Ambassador in l^ondon that tli*\\

will not interfere* with the independence of Afghanistan. I nm directed

by His Majesty the Emperor to communicate this news to you. and

then, after forming friendship, to go to 11U Majesty. 1 intend to go

the Itiuisian capital after I have arranged the affairs of this country

(Turkestan). As 1 do not consider it advisable to keep your trusty

officials, whom yon are m want of, here any more, I send Mahon 111
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IlARsan Khan, Kftimmh (Deputy-Governor), and Gholam Haidar Khan,

with two officers, back to you. I hope you will consider me a well-

wisher of your kingdom, and write to me now and then. I have given

instructions that, until nrv return, everj letter of yours which they

receive at Turkestan should he forwarded to the capital. Your good

fortune is a cause of happiness to me, and if any troubles come upon

\ou l also shall be grieved. Some presents have been sent by me

through Mir/.tt Mahomed llassan. Kainuah
;
perhaps they may be

accepted.

Translation of a Irth-r from Gknmivl Kaikfmann to Gkxkral Voz-

ooNOt'K, flatrrl Xrt Hij/a. VISJ"> i- Decnnher, 1878).

The Amir knows perfeeth u ell that it i> impossible for me to assist him

with troops in u inter. Therefore it is necessary that war should not

he commenced at this unseasonable time. If the English. in spite of

the \mir's exertions to avoid the war. commence it. ,vou must then

take* leave of the Amir and stmt for T.i-hkent. bemuse your presence

in Afghanistan in winter i" u-.less. Moreover, at such a juncture as

the co.nn.ence.nent of war in Afghanistan, you ought to come here and

explain the whole thing to in. . so that 1 may communicate it to the

Emperor. This w ill he of grout h. netit to Afghanistan and to Kussia.

Frow (irskiixi. Ku tvMvNN In Ihr Aunt »» Akui.amstas.dated 26ft

Iher in lii r. 187* iliusMiin. VMh Muhiirrmii. 1296).

Your letter. dated 27th /el lltjja t - 20th Non emb.Tl, 1878,h«s reached

me. I was pleased to hear tidings of your good health. 'lhcEmpeior

lias caused the British C.ove.nnimt to agree to the. continuance- of

Afghan indepentlener. The English Ministers have P‘onnscd th».

1 earnestly re.,nest yo.T not to h ave your kingdom. As far as pos..hle,

consider your own interests, and do not h,-e your independence, lor

the present come to terms with the Ihitish fiov eminent. .

not want to go hack to Kabul for this purpose, you can wri .

son. Mahomed Yaknh Khan, to make peace with the Engl,sh as ou

may direct him. Do not have the soil of Afghanistan a f tmie.

liecanse it will he of benefit U> von. My words are not wiUnml truth,

because your arrival in Itussiwi territory w ill nia 'e t nng

fm. Gknkhal K».m.»*» ... 4- .» '»»“““• mr,W **

Mmir-i-Shiirif on Ihr 17 th J<n,uitnj, 1H.9.

1 have received your friendly letter, dated 1.1th Z.l H'ii®
A ,TOOi»

cember. 1878). In that letter you asked me «oscn<
cffect that

ft* could be got ready. I bivw "ritkn to >ou ft c

tbc Kmperor. on account of your troubles b»d commumm
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British Government, arid that the Russian Ambassador at London had
obtained a promise from the British Ministers to the effect that they

would not injure the independence of Afghanistan. Perhaps you sent

your letter before you got mine. Now, 1 have heard that you have

appointed your son, Mahomed Yakub, as your Regent, und have conio

out of Kabul with some troops. I ha\e received an order from the

Emperor to the effect that it is impossible to assist you with troops

now. I hope you will be fortunate. It all depends on the decree of

God. Relieve me, that the friendship which I made with you will be

perpetual. It is necessary to send back General Yo/gonotT and his

companions. You can keep l)r. Yimilski with you if you please. No
doubt the doctor will be of use to you and to your dependents. I hope

our friendship will continue to be strengthened, and that intercourse

will be carried on between us.

From Gknkkvl Kaiffmins to /hr Aunt Siiki: Am. dated 2W/i Drrent -

hrr, 1N7H
(
= 17f/i Aiuharram, 121)6).

(After compliments.) The Foreign Minister. General Gortchakoff. has

informed me hv telegraph that the Kmpenu* lias directed me to trouble

you to come to Tashkent fnr the present. I therefore communicate

this news to you with great pleasure ; at the same time. I may mention

that I have received no insti net ions about your journey to St. Petersburg.

My personal interview with you will increase our friendship greatly.

Translation of a Irttrr from Majok-Gknkkal I vanon-, Govrrnor of

Zarafshan , to thr Hrtr-Apparrtit, Mahomkd Mi ha Kiian, and

others .

On the 26th of Rabi-ul-Avvu), at an auspicious moment. I received

your letter which you sent me, and understood its contents. 1 was

very much pleased, and at once communicated it to General Kauff-

mann, the Governor-General. With regard to what you wrote about

the friendly relations between the Russian and Afghan Governments,

and your own desire for friendship. I have the honour to -date that we

are also desirous of being friends. The friendship between the two

Governments existed in the time of the late Amir, and I hope that it

will be increased and strengthened by Amir Mahomed Yakifb Khan.

May God change the wars in your country to 'happiness : inav peace

reign in it ; and may your Government be strengthened ! I have been

forwarding all your letters to the Gov emor'General. General Kaufl&naon.

May God keep you safe !

The Zarafshan Province Governor,

MaJOUGkNKHAL IVANWK.

Written and sealed by the General.

Written on 29th Mart (March). 1H79 <=5th Rnbl-ul-Sam. 1290).
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Treaty between the Busman Government awl Amir Sher Am Khan •

written from memory by Mirza Mahomed Nabri.

1. Tho Bossinn Government onga^ that the friendship of the
Bussian Government with the (ion-roment of Amir SherAliKhan
Amir of all Afghanistan, will he a penmment and perpetual one.

2. The ltussiim Government engages that, as Sirdar Abdulla Khan,
son of the Amir, is dead, the friendship of the Russian Government
with any person whom the Amir may appoint Heir-Apparent to the
throne of Afghanistan, and with the heir of the Heir-Apparent, will

remain firm and perpetual.

3. The Russian Government engages that if any foreign enemy
attack* Afghanistan, and the Amir is unable to drive him out, and asks

the assistance of tho Russian Government. the Russian Government

will repel the enemy . either by nu mm of ad\ ice. or by such other means
a* it nifty consider proper.

4. The Amir of Afghanistan will not wage war with any foreign

power without consulting the Rus-mi (iu\ eminent, and without its

permission.

5. The Amir of Afghanistan engages that he will always report in a

friendly manner to the Russian (muniment what goes on in his

kingdom.

6. The Amir of Afghani-tan will communicate every wish and im-

portant affair of his to Genual Kauffmann. Governor-General of

Turkestan, mid the Governor-General will be authorized by the Russian

Government to fulfil the wishes of the \inir.

7. The Russian (iovemment engages that the Afghan merchant* who

may trade and sojourn in Russian territory will be safe from wrong,

and that they will be flowed to carry away their profits.

H, Tlte Amir of Afghanistan will have the power to send his servants

to Russia to Irani arts and trades, and the Russian officers will treat

them with consideration and ie**|vect as men of rank.

9. (Does nut remember.)

10. I, Major-General Stolietoff Nicholas, being a trusted Agent of the

Russian Government, have made the above mentioned Articles between

the Russian Government and the Government of Amir Slier AH Khan,

and have put my seal to them,
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'Refellvd tn at |». 'US. ^

Letter from Sirdar Aiidur Rahman Kiian /*> Lm*kl Gitims, Ksq.,

dated 1 at ft April, 1HHO.

Whkrkas at this happy time I have leeeived \mir kiml letter. In a

spirit of justice ami friendship you wrote to inquire what I wislu d in

Afghanistan. My h<inoured friend, the s«»ivant- of the great Jhitish]

Government know well that, throughout these twel\e Nears of exile in

the territories of the Ktnpernr of Russia, night mid day I have cherished

th«* hope of revisiting my native land. When the late Amir Slier Ali

Khan died, and there was no one to rule our tiiln-s, I proposed to

return to Afghanistan, but it was not fated that 1 should do so]; then

I went to Tashkent. < 'onsequently, Amir Mahomed Yakub Khan,

having come to terms and made peace with the llritish Government,

was appointed Amir of Afghanistan ; but hiiic< , after he had left you,

he listened to the advice of every interested [dishorn st
]
person, and

raised fools to power, until the ignorant men directed the utTairs of

Afghanistan, which during the reign of my grandfather, who had

eighteen able sons, was so managed that night was bright like day,

Afghanistan was. in consequence. disgraced l>cfore all State's, and

mined. Now, therefore, that you seek to learn my hopes and wishes,

thtey are these : that as long as y our Kmpire and that of Russia exist,

my* countrymen, the tribes of Afghanistan, should live quietly in ease

and peace; that these two States should find us true and faithful, and

that we should rest at peace between them Knglnnd and Russia), for

my tribesmen arc unable to struggle with Kmpirrs and aie ruined

by want of commerce; and we hope of your friendship that, sym-

pathizing with and assisting the people of Afghanistan, you will pla*’0

them tinder the honourable protection of the two Towers. This would

redound to the rredit of both, would give peace to Afghanistan, nml

quiet and comfort to God's people.

This is my wish ; for the rest, it is yours to decide.
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Letter from A. <\ L\ u.i., F.sq., C*. II.. Secretary to the Government of

Judin, Karehjn Department, tn Lki-kl H. Griffin, Esq., C.S.I.,

Chief Political Officer, Kabul, dated Simla
,
April, 1880.

] havk the honour to inform \ ovi tli.it tin* Governor-General has

received anil considered in council .\our telegrams of the 22nd and

fclrd instant, forwarding the translation of a letter received by you

from Sirdar Abdur Kuhnian on the 21 m instant, together with a

BUiniimry of certain oral explanations which accompanied that letter,

anda statement of the recommendations suggested by it to Lieutenant-

General Sir Frederick Hubert* and yourself.

In conveying to you its instructions on the subject of this im-

portant coinrnunication. t lie Government of India considers it expedient

to recapitulate the principles on which it has hitherto been acting in

northom Afghanistan, jind clenrlv to define the point of view from

which it contemplate* the present situation of aftnir* in that country.

The single object to which, as v on are well aware, the Afghan policy

of thi* Government hit* at all tunes heen directed and limited, is the

security of the North-West frontier of India. The Government of

India lias, howexer, no less invanahlx lit Id and acted on the con-

viction that the security of this frontier is incompatible with the

intrusion of any foreign influence into the great border State of

Afghanistan. To exclude or eject Mich intlucncc the Government of

India ha* frequently Kub*idi/ed and otherwise assisted the Amir* of

Kabul. It had also, more than once, tak» n up arm* against them.

Hut it has never interfered, for anx other purpose, in the utTairs of

lho»r kingdom. Regulating on this principle and limiting to this

object the conduct of our relation* with the rulers of Kabul, it wa* our

^-continued endeavour to find in their friendship and their strength

lhe requisite guarantee* (or the security of our own frontier. 1 m inh
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in that endeavour, we were compelled to seek the attainment of the

object to which our Afghan policy was, and is still, exclusively directed,

by rendering the permanent security of our frontier as much as possible

independent of such conditions.

This obligation was not accepted without reluctance. Not even

when forced into hostilities by the late Amir Slier Ali Khan's espousal

of a Russian alliance, proposed by Russia in contemplation of a

rupture with the British Government, did we relinquish our desire for the

renewal of relations with a strong and friendly Afghan Power, and, when

the son of Slier Ali subsequently sought our alliance and protection, the\

were at once accorded to him, 011 conditions of which Ilia Highness

professed to appreciate the generosity. The crime, however, which

dissolved the Treaty of (iandaiuak, and the disclosures which followed

that event, finally con\ inced the Go\ eminent of India that tin interests

committed to its care could not but be gm\ely imperilled by further

adhesion to a policy dependent for its fruition on the gratitude, the

good faith, the assumed self-interest, or the porvonal character of anv

Afghan Prince.

When, therefore. Her Majesty’s troops re-entered Afghanistan in

September last, it was with two well-defined and plainly -a\ owed

objects. The first was to uxengc the treacherous massacre of the

British Mission at Kabul ; the second was to maintain the safeguard*

sought through the Treaty of Gandamak. by providing for their main-

tenance guarantees of a more substantial mid less precarious character.

These two objects liatc been attained: the- first by the capture of

Kabul and the punishment of the crime committed there, the second

by the severance of Kandahar fiom the Kabul power.

Satisfied with their attainment, the Government of India lias no

longer any motite or desiro to enter into fresh treaty engagement-

with the ltulcrs of Kabul. The arrangements and exchange of friendly

assurances with the Amir Mior Ali, though supplemented on the part

of the Government of India by subsidies and favours of various kindn.

wholly failed to secure the object of them, w hich was, nevertheless,

a thoroughly friendly one. and no less conducive to the security and

advantage of the Afghan than to those of the British Power. Tin

treaty with Yakub Khan, which secured to him our friendship an

material support, was equally ineffectual. Moreover, recent lV® ,,fc

and arrangements have fundamentally changed the situation to vi 1(1

1

our correspondence and engagements with the Amir of Afghftm® sn

formally applied. Our advance frontier positions at Kandahar an

Kuram liave materially diminished the political importance o 1

in relation to India, and although we shall always apprecia

friendship of its Ruler, our relations with him are now of
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importance to the paramount objects of our policy that we no Wcr
require to maintain British agents in any part of his dominions
Our only reasons, therefore, for not immediately withdrawing our

forces from northern Afghanistan have hitherto been—first, the excited
and unsettled condition of the country round Kabul, with the attitude
of hostility assumed by some leaders of armed gatherings near Ghazni;
and, secondly, the inability of the Kabul Sirdars to agree among them-
selves on the selection of a Ruler strong enough to maintain order
after our evacuation of the country.

The first-named of these reasons has now ceased to exist. In a
minute dated the :K>th ultimo, the Viceroy and Governor-General
stated that 4 the Government is anxious to withdraw as soon as possible

the troops from Kabul and from all points beyond those to be occupied
under the Treaty of Gandamak. except Kandahar. In order that this

may be done, it is desirable to find a Ruler for Kabul, which will be

separated from Kandahar. Steps,’ continued His Excellency, ‘ are

bein'* taken for this purpose. Meanwhile, it is essential that we
should make such a display of strength in Afghanistan as will show
that we are masters of the situation, and will overawe disaffection.’ . . .

‘All that is necessary, from a political point of view, is for General

Stewart to march to Ghazni, break up any opposition he may find

there or in the neighbourhood, and open up direct communication with

General Sir Frederick Roberts at Kabul/ The military operations thus

defined have been accomplished by General Stewart’s successful action

before Ghazni.

With regard to the second reason mentioned for the retention of our

troops in northern Afghanistan, the appearance of Abdur Rahman as a

candidate for the throng of Kabul, whose claims the Go\ eminent of

India has no cause to oppose, and who seems to be approved, and

likely to be supported, by at least a majority of the population, affords

fair ground for anticipating that our wishes in regard to the restoration,

before our departure, of order in that part of the country will now be

fulfilled.

The Governor*General in fonneil has consequently decided that the

evacuation of Kabul shall bo effected not later than October next, and

it is with special reference to this decision that the letter and message

undressed to you by Sirdar Abdur Rahman bate been carefully con-

sidered by Hi* Excellency in Council.
W hat first claims notice in the consideration of that letter is the desire

that it expresses for the permanent establishment of Afghanistan with

°ur assistance and sympathy under the joint protection of the British

Russian Empires. This suggestion, which is more fully developed

ln
Sirdar's unwritten message, cannot be entertained or discussed.

VOL, H. <>»
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As already stated, the primary object and declared determination

of the Government of India have been the exclusion of foreign influence

or interference from Afghanistan. This cardinal condition of amicable

relations with Afghanistan has, at all times and in all circumstances,

been deemed essential for the permanent security of Her Majesty’s

Indian Empire. As such, it hus hitherto been firmly maintained by

successive Governors-Ueneral of India under the explicit instructions

of Her Majesty’s Government. Nor has it ovor been ignored, or

officially contested, by the Russian Government. That Government,

on the contrary, has repeatedly, and under every recent change of

circumstances in Afghanistan, renewed the assurances soloundy given

to the Hritish Government that * Russia considers Afghanistan as

entirely beyond the sphere of her influence.

’

It is true that negotiations at one time passed between the two

Governments with a view to the mutual recognition of certain terri-

tories as constituting a neutral /.one between their respective spheres

of legitimate influence and action, anil that at one time it was proposed

by Russia to treat Afghanistan itself as a neutral territory. Those

negotiations, however, having proved fruitless, the northern frontier of

Afghanistan was finally determined by mutual agreement, and in lH7n

the Russian Government formally reiterated its adherence to the con-

clusion that. * while maintaining mi either side the arrangement come

to as regards the limits of Afghanistan, which is to remain outside the

sphere of Russian action, the two Cabinets should regard as terminated

the discussions relative to the intermediate /.one, which promised no

practical result.'

The position of Afghanistan a** defined and settled by these engage-

ment* was again distinctly affirmed oil behalf^if the Queen’s Govern-

ment by the Marquis of Salisbury in 1N7U. and the Government <>f

India unreservedly maintains it in the fullest conviction of its essential

necessity for the peaceable protection of Her Majesty's Indian

dominion*. It is therefore desirable that you should take occasion to

inform Abdur Rahman that the relations of Afghanistan to the Hrithh

and Russian Empire* are matters which the Government of Ind ,!l

must decline to bring into discussion with the Sirdar. The Afghnn

•tale* and tribe* are too contiguous with India, whoso North-Western

frontier they surround, for the Government of India evor willingly to

accept partnership with any other Power in the exercise of its legiti-

mate and recognized influence over those tribes and States.

The Governor-General in Council is, nevertheless, most anxious tlmj

the Sirdar should not misunderstand the light in which his persona

sentiment* and obligation* toward* Russia are regarded by t jc

Government of India. So long a* the Ruler* of Kabul were ameno
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to its advice, this Government has never ceased to impress on them
the international duty of scrupulously respecting all the recognized
rights and interests of their Russian neighbour, refraining from every
act calculated to afford the Russian authorities in Central Asia any
just cause of umbrage or complaint. The intelligence and good sense
which are conspicuous in the Sirdar’s letter and messages to you will
enable him to appreciate the difference between conduct regulated on
these principles and that which cost Slier AH the loss of his throne.

This Government does not desire, nor has it ever desired, to impose on
any Ruler of Kabul conditions incompatible with that behaviour which
Russia, as a powerful and neighbouring Empire, is entitled to expect

from him ; least of all can we desire to impose such conditions on a

Prince who lias received hospitality and protection in Russian territory.

I am therefore to obser\e that, in the natural repugnance expressed

by Abdur Rahman to conditions which 1 might make him appear un-

grateful ' to those 4 whose salt lie has eaten. ’ the Gmernor-General in

Council recognizes a sentiment altogether honourable to the Sirdar,

and perfectly consistent with the sincerity of his professed goodwill

towards ourselves.

These observations will furnish you with a sufficient answer to the

question asked by Abdur Rahman as to the * nature of our friendship
’

and 1
its conditions.’

The frankness with which lie has explained his position entitles him

to receive from us a no less unreserved statement of our own. The

Government of India cordially shares the wish expressed by Abdur

Rahman that, between the Hritish and Russian Empires, his ‘ tribes

and countrymen limy live quietly in ease and peace.’ We do not

desire to place them |n a position of unfriendliness towards a Powrer

which is pledged to us to regard their country as 1 entirely beyond the

sphere of its action.' The injur \ to Afghan commerce caused by the

present condition of Afghanistan, to which the Sirdar lias alluded, is

fully appreciated by the Government of India, and on the restoration

of peace between tin? two countries the revival and development of

trade intercourse need present no difficulty. As regards our own

friendship, it will, if sincerely sought, he freely given, and fully con-

tinued so long as it is loyally reciprocated. Rut wc attach to it no

other condition, Wc have no concessions to ask or make, and the

Sirdar will therefore iwrceivc that there is really no matter for

negotiation or bargain between him and it**.

On this point your reply to Abdur Rahman cannot be too explicit.

Previous to the* Sirdar's* arrival in Turkestan, the hostility and

treachery of thoee whose misconduct lie admits and deplores hod com-

pelled the Government of India to make territorial arrangements of a
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material and permanent character for the better protection of out

frontier. The maintenance of these arrangements is in no wise

dependent on the assent or dissent, on the good-will or ill-will, of any

Chief at Kabul. The character of them has been ho fully explained by

you to all the other Kabul Sirdars that it is probably well known to

Abdur Rahman. Rut in order that our present intercourse and future

relations with the Sirdar may be perfectly clear of doubt on a point

affecting the position he aspires to till, the Governor General in Council

authorizes you, if necessary, to mnkc him plainly understand that

neither the district assigned to us by the Treaty of Gaiidainak, nor any

part of the province of Kandahar, will e\ er be restored to the Kabul

Power.

As regards this last-mentioned pro\ince, the Government of India

has been authorized by that of Her Majesty to give to Slur Ali Khan,

the present Wall of Kandahar, a distinct assurance that he will be

not only recognized, but maintained, by the British Government as the

Ruler of that province. Slier Ali Khan is one of tin* Native nobles of

Kandahar. Ho is administering tin* province with alulitv, good seme,

and complete loyalty to the British Government, which has promised

him the support of a British gurrUon so long as he requires such

support. The Governor-General in Council cannot doubt that Sirdar

Abdur Rahman will readily recognize the obligation incumbent on the

honour of the British Government to keep faith with all who, whether

at Kandahar or elsewhere, have proved themselves true and loy nl

adherents. Yakub Khan forfeited our alliance, and with it his throne,

by mistrusting the assurances we gave him, and fnUifving those which

he had given to us. If, misled by his example, Yakub Khan’s suc-

cessor attempts to injure or oppress the friends yf the British Govern-

ment, iU power will again Ik? put forth to protect or avenge them.

Similarly, if the next Kabul Ruler reintroduces into his Court or

country foreign influences adverse to our own, the Government of

India will again take such steps as it may deem expedient to deal with

such a case. These contingencies, however, cannot occur if the senti-

ments of Abdur Rahman are such as he represents them to be.

Meanwhile, the territorial and administrative arrangements already

completed by us for the |>enuanent protection of our own interests arc

not susceptible of negotiation or discussion with Abdur Rahman or an.v

other claimant to the throne of Kabul.

To the settlement of Herat, which is not included in these complete

arrangements, the Governor-General in Council cannot authorize yo”

to make or invite any reference in your reply to Abdur Rahtnan. ,e

settlement of the future administration of Herat has been undertaken

by Her Majesty's Government; with theme present views in regar
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to this important question, the Government of India is not yet

acquainted.

Nor can our evacuation of Kabul constitute any subject for proposals

in your correspondence with the Sirdar. This measure was determined

on by the Government of India long before the appearance of Abdur

Rahman as a candidate for the government of the country we are

about to evacuate. It has not been caused bv the hostility, and is not,

therefore, conditional on the goodwill, of any Afghan Power.

The Government of India is, howe ver. ver\ willing to carry out the

evacuation of Kabul in the manner most conducive to the personal

advantage of Abdur Rahman, whose interests we believe to be, more

than those of any other Sirdar, in accordance with the general interests

of the Afghan people. For this icason it is desirable that you should

inform Abdur Rahman of our intention to evacuate Kabul, and our

desire to take that opportunity of unconditionally transferring to his

authority the whole of the country from which our troops will be

withdrawn. You art* authorized to add that our military and political

officers at Kabul will he empowered to facilitate any practical arrange-

ment suggested by the Sirdar for prompth and peaceably effecting, in

co-operation with him. tin* transfer thus contemplated on his behalf.

Such arrangement must, however, be consistent with our obligations

towards those who have served and aided the Rritish 6nini6iit

during our occupation of those territories.

For this purpose, it appears to the Goiernor-General in Council

desirable that the Sirdar should lose no time in proceeding to Kabul,

and there settling, in conference with General Stewart and yourself,

such preliminary arrangements us may best promote the undisturbed

establishment of his fifturo government.

The Governor-General in Council lm*. however, no desire to press

this suggestion, should it appear t » the Sirdar that his presence at

Kabul, previous to the withdrawal of our troops for the purpose 0

personal conference with the Rritish authorities, might have the effect

of weakening his popularity, or compromising his portion m the eyes

of his future subjects. ,

The point is one which nurd he left entirely to the Sirdar s own

judgment and inclination. .

But Abdur Rahman U doubtless aware that there are at P™86™1 in

and around Kabul, peruanagen not destitute of influence, w to em

»lve* aspire to the sovereignty he seek-, and that the faint y o » «

uob still numerous personal adherents, who may possib y ta e a ya

of the withdrawal of our troops to oppose the Sirdar s aut iori

.

not personally present to assert it-
not

It should on both sides be remembered and umlerstooc m
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tho policy of this Government to impose upon the Afghan people an

unpopular ltuler, or to interfere uninvited in the administration of a

friendly one. If Abdur Rahman proves able and disposed to conciliate

the confidence of his countrymen, without forfeiting the good under-

standing which he seeks with us, he will assuredly find his best support

in our political appreciation of that fact. Our reason for unconditionally

transferring to him the government of the country, from which our

forces will in any case be withdrawn a few months hence, is that, on

the whole, lie appears to be tin- Chief best able to restore order in that

country, and also best entitled to undertake sueh a task. In his

performance of it he will receive, if he requires it, our assistance. Hut

we neither need nor wish to hamper, by prehminaiy stipulations or

provisoes, his independent exercise of a soven igniy which he declares

himself anxious to maintain on a footing of peace and friendship with

the British Government.

The present statement of the views and intentions of Ills Kxeellcncv

the Governor-General in Council respecting Abdur Rahman will enable

you to represent them with adequate accuracy in your reply to the

Sirdar’s friendly overtuns, and it will now be your dutv to convey to

Abdur Rahman, without anv avoidable delay, the answer of the

Government of India to the letter and message received frum him.

His Mxcellcncv feels assured that you will give full expression to the

spirit of candour and goodwill m which these communications have

befn received and are reciprocal d.

But f am to impress on your attention the importance of avoiding

any expression which might appear to suggest or admit matter for

negotiation or discussion m reference to the relative positions of tin*

Sirdar and the Govcrntm nt of India. c

In conclusion, T am to request that on receipt of this letter you will

be so good as to lose no tune m submitting its contents to General Sir

Hotmlrl Stewart, should he then have teached Kabul. In any case,

you will, of course, cnrniiumicate them to General Roberts, ami act

upon them in consultation with the chief military authority mi the

spot.
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APPENDIX. V 111.

Jtodij Mfit'll of Suin' Ofttilt i*

Kifci r< d to .it p. 32't.

Extract from a Itcj.nrt by Lir.r fkn wt-Cikxi-ral Sir Frederick

HoHKUTS, V.<\. K.C.B., to (hr \KTKKM \sTEH - (iKNEUXL IN

India, dated Kabul , 17 th Ajnd, Iksu.

•25. 1 think 1 have now dealt with all iln- points of military import-

ftiH-o connected with the military position in northern Afghanistan, but

there are 11 few* (|UC‘siioiw of more general interest which 1 desire to

bring to the notice of His r.xeclh-ncy the ( onniiiuider-iii-Chief and the

(ioverninent of India.

*20. First with regard to rations. The daily "••ale of issue to Native

troops is gix cii in the margin. It has

he, n found throughout the campaign,

,.\,n when the men were employed

upon hard work, that ‘ 12 chittaehs of

* alt a ' dailv are ampl\ sufficient for the

Nativi tioop-. supplemented, as of late,

through the lih, lality of 0o\ eminent,

l.\ a hi-week!v issue of 1 lb. of meat. liko Afghanistan,

where the inhabitants are all meat-eaters, this hhemht> has been most

wise. K\ery endeaxour was made, before this -aiutinn wns^ranU ,to

supply the Native portion of the force with meat on pas mint, an

attribute to thin in great measure the sound health andexcc cuts amina

which they now exhibit. . .

With regard to the issue of rum, 1 would suggest t l.it it

1»M free to Native troops, except under exceptional circumstances

of fatigue and weather, but that the fonunissariat >epar nun s

be authorised to have hi store 11 sufficiency of rum to m in,t 0 ft

weekly issue to such troops as drink the spirit, oil j
ut 1/

m

en ,
wlt

t A chit tuck-2 ounces.

Atta*

IlalU

<;i,i§

Salt

Meat
Hum

- VI chitt.n k**i

*1

1 , li it tack

i lb. hl-Wi*i»kl\

1 dnuit

* Flour.

J A kind of pe«. * t 'larilied butter.
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Iktihj ntfhnt

Kuroj^mt />

Meal -

Bnwl
Vegetables

Rice -

Salt

Tea
Sugar
Rum -

1* ll».

U ..

U ..

i i»/.

3 ..

l iii*.

only on the recommendation of the Medical Officer, and under the

sanction of the General Officer commanding. On all occasions when
ruin is sanctioned, either free or on payment, those who do not partake

of spirits should he allowed a ration of tea and sugar under similar

conditions.

27. The scale of rations for Native followers requires no alteration.

28. The European rations now under issue in Kabul arc as p t r

margin, and with reference to them I would

make the following remarks : The increase of

i lb. in bread and meat is, in my opinion, \cr\

desirable, for not only is the meat, as a rule, on

scr\ico inferior to that served in cantonments,

but the extras which can be procured from the

cotTee-shop are not here forthcoming. When
the vegetable ration consists of potatoes. 1 lb.

is sufficient, but when it is made of mixed vege-

tables 1| lb. is necessary. The substitution of for any portion uf

the vegetable union I consider undesirable.

Tinned soups and meats and biscuits are most valuable, and should

bo liberally supplied to everv force in the field. They arc* portuble and

liked by the men. to whom thev furnish a very welcome change of

diet. 1 would very strongly recommend that a much larger issue of

these articles than has hitherto been sanctioned should Im- provided.

29. A question which has arisen during this campaign, and which

may crop up again, has been the provision of firewood for

cooking to Native troops and followers. Throughout the

winter firewood c-ould not hi* purchased at Kabul, and it was absolutely

necessary to issue it to these men. This was tjone at the rate of one

per man, but this amount is not arbitrary, and might, under

certain circumstances, be diminished. Since roods were re-opened and

markets re-established the issue of wood has been discontinued, in

Firewood.

framing any future rule* for the guidance of a force in the field, the

question of providing firewood through the Commissariat Department

for Native troop* and followers, free or on payment, should lie vested

in the General Officer* commanding.
HO. The scale of clothing authorized by Government for Native

troops and followers was found, even in the rigorous climate of

Afghanistan, to be uu>at liberal, except that during the verv coldest

weather a second blanket was required. This wont I was able to infect

from stock in hand, and as the weather became milder these extra

blankets were withdrawn and returned into store. Warm stockings,

A seer = 2 lb.
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too, are very necessary in a climate where frost bite is not uncommon

;

fortunately, some thousands were procured locally and issued to

followers. The ordinary Native shoo of India, as provided by the

Commissariat Department, is utterly unfitted for a country
Shoes.

BUCh M Afghanistan. Major Dodcock will send to Peshawar

(where they can easily be made up) a pattern Kabali shoe, which I am

convinced would be found admirably suited for Native troops and

followers crossing tin* frontier. We arc now almost entirely dependent

on the local market for our shoes.

A large supply of Knglish-made ammunition boots should always

accompany a force in the field, in order to allow

Ammunition Wt*.
t j10sC Natives who use them, and who are often

crippled by wearing other descriptions of shoe, to obtain them on pay-

ment at the moderate rate now fixed, \i/., \U. 4 per pair.

The country-mode waterproof sheets, though slightly heavier, have

proved themselves quite as serviceable, if not more

Waterproof slu^K ^ ^ian the KnglMi made ones.

At the close of the campaign, I would mtv strongly recommend that

an intelligent committee should be required to go thoroughly into these

questions of clothing for Hoops, lhitish and Native, and for followers.

I would also suggest that wlu 11 a decision is arrived at, sealed patterns

of every article approved should he deposited at all manufacturing

centres" mid in nil tin- Urge jails, so that when certain articles are

required they need only lie called for, and precious time (often wasted

in reference and correspondence! sand.
_

81. The number of doolie-bearers with the two divisions of the

Kabul Field Force now at Kabul is 3,536, with the very

IMi-tx-sm-s.
lll0tlen^, sick n.port „f 35. or 1 per cent, of strength.

Doolies and dandies arc distributed as follows .

t doolies. 3 per cent.

llntish troops
j a

.ul(li( .„
o pt.r lTnt.

„ . 1
doolies. ‘2 per cent.

Name troops
j ,|nnai, s, 3 per cent.

-a percentage which 1 consider snflieient for tield-servicc. as, m tho

event of any unusual number of casualties, transport aiiun s

and would be made use of, and it is most undcsira i o inc

tho number of followers.
, , ,, ,„.i,p

The Lushai dandy for this sort of warfare is much preferable to the

Th’ l u • J A
',ftrPct or dhurrie dandy, as it can e ma

Th, Lusha, dandy,
n,on mo not so liable to bdl out of it.

8ourke's doolie ia very good, but liable to get out 0 or >

..
, ,

difficult to repair when broken ;
the ordtnar) kmd

00 w.
|njrjy g(KHj rtud sort iceablo.
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A

•*>‘2. I would urge that in future nil field-Hervice tents should be made

,
after the pattern of the Mountain Jiattery tent,

rield -service tents. . , . v , ,, t
single ny for Natives, double for huropoans, and

that the poles should be constructed on the telescopic principle ; that is,

that no thinning of the wood where it enters the socket should be

allowed either on uprights or ridge-pole, and that the old system of

paring away should be abandoned. Instead, the upper section should

sit Hat on the lower. Doubtless the sockets will ha\e to be longer ami

stronger than those now in use, but this is the only means by which

tents can be adapted to mule and pony carriage, which will no doubt in

future wars be our chief means of transport.

:Mf. The Wider horses of the Tawdry anti Artillery ha\e stood the

i j

strain remarkably well, considering the hard work and
1

great exposure they ha\c had to bear, and also that for

a considerable time they were entirely deprived of green food. I feel

sure this information will he most satisfactory ,
seeing that, for the

future, the Artillery and Tawdry in India inu-t mainly depend upon tile

Australian market for their remounts.

M. As there are some minor points of detail which might advan-

tageous! v be considered by those who have
Toniiiiittce to ivcnnl -mgg' ^ . , . / . ,

tiurii Dii
,u“ l ,l "- of roe nt hctmco, I

have comeiied a eoiuuiittee. with Tolomd

MatTnegor. T.H., as President, which will take suggestions and

record opinions regarding packing transport animal*, equipment, kit,

dress, etc , of both officer* and men of the several branches of the

service. From the constitution of the committee, 1 feel certain that

th« ir recommendations cannot but be valuable, and 1 hope to have the

honour of submitting them shortly for the ^consideration of lies

Fxeellencv the Tommunder-in-Chicf.



[ 49i ]

APPENDIX IX.

(Refiwd to fit p. 41C.)

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THK f i UIDANCK OK (vl.NKRAL AND 0T1IKU OFFICERS
COMMANDING COLUMNS IN Ul'KMA.

Mandalay,

'20th November, 188(5.

The following general instructions for the guidance of Brigadier-

Generals and Oflic* rs in roimuund of columns are published by order

of His Excellency the Commandcr-in-Onef in India:

1a/.—

C

olumns sent out for the pacification of a district, or in pursuit

of a particular gang of dacoits. must be amply pro\ ided and

able to k< t*p the field for ton days at least. To enable this

to bo done without c nipbnmg an undue number of transport

animals, it is necessary that e\er\ endeavour be made to

obtain graiji for Cavalry horses and Transport ponies from

the villages passed through : careful inquiry must be made

oh to where supplies can be obtained locally, and the line

of advance determined accordingly. Arrangements must

be made for replenishing the supplx when necessary from

depots which must he formed at convenient centres when

the nature of the operations may necessitate it. These

depots should ho pushed forward fiom lime to time os the

troops advance. Tho work of a column obliged to return to

its base of supply before it lias had an opportunity of com-

pleting tho object of the expedition must be more harmful

than bcneticial, as its failure emboldens the enemy an

Weakens the confidence of the people in our pow’er to protect

them and to reach the offenders.

2nd,

—

Where two or moro columns are acting in concert, t ic ctai s

of time and place of movement should be settled before an
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with the greatest nicety, and tho commanding officers of
&U such columns should be provided with the same maps,
or tracings from them, so that subsequent changes of plan,
rendered necessary by later information, may be understood
and conformed to by all. Officers commanding columns
must do their utmost to get into, and keep up, communica-
tion with one another. This can be effected b\ :

Visual signalling.

Spies and scout-*,

Patrolling.

—Movements to be executed in concert with the troops in other
brigades or commands, or likely to tell dirceth or indirectly

on the districts commanded h\ other officers, will he fullv

communicated to those officers, both beforehand and when
in progress.

4f/i.—Brigadier -Generals arc empowered to give \ ery liberal re-

muneration for the effect i\ e ser\ice of guides and for

information involving danger to those who give it. Thev
may delegate this power to selected officers in detached
commands, but a clow* watch must be kept on expondituie
under this head. Opportunities should be afforded to timid

informers who are afraid to compromise themselves by
entering camp to intci \ lew officers at sonic distance out

and in secrecy.

Cavalry horses and Mounted Infantry ponies must Im? saved as

much os is compatible with occasional forced and rapid

marches. On ordinary occasions tin* riders should dis-

mount, from time to time, and maiffh alongside of then

horses or ponies.

—The special attention of all officers is called to tho careful

treatment of pack-animals, and officers in command of

columns and parties will be held strictly responsible that

the animals are properly loaded for the march, saved as

much as possible during it, and carefully attended to and

fed after it. Officers in command will ascertain by daily

personal supervision and inspection that these orders arc

carried out.

1th .— It must l>e remembered that the chief object of traversing the

country with columns is to cultivate friendly relations with

the inhabitants, and at the same time to put before them

evidences of our power, thus gaining their good-will and

their confidence. It is therefore the bounden duty of

commanding officer* to ascertain that the troops under
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their command arc not permitted to injure the^ropertv ofthe people or to wound their susceptibilities
^

8/A. The. moat injurioua accounts of our intentions have beenemulated amongst, and believed by, the people, and toomuch pams cannot be taken to eradicate this impressionand to assure the people both by act and word of our cood-
w.11 towards the law-abiding. Chief men of districts should
be treated with consideration and distinction. The success
of the present operations will much depend on the tact with
which the inhabitants an; treated.

Of//.— When there is an enemy in arms against British rule, all
arrangements must he made not only to drive him from his
position, but also to surround the position so as to inflict
the heaviest loss possible. Itcristance overcome without
inflicting punishment on the enemy only emboldens him to
repeat the game, and thus. h\ protracting operations, costs
more li\cs than a se vere lesson promptly administered, even
though that 1 «*skoii may cause muuc casualties on our side.

Arrangements should be made to .surround \illages and
jungle retreats with (uxalrx. and afterwards to hunt them
closely with Infuntrx. In the pursuit the broadest margin
possible will he drawn b.-tween leaders of rebellion and the

professional darnit on the one part, and the \illagers who
have been forced into combinations against us. Bolts and
leaders will gem rail \ 1»«- found heading the column of

fugitives, ami a portion of the ('ax airy should be directed to

pursue them without waiting tune oxer the rank and tile of

the oncmx

.

10//#.— Unless otherxviho ordered, columns of occupation should move
in short inarches, halting at the principal towns and villages.

This will give cixil officers opportunities for becoming

thoroughly acquainted witli their districts, and give military

officers time to reconnoitre and sketch the country.

1]//#.

—

1

Where troops arc likely to be quartered for some time.

bamboo platforms should be erected to keep the men off the

ground. Tents, if afterwards provided, can he pitched on

the platforms.
\2th.—The greatest latitude wdll l>e alloxved to Brigadier-Generals

and officers in IocaI command in ordering and carrying ou

movements for the pacification of their districts. They

will, however, report as fully ns possible all movements

intended and in progress, through the regular channel, for

the information of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chicf.
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—Civil officers will be detailed under the orders of the Chief

Commissioner to accompany columns. As they lire in a

position to reward loyalty and good service, they will be able

to obtain more reliable guides and intelligence than the

military officers can hope to get. The Chief Commissioner
has authorized selected Hummus, men of position who ma\
look for otliciul appointments, being employed as scouts by

the civil oilicers of districts and being attached to column*.

These scouts should wear some distinguishing and con-

spicuous mark or badge to prevent them being tired on b\

the troops. They should not be called upon to take the

front when approaching an unbroken enemy, or where

ambuscades may be expected, but tluir services will be

most \uluable m gaining information, and later in bunting

down the individuals of a broken-up gang.

14/A.—Absolute secrecy must be maintained regarding inu\c!iiciii*

again ^t the enemy and » very device resorted to to ini*-

lead him.

15f/i.—When civil officers accomprmv columns, all pn*oncis will

be handed over to tin in for disposal. When no mil
officer is present, the officer commanding the column will

rr njfiru*, liave magisteiial pouii* to inflict pumdimm!
up t*> two vears’ iiiipriscmment. or lashes. Oficnder>

deserving heavier punishment must be reserved for disposal

by the civil officers.

16/A.—Officers commanding columns will lie held responsible tii.it

the troops are not kept in unlualthy districts, and that,

when a locality has prou d itself unhealthy, tin* troops me

removed at the earliest possible opportunity. Miht.nv

officers are responsible for the location of the troops. Tin

requisitions of civil office rs will he complied with, when-

ever practicable, but military officers are to judge in sill

matters involving the military or sanitary suitability of * l

position.

Mth. “In the class of warfare in which wo are now engaged, wluie

night surprises and ambuscades are the only formidable

tactics of the enemy, the greatest oiro must be taken to

ensure the safely of the camp at night. To meet ambus

cade*, which usually toko the form of a volley followed by

flight, and which, in very dense jungle, it maybe impossible

to discover or guard against by mean* of flankers, H

Excellency the Commander- in - Chief would wish tlu

following plan to be tried : Supposing, for instance, t u
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firo of the enemy to be delivered from the right, a portion
of the force in front should bo ready to dash along the
road for 100 yurds, or so, or until some opening in the

jungle offers itself. The party should then turn to the right

and sweep round with a view to intercepting the enemy in

his llight. A party in rear should similarly enter the jungle

to their right with the same object. The centre of the

column would hold the ground and protect the baggage or

any wouiidi d men. The* different parties must be previously

told oil*, put under the command of selected leaders, and

must act with promptitude and dash. Kach party must be

kept in compact order, and inditidual tiring must be pro-

hibited. except when there is a clear prospect. Past

experience suggests the adoption of some such plan as the

abo\ e, but in guerilla warfare officers must suit their

tactic* to the peculiar and e\er*\arying circumstances in

which lli«-\ may tind lluinselvis engaged.

1Hth .—The (fOM inmeut lm\e ordered a general disarmament of the

country, as suon a* the large hands of rebels and dacoits

are dispersed. The urdus for tin- disarmament direct that

all firearms arc to be taken fiom the people, but that a

moderate number may in* returned to responsible villagers

who aro loyal and are able to defend ihenisehes. No fire-

arms will be returned su\e under registered licenses; and

licenses will he gi\en only for Milages which can produce a

certain number |o to 111 gun*, and are either stockaded or

fenced against sudden attack. I he duty of disarming lies

on civil officers and the police ; but as it is desirable that

the disarmament should he effected as quickly as possible,

officers commanding posts and column* will gixe such

assistance as may be in then powei in carrying it out.
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i Kffern**! t«> at p. )

To His Hxclxlksty the Right Honourable Frederick Baron
Roberts ok Kandahar and Waterford. Hart., V.C., (».('. B.,

ti.l’.I.E., li.A., ('ommander-in-C)nef of Ilrr Maji'ntijn Forcen

in India,

Mw it klbask Your Excellency,

Wc, the undersigned, reprcHriiting the Sikhs of the Punjab,

most respectfully beg to approach Your Excellency with this humble

address of farewell on Your Lordship's approaching departure from

this country. We cannot give adequate expression to the various

ideas which are agitating our minds at this juncture, relating as

they do to the past, present, and future, making us fetd, at one and

the same time, grateful, happy, and sorrowful. The success which

Your Excellency has achieved in Asia is such as makes India and

England proud of it. The history of the British Empire in India

has not, at least for the last thirty years, produced a hero like

Your Lordship, whose soldier like qualities are fully known to the

world. The country which had been the cradle of Indian invasions

came to realize the extent of your power and recognized your

generalship. The victories gained by Hale, Nott, and Bollock in

the plains of Afghanistan ha\e been shadowed by those gained by

Your Excellency. The occupation of Kabul and the glorious battle of

Kandahar are among the brightest jewols in the diadem of lour

Lordship** Baronago. Your Excellency's achievements checked the

aggressive advance of the Orcat Northern Bear, whose ambitious

progress received a check from the roar of a lion in the person of

Your Lordship ; and a tone of neutral ground has now been fixed, and

a line of peace marked by the Boundary Commission. The strong

defences which Your Excellency has provided on the frontier imM
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another brifiht atone to the building 0f your fame, and constitute in

themselves a lasting memorial of Your Excellency’* martial skill.

Never hail any British General to face more arduous tasks, and none

has proved more completely successful in overcoming them than Your
Lordship. The result is that India has been rendered safe from the

fear of invasion from without. Your Excellency is not only adorned

with heroic qualification*, but the love and affection with which the

people of India regard Your Lordship show what admirable qualities

are exhibited in the person of Your Excellency. Terrible in war and

merciful in peace, Your Excellency’s name has become a dread to the

enemies of England and lo\elv to your friends. The interest which

Your Lordship has always taken in the welfare of those with whom

u,u have worked in India is well known to everybody. The Sikhs in

particular are, more than any other community in India, indebted to

Your Lordship. We liml in Your Excellency a true friend of the Sikh

community—a community which is always devoted heart and soul to

the service of Her Most Gracious Majesty the Empress of India. No

one understands la tter than Your Excellency the value of a Sikh

soldier, and we feel xcry grateful that the military authorities recognize

the necessity of requiring e\ery Sikh recruit to he baptized according

to the Sikh religion before admission to the Army— a practice which

makes the Sikhs more true and faithful, and which preserves the

existence of a very useful community. The Sikhs are said to be bom

soldiers, hut they undoubtedly make very good citizens in time of

peace also. I’nforlunateK , hu\\e\er, they have had no opportunity of

fully developing their mental powers, so as to enable them to advance

with the spirit of the age. Wc thank God that Your Excellency was

among those who most* desired to see the Sikhs refined and educated

by establishing a (Yntral C ollege in the Punjab for the use of the Sikh

people, and wc confidently hope that the Sikhs, of whom a large

portion is under Your Excellency V command, will gi\e their mite in

support of this national seminary. The subscription* ghon by Your

Lordship, His Excellency the Viceroy, and His Honour the late Lieu-

tenant-Governor, were very valuable to the Institution, and the Sikhs

arc highly gratified by the honour Your Excellency has lately gi\en to

the Khalsa I)iwan by becoming it* honorary patron. In conclusion, we

only to repeat that it is quite beyond our power to state io\v muc

we arc indebted to Your Excellency, and how much we are C'ctc< '

the news that Your lordship will shortly leave this land. The very

idea of our separation from the direct contact of so strong am

nffeotionate a leador, as Your Excellency undoubtedly is, 111 08

led very sorrowful ; but as our heart* and prayers will ,v
^'

ft
*>
8

)

you and Lady Roberts, wo
x u
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only keep us in your memory, and on arrival in England assure Her
Most Gracious Majesty, the Mother-Empress, that all Sikhs, whether

high or low, strong or weak, old or young, are heartily devoted to her

Crown and her representatives in this country. Before retiring, we
thank Your Excellency for the very groat honour that has been done

to the people of Lahore by Your Lordship's visit to this city.
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(Referred t«» at ]». 4,
r
>t>.)

To His Excellency Gkskr\l the Right Honourable Frederick

Baron Roberts ok Kandahar and Waterford, Bart., V.C.,

G.C.B., G.CM.K., R.A., Commander'in-Chicf of Her Majesty's

Forces in India.

May it please Your Excellency,

We ore proud to stand in Your Lordship’s presence to-day on

bohalf of the Hindus of the Punjab, the lo\al subjects of the Queen-

Empress, who appreciate the countless blessings which British Rule

has conferred upon this country, to give expression to the feelings of

gratitude which are uppermost in their hearts. W e feel it really an

honour that we are able to show our appreciation of British Rule in the

presence of the eminent soldier and statesman who has taken an

important part in making the India of to-day what it is contented

within and strengthened against aggression from abroad. The Punjab

is the province where the military strength of the Empire is being

concentrated, and the bravery of the warlike races inhabiting it, which

furnish the flower of Her Gracious Majesty's forces of the Army in

India, has been conspicuously displayed on several occasions during

the last thirty years. We, Hindus, have availed ourselves the most of

the facilities which British Rule lias provided for the progress of the

people in commercial enterprise, educational advance, an po itic

progress. We are, therefore, all the more proud that we have been

Allowed to-day to greet in person the mighty soldier, the sympa e ic

Commander, and the sagacious Statesman, the record of * ose s

tinguished career in the East is virtually the history of nearly half a

century of glorious victories—victories both of peace and war ac ue\

by the British Power in Asia, to show how intense is our grata

towards the Queen-Emprcsa and one of her enunentreprcsentatnesi

India, who have striven to do their duty by the people of this country,



500 FORTY-OSE YEARS IN INDIA

and done it to the satisfaction of the people and of their Gracious

Sovereign. The interests of India and England are identical, and the

Hindus of the Punjab regard British rule as a Providential gift to this

country—an agency sent to raise the people in the scale of civilization.

Anything that is done to guarantee the continuance of the present

profoundly peaceful condition of the country is highly appreciated by

us, and we are, therefore, all the more grateful to Your Lordship for

all that your courage, foresight, sagacity, and high statesmanship have

been able to aehie\e. At a time when all the races and communities

inhabiting this frontier pro\ ince, which has been truly described as the

sword-hand in India, are vying with each other in showing their high

appreciation of the good work done by Your Excellency, of which not

the least significant proof lies in the arrangement for the defence of

the country at all vulnerable points of the frontier, the Hindus arc

anxious to show that they yield to none in the enthusiasm which

marks the demonstrations held in your honour. But Your Exccllenc\

commands our esteem and regard on other grounds also. The deep

interest that vou have throughout your career felt in the welfare of the

sepoy, and the closest ties of genuine friendship which you have

established with many a notable of our community, have laid us under

deep obligations to Your Excellency. The encouragement that you

have given to the organization of the Imperial Service Troops of the

Native States is also gratefully appreciated lev us ; and only the other

day we were gratified to learn the high opinion Your Excellency

entertained of the appearance ami military equipment of the Imperial

Service Troops of Jammu and Kashmir, the most important Hindu

State in this part of India. We should be wanting in duty, we feel,

did we not on this occasion give expression to^lio great regret which

the news of your approaching departure from India has caused among

the Hindus of the I’uiijab, who feel that they are parting from a kind

friend and a sympathetic Buler. At the tame time, wo feel that the

country will not lose the benefit of your mature' experience and wise

counsel for long ; for we are hopeful that you may some day be called

upon to guide the helm of the State in India, a work for which you are

so specially fitted. In conclusion, wc have only to pray to the Father

of All Good that He may shower If is choicest blessings upon you and

your consort—that noble lady who has, in addition to cheering you in

your hard and onerous work in India, herself done a great deal for the

comfort of the soldier and the sepoy, and that He may grant you many

years of happy life—a life which haa done so much for the Queen-

Empress’s dominions, and which may yet do much more.
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To His Kxckllkm y Geskrvl tiik Ki<iHt Honourable Frederick

Dakos Huberts of K\nda!i\r and Waterford. 13art., V.C.,

G.C.Ih, U.C.I.K., 11.A- C(iitumi Hticr-in-Chicf of Her Majesty's

Forces in In itin.

May it please Your Kxullkncx.

We, the MnliniiK'tliiiis of tin* Punjab, huve dared to approach

Your Excellency with this a<l<lros with i vp" tear bedimmed, but a

face smiling. The departure of a noble and well-beloved General like

yourself from our country i« in itself a fact that naturally fills our eyes

until tojuts. What could be more sorrowful than this, our farewell to

an old officer and patron of ours, who has parted the prominent

portion off his life m our country, «lc\ eloped our young progeny to

brat erv and regular soldiery. decorated them with honours, and

created the... to high, titles ? Your Excellency, separation is the

harder to boar for the men of the I'unjab because it is our 1 unjab that

is proud of the fact that about forty yar* ago the foundation stone of

all vour famous and noble achievements, which not only India, but

England, rightly boasts of. was laid down m one of its frontier citie ,

and that the greater part of your indomitable energies was SPC"

Punjab frontier defence. If, therefore. we are mi at separa 1

Your Excellency, it will not in any way be looked upon as shra g.

l»ut these feeling, of sorrow are mixed with )«*> v>iei * "® t'c

j

useful officer whom in 1H.V2 we had ^coined at ar ^c tho

"tar of hi. merits was beginning to ri<e. departs roin » spkiidour

and glory in the capacity of the t'oininander m- tu o

^ j tQ aU
a vast Empire like India, and is an example of t h ’

. rioU8

wldtora. This address is too brief
lndia ftnd other

•erv.ee. rendered by jonr Excellency in t lA
1^ ^ /cftl to the

foreign countries from that early epwh to ti
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Mutiny of 1857, your heroic achievements in the Abyssinian and
Afghan wars, your repeated victories of Kandahar, and your states-

manlike conduct of the lhinna wars- -all these are facts which deserve

to be written in golden characters in the annals of Indian history.

Your appointment as legislate e and executive member of the Supreme
Council of the Government of India for a considerable period has

proved a source of blessings to the whole of India, and Your Excellency

deserves an ample share of the credit due to the Council for all its

useful regulations and reforms. The great liking that men of noble

birth in India have been showing for some time towards military

service is a clear demonstration of the excellent treatment received at

your hands by military officers, as m the rcfoims made by yon in the

military pay and pension and other regulations. Another boon for

which the Natives of India will always remember your name with

gratitude, is that you have fullv relied upon, and placed your con-

tidenet* in, the Natives, thus uniting them the more firmly to the

British Crown, making tin m more loyal, and establishing the good

relations between the Hub rs and the ruled on a firmer footing to the ir

mutual good. Especially as Miissnlmans of the Punjab are we proud

that before Your Excel!# my's d« partme you have had the opportunity

of reviewing the Impeiial Service Troops of the Muhomedan Stan- of

Bhawalpur. onr of the hading Native States of the Punjab, whose

Huler's efforts to make hi-* tmnps uorthv to take their place by tin*

side of British troops for the defence of India is mil v one instance of

the spirit of active lovalty which we are glad to sav animates the

entire M u ssabnan community of the Punjab, Ihsturlmnces arising

from foreign intrusions are not unknown to us. and we have not

sufficient words to thank ymir Lordship for the admirable management

of the frontier defence work carried on to prot#*rt our country from all

possible encroachments The greatest pleasure and satisfaction, how-

ever, that wc Mahomedans fi»d in presenting this address to Vmr

lordship emanates from the idea that you go on your way home to

your native country with a high and favourable opinion of tin*

Mahomedanft of India, true and loyal subjects to Her Majesty the

Queen * Empress, who*** number r treed* six ernres. and who arc

rapidly growing. 1 hiring the Mutiny of 1H57 the Chieftains and

soldier* of our nation spared neither money nor arm* In the reduction

and submission of the rebels. Your Lordship is also aware whnt

loyalty was displayed by the Mahomednns of India during the Afghan

and Egyptian wars, waged against their own co-religionist^ ft 111 *

cheerfulness shown by them in following your Lordship in all >°ur

' ietories. Frontier services, such os the Kabul Embassy and t ic

I ^limitation Commission, rendered bv the officer* of our creed are
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WC“ therCf°rC 'Siln8uine that Your Lord-
sh.p s own observation will enable all the members of the Rulin™
in India to form an opinion of the relations that exist between
the Bntwh Crow"* Thc Mahometans of India and the Punjab are
proud of being the devoted subjects of the Queen-Empress In so
acting wo perform our religious duties, for our sacred religion enjoins
upon us faithfulness and obedience towards our Ruling monarch and
teaches us to regard the Christians as our own brethren. The regard
and esteem which we should haNc, therefore, for a Christian Govern-
ment, as that of our kind mother the Queen-Empress, needs no
demonstration. Although, for certain reasons which wc need not
detail here, our nation has been deficient in education, and we have
been left much behind in obtaining ci\i] employment, we hope that
your long experience of our son ice will prove a good testimonial in

favour of the warlike spirit, military genius and loyalty of our nation,

and if the circle of civil employment lias become too straitened for us,

thc military line will be generously opened to us. Wc do not want to

encroach upon Your Lordship’s valuable time any further. We therefore

finish our address, ottering our heartfelt thanks to your Lordship for

all those kindnesses you have been wont to show during your time

towards India ami Indians in general, and the Punjab and Punjabis in

particular, and take lea\e of Your Lordship with the following prayer:
4 May God bless thee \vherc\er thou may st he, and may thy generosities

continue to prexail upon us for a long time.' While actuated by these

feelings, wc are not the loss aware that our country owes a great deal

to Lady Roberts, to whom we beg that Your Excellency will convey

our heartfelt thanks for her lively interest in the welfare of Indian

soldiers in particular and the people generally. In conclusion, we

wish Your Excellencies God speed and a pleasant and safe voyage.

That Your Excellencies may him* long, happy, and prosperous lives,

and achieve ever so many more distinctions and honours, and return

to us very shortly in a still higlur position, to confer upon the

Umpire the blessings of a bcncficint Rule, is our heartfelt and most

Mncere prayer.
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To His Excellency Genkkvl the Ki«*ht Honourable Frederick
Baron Roberts of Kandahar am* Waterford, Bart., Y.C.,

G.C.B., G.C.I.K.. R.A., Commandcr-in-ChUf of Her Majentifs

Force9 in India.

Mat it please Your Excellency,

We, the representatives of the European community in the

Punjab, are the prouder to-day of our British blood, in that it links us

in close kinship to one who has so bra\cly maintained the honour of

the British Empire alike in the years of peace and storm that India

ha* seen during the last three decades During the Mutiny Your

Excellency performed feats of gallantry that are historic. Since then

your career has been one of brilliant success and growing military

renown. Whenever, in the histories of war. men speak of famous

marches, that from Kabul to Kandahar comes straightway to the lip*.

When our mind turns to military administration, we remember the

unqualified success of Your Excellency's career as Quartcrmastcr-

General and aa (
?

otrimander iii ( liief of Her Majesty’s Forces in India,

in both of which high office* you have added honour and glory to your

great name, which will never be forgotten in India. When the private

soldier, rightly or wrongly, thinks he has a grievance, his desire is only

that somehow it may be brought to the notice of Your Excellency,

from whom, through experience, he expects full justice and generous

sympathy. When we look towards our frontier and see the strategic

railways and roads, and the strong places of arms that threaten the

invader, we know that for those safeguards the Empire is in no small

degree indebted to the resolute w isdom of Your Excellency as militar.'

adviser to the Government of India. Last, but not least, as a States-

man, Your Excellency- ranks second to none in the Empire in 1 10

opinion of your countrymen in this North-West frontier province,
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and we should glfully welcome the day, if it might e\er arrive*, when

Your Excellency returned to India. It is here that we see most clearly

the passage of events beyond our borders and mark the signs of

brooding trouble ; and our hope has always been that, when that

trouble should break forth, yours might be the hand to guide England’s

flag to victory again. The Punjab is the sword of India, and Your

Excellency has had the courage to lean most strongly upon that sword.

It is here that the pulse of the army beats in India; it is lienee that

the enemies of our country shall feel the downright blow; and it is

here that the greatest grief is felt in parting from so true a soldier and

ho far-seeing a Statesman as Your Excellency . It is meet, therefore,

that here we should assemble upon this occasion of farewell to express

the great sorrow which we, the representation of the Europeans hi the

Punjab, feel at the prospect of losing so soon the clear brain and strong

hand that Your Excellency has always brought to the control of the

Arim in India and to the solution of all questions of political or military

moment. In doing so, we mourn for the loss of one of the best

statesmen, the beBt general, and the best friend to the soldier in India.

We say nothing of the kindly relations Your Excellency has always

been able* to establish with the other races in India ;
our fellow-subjects

here will doubtless do so in their turn. Wc say nothing' of Your

Excellency's and Ladv Huberts’ charming social qualities, nor Her

Ladyship's philanthropic work in India. We are here only to express

our grief at parting with one whom we \nlue so highly for the sake

of our common country, and our hope that as your past has been full

of glorv to the Empire and honour to yourself, so may your future be

,

and thkt you may be spared for many years to wield the word and

guide the counsels of our country.
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T<> Hh Excellency General the Right Honockaiilk Frederick

Baron Rotierts of Kvndahar and Waterford, Baht., V.C.,

G.C.B., G.C.I.E., K.A., Commander-In-Chief of Her Imperial

,
Majesty 9 Army in India .

May it please Your Excellency,

We, the Tnlukdars of Oudh, as loyal and faithful subjects of the

Empress of IndiA, avail ourselves of the present opportunity of offering

Your Excellency a most cordial and respectful welcome to the (’apitnl

of Oudh.

The long and valuable services rendered by Your Excellency to the

Crown and the country are well known to, ami are deeply appreciated

by, us. Your Excellency’s wise and vigorous administration of Her

Majesty’s Army in India has won for you our respectful admiration

;

while your prowess in the battle-field, and ySwr wisdom in Council

daring the eventful period of your supreme command of Her Majesty's

Indian Forces, have inspired us with confidence in vour great military

talents and your single-minded and earnest devotion to duty. In

many a battle j’ou have led the British Anny to victory, and the

brilliant success which has invariably attended the British Arms under

Yonr Excellency's command has Added to tho glory of the British

Empire.

But the pride and pleasure we feel at being honoured by Your

Excellency’s presence in our capital town give place to sorrow and

regret at the approaching retirement of Your Excellency from the

great service of which you are an ornament.

In grateful acknowledgment of the most Important services ren-

dered by Your Excellency to our Empress and our country, we beg to

be allowed the privilege of presenting you with a Sword of Indian
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manufacture, which will, wc hope, from time to time, remind you of

us and of Oudh.

Wishing Your Lordship a safe and pleasant voyage home, and a

long and happy life,

Wo subscribe ourselves,

Your Lordship’s most humble

and obedient servants,

The Talukdars of Oudh.
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To His Excfllkscy General tiik Right Honourable Sir Frederick
Sleigh, Baron Roberts ok Kandahar and Waterford, Bart.,

V.C., G.O.B., G.C.I.F.., lM’.L, IX.D., K.A., Commander-in-

Chief in India.

Your Excellency,

Viewing with concern ami regret yonr approaching departure

from India, we beg—in bidding \ou farewell —to express our admita-

tion of your life and work ha Commander- in -Chief of the Imperial

Forces in India, and to request you to permit your portrait to be

placed in the Town Hall of Calcutta,*in token for the present genera-

tion of their high appreciation of your eminent services, and in witness

to a future generation of the esteem in which \ou were held by your

contemporaries.

With foresight denoting wise statesmanship* Governments which

you have served hate initiated and maintained it policy of Frontier

Defence, and encouraged the increased efficiency of the Forces.

In the furtherance of these objects we recognize the salient points

of your career and character whilst holding the high rank of Com-

mander-in -Chie f

.

In your continued efforts to ameliorate the condition of the private

soldier we recognize broad humanity. In the increasing efficiency of

the Army , which, in our belief, characterizes your tenure of com-

mand, we rocognize high soldierly qualities. In the state of strength

which the Frontier Defences have attained, mainly duo, wo believe, to

you, we recognize practical sagacity, conspicuous ability in discern-

ment of requirements, and in pursuit of your aims an unwearying

industry, a resolute persistence, and a determination that no difficulty

can turn, in which a noble example for all true workers may bt!

found.
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In a word, your life and work are to us identified with Frontier

Defence and Efficient Forces. We cheerfully bear our share of the

cost, an in possession of these protections against aggression from

without, we believe all who dwell within the borders of the land will

find their best guarantee for peace, and in peace the best safeguard

they and their children can possess to enable them to pass their lives

in happiness and prosperity, and escape the misery and ruin which

follow war and invasion. For all that you have done to give them

such security, wc feel von deserve, and we freely give, our heartfelt

thanks.

Within the limitations of a farewell address, we, hardly feel justified

in personal allusions trenching 011 your pii\atc life, but wc cannot

refrain from noticing with responsive sympathy the feeling of personal

attachment to yourself which is widespread throughout India, and

assuring you that we share in it to the fullest extent that private

feeling can be affected bv public services. We endorse our assurance

with an expression of tin- \\Uh that, m whatever part of the British

Empire your future life may be -pent, it may be attended, as in the

past, with honour, and. hv tin* bh --ing of (»od, with health and happi-

ng for yourself and all those you hold dear.

It is the prerogotive of the Frown alone to bestow honours on those

who have send their country well, and none have been better merited

limn those which you enjoy. and to which, we trust, additions may be

msde. It is the privilege of ft community to make public profession

of merit in ti tellow-citi/cii where they eonsider it is due, and in

availing ourselves of the privilege to make this public recognition, of

the great services which, in our opinion, von have rendered to India,

we beg with till sincerity to ndd a hearty God-peed and a regre u

Farewell.

We haxc the honour to he.

Your Excellency,

Your obedient servants.

(ALCITTA,

llf/i Afmv/i, ItW-
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J

*' 11

! lOrtVi : tout* tin' PliulW**"

! 103 ;
his wise tnea*urf* for

‘ 1 -
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••oping with the mutiny. 5U7-510

:

niciiioniiidniii in his ledger-hook,
•VI 0, fill ; i. 135, 201. 200, 2*9. 817
352, 440

Liwivncc, Captain Sam, V.C.. i. 817
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deed, 228 ; »|o**h it. 233 ; m«»r-

tally wounded, 231 ; the author's
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I'ruwin, Crown prinwwHuj.

i i'uraon Khntri, Jitiudw, ii. 1*4

I

Quinton. Mr.. It. 440

Kagnlrir Nagnrknti, HuU<i*r. 171

Rani Ring. Rgj». ii. 432. 433

R»m|>ur. N»*»l> of, i. 4S.i

Kan. Nir Mailliava, it. 3H*. .»M

Kaw linoon. Rir lleiir), ii. 4#. «<

Kr*ili>, Mr., f. 281, 295



index
517
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Reid, Sir Cliaa., i. 164. 218. 225 : ii. 82
Rcnimiiigton, Cajitain, i. 257. 274, 310.

313, 345
Renwick, Captain, ii. 151

Rows, Malmraja of, i. 465

, Rich, Captain, ii. 40
Ricketts, Heorgo, i. 143, HI, 115. HO,

147
Ridgeway, Sir West. ii. 316, 315
Rind, Captain, ii. 345
Rimn,The Marquis of. ii. 321, 330, 371,

376, 390
RoWrts. Central Sir Ahrahani, i. 18.

19, 20, 23, 24. 29, 30, 31 ; ii. SO
Rolierts, Hon. K. S.. ii. 60, 70 i

Rolierta, Lady, i. 451. 452, 453. 455. I

458, 459, 460, 460. 471, 172. 473. |

477, 170, 481, 485, 180. 400. 103.

494, 495, 497 ; ii. 22. 23. 26. 27. 30.
j

31, 38, 30, 40, 51, 52, 60. 70. 77. 81.

02. 100, 101. 167, 170, 1SI, 1 S.3, i

189, 347, 377, 380. 382. 3s7. 302,
'

402, 410. 411, 112. 450. 151

Rolierta, Lord, leave* Kurland, 1 :

arrive* in India, 4 : life in Calcutta.

4-10; journey to Peshawar. 11-17 :

at Pcahawai, 18-31 ; visit* Kadinm.
35-40; join* Horae Artillery. 11;
first visit to Simla, 43 ; returns to

Peshawar, 45 ; first Start’ ap|n>int-

lueiit. 47 ; tterond Stall’ Mp|mint incut,

57 ; refuse* appointment in P.W. I).

58; first mating with Niehol«*«m,

50; hears first tidings of Mutiny,
62 ; SUIT Officer to Brigadier (3mm-

j

l»erlain, 70 ; leaves Peshawar with
Movable Column, 73 ; m iwvi/r to
IMhi, 74-148 ; at Hihore, 118-125 :

Won? Delhi, 140 : apfioiiitcd

^•A.Q.M.(t. with Artilleiy. 177 :

first under (ire. 180 ; wounded. 104 ;

lsHt sight of Nicholson. 236 : danger
silled, 240; takes part in storm- 1

n,K°f the palace. 248 ; leaves I VI hi
with Oreatned'a column for Cawn-
J'°re f 258; in action at Ihilaudshahr.
261 ; narrow eaca | w*. 262 ; in fight at
Aligarh, 267 ; in fight at Agra. 275 ;

*
of T^j Mahal, 270 ; arrives |

ot Cawnimre, 292; meeta Sir Colin
^•nipbell, 306 ; nmrrhea to Lucknow.
306-310

; meet* with a night ad veil-

J}

Ire
» *16-620

; in the atorming of
lllc Sikandarliagh, 821 -328 ; in the

attack on the Shah Najaf, 331-334
;

!’
,

a
J
lts Jhe colours 011 the mess-house,

the
F
ellef the Residency,

33/ -341 ; wins the V.C., 386; at
the siege of Lucknow', 394-413 • his
Views oil the Mutiny, 414-437 ’; on
our present ]iosition in India, 438-
149; takes fmlough, 450; marries,
4.»l

; n*turns to India, 453 ; refuses
l
MKSt hi Revenue Survey, 454 ; ac-
companies Lord Canning on his
liceiegal progress, 454-478; visits
Simla, 179-482

; accompanies Lord
Canning through Central India, 485-
489 : returns to Simla, 489 ; ordered
to Allahal»ad, 490 ; accom^ianies
Coiniuander-in-Chief on tour. 492-
495 ; returns to Simla, 496 ; again
011

^
tour witli Coninuinder-in-Chief,

497-500 : lias a sunstroke, 500 ;

made A.Q.M.C., 501 : serves w'itli

liuheyla Exisdition, ii. 1-22 ;

voyage round the Cape, 24-26 ; serves
with Abyssinian E\]edition, 32-37 ;

l*earer of the Abyssinian despatches,
38 : first. A.Q.M.ti., 39 ;

leturns to

India, 40; birth of daughter, 52;
serves with Lushai Expedition, 53-

68 ; oili( Kiting Q.M.G., 81 ; accepts

command of Punjab Frontier Force,

100 : assumes command of Kuram
Field Force, 121 : shortcomings of

his column. 122, 123 ; his able start’,

124 ; ad\ antes into the Kuram
\ allcv, 127-133 ; takes the Pciwar

Kota), 137-148 ;
devotion of his

orderlies, 1 13 : congratulated by the

Queen, 150 : hampered by want of

transport, 155 ;
punishment of

treachery, 156 : action at Khost,

159 ; misrepresented in the House of

Commons, 162: dismisses a war cor-

resjiondent, 165: holds a Queen’s

hirthda\ parade, 174 : says good-bye

to Caiagnari. 177: serves on the

Armv Commission, 179 ;
his recom-

mendations gradually cairied ^out,

180 : api»ointed Commander of Kabul

Field Force, 184 ; starts for Kabul. 189

;

corres|H»iidenee with ^kub Khan,

190 • issues a Proclamation to the

people of Kabul, 192: meeting with

Yak til. Khan. 202 ;
issues a Procla-

niation and an Older, 204 -. takes the

Shutargaidan, 209; defeats the

Afghans at Cbarasia, 21b -—

;

advances on Kabul, 223-228 ;
m-
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atnictions fnun the (iovernmeiit oi'

India, 230-232 : infects the Km
Inuuv and the liahi Ifissar, 232, -JiH

;

receives aMication of Yakub Khan,

235; issues 4 l*iwlaniation, 237

:

makes a formal entry into Kabul.

238 ; adopts measures lor ran ring

on administration. 239 ; niinrepiv

sented iu House » »t
( 'ominous, 23V* ;

congratulated hv the l^ueen and the

Viceroy, 212; wintering at Kabul.

*243 202 : attacked by the tnIn'Mlieii

on all -sides, 263 2*1 ; life saved by

Ma/r Alt. 27 1 ; storming of the

Takhtd Shah. 2*3; furtlo i attacks,

2S5 21M ;
» •»n»

,entrati s his buces

at Sherpur, 292 21*1 ; strengthens

his deN-nees, 295 3*h> ;
arrests

I)attd Shah, 301 . defeats and

dUficrses the trtU’snien, 305 ; re

o|»‘iis rs >ninmn U'iit ion with India,

307 ; issues a Pioelamatioii, 307 .

|ortifi»9i Sherpur, 309 ;
negotiations

at Kabul, 310 320 ; holds a durbar,

319 . hands '*u*r supreme command
to Sir l*»nald Stewart, 325 ; visit-

.l.ilaUUvl, TI0 ; hears n*‘\vs o| M-il

wand, 330 ;
telegram to Adjutant

(h'tieral. 337 ; Ap|»*»itit«d Commander
of Kabub Kandahar Field Forre, 33*.*

.

pre|«iratioi>4 for the march, 331* 111.

details <>t the Force, 342-341 ;
o>m

misaanat mid truia|>ort. 315, 3 40 ,

starts for Kandahar. 347 ; order of

marching, 34*, 319; reaches *>lia/iu,

350 ; reaches Kelat i (•hil/ai, 351 ;

telegraphs t»» bori'inmfut,

352 ;
food nfumd daily for the for« e.

35,3 ; down with fever, 354 ;
rc|*irt*

progre**, 354 ; letter from General

rlwiyre, 355 ,
telegraphs to Simla,

356 ; reaches Kandahar. 356 ; dc

moralized condition of the garrison,

357 ; cnrani|* to the west of the city,

356; reconnoitre* the enemy 'n pal-

turn, 359 ; mammea command of the

Army of Southern Afghanistan, 362 .

defeat* Aynb Klian. 363*367 ; and

captures hi* camp, 367 ; telegraph*

the new*. 370 ; difficulties aUmt
eapplies, 371 ; c#inpatnlaU*l hy the

(/own ami the (hike of Cambridge.

372; made (bC.U., 372; appointed

Commamler*in-Chief of the Madras

Army, 372 ;
pmeawda to Quetta, 872 ;

parting with the troop*, 873
;
pleasant

mamorwa, 374 ;
receive* autograph

letter from the Quern, 376 ; recep-

tion in Kngliind, 376 ; Ap]Niiuted

t »ovei nor of Natal and Commander
of the Forces in South Afriea, 379

;

witnesses the mameiiviea of the (Jit-

mail Army, 379 : offend the Quarter-

ma-ster * (ieiienilship. 379; proceeds

to Madias, 3HJ ; visits the Andaman
Islands. 3*0

;
proceeds to lhiriim,3Hl

;

declines the Qtiai tennastei -( inn-nil -

ship, 382 ; measures fur impioviiigtlir

Madias A 1111 V. 3*3 3*6 ; uieilioiiis

• >f Madras, 3*#; 3*9 ; visits Calcutta,

390. meeting with Alslur Halunan

at K.iwal Hindi, 392 397 : letunis to

Madias. 397 ; appointed Cnimiiaii<l>-i-

in Chid in India. 39* ; bii» | visit to

F.tlgbllld, 39s
; aeeiitn|ui1iies |/in|

l>ulbnn to ifwalioi. 39*; pi*s*»i«l-

c. > IMhi. 100: (amp of Kx»tcim at

I>elhl, 101; art Mill (sillies Lohl

Ihitbriu to Ituriua. 102; pifwmb

t«» fh«* Noith-West Frontier, 4**2

;

It Oik 1 4 l four of inspection, 40J

I0*»: draws up a memorandum on

It "illm defence, 107 4**9 ; IjuIv

Hulwitss Mollies, f 1 0- 113: sends

1 •untoiisunent* t*» Ihmna, 113;

land** 11I Kaiigooii. 414; nuaMint

t"i jm|i ih' Ation ol I lipT Hiirnia,

115; insjs«|s N’oith west Fionti-r

with General Cliesnev. 117 ;

1 ,] and (‘ns.* o| 1 he Indian Knipin.

l|s
f
establishes * Regimental lirtl-

UitMt, ‘ ID ;
establish*** tin* Army

Ti'inp'Mii^' Association. 119-1-1 .

makes a tom wilh l*»rd I hitl« rm

along the North Went Fmiitn i

.

422 . official inflections. 423 :
pr*

side* ovei D lelice aid Mol.illZrtt l'
<|

Committee*. 423 126: HupiM.its l^i

Differin'* wdieme for the utilization

of Native State*’ annii*, *4^

;

visit* the frontier, 429; «p™

Christina* in camp. 429: '»'*

Cab ut fa. 429 ;
make* a *M,r ”

uisi^tifui i« iVntml Injjw
.

KajimUna, 429-431 :
and »

"'/f

431 m ;
retnmiel* lh« l

Jj'tvatnr
musket iy indnietioii f*»r

£
Annv, 433 ;

.nipn^n^ J.
Artillery ami Cavalry. ^nS .

vi*ita tne frontier wi^1 *
of

iniiaketry tn*tnie»io..
-

Annv, /n.ljn^n.n. tnj,

Artiflrry uni Cnvulrv,
•

j^nS .

vi*ita tne fnmtier with
tof

A*ljiiUnt Ornnr*l. Mj •
™ 1

|.J7

;

Alwrt Motor In u ‘

Mliridlii,

. ntrvulm* tho l-rinoo «t '"in
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438; rxtciiHion of command, 439;
meet* the Comi twitch in Calcutta,

440 ;
view* on tin* Xatm* Arinv,

441 ; Htqw taken to im-nase its

efficiency, 442 ; eomvsHmn to tin*

Native Army, M3; unable tit

remedy tin* niider-oflieeringot Xati\e
regiment*, 444 ; iiiHiiects tin* /hoi*
valley with (uncial lhai*k«*iibiin

.

445 ; rained to tin* 117 ;

visits Burma. M7 ; visits X<*)*.tl.

448 ;
n:\icw of the Maharaja's hoop*.

449 ; a grand dtirhin. 150 ; .111 even-

ing reception at tin* pahu e. 45] : a

short tour in tin* Punjab. 152: pro-

poned Mission to tin* Amir. 153 : tin-

Slissioii aluMidoiicd, 451 ; adieu t«>

.Simla, 454 ; filial tour in tin* Punjab.
455 ; farewell i‘iit«Tt*iiim< lit* at

Lahore, 456 ; at Lucknow, 157 : ami
at Calcutta, 457

:
pig sticking at

Jaipur ami Jodhpur, 45s
; addles*

from the niuniri|wilit\ ot Alum da-

Iwl, 459; |>artiiig ilium r at tin*

Hvculla Club, 459 ; tin* nnl ot f.ut\

oiic years in Im I m, 100

Roiiianofski, (icnenil. 11 . 43
Rose, Sir Hugh. AW Stiathn.m 11

Ross, Sir John. ii. 311, 321. 322. 312.

362, 364, 366. 397
IJr. Tyrrell, i. 3*5. 3S0. 177

RllftHcll, Hrigadlei I).. 1.306, 313. 335.

343, 344
Sir Henry, ii. 31. 37

Kuttuu Sing, Sulmdar. 1. 254

St. John, Sir Oliver, ii. 113. 317. 354.

355, 358 •
Saiyad Xur Mahomed. ii. 73. 74. 75.

76, 98
Hale, Sir Robert, i. 26 : ii. 171. 253. 330
•Salisbury, The Marquis of, 11 . 119. 397
Salkeld, Lieutenant. i. 229. 230
Salmon, Sir Nowell, i. 383
Halniond, Lieutenant, i. 373
Hamleuiau, Colonel, i. 1 40

Sir Robert, i. 140: ii 8*. 372.

404, 436
Hwidhurat, Loitl (Sir William Mans-

|jeW), i. 801, 323, 331, 354, 355, 356.
;*a3 . 371, 373, 374, 382, 333. 405;
»• 26, 28, 30, 52

Hankar Dana, Native Doctor, ii. 17 4

CapUin, i. 261
^uvaloff, Count, ii. 107
5j°'£ Mijor, i. 210

Uapuiu, it. 241

yxx Ki,an
’ w“ ir* -

Shall Shu pi, i. 19. 26
Sliaidml Khan, Reaaidai, i. 129
Slier Ali, Aniii, ii. 41, 42, 43. 44 45

ii'
4 *‘ 41, ‘ r,°- 72, 73, 74, 75, 7(5 99

J
9;!-

,n - 02, 116, 118, 120’,
U>. l.K. loa, 1/2, 247, 261, 312,
JL>, Ins. 170, 177, 484

Sheiiies, Lieutenant, ii. 145
Sheraton, Lieutenant John, ii. 272
Show, is. Jhig.idiet, i. iso, 200, 201
Sikiiu, Kaja of. ii. 428

' Sindhij. Maharaja, i. 280, 498 ; ii. 96,

Siidai Sing, ii. 431
Skimmi, Janies, i. 241
Sh eill.ili. Colonel, i. 121
Smith. Majoi Kuan, ii. 345
Siuytli -Windham. Major, ii. 270, 273
S]m ns. Captain, 11. 293
Spot tisw node, Colonel, i. 112
Sim eh Si 1 Cliailes, 11. 98
Stew a 1 1. John. i. 2

Pat iu k. i 321
Sii Donald, i. 16, 177, 404.

til. 502. 503. 504, 505, 506;
ii. 28. 53, 67, 82. 117, 183.

199. 310, 315, 317. 321, 322,

323. 324, 329. 330, 335, 337,
338. 339. 310. 346, 351, 372,

382, 384, 392. 398, 401, 403
Sir Herbert, ii. 71

Stpm art -Mackenzie. Captain, ii. 274,

276
1

Stillman, Lieutenant, i. 1S7

Stohetolf. (ieiieral, ii. 110. 113. 248

Struthnairn. Lord (Sir Hugh Hose), i.

137. 110. 181, 183, 486, 490. 493,

191, 198. 199 ; ii. 1. 14, 22, 26, 71

. Stmt ton. Captain, ii. 222. 369

Sullmin. (limner, i. 294

1 Sultan Jan. Sliahzada, ii. 163. 164

i Swat. Akhund of, ii. 4. 8

Swinley. Captain, ii. 160. 290

S\ad Ahmed Shall, ii. 2. 3

Symons. Major. ii. 416

Synge. Captain, i. 230

1 Taim i lam*, i. 471

! Tniiiu'i. Sh Orirl. ii. 351. 352

Tantii Topi. i. 201. 301, 368, 369, 3U,

|
:C8, 379. 198

Tn\ lor. iVrrinl. i. 230

Colonel Kevnell. 11. /,9, 1L19, 21

Sir Alexander, i. 181, 21/,

244 : ii. 5, W
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Teiii|»le, Sir Richard, ii. 81

Tlttbaw. King, ii. 399, 400
TheUall, Brigadier

,
ii. 137

Theodore, King, ii. 27, 32, 33, 37

Thomson, Lieutenant, i. 294

Thornton, Thomas, i. 144

Tonilw, Sii Harry, i. 132, 139, 173,

187, 220, 237

Tonk, Xawah of, i. 467

Toanseml, Dr., ii. 200

Travamw, Maharaja of, ii. 3*7, 388

Travers. lieutenant Katmi, i. 203

Major, i. 320, 324

Trevchan, Sir diaries, i. 1 80

Trouer, Lieu tenan t, ii. 280

Tryon, Sir Ccorge, ii. 36

Turner Colonel F., i. 275, 391

Sir W. W., ii. 11, l.
r

», Id, 17

Tytler, Ca|>taiu, i. 160

l
f

dai|*ur. Mahaiaua of, ii. 97, 130

Claar, Maharaja of, i. 166 ; it. 131

Cnjur Tiaari, i. 37 V 390

Vaudeleur, Major, ii. 3«>0

Yaughau, lieutenant, i. 3*2, 3\J

Sir T. L, ii. 14

Vietoria, II. M. CJueen, ii. 150, 309.

372, 376. 439, 447

Villier*, Colonel, ii. 125

Vitkievitrh, Captain, it. 104, 105

Vt/iana|(rmm f Maharaja of, ii. 387

Vothdm, Captain, ii. 290, 291

Wales, II.R.II. the Prims, of, i. 220;
ii. 3*, 82. 83, 8 | t 97

Walidad Khan, i. 263

Wali Mahomed Khan, ii. Id I, 201, 206,

207, 245, 253, 296

Walker, (general, i. Ill

Waller, M^jor Holier t, L 26

Walpole, Brigadier, I. 369, 381

Walton, Captain, i. 325, 326

Warbnrton, Colonel, ii. 405

Waferlteld, Colonel Darroir, ii. 125,

151, 158, 186

Waterford, The Marchioness of, l 472

Watson, Hir John, i. 43, 257, 260, 262,

265, 272, 274, 276, 291, 292, 310,

311,315, 321,393 ; ii. 167

Welchman, Colonel, i. 173
Wellesley, The Marquis, i. 425
Wheeler, Sir Hugh, i. 204, 293

TallioyM, ii. 93
White, Sir Ceorge, i. 58 ; ii. 216, 219

220, 223, 225, 227, 283, 366,
411,415,139

Wihle, Sir Alfred, i. 114, 257, •>-<}

327, 408 ; ii. 14, 15

William 1.. The Km|teror, ii. 401
Williams, Lieutenant, i. 143, 145, 116

Majm Bm ii. 286, 290
Willoughby, Lieutenant, i. 329
WiU.ii, Sir Aiehdale, i. 152, 154, 1.17

198, 212. 213, 215, 216, 217, 224

’

-35, 237, 23*, 239, 210, 241. 243,

244, 218. 249, 255, 257, 258, 390
WiU»ii, Colonri, i. 295

.lames, i. 480
W iiiehrster, Mary, ii. 51. 6.1

Windham. Sir Cliarh*, i. 361, 362. 36:1.

361. 367, 368, 369 377, 378, 37l>!

380. 476

WnU-b-j, Lord, i. 336, 111 ; ii. 379
Wright. Major, i. 66; ii. IS, 19

Wylie, Colonel, ii. 41*. 151

Wynne, Captain, ii. ] 12, 162

Wynter, Captain, ii. 31.1

Yahia Khan, ii. 233, 258

Yakub Khan, ii. 88, 156, 157, 168.

169, 170. 171, 172, 173, 181, 182,

188, 190, 191, 192, 194, 195, 196.

197. 201, 202, 203. 204, 207, 210.

211, 222. 230, 233, 234, 235, 215,

216. 247, 2W, 249, 250, 251, 2.11,

255, 258. 262, 299, 301, 314, 318.

319, 320" 327, 468, 469, 170, 475,

176, 478, 180. 481

Yanoff, Colonel, ii. 116

Yorke, lieutenant, i. 145

YounghiwUnd, Captain F.. ii. 446

Lieulenatlt Crmge, i. 182, 184,

237, 237, 262. 271, 276, 3D,

318, 384, 385, 386, 401

Miyor, L 140

Yule, Colour*Sergeant, ii. 285

\ Zakarish Khali, Ii. 233, 2.»9
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CHIEF PUBLIC EVENTS.

Aiiih i; Raiiman proclaimed Amir ii

329
Abyssinian Expedition, ii. 27-38
Agra, Fight Ht, i. 272-278
Ahm«lkhc1, Battle of, ii. ;322. 351
Aligarh, Fight at, i. 247
Alipur, Attack on, i. 182-184

Army CommUnion, ii. 179, 180
Assassination uf Lord Mayo, ii. (37, t>8

Barrmokpore, Outbreak at, i. 7\ 79
Berhanumr, Outbreak at, i. 77
Berlin Treaty, ii. 110, 111

Black Mountain Ex|»cditioiiH, ii. 42*.
139

Bulandshahr, Action at, i. 261
Burma Ex]x*ditioii, ii. 399. 400. 413-

417

1

D08t
r^

a
!‘.
0mr1 ’ Tre8ty with, i. 50-57

Death of, ii. 42

!• •*ro/»*jiore, Outbreak at, i. 126, 127

Gandanmk, Treaty of, ii. 173, 245
Owalioi fortress, Rendition of, ii. 398

j

Hmi'i Xiiga Campaign, ii. 446, 447

' ImfH-i ml assemblage of 1877, 11 . 91-98

!

Jouaki Expedition, i. 29,31-34

|

Kabul, Cavagnari’s Mission to, ii, 177
I

Exjwdition, ii. 181-330

|

Massacre of Embassy at, ii. 182-
188

Cawnnore, Fight at, i. 367-373
Massacre at, i. 292-295

J

Osarcwitoh visits India, ii. 440
j

Cltaraaia. Fights at, ii. 216-222. 323
j

Chardeh Valley, Fight 111 the ii. 270-
|

281
j

Chitml Expedition, ii. 428, 446, 447
|

llellii. Camp of Exercise at. ii. 400, 401,
402

Delhi, Siege of, i. 151-255 : tlie first

victory, 153 ; enthusiasm of the
tfoonj, 155 ; Barnard’# success, 157 ;

the Flagstaff Tower, 158 ; attacking
force placed in position, 160 ; de-
fence*, 161 ; death of (juintiu Battye,
1W ; the besiegers Waieged, 169;
naid Aghting, 1/1 ; arrival of rein-

foroementa, 179 ; death of Barnard,
'8B

; Reed takea command, 186;
treachery in camp, 191 ; more hard
fighting, 193 ; sufferings of sick and
wounded, 195 ; Wilson takes com-
^pd, 198 ; more reinforcement* I

• Baird • Smith plan*
attack, 214 ; breaching lotteries at
work, 221 ; the assault, 227 ; Nichol-

te

,,on wounded, 234 ; storming of the
lace, 247 ; Hodaon captures the

pg» 249 ; Hudson snoots the
nnces, 260 ; Nicholson dies, 2M ;

«»esiV ended, 261

Repulse of British Mission to. ii.

113-116

Russian Mission to, ii. 109, 110,
111

Kandahar, Defeat of Ayuli Khan at,

ii. 362-369

March to, ii. 337-358

Kliost. Action at, ii. 159

Khtidaganj, Fight at, i. 383-386

Kohat. Expedition near, ii. 439
Kuram Expedition, ii. 121-167

Lucknow, Relief of, i. 305-349
;

Sir

Colin’s prejiarations, 305 ; the ad-

vance lh gnn, 307 ;
reinforcements

arrive, 309 ; attack by the enemy,

312 ;
ammunition wanting, 316

;

the advance, 321 ; Sir Colin wounded,

323 : attack on the Sikandarbagh,

325 : the Shah Najuf, 333 ;
the re-

lief efFeotcd, 336 ;
meeting of the

Cenerals, 339 ; the evacuation, 346

Lucknow, Siege of, i. 394-410 ;
Napier’s

plan adopted, 396 ;
capture of the

Chakar Kothi, 399 ;
capture of the

iron bridge, 401 ;
visit from Jung

Bahadur, 402; Hodson mortally

wounded. 403 ;
Sir Colin’s mistake,

406 ;
the city taken, 408

Lusliai Expedition, ii. 53-68

Maiwand. Disaster at, ii. 330, 334, 335

Manilla Hill. Disaster at. 11. 379
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Mandalay, Capture of, ii. 399
Manipur ExjftMitioii, ii. 440
Meerut, Mutiny at, i. 80-91

Ui&uganj, Taking of, i. 391, 392
Mian Mir, Disarmament at, i. 119-121

Multan, Disarmament at. i. 127-132

Mutiny, The, ofl 857-1858, i. 82-449

Causes of, i. 414-437

Cliauces of its recurrent*?, i. 138-449

First tidings of, i. 62-66

New light on, i. 431

Predicted hy Sir Henry Lawrence,

i. 349 : and hy Sir John Mal-

colm, i. 423

Oudli, Annexation of, i. 120-424

Panipat, Three Hatties of, ii. 401

Panjdeh, Incident at, ii. 391, 395, 397

Peiwar Kotal, Taking of, ii. 130-148

Persia. War with, i. 55

Prince Altiert Victor visits India, ii.

437, 438
Prince of Wales visits India, ii. 82-84

Royal Proclamation of 1859, i. 454

Sheortnpur, Fight at, i. 376
Sher All, Death of, ii. 168

Russian Treaty with, ii. 248, 477
Nhutargardan, Attack on the, ii. 209
Sikandnrltagh, Attack on the, i. 325-

329
Sikim Kxpedition, ii. 428

Takht-i-Hhah, Taking of tin*, ii. 283,

284, 285

rmU'yla Kx|n*dition, ii. 1-22

rp|«r Hui ilia, Annexation of, ii. 402

Zlioh K\]"*dition, ii. 439
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The History of Antiquity.
From ihc German of the laic Professor Mw UiMKbR, by Evelyn
AimorT, M.A., LL.D., of Rilliol College, Oxford. Six \oK, demy Svo.

Each Volume can lx* obi amol «e|*arate1y, 2K.

Ihr Ancient Kingdom- of 1*0 pi. Ilxhxl* ma. \—>na the lMia*nuaans. Hebrew-, Arabians,

the Empire* of the Metier. IVr-ian-, and I.\di.m*>, and ibe Karlx Hi-iorx of India.

"A work which should lie in the hand- t >f r\tr\ hi-turnal student, not merely for parsing

reference, hut to be rarefult) read anti dig* -led In .ill -i\ xoIuiirn «t max -afely **ay dial there

ls no chapter lacking in iutcri-t. - Vhf Sntuntny AYr/r.v.

The History of Greece ,

From the Earliest Tunes to the Suppression of the Messenian Rebellion.

From the German of Professor Max Dt x* hER. l>cniy Svo. (Uniform in

size with 'The History of Antiouity.*) Yoi I.. translated by S. K Ai.leyne,

»Ss« Vou II., translated by S. F. Ai l v\ xf and Dr. 1a f.i y.n Ahhoit, 15s.

By DR. CT UTIL'S.

The History of Greece
Vtak. . I »-» * * fn- «*rom the Earliest Time down to 337
Excellency Professor Ernst CVr rit‘ s »

University of Berlin. By A.
each volume separately, 18s.
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By DR. MOMMSEN.

The History of Rome,
From the Earliest Times to the Period of its Decline. By Professor
Theodor Mommsen. Translated by Wiii.iam IVkdik Dickson, D.I).
LL.D., formerly Professor of Divinity in the University of Glasgow. A new
and cheaper edition, revised, and embodying all the most recent alterations
and additions made by Dr. Mommsen. In five vols., crown 8vo. (each sold
separately, 7s. 6d.), 37s. 6d.

Also, an ABRIDGED EDITION for the use of Schools and Colleges.
By C. Bryans and F. J. R. Hendy. One vol. t enmn 8vo. t 7s. 6d.

'Dr. Mommsens HUlory increases in interest an he approaches the term of the memorable
period he ha* illustrated with such felicity and genius ... His work is uf the \ery highest
merit ; it> learning i* exact ami profound ; ns narrative n full <>f genius ami skill ; its dev rip.
lioiM of men arc admirably vivid. . . . We wish to pba-e on record our opinion that his is by
far the best history of the decline and fall of the Roman Commonwealth.’— 7 he Times.

*

The History of the Roman Provinces

,

From the time of Caesar to that of Diocletian.

Translated by Dr. P. \V. Dickson,
36*.

TIIK HORDER TRIBES.
SPAIN.
GAU1-
CONQITF.RED GERMANY.
FREE GERMANY.
BRITAIN.
THE DANCBIAN PROVINCES

By Professor Mommskv
Two vols. , demy 8vo. f with Ten Maps,

GREEt-T

.

ASIA MINOR.
MESOPOTAMIA and parthia
S\ R I A AND NA HAT IKEA.
JCD.EA.
H.YPT.
THE AFRICAN PROVINCES.

* Of all the great scholars of tiermany nor* »n owr own day rives taller in intellectual Mature

than Professor Mommsen. . . . Ahead > a kind of legendary halo l»rcins to shine around the

head of the* **De»)digy of literalur«, a« hit own country men * alt him, who, so it is said, n abl** t >

do with only four hours of sleep, who wds two working da>s into one, who is so aUirled in

his work that he scarcely knows his own children when he meets ihrm, ami m> forth. . . Wherever

the uwlrnl of the hwlory of the Roman |e»ipl** turns hi» »tcp* he i« sure to hnd that M'tmmen
has been there before him. Roman rn,na*r, Roman ins. notions, early republican insiiiiiii.<ns

late imperial chroniclers, the rode of Justinian, the stoty nf ('ortnlarms—everything whuh ha* to

do in any way with the Seven-hilled ( sty is part id the vast /r*»T tm 01 ,/f this Ca*var ol histur)

The Pmit MeUl Oesutte. m

By PKOFEnSOK BROWNE.

A History of Roman Classical Literature.
By R. W. Browne, M.A., Ph.U, Ulc Prebendary of Sr. Paul's and Pro-

fessor of Classical Literature in Kmg’s College, London. Demy 8vo., 9s.

' Pmfteaor Browne was not only a classical scholar, hsil ^ne of the most graceful of Engh'h

modem writer*. In clearness, purity, and elcgarne nf style, hi* compositions were iinMiria^1’'

and has sketches of the lives and works nf the great authors of anOqaiiy were models olrefin

taste and sound entinsm. We. esteem very highly the value nf a work like ihit. It t* *•** rrs

of great research and profound study ; hut it is also popular and enicrtaiwnf. Mermimg^ t «

Bv MADAM K M IGNATY.

Sketches of the Historic Past of Italy

;

From the Fell of the Roman Empire to the F.arlic*t Revival of Letted »n(

ArU, By Margaret Alban a M ignaty. Demy 8vo. # 16*.
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Bv SIR W. BKSANT and PROFESSOR PALMER.

The History of Jerusalem.
By Sir Walter Nksani. M.A., and E. H. Palmer, M.A., late Professor

of Arabic, Cambridge. Third Edition, large crown 8vo., with Map, 7s. 6d.

Taken p«tly l™** 1 the works of the Crusading historians, the travels of the early pilgrims and
other authorities not often c annulled ; and panly from the accounts of Mohammedan writers whose
works have never before lwren u«*ed for the purpose. 1 hu*, the history is given from two points of
yfcw—the Christian and the Moslem.

Contents—

T

he Siege by Titus—From 'iitus to Omar—The Mohammedan Conquest—The
Christian Pilgrims- 1 he Crusades and the I-nin Kingdom—Saladin—The Mohammedan
Pilgrims -The Chronii le of Su Hundred Years.

By PROFESSOR GINDELY.

The History of the Thirty Years’ War.
By Anion Gindei.y. Translated by Professor Andrew Ten Brook.

Two vols., large crown 8vo., with Maps and Illustrations, 24s.

4 Among the productions of foreign historians which ha\e lately been given us in an English

form there \s perhai* none that should lie ret ci\ed with a warmer welcome than this “ History of

the Thirty Y>ar*‘ War.” Although we are not aluajs able to agree fully with the author's

treatment of certain parts of his siibjcv t, 11 would l»r diflkult to point to a single page of his work

that b not full of interesting and suggest!*** matter. I he book is in a convenient shape, and is

furnished with two useful iru»i>** and a minder of jiortraits and charming reproductions of old

German plan* and pictures of kittles and sieges / he (.vardian

.

By DR. STEVENS.

Memoir of Gustavus Adolphus.
By John L. Si evens, IX.D., Ambassador of the United States Government

at Stockholm. DcmySvo., with Portrait, 15s.

By THE KING OF SWEDEN AND NORWAY.

Charles the Twelfth : a Memoir.
— *T irway. Translated with

Iler Britannic Majesty’s
lllll 1 FI '

,

Royal 8*0., with Two Illustrations, 12s.

By llis Majesty Tim Kts<; ok Swuien asm Norway.

Its Majesty's permission liy ItKoRCF. Ar<tEOiii.»., "
Consul at Stockholm.

By PROFESSOR CREASY.

The Fifteen Decisive Battles of the World.

Marathon, B.c. 490; t^fcat of the Athenians at 40. Atr^

».c. 33,. The Me.au,us, M. *»! I><*»
a.d. 14*9!

A.I*. 4SU Train, A.D. 73*! Hastinp, a.d.

The Spanish Armada, a.d. 155S ; B '
.' .702^' Waterloo, A.D. 1815.

A-n. 1709 ; Saratoga, A. t>. 1777 : ^ -'liny. A.t . 79 ,» Thirty-seventh
By Sir EnwAao

T

rkasv, late Chief )^ ! . n ornamental
Edition, with Plans. Crown 8vo., canvas boards, is. 4<i.

.

cloth binding, with red edge*, 2».

Au°. a LIBRARY EDITION. 8vo., with Plans, 7*-
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Bv FIELD-MARSHAL LORD WOLSELEY.

The Life of John Churchill, First Duke
of Marlborough.

Vols I. and II., to the Accession of <v>ueen Anne. By the Right lion.
Viscount Wolseley, K.P., G.C.B., G.C.M.G., D.C.L., I.L.D, Com-
mander-in-Chief. In demy 8va, with Portraits of the Duke nnd Duchess
of Marlborough, James II., William III., the Duke of Monmouth, Duchess
of CleveUnd, and other Illustrations or Plans, Fourth Edition, 32s.

By LIEUTENANT LOW.

The Life of Viscount Wolseley.
By Charles Kahihonk Low, F.R.G.S. Crown 8vu., with Portrait, 6*.

Edited iiy THE TWELFTH EARL OF DUNDONA LD.

The Autobiography ofa Seaman : Thomas

,

Tenth Earl of Dundonald.
Popular Edition, with a Sequel relating Lord Dundonatd’s services in

South America, ami in the War cf the Greek Independence, and with an

account of his later life and scientific inventions. With Portraits, Chart",

.and Nine Illustrations on Wood, crown Svo., 6s.

By M. LAVISSK.

The Youth of Frederick the Great.
From the French of EknPsI Lavisnf, l»y sikillFN Loris SlMhON.
In demy 8to., i6s.

By M. Lf.VY.

The Private Life of Napoleon.
From the French of Arthlr Levy, by Stephen Louts Simeon. Second

Edition, 2 voU., demy 8vo. t with frontispieces, 28s.

By the DUKE OF TARENTUM.

The Recollections of Marshal Macdonald,
during the wan of the Find Napoleon. Translated by SrhPllFN Loris

Simeon. A New Din ion, with Notes ami Portrait, crown 8vo., 6s.

By GENERAL GREELV.

Three Years of Arctic Service, and the

Attainment of the Farthest North.
By Adolphu> W. Greei.y, General U.S. Army, Commanding the Fxpcdit|‘>n '

1881*84. With Portrait of the Author, over One Hundred and Twenty IIluMra*

ttons, and Official Charts. Third Edition, 2 vols., royal 8vo., 42*.

By COLONEL CAMPBELL.

Lettersfrom Camp,
To his Relatives at Home during
Frederick Campbell. Edited,

Colonel W. P. L’Earmanor, R.A. 1

Wolseley,and a Portrait by Low**

the Siege of Sclmstopol. By
jj

with Note., by R. R “"""KVjS
With Introduction by HeW-Mera*"1

DtrKiNHON. Crown 8vo.,wlih Ms| ,7-

x atn c/)A' LONDON\



Storks of Unbal & Military Bitmst—<c»*w>.
Hv FIELD-MARSHAL LORD ROBERTS

Forty-one Years in India:
From Suiiai.tprn io Commander-In-Chief r„ >. ,, ,

Ri^ht I Ion. Lord Rohekisok Kandahar. V.C..G.C B GcVl rrio'With Portraits of Field-Marshal Lord Koberts, General Sir MminllvFh'JF'
Sir Henry Lawrence. General Nicholson. Sir James Outram ^Trd
Sir William Mansfield. Lord Napier of Magdala Sir DonaM
Samuel Browne. Sir Arthur Ilardinge, 11.11. the Amir of AfghanUtSi-and
Plans of Delhi, Lucknow, Cawnpore, Kabul, Kandahar, etc. EleventhEdition. In 2 vols., demy 8vo.

,
36s.

icvcmo

By MISS FITZGIBBOX.

A Veteran of 1812.
(The Defence of Canada ) The I .ife of Jamf.s Fn zcmuo.v. By his dauehterMary Acnfs Ft i/oiiiiuin. Author of < A Trip to Manitoba.* Crown 8vo

’

with Portrait and Illustrations, 7s. 6d.
’’

ltv MR. JAMES.

The Naval History of Great Britain

,

*793 10 lS2°* Ky Wiu IAM Jamks. With a Continuation to the Battle of
Navarino, by Captain Chamier. With Portraits of William James, Lord
Nelson, Sir Thomas Troubridge, Earl St. Vincent, Lord Duncan, Sir Hyde
Parker, Sir Ncshit Willoughby, Sir William lloste, lxmi Hood, Earl Howe,
Sir Sidney Smith, I>ird Dundonald. 6 vols., crown 8vo.,42s.

Some further reference l" ihis work will 1* fount! on page 7.

By LIEUTENANT LOW'.

The History of the Indian Navy.
An Account of the Creation, Constitution, War Services, and Suiveys
of the Indian Navy lietwccn the years 1613 and 1S64. By Charles
Rathbone Low, (laic) Inrban Navy, F.R.G.S. 2 vols., demy 8vo., 36s.

By COLONEL DAVIS.Ill I'A* !’.

The History of the Second Queen's (Royal

West Surrey) Regiment.
By Lieut.’Colonel John Davis, F.S.A., Author of 'Records of the Second

Royal Surrey Militia .

1 Royal 8vo., with numerous Illustrations. \ol. I.,

*661-1684 ; Vol. II. , 16841714; Vol. III., 17*5 *799. now issued, pnee

*4*- each. The work will be completed in four volumes.

JP*e wlum« of thi* work is dcvotcl to an hi%i-iricalaccount of theENoi.isH OccurATmN

J^Tangims. The completing volume is expccied omiuui a roll of the Officers of the Kegi

By CAPTAIN GOFF.

Records of the 91st Highlanders,
Now the isr Battalion ok the PrincessLouisf’sArca*lland Suihrii-

land Hicii landers, containing an Account of the i ormation of the Kegimem

» > 794, and of it. Subsequent Services to .881. Amd by
f*OKF. Finn Battalion Argyll and Sutherland Highlanders. With co

platea and numerous other Illustrations. Demy 8vo„ 30s. _

PURLIStfKV C nrnrs'ii"’ ijirv ifJ/A’CTV



SKork* of Jfrtbal & Jftilitarp Intmat—(continued).

By the HON. SIR HENRY KEPPEL.

The Autobiography of Admiral of the

Fleet SirHenry Keppel, G. C.B., D. C.L.

,

Author of ‘ A Voyage to the Indian Archipelago,’ etc. From 1809 to 1895.
With numerous Illustrations by the late Sir Oswald Brierly, Marine Painter

to Her Majesty. In 2 vols., demy 8vo. [In the Press.

By CAPTAIN BURGOYNE.

Records of the 93rd Highlanders,
Now the 2nd Battalion Princess Louise’s Argyll and Sutherland
Highlanders. By Captain Roderick Hamilton Burgoyne, late 93rd

Highlanders. A history of the Regiment from its formation to the present

time. With numerous Illustrations of dress, etc. Demy 8vo., 30s.

By CAPTAIN WOOLLRIGHT.

A History of the 57th Regiment.
From 1755 to 1881. Including a Recoi d of the Services of the (West Middle-
sex) 1 Die Hards/ in the American War of Independence, Flanders, the West
Indies, the Peninsula, France, the Crimea, New Zealand, Zululand, etc. By
Captain Henry H. Woollright, Middlesex Regiment. With Coloured

Plates, Maps, and other Illustrations. Demy 8vo., 30s.

By COLONEL RAIKES.

The History of the Honourable Artillery

Company of London.
Including also a brief history of the American Branch of the Regiment
founded at Boston in 1638. By Colonel G. A. Raikes, F.S.A. 2 vols., with

Portraits, Coloured Illustrations, and Maps, demy 8vo., 31s. 6d. each.

THE ANCIENT VELLUM BOOK OF THE COMPANY.
Being the Roll of Members from 1611 to 1682. Edited, with Notes and

Illustrations, by Colonel Raikes, F.S.A. Demy 8vo., 21s.

THE ROYAL CHARTER OF INCORPORATION GRANTED
TO THE COMPANY BY HENRY VIII. IN 1537. Also the Royal

Warrants issued from 1632 to 1889, and Orders in Council from 1591 to 1634.

Edited by Colonel Raikes, F.S.A. Thin demy 8vo., 7s. 6d.

The Roll of Officers of the York and
Lancaster Regiment.

Vol. I. The First Battalion, late 651H Foot. [Out ofprint.

Vol. II. The Second Battalion, late 84TH Foot. By Colonel G. A.

Raikes, F.S.A Demy 8vo., 21s.

Records of the First Regiment ofMilitia;
or Third West York Light Infantry. By Colonel G. A. Raikes, F.S.A With

Eight full-page Illustrations. Demy 8vo., 21s.

V For Colonel Fletcher’s 1 History of the American Civil War, see page 13.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON, LONDON.
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By PROFESSOR CREASY

Tk Mm£’ami ,t,h' *»“

SSSSSKSK^arsSS?
The Fifteen Decisive Battles of the World.

plge 3. ^THrty-seventh* Edhion^wfth ^Plans °Crown°8
K°r Con,

t"
,s see

is. 4d. 5 or in cloth gilt, red edges “s
°W" 8v0- canvas ^"'s,

Also, a LIBRARY EDITION. Svo., with Plans. 7s. 6d.

By MR. JAMES.

The Naval History of Great Britain,

Twelve CraBs o”.’

%

s^tam C,1AM1EK- 6 vols., crown 8vo„ wit?

describe. He read and dialled iff ,£ ^ surviving actore in the events which he purposed to

^wimts^a^id arrived^the^nirioritv'of

iV^c"e«
exploits of which he

lnd <° analyse the true fore, of every ship the
more scrupulously conscientious.*’

—

^ftrrtnightly^Revieuu
1"^ Pa,nslak'"*- more .mlcfa.ig.bl.,

*** See also page 5.

t

13y MR. LORD.

The Lost Possessions of England,
Tangier, Minorca, Cuba, Manila, Dunkirk, Corsica, Buenos Ayres, Java, the
Ionian Islands, etc. By Walter Frkwrn Lord. Crown 8vo., 6s.

By M. GUIZOT.

The Life of Oliver Cromwell.
Fro® the French of M. Guizot by Sir Andrew R. Scoble, Q.C. Ninth
Edition. Crown 8vo., with Four Portraits, 6s.

By M. MIGNET.

The Life of Mary Queen of Scots.
From the French of M. Mignet, by Sir Andrew R. Scoble, Q.C.
Seventh Edition. With Two Portraits, crown 8vo., 6s.

PUBLISHERS in ORDINARY to HER MAJESTY.
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continued
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>.

By MRS. MURRAV SMITH.

A Life of Arabella Stuart.
By Emily Tennyson Bradley. 2 vols., crown 8vo., with Portraits and
Facsimile, 24s.

By DR. DORAN.

The Queens of England of H. of Hanover.
Sophia Dorothea of Zell (wife of George I.)—Carolina Wilhelmina Dorothea

(wife of George II.)—Charlotte Sophia (wife of George III.)—Caroline of

Brunswick (wife of George IV.)—Adelaide of Saxe-Meinengen (wife of

William IV.). By Dr. DOran, F.S.A., Author of ‘Table Trails and

Something on Them,* etc. Fourth and enlarged Edition. 2 vols., 8vo., 25s.

By MR. RUSH.

The Court of London.
By Richard Rush, United States Minister in London, 1819— 1825. Edited

by his Son, Benjamin Rush. Demy 8vo., 16s.

By MR. COOKE TAYLOR.

The History of the Factory System,
From the Earliest Times down to the present day. By Whately Cooke
Taylor. Introductory volume. Demy 8vo., 16s.

By MR. P. COURTNEY.

English Whist and Whist Players.
By William Prideaux Courtney. Demy 8vo., 14s.

Birth and Progress of Whist— Prelates as Whist-Players— Whist at the Univereities —
Woman’s Whist—Celebrated Whist Parties—The Devil’s Books Snd the Devil’s Own— Warriors

at Whist—GamUlers at Whist— Clubs and Cards—Kings and their Subjects at Whist—Combina-

tions and Superstitions at Cards—The Ideal Whist-Player—The Whist of the Poets—Whist and

the Novelists—Books on Whist and their Authors.

By DEAN HOOK.

Lives of the Archbishops of Canterbury.
See page 17.

By THE DEAN OF WINCHESTER.

Memorials ofthe Cathedral of Chichester.
From Original Sources, by the Very Rev. W. R. W. Stephens, F.S.A.,

Dean of Winchester, Author of ‘ The Life and Times of St. John Chry-

sostom,' etc. Demy 8vo., with Plan of the Cathedral, and Seven Illustra-

tions, 213.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON, LONDON
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Continued).

By MR. JOYCE.

The History of the Post-Office.
From its establishment down to 1836. By Herbert Joyce, C.B., of the Post-

. Office. Demy 8vo., 16s.
Early Posts. The Battle ok the Patents. Thomas Withering*?. Edmund Pkiubaux

and Clement Oxenbridge. William Dockwra. Cotton ani» Frankland. American
Posts. The Post-Office Act ok 1711. Ralph Allen. John Palmer. FkaniisFkke-
LING. IREIAND.
‘A work of great historical value—a work which is not only a history of a particular State

Department, but also a valuable contribution to the social history of the seventeenth and
eighteenth centuries.'

—

The Graphic.

By MR. BAINES.

Forty Years at the Post-Office,
1850 to 1890. A Personal Narrative. By Frederick E. Baines, C.B.,

sometime Surveyor-General of Telegraphs, Assistant Secretary and Inspector-

General of Mails. In 2 vols., large crown 8vo., with Portrait, etc. 2is.

The Northern and Western Mail Roads— Irish and Scotch Mails—Penny Poxtagc—Sl.

Martin’s-le-Grand —Die Administration (metropolitan and provincial), with Personal Skctcnes-

Inland Posts—Foreign and Colonial Matters—Electric Telegraphs, Rise (1836), their Transfer to

the State (1870), Inland and Submarine—Methods and Management -Blockwled Mails—The

Parcel Post—Great Mail-Packet Companies— The Overland Route to India and Australia— I ne

Rail.

‘A valuable record of work done, by one who was himself behind the scenes, and a storehouse

ofanecdote and reminiscence.' Daily Telegraph.
. , . ,

...
' Not only the result of ripe experience and varied talents judiciously applied, but contains

valuable material for the statesman, the economist, and the future historian.

‘The volumes for the most part are historical, descriptive, and anecdotal, and in each qualitj

they are full of attraction.’

—

Times.

On the Track of the Mail Coach.
By Frederick E. Baines, C.B., Author of * Forty Years at the Post Office,’

sometime Surveyor-General of Telegraphs and Assistant .Secretary and In-

spector-General of Mails. Crown 8vo., with Frontispiece, 7s.

By MISS HILL.

A History of English Dress.
By Georgian* Hilt. Two vols., demy 8vo, with fourteen Portraits on

steel, 30s. D
Saxon-Norman Period—Plantagenkt Perio^Thk Reign of the

—Tudor Period—Stuart Period—The Hanoverian l e

• A monument of careful labour.'-Black and White.

Women in English Life.
By Georgian* Hiri! Author of ‘A History of English Dress, etc.

2 vols., demy 8vo., 28s.

A History of English Horse-Racing. See page 36.
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By SIR WALTER BESANT.

The French Humourists,from the Twelfth

to the Nineteenth Century.

By Sir Walter Besant, M.A., Christ's Coll., Cam., F.S.A. 8vo., 15s.

Rutebeuf—Guillaume de Lorris—Jean de Meung—Eustache Deschamps— Rabelais—Mon-
taigne— Rapin—Passerat—Pithon—Regnier— St. Amant— Benserade— Voiture— Scarron—La
Fontaine—Boileau—Molifcre—Regnard—Cresset—Beaumarchais—Bdranger, and others;

By MISS PARDOE.

The Court and Reign of Francis I.
By Julia Pardoe. 3 vols., demy 8vo., with numerous Portraits on Steel,

and a brief Memoir of the Author, 42s.

The illustrations comprise Francis the First (two portraits by Titian)
;
Queen Eleanor

;

The Emperor Charles the Fifth (two portraits by Titian) ; Duke of Bourbon and Constable of
France (by Titian); The Chevalier Bayard; Henry the Eighth (by Holbein); Henry the
Eighth embarking for France ; Ignatius Loyola (by wierix) ; Marguerite de Valois, Catherine
de Mddicis (two portraits); The Duchesse d’Etampes, Diana of Poictiers, The Duke of Alva (by
Schubert); Annas de Montmorency, Constable of France, and Julia Pardoe. The cover of the
book is from a design by Diana of Poictiers.

The Court of Louis the Fourteenth.
By Julia Pardoe. With upwards of Fifty Woodcuts, and numerous Por-

traits on Steel. 3 vols., demy 8vo., 42s.

Portraits on Steel.
Louis XIV. (four portraits^. Cardinal Mazarin. Anne of Austria. Madame de S^vignA Louis,

Prince de Condtf. Ninon de l’Enclos. Madame de Maintenon (three portraits). Marshal
Turenne. Philippe, Due d'Orleans. Mdlle. de Vallifere (two portraits). Madame de
Montespan. Colbert.

The Life of Marie de Medicis,
Consort of Henry IV., and Regent of France during the early years of

Louis XIII. By Julia Pardoe. 3 vols., demy 8vo., with Portraits and
Facsimiles, 42s.

Illustrations on Steel.
Marie de Medicis (two portraits). Henri de Lorraine, Due dj Guise. The Eve of Saint

Bartholomew. Gabrielle d’Estrdes. Marshal de Biron. *Duc de Sully. Henri IV.

Louis XIII. (two portraits). Marshal de Bassompierre. Cardinal de Richelieu (two

portraits). Anne of Austria. Mardchal de Schomberg. Cardinal Mazarin. George Villiers,

first Duke of Buckingham. Marquis de Cinq-Mars.

Works by Lady Jackson.

The Court of France under Francis I. and Henrv II.

2 vols., large crown 8vo., with Portraits, 24s.

The Last of the Valois,
And the Accession of Henry of Navarre, 1559—1610. 2 vols., large crown
8vo., with Portraits, 24s.

The First of the Bourbons.
2 vols., large crown 8vo., with Portraits, 24s.

The Old Regime.
2 vols., large crown 8vo., with portraits, 24s.

*,* * Old Paris,' 1 French Court and Society,' and 'The Court of the Tuileries ' are at present out

of print.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON, LONDON.
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By SIR F. MONTEFIORE, Bart.

The Princesse de Lamballe

.

A Memoir, by Sir Francis Montrfiore. In i vol., crown 4to. # with
numerous Portraits and other Illustrations, 12s. 6d.

By the DUC D’AUMALE.

Lives of the Princes of the House of CondS.
By the Due d’Aumale. Translated by the Rev. R. Brown-Borthwick.
2 voIs., 8vo., with two fine Portraits, 30s.

By MADAME DU NOYER.

The Correspondence of Anne du Noyer.
During the Reign of Louis XIV. Now first translated by Florence Layard.
2 vols., demy 8vo., with Portraits and Notes, 30s.

By MADAME CAMPAN.

The Life of Marie Antoinette.
By Jeanne Louise Henriette Campan, First Lady in Waiting. With

Memoir of Madame Campan, by MM. Barriers and Maignr. New and

Revised Edition, with additional Notes, and Portrait. Crown 8vo., 6s.

• Madame Campan was first Woman of the Bedchamber to Marie Antoinette, and escaped

almost by a miracle through the Reign of Terror.
_
She died last year, and in her bureau were

found most curious and authentic memoirs of her life during her service about the y e

have suspended the issue of this review to read them, and have read them with delight.

Quarterly Review (1823).

By MADAME JUNOT.

The Court and Family of Napoleon.
By the Duchesse D’ABRANTfes (Laure Junot). A New and Revised Edition,

with Additional Notes, and an Explanatory List of the Titles of the Persons

mentioned in the Worjt. 4 vols., crown 8vo., price 36s.

List of Illustrations.
Vol. III.

The Empress Josephine. ...

Josephine Beauharnais (daughter of the Vice-
J

roy of Italy), afterwards Crown Princess of

Sweden.
Madame Mfere.

Madame Campan.
Louis Bonaparte, King of Holland.

Louisa, Queen of Prussia.

Vol. IV.

Maria Louisa, Empress of France.

Cardinal Fesch, Archbishop of Lyons.

Napoleon II. (The KiaA°f ?°me)
Joachim Murat, King of Naplcfc

Dllroc, Duke of Friuli.

men Bonaparte, ranee 01 camno. 1
Prince Mettcmich.

h interior
' These Memoirs furnish an admirable view—admirable jjapojeon M a

of Napoleon’s Court. Nowhere do we get a nearer or more intelligiDie vi

(183a). Wa vet given to the world.—Littrarf GazttU

, ^ ‘The best account of the early career of Napoleon yet given iv

<*83a).

Vol. I.

Andoche Junot, Duke of Abrantes.
Charles Bonaparte. Father of Napoleon.
The Princesse de Lamballe.
Joseph Bonaparte, King of Naples and of

Spain.
Marie Pauline Bonaparte, Princess Borghfese.

Eug&ne Beauharnais, Viceroy of Italy.

Vol. II.

Napoleon Bonaparte.
JerOme Bonaparte, King of Westphalia.
General Moreau.
Elisa Bonaparte, Grand Duchess of Tuscany.
Caroline Bonaparte, Queen of Naples.
Lurien Bonaparte, Prince of Camno.

PUBLISHERS in ORDINARY to HER MAJESTY.
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By M. THIERS,

The History of the French Revolution

.

By Adolphe Thiers. Translated by Frederick Shoberl. With Fifty

Engravings and Portraits, on steel, of the most eminent Personages engaged
in the Revolution, many engraved by W. Greatbach, A New and Revised

Edition in 5 vols., demy 8vo., 45s.

List or Plates in each Volume.
VOL.

1

.

The Attack on the Bastile.

Portrait of the Due d’Orllans.
Portrait of Mirabeau.
Portrait of Lafayette.
Orgies of the Gardes du Corps.
Portrait of Marie Antoinette.
The King’s Return from Varennes.
Portrait of Marat.
The Mob at the Tuileries.

Attack on the Tuileries.

II. Murder of the Princesse de Lambalie.

Portrait of the Princesse de Lamballe.
Portrait of Madame Roland.
Louis XVI. at the Convention.
Farewell of Louis XVI. to his Family.
Portrait of Louis XVI.
Portrait of Dumouriez.
Triumph of Marat.
Portrait of Larochejaquelin.

III. Assassination of Marat.
Portrait of Charlotte Corday.
Portrait of Camille Desmoulins.
Condemnation of Marie Antoinette.
Portrait of Bailly (Mayor of Paris).

Trial of Danton, Cainille Desmoulins, etc

j

VoL.
III. Portrait of Danton.

Portrait of Madame Elizabeth.
Carrier at Nantes.

^

i Portrait of Robespierre.
IV. Last Victims of the Reign of Terror.

I Portrait of Charette.
Death of the Deputy Feraud.
Death ofRomme, Goujon, Duquesnoi, etc.

Portrait of Louis XVII.
The 13th Vend£miaire (Oct. 5, 1795).
Portrait of Lazare Carnot.
Portrait of Junot.
Portrait of Bernadotte.
Portrait of Massena.

V. Summoning to Execution.
1

Portrait ot Pichegru.

1
Portrait of Moreau.
Portrait of Hoche.
Portrait of Napoleon Bonaparte.
The 18th Brumaire(November iolh, 1799).

Portrait of Sttyfcs.

Portrait of Barras.

Portrait of Fouch6.
Portrait of Murat.
Portrait of Adolphe Thiers.

By M. de BOURRIENNE.

Memoirs of Napoleon Bonaparte.
By Louis Antoine Fauvelet de Bourrienne, his private Secretary.

Edited, with Preface, Supplementary Chapters, and Notes, by Colonel R. W.
Phipps, late Royal Artillery. 4 vols., crown 8vo., with Illustrations, 36s.

List of Portraits. #
Napoleon I. (three). Letitia Ramolino. Josephine (two). Prince Eugene. K16ber. Lannes.

Talleyrand. Duroc. Murat. Desaix. Moreau. Hortense. Due d’Enghien. Pichegru.
Ney (two). Caulaincourt. Davoust. Junot. Soult. Marie Louise (two). Lasalle.

Massena. Macdonald. Suchet. Wellington. Blucher. Gouvion St. Cyr. The King
of Rome. Bessi&res.

By M. ARTHUR LfcVY.

THE PRIVATE LIFE OF NAPOLEON.
See page 4.

By DR. O’MEARA.

Napoleon at St. Helena.
By Barry E. O’Meara, Body-Surgeon to the Emperor. A New Edition,

with Introduction, copious Notes, and other Additions, and with several

Coloured Plates, Portraits and Woodcuts. 2 vols., demy 8vo., 309.

By MARSHAL MACDONALD.
RECOLLECTIONS OF THE WARS OF THE REPUBLIC AND OF NAPOLEON I

See page 4.

• RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON LONDON
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By MR. WEISE.

A History of the Discoveries of America
down to the year 1525 . By Arthur James Wkise, M.A. Uarge demy

8vo., with numerous Maps reproduced in facsimile from the originals, 7s. 6d.

By COLONEL FLETCHER.

The History of the American Civil War.
By H. C. Fletcher, Scots Fusilier Guards. 3 vols., 8vo., separately, 18s. each.

By CAPTAIN BULLOCH.

The Secret Service of the Confederate

States in Europe .

By James D. Bulloch, late Confederate Navy. 2 vols., demy 8vo., 21s.

By COLONEL RAIKES.

THE ARTILLERY COMPANY OF BOSTON, U.S.A.

See Colonel Raikes’s History, described on p. 6.

By MR. JESSE.

Memoirs of Celebrated Etonians.

By John Heneage J esse. 2 vols., demy 8vo.
,
28s.

Edited by JAMES BRINSLEY-RICIIARDS.

Seven Years at Eton,
1857-1864. Third Edition. Crown 8vo., 6s.

By MR. COLERIDGE.

Eton in the Forties.
mli

By an old Colleger, Arthur Dukk
yHfprinting.

Crown 8vo., 6s.

By the late MR. HUGRES-HUGH -

The Reqister of Tonbridge School,
^

Edited by the late W. 0 .
Hughks-Hughks, M.A. Med.um, 6s., large

paper, 9s.

By Mr. Fitzgerald.
.

Stonyhurst Memories; or, Six Years at

School.
SABy Percy Fitzgerald, M.A., F.o.a.

By REV. J.
PYCROFT.

Oxford Memories. . mv8v0i24S.

By the Rev. James Pycrokt, B.A._ a vols., demy 8vo„ 24s

Publishers in ordinary to her majest .
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Edited by PRINCE RICHARD METTERNICH.

The Autobiography of Prince Metternich.
Translated by Robina Napier and Gerard W. Smith. Vols. I. and II.,

1773-1815, demy 8vo.
t
with Portrait and two Facsimiles, 36s. Vols. III. and

IV., 1816-1829, demy 8vo., 36s. Vol. V., 1830-1835, demy 8vo., 18s.

Edited by M. PALLAIN.

Prince Talleyrand and Louis XVIII.
Correspondence during the Congress of Vienna. 2 vols., demy 8vo., 24s.

By MR. BALLANTYNE.

The Life of Lord Carteret (afterwards

Earl Granville), 1690-1763.
By Archibald Bali.antvnr. Demy 8vo., 16s.

By Sir D. LE MARCHANT.

Memoir of Earl Spencer (Lord Althorp).
By the late Sir Denis Lk Marchant, Bart. Demy 8vo., 16s.

By MR. MYERS.

Lord Althorp.
By Ernest Myers. Small crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.

Edited by MR. LE STRANGE.

The Princess Lieven and Earl Grey.
Their Correspondence, translated and edited by Guy Le Strange. Vols. I.

and II., demy 8vo., with Portraits, 30s. Vol. III., demy 8vo., 15s.

Edited by LORD COLCHESTER.

A Diary kept while in Office.
By Edward, Second Earl of Ellenborough. Two vols., demy 8vo., 30s.

Lord Ellenborough’s Administration in

India.
Containing his Letters to Her Majesty the Queen, and Letters to and from

the Duke of Wellington. Demy 8vo., 18s.

Edited by LADY JACKSON.

Diaries and Letters of Sir G. Jackson,
From the Peace of Amiens to the Battle of Talavera. 2 vols. , demy 8vo., 30s.

The BATH ARCHIVES. A further Selection from the Letters and Diaries of

Sir George Jackson, K.G.H., from 1809 to 1816. 2 vols., demy 8vo., 30s.

THE 13TH EARL OF PEMBROKE.

Political Letters and Speeches of the late

Earl of Pembroke and Montgomery.
Demy 8vo., with Portraits. 7s. 6d.

RICHARD nTTM'TT zr * nrr* »r
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Edited by MR. MALLOCK.

Letters and Memoirs of the Twelfth Duke
of Somerset.

With Selections from his Diaries. Edited by William II. Mallock and
Lady Guendolen Ramsden. Demy 8vo., 16s.

By the late MR. W. M. TORRENS.

Twenty Years in Parliament.
By William McCullagh Torrens, Author of ‘The Life of Lord Mel-
bourne. * Demy 8vo. , 1 5s.

By LORD DALLING and THE HON. EVELYN ASHLEY.

The Life of Viscount Palmerston.
With Selections from his Diaries and Correspondence. By the late Lord
Dalling and Bulvver. Demy 8vo. Vols. I. and II. f with fine Portrait,

30s. Vol III., edited by the Hon. Evelyn Ashley, 15s. Vols. IV. and
V., by the Hon. Evelyn Ashley, with Two Portraits 30s.

Another Edition. 2 vols., crown 8vo., each with Frontispiece, 12s

The 1as. edition contains additional matter and alterations.

By the late MR. SKENE.

Reminiscences of Lord Stratford de

Redclyffe, and the Crimean War.
By James Henry Skene, Author of 1 Frontier Lands of Christian anti

Turk.' Demy 8vo., 12s.

By PROFESSOR FORREST.
#

Selections from Official Writings of the

Rt. Hon. Mountstuart Elphinstone.
Edited, with a Memoir, by Professor G. W. Forrest. Demy 8vo., sis.

Edited by MISS FORSYTH.
*

Autobiography and Reminiscences oj

Sir Douqlas Forsyth, K.C.S.I., C.B.

Edited by his Daughter, Ethel Forsyth. Demy 8vo., wnh Portrait on

Steel, and Map, its. 6d.

BY MR. TIMBS.

The Lives of Statesmen

:

Burke and Chatham. By John Timbs, F.S.A. Crown 8vo„ with Portrait* 6s.

By THE EMPEROR OF MEXICO.

Recollections of My Life.
By the late Emperor Maximilian of Mexico. 3 vo »P

'

PUBLISHERS in ORDINARY to HER MAJESTY.
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l^gal fliographp.

By the DEAN OF WINCHESTER.

A Memoir of Lord Hatherley.
By the Very Rev. W. R. W. Stephens, F.S. A., Dean of Winchester, Author
of ‘The Life and Letters of Dean Hook,* etc. Crown 8vo., with two
Portraits, 2 is.

By MISS LEATHLEY.

The Early Life of Sir William Maule.
By his Niece, Emma Leathlry. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.

By MR. NASH.

The Life of Richard, Baron Westbury,
Lord High Chancellor of England. By Thomas Arthur Nash, Barrister-

at-Law. 2 vols., demy 8vo., with two Portraits, 30s.

By SERJEANT BALLANTINE.

Mr. Serjeant Ballantine’s Experiences.
Crown 8vo., paper cover, is., cloth, is. 6d.

[A fifteenth edition will shortly be printed.

From the Old World to the New.
Being some Experiences of a Recent Visit to America, including a Trip to

the Mormon Country. By Mr. Serjeant Ballantine, Author of 1 Some
Experiences of a Barrister’s Career.* Demy 8vo., with Portrait, 14s.

ANONYMOUS.

Some Professional Recollections.
By a Former Member of the Council of the Incorporated Law Society.

Crown 8vo., 9s.

*
#
* This work includes some account of the singular career of the Carron

Company.

By MR. THORPE, F.S.A.

The Still Life of the Middle Temple,

With some of its Table Talk, preceded by Fifty Years’ Reminiscences. By

W. G. Thorpe, a Barrister of the Society. Demy 8vo., 15s.

4 Westbury, Campbell, Stephen, Huddleston, and a host of other judicial lights appear in

these pages as the heroes of a number of funny stories, the whole making up a wonderfully enter-

taining book.'—Observer*

'A very entertaining volume of reminiscences and gossip, associated with a very gen*®1

account of the Middle Temple, its life and its ways, ceremonial and social. Mr. Thorpe has lived

a life full of varied incidents and experience, and he tells his story with unfailing spirit and goon-

humour. His fund of anecdote seems to be inexhaustible. '—Timex.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON, LONDON.



( I? )

Clerical $iographp.

By DEAN HOOK.

Lives of the Archbishops of Canterbury ,

From Sr. Augustine to Juxon. By the Very Rev. Walter Fakquiiar

Hook, D.D., Dean of Chichester. Demy 8vo., ihe following volumes sold

separately as shown :—Vol. I., 15s. ; Vol. II.. 15s. ; Vol. V., 15s ; Vols VI.

and VII., 30s. ; Vol. VIII., 15s. ;
Vol. X., 15s. ;

Vol. XI., 15s. ; Vol. XII.,

15s.

VOL. I. Anglo-Saxon Period, 597-1070.—Augustine, Laurentius, Mclitus,

Justus Honorius, Deusdedit, Theodorus, Brihtwald, Tatwine, Nothelm, Cuthbcri,

Breew’in, Jaenbert, Ethelhard, Wulfred, Feologild, Coelonoth, Ethelred, IMeg-

mund, Athelm, Wulfhelm, Odo, Dunstan, Ethelgar, Siiic, Elfric, Klphege,

Limig, Ethelnoth, Eadsige, Robert, Stigand.
. .

Vol II. Anglo-Norman Period, 1070-1229.—Lanfranc, Anselm, Ralph ut

Escures, William of Corbeuil, Theobald, Thomas a Bccket, Richard the Norman,

Baldwin, Reginald Fitzjocelin, Hubert Walter, Stephen Langton.

Vol. III. Mediteval Period, 1229-1333.—Richard (.rant, Edmund kith,

Boniface, Robert Kil-wardby, John Peckham, Robert Winchelsey, WalteMxey

nolds^Sunon Mapeham-io^,
I333_I4o8._john Stratford, Thomas Hradwardine,

Simon Islip, Simon Langham, William Whittlesey, Simon budbury, Willia

^Vol” v’
T
Same

S

Period, 1408-1503.—Henry Chicheley, John Stafford, John

Warham, Thomas Cranmer (in part).
.

Vol. VII. Same Period.—Thomas Cranmer (conclusion).

Vol. VIII. Same Period, 1 55^ 1 5S8.— Reginald Cardinal lolc.

Vol. IX. Same Period, 1558-!575—Matthew P«ker
,oh

C

„ &C fi,

Vol. X. Same Period, l 575-'633 - - Edmund Gnndal, ,ohn Whitgiii.

Richard Bancroft, George Abbott.
v .

lt; r , William Juxon.
Vol. XI. Same Period, 1633-1663.—William Laud, William j

Vol. XII. The Index.

• The most impartial, the most instructive, and the most interesting of histones. - ''

By the DEAN OF WINCHESTER,

The Life ancb Letters of the Very Rev.

Walter Farquhar Hook, D.D.,

Late Dean of Chichester.

By the Very Rev. W. R. W. Stephens, ES. A.•’ "f

'

v̂ e
|^ttra

.

ti 6s

demy 8vo„ with two Portraits, 30s. Also, in crown evo.,

By the RIGHT HON. W. E. GLADSTONE.

Dean Hook : An address.
By the Right Hon. W. E. Gladstone. Demy 8vo.,

FATHER HEALY.

Memories of Father Healy,
ftheRev.

Parish Priest of Little Bray and Ballybrack. {Reprinting

James Healy. Second Edition. Crown1
8vo., bs.

PUBLISHERS in ORDINARY to HER MAJESTY
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Clerical $iographg—(
Continued).

Recorded by MADAME VON KOBELL.

Conversations of Dr. Bollinger.
Translated by Katharine Gould. Crown Svo., 6s.

By DR. THIRLWALL.

Bishop ThirlwalVs Letters to a Friend.
By Connop Thirlwall, D.D., Bishop of St. David's, and Edited by Dean
Stanley. With a Portrait, crown 8vo., 6s. [Reprinting.

ANONYMOUS.

A Memoir of the Rev. John Russell.
By the Author of 1 Dartmoor Days.' With a Portrait, crown 8vo., 6s.

[Reprinting.

By DR. GRETTON.

Memory's Harkback over Fifty Years,
1808-1858. By the Rev. Frederic E. Gretton. Demy 8vo., 12s.

By REV. R. H. D. BARHAM.

The Life of the Rev. R. H. Barham
(Author of the ‘Ingoldsby Legends'). By his Son, the Rev. Richard
H. Dalton Barham. A New Edition, with Portrait, crown 8vo., 6s.

By SIGNOR CAMPANELLA.

Life in the Cloister, at Court, and in Exile.
By Giuseppe Maria Campanella. Demy 8vo., with two Portraits, 10s. 6d.

IC.ett.ers aitb $iographies.
THE FOURTH EARL OF ORFORD.

The Letters of Horace Walpole,
Edited by Peter Cunningham, F.S.A. 9 vols., demy 8vo., with Fifty

Illustrations on steel, £$ $s. Hand-made Paper Edition, with Sixty-seven

Illustrations on steel, cloth, ^10 10s.; vellum, ^12 12s.

Bv MR. RAE.

Richard Brinsley Sheridan : A Memoir.
By William Fraser Rae. With an Introduction by Sheridan's Great-

Grandson, the Marquess of Dufferin and Ava, K.P., G.C.B. 2 vol-.*

demy 8vo., with Portraits, 26s.

By MR. FITZGERALD.

The Lives of the Sheridans.
By Percy Fitzgerald. 2 vols., demy 8vo., with Six Engravings on Steel

by Stodart and Every, 30s.

~RICHARD~BENTLEY AND SON, LONDON.
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fetters anb geographies—

(

Continued).

MRS. TROLLOPE.

A Memoir of Frances Trollope,
Author of ‘The Domestic Manners of the Americans,’ ‘The Widow
Burnaby/ etc. By her Daughter-in-Law, Frances Eleanor Trollope.

2 vols., crown 8vo., with extracts from her Diaries and Letters, and 2 Por-

traits, 2 is.

Edited by MR. EGERTON CASTLE.

The Jerningham Letters, 1780-1843

:

Being Excerpts from Letters and Diaries of Lady Jerningham and of her

daughter, Lady Bedingfeld. Edited, with Notes, by Egerton Castle,

M.A., F.S.A. 2 vols., crown 8vo., with numerous Portraits and other Illus-

trations, 24s.

By MISS HILL.

The late Frederic Hill

:

An Autobiography of Fifty Years in Times of Reform. Edited by his

daughter, Constance Hill. Demy 8vo., with several Portraits, 16*.

MISS COBBE'S AUTOBIOGRAPHY.

The Life of Frances Power Cobbe.
Bv Hersf.lv. With Recollections of Dean Stanley—Matthew Arnold Mrs.

nW^Kemble-Robert Browning-S.r Charles Lyell-Renan-Archbishop

Longley—Tennyson—Carlyle—Cardinal Manning—Charles Kingsley—WalterSe Landor-Dr. Jowett-Lord Shafteshury-Darwin-John Bnght-

LadjfByron—Professor Tyndall—and many other persons of interest. Thir

Edition, with illustrations. In 2 vols., square crown 8vo., 21 s.

Edited bv MISS DE MORGAN.

ReminiscencesoftheLateMrs. De Morgan.

ISM&SV*ss=s*s» *a
* By MR. FITZGERALD.

Memoirs of an Author
*“ p“”"-*

By MR. BYRNE.

Australian Writers :
MAKCUS CLARKE

LINDSAY GORDON-*ROLF BOLDREWOOD CAMBRIDGE-
-*TASMA '- MRS. CAMPBELL PRALU a

crown 8vo„ 6s.

HENRY KINGSLEY. By J. F. Df-smond dyrn

Edited by LORD BRABOURNE.

Unpublished Letters of JaneAustei^

Edited, with Introduction and Notes, by the late Lord

large crown 8vo., with Frontispiece.., 4s — —
JUiUsiUxTi- OXMKAXY * HEX MAJESTY.
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fetters aitb biographies—( Continued').

By the Hon. C. K. TUCKERMAN.

Personal Recollections of Notable People
at Home and Abroad.

By Charles K. Tuckerman, first Minister Resident of the United State*
of America to Greece. 2 vols., crown 8vo.

f with portrait, 21s.

By MR. WOOD.

A Memoir of Mrs. Henry Wood.
Author of ‘ East Lynne,* etc. By C. W. Wood, Author of ' Through Holland, 1

etc. Second Edition, in crown 8vo., with Photogravures and other Illustra-

tions, 6s.

By MRS. BISHOP.

A Memoir of Mrs. Augustus Craven
(Pauline de la Ferronnays ),

Author of * A Sister’s Story. With Extracts from her Diaries and Correspon-
dence. By Maria Catherine Bishop. Third and Cheaper Edition, in

crown 8vo., with Portrait of Mrs. Craven, 7s. 6d.

By MRS. CROSSE.

Red-Letter Days of My Life
With Reminiscences and Anecdotes of many Persons of Note. By the lai f

Cornelia A. H. Crosse. In 2 vols., post 8vo.
f
21s.

By MR. WATTS.

Alaric Watts.
The Narrative of his Life. By his Son, Alaric Alfred Watts. 2 vols.,

crown 8vo., with Two Etchings, 21s.

By the REV. R. H. D. BARHAM.

The Life of Theodore Edward Hook.
By Rev. Richard H. Dalton Barham. A New Edition. Crown 8vo., 6s.

By MISS MITFORD.

Recollections of a Literary Life.
With Selections from her Favourite Poets and Prose Writers. By Mary
Russell Mitford. Crown 8vo., with Portrait, 6s.

Edited by HENRY G. HEWLETT.

Henry Fothergill Chorley

:

Autobiography and Memoir. 2 vols., crown 8vo., with Portrait, 21s.

Recorded by LADY BLESSINGTON.

The Conversations of Lord Byron.
With a Contemporary Sketch and Memoir of Lady Blessington. A New
Edition, with Notes and eight Portraits. Demy 8vo., 15*.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON, LONDON
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fetters atib $io$r<nihic0—

(

Continued).

MR. FITZGERALD'S LETTERS.

Letters of Edward Fitzgerald to Fanny
Kemble (1871-1883).

Edited by William Alois Wright, D.C.L. Small crown 8vo., with Por-
traits of Mrs. Kemble and PMward Fitzgerald, engraved on steel, 6s.

By MRS. TOWNSHEND MAYER.

Women of Letters,
Including Memoirs of Lady Morgan, the Misses Berry, Mrs. Opie, Mrs.

Shelley, Lady Ann Barnard, Sarah Countess Cowper, and Lady Duff Gordon.

By Gertrude Townshend Mayer. 2 vols., crown 8vo., 21s.

By MR. FRANCIS.

John Francis and the ‘ Athenceum
A Literary Chronicle of Half a Century. By John C. Francis. 2 vols.,

crown 8vo., with Two Portraits, 24s.

By MR. SALT.

The Life of Henry David Thoreau.
By Henry S. Salt. Demy 8vo. With Portrait. 7s. 6<1.

By MR. THOMAS ADOLPHUS TROLLOPK.

T. A. Trollope’s ‘What I Remember.'
Second Edition. Demy 8vo. , Vols. X. and II. with Portrait, 30s. Vol. III. IS'-

By DR. HAKE.

Memoirs of Eighty Years.
By Gordon Hake. Demy 8vo., 15s.

By MISS CLOWES.

Charles Knight. n
A Memoir. By his Grand-daughter, Alice A. C LOWES. With Two Portraits.

Demy 8vo., I25'

EDlTEn BY SIR WALTER BESANT.

Charles F. Tyrwhitt Drake, F.R.b.o.
Literary Remains and Memoir. Demy 8vo., with Portrait, 14s.

BY MR. TIMBS.

The Lives of Wits and Humourists:
Swift. Steele, Foote, Goldsmith, the Colmans. Sheridan, Porsom Sydney

Smith, Theodore Hook, etc. By John Times, h.S.A. 2 vols.. crown

with Portraits, «2s. ^^ wOTTON.

Word Portraits of Famous Writers.

Edited by Mabel E. Wotton. Large crown 8vo., 7*- w -

By DR. MARTIN. _

In the Footprints of Charles LamO.
By Benjamin Ellis Martin. With a comP^te

jj®
l

ŝ tfons by Herbert
Works, by Ernest North, and with numerous Illustration

Railton and John Fullf.ylove, quarto,jos. ou.

PUBLISHERS in ORDINAR Y io NER MAJESTY.
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biographies of Painters aitb Sculptors.
By MR. STORY.

The Life of John LinnelL
By Alfred T. Story. Demy 8vo., with Illustrations. 28s.

Lives of James Holmes and John Varley.
By Alfred Thomas Story, Author of ‘The Life of John Linnell.’
Demy 8vo., 14s.

By SIDNEY COOPER, R. A.

My Life.
By Thomas Sidney Cooper, R.A. Crown 8vo., with Portrait, 6s.

By WILLIAM POWELL FRITH, R.A.

Reminiscences of W. P. Frith, R.A.
Eighth Edition. Crown 8vo., 6s.

Further Reminiscences. Third Edition. 8vo., with Portrait, 15s.

By the REV. C. H. COPE.

Reminiscences of Charles West Cope, R.A.
By his Son, the Rev. C. H. Cope, M.A. Demy 8vo., with Illustrations, 16s.

Edited by MR. GOSSE.

Conversations of James Northcote, R.A.
Recorded by William Hazlitt. A New Edition, edited, with an Essay
on Hazlitt and Northcote, by Edmund Gosse. Post 8vo., with Portrait, 6s.

By DR. FLAGG.

Life and Letters of Washington Allston.
By Dr. J. B. Flagg. Wiih 18 Reproductions of Allston’s Paintings.
Quarto. 25s.

By JOHN TIMBS, F.S.A.

The Lives of Painters

:

Hogarth, Sir Joshua Reynolds, Gainsborough, Fuseli, Sir Thomas Lawrence,
Turner. By John Timbs, F.S.A. Crown 8vo., \ffith Portraits, 6s.

By W. P. FRITH, R.A.

John Leech : His Life and Work.
By William Powell Frith, R.A. Second Edition. 2 vols., demy 8vo.,

with Portrait and Illustrations, 26s.

Edited by MR. GOSSE.

Nollekens and his Times.
By John Thomas Smith, formerly Keeper of the Prints in the British

Museum. With an Essay on Georgian Sculpture, and a Note on J. T. Smith,
by Edmund Gosse. Demy 8vo., with a Portrait of Nollekens by Jackson,
and a List of his Works, 15s.

By M. PLON.

The Life and Work of Thorvaldsen.
By Eugene Plon. From the French, by Mrs. Cashel Hoey. Imperial

8vo., with numerous Illustrations, 25s.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON
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Music nub Science, etc.

mi . , ,
Translated by MR. COLERIDGE.

The Autobiography of Karl von Ditters-
dorf.“6

fd
Cantor" Mo^tz^r^t^alinJ/etc

81

Crown Syo.

1

,

0
^' Id'

r . „ - Edited by DR. JANSEN.
The Life of Robert Schumann,

Told in his Letters. Translated by May Simpson. 2 vols., crown 8vo., 21s.

mi t- 1 . „
BV.”E 1atk MR - BEALE.

The Light of Other Days.
Cram

C
er

1

and
m
ro\

Cen
»
eS f^ “ C

g
entur

y-. By WlI.LERT BEALE (formerly ofCramer and Co.). 2 vols., demy 8vo., with Portrait, 28s.
7

_ By MR. CKOWEST.
The Story of British Music

;

From the Earliest Times to the Tudor Period. By Frederick JamesCrowkt, Author of ‘The Great Tone Poets,’ ’.Musical Anecdote, *e£Demy 8vo. , with numerous Illustrations, 15s.

The Great Tone Poets

:

Brief Memoirs of the Greater Composers—Bach, Handel, Gluck, Haydn,
Mozart, Spohr, Beethoven, Weber, Rossini, Schubert, Mendelssohn, Schumann,
etc. By Frederick Crowest. Seventh Edition. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6*1.

#
By the late MISS WALKER.

My Musical Experiences.
By Bettina Walker. With Reminiscences of Sir Sterndalc Bennett,
Tausig, Sgambati, Liszt, Deppe, Scharwencka, and Henselt. Crown 8vo. f 6s.

By HERR KUIIE.

My Musical Recollections.
By Wilhelm Kuiie.» With Portrait and Autographs. Demy 8vo., 14s.

#
By MR. ROWBOTHAM.

The History of Music.
A New Edition. By J. F. Rowroiham. Crown 8vo.. 7s. 6d.

By MR. HARRISON.

Stray Records

;

Or, Personal and Professional Notes. By Clifi-ori) II \rrison, the Reciter.

A New Edition. Crown 8vo., 6s.

#
By MR. WEDMORE.

Studies in English Art.
The SECOND SERIES, containing Romney, Constable, David Cox, George

Cruikshank, Meryon, Burne-Jones, and Albert Moore. By f redbrick
Wedmore. Large crown 8vo., 7s - 6d-
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Jlrt aitb grietice, etc.
—

(Continued ).

By MR. WOODWARD.

The Masterpieces of Sir Robert Strange

.

Reproductions of twenty of his Engravings in Permanent Photography. With
a Memoir and Portions of his Autobiography. By Francis woodward.
Folio, 42s.

By M. GUILLEMIN.

The Heavens.
An Illustrated Handbook of Popular Astronomy. By Am£d£e Guillemin.
Edited by J. Norman Lockyer, F.R.S., and Richard Proctor, F.R. A.S.
Demy 8vo., with over 200 Illustrations, 12s.

By M. FLAMMARION.

Marvels of the Heavens.
From the French of Flammarion, by Mrs. Lockyer, Translator of 4 The
Heavens.’ Crown 8vo., with 48 Illustrations, 3s. 6d. [Reprinting.

By MR. BYRNE.

Navigation and Nautical Astronomy.
By Oliver Byrne, Inventor of Dual Arithmetic. Quarto, 700 pp., 42s.

By M. FIGUIER.

The Day after Death.
Or, the Future Life Revealed by Science. By Louis Figuier, Author of
4 The World before the Deluge.’ With Illustrations, crown 8vo., 2s. 6d.

[.Reprinting.

By MR. WILLIAMS.

Sketches of Village and Estate Buildings.
From designs by James Williams, Architect. With Notes. In one
Volume, oblong shape, with 30 Illustrations, 15s.

By MR. WILLIAMS.

Our Iron Roads

:

Their History, Construction, and Administration. By Frederick S.

Williams. Demy 8vo., with numerous illustrations, 8s. 6d.

The Midland Railway :

Its Rise and Progress. By Frederick S. Williams, Author of 4 Our Iron
Roads,’ etc. Crown 8vo., with numerous Illustrations, 6s.

By MR. WALKER.

The Severn Tunnel : its Construction

and Difficulties, 1872-1887.
By its Constructor, Thomas A. Walker. With Portraits on steel and very

numerous Sketches and Plans. Third Edition. With an Introductory
note by Sir John Hawkshaw, C.E. Royal 8vo., 21s.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON, LONDON
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The Keeleys

:

By Walter Goodman.
14s.

By MR. GOODMAN.

°w Stage, and at Home ,

With Portraits and other Ilium, at ion.. Demy 8vo

11Y THE LATE MRS. KEMBLE.
Fanny Kemble’s Records of Later LifeBy Frances Anne Kemble. 3 vols., crown 8™., ,os. 6d.

J
"** **" Kemble’

s ‘ Records of My Girlhood 1

(3 vols.) is now out of prim.

Further Records.
A series of letters by Fanny Kemble, forming a sequel to • Records of MvGirlhood,’ ‘Records of Later Life,’ etc. 2 vols., crown Svo wilh twoPortraits engraved upon steel by G. J. Stodart. 24s.

• By THEMSELVES.

Mr. and Mrs. Bancroft

:

Their Recollections On and Off the Stage. Eighth Edition. Crown Svo .paper wrapper, is. ; or in cloth, is. 6d.

By MR. PEMBERTON.

Life and Writings of T. W. Robertson,
Author of ‘School/ ‘ Caste, ’ etc. By Thomas Edgar Pemberton,
Author of ‘The Life of Edward Askew Sothern.* With Portrait, Facsimile,
and other Illustrations. Second Edition, demy 8vo., 14s.

Edward Askew Sothern

:

(* Lord
_
Dundreary ’). A Memoir. By T. Edgar Pemberton. Demy

8vo., with Portraits and Facsimiles, 16s.

Also, a New Popular Edition, being the Four:h. Crown 8vo., 2s. 6d.

By DR. DORAN.

In and about Drury Lane,
And other Papers. By the late John Doran, F.S.A. 2 vols., large crown
8vo., 21s.

By MR. FITZGERALD.

The Romance of the Stage.
By Percy Fitzgerald, M. A., F.S.A., Author of the ‘ Life of Garrick,’ etc.

2 vols., demy 8vo., 24s.

_ By MR. NEVILLE.

The Stage.
Its Past and Present History in Relation to Fine Art. By Henry Neville.

Demy 8vo., 96 pp., 5s.
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Bv THE REV. RICHARD HARRIS BARHAM.

The Ingoldsby Legends.
The Only Complete Editions.

Illustrated by Cruikshank, Leech, Tennirl, Du Maurier, and Doyle.

‘Successful humourists who follow such great masters as Rabelais are generally carried inadvance of the ruck by some special gift. As Hook owed his great social reputation to un-
equalled powers of improvisation, so 14 Thomas Ingoldsby ” was borne forward to fame and dodu-
ianty by his unrivalled command of rhyme. All the wit, humour, and sparkle of the legendswould have gone for comparatively little had it not been for the vehicle they were entrusted toThe verse is a thing ptr sc, and as Ingoldsby followed no model, so he has had no true
successor. He has had imitators ; but none of them have gone beyond imitation. How genuine
is the humour of the Legends is proved by the fact that although many are as freely sprinkled with
hits at contemporary history and scandal as a Christmas pantomime, yet they read as pleasantly
to-day as ever they did. It was an idea worthy of De Foe, that of evoking the Ingoldsbys, their
family, pedigree, property, mansion, and everything that was theirs, that he might weave a series
of vratsemblable family stories out of their archives. It was realistic as Balzac, the borrowing the
very name of his own place, Tappington, and fainting from the old Kentish farm. Yet when he went
abroad, when he pillaged the solemn convent lore for his grotesque parodies, he was Scarcely less
successfui. There are few we prefer to St. Dunstan St. Menard, St. Geng.ilphus, and, above
all, the Jackdaw of Rheims. —Pall Mail Gazette.

A New Annotated Edition, edited, with Notes, by Mrs. Edward A.
Bond, with a brief memoir of her father, and also a note on the bibliography of
the Legends. With the Illustrations on Steel by Cruikshank and Leech, and
on wood by Tenniel, Du Maurier, Doyle, etc., and a Portrait of the Rev.
R. H. Barham, also a reproduction of a water-colour by Cruikshank hitherto
unpublished. In three vols., demy 8vo., 31s. 6d.

THE CARMINE EDITION. Small demy 8vo., with a carmine border line
around each page. With Twenty Illustrations on Steel by Cruikshank and
Leech, with gilt edges and bevelled boards, 10s. 6d.

THE EDINBURGH EDITION. An Edition in large type, with Fifty Illus-

trations by Cruikshank, Leech, Tenniel, Barham, and Du Maurier, re-engraved
on Wood for this Edition by George Pearson. Crown 8vo., red cloth, bs.

%* Also bound in gold cloth, with paper label, same price.

THE POPULAR EDITION. Crown 8vo., cloth, with Sixteen Illustrations on
Wood by Cruikshank, Leech, Tenniel, and Barham, 2s. 6d.

THE VICTORIA EDITION. A Pocket Edition, fcap. 8vo., with Frontispiece,
cloth, is. 6d. y or in paper wrapper, is.

Especial Cheap Editions.

THE ALEXANDRA EDITION. A new large type Edition, demy 8vo. With
upwards of Fifty Illustrations by Cruikshank, Leech, Tenniel, and Barham.
Paper wrapper, is., or bound in cloth, gilt edges, 2s.

THE PEOPLE’S EDITION. Sixty-four large quarto pages, printed on good

wrapper, 6d.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON
\
LONDON



( 27 )

ftoitrg ant) the ^raina—

(

continued>.

By the REV. R. II. BARHAM.

The Ingoldsby Lyrics.
By the Rev. Richard Harris Barham, Author of 1 The Ingoldsby Legends.’
Edited by his Son, the Rev. R. H. D. Barham. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.

By VARIOUS CONTRIBUTORS.

The Bentley Ballads.
Selected from 4 Bentley’s Miscellany,’ by John Sheehan. Crown 8vo., 6s.

Amongst the contributors are Dr. Maginn—Father Prout—Thomas Ingoldsby

—Haynes Bayly—Hartley Langhorne—Thomas Love Peacock—Samuel Lover

—

Charles Mackay—Robert Burns—H. W. Longfellow—J. A. Wade— Albert Smith
—Edward Kenealy—Mary Howitt—The Irish Whisky Drinker—W. Cooke
Taylor—William Jones—Tom Taylor—G. K. Gillespie—R. Dalton Barham, etc.

Edited by PERCV COTTON.

Selections from the Poetical Works of

Mortimer Collins.
Limited to 500 copies, printed upon hand-made paper. Demy 8vo., 10s. 6d.

By MRS. KEMBLE.

Poetical Works of Frances Anne Kemble.
Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.

Notes upon some of Shakespeare’s Plays.
By Francks Anne (Fanny) Kemble. Demy 8vo., 7s. 6d.

On the Stack. Macdeth. HknryVIII. The Tempest. Romeo and Julirt.

By CHARLES DICKENS.

The Village Coquettes.
By Charles Dickens. A few copies reprinted in fac-simile of the original

Edition of 1836. Demy 8vo., sewed, 4s. 6d.

Edited by LUCY HARRISON.

Spenserfor Home and School Use.
Small post 8vo., 3s. 6d.

Edited by MRS. MARKS.

Poems.
By John Devenish Hoppus. Crown 8vo., 5s.

By MISS WALKER.

Poems.
, „ . .

By Bettina Walker, Author of ‘ My Musical Experiences,

with Portrait, 4s.

By Mr. REDDIE MALLETT.

Post 8vo ,

TolJnn Homely Verse ;
Miscellaneous roems^ BV MAU K

Post 8vo., with Portrait of the Author, cloth 2s. 6d.,

PUBLISHERS in ORDINARY to HER MAJESTY.
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ftoilrg anb the grama—

(

continued>.

Edited BV MR. ST. JOHN RAIKES.

Selected Poems, Translations, and Occa-

sional Pieces
Of the late Right Hon. Henry Cecil Raikes, formerly Member for the

University of Cambridge, and H.M. Postmaster-General. Crown 8vo., 5s.

By MRS. WOODS.

Lyrics and Ballads.
By Margaret L. Woods, Author of ‘A Village Tragedy.' Small 8vo.,

printed on hand-made paper, 4s.

By PROFESSOR ROGERS.

Epistles, Satires, and Epigrams.
By James E. Thorold Rogers. Crown 8vo., 6s.

By MR. NEVILLE.

The Stage

:

Its History in Relation to Art. By Henry Neville. Demy 8vo., 5s.

Edited by TOM TAYLOR.

Charles Reade’s Dramas.
Fcap. 8vo. Sold separately, is. 6d. each.

Masks and Faces. The King’s Rival. Poverty and Pride.

By MR. DUBOURG.

Four Unacted Plays.
By A. W. Dubourg. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.

Green Cloth. Vittoria Contarini. Land and Love. Art ami Lovf.

Angelica.
Romantic Drama, in Four Acts. By A. W. Dubourg, joint author of

1 New Men and Old Acres,’ etc. Crown 8vo.
f
paper cover, 3s. 6d.

By MRS. KEMBLE.

Mr. J. T. Homespun in Switzerland.
By Frances Anne Kemble. Demy 8vo., is.

By the REV. A. BRIDGE.

Poems.
By Arthur Bridge. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.

By MRS. TINDAL.

Rhymes and Legends.
By Mrs. Acton Tindal. Crown 8vo.

,
5s.

By DR. DORAN.

In and About Drury Lane.
ByJohn Doran, F.S. A., Author of 'Their Majesty's Servants,

1

etc. 2 vols.,

large crown 8vo., 21s.

*»* See also page 25 for Biographies of Mrs. Kemble, Mr. Sothern, Mr. and Mrs.

Bancroft, etc.
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$ookst of Irabel, itc

„ ...
Th« los» Of travelling in one’* own country. 1

-!.,,,,,.,., s.

Mr. Hissey s Road Books.
On Southern English Roads

By Tames John Hissey, Author of * a Tv;,,.
a Phaeton/ etc. With a Plan of the Route taken°

Ue^lin
<?r

a
n
d ’’ ‘ A Tour in

tions, from Sketches by Mr. Hissey. Demy Svo’ ^6 '
6 fu page 11,us,r“-

Through Ten English Counties
’

.“ssssrwrifs
Across England in a Dog-Cart:

From London to St. David’s and Back. With iivi»»n in.,.. . ,
Sketches by the Author, and Plan of the Route. Demy 8va , rfs

* fr°m

ANrPLI
l'
FAS?IONEr) Journey in England and WalesDemy 8vo., with Frontispiece, 12s.

A Holiday on the Road.
A

j
A

,

r
.

tl

,

st sW
tr

de
r
r*nSs in

,

KenL Sussex, and Surrey. With fourteen full-paceand thirty smaller Illustrations from Sketches by the Author. Demy 8vn. 16s
On the Box Seat

;

Or, From London to the Land’s End and back. Demy Svo., with 16 full-page Illustrations from sketches by the Author. 16s.

V No copies now remain of ‘A Drive through England’ and ‘A Tour
in a Phaeton through the Eastern Counties.’

By the REV. P. W. PHIPPS.

Chalfont St. Giles, Past and Present,
With an Account of the Parish Church, Milton’s Cottage, and Jordans, the
Quakers’ Burial Ground. By Pownoi.l W. Phipps, M.A

, Rector of Chal-
font St. Giles, and Rural Dean. Second Edition. In demy 8vo., paper
wrapper, is.

By H.M. THE LATE SIIAII OF PERSIA.

Diary of my Visit to Europe in 1878.
By Nasr-ed-Din, Shah of Persia, and rendered into English by General
Schindler and Baron Louis de Norman. Demy 8vo., 12s.

By MR. BARKER.

Wayfaring in France.
By Edward Harrison Barker. Demy 8vo„ with numerous Illustrations, 16s.

Wanderings by Southern Waters
In Eastern Acquitaine. By Edward Harrison Barker. Demy 8vo.,

with Illustrations, 16s.

Two Summers in Guyenne, 1892-1893.
The Dordogne—The Corrise—Turenne—Upper Perigord—The Valleys of

the Vlz&re and Isle—Riberac and BrantOme—The Desert of the Double A
Canoe Voyage on the Dronne—On the Banks of the Garonne. By Edward
Harrison Barker. Demy 8vo., with numerous illustrations, 16s.

PUBLISHERS in ORDINARY to HtR MAJESTY.
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$00kg of %C$tot\—(Continued).

By ADMIRAL DE KANTZOW. -

Summer Days in Auvergne.
By Admiral de Kantzow. Crown 8vo., with 5 full-page Illustrations, 5s.

By LADY HERBERT.

A Search after Sunshine

:

A Visit to Algeria in 1871. By Lady Herbert. Square 8vo., with

numerous Illustrations engraved by George Pearson, 16s.

By the REV. MR. ROSE.

Among the Spanish People.
By the Rev. Hugh James Rose, English Chaplain of Jerez and Cadiz.

Author of ‘ Untrodden Spain,' etc. 2 vols., large crown 8vo., 24s.

By MR. WOOD.

Letters from Majorca.
By Charles W. Wood, F.R.G.S., Author of 'Through Holland.’ Demy
8vo., with nearly 100 Illustrations, 14s.

By MR. BEAUCLERK.

Rural Italy.
An Agricultural Survey of the Present Condition of the Italian Peninsula

and Sicily. By W. Neltiiorpe Beauclerk, Her Britannic Majesty's Consul-

General at Buda-Pest. Demy 8vo., with Map, 9s.

By MRS. MOSS KING.

Italian Highways.
By E. Augusta King, Author of ‘ The Diary of a Civilian’s Wife in India.’

Crown 8vo., with Frontispiece, 7s. 6d.

By DR. WALTERS.

A Lotos-Eater in Capri.
By Alan Walters, Author of ‘ Palms and Pearls, ’ etc. Large crown 8vo.,

with Sketches, 10s. 6d. •

By MR. EDWARDES.

Sardinia and the Sardes.
By Charles Edwardes, Author of ‘ Letters from Crete/ Demy 8vo. 14s -

' By MR. BICKFORD-SMITH.

Greece under King George.
Population—Agriculture— Industries—Commerce—Internal Communication

—Finance— Public Order—Education—Archaeology—Religion—Army and

Navy—Constitution—Climate—Panhellenism. By R. A. H. Bickhokh-

Smith, M.A., Barrister, late Student of the British School at Athens.

Demy 8vo., with Map, 12s.

By MR. MALLOCK.

In an Enchanted Island.
A Visit to Cyprus in 1889. By W. H. Mallock, Author of 'Social

Equality/ etc. Third Edition. Crown 8vo. f with Frontispiece, 6s.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON, LONDON.



( 3 * )

$ooks of ^rabrl— Continued)

Bv MR. WOOD.

Through Holland.
By Charles W. Wood, F.R.G.S Demy 8vo., with 57 Illustrations, 12s.

By M. HAVARD.

Picturesque Holland

:

A Journey in the Provinces of Friesland, Groningen, Drenthe, Ovcry.ssel,

Guelderland, Limbourg, etc. From the French of M. Henri IIavard, by

Annie Wood. Demy Svo., with 10 Illustrations and Map, 16s.

In the Heart of Holland.
From the French of M. Henri IIavard, by Mrs. Cashel Hoky. Demy
8vo., with 8 Illustrations, 15s.

By MRS. J. H. RIDDELL.

A Mad Tour through the Black Forest.
By Charlotte E. L. Riddell, Author of * George Geith of Fen Court/

Large crown 8vo., 10s. 6d.

By MR. WOOD.

In the Black Forest.
By Charles W. Wood, F.R.G.S ,

Author of 1 Through Holland,' ‘ Round

about Norway.’ Small crown 8vo., with numerous Illustrations, bs.

Under Northern Skies.
By Charles W. Wood, F.R.G.S., Author of ‘ Through Holland. Demy

8vo., with Sixty-eieht Illustrations, 14s.

By MR. WOOD.

The Cruise of the Reserve Squadron.
By Charles W. Wood, F.R.G.S., Author of ‘Through Holland, etc.

Crown 8vo., with 60 Illustrations, 6s.

By MR. PHILLIPPS-WOLLEY.

Sport in the Crimea and the Caucasus.

By Clive Phili.ipps-Wolley, F.R.G.S. Demy 8vo., 14s -

Savage Svanetia.
IUu»tratioo*. ...

ANONYMOUS.

Persian Pictures—Safar Nameh.
A Book of Travel in the East. Crown 8vo., 6s.

PUBLISHERS in ORDINARY to HER MAJES1
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$O0k0 of (Continued).

By the Late CROWN PRINCE OF AUSTRIA.

Travels in the East.
Including a Visit to the Holy Land, Egypt, the Ionian Islands, etc. By Iiis

Imperial and Royal Highness the Crown Prince Rudolf. Royal 8vo.,

with nearly one hundred full-page Illustrations by Pausinger, 31s. od.

By MR. BENTLEY.

The Rock Inscriptions of Sinai.
-By the late George Bentley, F.R.G.S. Demy 8vo., sewed, is.

By PROFESSOR MERRILL.

East of the Jordan.
Travels and Observations in Moab, Gilead, and Basha, 1875-77. By Selah
Merrill, Archaeologist of the American Palestine Exploration Society.

Demy 8vo., with 70 Illustrations and Map, 16s.

By SIR C. WILSON and SIR C. WARREN.

The Recovery of Jerusalem.
An Account of the Recent Excavations and Discoveries in the Holy City.

By General Sir Charles W. Wilson, and General Sir Charles Warren.
With an Introductory Chapter by Dean Si an iky. Third Thousand.
Demy 8vo.

f with 50 Illustrations, 21s.

By MR. RAE.

Egyptfrom the First to the Third Khedive.
By W. Frasf.r Raf.. In demy 8vo., 16s.

By MAJOR BARTTELOT.

Diaries of Edmund Musgrave Barttelot,
Late Major 7th Royal Fusiliers Regiment. A Record of his Services in

Afghanistan, Egypt, the Nile Relief Expedition, and on the Congo with Mr,

Stanley's Expedition. Edited by his brother, Sir Walter Barttelot.
Demy 8vo., with Portraits and Maps, Third Edition, 16s.

By MR. SELOUS. •

A Hunter's Wanderings in Africa.
Nine Years amongst the Game of the Far Interior of South Africa, with full

notes upon the natural history and present distribution of all the large

mammalia, and including accounts of explorations beyond the Zambesi, on the

Chob^, and in the Matabele and Mashuna countries. By Frederick
Courteney Selous. With Map and nineteen full-page Illustrations by

Smit and Whymper. Fourth Edition. Demy 8vo., 18s.

By MR. BALDWIN.

African Hunting and Adventure from
Natal to the Zambesi,

Including Lake Ngami, the Kalahari Desert, etc., from 1852 to i860. By

William Charles Baldwin, F.R.G.S. With numerous Illustrations by

Joseph Wolf and J. B. Zwecker. A Third and Cheaper Edition, with

Portrait of the Author, and Map. Demy 8vo., 18s.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON
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$00ks of ^rabel {Continues).

By DR. GRAY.

At the Court of the Amir.
By JOHN Alprbd Gray, M.B., late Surgeon to llis Highness the Amtr of
Afghanistan. Demy 8vo., with Portrait and other Illustrations, 16s.

MRS. FRANK GRIMWOOD'S NARRATIVE
My Three Years in Manipur,

and Escape from the Mutiny in Manipur. By Ethel St. Ci.aik Miiikk
Fourth Edition. Demy 8vo., with Plan, Illustrations, and two Portraits, <5*.

By MRS. CUTHELL and CAPTAIN BURRELL.

Indian Memories,
Of the Plains, The Hills, The Temples, Camp Life, Zenanas, The Mutiny,
etc. By Edith Cutheli, and Captain W. S. Burrell. Crown 8vo. , 6s.

By GENERAL LE MESSURIER.

From London to Bokhara in 1887.
By A. Le Messurier, R.E. Demy 8vo., with Maps and Sketches, 15s.

By DR. WALTERS.

Palms and Pearls ; or. Scenes in Ceylon.
Including a Visit to the Ancient Royal City of Anuradhapoora, and the

Ascent of Adam’s Peak. By Ai an Walters, M.A. Demy 8vo., 12s. 6d.

By MR. WORSFOLD.

A Visit to Java.
By W. Basil Worsfold. With Map and Illustrations from Sketches

the Author. Demy 8vo.
f 14s.

By GENERAL GREELY.

Three Years of Arctic Service. (Seepage 4.)

By tub HON. MRS. LEIGH.

Ten Years on a Georgia Plantation.
By Mrs. J. W. Leigh. Demy 8vo., ios. 6d.

By the HON. MRS. RICHARD MONCK.

My Canadian Leaves.
An Account of a Visit to Canada in 1864 and 1865. By Frances T. O.

Monck. Demy 8vo., 15s.

By MR. BODDAM-WHETHAM.

Western Wanderings

:

A Record of Travel in the Land of the Setting Sun. By J- w-

Whbtham. With I* full-page Illustrations, engraved by Whympek.

Demy 8vo., 15s.

By MISS CROMMELIN.

Over the Andes, from the Argentine, to

Chili and Peru.
By May Crommelin. Deray 8vo., with numerous Illustrations, tas. on.

PUBLISHERS in ORDINARY to HER MAJESTY.
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$00k0 0f ^rafatl ( Continued).

By MR. PHILLIPPS-WOLLEY.

The Trottings of a ‘ Tender Foot
’

in Spitsbergen and British Columbia. By Clive Phillipps-Wolley,
F.R.G.S., Author of * Sport in the Crimea and Caucasus.* Crown 8vo. f 7s. 6d.

By MR. BADEN-POWELL.

In Savage Isles and Settled Lands

:

A Record of Personal Experiences in Europe, Egypt, Ceylon, India, Australia,
New Zealand, Java, New Guinea, Borneo, Tonga, Samoa, the Sandwich
Islands, and the United States, in 1888-91. By B. F. S. Baden-Powell,
Scots Guards, F.R.G.S. With Maps, and Illustrations. Demy 8vo., 21s.

ANONYMOUS.

South Sea Bubbles.
By the Earl and the Doctor. Crown 8vo., 6s.

ANONYMOUS.

Old New Zealand.
A Tale of the Good Old Times, and a History of the War in the North
against the Chief Heke. Told by an Old Pakeha Maori. With a Preface
by the late Earl of Pembroke. Demy 8vo., 6s.

By the Late PROFESSOR NICOLS.

Wild Life in the Australian Bush.
By Arthur Nicols, F.G.S., F.R.G.S. With Eight Illustrations by J. T.
Nettleship. 2 vols.

, large crown 8vo., 21s.

(Sltanbitrb ®orks on (Sooketg.
By M. FRANCATELLI.

The Modern Cook.
By Charles Elm£ Francatri.li, late Mattrc-iVHotel to Her Majesty.

Demy 8vo. Thirtieth Edition. Containing 1,500 Recipes and Sixty

Illustrations, 7s. 6d.

The Cook’s Guide.
By the Author of * The Modern Cook.’ 64th Thousand. Small 8vo., con-

taining 1,000 Recipes. With Illustrations, 5s.
* An admirable manual for every household.'

—

Times.

A Younger Son’s Cookery Book.
By a Younger Son's Daughter. Crown 8vo., 6s.

On the First Principles of Cookery.
Elementary Ways of Cooking : their Theory

and Practice.
Soups and Sauces.
Ragouts, Minces, and Purges.
Pudding Mixtures.
Pastry.
Bread and Cake Mixtures.
Meringue and Icing Mixtures.
Jellies and Stiffened Creams.
Creates, Syllabubs, and Junkets.

Competes and Preserves.
Tarts, Tartlets, and Charlottes.
Fish Cookery.
The Cooking of Vegetables.
Entries and Made Dishes.
Salads, Savouries, and Hors d’CEuvres.
Borders, Cases, and Sundries.
Preparation of Poultry, etc., for Cooking

Boning, Filleting, and Larding.
On Flavouring.
Details of Expenditure and Management.
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.My MAJOR FISHER.

Outdoor Life m England.
By Arthur T. Fisher, Major, late 21st linear* a.»*w rtr .tu .

the Stable and Saddle-room,’ • Ro,l and River,’ etc. Demy 8vo., i4s .

hr°“Kh

Rod and River ; or, Salmon, Trout, and
Grayling Fishing.

By Arthur T. Fisher, Major, late 21st Hussars. DCmy 8vo., 14s.

Through the Stable and Saddle-room.
A Practical C.uide for all concerned in the Ownership or Management of
Horses. By Arthur T. Fisher, Major, late 2 1st Hussars. Crown 8vo. , 6s.

The Farrier; or, No Foot, No Horse.
By Arthur T Fjsiier, Major, late 21st llussars. Author of 1 Through the
Stable and Saddle-room,’ * Rod and River,’ etc. Small crown 8vo., 2s.

By MR. CORBALLIS.

Forty-Five Years’ Recollections of Sport.
By James IIenry Corballis. Edited by Arthur T. Fisher (late 21st
Hussars). Hunting—Shooting—Deerstalking—Salmon and Trout Fishing

—

Falconry—Golf, etc. Demy 8vo., with Frontispiece, 16s.

,
By MR. LOWNDES.

Camping Sketches.
By George Rivers Lowndes, Author of ‘Gipsy Tents, and how to use

them.' In large crown 8vo., with upwards of Fifty Illustrations. 4s. 6d.

By MR. DAY.

The Horse: How to Breed and Rear Him.
The Race-Horse, Hunger, Hack, Troop-Horse, Draught-Horse, Shire-IIorse.

Carriage-Horse, Pony. By William Day. Second Edition. Demy 8vo., 16s.

The Autobiography of William Day.
With Recollections of the principal Celebrities of the Turf during the present

reign. Third Edition. Crown 8vo., paper wrapper, is. ; cloth, is. 6d.

By the Late COLONEL CORBETT.

An Old Coachman’s Chatter.
By Edward Corhrtt. With Eight Full-page Coaching Sketches on Stone

by John Sturbess. Second Edition. Demy 8vo., 15s.

By MR. HARRIS.

The Coaching Age.
By Stanley Harris, Author of ‘Old Coaching Days.’ With Sixteenspirited

Full-page Illustrations on Stone by John Sturcess. Demy 8vo., IBs.

PUBLISHERS in ORDINARY to HER MAJESTY.
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Sport anil Natural history ( Continued).

By MR. BLACK.

Horse -Racing in England
, from the

Earliest Times.
By Robert Black, Author of 1 Horse Racing in France.' Demy 8vo., 15s.

By MR. WATSON.

Racecourse and Covert-side.
By Alfred E. T. Watson. With Illustrations by John Sturgkss. Demy
8vo. f 15s.

By the REV. J. G. WOOD.

The Dominion of Man over Animals.
By the Rev. J. G. Wood, Author of ‘Common Objects of the Sea-shore,'
etc. Demy 8vo., with numerous Illustrations, 15s.

By FRANK BUCKLAND.

Curiosities of Natural History.
By Francis Trevelyan Buckland, late Her Majesty’s Inspector of

Fisheries. Popular Edition, with a few Illustrations. Each Series separately,

in small 8vo., price 2s. 6d., as follows :

—

1st Serifs.—Rats, Serpents, Fishes, Frogs, Monkeys, etc.

2nd Series.—Fossils, Bears, Wolves, Cats, Eagles, Hedgehogs, Eels, Herrings, Whales
3rd Series.—Wild Ducks, Fishing, Lions, Tigers, Foxes, Porpoises.

4th Series.—Giants, Mummies, Mermaids, Wonderful People, Salmon, etc

By MR. DIXON.

Our Rarer Birds.
By Charles Dixon, Author of 1 Rural Bird Life.* With numerous Illus-

trations by Charles Whymper. Demy 8vo. f 14s.

By MR. PHILLIPPS-WOLLEY.

A Sportsman’s Eden.
A Season's Shooting in Upper Canada, British Columbia, and Vancouver.
By Clive Phillipps-Wolley. Demy 8vo., 9s.

WILD LIFE AND ADVENTURE IN THE AUSTRALIAN BUSH.

See page 34.

SPORT IN THE CRIMEA AND THE CAUCASUS.
See page 31.

A HUNTER fS WANDERINGS.

AFRICAN HUNTING.
See page 32.

See page 32.

ANONYMOUS.

A New Book of Sports and Games.
By Various Writers. Crown 8vo., 6s.
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SBKark* on 'pbinitj) aitb Relief/

*** See also pages 17 and 18.

* See also ‘The Recovery of Jerusalem,’ ‘The Lives of the ArchbUhops of Caiiterkiuy,'

‘ Life of Lord Hatherley/ ‘Memorials of Chichester Cathedral,’ ‘ Rock Inscriptions on Sinai,
1

‘ Life of Dean Hook,' ‘Bishop Thirlwall's Letters,’ Dr. Duncker's * History or Antiquity,
1

‘‘Ihe

Conversations of Dr. Ignatius von Dflllinger,’ etc.

By DEAN HOOK.

The Church and its Ordinances.
Sermons by the late Walter Farquhar Hook, D.D., Dean of Chichester.

Edited by the Rev. Walter Hook, Rector of Porloek. 2 vols., demy 8vo.,

1 os. 6d.
1 One of the clearest, most logical, and most eloquent expositions of the value of ordniaiu.es

and the true nature of pr «yer that have been before the eyes of inen.’— The Daily Telegraph

Parish Sermons.
By the late Walter Farquhar Hook, D.D., Dean of Chichester. Edited

by the Rev. Walter Hook, Rector of Porlock. Crown 8vo
,
3s. 6d.

Hear the Church.
A Sermon by the late Dean Hook. Reprinted in demy 8vo., sewed, is.

By BISHOP THIRLWALL.

Essaus, Speeches, and Sermons.
By the late Connor Thirlwall, D.D Bishop of St Uavil,\
Dr. Perowne, Bishop of Worcester. Demy 8vo., 15s. [A efinntm*.

By DR. KENNEDY. . -

Ely Lectures on the Revised Version of

the New Testament.

my.
Cambridge, etc. Crown 8vo., 4s -

By DR. M cCAUSLAND.

Adam, and the Adamite; „„„ ),. CAU ,l„,,
Or, The Harmony of Scripture and Ethnology, y

Q.C. With Map. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.

By the DEAN OF WINCHESTER.

Christianity and Islam,:
k w

and letters of Dean Hook.’ Crown 8vo., 5*-

By CARDINAL MANNING.

Modern Society. m «.«.«
A PASTORAL for LENT. By Hi* E

Manning, is. — -

PUBLISHERS in ORDINARY to HER MAJE
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SEorks on gibinitg—(
Continued).

By DR. CUMMING.

Works by John Cumming, D.D.
The FALL of BABYLON FORESHADOWED in HER TEACHING,

in HISTORY, and in PROPHECY. Crown 8vo., $s.

The GREAT TRIBULATION COMING on the EARTH. Crown
8vo., 5s. Fourteenth Thousand.

REDEMPTION DRAWETH NIGH; or, The Great Preparation.

Crown 8vo., 5s. Seventh Thousand.
The MILLENNIAL REST ; or, The World as it will be. Crown 8vo.,

5s. Fourth Thousand.
READINGS on the PROPHET ISAIAH. Fcap. 8vo., 5s.

By LADY HERBERT.

Works by Lady Herbert.
St. FRANCIS of SALES in the ClIABLAIS. Post 8vo., 6s.

WIVES and MOTHERS in the OLDEN TIME. SS. PAULA and
OLYMPIAS, Crown 8vo., 6s.

ANONYMOUS.

Lettersfrom Hell.
Newly translated from the Danish. With an Introduction by Dr. Georgf
Macdonald. Twenty-fifth Thousand. Crown 8vo., 2s. 6d.

1 Its awful descriptions are intensely realistic, and hold you by a powerful spell '—Cht istian

Guardian p Toronto.

By MR. MALLOCK.

Atheism and the Value of Life.
By WILLIAM Hurrell Mallock, Author of 1

Is Life worth Living?’ etc.

Crown 8vo., 6s.

By M. RENAN.

Studies in Religious History.
The Experimental Method applied to Religion— Paganism— Comparative
Mythology—Buddhism—The Translations of the Bible—The Teaziehs of

Persia—Joachim di Flor and the Eternal Gospel—Francis of Assisi—-A

Monastic Idyl of the Thirteenth Century—Religious Art—The Cpngregation
‘ De Auxiliis

1—A Word upon Galileo’s Trial— Port Royal—Spinoza. From
the French of Ernest Renan. Crown 8vo., 6s. [,Reprinting.

ANONYMOUS.

Roots

:

A Plea for Tolerance. A New Edition. Small post, 2s. 6d.

By the REV. F. ARNOLD.

Turning Points in Life.
By the Rev. Frederick Arnold. A New Edition. Crown 8vo., 6s.
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anb JRiscellancoits Moths.
by MISS HILL.

English Dress.
ByGEORGiANA Hill. Two vols., demy 8vo., Illustrated, 30s. [Seepage*]

m 7 , •
^MORTIMER COLLINS.

Thoughts m My Garden.
Selections from the Papers of Mortimer Coi r in.« i n
Y™ w“ >'»“ '» Fkancks oSSk , St, .I

“
Pen-Sketehes by a Vanished Hand.

fr
?
ra ‘he p°persof Mortimer Collins. Edited by Tom Taylor.With Notes by Frances Collins. 2 vols., crown 8vo., with Portrait, 21s.

.
By MR. SAUNDERS.

Pastime Papers.
Essays upon Miscellaneous Subjects. By Frederick Saunders, Author of
Salad for the Solitary and the Social,’ etc. Small crown 8vo., 4s.

Saladfor the Solitary and Social.
By Frederick Saunders. A New Edition, 410., 7s. 6d.

By MRS.. L. LINTON.

The Girl of the Period, and other Essays.
By Eliza Lynn Linton. 2 vols., demy 8vo., 24s.

.
By MR. MALLOCK.

Social Equality.
By W. H. Mali.ock. Second Edition, crown 8vo., 6s.

By MISS SUTTER.

England's Greatest Problem.
By Julie Sutter, Author of ‘A Colony of Mercy.’ Crown 8vo. t 5s.

[In the Press.

By MR. TIMBS.

Doctors and Patients.
By John Timbs, F.S. A. A New and Revised Edition. Crown 8va, 6s.

ANONYMOUS.

Conversational Openings and Endings.
With Hints on the Game of Small Talk. In paper wrapper, is.

By EDEN WARWICK.

Notes on Noses.
By Eden Warwick. A New Edition. Fcap. 8vo., 2s.
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Recent tVorks of Fiction

IN LIBRARY- FORM.

Up in Arms. By Margery
Hollis, Author of ‘Audrey,’ ‘Through
Thick and Thin,’ etc. In 3 vols, fcap.

,

8vo.

11.

The Madonna of a Day. By
Lily Dougall, Author of ' The Mer-
maid,’ ‘Beggars AH,' etc. In 1 vol.,

crown 8vo.

in.

The Mystery of Mr. Ber-
nard Brown. By E. Phillips Ofpen-
heim. In i vol., crown 8vo.

IV.

The Indian Uncle. By
Leslie Keith, Author of ‘ ’Lisbeth,’ ‘ For
Love of Prue,’ etc. In 1 vol., crown 8vo.

v.

Gifts and Weirds. By Lily
Perks, Author of ‘A Late Spring-time,

'

etc. In 1 vol., crown 8vo.

VI.

MissDrummond’sDilemma.
By R, Ramsay. In 1 vol., crown 8vo.

VII.

Lord Hever. By Percy Hul-
burd, Author of ' The Romance of Shere
Mote,’ etc. In 3 vols., crown 8vo.

VIII.

Honor Ormthwaite. By the
Author of 1 Lady Jean’s Vagaries.’ In 1

vol., crown 8vo.

IX.

The ManWho Disappeared.
By Rivington Pike. In x vol., crown
8vo.

x.

Wisdom’s Folly. By A. V.
Dutton, Author of ‘Theories,’ etc. In
t vol., crown 8vo.

XI.

TheQuicksandsofPactolus.
By H. Annesley Vachell, Author of
1 The Romance of Judge Ketchum,’ ‘The
Model of Christian Gay,’ etc. In 1 vol.,
crown 8vo.

XII.

The King’s Revenge. By
Ci aude Bray. In 1 vol., crown 8vo.

XIII.

The Yoke of Freedom. By
Charles James, Author of * On Turn-
ham Green,’ etc. In 1 vol., crown 8vo.

XIV.

Out of the Workhouse. By
Mrs. Herbert Martin, Author of
1 Britomart,’ etc. In 1 vol., crown 8vo.

xv.

Goddesses Three. By D.
Hugh Price. In 3 vols., crown 8vo.

XVII.

The Tower of Ghilzan. By
Surgeon-Major H. M. Greenhow, Amhor
of ‘ Brenda’s Experiment,’ etc. In 1 vol.,

crown 8vo.

XVIII.

The Mistress of Brae Farm.
By Rosa Nouchbtte Carey, Author of
' Nellie’s Memories,' ' Sir Godfrey's Grand-
daughters,' etc. In x vol., crown 8vo.

XIX.

The Backslider. A Story of
To-day. By Constance Smith, Author
of ‘ The Repentance of Paul Wentworth.
In 3 vols., crown 8vo.
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Jfictton.

SELECTED FROM AMONG THE BEST WORKS OP
FICTION OF EACH YEAR.

Bentleys’ jfavourite IRovels.

Each volume can be obtained separately m crown 8vo. t
cloth

t

price 6s.. at all booksellers* and railway bookstalls in the United

Kingdom ,
and at all the leading booksellers ’ and importers

9

in the

Colonies ,
and at the railway bookstalls in India and. Australia.

By “MRS. ALEXANDER.”

m THE WOOING OT.
11 A charming story with a charming heroine.”— naturalness of the

^sssssssa^^sutss itass. s»— -*—
from the beginning to the very end.”—The Morning Post.

“••lit.. Al«»derh»?ri^not£g
E
bete? abound. In bright and

“d—
By JANE AUSTEN .

23 EMMA. . , ^ «.Vi*r<u;terH

" I am a great novel reader, but I 0e
i
d
£
m !^ those written by women

are too artificial. My delight 1b to read English
etc . /form a school which intho

' 0*eat toute une Aoole de morale.
the cloud of dramatic poets of the grea

excellence and profusion of its productions resemD
.

Athenian age.”—

G

uizot. Rut among the writers who havo apprejenea

"Shakespeare has neither equal norj^nd- But among

^

placlng Jane Austen, a

nearest to fiemanner of the great master.we h
Assays. ,

— Qf
Woman of whom England ia justly proud Jo Annie Thackeray. He P?*®®1

^Sft2d TSS?yS? tiSked very pWntly ^ateven^g Henry

Jane Austen, as James Spedding does, as next

Autobiography,
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.

EyJANE AUSTEN—[Continued).

M LADY SUSAN.—THE WATSONS.
With a Memoir of the Author by the Her. J. E. Austen -Leigh.

11 1 have heard Sydney Smith, more than once, dwell with eloquence on the merits of Miss
Austen's novels. He told me he should have enjoyed giving her the pleasure of reading her
praises in the ' Edinburgh Review.’ * Fanny Price ’ was one of Ins prime favourites 1

remember Miss Mitford’s saying to me :
4
1 would almost out off one of my hands, if It

would enable me to write like your aunt with the other.’ Thr Rrv. J. E Austkn-Lkioh

21 MANSFIELD PARK.
,l

1 have the picture still before me of Lord Holland lying on his bed, when attacked with
gout, his sister, Miss Fox, beside him reading aloud, as she always did on those occasions,
some one of Miss Austen’s novols, of which he was never wearied. I well recollect the time
when these charming novels, almost unique In their style of humour, burst suddenly on the
world. It was sad that thoir writer did not live to witness the growth of her fame.’’—
Sir Henry Holland’* Recollection*.

44 All the greatest writers of fiction are pure of the sin of writing to a text—Chaucer.
Shakespeare, Scott, Jane Austen ; and are not these precisely the writers who do most good
as well as give most pleasure 7"—Mary Russell Mitxord.

44 Miss Auston’s fame will outlive the generations that did not appreciate her, and her workB
will bo ranked with the English classics as long as the language) lasts.”— The Atlas.

44 Jane Austen’s novels are more true to nature, and have for my sympathies passages of

finer feeling than any others of this age.”—

S

outhey.

* NORTHANGER ABBEY.—PERSUASION.
*1“ When I was at Trinity College, Cambridge, Mr. Whewell, then a Fellow and afterwards
Master of the College, often spoke to me wiih admiration of Miss Austen’s novels. On one
occasion I said that I had found 4 Persuasion ' rather dull. He quite fired up in defenco of It,

Insisting that It was the most beautiful of her works. This accomplished philosopher was
deeply versed in works of fiction. I recollect his writing to me from Caernarvon, that ho was
weary of his stay, for he had road the circulating library twice through.”

—

tiiR Denis Le
AffA2CAA jit,

44 Read Dickens’s 4 Hard Times ’ and anothor book of Pliny’s 4 Letters.’ Read 4 Northanger
Abbey,’ worth all Dickens and Pliny together. Yet It was the work of a girl. She was
certainly not more than twenty-six. Wonderful creature I"

—

Macaulay’s Journal,
August 12,

1854.

14 PRIDE AND PREJUDICE.
44 Ferrier and Austen have given portraits of real society far superior to anything vain man

has produced of the like nature. I have read again, and tor the third time. Miss Austen’s very
finely written novel of 4 Pride and Prejudice.’ That young lady had a talent for describing
the involvements and feelings and characters of ordinary lire, which is to me the most
wonderful I ever met with. Her exquisite touch, which renders commonplace thlugs and
characters interesting from the truth of the description and the sentiment, is denied to me.
What a pity so gifted a creature died so early 1"—Sir Walter Soott.

44 One of the best of Miss Austen’s unequalled works. How perfootly it is written 1"—The
Spectator.

* SENSE AND SENSIBILITY.
14

1 have now read over again all Miss Austen’s novels Charming they are. There are in

the world no compositions which approach nearer to perfection."

—

Macaulay's Journal,

May 1st, 1861.
44 First and foremost let Jane Austen be named, the greatest artist that has ever written,

using the term to signify the most perfect master over the means to her end. Life, as it

preseuts Itself to an English gentlewoman, peacefully yet actively engaged in her quiet

village, is mirrored In her works, with a purity and fidelity that must endow them with
Interest for all time. To read one of her books is like an actual experience of life. You know
the people as if you had lived with them, and you feel something of personal affoctlon towards

them. The marvellous reality and subtle distinctive traits noticeable In her portraits has led

Macaulay to call her a prose Shakespeare.”

—

George Eliot.

By RHODA BROUGHTON.

,M ALAS!
In this novel the author strikes, perhaps, a deeper and truer note of human

than has been audible in any other of her fictions. The Interest is not only well maiutaineo,

bui wholesome and edifying.”—The Globe. A
“ Apart from the Interest of the plot, 4 Alas I’ is full of bright word-pictures of Florence and

Algiers, and of a pleasant and cultivated appreciation of their beauties whloh lend an addi-

tional merit to its pages.”—The Morning Pott .

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON LONDON.
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By RHODA BROUGHTON—

(

Continued).

14D A BEGINNER.
"The novel displays all the author's power of humorous characterization hersense of the comedy of life* It contains enchanting open-air wirl ni^tnr « • .l'h i

chatter of children ; vivacious dialogic
; it throbs with actuality and .m mil'^snMis *it isin short, a characteristic specimen of her work."— Daily Sewn.

1 ' '

m BELINDA.
®®lin<la '

1a adrnlrably told, with the liap,,ic»t liumuiii, the elo«.»t

£or\f:
m-°'‘a Ul the *""*

“ COMETH UP AS A FLOWER.
11 A strikingly original and clever tale, the chief merits of which consist In the ism erful,

vigorous manner of its telling, in the exceeding beauty and poetry of ILs sketches ot M-onciy,
and in the soliloquies, sometimes quaintly humorous, sometimes cyuically bitter, sometimes
plaintive and melancholy, which are uttered by the heroine."— The Timei.

115

"Miss Broughton's new novel is likely to have an oven grc.itor vogue than any of If h

predecessors. It has elements both of humour and of pathos, and unco taken up will retain
the attention of the reader to the close."—The Qlobe.
"Bright and full of movomeut as are usually Mifcfl Broughton's novels, few, if any of thorn,

have attained the degree of pathos which gives an especial charm t«* her latest work,
1 Doctor Cupid.' "

—

The Afnrnmg Poet.

» GOOD-BYE, SWEETHEART!
" We are more impressed by this than by any of Miss Broughton’s previous works It i«

more carefully worked out, and conceived in a much highor spirit. Miss Broughton writes

from the very bottom of her heart. There is a terrible realism about her."—The Echo

DOCTOR CUPID.

(W JOAN.
rhere la something very distinct and original in ‘Joan.’ It is more worthv, more nohlu.

more unselfish than any of her predecessors, while the story is to the full as bright .ind

sutertainiog as any of those which first made Miss Broughton famous."-- The Ihnly Sew
11 ^ere there ever more delightful figures in fiction than 1 Mr Brown ’ and Ids follow doggies

in MIhh Broughton's ‘Joan ' T
"— The Daily Seioelon tmothrr oecaswn).

140 MRS. BLIGH.
"No one of Miss Broughton's stories has given us so much plcasme as tills : not iven

‘Nancy,’ which Is probably her best ;
not even ‘ Doctor Cupid, which is no doubt the most

interesting of her novels. Rhoda Broughton still takes the form of an analysis ,,f

£
feelings, and her greatest s uccesses have been achieved whore she has ‘dL»rl'V. '

, t|>
woman’s character, and then limited tho rest of the story to circumstance

Illustrate that character. In her latest novel she Inis been truer Jo this
vo more

other of her works, and It is thiB quality which makes us say Mrs Hig
, .

**
* h

pleasure than any other of the series. Tho book is a truer picture »f woman
«

jj"

sacrifice of it to a girl, and of the woman s only possible reward, than a* y 8
£

yet given us. Time, practice, and a sense of literary art have produced

In writing which is apparent upon every page of her new stor>

out Miss Broughton's readers will see for themselves, ftnd
.

w ®
P(,n Jfa /t ftozettr

a novel more worthy of remembrance than any she has yet written. -Pen

« NANCY.
" If unwearied brilliancy of style, picturesque description..

ft

£
d
n"d™bt wfitSver

+nd a keen insight into human nature can make a novel jwi i ila
, ht h t W1 ,ttcn.

fhat ‘ Nancy ’ ^dll take a higher place than anything which Miss tfrougnion j

It Is admirable from fiist to last

—

I'he Standard.

NOT WISELY, BUT TOO WELL. ^
' Broughton s popularity in all ranks of ®*?|2d

B
£j

,

hcr at hisown request. H®
tline ago Captain Marirham of the Alert, was introduced to he

i nBtencfi Mount Rhoda
tfiS lnKS?4SStoIS.t10 latitudes an Ice- Z“*t£.

W**rld.
a* an acknowledgment of the pleasure which her tales had gl
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By RHODA BROUGHTON—

(

Continued).

RED AS A ROSE IS SHE.
*' Thar* are lew reader* who will qot be faadnated by H.I. tale."—The Timet.

1M SCYLLA OR CHARYBDIS?
11 MIbs Broughton's new novel is ono of her best. The fine story, finely wrought, of deop

human Interest, with many of those slight side-touches of observation and humour of the
kind for which we look in a story by Miss Broughton, is so carefully and so skilfully con-
structed as to distance its predecessor*! World.

,T SECOND THOUGHTS.
“ I love the romances of Miss Broughton

; I think them much truer to nature than
Ouida's and more impassioned than George Eliot's. Miss Broughton’s heroines are living
beings, having not only flesh and blood, but also esprit and soul ; in a word, they are real
women, neither animals nor angels, but allied to both."—

A

ndr£ Theujuet.

By ROSA N. CARET.
“ BARBARA HEATHCOTE’S TRIAL

11 Fresh, lively, and, thanks to the skill with which the heroine’s character is drawn, really
interesting.”—The Athenaurn.
“ A novel of a sort which it would be real loss to miss.”—The Daily Telegraph.
" The story is told with a skilful fascination. If anything, ' Barbara* is better than 'Not

Like Other Girls,' and all the girls know that it was very good."—The Philadelphia Timet.

“ BASIL LYNDHURST.
'* Miss Carey’s pathetic story turns upon a country house in whose lifo and inmates we

come to feel an almost painful interest. We doubt whether anything has been written
of late years so fresh, so pretty, so thoroughly natural and bright. The novel as a wfaol-i is
charming. Tenderness Is portrayed without the suspicion of sickly sentiment, and the
simple becomes heroic without any Bense of effort or unreality.”—Pall Mall Qaaette.

™ FOR LILIAS.
"The materials from which the story has been constructed have been managed, not only

with exceedingly delicate und tender handling, but with such unusual ingenuity and fertility
of resource, that the result is a novel which not only abounds in graceful and touching
passages, but may be fairly said to possess the merit of originality. All tho characters are
excellently drawn, with strong strokes and in docided outlines, yet always with the utmost
delicacy and refinement of touch.”— The Guardian.

1S» HERIOT’S CHOICE.
Everyone should read 1 Heriot’s Choice.' It is thoroughly fresh, healthy, and in-

vigorating."—The York House Papers.
" ' Heriot’s Choice ’

’ deserves to be extensively known and read. It is a bright, wholesome
story of a quiet but thoroughly interesting class, and as such will doubtless find as many
admirers as readers.”— The Morning Pott. 9

LOVER OR FRIEND ?
1«
“ It is a good novel, of the home-life, family-gossip class, in the production of which lady

writers specially excel. . . . This is a sensibly and skilfully written book, and the situations
at the end show a good deal of dramatic power.”—Pall Mall Gazette.
" Written with all that delicate charm of style which invariably makes this writer’s works

pleasant reading. No one could say they are over dull or commonplace.”—The Academy.

1M MARY St. JOHN.
"A tale of true love, of self-sacrifice, of loyalty and unselfishness. The story is a simple

one. but told with much grace and with unaffected pathos. We have followed the narrative
with an Interest and a pleasure which other more exciting and sensational works have failed
to arouse in us. The heroine is a noble woman, and it is with a sensation of relief that we
find her rewarded in the end for the self-sacrifice which is forced upon her. Dollie Maynard,
too, is a fascinating young personage, and the way in which she gradually awakens to the
merits of her somewhat grave and old-fashioned lover is charmingly depleted. But the most
striking and original portrait in the book is that of Janet St. John. This is a masterpiece ;

and the handsome, worldly woman, so hard of heart in every respect except her love for her
husband and her youngest child, must take rank among the few new creations of the modern
novelist.”—John Bull.

“7 THE MISTRESS OF BRAE FARM.
SECOND EDITION JUST ISSUED.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON LONDON.
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By ROSA N. CAREY—{Continued).

74 NELLIE’S MEMORIES.
1
A. pretty quiet story of English life, free from sensational incidents, without the shadow

of a mystery throughout, and written in a strain which is very pleasing. Miss Carey has the

<rtft of writing naturally and Bimply, her pathos Is true and unforced, and her conversations

ira sprightly and sharp.”— The Standard.

i«8 NOT LIKE OTHER GIRLS.

“The story la one of the Bweetest, daintiest, and most intemating of tho season ’h puMIca-

H Three young girls find themselves penniless, and their mothor has delicuto health.

It ndutes In a charming fashion, how they earned their broad and kept themselves tngothor

and left upon the fieldof strife neither dead nor woundod. '—The New York Home Journal.

i» ONLY THE GOVERNESS.
<« Thi- noVel Is for those who like stories with something of Jano Austen's power, hut with

__ intensity of feeling than Jane Austen displayed, who are not inclined to .call pat>"»

twoddS, and who care to see life and human nature in their most beautiful form. -The roll

^On^fthe sweetest and pleasantest of Miss Carey's bright, wholesome, domestic, sterk*
”

—The Lady.

124 QUEENIE’S WHIM.
ii i«- u nittojuuit to bo able to place at the head of our notice such a thoroughly gixsl and

It is
*Oueenie’s Whim.' Perhaps the subtle charm of tho tale lies as much in

toe°SSto bit flSn touch with which the chapters are drawn as in tho clever management

of the story.’’—The Guardian.

«oi ROBERT ORD’S ATONEMENT.

author.”

—

The Standard.
, , wWe popularity—among them ‘ Not

" Like the former novels from this pen that ha o hwi
Btrong ln it* situations.

SaSSESBSSHSsafr—

‘

im SIR GODFREY’S GRAND-DAUGHTERS.

“A capital story. The jt^dUy ai.d
il tocre-uK.MWiySSi ..— » --

“ Certainly one of the pleaaantMt of recent^CQ
UDlttrillll(ld

lacking in humour, and there are passages o

us UNCLE MAX.
«* In this book Mis« Carey has made a jWjJhd byhw owii wunhand »£*» a very

wicked, selfish, mischief-making woman to ravejU hcraeii oy
Bh(J h made a»i

different thing to describing b
,
ur
„

l'.,

J'*

'e
„
r
nd H is intrinsically good that tho world of

interesting addition to current flotloth and ^
noyd readers ought to be genuinely gratef

Ui WEE W1FIE.
, . oI our especial favourites. She has a great gilt of

the common rnn. ln.rea.dat.ly

" Him Carey's novels are alvrey* 1 “ y

pure and very high in tone. —Tm Lady.

WOOED AND MA
B^ I

wfBld ;otbe Wrtat.l,onr

“There to plenty of romance in the heroine'siUe. B
'^,{

t
tbemr<>ad the book for thea-
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By MARY OHOLMONDELEY.
,w DIANA TEMPEST.

“ Ono of tho brightest novels of modern life that has ever been written."

—

Lady.
11 Miss Uholmonaoley wrltos with a brightness which Is In Itself delightful. . . . Let every,

one who can enjoy an excellent noyel, full of humour, touchod with real pathos, and written
with finished taste and skill, read ‘ Diana Tempest.'”

—

Athenatum.
“ A remarkably clever and amusing novel.”—Saturday Review.

1OT SIR CHARLES DANVERS.
11 Novels so amusing, so brightly written, so full of simple sense and witty observation as

* Sir Charles Danvers rare not found every day. It Is a charming love story, lightened up on
all sides by the humorous, genial character sketches.”—The Saturday Review.
" ' Sir Charles Danvers ' is realiy a delightful book, Mr Charles Is one of the most fasdnat-

ing, ono of tho wittiest figures that advance to greet us from the pages of contemporary fiction.

We met him with keen pleasure and parted from him with keon regret. ” - The Daily News.

By MARCUS CLARKE.

» FOR THE TERM OF HIS NATURAL LIFE.
<a There can, indeed, I think, be no two opinions as to the horrible fascination of the bouk.

The reader who takes it up and gets beyond the Prologue—though he cannot but be harrowed

S
f the long agony of the story, and the human anguish of every page, Is unable to lay it down ;

most in spite of himself he has to read and to suffer to the bitter end. To me, 1 confess, it

Is the most terrible of all novels, more terrible than 'Oliver Twist,' nr Victor Hugo’s most
startling effects, for the simple reason that it is more real. It bus all the solemn ghastliness
of truth.”—1Thk Earl or Rosebery.

By MRS. W, K. CLIFFORD.

143 AUNT ANNE.
"Mrs. Clifford lms achieved a success of a very unusual and remarkable kind in this book.

She has had tho extreme daring to take for tho subject of her story the romance of an old

woman, and to fill her canvas with this ono figure. . . . She and her treatment are quite

original and new. She is often laughable, but always touching
;
her little figure is full of an

old-fashioned grace, though grace combined with oddity ;
her sense of her ‘ position,’ her

susceptibilities in that lespect, her boundless generosity, are always delightful. Indeed, we
do not know whon we have met with a more loving and recognisable, as well as attractive,

personage in fiction.”

—

Spectator'.
9

" One of the most memorable creations of modem fiction. The character of Aunt Anne is

not a mere tourde force. It is one of those—one is almost tempted to say Immortal—creations
whose truth mingles so insistently with its charm In every touch that It is hard to say

whether It le Its truth which makes the charm or the charm which persuades you Into believ-

ing In its truth . '—Sunday Sun.

By MBS. AUGUSTUS GRAVEN
(Pauline de la Ferronays).

19 A SISTER’S STORY.
" A book which took all France and all England by storm Blackwood's Magadm*
“ ‘ A Bister’s Story' is charmingly written, and excellently translated. It is full of

fascinating revelations of family life. Montalembert’s letters, and the mention of him as a

young man, are delightful. Interwoven with the story of Alexandrine are accounts of toe

different members of the family of La Ferronays. The story of their lives and deaths
beautiful ; their letters and diaries abound in exquisite thoughts and tender religious feoling.

— The Athenaeum.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON
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By LILY DOUGALL.
188 THE MADONNA OF A DAY.

“ Remarkably clever and original.”—Ladtf* Pictorial
“ H!" Dougall la among the cleverest of the younger novelets.”-0Wr,cr

°'ne 8traU?ely CTOltlnS “>d „f

By MBS. ANNIE EDWARDES.
110 A GIRTON GIRL.
" Mrs. Edwardes la one of the cleverest of living lady novelists. She has a piquancy of

style and an originality of view which are very refreshing after the dreary inanities of many
of her own sex. The novel is throughout most enjoyable reading."— Ike Academy.
“ One of the best and brightest novels with which the world has been favoured for a vorv

long time Is ' A Girtou Girl.’ All the characters talk brightly and epigraintnatically, and
tell their own stories in their lively conversation.”— The Latin
“ Mrs. Edwardes tells a story which is full of subtle observation, hcnovolent sarcasm, and

irresistible brightness. "—The Morning Post

81 LEAH : A WOMAN OF FASHION.
' 1 Leah’ Is the best, the cleverest, and strongest novel that wo have as yet had in the

sonson, as it is certainly Mrs. Edwarden’s masterpiece.”— The lVoid.
“ Mrs. Edwardes's last novel is the strongest and most complete which she has yet pro-

duct*!.”

—

1'he Saturday Review.

« SUSAN FIELDING.
“One has not read far into this novel before one feelH that the writer Is by no menus i

common person. Bo true and vivid 1h the conception of the various characters that wo have
sometimes a difficulty in realising that wo aro, after all, only rending tlio creations of an
author's fancy. As to the style, it is excellent. It becomes firmer us the story advances, but
throughout it has a delicate grace which it is impossible to doflue, but of which every reader
will bo conscious. . . . Wo hope wo have said enough to show that this hi no ordinary book.
If our readers make themselves directly acquainted with it they will not conclude that we
have given it too hearty a recommendation.”— The tiloU.

By JESSIE FOTHERG-ILLi.

» ALDYTH.
“ It is curious that this, which is the most interesting of Miss Fotliergill's uovols, should

also be the least known. ItsVpublication is very welcome, and there can ^
if it were well known it would be more widely appreciated than any of Miss lothurgtllH

hooks. ”

—

Observer.

116 BORDERLAND.
“Miss FothorgiU la one of those novelists whose books we always

®J
eI1

fcĥ

1

expectation, and never close with disappointment. Wo do not
iuJuL/dti-

excellence is a characteristic of her achievement ;
she is too much ^

tinguished from a writer of talent to work upon a dead level,

unmistakable touch of mastery, the imaginative grasp of

ship of the constructor, • the vision and the faculty divine SErSffi
and not in form ! Borderhmd ’ is certain to be enjoyed

ThefEndiestn
of the strongest human interest, told with consummate literary skill. -The Mancueswr

Examiner.

72 THE FIRST VIOLIN.
“Tho story U extremely Interesting from Ihe flrst P**® ^innUon V* Eugeni'Sfe with

we have met with anything so exquisitely touching
xhe Standard.Ms friend Helfen. It Is an*idyl of the purest and noblest
culturadwriter. To

A story of strong and deep interest, written by a ^g felt.”—Tht Dundee
such as have musical sympathies an added pleasure and delight wui oe »«*«-

Advertiser.
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By JESSIE FOTHERGILI (Continued).

FROM MOOR ISLES.
“ ‘From Moor Isles’ is much above the average, and may be road with a considerable

amount of pleasure, containing, as it does, many vigorous and affecting passages.”

—

Globe.
“ The sketches of North-country life are true and healthy.”—Athenaeum.
“Miss FothergUl has written another of her charming stories, as charming os 1 The First

Violin.’ * From Moor Isles ' will distinctly add to Miss Fothergill’s reputation as one ot the
pleasantest of our lady novelists."— Pail Mall Gazette.

« KITH AND KIN.
“ In speaking of 1 Kith and Kin ’ it is not noceasary to say more In the way of praise than

that Miss Fotbergill has not fallen below her own mark. None of her usual good materials
are wanting. The characters affect us like real persons, and the story of their troubles and
their efforts interests us from the beginning to the end. We like the book—we like it very
much.”— The Pall Mall Gautte.
" One of the finest English novels since the days of ‘ Jane Eyre.' ”—Manchester Examiner

" PROBATION.
Altogether 'Probation' is the most interesting novel we have read for Borne time. We

closed the book with very real regret, and a feeling of the truest admiration for the
power which directed and the spirit which inspired the writer, and with the determination,
moreover, to make the acquaintance of her other stories.”—The Spectator.

•* a noble and beautiful book which no one who has read is likely to forget.”— The ManthesUr
Ksmniner.

By LADY GEORGIANA FULLERTON.

8 TOO STRANGE NOT TO BE TRUE.
•‘One of the most fascinating and delightful works I ever had the good fortune to meet

with, in which genius, goodness, and beauty meet together in the happiest combination, with
the Additional charm of an historical basis.—" Kinokach,” in Notes and Queries.

By RICHARD JEFFERIES.

i* THE DEWY MORN.
“ The beautiful description in which the book abounds is what will lend the work its most

potent charm. With the pen of a poet and the appreciativcneas of a painter he limns in

graceful words his pictures of country life with such truth that one can hear the wind among
the trees, and see the great clouds flinging their shadows on the sward, as one reads his

charming studies.”

—

Society.
“ ‘The Dewy Mom’ is written from end to end in a kind of English which cannot be

imitated, and has rarely been equalled for beauty. The descriptions of scenery and of the

aspects of sky and atmosphere are so vitally true as to produce a sense of illusion like that

produced by a painting.'*— Vanity Fair. [Reprinting.

By JOSEPH SHERIDAN LE FANU.

» THE HOUSE BY THE CHURCHYARD.
•* Lq Fanu was one of the beat story-tellers that ever wrote English. We protest that, as

wo write, one fearful story comes to our mind wbioh brings on a cold feeling though we read

it years ago. The excitement is so keen that anyone but a reviewer will find himself merely

‘ taking the colour ’ of whole sentences in his eagerness to get to the finish. His instinct is

so rare that he seems to pick the very mood most calculated to excite your interest Without

explanation, without affectation, he goes on piling one situation on another until at last no

ralsesa perfeot fabric. We know not one improvisatore who can equal him.”— Vanity Fair.
11 Le Farm possessed a peculiar—An almost unique—faculty lor combining the weird ana

the romantic. His fancy had no limit in its ranges amongst themes and images of teiror

Yet he knew how to Invest them with a romantic oharm which ended in exerting over bis

readers an irresistible fascination.”

—

The Daily Newt.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON, LONDON.
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By J. S. Le FANU

—

( Continued).
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IN A GLASS DARKLY.

5E£!5f? 1

Wl
H
0 by

i
n a G1

f“
D"J : ^ eorio invoStions of tho mithorJtho

dreadhil, deliberate, and unsparing calm with which he works thorn out, make him tho
master of allwho ride tho nightmare. Even Edgar Poe, oven Joan Rickepln, come In but
seoorn? and third to the author of ‘In a Glass Darkly. 1 His ‘ Carmllla 1

is tho most frightful
of vampires, the Dragon Volant the most gruesome of romances

; while ‘ A Tale of Green
Tea might frighten even Sir Wilfrid Lawson Into a chastened dovotlon to claret or burgundy.
No one need find Christmas nights too commonplace and darkness devoid of terrors If he
keeps the right books of Lo Panu by his pillow. Tho author is doad, and beyond our gratitude.
I cast lilies vainly upon his tomb— et munei'e fungor inani."—From a leading article In The
Daily News.

“ UNCLE SILAS.
"The first character is Uncle Silas, that mysterious man of sin

; the next )b tho ghoul-like
goblin of a French governess—the most awful governess in fiction. Then we liavo the
wandering lunatic whom we tako for a ghost, aud who is even more dreadfuL Finally, thorc
is the tremendous scene in the lonoly Irish house. No one who has rood It can forgot it, or tho
chapters which precede it ; no one who has not read it should liavo his pleusuio spoiled by a
description."—The Daily New.
" We cordially recommend this remarkable novel to all who have loisuro to read It, satisfied

that for many a day afterwards the characters thero portrayed will lmunt tho minds of those
who have become acquainted with them. Shakespeare's famous line, 1 Macbeth hath murdered
sleep,

1 might be altered for the occasion, for certainly ' Uncle Silas
1 has murdered sleep in

many a past night, and is likely to murder it in many a night to come, by that strange
mixture of fantasies like truths and truths like fantasies which make us feel, as wo rise from
the pefusal, as if we had been undor a wizard's spoil."— The Timet.

By MARY LINSKILL.
13(1 BETWEEN THE HEATHER AND THE

NORTHERN SEA.
“A remarkable book, the work of a woman whoso preparation for writing has been her

communion with books and nature. This intimacy is wide and apparent. Bhakospoaru,

Milton, Keats, Shelley, Kingsley, Carlyle, Drowning, Tennyson, and many more are constantly

supplying illustration. The beautiful mottoes to the chapters would mako up a choice extract

book/ona the very names of thorn are quotations. Her familiarity with nature is as ovident

as that with books. The grandest passage in tho story describes with

and with subtle delicacy the shifting scenes of a great sea stonn-we wish wo
it, but it must not be mutilated—and tho aspects of the wild high moorlands ,

the lonely,

desolate, and reedy marshes; the rare bits ofcornland, the sheltered

night or day, in Winter or iri*summor, oc in lovely cheerful spring, ln the «torm «r in the

sunshine—aU these aspects of nature on tho Yorkshire moors and on

are sketched with tho sAme perfect knowledge, the same fine perception of minute differences

and changes, and the same sense of beauty. —The Spectator.

*« • CLEVEDEN.
The heroine’s story Is told, and her character drawn with mULlidcl'ciwyofhjucKaiHlour

sympathy Is po-werfuJ?y enlisted lor the timid and effect:tonats ££
and the religiousness, vague but strong, that bears her thljjugl

k aradually towards
desertion by her first lover, and the trust and dependence tlwtdre

^e/husband.
the less fascinating, but far deeper and stronger nature of the “

.

. k f OJMJ w^o not
‘Stehhen Yorke*. ' sketches of scenery

^

°^?c faeltag
only knows them intimately and loves them dearly, but wh

d ^ gather from~n appreciate the minuter delicacies of varying seasons and weather, ana can g

Nature in all her aspects her deeper and higher meanings. The spectator.

137 THE HAVEN UNDER THE HILL.

“ Jn those pages are described many stern ^**t*e8Jii
h
d
5“

rJ^J
U
M

l

»on^u^
n
msShw<>o<••
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By MARY LINSKILI (Continued).

»» IN EXCHANGE FOR A SOUL.
"The central figure of the tale 1b the beautiful flsher-girl, Barbara Burdas. . . . She haa

the self-restraint, the quiet courage, of the Puritan heroines of old. . . . From first to last die
Is an original as well as fascinating creation."

—

Morning Post.

l« TALES OF THE NORTH RIDING.
11 If Miss Llnaklll had written only her fine ' Tales of the North Riding,' they would havo

been sufficient to fix her title of Novelist of the North. Her characters are portr&lts of
northern folk, as they who have lived among them will recognise, and her scenery Is precisely
what one's memory recalls. "

—

Sheffield Daily Telegraph.
41 What Mr. Hardy Is to the Wessex country, Mary LlnsklU might have become to the North

Riding of Yorkshire, had her life been spared a little longer. The 'Tales of the North
Biding* gives many evidences of her real ability, and, In the second story, 4 Theo’s Escape,'
Miss Tjlnsldll rises to the level of her best novel, and in It she displays the strongly artistic

faculty which Is never absent from any of her books."—Manchester Examiner.

By MAARTEN MAARTENS.

l« GOD’S FOOL.
44 The Story of Ellas, God’s Fool, Is In some respects beautiful, In all curious, and thickset

with gems of thought. The picture of the creature with the clouded brain, the missing
senses, the pure and holy soul, and the unerring sense of right, living in his deafness and
darkness by the light and the law of love, Is a very fine conception, and Its contrast with the
meanness and wickedness of his surroundings Is worked out with high art."

—

World.
44 A very Interesting and charming story. Ellas Loasell only became a fool gradually, as

the result of an accident which happened to him In early youth. Gradually the light of this

world’s wisdom died out for him
;
gradually the light of God’s wisdom dawns and develops in

him. The way these two lights are opposed and yet harmonised Is one of the most striking
features of the book. As a subtle study of unusual and yet perfectly legitimate combination
of effect, it is quite first-rate.”—Guanhan.

138 AN OLD MAID’S LOVE.
44 A picture of a Dutch Interior. Cool shadows, fine touches, smooth surfaces, clear outlines,

subdued meanings, among these sit Susanna Varelkamp. the old maid, exactly as you may
see In a Dutch picture an old lady in a prim room knitting a stocking and looking as If she

and dust had never known each other. The book Is fresh, vivid, original, and thoroughly
Interesting.”

—

The Saturday Review.

Wl THE GREATER GLORY.
44 A number of various types are introduced, sketched with remarkable clearness of touch.

Some belong essentially to the soil, but the majority are specimens of those to be met with

In all cultivated communities. The plot is one of singular interest, marked by dramatic

contrasts and a strongveln of pathos. It would be difficult to conceive figures more touching

than those of the old Baron and Baroness Bexelaer, nor, in a different way, than the pair of

young lovers, Relnout and Wcndela, charming creations of a poetic fancy. —Morning Post.
9

1M MY LADY NOBODY.
"The name of Maarten Maartens has become a household word among lovers of literature.

This last book takes Its place in the forefrontof contemporary fiction. The power of the

master Is Been In every page ; the delicate psychological instinct Is evident in every char-

acter ; a dainty humour plavB about the deep teaching of the situations, and we never lose

sight of the artist from the first page to the last. Woman's Signal.

'*> THE SIN OF JOOST AVELINGH.
44 A masterly treatment of a situation thAt has an Inexhaustible fascination for novelists,

but which very few are strong enough to treat worthily. An admirable novel. Has through*

out the merits of Dutch art . . . combined with a most delicate loveliness.”—The Guardian
"Maartens has Inherited many of the special gifts which once distinguished his great

countryman—but that Is not all.
4 The Bin of Jooat Avellngh ' has qualities of imaginst**®"

which Dutch pictorial art hardly ever achieved, save on the canvases of Rembrandt, —inc

Manchester Examiner.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON, LONDON.
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From the French of HECTOR MALOT .

88 NO RELATIONS.
11A cheap edition of a book which, within the short space of a year, has reachod the almost

unprecedented sale of 200,000 copies in France, and which has boon there awarded tho

valuable Academical prise of M. Monthyon, cannot fail to meet with appreciation in this

country."—Pnfacu [Afjirinftm/.

By HELEN MATHERS (Mrs. Reeves).

89 COMIN’ THRO’ THE RYE.

tragic plot,

-The Atherthenomm.

The Standard.
the Rye. 1 There Is originality In tho
the tragedy from becoming sombre."

By FLORENCE MONTGOMERY,

ss MISUNDERSTOOD.
11 Read 'Misunderstood'; very touching and truthful.”— Diary of Dr. Wilberforce, Bishop

^'•Thisrolume gives us what of all things is the most rare to find in contemporary literature

—a true picture of ohlld-llfe.”—Vanity Fair.

89 SEAFORTH.
"In the marvellous world of the pathetic conceptions <>* Wfkens

1

Jereis i

exquisitely touching than the loving, love-seeking, unloved child,
Sea/orth*

ISTSlondlery &e h.ghost ^mpllment within our rmch

k“OW“-

rgcaforth’ la a noyel full of beauty, feeling, and lntereet. —Tht World.

*< THROWN TOGETHER.

»a
ma,'y,ovoly

sentiments.”—Tho Washington Daily Chronicle.

By W. E. NORRIS.

Ion of bis graphic powers md blengni w w
to hta delloate humour awl

— w-one who baa boen compared^^fi^Vf ^lnklnd, and to Anthony liollope ln

his ready aeiauro of the foibles as weU as the rirtuea oimma^^, >conM ^ .tory of a

a oertain minuteness of finish in the
Intense worldliness of modem ®ngUsh

natural and unsophisticated 8^ and by both parUmasooe entWj
soolaty, and of a marriage de“b

fXt
1
flehilor his characteristic modes ol treatment. —Tho

of oonvenance. affords an excellent neiu ior n»
Boston Literary World.

Wnrris's novels nearly always are. The “
11 Exceedingly good reading, as Mr. ^^J^Znfc^kian. [Reprinting.

far as wVknow, original, which is a rare merit. -TMUua™

MAJOR AND MINOR.

author’s fidelity of

touch of tfo accomplWi^g^.
Tb^

lift

" The .u
here deals with orainaxy seui
sad Mi— Huntley are drawn

oalyslfl tnrougnouu ^ character* or mm
«a suss mmuey are arewAi^th th^tte SSmifflito be found »

vale, as# —sasV htiwnniip ftB In
“

a™ MW’ Ths

linen ws'*”
These merits

tn^fonsof thess .iatobs founda

are ramiiiar to tne reaaers ui »ir. ««.» -
, The irrepressible^oontracto _ ’

vein of such genuine humour as in Major antV,.s^on for poor Brian lands hj®
latest

Mr. MuS?Kd the fair Mis. Julia. Jft-g-gj?’Jhey a?e%e^ng.
In tWa. M.^

than awkward dilemma, am each iaustlo wrltsr he hm«w
hook. Hr. Norris remains the elegant ^sllghuy cau^ h»Te become wlderand

moraium.

knowledge of tho world and sympathy with human n.
—The Morning Post. _ -
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By W. E. NORRIS—

(

Continued).

188 MISS SHAFTO.
11 The books of Mr. Norris are worth reading, not because he recalls this or that distinguished

predeoessor, but because he has a charming manner of his own which Is rendered recognisable
not by eccentricity or whim, but by a wholesome ortlstlo Individuality, and one does not
nowadays often read a fresher, brighter, cleverer book than 1 Miss Shafto.

1 "—The Academy.
[Reprinting

.

By MRS. NOTLEY.
79 OLIVE VARCOE.

11 sensational story with a substantial fund of Interest. It Is thoroughly exciting."—The
Athenaturn.

11 Among the pleasures of memory may bo reckoned the Impression left by a perusal of
1 Olive Varooe/ a story sufficiently powerful, picturesque, and original to raise hopes of still

more excellent work to be achievedby the writer of it.”—The St. Jamee’e Gazette.

By FRANCES M. PEARD.

NEAR NEIGHBOURS.
" The home life of the Dutch,
Sketched with eloquent touch,

Forms the scene of Miss Peard’s latest
labours.

And the story is such
That you’ll find there Is much

To like In her pleasant ‘ Near Neighbours.’
”

Punch.
“ * Near Neighbours ’ is an excellent novel. It Is a story of modem life in the Netherlands, and

It reminds one of a gallery of Dutch pictures without their coarseness."—The Saturday Review.

By MRS. J. H. RIDDELL.

BERNA BOYLE.
II In 1 Berea Boyle * this very clever author has broken now ground. A more fiery, passion-

ate, determined, and, we must add, more uncomfortable lover than Gorman Muir could
hardly have been 1 evolved out of the consciousness ’ of Emily Brontfi herself.”—The Standard.

II

I

Berna Boyle’ Is one of the best of Mrs. Riddell's novels ; certainly the best I have read

of hers since 1 George Geith.’ "—Truth.

» GEORGE GEITH OF FEN COURT.
11 Rarely have we seen an abler work than this, or one which cnore vigorously Interests us

In the principal characters of its most fascinating story.”—The Timet.
“ The author carries the reader with her from the first page to the last. And of all the girls

we can call to mind In recent novels we scarcely know one that pleases us like Beryl. She is

so fresh, so bright, so tender-hearted, so charming, even for her faults, that we fall In love

with her almost at first sight. The subordinate characters are sketched with great felicity,

and considerable skill is displayed In the construction of the plot. We like, too, the thoughts,

pithily and eloquently expressed, which are scattered throughout the volume."

—

The Fort-

nightly Review.

By MAJOR HAWLEY SMART.

* BREEZIE LANGTON.
11 A capital novel, full of sweet English girls and brave, open-hearted English gentlemen.

It abounds with stirring scenes on the racecourse and in the camp, told with a rare anima-
tion, and a thorough knowledge of what the writer Is talking about."—The Guardian.
" we predict for this book a decided success. Had the author omitted his name from the

title-page, we should unhesitatingly have credited Mr. Whyte Melville with his labours. The
force and truth of the hunting and raring sketches, the lively chat of the club and the

barracks, the pleasant flirting scenes, and the general tone of good eooiety, all carry us beck

to the days of 1 Kate Coventry ’ and 1 Digby Grand.’ "—The Saturday Review.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON
,
LONDON
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Bythe BARONESS TAUTPHCEUS (nee Montgomery).
4
" THE INITIALS.

11 One of those special and individual tales the coming of which is pleasantly welcomed 1

1

must please all who love character in persons lower than Antonys and Cleopatras. No bettu
humoured or less caricatured picture of life in Germany has ever been executed by an English
pendl.”— The Athenaeum.

T QUITS

!

“ 'Quits r is an admirable novel. Witty, sententious, graphic, full of brilliant pictures ut
life and manners, It Is positively one of the best of modem stories, and may be read with
delightful Interest from cover to cover."—The Morning Post.

By ANTHONY TROLLOPE .

“ THE THREE CLERKS.
"... Trollope's next novel was 'Tho Three Clerks,' which wo have always greatly

admired and enjoyed, but which we fancied had come before the ecclesiastical fictions. Tho
sorrows, the threatened moral degradation of poor Charlie Tudor, the persecution ho under-

went from the low money-lender—all these things seemod very actual to us, and now we
know that they were photographs reproduced from tho llfo. The novel seems to havo boon a

special favourite of its authors, and perhaps he places almost higher than we should bo

inclined to do the undoubtedly pathetic love-scenes of which Rato woodward is tho heroine.

He declares elsewhere, if we remember aright, that one of tlieso scenos was the most touching

he ever wrote. And he says here, 1 The passage in which Kate Woodward, thinking she will

die, tries to take leave of the lad she loves, still brings tears to my eyes whon I read it. I had

not the heart to kill her. I never could do that. And 1 do not doubt but that theyare living

happily together to this day.”'—The Times (revievnng Anthony Trollope's Autobiography).

From the German of E. WERNER.

FICKLE FORTUNE.
" Werner has established her claim to rank with thoso very few writers whoso works are, or

should be, matters of interest to all readers of cultivation throughout Europe."—The 0rW*c*

" The tale partly resembles that of Romoo and Juliet, in so far as thehero and horolne fall in

love almost at first sight, and discover that they belong to families which an at doadly foud

but such deadly feud os can bo carried on by means of lawyers and lawsuits. The stylo of

writing is oxcellent, of the easy, lucid, vivacious sort, which never induces weariness and

scarcely allows tlmo for a pause."—The Illustrated London News.

“ SUCCESS, AND HOW HE WON IT.
— — . . ii— j

—

nu.« .fAn> charming and original
' The Standard.

By the HON. LEWIS WINGFIELD
« LADY GRIZEL. _ „ .

of^e^^^ °“8 h*‘

lived In the reign of George nf."-rA« Morning to*.
terrible and a very dlfflcult

time."— Pantfy Fair. __ -

Bentley’ jfavourite IRovele.

Each Work can be had separately, uniformly bound, price

^
The most Recent Additions to the Series me.

MY T
f
ATW NOBODY. By Maarten Maartens.

THE MADONNA OF A DAY. By Lily Dougall.

TTTic MISTRESS OF BRAE FARM. By Roha

DEAR FAUSTINA. Bv Rhoda Brolohton
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Jfiction.

A NEW EDITION OF

RICHARD SAVAGE.
H “Romance of Real Xife.

*By CHARLES WHITEHEAD,
AUTHOR OF ‘THE SOLITARY.*

WITH EIGHTEEN ETCHINGS ON STEEL BY JOHN LEECH.

As the steel plates have not been worked from since the three-volume edition of 1B49 (with
exception of thirty impressions in 1865), these illustrations of Leech have become scarce in recent
years.

Ail Introduction by Mr. HARVEY ORRINSMITH is prefixed to the

volume (which consists of 498 pages).

ISSUED IN TWO STYLES.

{a) In one volume, crown 8vo., claret cloth, with the eighteen etchings by
Leech worked on white plate paper. Price 7s. 6d.

(6) In one volume, demy 8vo., dark blue cloth, with white back, with the

eighteen etchings by Leech worked upon India paper. The price of

these large-paper copies is 14s. (the number of copies in this form being

few).

1
1 have often heard Charles Dickens speak with great admiration of Charles White-

head’s novel of "Richard Savage.’”—Charles Diokens, from a letter of Miss
Hogarth (Dickens' sister-in-law).

' It was in Bentleys Miscellany>, in its palmy days, that Charles Whitehead wrote his

novel of " Richard Savage," an intensely powerful and lifelike romance saturated with

the love of the early Georgian era, and which I cannot help thinking Thackeray had to

some extent in his mind when he wrote " Esmond.” " Richard Savage "—(was that

ne’er-do-well genius the godfather of the Savage Club?)—was illustrated by John Leech
in the high springtide of his graphic genius.’—George Augustus Sala.

' It was not until 1842 that Whitehead put forth the work which most distinguished

him. Never surely was the advent of a remarkable imaginative writer more clearly

signalized than by the publication of this book. It vitalized the men and manners
of the eighteenth century as no writing of the nineteenth century had vitalized them,

as no other writing (unless it is " Esmond”) has since vitalized them. Nor was the

world slow to appraise this fine book at its true worth. It has been introduced to the

public in the pages of Bentleys Miscellany by Dickens, who was editor, and who
never wearied of speaking in his praise. It was admirably illustrated by Leech, and

passed through several editions. It arrested the attention of Professor Wilson, who had

recognised Whitehead's poetic gift ten years before. It fired the enthusiasm of Dante

Rossetti. It won for the author the friendship of Bulwer Lytton, Douglas Jerrold, and

others, and placed him at one step among the imaginative writers of the time.’

—

Hall
Caine.

1 The very admirable and exceptional novel of " Richard Savage." Richard Savage

is very remarkable, a real character really worked out.
1—Dante Gabriel Rossetti.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON, LONDON
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Sale over Two Million Copies.

THE HALF-CROWN EDITION
OF

MRS. HENRY WOOD’S NOVELS.
Each in one volume

, crown 8vo.

Now issued in red cloth
,
gilt lettered on back and side, 28. 0d.

EAST LYNNE.
THE OHANNINGS.
MBS. HALLIBURTON’S TROUBLES.
THE.SHADOW OF ASHLYDYAT.
LORD OAKBURN’S DAUGHTERS.
VERNER’S PRIDE.
ROLAND YOREE.
JOHNNY LUDLOW, ist Series.

TVm.T>BT!T> ARKELL.
SAINT MARTIN’S EVE.
TREVLYN HOLD.
GEORGE CANTERBURY'S WILL.
THE RED COURT FARM
WITHIN THE MAZE.
ULSTER’S FOLLY.
LADY ADELAIDE.
OSWALD CRAY.
JOHNNY LUDLOW. 2nd Series.

ANNE HEREFORD.
DENE HOLLOW.
EDINA.
A LIFE’S SECRET.
THE HOUSE OF HALLIWELL.
POMEROY ABBEY.
COURT NETHERLEIGH.
THE MASTER OF GREYLANDS, etc.

These novels may also be had in plainer binding, in green cloth,

price 2s.

, .. u with characteristic individualily.in
1 The power to draw minutely and carefully each pe

pages with a vitality which came*
*orf and action U Mr,. Wood’, espooajjpfc. ^

The Atfuuemm.

word and action is Mrs. Wood s especial gift. In
j the ve}i which in real life

Ae reader to the end, and leaves him with the_*»«'*"* known certain people
from man has been raised, and that he has for once rasc\vtai\0n.

,—The Athen**
aa if he had been their guardian angel. Tbn « a great ta*.in«o
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Cheap Cbitions of SSorks of Jfictton.

By MRS. WOODS.

A Village Tragedy.
By Margaret L. Woods, Author of ‘Lyrics and Ballads.’ Second Edition.
Small post 8vo., 3s. 6d.

By DR. KENEALY.

Molly and her Man-o’- War.
By Dr. Arabella Kenealy, Author of ‘Dr. Janet of Harley Street.’
Crown 8vo.

f
6s.

ANONYMOUS.

An Australian Girl.
By 1 Mrs. Alick Macleod.* The Second Edition in crown 8vo., 6s.

By MISS BETHAM EDWARDS.

The Parting of the Ways.
By M. E. Betiiam Edwards, Authoress of * Kitty.’ In crown 8vo., 6s.

By MR. W. H. MALLOCK.

The Old Order Changes.
By William Hurrell Mallock. New and Cheaper Edition, with
Frontispiece, crown 8vo., 6s.

By MISS MONEY.

A Little Dutch Maiden.
By E. Ernle Money. A New and Cheaper Edition, crown 8vo., 6s.

By MR. LISLE.

The Ring of Gyges.
By Charles W. Lisle. Crown 8vo., 6s.

By MISS BLYTII.

The Queen’s Jewel.
The Little Duke of Gloucester. By M. P. Blyth,’ Author of ‘Antoinette.’
With Ten Illustrations by William Lance, quarto, 6s.

By MR. JEPHSON.

H§ would be a Soldier.
By R. Mounteney Jephson, Author of ‘ The Girl he left behind him,* etc.

Eighth Edition, with Four Illustrations, crown 8vo., 2s. 6d.

By MRS. ORLEBAR.

H. S. Limpness the Moonfaced Princess.
By F. St. John Orlebar. With numerous Illustrations, quarto, 3s. 6d.

By MISS WARDEN.

Those Westerton Girls.
By Florence Warden, Author of ‘ The House on the Marsh,' etc. Third
Edition, in fcap. 8vo., paper wrapper, is.
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(gheftp (Editions of SBoilis of fiction ( Continued).

By CHARLES ROBERT MATURIN.

Melmoth the Wanderer.
By the Author of * Bertram/ Reprinted from the Original Text, with a

Memoir and Bibliography of Maturin. In 3 vols., post 8vo., 24s.

*£41&bre voyageur Melmoth, la grande creation satanique du niviirend Maturin. Quoi de

plus grand, quoi de plus puissant relativement a la pauvre humanity que te |m1c cl uinuyd

Melmoth?*—C. Baudelaire.

Sir George.
By the Hon. MRS. HENNIKER.

By the Hon. Mrs. IIknniker, Author of 1 Bid me Good-bye P A New and

Cheaper Edition. Crown 8vo., 2s. 6d.

By a NEW WRITER.

A Chronicle of Two Months.
Reprinted from The Temple Bar Magazine. Crown 8v»., 2-. 6.1.

By COLONEL BURNABY.

Our Radicals.
By the late Co!. Fred Burnaby. A New Edition. Crown 8»o., 29 . 6d.

By MR. GOODMAN.

Too Curious. ... r. a ,.

By E. J. Goodman. A New and Cheaper Edition. Crown 8vo., s.

Bv MR. HARDINGE.

Out of the Fog.
By William Money IIaroinge. Fcap. 8vo„ paper wrapper, s.

Florence Montgomery's Stories.

A Seeosul Edition of Miss Montgomery's New Stoiy, entitled ‘ Colonel Norton.' u

now ready, 3 v°ls">

Jfm rjajnn With 6 Illustrations, by

MISUNDERSTOOD. Twenty-fifth Edition.

Du Maurier. Crown 8vo., 6s.

THROWN TOGETHER. Twentieth Thousand. Crown 8vo.,

SEAKORTH. Ninth Thousand, with Frontispiece. Crown 8

THE BLUE VEIL, AND OTHERSTORIES.
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gtanbarb SEork« of Jficlion.

JANE AUSTEN’S NOVELS.
(Messrs. BENTLEYS' is the ONLY COMPLETE EDITION.)

In Six Vols., crown 8vo., 36s.

Vol. I.—SENSE AND SENSIBILITY. Vol. V.—NORTHANGER ABBEY, and
„ II.—PRIDE AND PREJUDICE. PERSUASION.
„ III.—MANSFIELD PARK. „ VI.-LADY SUSAN, THEWATSONS,
„ IV.—EMMA. Etc. (With a Memoir and’Por-

trait of the Authoress.)

THE COLLECTED WORKS OF

THOMAS LOVE PEACOCK.
Including his Novels, Fugitive Pieces, Poems, Criticisms, etc. Edited bv Sir

Henry Cole, K.C.B. With Preface by Lord Houghton, and a Biographical

Sketch by Edith Nicolls. 3 vols., crown 8vo., 31s. 6d.

HEADLONG HALL. I MAID MARIAN. CROTCHET CASTLE
MELINCOURT. MISFORTUNES OF GRYLL GRANGE.
NIGHTMARE ABBEY.

| ELPHIN. Etc.

THE EDINBURGH EDITION.

MISS PERRIER’S NOVELS.
Six Volumes, small crown 8vo.

MARRIAGE - 2 vols., 10s. THE INHERITANCE - 2 vols., 10s.

DESTINY - 2 vols. , 10s.

This Edition is printed from the Original Edition corrected by the Author, of whom a short

Memoir is prefixed in 1 Marriage.

Jllberl Smith’s glories.

ETCHINGS BY LEECH.

The Adventures of Mr. Ledbury.
With Numerous full-page Illustrations by John Leech. Royal 8vo., 21s.

The Marchioness of Brinvilliers.
With full-page Etchings by John Leech. Royal 8vo., 21s.

Edited by JOHN RUSKIN.

Portraits of the Children of the Mobility.
Drawn from Nature byJohn Leech. With Portrait of Leech, and Prefatory

Letter by John Ruskin. Reproduced in Autotype. Quarto, ios. 6d.

ETCHINGS BY CRUIKSHANK.

Old ‘ Miscellany ' Days.
Stories by Various Authors. Reprinted from 1 Bentleys* Miscellany.* Royal

8vo., with 33 full-page Illustrations on Steel by George Cruikshank. 21s.

RICHARD BENTLEY AND SON, LONDON
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INDEX.
A Beginner, 43
Abbott (Dr. Evelyn), 1

Abrantes, Duchesse d’ p xz
Acquitaine, 29
Across England in a Dog-cart, 29
Actors, seepage 25
Adam and the Adamite, 37
Adaip Grainger, 58
Adventures of Mr. Ledbury, 58
Advertisement
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t 59, 60, and inside cover
Afghanistan, 5. 3»i 33
Africa, Works on, 32
Alas 1 43
Aldyth, 47
Alexander (Mrs.), Novels by, 41, 65
Algeria, see 1 Search after Sunshine,' 30
Alleyne (Miss), 1

Allston ^Washington), 22
A Iterations in Catalogue, inside cover
A1thorp (Lord), Life of, 14
America, Discoveries of, 13
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Confederate States of, 13

American Civil War, History of tne, 13

.,, History, 13
Amir, Court of the, 33
Among the Spanish People, 30
An Australian Girl, 56
Andes, The, 33
Angelica, 28
Anne Hereford, 55
An Old Maid’s Love, 50
Antiquity, History of, 1

Apgeorge (George), 3
Arabella Stuart, 8
Arctic. Service, 4
Archbishops of Canterbury, Lives of, 17
Architecture, Works on, 24
Argentine, The, 33
Argosy Magazine, The, 6s
Argyll and Sutherland Highlandere, 5,.

6

Arnold (Rev. F.), Turning Points in Life, 38
Artists, Lives of, 22, 23
Art, Studies in English, .23
As He comes up the Stairs, 65
Ashley (Hon. E.), Life of Lord Palmerston, 15

Astronomy, 24
Atheism, and The Value of Life, 38
Athenaeum, Literary Chronicle of the, 21

d'Aumale (Due), Lives of Princes ofCond6, ti

Aunt Anne, 46
Austen (Jane), Letters, Memoir and Novels

. *9. 4 1 * 43. 58
Australia, 34
Australian Girl, An, 56
Australian Writers, 19
Austria, Crown Prince of, 32
Autobiography of a Seaman, 4
Auvergne, Summer Days in, 30

Babylon, Fall of. 38
Bachelor's Blunder, A, 51
Baden-Powel) (B. F. S.), Travels, 34
Baines, F. E., 9 •

Baldwin, Wilfiam Charles, 32
Ballantine (Serjeant) Experiences 16
Ballantyne (Archibald), Life of Carteret, 14

Bancrofts, The, 25
Barbara Heathcote’s Trial, 44
Barham (Richard Harris), lngoldsby Legends

_ and Lyrics, 26, 27
Barham (R. HA Life of, 18
Barham (Rev. R. Dalton), 18, 20, 27
Barker (Edward), ao
Barttelot (E. M.), Diaries of, 32
B«il Lyndhurat, 44
*>ath Archives, i

Beale CWillert), The Light of Other Days, 23
Beauclerk (W. N.), Rural Italy, 30
Beginner, A, 43
Belinda, 43
Bentley Ballads, The, 27
Bentleys’ Empire Liiirary, 65
Bentleys’ Favourite Novels, 41-53
Bentleys’ Miscm laky, 58, 66
Bentley, Rock Inscriptions in Sinai, 32
Bema Boyle, 52
Besant (Sir Walter), 3, io, 21
Bessy Rane, 58
Betham-Edwards (Miss), 56
Between the Heather and the Northern Sea, 49
Bible, The, 37, 38
Bickford-Smitli (R. A. 1L), 32
Birds, 36
Bishop, Mrs., 20
Black Forest, The, 31
Black, Robert, \6
Blessington, Lady, 20
Blue Veil, The, 37
Blyth (Miss M. I*.), The Queen’s Jewel, 56
Boddam-Whctham (J. W.), Wanderingh, 33
Bokhara, London to, 33
Bonaparte, 11, 12
Bond, Dr., 26, Mrs., 26
Borderland, 47
Boston, U.S.A., Artillery Company of, 13
Bourbons, First of the, 10

Houincnne (F. de), I .ife of Napoleon, 12

Box Seat, On the, 79
Brabourne (Lord), 10

Bradley (Miss E. T.), 8

Bree/ie Langton, 52
Bridge (Rev. Arthur), Poems by, 2

Brierly (Sir Oswald), 6

Brinsley-Richards (R.
, 1 |

British Columbia, 34
British Music, 23
Brook (Professor Ten), 3 I

66

Broughton (Khoda), Novels by, 42, 43, 44, 65,

Brown- Borthwick (Kev. K.), 11

Browne (R. W.), Roman Classical Literature, 3

Bryans (Clement), 2

Buckland (Frank), Natural History, 36

Bulloch (Captain), Confederate States, 1 i

Bulwer, Life of Palmerston, 15

Burgo> ne (Captain), 03rd H ighlamlers, ft

Burke, Timlis Life of, 15

Burnaby, Colonel Our Radicals, 57

Burrell (Captain W. S.), 33

Byrne (Desmond), 19

Byrne (Oliver), Navigation, 24

Byron, Lord, 20

Campan (Madame), Life, i«

Campanella (G M.), Life, «3

Cainpl*ell, Col. Colin, 4

Camping Sketches 35

Canadian Leaves, My, 33

Canterbury, Archbishops or, 17

Cantor, Letter of a I«ipug. 22

Capri, Lotos-eaters in, 30

Career of Claudia, 66

C^^y (Miss Rosa N.), Novels by, 44 > 4 i

Carron Com|»any f
The, 16

Carteret (I-ord), Life of, 14

Castle (Egerton), 19

Caucasus, Sport in, 31

Ceylon, Works on, 32, 33

Chalfont St. Giles, 29

Chamier (Captain), 5. 7

Charters of Hon. \mllcry Compuy. 6
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Chatham, Tirabs Life of, 15
Chichester See and Cathedral, 8
Children of the Mobility, 58
Chili, 33
Cholmondeley, Miss Mary, 45*46
Charley (H. F.). Life of, 20
Christianity and Islam, 37
Chronicle of Two Months, A, 57
Church and its Ordinances, The, 37 _

Churchill (Duke of Marlborough), Life of, 4
Classical Literature, History of, 3
Classical and Theological Essays, 37
Clarke (Marcus), His Natural Life, 46
Clerical Biography, 17, 18
Cleveden, 49
Clifford (Mrs. W. K.), 46
Closed Days, inside cover
Clowes (Miss Alice A.), 21
Coaching, 35
Cobbe, Frances Power, 19
Cochrane (Lord), Life of, 4
Colchester (Lord), 14
Cole (Sir Henry). 58
Coleridge (A. £).), 13, 23
Collins (Mortimer), 27, 39
Colonel Norton, 40
Cometh up as a Flower, 43
Cornin' thro’ the Rye, 51
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Confederate States, Service of, 13
Constitution, History of English, 7
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Conversations of Byron and Blcssington, so
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„ James Northcote, R.A., 22
Cookery, 34
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Cooper (Sidney), Reminiscences, 22
Cooke-Taylor (W.), Factory System, 8

Cope, Charles west, Life of, 22
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Cotton (Perc\), 27
Courtney, W. P., 8

Court Netherleigh, 55
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Craven (Mrs. Augustus), 20, 46
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,, Fifteen Decisive Battles, 3, 7
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Crimean War, 15
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Dalling and Bulwer (Lord), 15
Davis (Colonel). 5
Day after Death, The, 24
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Dene Hollow, 55
Destiny, 58
Devotional Works, 37, 38
Dewy Mom, The, 48
Diana Tempest, 46
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Discoveries of America, 13
Dittersdorf, (Karl von 23
Divinity and Belief, 37, 38
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Doctor Cupid, 43
Doctors and Patients, 39
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Dominion of Man over Animals, 36
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Doran (Dr.i, Queens of England, 8
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Doyle, Richard, 26
Drake (C. F. Tyrwhitt), Memoir of, 21 •
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Du Maurier. 26
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* Dundreary, Lord,’ 25
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„ History, 7-9

,, Occupation of Tangiers, 5
Epistles, Satires, and Epigrams, 28
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Footprints of Charles Lamb, 21
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Forsyth (Sir Douglas), Autobiography, 15
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Forty-five Years’ Sport, 35
Forty-one Years in India, 5
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,, by Pardoe, 10
Francis (John), Life of, 21
Frederick the Great, 4
French History, jo, it, 12
French Humourists, 10
French Revolution, Thiers’, 12
Frith (W. P.). 22
From Moor Isles, 48
From me Old World to the New, 16
Fullerton (Lady G.), Novels, 48

Games, 36
George Canterbury’s Will, 55
George Geith of Fen Court, 52
Georgia Plantation, 33
Gindely (Professor), Thirty Years’ War,
Girl of the Period, The, 30
Girton Girl, 47
Gladstone (Rt. Hon. W. E.), 17
God’s Fool, 50
Goff, Captain, qtst Highlanders, 5
Goodman (E. /.), 57
Goodman (Walter), 25
Good-bye, Sweetheart

! 4 3
Gosse (Edmund), 22
Gould, Miss, 18
Gray (Dr. J. A.), 33
Greater Glory, The, 50
Great Tone Poets, The, >* <

Great Tribulation, The, 38
Greece, History of, 1
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